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GENERAL INTRODUCTION TO THE
INDIAN TEXTS SERIES

Wisx on an archeologicil tour in India in the cold season of
1899-1900, 1 obtained the honour of an interview with the
Viceroy, and was permitted to lay before him the outline of &
scheme for the publication of & series of books of reference oo
the history of India. Lord Curzon was pleased so far to
approve of the idea that he wished to have the scheme laid in
fuller detail before him, Accordingly, on my return home, 1
submitted a draft scheme to the Council of the Royul Asintic
Society. This received the approval of the Council, and the
following letter was addressed to the Government of India:

RovAL ASIATIC SOCIETY,
24 ALHEMAKLE STREET,
Loxpon, W,

S 13, 1003
Sig,
"1 am desired by the President and Council of this Society
to ask you to be kind enough to lay the following considerntions
before His Excellency the Viceroy.

The Sacicty venture to ask the Government of India to take
into consideration the desirability of publishing a series of
historical volumes corresponding to the Rolls Series and the
publications of the Historical Manuscripts Commission, pub-
lished by the English Government.

1t is perhaps unnecessary to point out how great have been
the results of the publication long ago of two such volumes.
The * Mémoires sur les Contrées Occidentales,’ translated by

v
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Julien from the Chinese of Hiouen Thsang, and published by
the French Government in 1857, have been the foundation of
almost all that has been written since on the Archasology of
India. And the publication, in 1837, by the Government of
Ceylon, of the ‘Great Chronicle' of that island has afforded
evidence on which many of the main conclusions as to the
early history of India depend.

The cost of such a series as is proposed would be very amall.
It would be desirable only to undertake such works as are both
of real importance, and also of such a character that their
publication would not pay commercially — conditions also
observed in the case of the Rolls Series. The Society could
undertake to produce two volumes annually at a cost of £240
per volume (see detailed estimate annexed), and any gums
received by the sale of them could be applied towards the cost
of future volumes.

The volumes would consist partly of texts, partly of transla-
tions, such as the two above mentioned ; partly of indices or
dictionaries (similar in method to, but smaller in scale than,
Swith’s well-known dictionaries) of proper numes, personal or
geographical, of importance for the histoty of India; and
partly of monographs summarizing the historical data
through the numerous Oriental texts now accessible to scholars.

The documents in question would huve little or no literary
merit. They would be muterials out of which the history of
the development of the social conditions, the industries, and
the political relations of the peoples of India could be recon-
stcted.  The texts to be translated or explored would not be

historical documents published in the Rolls Series.

The series might be called the * Indian Historical Series.'
To be & success it would have to be placed under skilled
general editorship, and each volume should be entrusted to o
scholar 50 trained in the methods of histarical research as to
be able, in introduction, notes, and indices, to gather together

or elucidate all the historical information obtaigable from the
document he edits or explores, '
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For these reasons it would be desirable that, for the present
at least, the series should be supervised here; and the authors
of the first volame to appear should be European scholars of the
first rank. But the editor might be instructed to make use also of
native Indian scholarship whenever it should be possible to do so.

No money would be necessary till January, 1992, as at least
eighteen months must elapse; after the approval of the scheme,
before any payments would be required.

The above estimate of cost is inclusive—that is, it covers the
cost of editorship, authorship, printing, binding, insurance, and
other miscellaneous charges—and with the gradual increase of
the number of volumes on sale the series would in course of
time, it may be hoped, become self-supporting.

The publication of such a series is essential to the future
progress of the study of Indian History and Archieology. And
considering the smaliness of the amount required snd the
number of precedents that might be quoted in its favour, this
Society venture to hope that the proposed scheme will meet
with the approval and support of the Government of India.

1 have, et
T. W, Ravs Davivs,
Secrolary.

After same correspondence the scheme wis finally adopted
by the Secretary of State for India, in a letter to the Society,
dated November 4, 190z, enclosing the following despatch
from His Excellency the Gavernor-General in Council:

To the Right Honowrable Lonp Geozce Fraxcrs HAMILTOR,
His Majesty's Secvdary of State Jor Indsa.

SIMLA,

July 3, 1503,
N il O 19o1,

My Logp,

We have the honour to forward, for Your Lordship's
information, & copy of the correspondence noted in the
annexed list, on the subject of a suggestion made by the Royal
Asiatic Society, London, regarding the publication by the
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Indian Government of a series of historical volumes corre-
sponding to the Rolls Series and the publications of the
Historical Manuscripts Commission,

2. The Society suggest that the volumes should consist
partly of texts and partly of translations; and should also
include indices or dictionaries of proper names, personal or
geographical, of importance for the history of India, and
monogriaphs summarizing the historical data scattered through
the numerous Oriental texts which are accessible to scholars,
The Society are of opinion that, while these documents would
have little or no literary merit, they would constitute materials
out of which the history of the development of the social con-
ditions, the industries, and the political relations of the peoples
of India could be reconstructed. They suggest that the series
might be called the *Indian Historical Series*; that each voliume
shotlld be entrusted to a scholar trained in the methods of
historical rescarch; that the series should be plnced under
skilled general editorship in England; and that the editor
might be instructed to make use of native Indian scholarship
whenever it is possible to do so. The Socicty offer us their
assistance in the matter of publication, and undertake to
produce two volumes annually at a cost of £246 per volume.,

3« The proposals of the Society meet with our cordial
support, and we would make the following suggestions in con-
nection therewith for Your Lordship’s approval. We would
divide the series into two parts—the one to be called the
‘Indian Records Series’ and the other the *Indian Texts
Series.”  We propose that the * Indian Records Series* should
cansist of selections, notes, or compilations from the records of
the Indian Governments or of the India Office, supplemented
and elucidated where necessary by local inquiry. This series
would correspond generally with the English Historical Manu-
scripts Series, except that the latter deals with private, whereas:
the former will deal with public records. The greater part of
this work would be done in Indin. But lacuns in our records
might often be supplied from the India Office records, and we
are of opinion that the general editing of this portion of the
work should be done in England.
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4+ The *Indian Texts Series ! should consist of annotated
editions of or translations or abstracts of or compilations from
the works of Indian writers, such as Blochmann’s * Ain-i-Akbari,’
Stein's * Raja Tarangini,' Julien's * Hwen Tsang,' or Beale's
‘ Buddhist Pilgrims.! As regards less important authors, little
more than beief tables of contents would be needed. At the
same time, as suggested by the Royal Asiatic Society, indices,
dictionaries, and monographs should not be neglected.. The
former should aim, not so much at complete information as
at complete bibliography: ‘The salient facts being given and
sufficient information to identify the man or place, mere refer-
ences would be sufficient to sources of information: which are
readily accessible to scholars, though information from sources
more difficult of access might be abstracted with some fulness,
This series would correspond generally with the Rolls Series,
except that it would deal with times prior to British rule. We
think that it should be not only edited, but also for the most
part written at home, although we wounld emphasize the
suggestion of the Royal Asiatic Society that the editor shonld
be instructed to make use of Indian srhalarship (European or
Native) to the fullest extent. The management of the: seriés
should, however, be left to the Royal Asiatic Society.

5. The two series would thus be quite distinct as regards
authorship and editing. We would propose that two volumes
a year in each series should be published; and that the Royal
Asiatic Society should be entrusted with the publication of
both series if, nfter 2 scrutiny of their estimute, which we have
no means of making, your lordship considers that their erms
‘are reasonable.  With this object we wounld make a grant of
Rs. 15,000 a yeat for the next five years to mect the expenditure
involved in the proposals, which we trust will mect with Your
Lordship's approval. In that event, we would ask Your Lordship
to inform the Royal Asiatic Society of what has been decided
upon. We propose to retain in our own hands the decision as
to what books should be published in cither series, and in what

order.
We have, ete.
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As will be noticed, the scheme was, by this decision; not only
accepted, but doubled ; and shartly afterwards the Government
added, to be reckoned as extra volumes in the Indian Texts
Series, two volumes of the text, and two of the translation of
an Arabic histary of Gujarat, then recently discovered by Mr.,
Denison Ross, Principal of the Caleutts Madrasa., Extra
volumes have, in like manner, been added to the Indian
Records Series. And besides these additions the Government
has, in several cases, made extra grants for special illustrations
to be inserted in voltimes sanctioned under this scheme.

Under the original scheme the Society undertook the
publishing ; and the proceeds of the sales, without any deduction
for publisher's commissions, were to be applicd towards the
production of future volumes. In this way it was hoped that
the scheme would eventually become self-supporting. Since
then it has since been thought advisable to place the publishing
arrangements in the hands of Mr. Murray; and the India Office
has taken charge of the preparation and production of the
Records Series, leaving the Texts Series in the hands of the
Royul Asiatic Society.

Having accepted the chair of Comparative Religion at the
University of Manchester, T shall only retain official connection
with the scheme long enough to wind up work already com-
menced under the original publishing arrangements. At the
moment of assisting at its lannch 1 have, therefore (though glad
to obtain leisure urgently needed for other waork), with much
regret, to bid it farewell. But it is in able hands. And 1 may
be permitted to express the confident hope that & scheme so
gencrously adopted by Government, and so generously enlarged
and improved, will continue through the years to provide a
succession of just the sort of books that, as toals ta a craftsman,
will enable the historian of India to trace out the evolution of
social institutions, religion, and literature, in the same manner
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as the provision of the necessary tools has enabled the
historians of Europe to do for the West.

The result cannot fail to be of walue for the history of
humanity 45 a whole, for what, in the absence of a better word
in English, we are compelled to call Wellgeschichte, Already,
in the history of government, of tribal customs, of land tenure,
and of marriage; the Indian evidence has been much used By, and
has proved of considerable service to, Western scholars. It will
certainly prove more so in proportion s it becomes fuller and
more exact. There are many similar questions on which the
Indian evidence has not been utilized merely because it is not
sufficiently known. And there is action and reaction in all
{hese matters; The more the Indian evidence is used and
compared with evidence from other sources, the greater is the
light thrown upon the real value and bearing and teaning of
the facts recorded in India, the clearer are our views of the
arder in which they should be arranged, the more suggestive
and instructive the study tends to be.

To make a few paths and clearings in the thorny jungle of
Indian history is not, therefore, mere useless dry-ns-dust work.
And there is another consideration, Tt has long been a matter
for regret that the natives of India afford us so small a degree
of help in the study of the history of their own country or
countries. For one Englishman who can read the ancient
literatures with facility there must be scores of natives. Yet
how very little of permanent value have they, as yet, accom-
plished in history. This cannot be for want of intellectunl
power. As lawyers they show great ability in weighing the
value of evidence, and in drawing guarded and reasonable
conclusions from complicated documents. And otie or two of
the native scholars who have devoted their attention to this
branch of inquiry have rendered excellent service. Perhaps
the methods of the University examinations in India, in which
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literary fluency counts for so much, and historical crificism
for so little, are in some measure answerable for this neglect.
But i5 it too much to hope that, when this series of scholarly
handbooks shall have placed in their hands sufficient examples
of the right methods in historical research, some of them
may be moved by emulation to take up these studies for
themselves, and themselves to join, in much larger numbers, in
the work? Is it too much even to expect that a more widely
diffused knowledge of the history of their own land; of the
causes that led to intellectual achievements, and also to long
periods of intellectual decay; of the reasons why the social
and economic conditions were in some times and places
favourable, in others almost disastrous; of the predisposing
factors of the rise and fall of governments—ig it too much to
expect that knowledge of such questions, and of the many
similar ones that are included under the name of history,
may incidentally also have its due effect in suggesting and
strengthening, among the educated youth of India, high ideals
of life and policy 7
T. W. Ruys Davins.

Harpoto GrANGE,
AsHTON-0x - MERSEY,
Awguri 5, 1006,
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{. OPENING REMARKS.

TinoucH the generosity of the Government of India the
olaborate * Storia do Mogor,' sent to Enrope by Niccolao
Manucei more than two hundred years ago, now first reaches
the public as he wrote it (allowing for the change from Portu-
guese and French and Italian into English). Itecan hardly be
said to have earned him the renown for which he Inboured so
long and so diligently. 1n his lifetime it wus captured and prac-
tically suppressed by it Jesuit editor, and the work, a5 presented
to the public by that editor, has ever since borne the brunt of
much adverse criticism. Even the true spelling of the authors
name has pever yet been settled. Beginning with his own
formaof Manuci, it passed into Manouchi, antil, after many
variations, it appears as the Manuech of the Madms Records
and the ‘my old acquaintance Senor Momnock ' of worthy
voL. L xvil "
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Jeremiah Peachey, dismissed * Chiof of Manldah.' An attempt
is now made to show the man and his book in their trae light,
so that in future the shortcomings attributed to the one and
the other may be at least their own and not those of somebody
elee. The inclusion of the work in the present series is due
to the initintive of Mr. A. N. Wollaston, C.LE., of the India
Office, following on the paper read by me before the Royul
Asiatic Society in Junme, 1903, and the note subsequently
drawn up, which appeared in the [owrmal of the Royal Astatic
Society for October, 1903, PP- 723733+

Il. CATROU'S ‘HISTOIKE GENERALE DE L'EMPIRE
DI MOGOL. 1705

oipmmnce - Tn 1705 there appeired at Paris o quarto volume of 272
Ty Pages entitled * Histoire Générale de I'Empire dis Mogol depitis
g fondation, sur les Mémoires de M. Manouchi, Vénitien, par
le Pére Frangois Catron, de |a Compagnie de Jésns.! There
18 wn epistle dedicatory to the Duc de Bourgogne (1682-1712),
grandson of Louis XIV., and a preface of eight (unnumbered)
pages. The subjects treated are Tamberlank, Mirachn, Abou
Chaid, Sec Omor, Babar, Amaham, Akbar, Jean-Guir, and
Cha-Jahan, till the end of the war of succession (1659
The last of these reigns occupies 78 pages. The work cops
cludes with 40 pages of a *Déscription de la Cour, dis

::lutw;i_ des Richesses, ot dy Gouvernement, des Emperenrs
opols."
Wha s Frangois Catrou was born at Paris on December 28, 1650

Casron.  J0ined the Jesuit Society on October 28, 1678, und died At
Paris ou October 32, 1737 He was the author of some five
sparate works, among (hem 5 discredited ¢ History of the
Rumm'_{u'\'niumml. published i 1721-1737, and translated
into English in 1728.1737 (6 volumes, folio).  For twelve years,
:;ct-r;rm_; e odited (he liternry organ Journal de Trévonx,
and acquired some Teputation as o eritie, though he displayed
Sngalarly Little eritical peumen in not discarding the earlier
for the Jater wnd teally vajuyhle part of Manucci's historical

notices. He was thus o practised and experienced literary
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mant bt on the whole it would not be a fibel to style him
something of @ hack writer, ready lo undertake any task,
whether he knew anything of the subject or not. Certainly
he minaged to give the coup de grice 1o the work sent home
by Manucei, without establishing any petmanent reputation
for himself in the process. When he says in his second
preface (1715) that the * Mémoires® were confided to him by
Munucei himself, he tells & deliberate lie; for, 4s we shall see
farther on, the unfortunate [talian had vigoroasly protested
nine years before—namely, in 1706—that his manuscript had
bees communicated to the Jesuits without his knowledge or
consent.

In his first preface of 1705 Catrou tells us, more truthfully, el
that he obtained Manueei's manuscript from M. Deslandes, o his original
Pondicherry official, who had brought it to Europe in 1701
or 1zo2, As to the truth of the eaclier historical events,
Catron (Preface, p. 2) relies for proof of authentizity on
Manucci's nssertion (Text, 1. 55) that his facts were taken
direct from official chronicles. But in reality, for the: period
preceding Shihjahilin—that is, up to the yeur 1625 —Manucci's
history is no more than a tisue of popular storics of no
listarical value whatever. Thus Catrou, in his volume of
1708, reproduced for the most part what are pechaps the least
valuable chaplers of Manucei’s text. The volume of 1705
ends with the stroggle in 1658 between Aurangzeb and his
brothers for the imperial throne.

Catron was not content to draw. his matter from Manucci Use of other
alotie: he tells us in the Jowrnal de Trévons for 1705, pe 128, o
aud in his lirst preface (pe 6); that he also had recourse to
Maffei, Tossi, Texeira, Pietro della Valle, Thomus Roe, Jean
de Lait, Bernier, Tavernier, and D'Herbelot.  In the course
of another notice on pp. 37458 of the same volume of the
Jowrnal de Teivoux he boasts that Munucei i only the
Jundenent of his work. He also in bis preface acknow-
lédges aid received from another M. Deslandes, connected
with Tavernier's works, and still alive in 1705. This is
evidently A. Daulier Deslandes, author of *Les Beautés de
la Perse' (1673), who, so farias I can find out, was nover in

B2
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India at all.! Owing to Catrou’s giving no indication of
which of these sources he is at the moment using, and Manuoeci
himself having hitherto been inaccessible, it has bean impossible
to know in reading ‘ L'Histoire" whit statements are to be
attributed to Manucel and what to othier writers.

Robert Orme, Histériographer to the East India Company,
is, 2o far ds 1 know, the first writer to make use of Catrou’s
‘ Histoire.,! After the publication in 1763 of his great work
* The Military Transactions of the British Nation in Indostan
from the Year 1745," Orme began to collect materinls for a
continuation, his plan incloding a résumé of Indian history
from the year of Aurangzeb's uccession (1648), At his death
on January 13, 1801, his design was still incomplete; but we
bave the result of his forty years' labour in his valuable
‘Historical Fragments,' the first edition published in 1782
{octavo), and the second [quarto) in 1805, alter his death, As
Orme himself says (p. 160), ' We have taken largely from this
work'—i.e,, Catrou's, Although Orme knew that Mannce
had been at Madras in 1691, he had no access to his manu-
seripts, and, while admitting the elegance of Catron's style
and the interest of his narrations; comments (pp. 168, 16g) on'
the want af chronalogical arrangement, and the errors in the
few dates given. To this subject of chronology we will rectr.
In Orme's book there are at least eighteen references to
Catrou and Manucal combined:

In 1778 A. H. Anquetil Duperron ;published at Amsterdam
his * Législation Orientale' (quarto), and in the indéx he
describes Manouchi as o Venetian physician at the conrt of

Y3 P Mulfelud, * Hisbtsidenm Indicarsm,” 135,

Joatini=s de Laiit, * Dt Tinperio Mugnl Mogetly sive Indis Vers ' i,
Lo Ui e S’ . 1 i
'rhk;:::": l‘ﬁijrlibf::;‘::"lgﬁmm_ A Voyage 1o Emt Indis.’ 1065 ot i

:'hm ;m - l.uu I-:fl-:l Lm lbalmlunu,‘ 1660,

Paris, Téipoy 4871 e Rivolition dax £iarn du Grand Mogely

J B Tavemniar, * Las Ste Voyages,' = vola,, Parin, 1675,

V. Telneirm, “ Vopuses * {(Frenels tranalation), 168y

B, 1. d"Herbelol, * Bibliothixue Orientale,’ (6,
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the Mogul, whose memoirs he saw in 1763 in the library of
the Jesuit Professed House at Paris, this manuscript being
the original of Father Catrou's work. Duperron makes over
twenty quotations from Catrou in support of lis various cons
tentions.

1+ Bernouilli in his * Beschreibung von Hindostan* (founded { Remmontill
on Peére Joseph Tiefunthaler’s papers), vol. it,, part ii. (1788), s

192, has an interesting note on  Manucci in relerence
to Tiefenthaler's criticiam (vol. i, 7o 29) of the erroneous
latitudes and longitudes which appear in Catron (edition of
1705, pP- 258-261), Tieffenthaler declares Manugel 'a better
physician than peographer or astronomer.” If 5o, Heaven
help him, for as a physician his learning was of the erudest.
However, the whole of the statements so criticised are absent
from Manucei's text, and must have come from some one
ot other of Catrou's additional sources. Similar instances
of misleading interpolations will be referred to farther on.
Berncuilli had, however, 1 most just sense of the need for
the original text, for he suys: « This work [Manucci) is worth
printing just as the anthor swrote it, in Portaguese. 1 invite
its learned owner to endow the public with it" (¢ Recherches
sur V'Inde,’ £787, ii., note @ to p. 284).

In his * History of the Maratthas/ first published in 1826, J. Grant-Buf
1. Grant-Duff makes more than one refurence to Catroi. on 1" i
p. 88 [Bombay edition of 1873) he uses him to confirm Khifi
Khan's account of Shiva Ji's device for getting Into Shiistah
hhbian's quarters al Poonah (see Manucci's text, Part 1L, 77), and
again he quotes him an p. g2 (note) as toa point in Jai Singh's
Dakhin campaign, On p. 99 he contests Catrot's assertion
that the rebellion of Anrangzeb's son My'amam was collusive
(Manueei's text, Part 1., p. 122; Catrou, p. 79 of part .,
edition of 1715).

Next wit come to Elphinstone’s © History of India,’ published M. Eiphi
in 1841. In at least one instance, p. 354 fourth edition, he f;;;;, i
quotes Catron (or Manueci) far events in the reign of Aurang-
zeb; and although, n agreement with Grant-Duff's view, he
considére the story absurd, it would be easy to show that the
objection made by him on chronological grounds is untenuble.
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In 1852 Maximilian M#ilbauer brought ont at Freiburg im
Breisgau 8 most useful work on Catholie missions, * Geschichte
der Katholischen Missionen in Ostindien ' (372 pages, 8vo.). He
uikes some thirteen citations from Catrow, Unfortunately for
him, most of these passages are ot to be found in Manucci's
text, and cannot, therefore, be supported by his authority;
whatever it may be worth. 1 will comment on this more
precisely later on.

W. Erskine in his * History of India' (Baber and Homayun),
London, 1854, vol. i, pp. 542, 541, quotes with approval the
statement of Aurangzeb’s revenue given in Catron, P 2064, 4to.
edition of 1705; and Edward Thomas in *The Chronicles ol
the Pathan Kings of Delhi® (1871), refers ta the esme passage,
reproducing at the same time Mr, Erskine's misprint of Catron
for Catrou. In his appendix (p. 445 he gives the figures in o
tabulated form, and o8 pp. 447-430 inserts the French text of
Catrou, pp. 264-267. By u supplementary treatise published
the same year (1871) under the title ' The Revenye Resources
of the Mugha! Empire in India, E. Thomas returns to the
subject, and on pp. 44-48 gives the figures once aguin, with a
further passage of the French text an the miscellaneous hesds
af revenue.  Although rejecting Catron as a worthless witness
in himself, Mr. Thomas is, on the whaole, inelined to atcept
Manucel’s evidence. In fact, be places much more relintice on
his figures than T should be preparsd to do myself.

Considetable attention i given to Catron’s work by Mr.
H. G. Keence in his * Turks in India* (187aL  On p. 1) of the
introduction he quotes Manucci’s value far a *sol,’ and on
pe 15 he inserts his statements of the Mogul revenues. On
p. 116 he potices with approval Manueei's refutation of Ber-
nier's imputations on  Juhin Ars Begam, daughter of Shaks
jahin. His comments upon Catrow’s mode of dealing with
his muterials are excallent and to the pont,  We cordially
agree with Mr. Keene's summing up, P 118, that *the Father
would ‘have done far better to have loft his author to tell his
own story.'  Many details are piven erroneously in Mr, Koene's
Rcoount, as.can be seen from our author's text and the rest of
this Introduction.  Manueei linded in India in 1656, not 1649 ;
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the person to whom he entrusted his manuscript was not
Loudes, but Deslandes {(Catrou, Preface, 2); the *favonrahle
mentions' of Catholic missionarics are not Manucei’s but
mostly inserted by Catrou himself; in 1705 Mantcei was
certainly alive, but in Indis, not in Europes the paintings
have wot disappeared : they are in the Bibliothéque Nationale
at Paris, Département des Estampes, and we give reproduc-
tinns of them ; the first edition of Catran is of 1705, not 1708,

The Inte |. Talboys Wheeler in the introduction to vol. iv,, ]. T. Wheeler
part i, of his * History of India,” published in 1876, refers to VM ek
his frequent citations from Catrou, whom he considered as the
vory best authority for Shahjahin's reign. He had not then
soen Catrou's continuation, published in 1715, In 1881, when

it of his fourth volume appeared, Mr. Wheseler returns
to the subject. By that time he had obtained a copy of the
volume of 1715, but hazarded the assertion that the original
memoirs, written in Portuguese, had not then been discovered.

Anather writer who quotes fresly from Catrou is Professor & Lana-
& Lane-Poole, in his * Aurmngzib ' (Rulers of India), 1893, His P
view is that the work is full of vrrors, savours strongly. of the
chroniqie scandalowse, and is the production of a malicions and
disappointed backstairs underling But he ndds that Catrou's
¢ Histoire* would be *invaluable if there were any meins of
suthenticating it by comparison with Manueci's MS." An
article in the Quarterly Review for April, 1503 (p. 519), couched
in the same strain, may probably be attributed to the same
writer since a desire for the production of the Portuguese text
is again expressed. Our present volumes, giving a close and
faithful rendering of that text, are, it is hoped, a sufficient
compliance with Professar Lane-Poole’s requisition.  Until in
1803 Me. Poole drew my attention to the French edition of
1715, I had riad Catrou only in the English version of 1826.

It is already abunduntly clear that from the first Catrou's Cateous
mode of editing his text has not met with approval. Anyone Henling ﬂ.h
who consults the volumes now produced by me will agree, I Msanccl's
think, that Catrou, for literary #fiect, acted wisely. He began s
by throwing overboard all, or almost all, personul parrative,
looking on it as 5o much uscless lomber, und then procceded
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to dress out the rest according to his notions of what a history
should be. While he thus produced a more artistic book, he
much diminished, if he did not totally destroy, the authonty
of Manueci as an original source of history. It might even he
doubted, confining one's self to Catrou’s pages, whether Manpeci
everwas in India ; or, granting that be did reach India, whether
he had ever seen any more of it than a little of the coonptry
round Goa, and perhaps the town of Madras, 1T Manupci's
narrative had already been in print, and thus available for
reference, Catrou would have been justified in ressranging) the
material in his own way. But our ideas on the use of original
and inedited documents have changed sinen his time, and
unless & man’s actual narrative can ba consulted we discand
him as an originnl authority. Moreover, it 5 the persanal
detail, in which Manucei so abounds, that at once secures oar
interest in the man, and leads to our believing that he did see
or hear or undergo what he tells us. Not only does Catron
omit, but he imports largely from other sources, without afford-
ing us any means of distinguishing between such additions and
what he drew from Manucer's manuscript. '
Instances of the misleading consequences of Catrou's method
can easily be adduced.  The chapter on Bibar occupies pp. 38-52
of the quarto edition; yet of these fourtesn pages almost all
that can be assigned to Manucel are the names of Ranguil Das
(p- 39, not including the speech), and Amuvi Xa (pp. 46, 47),
with the lnst two pamgraphs of pp. 51 and 52.. Then, ugain,
Mallbauer on pp. 135-137 of his* Geschichte,' quoting Catrou
in regard to the Jesuit missions to the Mogul Court, belisyes
that he is appealing to the authority of Manucci, Not a word
of all these stutements js to be found in Manueei's text,
as can be readily seen. Quih—. t‘l‘.‘l:ﬂlll‘.l}* E_Bﬂmhuy, 1903) Mr.
Jivanji Jamshedji Modi, B.A,, published a most interesting
account of *The Parsees ut the Court of Akbar,” where, on
p.. 26, he gives a table of the arrival and depurture of the ;-uig-..
sions to lﬁk!:-nr. tnlEm from Catrou, ‘on the authority of
Manouchi'; and again, on p. 80, a detailed account of Akbar's
reception of Rudolfo Aquaviva. Mr, Modi will be somewhat
surprised o leam that nothing about any of these missiong is
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to be found in the real Manucci text, and the statements
made in Catrou obtain no confirmation from an sppeal

to it
In 1715, ten years aftes his first edition had appeared, Catrou ol
produced a continuation, what he called & Third Part, which y15
deals with the long reign of Aurangzeb and ends with the death
of Kim Bakhsh in January, 1700, In the quarto edition this
Third Part of 1715 covers 207 Pages, and is thus almost equal
in size to the earlier puhlication (272 quarto pages). The
narrative, much more yalunble than most of the historical
matter in the previous work, is almost entirely taken from the
Second Part of Munucci's manuscript, and deals with events of
which he wis a contemporary, and often an eveswitness,  But
Catrou claimed to have received from India other memoirs,
though be admits Manucei to be almost the only writer hie has
followed in writing the life of Aurangzeb (Preface of 1715, - 31
and he goes on to say hpw a persan newly arrived from India,
to whom he rend the mhmuscript, confirmed whatever it con-
tgined. To allay a suspicion that he had tampered with
anucei. he relies upon the manuscript, which he still possessed
und could show to anyone expressing «uch doubts. But, as he

hie preferred a metaphorical style, like that of

goes on lo say,
lnnguage

the Greek and Roman historians, to the simpler

adopted by Manucel,
In preparing his volume of 1715, bad Catrou access (o the DRt aseon,

fourth and ffth parts of Manucci's work, sent home, one i1 foorth and

1706 and the other before 17127 T think mot. It is truc that 86h Facis?

Catrou carries his narrative beyond 1700, the period at which

Manucci's Pasts 1, 11, and T1L terminate ; but the probabilities

are that, for the last twenty to twenty-five pages of his later

volume, he relied on those other memoirs from India of which

he speaks in his preface
I have put together the following likt of editions of Catrou Btliveraphy

from the catalogues of the Britich Museam and the Tndia * Histoire.

Office Library, from Carlos Sommervogel's edition of Backer’s

‘ Bibliographie de la Compagnic de Jésus,’ ii,, column BSa, 5.0,

Catrom, F., from Lowndes, od. 1862, vol. k. p. 393 and from

the exemplars in my own possession,
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In French,

1705, Paris, 4to, 1 vol,, pp. 272. (In B. M.) _

1705, Paris, 12mou 2 vols., pp. 403, 434. (Partly in B. M.)

1708, La Haye, xamo,, 3 parts, pp. 350. (Partly in B. M}

1715, Faris, 4to., reissue of 4to. edition of 1705, pp+- 272,
plus & third part of 207 pp. (In B. M.)

1715, Paris, small Bvo., 4 vols., pp. 403, 334, 301, 28s5. (In
B. M.)

1715, Paris, 12mo., § vols., pp. 301, 285, 207.

In Tialian.

1731, Venice, Bvo., 1 vol., pp. 306, (Translyted from the
edition of 1705, the anly additions being a very fancifal
portrait of Taimur and a short address from the printer
to the reader about the trunslation. Copies exist in the
Biblioteca Nazionals di San Marco and at St, Larzaro,
Venice, and 1 have tecently acquired one.)

In English,

1709, London, 8vo. (Translation of 1705 edition. In
L O. Lib.)

1722, London, s2mo, (Translation of 1705 edition, In
L O. Lib.) [I have compared this edition with that of
1709, It is nothing more than a reissyy of the earlior
edition with a new title-page, in which F. Catron is
ignored.  There is no justification for the statement on
this new title-page that it wns an Italian text from which
this editicn, either of 1709 or 1722, was taken.]

1826, London, 8vo, (Translation of the Hague edition of
1708. In B. M.)

It Portuguese,

My friend. Mr. J. Batallia-Reis, M.V.0., Consul:Genera] for
Portugal In London, and Commerciq) Attaché, was under the
impression that an edition hud been published in Partugnese;
but I ean find no mention of any such wark in lonocenciy P,
da Silva's * Diccionario Bibliografice ' (fifteen vols,, Lisbon,
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1838-1862). 1 therefore come to the conclusion that there was
no such edition, and the supposition of its existence may be
sttributed to an unsupported statement in the * Nouvelle
Bivgraphie Géndrle’ (Didst, Paris, 1860), tome Xxxiil., 5.
Manueel (Nicholas), an article in which ulmost cvery sentence

contains an error of fact.

[1. THE BERLIN M5, PHILLIFPS No. 1945

Many writers have lumented the disappearance of the munu- It hupposed
script from which Catrou drew his * Histoire,' beginning with ance o
Robert Orme in 1782, and ending with Mr. S, Lane-Poole *#%3-
in 18gg. It was in this latter year 1 first heard that it had
found its way to Berlin, and throngh the intervention of the
late Dr. Rost, librarian, was theo temporarily st the India
Office in London, for the use of Mr. A. Constable, who at that
time purposed an edition. During this long period of a
century of more the manuscript had never really disappoared ;
« little search could have found it, and for sixty years or so it
was wven lying in England, had anvbody cared to look fior
it. Orme himseli had a pretty accurate knowledge of where it
wis when he was writing between 1703 and 1782, Nor was
Catrou’s text a mere short, mutilated abstract, a= J. Bernouilli
was led to surmise from the discrepancies between the
« Histoire * and the Venice Codex (see * Recherches gur 'Indey
Berlin, 1787, vol. ii., note b to p. 284). The mistake was, nnder
the circumstances, very excusible.

We know from Catrow's prefice (p. 2) that M. Deslandes
hunded him the munuscript on which he founded his book
while Manucci in various places states that he made over the
text of his *Storia' to that gentleman for conveyance to
Europe. Evidently his hope wis that it would be published at
{he wxpense of Louis XIV.

This M. Deslandes must not be confounded with another
gentleman of the same pame, André Daolier Deslandes, who
went to Persiz with Tavernier in 1004, and in 1673 published
a book called * Les Heautés de la Perze! In 1704 of 1705
according to Catron (Preface, p. 6), this Danlier Deslandes was

Proareas-
Pesifnides.
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MANUSCTIpt,  As to the Intter M. Deslandes, known as Boureay
Deslandes; he wus in the service of the French East India
Company at Sairat as earlyas 1673 in 1670 he was sent to Siam,
where Bie remained for same time (Jules Sottas, * Histojee de Ja
Compagnie des Indes,’ Paris, 1903, . 336). Ha was thus mixed
up with the French transactions in Siam during 1680.1683,
in which he and Governor Frangois Martin were interssted.
They were supporters of the Gresk adventurer Constantin
Phalkon, who rose to be Prime Minister of Siam. There is
also a * Histoire de Constance, Promier Ministre du Roi de
Siam”* (12mo., 1756), by the younger Deslandes, founded on his
fither's and the Chevalier Martin's memoirs and Jetters, the
object being to refute Pére P. [, d'Orleang’ Life of the same
man (1690). 1 have seen the capy of Deslandes’ book iny the
Bibliothéque Nationale ¢ 35 pages, small 8vo). A fact or 4 name
tiight be pleaned from it here and there, but on the whole it
adds little to our knowledye of Siam politics, and yields nothing
new about the elder Deelandes bimself. The most pungent and
characteristic Passage is on p. 12, whete Pere Tachard, S.J.,
and Mr. 'Abbe de Choisy (both of whom went 1o Siam and
published books o it) are described s “deux des Plus insignes.
chatlatans qu'op puisse lire! Deslandes mastied one of
Martin's daughters, and Was sent to Bengal in charge of the
French comploir of Ehﬂndem:igﬂrc. whero he remained until
7ot In168g he had 5 son, André Frangois Boureay. D
(just referred to), who became notorings 35 4 sceptical writer,
wis the authaor of many books and pamphlets, and died in 1757
(see * Biog, Uni. (Michaud), i, 195, and ‘N, Bjog, Gen.),
In 1731 the son brought out a ook entitled ‘Rémarques
Historigues d'an Cosmopolite,' of which the authorship js
attributed to his faghes |
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The elder Deslandes left India in February, 1701, and on his
reaching Paris lent Catron the MS. Memoirs of Manocel for
perusal. Shortly afterwards, on December z8, 1703, Boureau-
Deslandes was appointed Commissaire de. la Marine in the
West Indies, and left France without obtaining a return of
Manucei's manuscript.  After doing good work for the State,
he died at Laogane, in St. Domingo, on February 13, 1706
(Adrien Desalles, * Histoire Générale des Antilles,' 5 vols,
Paris, 1847-1848, vol. ii., pp. 320, 333, 346)Y Manucci's manu-
script remained with Catrou, and when he had done with it he MS5. in Paris
deposited it in the library of the college of his society ag VATE)
Clermont in Paris (now the Lycée Louis-le-Grand, in the Rue
St. Jagques, near the Sorbonne), There it remained till the
expulsion of the Jesuils from France, and there, in 1763,
Anguetil Duperron saw the three volumes.

In 1763 the Jesuits were expelled from France, and their Sale of Peis
property sequestrited.  Mr. Henri Omont, in his * Documents ﬁ-,."::.
sur la Vente des Manuscrits du Collége de Clermont i Paris,
1764" (Extrait du * Bulletin de la Société de I'Histoire de Paris
ot de IIsle de France,” 1891, 1., xviii., pp. 7-18), gives the arréi
by the Pariament of July 5, 1763, decreeing the sale of the
MSS. Dom Clement, author of * L'Art de verifier les Dates,'
aided for the Orental MSS. by de Gnignes and Bemard,
for the Greek and Latin by Brequigny, produced a catalogue,
of which the title-page is: *Catalogis | manuscriptorum
codicum | Collegii Claromontani | quem | excipit Catalogio
Mss® | Domes Profussme | Parisienses | . .« « | Parisiis in
Palatio | apud Sugrain subsigno Bona Fidel coronata Leclere
subsigno  Prudentie | M DCC LXIV) In it Manuce's
*Storin® appears on p. 324 as No. DCCCLVL® Orme is
wrong in asserting it does not appear there, perhaps because he

¢ Ay Hoareay-[reslandes was an important personuge io the histocy in Lndin
ol ke Franeh Company, and kis same has not yet fonmd Us way Ints wmy
biographical dictionary, Tplace a pote o him at the el wd this Introdurtion
Mot of 1he manuscript materials of this wole huve besn sollectid for ma by
3. Plerre e, recently 8 studant of the Ecole des Chanies,

i« fliatiria do Mogol, en tro parie i Hicolay Mangchi Veneslano . . , db
Reinado de Orsuizeb, guerra de Goleonda @ Vispur oo yarips succeasca aihe
& ors de 1700,°



Haran Garam|
Mererman

Comta |
Meermu

1,

mnd

- INTROBUCTION

ohly looked at the catalogue of printed books, which is a
separate work. The manuscript is described us writtén in
Portuguese, with several portions of it In French: three volumes
in foliv, the first of 143, the second of 151, and the third of 132
falios. A notice is inserted that the contents were to be sold on
September t next (1764) unless bought in bull, and offers were
mvited. The king's librarian, Bignon, refused to buy. Baron
Gérard Meerman, of the Hague, began negotiations, and @ price
of 15,000 livres was agreed on for 856 manuscripts, among them
being included the three volumes of Manucci. Omont gives un
amusing account of the after-attempts to cancel this transaction,
and the difficulties surmounted by the purchizer in removing
his acquisitions from TFrance, His boxes were stopped at
Rouen, and forty-two volumes relating to the history of France
were claimed. He gave up thirty-seven works (thirty-nine
volumes). The remainder reached the Hague in April, 17065
As a rewird for this concession, Louis XV. conferred ot
Meerman the Order of St Michne] (see ' Histoire généraly de
Paris—Le Cabinet des MSS, de Ia Bibliotheque Tmpériale,’ by
Leopold Duslisle—folio, Paris, t868—scetion: XIX.y PPe 434 4350

This learned Dutchman, Baron Gérard Mearman, was barn
at Leiden in 1922, and died at Aix-la-Chapelle on Decembir ts,
1774, leaving an only son, Comte Jean Meerman, who was
born at the Hague on November 1, 1753, and. died thére on
August 10, 1815 (* Nouvells Biog. Géndrale,! Didot, 1561,
vol. xxxiv., p. 74).  Somé years sfter the son's death the family
library was disposed of.  The printed catalogue nppeared at the
Hague m 1824 in four volumes, Syo.: ' Bibliotheea Meer-
manniana sive Catalogus . ., morte dereliguet jmnn&t Meery
man, toparcha in Dalem e Viren, ete. . . ' There were
mneteen sale days fixed, between June & and July 3, 182y
1 have a copy of vols: i wid i, but huve ot been uble
to procure vols. iii. and iv. ; and, 5o fur ay | can find, the work
is ot in the British Museum, The " Storia do Mogor * must
bave been entered in vol, jy, * MSS. Frangois, [Italiens,
Espagnols, Portuguis, Hollandois et Allem nds, livies Chinois,

e’ Nos. §32-1100, pp. 143182, of which th :
S il £ L e sale day was
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At this sale Sir Thomas Phillipps, the well-known collector of %;fﬂ‘%';m
Middle Hill, co. Worcester, was a large buyer. Among other bora ;f:-}.
purchases wese the three volumes of Manucci's manuseript G 3573
 Storia.! They appear thus in his * Catalogus Librorum Manu-
scriptorum iR Bibliothecs Medio Montanis Dem Thomae
Phillipps ab anno 824 ad 15370 imder * Codices MS5. ex
Bitlintheca Merman Hagae Comitis olim ex Bibliotheca
Collegit Sovietatis Jesu Claromontanis Parisiis nunc ante
D. Bibliotheca Phillippicas,” p- 21, ViZ.:
Codices MSS. Ttaliznici, etc®
General Number of Historia de
aumber, 1045, this collection, 917 Mogal.

ln 1887 the Kamigliche Bibliothek at Berlin bought the E‘E:r:iaﬂ i
Meermin MANUSCTpts from the heirs of Sir Thomas Phillipps Bibliothek
for & sum of 375,000 marks (' Bibliothéque de Pécole des ™™
Chartes,” 1885, vol. xlix., . 5g4) In the twelfth volume
of the Berlin catilogues,* Verzeichniss der Lateinischen Hand-
schriften,’ vol. i 1893, by Valentin Rosa {* Die Meerman Hand-
schriften des Sir Thomas Phillipps'), we are informed that,
whereas Baron Meerman secured 349 of the Clermont MSS.,
there were only 250 |eft at the sale in 1824, and of these 190
were bought by Sir Thomas Phillipps, and transferred in 1887
to Berlin. Between 1705 and 1824, 159 of the MSS. bought
by Meerman had been lost. _

The description of the Manuces * Storia do Mogory acquired E""B“‘Hﬂ
by the Royal Libmry in Berlin, appears in * Die | Romanische Phillipps
Meerman Handschriften | des | Sir | Thomas Phillipps | in der {25
Konigliche Bibliothek zn Berlin' | beschrichen | von | Alired
Schulze | Betlin | 159271 410w P 24, I0 the following tarms as
translated by me from thye German original :

Codices Phillipict
Spani.ﬂh. {talian, and Portuguese Muanuscripts,
54 Phill. 1945.

Paper, three folio volumes; of 144, 155 and 135 folios respec-
tivaly (size 33 tO 35 mm. by 21 to 23 ) of the gighteenth

ceftury.
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Leather binding, Meerman No. g17, Coll. Paris. Soc. Jésu,
No. 836, The Portugtese text shows the following gaps,
which were aftecwards filled up in French: Vol 1., leaves
1 to6; Vol I1L, leaves 1 to 34 and 47 to 40. In Vol IL, on
leaves 23 to 43, is a French text, giving a translation of the
Portuguese on the preceding leaves 1 to 22, Vol. I1., leaf 44, and

Vol IIL, leaves 44 to 46, 70 to 73, B0 to 84, 94, und 125 are blank.

Nicaluo Manuchi, * History of the Mogul Kingdom.'

Vol I, folio 1*: * Voyage et histoire du Mogol divisé en trois
parties par M. Nicholas Manuchi, Venitien. Premiére Partie;
contenant le voyage de Nicholas Manuchi, son arrivée an
Mogol, etc'. L'histoire des rois Mogols, depuis Tamerlang
jusque & l'evénement d'Aurangzeb an trone.’

Vol. 11, folio 12+ *Parte segiida da istoria’ [cormection into
“historia’ (si0]] * do Mogel de Nicolao Manuchi Veneziuno: do
reinado do Orangreb, guerras de Golconda e Vizapur com
varios successos athe a era de 1699 ' [figure struck out, and
inserted beneath in another handwriting, © 1700 L |

Val, 11, folio 1*: * Troisiesme partie de 'histoire dy Mogol
par Nicolas Manouchy Venisien premier médicin du Chaalam
fils misné d'Aurangzeb, dans laquelle on donne un compte *
Lstruck through and repliced by * conte '] * exact des richesses
et du grandeur des Mogols et de colles des princes gentils ses
voisins, avec plusieurs particularitez CUrieuses et evenemens
remarquables.’

The work of Manouchi has never been printed. On the
other hand, founding himself on this production, the Jesuit
Father Frangois Catrou published * Histoire générale de
TEmpire du Mogol depuis sa fondation jusqua présent sur
les mémoires portugais de M, Manouchi, Venitien.! The first
two parts appeared in Paris in 1704 in small vctavo,' the last
two parts much later.* As to the different dditiu;nﬂ, see Backer,
! Biblioth. des Ecriv. de g Comp, de Jésus,' tome i, pp. 1135 ¢f
s+ and refer also to J. Talboys Wheeler, * The History of India

VAIso b gin. (e sy, # =xwi)

" Imagns feen eals, p. exvd). Catrou published oni :
Thisd p P iy one more part-—tha) le g



INTRODUCTION st

from the Enrlicst Agee’ (London, 1867), vol. iv., part [
Preface, pp. xii-xiv. Since the English franslations of 1709
and 1826 werc both prepared from the re-impression of the
Fretich issue published at the Hague in 1708, and end with the
accession of Aurangzeb, Whesler was misled into the state-
ment on his p. xili that Catrou's work was nevet completed.”
Phillipps 7945 is with very little doubt the manuscript
mentioned by Catrou in his preface (not paged).

On the above the only remark 1T have to make is, that [ Remarkson
doubt if the French passages are snbsequent  additions, m:ﬁ.gm
Manucei, in one of hie letters reproduced further on, ascribes '
the changes from Portuguese to French, or wics versd, to the
necessity of using a language understood by his amanuensis of
the moment. Certainly, as Herr Schulze points out, there is
4 long passage in vol. ii. where we have two versions, one
Portugnese and ooe French, of exactly the same matter. 1
may ndd from a note by wy copyist, Herr August Otto, that
vol. i, is in four handwritings: () pp. T fo 10, (&) T1-160,
(¢) 161-208, and (d) 20g-280. On tho margin of folio z i all

| thrée volumes are the words: Paraphé au devis de l'arrest du
5 Juillet, 1763, Mesnil.'

For the present (translated) edition of Manncei, Parts 1, 11,
and 111, [ have used the text of the Berlin MS,, Phillipps
No. 1945, in addition to pp. 417 to 477 of the Venice Codex,
XLIV. (Zanetti), as at that point the two fexis Gppext to
diverge somewhat widely. 1 saw and made notes from the
ariginal at Berlin in June, 190X, and my transcript was made
by Herr August Otto, whose services were kindly procured for
me by Direktor-Professor Dr. L. Stern, of the Manuscript
Department of the Royal Library.

[V. THE VENICE CODEX., XLV, (ZANETTI)

Some time in Y704 or T705 Manncei received from Catrou N M.

an advance copy of his * Histaire,' or of the preface to it ﬂ}‘.’“m‘“
. It o]
' Seo, huwseet, Whoeles's introdnction s vol. v, et i, 1581, by which dime ter (1
tes el proctired @ copry af the whote of Calros’s sosk
VL. 1.

c
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A perusal of this communication aroused intense indignation
in the Italian author, and in January, 1706, he resolved to
despatch 1o Europe the original draft of his Parts ., 11, and
I1L, together with the Part TV. on which he had been engaged
since the beginning of 1701, accomparnied by & Latin letter to
the Venctian Senate, of which the following is a translation,
made for me by my friend Mr. James Kennedy :

*MosT SeRENE Princes! _

“Love of travel and inborn inclination to visit foreign
nations caused the writer, Nicols Manucei, a client and nursling
of the Most Serene Republic, to leave Venice when he was
only fourteen, and led him happily to the Empire of the Mogul
(Mogor), in which he served divers princes of the hlood roval
for a period of fifty-four years, as this history shows. There,
at the request of certain friends, F renchmen by race, he
& maost extensive account of this despotism, and finished it in
1700. Of which work as saon as the Reverend Fathers of the
Saciety of Jesus residing in India Eot wind, they left no stone
unturned to appropriate it, as if it were their own, But con-
sidering my many vigils and the sundry expenses | had ro
incur, it did not seem to me right that the aforesaid Fathers
should transfer to themselves the glory won by another's

this work, divided into four parts} in which I trent cnmfll“j‘
and accurately of the times from Tamerline to Aurangzeb, who
now holds. the sceptre, as well as of all his family and of the
principal chiefs of the amy.  With it I handed over 1o him
sixty-four® coloured pictures now in Paris. And these” [i.z., the
books and pictures] *ough, according to my directions, te have
been forwarded to he Reverend Fatlyer Eusebius, a Capuchin
of Bourges” [Bituriens, the medizval name for that provinee],
*Apostolic missionary in the Fae Indies, that he might affer
them on my part to the Most Serene Senate to dispose of them
' Really oaly three parts.

¥ Shiuld be fifiysix: hs i exmf)
othinlng the g, sud " ubing the volums of Poriradts with thay
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as they might think best. But my friend died at Galle”
[7 Egelliz in text], “and, az I had feared, my =said book fell
into the hands of the aforesaid Fathers, who wrote to me on
this matter, Buot little gratification did [ get from their
writings, with selections from my works, for they only set forth
what was of comparatively little value in the book, and what
was best they kept to themselves,

* Wherefore 1 earnestly and prayerfully beg and entreat that
Your Most Serene Highnesses will deign to order the publica-
tion of this little work, which is likely to be of the greatest nse
to travellers, missionaries, and merchants, etc® asking them-
to add a short and befitting prefuce, such as may appear best
suited for it. If 1 could issue it at my own ¢xpense, right
willingly would 1 do it; but for such an expenditure my own
résources, as well as the resources of my relations living in
Venice, are too limited, therefore 1 have ventured to give this
trouble to the Most Serene Senate.

*The original text, which T have always kept by me, I send
to Your Most Serene Highnesses by the hands of the said
Reverend Father Eusebius (which is a right good apportunity)
—namely, the First, Second, and Third Partsalready completed.
At the same time | sund the Fourth Part, written in French,
which has always remained with me, and has never heretofore
been sent to Europe. In it the life of the Mogul and various
events of the government, besides other things omitted in
Parts 1. and 11,, are clearly narrated. 1 am now proceeding
indefatigably with the Fifth Part, in which T examine in detail
all ‘and vvery event happening in these last days of King
Aurangzeb's life, and 1 shall willingly give it to the Aetor ' [who
is referred tois not clear] * if 1 am alive,

‘The said Reverend Father Eusebius [ulso] tukes with him
a book containing sixty-six deawings of the false Hindu gods,
wherein Hindn marmiages and other ceremonies are repre.
sented, all of which the Agent (7) will find explained towsrds
the end of the third part. Nor must it be thought strange if
various langunges appear in the work now seat, for according
to the amanuensis whom 1 chanced upon, did I composs the
wotk sometimes in French, sometimes in [talian, and ocea-

©'a
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sionally in Portuguese.  All of which defects, as well as others
that may possibly have oceurred, | beg the charity of Your
Most Serene Highnesses 10 excuse, whom Almighty God
preserve for many years, |
* Madraspatanam, the 15th January, 1705 (i.e., 17041,
* Your Most Serene Highnesses'
" Most humble and devoted
* Client and Alumnus,
'N. Masver'

Inside Codex XLIV, (Zanetti) thire lie two loose leaves in
Italian, which I imiagine to be Zanetti's notes for the article
in his catalogne, But these embody a seeond letter from
Manueei in Ttalian, which seems to vary somewhat from the
one in Latin. I extract any additional facts yielded by this
second leteer. _

He says be began to write 1o oblige some Frenchmen'* for
the favours they procured him from their king, who in 16gg
sent him some medals, one of gold with the image of the king
on one side and of the falfi (2) on the other, and six others of
silver bearing the figure of Victory* In grder 1o show Wingself
grateful for 2o many favours, be forwarded his histary to
France in 1700 by ane of his faithful friends, persan of con-
sideration, loved and esteemed by all in Indin. This
on hit arrival in France was the object of much honour from
the French monarch, Bur having bevn sent by his King to the
West Indies,? he was unable to procare the printing of this

! In Part )1, o3 {Phillippa), 1wo of these 400 wamed—viz,,  Chiefly Menslaur
Frangols Murtin DirectorGromerst, sod Moasisuy Dieslunday, !

1 have tried, withoot ninch ., to Wentify these medats fn - MAdaillae
sur ey Pricciimus Evtnementy du Rigue de Lotils Is Grand,’ folin, Parls 1sut,
o which Profeswr 8 Rapaou; of the Cain Departmen, Hriiish Mossum, was

"Fhm:ghhhnitwm.thhmlthhmnqthqmmm'-
M. Deslanden (wee asts, i zavil), Mark ales the contradicting bt iwen (his nad
Lhtuhhll-r.wlumhnrlthﬂﬁmddhdd‘Eanﬂh'nuhh'uj'hm
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three volumes on the Mogul Empire. He was obliged to leave
thom behind him, and another with sixty-four { fifty-six) portraits:
The fricnd gave these (? the three volumes) for inspection as a
curicsity to the Jesuit Father Catron, & young man of great
astuteness, to whom the Jesuits had already written from India
requesting him to secure the work if he could, which he thus
succeeded in doing.  Catron forwarded to Manucel the preface
of the book it was his intention to print. * 1 saw that he meant
to make the work one to his own glory, and mix me up with
the fables told by other nuthors, thereby usurping the result
of my labours and fatigues during so many years, and of such
great, expenditure, while e would have all the coin und the
honour. T therefore requested him to return the work to me.,
But fearing from what [ know of him that this will be of no
effect, 1 bave in onder to get it back appointed as my attorney
the Reverend Father F. Eusebiuys, of Bourges, 2 Capuchin und
French missionary in this land of India, who is now departing
for Evropel’

Further on Manucei says: 'This" [the Fourth Part] *the Tha fourih
Jesuits have not had, nor had T ever sent it; but now Isendit, ™
and I will employ all my diligence to prepare the Fiith Farg,
if God shonld grant me Life in order to d:splnw. my sincerity,
and to give ample satisfzetion to the inquiring reader.”  Again,
further on: * The inquisitive Reverend Fathers above naméd "
[f2., the Jesuits] ‘made great exuertions to gel hold of these
two books' [the Fourth Part and the pictures of gods and
goddesses), * but my answer to them was * Nescio vos."*

On the guestion of language he says: ‘The reason is that Lengoages
[ have not found in this country any [talian amanvensis.! In
conclusion he says: ‘ Demanding pardon if I have made mis-
tukes in words or in spelling, for in this land of India I have

employed my maternal language only on this occasion, in
which I profess myself,
* Venerable Signors,
* Nicorao Mawver't
¥ g sukeing thln brst ssbemeni. b sesnms oo bmse il forpmtes the fact thal
Wrigo and 1500 b had composad 381 large Billo pages o Parts Loani T8 1o kis

palive tangue.  Perbeps e pages were the work of an atmnocnaeks, whils the
letter of 1796 wan bis nwo composition,
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The maker of this Italian grézis goes on to abstract from the
*Storia* whatever refers to Manucci's life and travels. He
gives the manth of leaving Venice as November, this coin-
ciding substantially with the deduced date of October, arrived
at by me independently (see the note on Viscount Bellomont,
following Part L, p. 47, of the text). Manuce's age at de-
partire is given as nineteen, wherees it s fourtess in the
Beclin text (Phillipps 1945). The abstract ends abruptly "'witht
“He set ont with the prince (Dard) for the war Against
Aurangzeln' The writer makes the incorrect statement that
part of the * Storia' is written in Spanisk ; he should: have said
Fortugucse,

I baye failed in obtaining much trace of Father F. Eusebias,
of Bourges, Capuchin, while in India, and pothing at all about
him after his return to Europe. Manucei, in Part IV,, fol. 193,
speaking of 1704, says that 4 short time Before that year Eusebius
had arrived at Madras from Sarat, on his way to France. He
wenton to Pondicherry, where the Jesuits spread reports that he
had been excommunicated, and thus every door was shot in his
face, 1do not know what became of him; bul we Jearn from
Zanetti that he made over the books to the then ambasswdor
of the Venctian Senate at Paris, Lorenzo Tiepalo (son of
Francesco, son of Marcd), & man of distinguished ancestry,
whose family tres is given in vol. viit. of Count Pompeno Litta’s
*Celebri famiglie Italiane’ (Milano, nu, 7 1833). There is
a biography of him on p- 102 of vol, xxil. of Gerolamao
Bacinrdo's *Nuova Enciclopedia Ttaliang ® (Torino, 1887}, and
in * Il campodoglio Venete' of Girolamo Alessandro Capellan,
vol. iv. (of which the manuseript is in the library of San Mareo).
In: the sume libéary, Class VIL, Codex DCCCCI,, is the
manuseript. of Tiepolo's * Relazions dolla sy embascinte a
Lulgi X1V, di Francie' In i State Archives at I Frari
his despatches from Paris are preserved.  The firet is dated
April 4, 1704, and the st Aptil 27, 1708, In none of these
sources could I find any' mention. of Manucei's wark, of its
atrival in: Paris, or its transmission: to Venice, The Abhé
Morelli; librarian from 1778, siys on p, 46 of his * Della pub-
blica. Librerin di San Marco * (Venice, 1774), that Tiepolo



INTRODUCTION xaxix

obtained the Codex in France in 1722, but I do not know what
authority he has for this statement. The year seems much
too late:; but 1712 might be correct.

Tiepolo, who is described a5 a man of vast erundition, became Zanatti's
procurator of St. Mark, and in 1730 was appointed Iihmﬂan.ﬁ;‘::;““‘
He died in 1742, at the age of sixty-nine. Under Tiepolos
auspices as Hihrarian, Antonio Marin Zanetti, the younger, drew
np & catalogue of the San Marco collection, which appeared
under the title of ¢ Latina et Italica D. Marci Bibleotheca
Codicum: manuscriptorum per titulos digesta' [&%], folio,
Venice, 1747. On p 235 we have the following account of
the Munieei manuscript :

 Codex XLIV;, in folio, paper, fl. 778, of the cighteenth
century. " Historical Memoirs of the Mogul Empire,” by
Niccolo Manuzzi, Veneziano, divided into four parts, written
partly in Jtalian, partly in Portuguese, and partly in French.

From the beginning of the fifteenth to about the eighteenth
‘century.'

From the first three parts of this work, carried to France Zaneul's
by Monsieur Deslandes in 1700, Father Catrou derived hismﬁf
* Histoire de I'Empire Mogul,' published at Paris in £705, tWo '
volumes, octave, and ut the Hague, 1708, in IZmo.; trans-
lated into Italian in 1731, and printed at Venice. This cele-
hrated literary man, although e hid compiled various notices
of that kingdom from other authors, nevertheless renders due
justice to the labours of oor Manuzzi, and he admits him ta
be the support snd foundation of all his statements, wisely
dwelling on the chamacter of thot author, who was not a simple
traveller or merchant (people who are foreed either to hurry
hither and thither; or to confine themselves solely to cities
near the sea), but in truth a medical man, whose profession
had detained him at the court for a period of forty or more
vears, whereby was thrown open 1o him access to particular
infurmation, concealed from every other European, and the
means of transcribing the original chronicles themselves. The
suid Father observes,' furthermore, that in the mode of
Manuzzi's narration, in spite of the text being in various and

I Preface of 1708, p. 5
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obscure lunguages, there is found & certain ardour of tmagina-
ton fitted to sustain the historian who works on such
materials; to which may be added that at the same time we
discover in all these writings a certain air of unstudied’ sim-
plicity and honest frankmess, which still can be detected
even when heightened and embellished by a chastened style
[#.2. Catrou's]. _

This production of Father Catrou, although much hanpured
by Mannzzi, had not the fortune to please him when it reached
him in Indin: on the contrary, he was deeply offended that
Catrou had inserted the accounts of other people, and had
omitted from his book certain statements which Manuzsi con-
sidered important. Therefore the author decided to send his
own onginal manuscript to Europe through a Capuchin Father,
who gave o pledge that hie would hand it over to the first
official of the Venctian Republic that he encountered. This
monk: did as promised, und on reaching Paris delivered it to
the Cavaliere Lorenzo Tiepolo, then Venetian ambassador at
that court, at present procurator of San Marco, and its illus-
trious, most meritorious librarian, The gift of Manuzzi was
addressed: to the Senate with 1 Latin letter, and these. were:
speedily sent on to Venice by the ambassador. In addition to
the above-entered four parts of the * Historical Memoirs,” there
was also a fifth, which went on with the same. subject. There
was also another volume, with pictures of the gods, priests,
and other mutters connected with the idoluters wha dwell in
that country. These pictures are often referred to in the
caurse of the work, and serve to expliin the religious beliefs
and rites of the ancient inhabitants of Hindustan, But what
is more precious for jts beauty and its magnificence is a volume
containing the portraits of the Mogul emperars, of their iamilies,
and other illystrious personages among these idolaters.  These
are painted with incredible labour, and present the most lovely
colonring, heightened by much gilding ; and although they do
not display all the requisites of correet drawing, or of light and
shade, yot the figures are not wanting in naturalness, and, if
one may infer it from the diversity of idea and from certain
details of the faces, the portraits must be very like their
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originals, Father Catrou, who had seen the pictures, would
have liked to reproduce them in his history, but he feared to
add to the expense of a first edition. We have felt ourselves
constrained to pive, at the least, a selection of three, and we
have chosen the portraits of our Manuzzi, of Tamerlane, and
of Orangzeh ; the first as being that of the author of the wotk,
the second as that of the first of the emperors, the third as
being that of the ruler under whom the writer lived and dwelt
in India,

The portrait, then, of Manuzzi is in the highest degree like
him, as is asseverated by more than one person who had
personal knowledge of him. He is clothed in Mogul attire,
and in the act of feeling the pulse of an Indian patient, giving
in this way & sign of his profession.

Tamerlsne, or Timur-leak, & name much spoken of in many
histories, was the first among the Tartars who conquered and
ruled over Hindustan, He is represented out hunting, in which
he greatly delighted, in the act of slaying a hon with an
arquebuss.  The hunting of these wild beasts the Moguls carry
out by throwing down in the path a sheep bound with cords.
On secing it, the wild beast rushes at once o devour it;
meanwhile they watch; and can easily kil it. The attire of
Tamerlane is noticeable, still more his armour, which cotsists
in & corslet of mail richly adorned with gems. Perhaps this
costume was pecolinr to the Tartars before that of Hindustan
began to prevail among them. The posture of this prince, who
is kneeling, is asserted by same a5 intended to indicate that
fram birth he was weak in the legs, becase the second hall
of his pame—ikat is, lask—means in the Tartar language
‘The Lame.'

Orangzeh, eleventh emperor, who died in 1707, after a very
long reign, laft behind him s resounding memoary as the man
who to gain the summit felled and slew—partly by deceit,
partly by force—all his three brothers, and as one who for
muny A day held his own father a prisoner. Before he becime
emperor he was of a certuin sect of the Mahomedans who
style themselves fagirs, and maintained throughout his life-an
assumed exterior of religion, Thus the artist succeds in taking
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him to the very life in the aét of reading the Qumn, in an
attitude full of piety and composure, to which there is oot
wanting any sanctimonious detail.

In many aspects, then, this manuseript of Manuesd is of mlll!!,
and the gathering together of all these different books is worthy
of high praise. Certainly the public has benefited by a con-
siderable portion of them in the compilation of Father Catrou.
All the same, without advertence to the absence of any extracts
from the last two parts, it seems that still other chapters from
the Memoirs of our author are called for as additions to
Catrou’s publication. One chapter ought ecertainly to be on
the natural history of Hindustan, which could be gathered 5o
easily from many dispersed passages to be found in Manozai's
story, and in his notes on his medical practice, where plants,
animals; and other rare products are spoken of, not omitting
the marvellous properties of the elephant, Another chapter
should be on the private habits of the Indians and the Tartars,
which could be deduced from particular instances. Bat lt

thie suffice for a general notice of this Codex, thus deviating no
further from our original scheme.

Zanetti’s volume includes three fine copper-plate engravings:
1. Orangzeb, XI. (Blochet, * Inventsire,’ No. 13); the emperor is
on a white lorse, reading, and there are twenty-five other figures
round him on foot. 2. Tamor-lang, 1. (Blochet, No. 3). A
jungle scene, Taimur on one knee, shooting : thirty-one other
figures. 3. Portrait of Niccolno Manuzzi, author of the ‘History
of the Mogul® (Blochet, No, 2). A stout, white-faced, entirely
shaven man in Indian costume looking to the left and holding
the pulse of & very dark man,

Candinal Placido Zurla is inaccurate in stuting that the

Codey XLIV. Manucei manuseript * was unfortunately mislaid in the Jate

(Venice)

palitical troubles,’ meaning the days of Napoleon's invasion,
his remark, as we shall zee presently, applying only to the
volume of portraits, Codex XLIV. (Zanetti) is still in its place
at Venico, and 1 procesd 1o give further details, such as I was
able to plean from an inspection of it in May, 1903,
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Codex XLIV. is a large folio of 778 pages, the paper used
being of several different sizes ; it is hound in calf, and stampad
on one side with a lozenge-shaped shield bearing the figure of
a winged lion Holding in its paw a book, with the letters
P E

“TMtin other words, it bears the arms of the republic); it is

luttered oa the back, * Manuzzi, Istoria de’ Mogoli.'! Loose
within it sre the two leaves of the Latin letter already quoted,
the signature to which appears to be in the hund of a senbe;
also four leaves, two written on in Italian, apparently not in
the same writing as the Latin letter, but signed on the third
line of the second page * Nicolao Munuci' A fascimile of this
signature is inserted benesth our reproduction of the second
portrait of the anthor, The first two pages (in Italian), * Notice
to the Reader,’ ar¢ not numbered, and at the end bear the
signature * Nicolao Manuci,’ which we have reproduced at the
foot of the younger of the two portraits.

The small cramped handwriting of the earlier part might
be the sime as that of the second letter. The MS. Phillipps
1945, at Betlin, is, on the contrary, in a fair copyist’s hand.
The first handwriting of Codex XLIV. continues up to p. 360
(in Italian). On pp. 367-406 the hand resembles that of the
Berlin MS.; on p. 407 the first hund recommences.. Pp. 416-610
are ot @ smaller (foolscap) paper, and hete the third part
apparently ends,

The subjects of this third part are as follows—it beging on
f. 145 p- 170 ggear 1664), p. 212 (year 1666), p. o4, titles
of princesses nnd concubines; p. 305, men's titles; p. 307,
palace slaves; p. 320, numes of generals; p. 322, Mangabs;
p- 337, provinces; p. 340, names of peoples. On xome un-
nimbered leaves following p. 306 he explains that * for want of
writers of Italian, I am obliged to continue my work in French.®
From p. 368 he goes on in French up to p. 406 On p. 407
Portuguese begins, * On Elephants,’ down to p, 415. P, 4161
blank. On p. 417 he begins (still in Portugnese) about Adaini;
pe 479, the royal seal and hand imprint ; pp. 42x to 423, blank ;
PP. 424-427, the Dakhin kings; p.450, principal Hindu temples;
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P 45T, temples destroyed by Aurangzeb; p. 455, Joao P. de
Faria n Madtas: p. 465, St. Thome in 1695; p, 474, Damad
in 1681 ; p. 479, Manuel Macedo at St. Thome; p. 501, one
quarter blank; p. soz, blank; p. 503, begins. *servico’ (7 a
misplaced leaf) ; p. 511, year 1663 ; p. 565, year 1678; p. 582,
Bassein in 1666; p. 606, year 16g4. Page 616 ends with the
words: * Lagrima de sangue emover o modo tad improprio e
tad divergo do que antigam® obravadn.' _

Then on an intermediate size of paper begins in Fréench
' Suite . . . Quatriesme Partic, Préface,’ with a new paging,
and in a handwriting something like that of the Berlin MS:
The history breaks off on p. 122; then pp. 123 and 124 are
blaok.  On p. 125 the suthor commences to speak of the bad
conduct of the Portuguese, and this subject goes on as far o
P- 1435, attestations from various autharities beginning on p. £40;
Between pp. 140 and 141 are bound in four gto. pages of mintte
handwriting, apparently the copy of & certifieate from the
Bishop and Vicar-General of St. Thome, dated January 23,
1705 Pp. 148 to 152 are blank,

Next, with p. 153, comes the large folio paper once more; the
writing being that of a copyist, and the langusge French;
mention is made of 1703: and the French wext ends with ons
line on the top of p. 164 On p. 165 there begins in Partuguess
an account of Cardinal C. M, de Tournon's stay at Pondichesry,
On p. 175 is o date, July 11, 1704 On p. 177 is Manucei's
' Manifesto ” ta the Friars and Patriarch at Pondicherry, which
ends on p, 182, being followed by the Archbishop's letter from
Gon, dated September 1, 1704.

On p. 154 the handwriting changes, and the historical
narrative is resumed without any heading ; on p. 186 is the date,
September g, 1704. On p. 200 we return to more talk about
the Portuguese misdeeds, which ends on p. 216, Page 215 is
a half-sheet only, upparently intended ss the conclusion of
Part 1V.; and there Manucci promises, if he lives, to go on
with a Fifth Part, and the passage is dated Mudras, Januzry 3,
1705-1700. At the end is o signature, in o hand diffeting from
the text, * Nicolas Manuch.! At p, 258 we retirn to foolscap
paper, and the narrative turms again to Aurangzeb. On po223
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is a date, November 4; 1704, and on p. 226 we haye o letter to
the author from the Archibishop of Goa, dated January 22, 2705,
On p. 230 is the Manifesto; on p. 2313 letter from the Bishop
of Mailapur (St. Thome). On p. 234, after the fourth line, is
scrawled : *The end of the Fourth Part of Nicolas Manucci,
Venetian,”

Then follow four leaves (not numbered) about Anrangzeb and
Shah ‘Alam: a sheet (also not numbered) with seventeen lines
of writing on the upper hall of it; one leaf fully written on one
side, and with hine and s half Tines on the other ; two leaves.in
4 different handwriting from the preceding, having three written
pages and ten and a quarter lines on the fourth side, referning to
Daad Kbin and Thomas Pitt. Lastly, there are two large
folded sheets, giving the order of battle of Shih ‘Alam’s and of
‘Agsm Shih's armies respectively, I these plans of battle

accompanied the volume originally from India, and were not
sent subsequently with the Fifth Part, then Codex XLIV. could
not have left Indin until after June, 1707, the battle in question
having been fought on the cighteenth of that month.

For Part IV. of my translation 1 have used the text cott- mﬂnﬁvi
tained in Codex XLIV, (Zanetti), from the new paging begimning for Part IV,
in French *Suite de 'Histoire du Mogor,” going on to p. 235,
and the remaining unnumberad leaves nbove referred to;,  1saw
this and the other Codices on my visit to Venice in 1902, and,
thanks to the good offices of Professor Dr. G. Cogginla, sub-
librarian, who, on this and many other occastons, has been
most graciously helpful, I obiuined o copy of Part IV., which
was made for e by Signor Gilberto Moni,

V. VENICE CODEX XLV. ZANETTI).

~ This yolume is thus described in Zanetti’s Catalogue, p. 237 : Zaneiti's
‘Codex XLV., in small folio, on paper, 740 folios, of the
eighteenth century. An Italinn version of Manuzzi's *Historical
Memairs of the Moguls,! made by Count Stefanu Nivibus
Cardeira, Portugnese, the Public Professor of Civil Law in the
University of Padua.’

The volume begins with the Third Part (the pages are not
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numbered) ; after that another portion begins ¢ Delli elefanti,'
of which the pages are numbered t to 260. Next is the Fourth
Part, with Prefuce, on folios 1 to 195, Lastly is the Fifth

* Part, with atitle-page: ‘Parte Quinta | della Storin del Mogol |

di | Nicolo Manuci Veneziano | Transpartato | dell® [dioma
Portoghesi all' Ttaliano | dal | Co. Disgo Cardeira | Porto-
ghese | ' followed by an Italian letter of February 20, 1712,
sending the Fifth Part of the translation, the signature is that
of Agostino Gadaldini, then Secretary to the Venetian Senate,
as Dr. Coggiola informs me. The writer speaks of having
made over Part V, to Senhor Cardeira’s sans for translation,
and states that folics 2 to go (of the original) were part in
Portuguese and part in French, to which must be added
“eleven detached leaves in one or the other tongue,’ Next
comes & leaf, written on both sides, and not numbered
(probably displaced in binding). Then another title-page :
* Tome Quinto | composito per l'autore | Sigoor | Manucei
di | Nazione Veneziano in questa | Fortezza di S Giorgio | di
Madrastapattam. |  On the reverse is the book-plate of the
librarian, a4 winged lion with a swerd and book, the year
(7 of appointment) M DCCXXIL, and his name Hieranymo
Veniero, Procurator of St Mark! There 15 still another title-
page: ‘Quinta Parte | del meonto della Storia del Mogol | In
questo presente anno | 1705 | nel mese di Genarg | di | Nicalo
Manucci Veneziano. |  On p. zor, * Account of Persecutions
suffered by the Capuchins* Is's=id to be fram the French, and
trnslated by Count Andrea Cardeira, On P. 321 is the death
of Aurangzeb, Februnry 24, 1707 ; an P 329 Prince Akbar's last
letter to his fither, with four lines of verse in the middle. On
Pe 339 We are told that Aurangzeb's final illness began on
February 7, 1707, *Azam Shih's coin inseription is given on
P 347, under the date of March 15, 1707, The work ends on
Pe 345

The only complete and consecutive text of Parl V. now
extant being the Italian version given in this Codex XLV,

. Acounding to Jacopa Moell, +Detla pabblicn Tibewrin d) Saa Marco in

Venasin® (Venice, 193y, P oA Bhe.), 1 e, Glrolmo Vietisro was Jbe=ring
brum 1720 46 1730,
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I have used it in preparing my translation, There are some
repetitions of matter already contained in Codex XLIV,, and
these | have amitted from Part V., giving merely a reference
to the page in that manuscript: I saw the Codex XLV, when
at Venice in 1go2, and Part V. was copied for me by Signor
Carlo Alberto Corti.

It remains to say & word or twa of how 1 got upon the tmlc{rr!h;m
of these Venice Codices XLIV. and XLV. (Zanetti). For & Codices were
time 1 believed I was the first student of Indian history to fraest
unearth them, and that the notice in Zanetti’s catalogue of
1741 had gone entirely unnoticed. Misled by the *Nouvelle
Biographie Générale," I had started in search of a Lishan edition
of Manucci’s work, and to that end asked my friend, Mr J.
Batalha-Reis, M.V.O., Consul-General in London, to procure
me information from the great libraries of Lisbon. This
attempt was infructuous, for [ was on the wrong scent; but
Mr. Batalha-Reie's attention had been roused, and since, as
befits one of his nationality, he is a diligent student of, and
deeply versed in, geographical literature;, he soon afterwards
directed me o a passage he bzd just seen in the work of
Cardinal Placido Zurla (1769-1834): * Di Marco Polo | e degli c"'fi inal
altri | Viaggiotori Veneziani | . . ' 2 vols, folio, Venezia, 1818, Zucls
1n vol. ii., in a chapter headed ' Of Some Learned Travellers,'
he says (p. 203, pars. 67): ' But more than all is worthy of
mesation the crown of this chapter, Nicolo Manuzz, who,
resorting to the Mogul (country) towards the end of the seven-
teenth century, exercised medicine there for over forty years,
and by the belp of that (p, 204) profession was uble to frequent
the court, and to inform himsell of the history, politics,
physical condition, and religion of the country, and inserted
most entrancing information ubout it in his ' Historical
Memaoirs of the Mogul Empire,” divided into thres books;
and written partly in. Italian, partly in Portuguese, and partly
in French. They begin with the fifteenth and come down to
the eighteenth century, These very manuscripts were sent by
Manuzzi himself from the Mogol country to the Venetian
Senate, and they formed one of the ornaments of the Marciana
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until in the recent political disturbances they were unfortu-
nately mislaid. Some specimens may be seen in Anton Maria
Zanetti's " Latina et Ttalica D. Murei Bibliotheea," where he
reproduces three of the many pictures of that veritably mugnifi-
cent and priceless codex; and he shows how Father Catrou
made use of Manuzzi for his * History of the Mogols,"*

llfmffm'r.lﬂ Guided by the above passage in Zurla, 1 discovered and

San Mareo. made extracts from Zanetti. Before going 1o Venice it was
necessary to find out if the manuzcript had ever been re-
covered. The questions 1 drew up were most kindly coms
municated by Dr. C. H. Hagberg Wright, of the London
Library, to the librarian of San Marco. This inquiry produced
a full and most interesting reply from the then librarian,
Dr. Salomone Morpurgo,! under date of March 2q, 18qg, the
opening sentences referring to the volume of portmaits which
will be dealt with in a succeeding section.  The following is &
translation of this letter :

*The volume described by you certainly belongs to the
Marciana, for it bears our old ex-[fbris, otherwise the lion and
sword with the motto Cusfos vel wltor. With equal certainty
it once formed part of Codex XLIV., described by Zanetti at
p-235 and following. The said Codex is to this day in the
Marciana ; but it was in 1797 bereft of this, its most precious
part" [quotes Zanetti]. *A murginal note on our examplar of
Zanetti announces that * the book of portruits was made over
in 1797 to the Signor Brunet, the French cotnmisary,” dnd it
wits never subsequently restored. Zurla is mexact enough in
his expression when he says the Manuzzi manuscript ** was
unfortunately mislaid in the late political troubles,” for, instead
of that, it was faken by force; but not the whole of it, as he
(Zurla) seems to say. You can compare with the originals at
Paris the three plates reproduced by Zanetti. Thus, then, the
text of the * Memoirs," Codex XLIV., remains in the Marciang,
alsa the other volume mentioned by Zanetti, pictures of gods,
priests, etc?; this is pow placed in Classe VL, Tt t36. In
addition thereto we possess in mandseript (Classe V1., It 345)
descriptions of the portraits in the volume now at Paris, and

| Now chiel Ubmriae of the Natimal Litrasy at Flotomn



INTRODUCTION xlix

1 send the opening paragraph and the titles referring to each
fignre. Codex XLV, is still in its proper place on the shelves.’

After that letter 1 was satisfied that my journey would not Besoulll
be fruitless: bur it was not till May, 1902, that T was able to &"““im;
visit Venice, inspect the manuscripts, and drrange to have
them copied.

As 1 have alrendy said, 1 wos convinced for a time that 1
was the first discoverer of this Venice Codex since Zanetti's
and Foscarinl's time. But 1 had not reckoned with the
Teutonic genius for research: an eighteenth-century German
professor had been before me. Thure are some rather interest-
ing particulars in J. Bernouilli’s note, and as it does not seem
ta be printed in the more commonly accessible French edition
of the * Récherches sur I'Inde,’ 1 insert it from the German
edition, * Beschreibung von Hindustan," Band IL, Theil TL
{1758}, pp- 192, 195

*Two or three years ago my youngest brother' [Jacques B.,
born 1759, drowned 178¢], “who is at present an ordinary
member of the Russisn Imperial Academy of Science at
St. Petershurg, stayed some time in Venice. 1 requested him
to inspect this manuscript of Muanuzzi, and mare especinlly to
give me an idea of the Fourth and Fifth Parts; and [ also
wanted him to look ont for & capyist to transcribe those two
parts, or to extract from them all that was valusble, He
answered me on February 15, 1750, thus:

s | went to the library, and unfortunately found the work
‘about as badly dividid as it could be in respect of the languages
wsed. The first three hooks, just thoss you do pot want, are
all in Ttalinn, excepting some I00 Piges of 50 in Franch.
The Fourth I’art has 12z pages of history, some 20 on the
Jesuits and the Inquisition, another 20 of history in French,
Tollowed by 20 pages in Portugnese. The Fifth FPart bhas
130 pages of history in Portuguese, and 50 in Freach on the
Jesuit and Capuchin disptites. You must see how dificult it
is ta find one copyist for all that at any reasonable price, for
French is little known here, and Portuguese still less, or even
not at all, The Tatter especially is not of a very easily-read
handwriting for anyone not knowing the language, etc? .

VOL. L b
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‘At length a capable copyist was found, but at too high a
rate, and while negotiations aver this were pending my brother
was compelled 1o continue his journey to 5t. Petersburg. He
certainly confided the matter to a German friend in Venice:
however, this gentleman died soon afterwards, and since then
I gave up the project for the time being, although the Abbate
Morelli, custodinn of the library ' [Jacopo Morelli, 1745-1829,
custodian from 1778], * assured me through another friend in
Venice he would willingly produce the manuscript in question;
if a diligent copyist could be found as 1o whose moral charscter
he could entertain no doubts.! \

Bernouilli winds up by expressing the hope that these hints
will induce some one to follow up the trace and select the
mast valuable parts of this ‘apparently-for-the-greater-part-
important manuseript.’ The Abbate Morelli's demand for &
‘moral’ copyist is somewhar diverting,

Vi. THE OTHER MANUCCI CODICES AT VENICE:

Codex CXXXV1., in Class VL, bears the same book-plate
as Codex XLV. (Zanetti), the name of the same libranian,
Geronimo Venioro, and the same year, MDCCXXIL. It is a
volume of pictures, all in colours, They represent gods and
goddesses, devotess, murriage and fuveral ceremonies, Hind
and Mahomedan festivals. There wre ulso plans of the
battle between Shah ‘Alam and Asam Shih, similar to thoss
bound up in Codex XLIV. Tlere wre short discriptions of
the pictures, some in Fronch and some in Halian,

From a transcript of these descriptions (French text) made
for me theough Dr. Goggiola, 1 give the following list of the
subjects : (1) A ropresentation of Banjiras, or grain-carriers ;
(1) Brahma; (2) Vishoo: (3) Brahman and his wife, followers.
of No. 2 (Vishnu) ; (4) a second picture of v ishiu ; (5) Brahman
{tfollower of Vishnu Nu, 4+ and his wife ; (6) w thurd picture of
Vishnu; (7) Brahman and his wife, followers of the third
Vishnu, No. 6; () Rudr (Shivil) ; (g) priest of Rudra wod his
wile 5 (r0) Pillaiyaur, son of Rudra; (11) another picture of
Rudea; (12) priest of Rudea with lije wile; (x3) ceromony at
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the Novembar festival of the goddess * Calouly ' (? Ka&lf alias
Kangili); (14) Arst ceremony at o Hindd marriage ; (15) second
ceremony at a marriage; (10) third ceremony at A marrisge ;
(17) fourth ceremiony at & marringe; (18) ffth and lust cere.
mony ata marriage; (1g) first ceremony at a Lingdyat fimeral ;
{20) second ceremony at such funeral; (21) third ceremony at
the said funeral: (22) funeral of & gracs (7 gurA), or learned
doctor of the Hindio religion; (23) burning of a Brahman
widow; (24) an eclipse of the moon &s pictured by the Hindis;
(z4bis) ritnal at eclipse of the sun and moon ; {25) burning of
the dead; (36) bathing of the widow after her husband's
death ; (27) picture of the woman (see Fart 11, f. 70) who
dragzed her lover into the pyre; (28) lamentations of 2 Hinda
widow on hearing of her lusbind's death ; (20) sacrifices at the
dedication of a Lingavat templs; (30) representations of a
fagir's life; (33) Bralimans branding & man dedigated to their
service ; (32 ritual against the small-pos; (33) elevation and
plan of the temple at Canjivaron [Kinchipuram or Conjee-
veram, " Madms Manual of Ad.," Hi. 210]; (34) elevation and
plan of two other temples at Kinchipurmm; (35) plins and
vitsw of Lankd town, the fairy city of the Hindds; (30) repre-
sentation of the great temple at Tirupati [see Part 111, f, 201
of text]: (37) Bralimans sacrificing a goat to fire; (38) rejoic-
ings of the Brahmans after sacnficing the goat; (30) flower
pavilion erected at temples on great festivals; (40) Brahmans
hlessing water ; (41) trinmphal car used in processions to bear
their idols; (42) & Hindd festival to Lakshmi and Paramnl;
(43) Hindd devotee with iron chaini (44) Hindd devotes with
wooden yoke 1 (45) Hindd devotee with an iron chain through
Iiis lip ; (461 4 dead’ Hinds half buried, and a woman begging
alms for biim; (47) @ Hindo asking for alms; (4704€) another
Hindd mendicant; (48) a Hindd penitent worshipping the sun ;
(49) another Hind penitent wosshipping the san; (50) & Hindi
penitent ina fixed position; (51) the same, another position ;
(52) another ascetic in a constrained posture; (53} another of
these penitents; (54) another instance; [55) penitents adoring
the Lingam ; (56) a Hinda penitent with u bracier on his head ;
(37) Hindi strollers attuched to temples asking alms and

B =2
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dancing; (57bis) the same again; (55) a Hrahman begging ;
(50) 2 Hindd on his way to consult & Brahman ; (0o) o Hindo
selling Gangotri water ; (61) a Hindd begging by singing and
beating a drum; (62) Mahomedan annual mourning for the
death of Hasan und Husain; (63) the idal of * Manaron Lamy*
[? Mantrilammah, see * Madras Manual of Ad." iii. 530] with.
worshippers; (64) penitent in‘a congtrained posture ; (05) penis
tent standing and léaning on a rope attached to 2 tree; (66) &
naked penitent with long hair und prodigions nails,

Thus, with double numbers, there are sixty-nine plates in all
Most of them are crowded with figures 1n action, and are not
merely drawings of the gods, goddesses, devotees, and penitents
alone,

Codex CCCXLV,, in Class VI, an octavo valume, is the last
of the four Manucci manuscripts now in the San Marco library
at Venice; and contains Italian descriptions of the pictures in
the Bibliothéque Nationale at Paris, ‘With the pictures at
Paris are bound up similar descriptions in French. e

The *Marciana Codex of Manucei® is quoted as one of the
sources of the potice on him in * Studii biografici e bibliografici
sulla storia della geographia in Italia, by P. Amat di 5. Filippo
(second edition, Roma, 158z), vol. 1, p. 440, along with Zurla,”
of whom | bave spoken, Legrenzi and Foscarini, Of these
last I shall speak when | come to the stoty of Manucci's life.
Some slight errors 1 bave noted in the sbove work are:
Caton for Catron, 1707 Tor 1705, 8= for 4 and t2e, 2737 for #7351
(Venice trunslation). Deslandes did not transtate the work into
French, but conveyed it to France; for frasports in francese, read
n Francia, Nor were Parts IV, and V. sent home in 170§, bul
Part IV. m 1706 and Part V, still later.

VIL THE VOLUME OF PORTRAITS IN THE BIBLIOTHEQUE
NATIONALE, PARIS.

Eaetrul bt Manucei, in his Latin letter, mentions that, along with the

with Partul.,
1L, mid 111

three volumes of his History sent to Europe through M. Des-
landes, he also forwarded a volume of portraits. - Catron

(Preface of 1705, p. 4) speaks 42 il he hod control over this
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volume also, being only deterred by fear of expense from
reproducing some of its contents. He may have inspected the
volume, but as he did not make it over to the ]esuits’ College
along with the three volumes of text, we may doubt if he
had more than o passing connection with it. [ have not been
able to discover any trace of the date or the chunnel of transfer
to Venice. That the yolume did reach the St. Mark Library
at that place we have ample proof. Zanetti catalogued it
there in 1741, and reproduced three of the pictures, and, as
the present librarian writes, their copy of that catalogue bears
the marginal pote that the volume of pictures was maide over to
the French in 1797.

In 1808 | came across some articles in the Gasstle des Beaus This voluma
Arts, January to June, 1857, p. 281, by Monsieur E. Blochet, :
on 'Miniatures des MSS5. Mussulmanes’; and for one of his
reproductions, a portrait of Diwar Baklish, alias Bulaql, grand-
son. of Jabiingir, he guve as his authority * Voyage de Manucci
In Murch, 1860, being: then in Paris, my friend Mr. H.
Beveridge kindly made an examination for me, from which
there could be no doubt that it was the identical volume that
Zurla in 1818 declared had been mislaid, but; to speak more
exactly, thit had been carricd off by the French in 1707 as part
of their [talian booty.

I have since séen the book myself, 1t forms part of the wﬁ'ﬂf
collection in the Cabinet des Estampes at the Bibliothéque
Mationale, and it i& clossed es O/D, No. 45 (rdsefve). It
i§ now bound in red moroeco, impressed with gold imperal
cagles at the corners. Evidently it was rebound at Paris
after 17g7; but the embossed [ozengeshaped stamp of the
San Marco Library, cut out of the old ealf hinding, i5 in-
serted in the centre of the new covers. The lining is of pale
blue satin with gold edging. It is labelled outside * Histolre
de I'Inde depuis Tamerlank jusqu's Orangzeb, par Manucci,’
and bears the yeir 1712, Inside is the ex-libris of San Marco,
bearing the ssme name (Geronime Veniero) and the same year
(1722} as that in Codex XLIV. (Zanetti) at Venice, Opposite
each picture isa destription of itin French. Of these an Italian
version is found at Venice in Codex Class V1., No. ccexlv. ;
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they are evidently the composition of Manucei. Most of the
portraits are very characteristic; thoss of Aurangzeb mnd
Shivi Ji may be specially noted,  Those of Shith *Alam and the
other sons of Anrangzeb, as those of persons known to Manuesi,
ought to be authentic. The two pictures devoted, one to the
kings of Gulkhandah nnd the other to the kings of Bijipur,
strike me as very lifeclike, and probably slss authentic,

Az an infroduction to his descriptions, Manuccl says : "Belore
1 left the Mogul dominions' [that ig, before 1686], * to satisfy
my curiosity | caused portraits to be painted of all the kings
and princes from Taimur-i-lang to Aurnngzeb, including the
sons and grandsons of the last pamed, together with the portraits
of the rulers over Bijipur and Gulkbandah, of some of the
chief Hinda princes, and of other fmous generals. The artist
was a friend of mine, Mir Mubammad, an official in the house-
hold of the prince, Shah ‘Alam, and all were copied from
originals in the royal palace. So far as I know, no one has yet
imparted sueh portraits to the pubilic § or if any ingenious person
hes =o dope, this collection of mine has nothing in common
with snch, mine being the veritable, which the others mnnﬁt be.
Meanwhile, to get them [ have spared no expense, and huve
given many presents; and the whole was carried out under
great  difficnlties, it being incumbent on me to observe
profound secrecy a5 to my having the copies. 1 do not bring
forward any poriraits of queéens and princesses, for i s
imnpossible to see them, thanks to their being alwiys concealed,
If anyone has produced such portraits, thoy should not be
accepted, being only likenesses of concobines and duncing=
girls, otc., which have been drawn according to the artist’s
fancy. It shoold be remarked that all portraits showing a
nimbus-and an umbrella over the head are those of persons of
the blood royal”

In the Revie do Billiotkigues for 180§ (vel viil), 1899
(val. ix), and 1900 (vol. x.), Monsicur Blochet published an
‘laventuire et Description des Minintures des MSS. Orientaux
durs li Rilliothéque Nationale d Paris;” subssquemly repro--
duced in & separtate volume (pp. 278, Svo. ; Paris: E. Bouillon,
100l On pp. 225-229 Is o list of the fifty-aix paintings in
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volame 0.1, No. 45 (réserve) ; but this | need not insert, us binck:
and white reproductions of the whole series are incorpornted
it the present issue of Manucch. The excellent negatives from
which they are tuken were done by Monsigur P, Sauvanaud, of
the Rue Jacqly, Paris, who was recommended to me by Monsieur
Blochet, The original paintings are, 55 M, Blochet justly says,
‘d'une splendide exécution s they los vastly in effect when
stripped of their colouring, at ence gorgeous and exquisitely
delicate, and I regret that the great expense has made it
impassible 1o attempt their reproduction by sote colonr

Apart frum their artistic excellence, these pictures
have the ndditional valoe of forming a collection which has.
never beon disturbed since it was made, while the date of
execution and the name of the artist are aceurately known.
Thuw the portraite of men thes alive may be acoepted as like-
nesses, so far a8 the skill of the painter permitted.

Of previous reproductions of these portraits, 1 have already Frevens
geforted to the thres fine copperplate engeavings in Zanethi's of's o
atalogte of 1741, and Maonsieur Blochet's process block of et
Dawir Dakhsh, atias Buligl (grandion of Jahlngir), in the
Gaseits des Beaus Arks (1897).. Tu June, 1503, L sceidentally
took up some lithographs, displuyed by Miss Manaing at one
of hier National Indian Association meetings, and to my surprise
ane of these, a portrait of Aunmnggeh; professed to be from
‘yun miniztura persiena estratin dal MS & Manucci,' Miss
Manning told me she had destroyed the book but kept the
illistrations, and zhe subsaquently sent me thirtythree litho-.
graphs in all,and of these, u partruit of Akbar was alsy referred
to an onginal in Manucci's collection.  After a good deal of
trouble the book was found at Rome. It turns out to he * Storia
delle Indie Orientali, by Giovanni Flechia, preceded by a
' Geographical Description of Indin,’ by F. C. Marmocchi
(2 vols., 4tu,, Torine, 18621, The geography (262 pages) is
good, but the listory is & mere compilution from Elphinstone
and other ensily aceessible anthorities,

There wre forty-seven full-page lithagraphic illusirations, Fiechis aad
mastly taken from W. Danicll's * Orinntal Annpals,” and o few, W
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the most spirited, from originals by Evremont de Bérard
(Hourished r. 1852-1861), There are five portraits of emperors -
(x) Taimur, (2) Akbar, (3} Shahjahin, (4) Aurangzeb, (5) Blhﬁ-
dur Shih I1., all given in gold and colours, very creditably
done, that of Shahjahfin being especially good. (OF these, r.lm
second, third and fourth profess to be tiken from Manucei’s
volume, but no further indication of its focale is given. The
one of Shahjahlin could hardly be from the Manucei col-

lection, as there is no such portrait of that monarch con-
tained in it.

VIIL MANUCCIS BIOGRAPHY.

Although, as Foscarini says, Manucei's Jife, *che i piena
d'accidenti curiosi,' can be easily put together from the * Storia,"
the accounts of him in the usual biogriphical dictionaries are
singulnrly meagre and erronsous.  Neither in the old nor the
new edition of the * Biographie Universelle! (Michaud) does his
name appear either under Manouchi or Manueel, I the
' Nouvelle Biographie Générale® (Didot), xxxii. (1860), we
certainly have an entry.  Bat, unfortunately, it i ane crowded
with demonstrable errars,  There is no evidence that Manucci
died about 1710; an the contrary, his continued existerice i
1712 can be proved. That he returned ta Euwrope in 16g1 of
any other year; that he retired to Portugal; thay he jrublished
R work which had become very scarce, are ull uttenable
propositions.  The entry in Sir Thonms Phillipps's catalogue
is of amanuscript, not of & printed book : it i%, therefore, hardly
to be wondered at if the dictionary contributor (F. 1)) had never
been able to find & copy.  His authority, the * Mercyrs Galant
for 1691, T have not been ahle 10 consult, as fu is not iy the
British Museum ; what his * documents particuliérs ' were, we,
of cotirse, cannot know now,

By the inquiries T instituted at Venice, 1 was unable to find
any trace there of Manuesl. 1 was told that the nime wiis not
Patrician.  The only other Mannceis that I have come across
dolnot, T fear, shed much lustre on the pame; both oceur in
Casanova de Seingall's * Mémoites™ one: was the spy who
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denpunced Casanova as a heretic, and secured his committal to
[ Pionthi ; the ather was a friend met at Barcelona, whose plans
Jatapo Casanovi inadvertently betrayed.” As Manucei nowhere
tells i his father’s Christian nume or the parish of his birth, to
search for his birth or baptism was a hopeless task. Nor did
the palice reports yield any notice of such a- boy's disappear-
ance. Further search under the right year and month
{November, 1653) has not produced anything, nor any mention
of Viscount Bellomont's stay at Venice and departure from it
by sen. Thus the only meins of reconstituting Manucei's life-
story and its chronology is o search through the * Storia.” This
recanatruction I now. attempt.

In the early part of his book, and up to.about the year 1675, From birth
fhere is an almost constant defoet of two years in Manucci's ¥ 1%
dates, From external evidence we know that the eclipse of the
sun e =aw at Zulfh, in Armenia, took place on August 12,
1654: that he landed in India in Januiry, 1656; that the
Battle of Samagarh, near Agrah; was fought on June 8, 1658,
Calenlating from thess points as fixed data, we find that
Manueci left Venice in November, 1653 inot 1651). He says
he was then fourteen, and thus must have been born some time in
1639,  He mnaway from home, and hitd on bosird s veese] hound
for Stnvrna; here he encountered Viscount Bellomont (Henry
Bard), then on his way to Persin and India. Bellomant had
pity on the lad, and took him into his service. From Smymi
they went through Asia Minor to the Persian court at Qazwin
{August, 1654). Thence they moved to [sfabiin, where they
remained n year (September, 1654 to September, 1655), finally
reaching Gombroon (Bandar ‘Abbds) vid Shiriz and Iir, A
passage was obtained on the H.E.I. Company's Seakorse, in
which they reached Surat, on the west coast of India, in
Jonuary, 1656, Leaving that place in April, they travelled by
Burhnpar, Hindiyah, Sironj, Narwar, Gwiliyar and Dhalpur
to Agrah : thence they started for the Mogul court ut Dihll.  On

1. Bee . Whibley's articls In Afarsillia’s Magasiee for Felimiary, 1994, . 372

2 This mintake bF 1wir yzars ) Manuee] explaine the sppearance of 1646 histoad
of 1658 in Catron, p, iny, who mude hers a most uncritical uss of bis toar. He
could eaally have corrected the error from Henler,
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June 20, 1656, when near Hodal, u place between Mathur® and
Dihli, Bellomant suddenly expired. )
Manueei went on to Dihli, and, throogh the dispute srising
over the late ambassador’s affairs, obtained an introduction
to Frince Dard Shukoh, cldest son of the emperor Shihjshan,
Munocei was enlisted as an artilleryman in DEsS’s service on
rupees 80 3 month.  [n 1658, when the princes Aurangzeb and
Murid Bakhsh moved against Agrah, Dira Shukoh marched
south to oppose them, Manucci being in his army. A counter-
march to Samigarh followed, and there batile was delivered.
Manueei was in the field, and after Did's defeat fled with the rest
to Agrah.  Subsequently he siceseded in attaching himself in
disguise to Aurangzeb's army, end was in it when Murid
Bakhsh was seized. From Dihli Manuce minaged to et away.
and join Dard Shukoh at Lahor. With that prince he marehed
to Multdn and Bhakkar. He was placed at the head of the
artillery in the latter fortress, under the command of the
eunuch Basant, and the garrison stood a siege, only surrender
ing after the capture of their prince. Evacuating Bhakkar,
the garrison returned to Lahor, and there Manueci escaped
with his bare life from an mttack in which Basant was killed.
Returning with the other European artillerymen to  Dihlf,
Manucci refused further service, as he disliked Aurangzeb.
After he had witnessed that monareh's departure [rom Dihll
for Kashmir (December 8, 1662), Manueei made an expedition
castwards, and, taking boat at Patnah, travelled to. R&jmahal
and Dhitkkah, thence thraugh the Sundarbans to Hagli, retam-
ing to Agrah by way of (Qisimbizar, At Agrah and Dibll he
gradually adopted medicine us a profession, but, obtaining an
ntroduction to Rajah Jai Singh, of Amber, through his second
satt, Kirat Singh, he was offered by that prince the post
of captain of artillery on 30 rupees a day, Jai Singh was
appointed Governor of the Dakhin between March and
September, 1064. Manucei marched with him for that
country, being deputed on the way to negotiste with some
petty mujuhs north of Bombay. After seven months h rejoltied
8t Auringibld, where the rajah had united his forces with those
of Shill ‘Alam, He saw Shiva Jiin the rajah's camp in June
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or July, 1665. 1In Jai Singh's further move southwards against
Bijapur Manueei also took part.

Apparently tiring of his position, Manucei resigned (1L
108, 100, and made his way vid Kaliyani to Bussain, twenty-
eight miles north of Bombay; he was there during the Lent
of 1667, and narrowly escaped the Inquisition (I1L 230).
He reached Goa in May, t6by, and after a stay of fifteen
months (May 1667 to August 1568) he left it disguised as
a Carmelite, and returned to Agrah and Dibll (IL 130). At
the latter place he nttached himself to Kirat Singh, obtaiting
from him a horse-and rupees 5 a day. After a year's time
Kirat Singh was ordered to Kabul, end Manuce resolved
s move to Lahor (end of thya or early in 16771), and start
practice there as a physician. He practised as such for about
six or seven years, and, having realized n small competence,
decided on removing into territory governed by Europeans.
This must have been in 1676, as he was at Damin, on the
west coast, in that year (I1. 137, 111, 198), and during 1677
(111. 164, 265) he made his home at Bandora, on Saulsette
lsland, nine miles north of Bambay fort.

Having lost his money in 2 bad speculation, Manucei was
obliged to try his fortunes once more at the Mogul eourt. He
returned to Dilili, where, through a court chamberlain, he
was called in to attend one of Shih ‘Alam's wives, and, having
clired her of a gathering in the ear, the lady interested herself
in his affairs and procured hie appointment by that prince as
one of his physicians. This must have heéen subsequent to
January 30, 1678, the date on which Shiih *Alim returned to
Dihli from Kabul. On September 28, 1678, Shih *Alam was
-made governor of the Dakhin, and Manucci went there in his
\rain. He says once that he was at Agrah in 1679, and possibly
she occasion was on this march to the Dakhin, On September 6,
17y, Shib ‘Alam’s thirty-seventh birthday, they were at
Aurungdbid; bot not long before this {December 18, 1678)
Jaswint Singh of Judbpur had died 10 Kabol, and Aumngzeb,
after failing to seize one of the mjah’s lnfint sons, resolved on
the conquest of the Jodhpur state. Shih *Alam was recalled to
ke part in the campaign, and the prince (Manucct with him)

1066-1677.

16781682,
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passed the rains of 1680 at Ujjain (I1. 204). ‘In January, 1681,
they joined the main army at Ajmer, haviog seen a comet
on their way (December 24, 1680). Prince Akbur kad just fled
(January 13, 1681), and hod mised the standard of reyelt. Opn
the 26th Shah 'Alam was sent in pursuit, and remained on this
duty until the end of March (1681). Some sort of peace was
patched up with the other Rijputs, Akbar escaped to the
Mahrattabs in the south, and, in consequence, on Septémber 15,
1661, Aurangzeb began his first march towands the Dakhin, &
cotntry from which he was destined never to return.

Finding his position an irksome ane, and having some money
in the hands of the Theatine Fathers at Goa, Manucci, appar-
untly in 1682 or early in 1683, resolved to get away under the
pretext of two months' leave of gbsence, On reaching Stmt
he obtained a boat from Frangois Martin,! of the Frénch
Company, which tock him to Damiin, and thence to Gogse
The then governor of Goa, the Conde de Alvor, had taken
charge an September 11, 1681, and at the time of our Hero's
arrival found himself closely threatened by an army under
Sambhd Ji, son of Shiva J1, the Mahrattal. About Aogust, 1683,
baving euwisely offered battle st Ponda gty the mainland, the
viceroy was badly defeated. Negotiations were opened, and
Manucci was sent to interview Sambha Ji. Nothing resulted,
and Santo Estevaofl, one of the Goa islunds; was captured by
Sambhi JT during the night of November 25, 1683, Oncs more
Manucei visited the Mahrattah chief, and also went to see
Shih *Alam, who was approaching in a threatening manner.
He ales toak part in a second embassy to Shih ‘Alam. For all
these services the governor conferred on him a patent af kuight-
hood in the Portuguese Order of St, Tago, this patent being
dated January 20, 1684 -

On the second visit Shah ‘Mam detained Manticei ns an
absconder from his serviee. Flight was attempted, but the
poor man was brought buck much against his will. A difficult
march through the Ghiits was then made, and the prince

F. Manm was st Saral from 1630 o 1655 (see | Sottne, Histolmo,' 1909,

P ey, and Mickand, - Blogmphle Vniversalle,’ mdirhoy of iy
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tejoined his father at Abmadnagar. Shortly afterwards Shah
"Alam was sent against the King of Gulkhandah. When the
camp was at Milkher, Manuccl managed to enter into com-
munication with the general on the opposite side, and he
was helped to escape to Gulkhandah. When Shih *Xlam
oceupied Gulkhandah (1686) Manucei fled further afield to the
European settlements at Narsipur and Masulipatam, on the
east coast. Soldiers hrought him back to Gulkhandah, but he
wais stcoesshul in evading delivery to the agents of Shith ‘Alam,
who had left that place. Once more, with the aid of an
Avgustinian friar, he managed after two months to get awiy,
and took refuge at the English settlement of Madras or Fart
8¢, Goorge.  This was in the second halfl of 1650,

Paying a visit to Frangois Martin at Pandicherry, eighty-six 168, his
miles south of Madras, Manucei was dissuaded from returning s HHage
to Europe, and was advised to marry. Hewas introduced to o
Catholic widow, the daughter of Christopher Hartley and
Aguida Pereyra. Her first husband, Thomas Clarke, had died
on October 6, 1683, Manucei married heron October 28, 1664,
“and & son was born to them, but the child died in infancy. He
resumed his practice as a physician, and much commends
i cordial of which he had the secret, while his. ‘stones,” an
imitation of the Goa stones of the Jesuits, had a great
vogue.!

Almost immediately on his arrival at Madras Manucct's y536:17e0
services were requisitioned by Governor William Gyfford
(July 1681 to July 1687). Gyfiard wrote to the * Great Mogull *
on February 17, 1688, and March 20, 1688, sending both
lotters by Manuccl's messengrers.  Before the answer arrived
from the court Gyfford had been superseded by Elihu Yale
(July 1687 to October 23, £6g2), and on September 16,
1687, the new governor ousted Manueci and made over the
negotiation entirely to Kbwajah Thnds, alins Joan de Marke,
an Armeniin merchant at Gulkhandah, with whom the corre
spondence lasted until July, 1688, During Yale's {1687-1692)
and Higginson's (16g2-1698) governotships Manucei would

4 G Lockyer, * Acooistit of Trads 4 lodia ' apir, p. 268, and =0 " Hobson
Jubser,” g g7y 4w, * Goa Stanee.
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appear to have remained out of favour. On the contrary,
Thomas Pitt, governar froni 1608 to 1700, seems to have liked
and trusted Manucci—at any rate, be employed him & good
deal. _

In 1700 Sir Willlam Norris and Consul John Pitt, who
had come out in the interests of the newly-founded rival English
company, made overtures to Manueci to join the first-named as
mterpreter.  Manucei declined on the score of age and Blind:
ness, but really out of & desire nat to offend Governor Pitt.!

[n 0.C., No. 6737 (Masulipatam general letter of Sep-
tember 19, 16gg), we have an intimation that a lettor “‘H
awaited from ‘Sent Manuchii,’ which was delayed by his
absence at Pondicherry, the French settlement, on some
business he was transacting for them (the French).

A translation of Manucei's answer to John Pitt is to be found
at the India Office (0.C., vol. Ixvi;, Part 1., No. G7g0), and,
as Sir Henry Yule does not give it, I insert It in full.

' MosT Irusrrious Sk, Mg. P,

* T have received the hononr of 3 letters; which you have
dane me the Favour of writing to ms, and am infinitely obliged
to you, for all the Goodness you show therein; and (ae 1
should be alwayes gladd to serve your Henr.) I would doe
it with all my heart, but finding my Selfe Old and Infirme,
L am not ina Condition to undertake what You desire of me;
If I enjoyed my former hiealth and Strength, it would be o great
honour to me, to find soe favourable an opportunity of Serving,
his Majesty, his Excelloncy, and the Noble Company, but my
Infirmity and Blindness will not pernit me.

“1 desire your Honour will assure your sclfe, that noe other -
reason should hinder me from aceepting the soe Honourable
Offers that you make me with soe much Goodness.

 Yule, " Diary of W, Hedgen. Ik, pp; celuvil, cclilx UL, b tv, Weliore see—
‘ m‘;_-:p.l' Pitt. Trallan latter 1 8§ M. of Joly 38, sl (V501 (Tndin Office, 005,

M) Sir W, Rirri 1o Sy X ‘
[ ﬂl. :E: A w10 Sie Wicholee Walte fra Blwnsillgratmon, ronary-sou [l

u.;;';,I Peachey o | Pitt, from Fort 84 George, Febrmary 19, 410 [O.C,
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*1 have not answered your two former Letters, not having
mett with a secure oppertunity ; in fing, 1 affer you my whole
heart, and upon all occasions You shall find me punctually
ready, as your most humble Servant. God keep your illustrions
porsoin.

* Mudrustapatan,  December, 1690,
* Most Hlosirious Sr.,
* Your most humble
"Nicoras MaxuveH.

Ty the  most  Hlostrious

Signor  Mr. P, President

i the Nolile Rovall Cumpany

of Englund for the Coast of

Cormandell, Motchlapatan.!

The kingdom of Gulkhandal having fnally fallen in 1687,
the Moguls proceeded to invest Jingi, eighty-two miles south-
west of Madras, but were unable to reduce it until 1698,  From
the date of its fall they became very active, and began to
interfere throughout the Kamniitik, Their deputy-governor,
0a,ad Khin, Panni, obeving orders from court, made himself
especially disagreeable. In 1702 he invested Madras for many
weeks, when Manuce: and a Brmhmin were sent as joint envoys
from Governor Pitt to the besieger (Part IV., 87. 93, 07, 244;
V., 224). The story of these negotiations, from the official
point of view, will be found in J. Talboys Whealor's * Madras
in the Olden Time,' chapter xvi, pp. 195-221. In February
and. March, 1703, Manucei paid & visit to that Nawib at his
hoase in Kadapah, 137 miles northewest of Madras.

With 1703 begins the active stage of the dispute between 103176,
the Capuchins and Jesuits, arising chiefly out of the so-called fipae
Mulshar Rites or Accommodation Strife,! about the supposed
concessions of Jesuit missionaries to heathendom. Into this
and other ccclesiastical matters Manueel threw himself with
great energy. In 1700 he had besn the host of some priests
who were on their way to China (IV., 231, 232), and at the
end of 1701 he wrote to DEO] Khiln about persecutions in

i * Aepeamiigghen * b e French snse, oo in Molléed's ©11 v & aved e cel
dis arcommodamenis.’
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Tanjor, being thanked in two letters by the Pére Pierre Martin,
Jesuit, of that mission (second letter, dated February 6, 1702)
With the amival of Cardinal de Tournon, papal legate, at
Pondicherry in November, 1703, ecclesiastical gquestions touk
precedence of all others in our author's mind, He devotes
many pages to these questions, and in Pére Norbert's * Mémoires
Utiles et Nécessaires,' Luques (Lucca), 1742; p. 187, under the
date of January 10, 1707, we find ‘Nicolo Manuecl® as ane of
the four witnesses who attest that & certain request had been
presented on September 28, 1706, by Pére Michel Angelo,
Capuchin, to the Bishop of St. Thome, an ex-Jesuit,

In 1706 Manucei lost his wife, and at some date between
* that event and t712 he moved his home to Pondicherry. 1In
the latter year he proposed to make a journey to the Mogul
court at Libor on the request of Shih *Alam, who had be-
come emperor five years before. The Madras Council wished
to make use of his mediation to clear up certain long-pending
difficulties with the Mogul, and secure fresh privileges for their
honourable masters. The death of Shah *Alam put an end to
Manucci's plans.  But as a reward for previous services during
Da‘nd Kbéin's attack, the governor and Council on Junuary 14,
1712, conceded to him in perpetuity his Jeasehold house and
garden st Madris, situated outside the north-west corner of the
then Black Town.

The previous history of this renewal presents one or two
points of interest. An order of March 22, 17035, directed 2
ranewal for twenty-one years on the levy of a fine of sixty
pagodas, with the rider: ‘It being the generall opinion of all
that the aforesaid Nicolo Manuch is very poor, and in con-
sideration of his readiness to serve the Company on all
occasions, 'tis agreed that upon his payment of the sixty
Pagodas before-mentioned, it be returied to him a5 a gratuity
for his good services® (* Factory Records,’ Fort St. Gmrgi:.
vol. xiii., fol. 37).

Unfortunately, before the leass was drawn ap and executed
a Padre at Negapatam sent 16 the governor (Thomas Pitt)
“letter full of strange invectives against Senr Munuch,” which,
when produced before (he Council, led them to suspect he
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‘was: not true to the Company's interest.' The lease was
stopped and inquiry ordered. 1t was found that *the Padre
‘was an infamous and scandulous fellow.!  Manucei had detected
hiim in attempts at debancheries in his family, while the Padres
at Madras and other Portuguese of good reputation gave the
Padre a very ill character. It was determined on December 15,
1704, to grant the lease on the terms originally sanctioned
[* Fnctory Records,” Fort St. George, vol. siii., fol. 203).

Then follows the lease, dated December 20, 1704. It recites
that the fist grant for thirty years was made to Thomss
Clarke, gent®, in the year 1671. It consisted of a garden or
parcel of ground without the town. Manucei petitioned as
heir of Thomas Clarke (having married his widow). The
torms were & fine of sixty pagedas (remitted as above stated),
and a yearly acknowledgment of one pagoda.

This house and garden lay to the north of Madras, nnd just
north of it again was a piece of ground known ns the Elephant
Garden (entry of May 7, 1706), The plot was 657 feet from
north to south, and from east to west (ut the north end) 353
feet and (at the south end) 482 feet. The boundaries wese s
North, the garden of Foree Moortepan ; south, the Black Town
wall; eust, Mantangaura’s garden and some Pariah houses ;
west, the highway from Tom Clarke’s gate to the Company's
old garden: The term granted was for twenty-one years from
March 25, 1703, at a yearly rent of one pagoda (sce Modrmas
Consultations, Jamuary 15, 1704, Range 239, vol. Ixxxiii,,
pp- 19-22, and 6g'),

The perpetual grunt of January 14, 1712, was made under
the following circumstances: On Novembér 1, t7ir, Mr.
Charles Boon, a frée murchant, appeared before the Madras
Council (Edward Harrisan, president) with a petition from
Sefiar Nichola Manoch, “formerly inhabitant of this place but
now in Pondichurry, The petition recites the lease of

LY ain indebisd bo the Hes, B, Penny for the information that, itp to the
teginnlig of the eighiesnih enntury, the sorth.wen guts of Fore St Ueorge, now
called. thy Chonltry Guate, was khivvn ok * Tl CHirks's Gate’ For the Come
pmiy's ganden, marked simply "Garden,” see the minp of 174y, reprodused in
Mry Penny's *Fort St George,'  All these houses must kave bear wept mweay In
I746. when the Pranch (ook the placs, and fomnel & glnn romd the forr

VoL, 1. E
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ground near Tom Clarke’s gate, in which by mistake a piece
of ground for which he (Nichola Manuch) held a bill of sale
wits wrongly included, and be prays for a rectification. On
November 6, 1713, H. Davenport, B. Binyon, and W, Warre
reported.  The terms of the report are not entered, but
apparéntly it was adverse to the application.

But on January 14, 1712, the president revived the matter
in council.  He informed the Board that a special order had
come to Pondicherry calling for Manucei's attendance at Shith
‘Alam’s court fthen ot Lahor]. Manueei was about fo set
out for Arkal to see the diwdn, who had orders to supply
all his necessities and forward him 1o Dihli, The president
reverts ta the refosal on November 6, 1711, to admit a higher
title than that of leascholder; and now for the following
teasons: (1) As the land s of very small value; (2) a8 *the
said Manuch during his residence here was very serviceable
to the Company's affairs by his perfoct knowledge of the
Persian language and the customs among the Maors, having
been often employ'd between Governor Pitt and Nabob Doud
Caun; (3) but yet more in consideration that he may be very
usefull in our present circumstances by assisting those that
go to court with the Present from Bengal; (4) and likewise
representing our quarrel with Surup Sing with advantage on
our side'; he proposes a new resplution in supersession of
the former one. 1t is to the effect that in consideration of
the good service done by Sefior Nichola Manuch, thiey confirm
to him and his heits for ever that piece of ground shich
Thomas Drinkwater bought of Charles and Arin Ryly on
September 26, 1674, since sold to Thomas Clarke on April 1y,
1675, and by the suid Thomas Clarke to Nicholas Manuch.

While on the subject of Manueci's houses, it seems to be
tolerably clear that he had a sécond house or country retreat
at Big Mount or St. Thomas's Mount, eight miles from Fort
St. George.  This property is mentioned distinctly in Part V.,
folios 101, 102, and elsewhere. It must be the place where
Manucei entertained DA,0d Ebfin. The late Mr. A. T. Pringle
objected that in those disturbed times Europeans would not
have lived so fiir away from Madras: and for the sume reasan
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doubted Manuccils story about a theft of fruit from the
governor's garden at the same place on December 1s, 1705
(Part V., [olio 55). But the entry of December 1, 1708,
ordering the destruction of the Mount Honse and the building
of another there for invalids, shows that Manueci was quite
right, and' (for once) Mr. Pringle was wrong, There was o
governor's house al St. Thomas's Mount in 1703 (Public
‘Consultations, Fort St. George, vol, xxxv., Pp. 269, 270).

The first mention of obtaining a farman through Zu, lfiqar
Khan, the new governor of the Dakhin, is in a letter from
Fort St. George of December 16, 1711 (List of Old Records,
No., 807); and under date Decamber 1, 1711, the Strat Council
speak of ‘their ' embassy (idem, No. 794),  The Madms Council
anticipated difficulties, owing to their having employed Ziya.
ud-din Kbfin as their go-between, to the displeasure of Zu,lfiqar
Khin, whose new office of viceroy made him all-powerful in
the Dakhin,  However, the emperor Shah ‘Alam died at
Lahar on Febroary 27, and the report thersof reached Madras
in April, 1712; thus, no doubt, Manueei did ot start for the
court, while the English for the time abandoned their project
of an embassy. It was not until some years afterwards that
John Surman was sent to Dibli from Calcotta.

I have failed to trace Manucei farther at Madras ar Pondi-
cherry, and the only date for his death is a vague intimation
in the work *Della Litteratura Veneziana , , . ° (4to,, Venice,
1854), by the Doge Marco Nicold Fosearing (b. February,
1hgs, 'd. March, 1763; Libmrian of San Marco from 1742 to
1762), which was ariginally pnblished in one valumes, falio, at
Padua in 1752, On p. g4t of the 4th edition (1854) it is said
that Manuccl died in India in 1717 ag an octogenarian, ‘as
he [Foscarini] had heard.’ Father Doyle of San Thome
informs me that there are no records there previous to 1784,
when Tippl's cavalry plundered and burnt evervthing, [
have not been able to search the Pondicherry archives, and
some eniry may be found thore. As would scem, Manucci
lefr an estate of 30000 pagodas (about £10,000), judging by
the entry taken from Padre Saverini Capuchin's accounts, as
printed in the * Madras Catholic Directory * for 18067, p. 153,

B2
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Although 1742, the date of Saverini's appointment as superior
(Penny, ‘Church m Madms,” p. 240), is rather late for adminis-
tration to the estate of a man dying in 1717, it i almost
impossible of belief that there could have been in that part of
the world. in the first half of the eighteenth century, any other
*Mr. Nicholes Manook® than Nicolao Manucci, the author of
the * Storia do Mogor. The only possible argument against
this identification is the fact that twice Manneci made himself
out & poar man. Onece was when the fine on the renewal of his
lease wis remitted by the Madms Council 5 the other instance
was the non-payment in 1706 of a death-bed bequest by his wife
of two hundred pagodas to the Bishop of San Thome. Father:
Michael Angelo, the Madras chaplain, urged him to pay it
Manucel said he bad no money; the Father suppested borrow-
ing, and to that Manucci replied that his debts were already
too heavy for him to wish to add to them (V., £ 27q).

A search at the India Office in the copies of the Madras
Records up to 1719, which are there preserved, lms produced
nothing bearing upon the question of our author’s death or his
estate, The reasan of this is probably the fact, communicited
to me by the Rev. Frank Penny, that for many years the estates.
of Roman Catholics were left in the bands of the priests for
administration; and were not dealt with by the English officials,

IX. SUMMARY OF PLAN AND CONTENTS OF THE ‘STORIAY

Manucei sturted his waork on a fixed plan, to which he sdhered
tolembly closely in the first three parts; though already in the
second half of Part [11. he becomes discursive. But in Paris
IV. and V. it is hardly possible to discover any plan, their
contents being 50 exceedingly heterogeneons—current historical
events alternating with personal adventures, stoties of img-piat
years, or even mere fables. 1In Parts [V. and V. the ecclesias-
tical clement also bulks very largely, the asthor wking a
strongly adverse position to the Jesuits und their missionary
methods.

Part 1. consists of two sections—first, a personal narrati
of the author's journey from Venice to Dihll, divided into E;ung
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chapters (pp. 1-33) ; z.emudly, a short chronicle of the Mogul
kings, hegmn:ng with Taimur-i-lang, and ending with .'mnng
2eb's succession and the death of his three brothers: Taimur-i-
lang, pp. 57-61: Mirdn Shih, pp; 61-63 : Abd Safd, pp. 63, 64
*Umar Shekh, p. 64; Sulthin Mzhmod, pp. 64-66; Bibar,
pp-06-0g (list of thirty-one previous kings of Dihli); Humdyan,
pp. bu-75; Akbar, pp, 75-08; Excursus on the Chiness in Indin,
PP 98-100, and on the Banyis, pp. 100-103; Jahdngir, pp.
103-120; Shihjabin, pp. 120280, Under Shithjubfin are set
forth the author's personal adventures up to and including the
War of Succession (1658-1639).

In Part 1L, pp. 1-255, & given the reign of Aurangzeb, Partil.
16581700, interspersed with the author's personal history, his
journeys and adventures, during the same period.

Part HI, is principally & treatise on the Mogol court, with Pass 11t
its system of government and statistics of its revenues. Some
of the subjects treated are : The royal household, p. 2 ; names of
(queens, p. 3; of concubines, p. 4: of harem mations, p. 44 of
chief dancers, p. 5; of women slaves, p, 5: habits of the harem,
P O mode of addressing the emperor, p. 171 ; names of eunuchs,
P- 13 of physicians, p. 165 of slaves, p. 17; of swords, p. 17;
of shields, p. 18; of horses, p. 18; of elephants, p. 18; of
catinon, p. 21 ; of the nobles, p. 22.  Then follows the system
of pay and rank, the mode of government and its abuses, p, 29,
with a digression on Sir William Notris's (£700) and the Dutch
(1688) embassies ; the author's work as physician, p. 43 a list
of provinces mnd their revenues, p. 40: descriptions of the
provinces, p. 53 ; the Hindd states; p. 59; routes and distances,
p- 67 ; Mabhomedans, p, 72; treatise on the Hinda religion and
ceremonial, p. 9o on elephants and other animals, Pe 1445
Governor Gyfford and the Mogul court, p. 154; origin of
Madras, p. 155; empire of Nar Singh, p. 166; the Jesuit
Roberto de' Nobili, p. 171 ; the pearl fishery, p: 171; various
stories of Goa, Pondicherry, and San Thome, p, 175 stories of
witcheraft and magic, p. 247 to end.

Part [V, begins by continuing the account of current events Part LV,
in the Mogul camp (1701), with earlier reminiscences intro-
duced here and there, pp. 1-33: Siv William Nomis's embassy,
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P- 34: Jesuit missions, pp. 36-45; Téanjor persecutions,
PP: 40-60, 6276 ; quarrels of Capuchins and lesuits, pp, 6o-62;
more about the Tanjor persecutions, pp. 76-80 ; Mogul attucks
on Tranquebar, Guddulir, and Pondicherry, pp. Bo-86; Dd,ad
Ehiin and Madras, pp. 87-105; Aumangzeb’s doings, pp. 105-1203
Father Ephraim and the Goa Inquisition in 1640, pp. 123-146;
a visit to Daod Khan at Kadapah, pp. 147:151; evenis of
1702-1704, pp. 152-162; Cardinal de Tournon and the Jesuits,
pp- 104-197 ; various events, pp. 1g7-218 ; Christinn quarrels,
Pp- 225-230; other events (ends on p. 244)- _
In Part V. the relation of eventsis carried on into 1705 and 1706,
Pp. 1-237; two Manifestoes by the Capuchins against the
Bishop of San Thome and the Jesuits occupy pp. 238-417;
then we return to events from 1707 to February, 1706, p. 418
(ending on p. 450). Stories about various earlier years nre
interspersed—viz. of 1659, 1665, 1690, 1609, and so forth.

X. MANUCCH, THE AUTHOR AXD/THE MAN:

A work written by an Italinn not in his muther-tongue, but in
Portuguese, has always presented an interesting problem. We
find now, on copsulting the Codex at Vemce, that nbout
one-third of the whole work was drawn up ariginally in Italian.
I have not used this text much, %0 1 am not able to gay
fally in whot it differs from the final copy of Parts 1. to
I11., prepared in French and in Portuguese for transmission:

to Euvrope. But from what | have seen of it, the Italian

text is much inferior in arrangement to the Berlin MS.:
its only use is to furnish a various reading Ders and there,
and, perhaps, o fow extru detdils worth presetving.  The
oxplunation for the choice of lnnguage, perhaps not a very
sufficient one, as given by Manucct in two or three. places, is
that he was forced to change the language accarding to the
nationality of the amanuensis available at the time., For
instance, what he says (in Italinn) on folio 364 of Codex XLIV,
(Zanetti) is: ‘ Owing to the want of an ltalian copyist, I have
been obliged to continue my work in French, and even in
Portuguess, The latter is far from correct, there not being any
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scribes here who are careful to seek always for the meaning of
words; [ leave the matier to the goodwill of the learned.'
From this point he drops Italisa for French, and shortly after
changes into Portuguese,

The French, as it seems to me, is handled with less freedom Charc

and force than the Portuguese. The latter wonld probably be
deemmed 2 patois; bot 1.am oot in a position myself to judge it, =7
or compare it with more highly-elaborated compaositions in that
Inngusge. As used by Manucci, it his the merits of being
simpile, direct, and graphic ; and i Jorms ain excullont vehicle
for his pamative. As a racomfenr Manucei takes high rank,
knowing all the secrets of how to tell a story, precision of place
and date, abundance of appropriate and convincing detail.
Passages that may be singled ont from mauch that is nearly as
good are the death of the eunuch Tasant, the anthor's first
surgical case at Lahor, the onset of the Rajput chivalry headed
by their red-eyed, opium-maddened bards chanting their battle-
songs, the Nathan-like apologue told to Bishop Gaspar Affongo
of San Thome, and the scene at the bleeding of Shiah ‘Alam’s
wife. Many others might be adduced. His style, though
simple and bon-literary, is extremely vivacions. He had what
Catrou calls * je ne sgud quel feu d'imaggenation’ in his mode of
narration ; he nover fails in interesting and carrying his readers
alatig with him, and reproduces something of the stir of life in
Indian cities, and their vividly contrasted splendoor and squalor.
In an occasional grossness of expression, opposed to our present
¢anons of taste, he is following onlv the usage of his age and
country. On the other hand, he is seldom guilty of pruriency
or Jubricity. '

terintics of

llnﬂ.mpl ard

As an historinn Manucci pregents us with a somewhat mingled I'Imn n

yarn. His supposed extracts from the Mogul official chronicles
are for the reigns preceding that of Shihjahin a tissue of
ahsurdities. Tliese [ables were, no doubt, current among the
people, but they are distortions of the facts, as such folks' talk
always is. What 15 tald about Jahangir, whether true or not,
18 ut any mte chamcteristic, and might be true. With the
reign of Shihjabdn things alter, and certainly for the later years
of thit reign and for the fifty years of Auringzeb Manucei isa
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writer whose statements cannot be ignored. 1 will not assert
that what he zays must always be believed, He was at times
misinformed ; he was prejudiced ; he wrote in the decline of life,
thirty to forty years after many of the events had happened.
I do not think he was intentionally unveracious : he is, indeed,
quite honest und specific, as a rule, about the sources of his
information. No doubt he had a penchant for the personal
side of history—in fact, hie has been called 3 ¢ backstairs gossip,’
—but I do not think this condemns him us unworthy of credit.
Oriental history, as tricked out by venal and fulsome pens, tells
us little or nothing of the real character of the actors in it,
or of the inner causes of events; and 1 writer Iike Manueei
supplies us with the necessary corrective of lifelike, if at times
sordid, detall, Merely beciause they reveal undignified or
digcreditable actions, 1 do not hold that his * stories  should
be rejected, while 1 think they are always true to the spirit
of the time and country, and therefore antecedently probable.
Governor Pitt's remurk that the work wis 4 ¢ history of Tom
Thumb * is absurd, and the Juss worthy of respect that he had

not seen any part of what he was condemning.!

One of the principal objects I have had in writing the notes
which 1 have added to the text has been to show that, with tare
exceptions, Manucci's Statements, where they can be verified,
are_ historically accurate, and a fair inference fs that, where
there is na such corroboration, he may equally be accepted as
trustworthy.

In my opinion Manucci has not copied from others, with the
partial exception of F. Bernier. Evidently he possessed
Beérnier's book, and 1 think that where the two deal with
the same events, Manucei took the arder of his subjects from’
Bernier. Even then the topics are used chiefly as suggesting
to lim his own reminiscences. Anothar fact which distinguishes
Manucci from Bernier is that in the contesi for the crown
were an opposite sides, Manucel with Dars and Bernier with
Aurungzeb ; and we thus obtain the story of the defeated
faction, which is frequently suppressed by the victor's enlogists.

' Governor Bt to Mr, Woaker Secrotary ot the Tndis Howse, Okctober i
rpan, m Yuie'n Driary of Sir W Helemy ' L, celaviii; nots 3
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In one instance Manucei may be convicted of actually copying
Bernier. But after 1667, when the French physician left India,
no suggestion can be made of any debt due to him by our
author. Bernier was, of course, a trained physician and & man
of superior education. But Manucei was an equally acute
tbserver, and had an advantage in' his very much longer
experience of the country. In one or two cases, for instance,
that of the siege of Bhakkar, p. 63, Bernier was probably
indebted to Manucei himself for his information. If before
1667 Bernier (p. 55, ed. Constable) had the palitical prescience
to ses that the Mogn! military power was rotten at the core;
and could easily be overthrown by a small but well-commandad
European brigade, we must not refuse some credit to Manueci
for having, thirty years later, equally foretold the course of
histary. On folio 66 of Part III. (written in 1700) he says:
*Lassert from what I have seen and tested, all that is required
to sweep it away and occupy the whole Empire is a corps
of thirty thousand European soldiers led by competent
communders, who would thereby acquire the glory of great
condguerors.”

Manucei seems to have had strong likes and dislikes. The His siews
chief objects of his dislike are the emperor Aurangzeb, the greanitiy,
Portuguese, and the Jesuits.. Can anyone assert that in any of
these coses he had nothing to justify him? His romantic
attachment to Dird Shukoh, his first master, possibly made
him unfair to Aurangzeb, But, 1 ask, can a man who attacks
and kills two brothers, imprisons an aged father, and thus
“wades through slaughter to a throne,’ be held up as a model
of all the virtues? Were the Portuguese, in those days of
their decay, not open to the censures passed upon them by
Manucci ? Were the methods of the Jesuits as missionaries,
and their defiance of the Pape, deserving of no reprobation ?
In all other cases Manueri is usnally tolemant, but does occasion-
ally break forth into bitter and bigoted remarks on both
Hinduism and Mahomedanism. He also takes a very low view
of the Indian character, Hindd and Mahomedan, a view, thongh
fur from being the whole truth, which has impressed itself
strongly on the majority of Europeans,  Strangely enough, he
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entirely disapproves of and ridicules astrology ; yet lie is always
ready to swallow anything m' the nature of witcheraft or sooth.
saying. Another of his peculinrities is his readiness to attribute -
poisoning as the cause of any great man's sudden death. He
is constantly making such accusations against Aurangzeb.
Possibly there are some grains of truth hidden in this wholesale
denunciation ; and Manueei's readiness to see poison everywhere
may be attributed, perhaps, to his Halian origin, and his know-
ledge of what had been the case in his swn countrys _
Parts L., IL., 111, were written in 169y and 1700, Part IV.
between 1701 and 1705, Part V., between 1706 and 1700. On
p-21 of Part 11, the then date is given as March g, 1699 ; when
he was writing Part 111, P 241, it was December, 1700. He
began the work at the instigation of Francois Martin nd
Bourean-Deslandes, with whom he was intimate; and the
intention evidently was to send it to Europe for presentation
to Louvis XIV,, in the hope that he would direct fis publication,
I can find no reference to Manveel in Tavernier; and Mr.
W. Foster informs me that there is no mention of him in the
travels of Jean de Thevenot, who in 1666-67 travelled throngh
Gujardt and Gulkhandah, visiting Surat and Machhlipatnam.
Manucei mentions Tavernier once in passing ‘in rather dis-
paraging terms; but it does not seem that the twe men ever
met,! He speaks of * Monsn Tavirnier's’ presence at Dihli in
1665 (Part V., f. 75), and his recourse to a French doctor (not
named, perhaps Frangois de la Palisee),* to help him in the sale
of his jewels to Aurangzeb, who was far from being so liberal o
buyer as Shilljahdn, Tavernier holds out o promise to get the
doctor & new wife in France, whereupon the man tries to poison
his Portuguese consort.  In 1666 her sister, the renegade wife

" Of Tavernier's wlx voyages, dnly two.—the itk ssd shxth— fall wirthin
Manueed's time (see C formt, “I. B Tavetaier, Baron d'Anbonae,' (850, Lo
60}, The Eih vovage began | Pebroary, 1657, und snded in t663; be was In
lishan, oz fn the sixth voyuge Tavernier was AL lytahin In cis, snid ot
Sheat in May of that year (pp. Wra08),  Maneel wun theg as 130001

* Tavernior (sdivlea of tbos. i gy} mayy this surgedn, Alve knowy s’ Safhe
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of *All Mafddn Khan, rescues her, and removes her to Lahor,
hut afterwards poisans her there hersell

There was, however, ancther traveller, a fellow-townsman, X M

who encountered Manurcei, and is mentioned by him. The
year must have been 1679. This man, Angclo Legrenzi,
published a book, * 11 Pellegrino nell' Asiz . . . 240 pp., 12mo.,
Venetia, 1705. Manucci mentions him (Part V., L 185) in
these terms: "When [ was at the court of Shah ‘Alam in
Aunrangabdd, there arrived a Venetian physician called Angello
Legrenzi. He had come from Aleppo, having quitted the
service of the Most Serene Republic, and at the age of thirty-
five had set out to geek his fornine afresh. He was possessed
with various ideas, and concealed in his mind many thoughts.
He came to see me, and presented to me a recommendatory
letter from Father lvo, Capuchin, of Sorat.! 1 received him
most courteously, offering him the use of my houss, also to his
companion, one Signor Protasio, a noble German. 1 was
greatly pleased at his coming, seeing mysell thus quit of several
paticnts who came bothering me every day. Focthwith [
appeinted him my coadjutor, to secure him more respect, and
introduced him into the presence of the head physician,
Mohammad Mugim, with & view to his getting an appointment
from -the prince and an adequate salary, and thus not being
hindered from practising. The worthy ** patriciin,” seeing T
treated him so well, was highly pleased, but he would not
follow my advice. He displayed great eagerness to enter the
prince’s service and get a salary,

“To show his ability and that he was not a surgeon but a
physician, he wrote asmall tact dealing with the four principal
kinds of fever, their causes, and the remedies for dispelling
them. Seeinpg that he had no faith in my word, still less in
that of other friends, I again took him to the Hakim, to whom
he presented the book and explained its contents.  Mubammad
Mugim was content to let him talk, and by his face scemed to
approve of what he was saying. To all appearance Legrenzi

U Thix Is evidenily the Pia Yve who lalt Franes in 1644 with Taveraber and

Pére Fuphas! du Muns, Tavernisr sas the Father dind af Sorat, and be buili.

ki u tomb there

aocount of

A Legrenzi
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was satisfied, believing that he had done a good stroke by pre-
senting the work, and that he would be thereby thought mote
af at the court.

'However, knowing the contrary, I told him he might be
very thankful if Tie met with any success. When dismissing
him, the Hakim said he might renew his visits, [ continued to
help him with 3 horse and servants, who every day accompanied
him, since the Hakim lived half a league from my house. This
going and coming went on for a yesr without the Hakim ever
sending him u single patient, although he still spoke to him,
but my “ patrician " had no ides what that meant.

*Finally, to disenchant him, Mabammad Muqim one day
directed his servant, who acted as interpreter—an Arntenian
called Giuseppe (Josephi—to sit down close to him. My
" patrician ™' was aggrieved thereby, and on reaching home
told me. T knew not what else to say except that he must
have patience, The following day he went buck and wasted
his time, seated there far over three hours. At last the Hakim
asked if he knew what God was At this question Legrensi
was stunned and said nothing, perceiving thut such  demund
was equivalent to dismissal: thus was his joy turned into
sorrow. Therefore he went back by the road he had come,,
lamenting his strange fortane, and resuming his old place
which he had quitted, where he was (el received.  Signor
Protasio remained with me, as he had no money to meet his
Journey ; 2 year afterwarids he sturted, I helping him as well as
Lconld, and I never heard of him again.'

It is a mere surmise, but it seems to me very possible that
Manucci had seen Legrenzi's book of 1708 before he wrote the
above passge taken from Past V., and that it iz his retort
courteous for Legrenzi's somewhat uneivil depreciation, Or as
an Italian writer, P. Amat dj S. Filippo (* Studii sulla Storia
della Guografin . . * L, 440) says: ' This jndgment [of Legrenzi
on Manucci] is, however, hot devoid of prejudice, both boing
followers of Esculapius®; and again, speaking of the * Storin,’
he says, * From these [the Memoirs] it can 'be seen (at least as

regards education) that the finding of Legrens ought not to be
Accepted blindly.'
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Let us turn now to Legrenzi's story in * Il Pellegring,” Libro Legrensi's
Terzo, tgz=j1o (India), Of the city of Aurangibid, 2z0-227. ﬂ'_“m[
On p, 223 the passage begins thus: * Besides these paid
artillerymen the prince entertaing several medical men, or
rather surgeons, for they practise not only physic but surgery;
1 do not say in cases of importance—on the contrary, only in
more homble operations, such as letting of blood, cupping,
blistering and such-like. Among these gentlemen T had the
luck to find a [ellow-countrymun, named Nicold Manueei, a
person with great credit among the nobles, with the handsomest
galary 1 have heard as given in this country—that is, three
hundred rupees & month. Such a happy encounter consoled
me much, being aware of how rare it is to find Italians there,
much less a Venstian. It is impossible to describe how often
we embraced, how Hvely were our demonstrations of affection,
how long our talks and interrogations. For he had been away
fram home nearly thirty years, and was extremely anzious to
learn about his connections, even when not known to me, about
the condition of Venice city, and other particulars.

* Our civilities over and the many inquiries ended, he began in
a fow days to converse seriously with me to find out my plans,
und openly asked me if 1 wanted to enter the prince’s service,
where he sssured me that 1 should meet with more than
ordinary fortune, he meanwhile offering himseli for recom-
mendations and good offices with Shih ‘Alam. 1 gave him
cordial thanks for his kind feelings in my favour, but answered
him that 1 absolutely refused to engage mysell outside my
native land, having come to India to see the country and its
chief sights, intending thereafter to return home to my relations
and connections.

' Not satisfied with this answer, my friend invited me to reflect
on future contingencies at the death of the king; for the prince,
n= eldest =on, would ascend the throne, thereby opening to me
the way to benefits not less great than glorious, To sum up,
all this made no impression on me, and 1 answered that I
absolutely refused to fotter my liberty, ubove all with princes,
who possess neither sense nor good faith.

*At these remarks my friend wns more upset than before,
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desirous us he was, by whatever means he could, to induce me
to rest beside him and supply him with a little light in medicine.
devoid us he was of letters, and even any knowledge of the arts,
I vensoled him, however, on that head by saying that I would
remain with him for some months, then take my departure at
the decline of the season. Then aross rumours of the prince’s
departure for Dihli before the end of the rains. 1 had mtended,
on leaving Stirat, to proceed to Gulkhandah, and thence to
Goa, But it seemed to me preferable to give up that project,
and to embrace the opportunity of staying on and fallowing the
route of my friend, 50 as to see that royal city with all else that
might offer itsull,"

On p. 230 he says that it was on July 25, 1679, that Shil
‘Alsm started for the north, which is possibly correct, though
the year 1680 is more probable. DBut the journey is said to
have been to Agrah in thirty-four days, and after a stay of four
days, on to Dihlf in six davs  There, as he says, Manucc: was
greeted by a throng of friends : and after o stay of two months
Legrenzi returned to Samt, Then follows an account of Agrah,
of Dilili, and other chapters, till the subject of India ends on
P- 320, Now, [.am convineed that all this journey is fctitious;
it bears internal evidence, 1 think, that the man was never
either at Agrah or Dihli, and whit he knew of them was mere
hearsay, Nor did Shah ‘Alam, when recalled fron the Dakhin
for the R&jputinah campuign, go nnywhere near Agrah or
Dihli.  As to the two versions of what happened at Aurangibad,
either or both must be embroidered ; and, as just shown,
Legrenzi is not above a little fiction when necessary.  There is
A notice of Legrensi and his book in * Studii Biografiel «
Bibliografici sulla Storia della Geografia in India,’ by S. Amat
de S. Filippo (Roma, 1882), p. 445,

In Manueei we have obviously a man chisfly selfedicated,
and not the “learned traveller * of Cardindl Zurls, There are
two portraits of him: the extruordinary  sttitude—one i
almost in air—of the younger one denotes, I suppose, o lively
and mercurial temperament ; the older one, in profile, reveals o
very long and inquisitive nose: In any case, he must have
been full of mother-wit, shrewd, und remiarkably observant.
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He boasts himself of his ready tongue, and T infer that a good
deal of his success turned on his power of talk, which seldom
left him at a loss in any swhkward dilemma.  This quality made
hitn, I assume, what is called good company, & cheerful com-
pamion; perhaps, as professed story-tellers in ther old age
usually do, becoming slightly a bore, -and, like Dogberry,
bestowing on his hesrers somewhat too abundantly of his
“tediousness” Though for & time a soldier, I gather that he
had more prudence than valour, being thoroughly impressed
with the importance of living to fight another day. He
describes the great historic battle of SamtGgarh in June, 1658, as
a mere spectator, and we-do not hear that he fired there a single
shot in his beloved maoster's cause.  Apain, outside L3hor in
1659, when his communder, the cunuch Basant, was slain, we
diy not find Manuecel plaving 2 very heroic part,

 From his various disputes about monpey, and His strong The ame
distikes, I infor that he was rather vengeful, and he was certainly oonpHit
pertinacions in pushing a claim.  In conduct he seems to have
Iten moral and sober: indeed, In the former respect he paints
himsell as a very Juseph or St. Anthony, trinmphant over all
temptations. Even when, as old men use, he follows Falstaff
and Master Shallow in letting us know that he, too, has ‘heard
the chimes at midnight,’ he does not seem to have got farther
than peeping into the closed litter of a dancing-girl.  He was n
déevout Catholic, und resisted successfully all attempts to make
him turn Mahomedan, In his old age he was much pre-
occupied with ecclesiastical disputes, and had become, 1 should
say, mther bigoted in his faith. 1 have spoken already of his
disliking the Portuguess ; the English, among whom he lived
for twenty years, he evidently respected, but did not love; his
‘whale uffection goes oot towards the French, whose praises he
sings mare than once. '

His medical knowledge must have been limited ; but it was §. M.
evidently safficient to secure him some proféssional reputation, m
perbaps due to the fact that *‘among the blind the one-eyed man
is king," His practice evidently consisted chiefly in bleeding,
purging, and the actual cantery. He Is very proud of the last
remedy 48 a cure for cholera; he refers to it more than once,
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and, as can be seen in the * Lettres Edifiantes,’ he steangly
recommended it to Father Martin of the Madura Mission. He
also says he introduced the use of the enema, which was
unknown to native practice. It selling imitations of the Gou
stones he was following an example already set by the Jesait
Fathers; and another source of income was some preparation he
cells a * cordial,’ probably intended as an aphrodisiac. Hut,
knowing what we do of the healing art in Haly and France
the seventeenth century, he does not seom to have been so very
much behind his European contemporaries:

Xl CONCLUSION.

Having now stated the reasons which have for many years
made the question of Manucci and his history a curious literary
problem, and having thrown upon it and upon him all the light
that ten years of research have produced, I take my leave of
him. 1 know that this book, and still maore its translator and
editor, are open to adverse criticism - but of one thing I am
convineed, that no fair-minded reader ought to say that
Manucei is, for many pages together, so dull as to be un-
interesting and unreadable.

Here I may state the reasons which have led me to prepare
an English translation instead of bringing out the original text.
It is obvious, in the first Place, that a wark in three lungnages
—Italian, French, and Portuguese—wonld e somewhat of an
anomaly, If this be conceded, as T think it must be, it follows
that one of the three languages would have to be preferred, and
into it the other portions must be translated.  Even if ltalian,
as the author's mother-tongue, be chosen; two-thirds of the
hook would still be a translation, and we should be ns far as ever
from a reproduction of the original text.  On the other hand,
Italian is not so Benerally known as French or English. But
the main reason determining my choice was that the work is
one whose interest lies more in its matter than its form. Iy is
not a literary elussic, and what it has to tell ns can be just
as well reproduced in English s in any other language. Then,
through an English edition, we address 0 much larger audience
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in England and America ; and the needs of Indians interested
in the history of their country, now an increasing class, are
-also sérved much more effectually.

In the course of my task 1 have received abundant and
generous help from many persons, whose numes I have en-
dexvoured to recard, either in this Introduction, or as occasion
arose in the course of the book. I'have not willingly overlooked
any kindness shown me, but in such an extensive and long-
sustained effort, mmifying in so many directions, it may well be
that | have omitted some names; and if this be so, T crave
those persons’ pardon, and so bid all frewell with many
thanks.

APPENDIX TO INTRODUCTION.

NOTE ON BOUREAU.-DESLANDES,

Next to Fratngois Mactin himself, Bourean-Deslundes stands
out as the most capable person employed by Colbert's French
Company in India in the fifty dyﬂ:u:ﬂ of its existence. Yet his
pame has not hitherto found its way into any hiographical
dictionary, a fact hardly to be wondered at, perhaps, when we
find that it was not until 1860—when the late Mr. Piermre
Margry interested himsell in the subject—that any adequate,
or even tolerably correct, life of F. Martin himsell found n
place in the * Brographie Universelle.’” 1 have therefore made
some research into the official career and the family his of
Martin's son-in-law and colleague, the results of w{id: I here

present.

André Boureau-Deslandes, the scion of an anéient and honour-
able family, was born at Tours probably between 1740 and 1750,
I have not been able to procure a copy of hisbirth or baptismal
tegister, and thus cannot give any more exact date. His early
life is not traced, and we fArst hear of him in India between
1667 and 1072, in the service of the French East India Com-
pnn& whiclh bad besn founded in 1665 under the auspices
of Louis XIV.'s Minister, Colbert There being no colonial
archives of the Etat Comid (births, deaths, and marmiages) carlier
than 1690, no exuct date can be given, but before April 20,
1686, at latest, Deslandes had been married at Sorat to Marie

¢
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Frangoise, the daughter of Frangois Martin, then chief of the
angﬁ factory at that place, In 1694 there were six children
issue of the marriage, three sons and three dauphters. ] _
The eldest child, a girl, was living at Pondicherry with her
grandparents, and the proud grandiather writes in October,
1bgz: * La fille que nous avons avec nous, qui est 'ainée, est un
petit bijou, une distinction au-dessus de son mage.’ In 1693,
when tI]u: siege by the Dutch began, Madame Martin moved
with her pranddaughter to San Thome. On_the capitulation
of Pondicherry they were allowed to rejoin Frangois Martin,
and they proceeded with him to Batavia, thence to Hgh,
where they joined Deslandes and hiswife. The second and th
children were sons, and the fourth a daughter (born in 1602).
Their second child and eldest son was André Francois
Boureau-Deslandes, born at Hogli on May 19, 1684, and
baptized on May 24 in the church of Notre Dame du Resaire
by the Prior juﬂun de Gratia, Augustinian, the absent godfather
and godmother, F. Martin and Margaret Colinet, being repre-
sented by Jean Frangois Cuperly and Gabriel Pellé. 1is son
may be identical with the Frangois Boureau, Lord of Chevalrie
and Lieutenant of Militia, whose daughter by his wife, Marie
Thérese Jaham, was baptized at Martinique on March 10, 1704,
In any case, we know that A, F. B, Deslandes was appointed a -
Commissary of Marine on April 30, 1716, and Commissary-
General on May 6, 1736, At the latter date he was serving
at Brest, but oo January 1, 1738, was transferred to Rochefort.
He retired upon pension on December 1, 1746, and died in
1757, He became a well-known light lance in [itﬁrmturﬁ, and
published many works of a sceptical turn.  The best-remembered
%11?% about him is his forming the subject of an epigram by
oltaire :

Ecnves francais, bourreau !

Lot us turn now to the official carcer of the elder Boureans
Deslandes. The exact date on which he entered the French
Company’s service is not known_ but it must have been
i its history. Obviously the MS. pefition of 1703, applymg
for letters of nobility, mast be in error in sssigning Iﬁ?lf: as the
year of his arrival in India.. We hear of a Boureau at Calicat
in 10669, probably our Boureau-Deslundes ; and Caron, the first
director in_India (drowned 1674), is said to have sent him before
1672 to Balfisor, on the Bengal coast, whence he reached the
Higli; and then founded (so it is said) Chandarnagar on that
fiver. lIn January, 1674, there were both n Boureauy and a
Bouteau-Deslandes in the French council at Strat. It is
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asserted (Weber, 171) that in 1676 Deslandes fortified Chandar-
rmEmj. bt this may be doubted.

Ve then hear of him as having been sent from Sirat in 1679
in charge of two ships, with orders to re.establish on the
Malabar coast the trade which had been broken off by the
war, He was instructed to negotiate with the local princes
and with the viceroys and governors under the Portuguese
COWTL.

Next we find him on duty in Siam, where he proceeded
on board the Vauiowr. He acquired the confidence of the King
of Siam, who desired him to remain to conduct the company’s
trade. The Vastowr, therefors, left Siam without him on
December 1, 1680, On December 26, 1682, he reported from
Siam to Baron, the director at Strat. The ambassadors
subsequently despatched from France by Louis X1V. were
instructed fo ask confirmation of the treaties Deslandes had
obtained. In 1685 he left Sium on an English vessel. He
wae bound for Sarat, and carried with him commissions
to be executed for the King of Siam, amounting to over
z00,000 livres. He arrived at Sarat at some dite prior to
Qctober 15, 1685,

Francols Martin had been transferred from Pondicherry
to Sorat, where he arrived on August 22, 1681, and upon
Baron's death (June 10, 1083) succeeded to the conduct of
affairs. It was about this time (1685-86) that Deslandes
married F. Martin’s elder daughter. On Apnl 20, 1636, we
find Dleslandes still at Sdrat, and we are told that he was
preparing for a move to Pondicherry as Second in Council, with
the object of being employed on the Choromandel coast and
Ben F. Martin and his family reached Pondicherry on
May 20, 1686, and Deslandes either accompanied them or soon
followed them. Before he left Sarat he was sent with le Sieur
Roques as a deputation ta the Mahomedan Govesnor of Strat
to remonstrate at his continual exactions,

On June 13, 1686, Deslandes formed one of a deputation
from Pondicherry to Fort St. George (Madras) ; and an English
trader’s letter from Mergui (in Tenasserim), dated Decamber 30,
1686, would lead us to believe that he was at Pondicherry
at that date. We know he was still there on Ee}stemher 24y
1687. It must, then, have been in the end o 1687 that
he revisited Siam at the request of the king; but although
thy king wished to retain lim, he did not remuin long, for
the French Compauy required his services to found a tradin
station in Beng Dnnﬂ:u return journey he and the Fren
ambassador to Siam were off Madras on January 14, 1688, but

¥ 2
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excused themselves from landing on the ploa that business
required them to hasten to Pondicherry. We have notices of
his presence at Pandicherry on Fe 2 and 17, 1688,

He now became Director-General of Commerce in Bengal,
and left Pondicherry in April, 1688, to take up his pew duhg.
In October, 168g, he was called upon by Martin to send g ship-
load of food from Bengal to relieve the distress then pre
in Pondicherry. He remained in Bengal until 1707, 4§ is Proy
by a whale series of letters.

In 1660 Deslandes had » dispute with the Portugnese
Augustinian frinrs at Hogli, who had sent their Christians
to force their way into the French compound (lagz). In con-
sequence, Deslandes retired a few miles off to Chan AT,
and there built another loge, This seems the teal date for
the foundation of the French settlement at Chandarnagar;
until this time they had apparently, like the other Europeans,
lived in or close to Haogli town.

The date of the founding of Chandarnagar e somewhat
obscure, but some light is thrown upon it by the Englisl
records, In i general letter from Hugli, dated Octobes tlt?;
1686, para. 8, we hear that the French had sent orders to se
factories all over Bengal; to which Fort St. Grorge, Septem-
ber 1, 1688, para. 44, adds the fact that they are endeavouring
to procure the Mogul's furmdn, Again, in January, 1689,
pari. 16, it is said that, * French trade iz increasing by new
settlements in . . . Bengal, though no factory had been' built,
nor any certain terms agreed on.’ On January 16, 16g2, the
Calcutta Council write (para. 17) that * the French had almost
finished a large factory nt Chandamnsgar’ From Dhakkah,
under date May 26, 1600, we hear of a struggle between the
Dutch and French, appareatly about Chandarnagar. The
French had bought o piece of ground *for which they have
a prime writing'; but the Uutc.;[tl refused to let them build.
After taking the dispute before the nawib (the nizim) and
the diwan, it was reforred to the king. Finally, by the Fort
St George general lefter of November 20, 1691 (O.C. 5777)
we are told that: ' The Mouanseers have been long idle and
quiet at Pullicherry . . . tho' their Chief in Bengall 15 building
severall large Factoryes, bigg enough for & mighty trade, but
'tis doubled too large for their Stock "

From F. Martin's letter of January 22, thgr, we learn that
Deslandes then spoke of returning 10 France.  He complained
of having been passed over in promation. Other notices of
him at Hagli (for thus he dates his letters) are found in his
letters of December 15, 16g1, and January 20 and zg, 1693
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(? 1694). In the last of these he states that he has just heard
of the of Pondicherry, and that F. Martin was a prisoner.
There are other letters from him to the directors of Septem-
ber 27, 1693, and January 25, 1694.

Pondicherry had surrendered to the Dutch on September 6,
1663 (N.S.) and F. Martin, his E:unil{, and the garrison were
transported to Batavia. On arrival there be was allowed
at his earnest request to return to India, and on February 15,
1664, rejoined his son-in-law Deslandes at the French factory
on the Hagli, There he remained until the restoration of
Pondicherry to the French under the Peaco of Ryswick (16g7).
We find several letters in that period signed either by F.
Martin alone or jointly with Bourean-Deslandes, viz.: Decem-
ber 28, 1694; July 10 and 25, November 21, 1696 January 15
and 16, October 19, and December 30, 1697. On Enmary 5y
%“ﬁ“ passed Calcutta in a ship taking him back
to icherry (India Office, * Factory Records,’ Caleutta, p. 3).
There are passin gcnmntiuns of Deslandes in the Calcutta
recards of December 6 and 14, 1690, and June 30, 1648, In
February, 1700, he wrote to the governor at Calcutta condoling
on the loss of the East India Merchant, and sent two sloops to
assist in the work of salvage. Boureau-Deslandes remained
in charge of Chandarnagar, as is shown by the letters of
January 4, February 5, and December 1z, 1700, and the list
of the company’s servants at Hogli, dated Janvary 1o, 1700.

From the letter of January g, 1707, signed by B. Deslandes,
Dulivier, and Pelé, we learn that a month before that date
Deslandes had decided to act on the permission le had
received to retire on the ground of family cares and
health. Some farmans that bad long been desired had just
been dbtained, and he believed that affaivs could now go om
without him. He meant to sail by the Phelypeanx, and gave
over charge to Dulivier (Pelé and Renault, members of council).
On Janoary 10 he embarked for Pondicherry, which he
reached on February 3. Manucei, Part IV, fol. 54, also sFeaks
of his being at Pondicherry in February, 1701, He left for
anll:n on February 23, and reached that country on August 28,
I701.

In April, 1703, Boureau-Deslandes received from Louis XIV.
letters of nobility for himself and his posterity in rewurd for
his services in India. On November 28 of the same year he

i The utatement of Dr. Jules Sottan, * Hisoire de ln Compagnie Hoynle des
indes, 1641710, FParls, 1508, pr 105, note, that Dalandes died off Si Helenn of
survy i diie, 3 that anthur infores me, to 20 overaight (v was tha comnmandes
if {ha vessel, Caprain Lo Quintine, who died.
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was nominated Commissary at St. Domingo by the king, also
Director-General in America by the Royal Company established
for supplying negroes to the Spanish colonies. He died in
the West Indies on February 13, 1706, _

A treatise by Boureau-Deslandes—* Relations de la France
avec le Roysume de Siam'—has been published by Pierre
Margry in * Relations ¢t Mémoires® (Paris: Challamel Ainé,
1867), No. V., pp. 149-184; No. IV,, pp. 115-148, in the same
volume being a paper by Frangois Martin on *L'Inde ot les
Nations Européennes,’ dated February 135, 1700. )

One point connected with the history of Francois Martin
may be commented on here. Monsieur Weber, in his *La
Compagnie Frangaise des Indes® (1go4), pp. 181, 182, states
that on the capitulation of Pondicherry in September, 1663,
F, Martin * était revenu en France ol I¢ roi avait traité avec
honneur.! This is evidently an error, probably due to a con-
fusion between Francois Martin, the Director-General, and Jean
Baptiste Martin, the Second in Council at Pondicherry in 1643,

t 15 clear from the tenth article of capitulation that Frangois
Martin begged to be allowed to remain in India. But this
request was refosed.  His wife and granddanghter with their
servants and baggage were recalled from San Thome, where in
July, 1693, they had been sent for safety, and they embarked
with Martin for Batavia. The Dutch ships from ndichesry
[_:.ﬂtl Fort St. David on_their way to Negapatam on Septem-

t 15,1653 (0.5.), and the English write * we hear Monsieur
Martin is in the “ Admirall,” *

From a resolution of the governor-general and Council at
Batavia, dated November s, 16g3, it appears that the French
captives had recently arrived there on the Beurs and the Maas.
Among them were Director Frangois Martin and his family,
consisting of his wife und the daughter of the French director
in Bengal, *Monsieur de Lande. by their (the Martins®)
daughter, one French servant, one Armenian, two slave men,
and two slave girls, These were accorded quarters in the
iﬁgrmur-genml's house, and the Martins were to eat at his

.

On Noyvember g, the governor-general reported  that
E. Martin earnestly prayed to be spared the long journcy to
Europe on account of the :dmnn::fu rears of himself and his
wife, and begged permission to pmcl:ﬂi to Bengal, The matter
was deliberated on.

Next day (the tenth) a petition from F. Martin was produced
before the Council. It recites the fact that Laurens Pit,
governor on the Choromandel coast and commanding the troops-
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at the taking of Pnndi:harrs', ‘had referred the question of
Martin's destination to the decision of the Batavia Council,
During the negotiations he had asked to be allowed to depart
gither to MESI.I.].I%EM'DF to Bengal, where the French Company
had factories. is petition was refused, and in order not to
‘break off negotiations, he withdrew his demand, on being given
hope that at Batavia the article would be reconsidered. He
s to the precedent of San Thome (1674), when Barom,
-general of the French Company, had 4l:een allowed to
withdraw to Sarat by land or water with forty-five to fiflty
persons.  He pleads his own great age and the infirmity of his
wife, who was not likely to survive u journey to Lurope, and
for terms similar to those accorded to Monsieur Baron.
fier deliberating the Council resolved, on perusal of the
conditions allowed to Monsieur Baron, to grant Frangois
Martin’s request on account of his age, ind he was permitted
to embark with his family for Bengal vid Malacca on the fifite
Waleuburg. We have already referred to his correspondence
from Hagli, between 1694 und 1698, He sailed thence for
Pondicherty on board the Gasllard in January, and arrived on
March 8, 1bpg.  On March 21, 1664, the English governor and
Council at Fort St. George wrote to the French director-
gmmd and Council at Pondicherry, * congratulating him on
is restoration and being in quiet possession of that place
once lost in war'
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TRAVELS IN INDIA,
AND HISTORY OF THE
MOGUL RULERS

DIVIDED INTO THREE PARTS

By Mwx, NICOLAS MANUCHI, Vestrian
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NOTICE TO THE READER

A5 1 know that other persons have written their travels, with
descriptions of the countrics they huve passed through, and of
the kingdoms where they remained for a time, these descrip-
tions dealing often with the Mogul Empire, 1 long judged it a
vain fabour to make public any account of my journey from
Venice through Asia, and of my sojourn in the land of the
Mogul, where I have passed the better part of my life; but 1
conld not resist the importunities of my friends, who have a
great belief in my knowledge of that country, and i conviction
that certain persons have written falsehoods in their books (as
1 myself have observed in several places). Therefore, although
already old; T have resolved, with the encouragement of those
who know me and who have written to me, to give the reader
true information as to what passed there in my time and before
it, emphasizing several particulars which could not have come
to the knowledge of others.

1 shall rell of all that happened to me and of all that I saw,
without exaggerating any one thing, for that is abhorrent to
me. I shall speak of the kingdom of the Great Mogul, of its
politics, and of the conquests made by this eleventh King called
Aurangzeb (that is to sy, * Omament of the Throne'), and of
all the kings, his predecessors, whose portraits, with those of
the other great lords of this country. I now present to the
interested reader, begging him before he leaves Europe for
India to read this book, and not to allow himsell to be deceived
by any less truthful accounts, or by any vain imaginations which
may have taken shape in his mind, for | have scen many who
bewailed that they had left Europe and come to India, when
they found themselves suffering in a strange land ; and besides
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§ NOTICE T0 THE READER

this, all the world cannot meet with such good fortune as that
with which it has plessed God to favour me. [ warn the
reader that, in speaking of certain towns of Turkey and Persia,
I speak of them as 1 saw them and not as they are now. 1
shall divide my account into three parts; and 1 shall divide the
first into two books. In the first book I shall give an account
of what happened to me from the time 1 left Vénice to my
arrival at Dibli; in the second a short account of the Mogul
Kings until the accession of Aurpngzeb to the throne, with the
death of his hrothers,

In Part 11 1 shall describe the conquests made by Aurangzeb,
his wars and their siccess. In Part 111, 1'shall say something:
as to the politics of the Mogul [f. 2] Empire, something of the
greatness of the rajahs and other potentates of Hindustay, and
of the revenues of that country. 1 shall speak of several ather
special matters, and [nstly, 1 shall say o few words as to the
religion of the Hindus,




BOOK 1
MY JOURNEY TO INDIA

CHAPTER |

OF MY DEFARTURE: FROM YESICHE

Wiies L was still quite young, | had & passionate desire 1o see
the world, but as my father wonld not allow me to leave
Venice, my native place, I resolved to quit it in some way ar
another, no matter how. Finding that there was & fardame!
just about to leave, although 1 did not know its destination, 1
went on board in 1651," at the age of fourteen. The officers of
the vessel, thinking that T was the son of one of the merchants
who were going on board, did not ask me who 1 was, but let
mie pass without question. We had scarcely left Venice before
wee tan into the teeth of a gale which lasted twenty-four hours—
hoitrs of the greatest misery to me, as I was sea-sick, being
nnaccnstomed to the sea.  When twenty-four hours had passed,
1 was forced by hunger to present mysell before the captain,
who usked under whose protection. I was there. [ begged for
indon, saying that, having come on board a short time before
put out to sea, I had fallen asleep, and that, finding myself
tterly unprovided for, I had come to bim. At this he gave
ers for me to be looked after ; but fortunately for me I found
board an English gentleman in disguise called Lord Bello-
ont? He had left England to escape death at the hands

i & small; decked vomsel, with. one mast anid & Japemey nadl, watnd o the Medi

{Lisind)
¥ Cades XLIV, (Zaneiti) gives the month of November. The true yuar i 1553,

v On Lord Beilomont and his history, ses Noto A 84 the enid of this Book of
L



6 OF MY DEPARTURE PROM VENICE

of Cromuwell, protector of that kingdom, who had condemned
lim because he belonged to the party of King Charles 11, then.
in France. ‘This person showed me much affection, and when'
he asked me if T would like to go with him, T inquired of him
his destination. He then told me that he was going to
Turkey, Persia, and India. I was much rejoiced thereat, and
answered that 1 wonld gladly go with himy, when he at ance
gave me the keys of his wardrobe, and 1 served him with groat
affection, seeing he loved me as if 1 had been his son. We
arrived at Raguza, where we stayed several days oo account of
a contrary wind. Having at last set sail, we coasted along
Dalmatin and past several [3] islands, and finally leaving
the Archipelago behind, at the end of four months we arrived
in the port of Smyrna.



CHAPTER 11

OF THE TOWSN OF SMYRNA

Suyina is a Turkish port where we stayed seven days. There
is a mingling of many nations there—namely, Italians, French,
English, Dutch, and many Armenian merchants, who all live
by the borders of the sea. At the time when we were at this
port it happened that a Turk gave several blows with a stick to
the captain of an English vessel. The Englishman swallowed
the affront while he remauined in the town waiting to embark,
and after he had got a little way out to sea he bombarded the
town and fled.

They tell here a story which merits to be recorded at this
place by reason of the wit and ingenuity which it displays. At
Aleppo, a town of Arabia, dwelt a merchant, a Hebrew by
race, the richest of all theze in the town. The Bassa (pdshd) or
governor wanted to despoil this Hebrew, and sought an oppor-
tunity of so doing without injuring his own reputation. He
thought the best, the most refined, and the fairest way would
be to send for him to his palace, and in the course of conversa-
tion point out to him that there were threo different religions—
one tanght by Moses and accepted by the Jews, one taught by
the Messiah and observed by the Christians, and the last pro-
mulgated by Mahomed and followed by the Turks. He would
then ask the Jew which of the three was the true religian,
Because, should the Hebrew reply that the religion of Moses or
of Christ was the true one, he thereby decided at the same
time, by implication, that the religion of Mahomed was false.
I the Jew replied * Yes, that is so,' then the governor would
have him seized, and confiscate all his goods. On the other
hand, if the Hebrew, out of respect or through fear, answered

¢



8 0OF THE TOWN OF SMYRNA

that Mohomed's religion was the true one, he would force him
either to adopt Mahomedanism or lose his life In that last
case he would become master of all his poods:

The Jew, perceiving the force of the argument, sharpened
hiz wits, and asked permission to tell the story of what had
happened some time before, There wias a father, said the
Hebrew, who had three [4] sons, heirs to the whole of his great
riches; and among his jewels there was a precious stone of an
unusunl size, and therefore greatly valued.! The thres sons
knew that their father had this precious stone; they also knew
that it was beyond price, and that it could never be sold for its
proper value. Thus each of them hoped to inhent it on his
futher's death. The latter, knowing his children's thoughts,
and desirous of pleasing them all, so that at his death there
should be no discord among them nor dispute, sent for &
lapidary, and, showing him the stone, pave an order to make
two imitation stones of the same size, and the same in every
detail as the true one. The lapidary made these two stones so
perfectly that when the three were placed together, it was
impaossible to tell which was the true one _

When he was at the point of death, the father sent for the
best-beloved of his children, and made over to him the true
stone, enjoining him to preserve secrecy, so that neither his
brothers nor the governor of the town should trouble him. He
acted in the same way with the other two sons, telling them to
Keep it a secret, and delivering to each an imitation stone,
which he declared to be the true and only one. By this means
ull three were contented, each being persuaded that he had the
true stone which he coveted. In the sime manner, said the
Hebrew to the Bassa (paska), the Lord our God las sant forth
three laws: one to the Jews, one to the Christinns, and another
to the Turks, Of these one is true, and the others fnlse; but
as to which is the true one we know nothing, sach belicving
that it is the one he holds.  God alone, wha gave them, kinows
which it is, just as the father, who hestowed the stones, knew

! This mory of the three precioos s Is louncl, with varistlons in Lessing's

*Kuthun der Wolse,' in Boccaceio, in the " Gesis Romanoram ' and Ly Hdeew
Titernturs i



STORY OF THE THREE STONES 9

which was the true one. The Bassa (pasha), seeing the in-
genuity with which the Jew had answered, theseby breaking
the net in which he had resolved to catch him, praised him for
his answer, and abandoned his designs against the goods of
that sharp-witted merchant.

We remuined seven daye at Smyrna ; after that we started
with & caravan for the town of Burca (Briza),' On the road
we sufferedd much from cold, owing to the large umount of
snow, and we arrived in eight days in good health.

! The place meani must be Brosa fn Anatclin, laf. qo° 375 bong. 28 =2
(Fullartons "Gasiteer of vhe Wodd," vel B ool T bsabout 2 miles north-
wanl of Smyro



CHAPTER 1l

OF THE TOWN OF BUREA

Ox our arrival at Burca, an ancient town of the Greeks, we
were received by an Armenian called Anthoine Cheleby, who
acted as governor of the town; and further seeipg that we
should have to wait a long time before we could mest with a
caravan leaving for Persia, we quitted the town nnd went to
live in the country house of the said Anthoine Cheleby. While
our clothes were being carried out, under charge of one of our
men called Charles, a Frenchman and a great musician, a couly
(guié) [5] carrying one tin case disappeared. In this box was
our money, also the best and the most valuable of what my
master possessed. Great efforts were made to recover the
things, but all we could find was the empty box, lying outside
the town in the middle of some gardens. In this dificulty
Anthoine Cheleby gave us whatever we had need of for the
expenses of our journey, _
During the filty days that we remained in this town, 1 noticed
the antiquity of the buildings, which in early times the Greeks
had built in the form of fortresses—the walls; the bridges, the
churches now converted by the Turks into mosques. Outside
the town you see statues of stone lying on the ground, and
these are defiled by the Tiirks when on their way to the mosques,
which is o great affliction to the faithful. The town is a large
one, inhabited by Turks, Armenians, and Greeks; hut the Jews
are in the greatest numbers, and they are very badly treated.
In the middle of the town flows a siream which it used to
water the surrounding gardens, and in addition there are several
springs of clear water for household use and the seraglios; all
this makes the place very healthy. There are hot buths for

(5]



ANTHOINE CRELERY it

cleansing the body in the Turkish and Persian fashion. The
mien resort to them for their bath at five o'clock in the morning,
and leave again ut six a'elock. When the men have come out,
a horn is =ounded as a signal that the baths are vacant, and
that the women can attend to take their bath. In attendance
are barbers to serve and bathe the men, and also there are girls
who petform the same duties for the women.

AWhile we were in this town it happened that a young man,
(disguised as a woman, had been admitted to bathe the women;
in the end it was discovered that he was a man, and after being
well thrashed, he was taken before the criminal court, where
he was condemned to death. Seeing the predicament he was
in, he begged the court not to have him esecuted, but that he
might be made a eunuch, that he should be forced to work at
the buths, attending on the men and the women all hiw life
without any pay, Fis request was complied with.

After our departure we learnt that the said Anthoine Cheleby
had been called to the court of the Grand Turk to give an
account of his government. But he had foreseen a long time
before that he would be thus summoned, and he had secretly
sransmitted all lis wealth to Leghorn. 1n his house were
excollent slaves—Poles, Georgians, Muscovites, and Abya-
sinjans; and good horses in his stable, on which to take to
flight at the first rumour. A Turkish horseman arrived from
Constantinople to summon him, and entered his house imme-
dintely, and said to him with threats that he must come forth
at ance, that the Grand Signor required his attendance. The
sharp-witted Armenian, without showing the least fear or
astonichment, advanced towards the soldier, and greeting him
with a smiling face and all the signs of amity and affection,
desired that he would take some repose, In the morning they
wounld et out together. Then, having taken his hand, he made
him sit by his side, After a little conversation {6] he orderced
several pieces of eilk and some jewelled rings to be bronght,
and told him he had only to choose wlatever pleased him.
At the same time he directed a serving-boy to carry water to
the lutrine for ablutions in the Moorish [ashion. He then
quitted the horseman, and without delay mounted his horse,



12 OF THE TOWN OF BURCA

followed by slaves carrying off all that he had, which was kept
ready prepared for this purpose.  He took the road to Smyroa,
which he reached in twenty-four hours, although usually six
days:are required.  In the harbour was a Dutch vessel, 10 the
captain of which Anthoine Cheleby addressed himself, pro-
mising to pay him double what he could gain by remaining
anchored, if he would carry him and his men to Leghom.
The captain accepted the propasal, Anthoine Cheleby embarked,
and they reached Leghorn. There the captain received in full
what had been promised to him by the Armeniun. At Leshorn
the latter built & hath for his own use, and the perpetuntion of
his memory among the people,

We pursued our route along with the caravan, which was a
very large one. In if were several Armenian merchants, who
looked after our food, also our horses, mules, and camels, We
put up in their tents, where we were very well treated; but
this was not dene without an object, for the Armenians are
very fond of their own interest.  After some days we arnived at
Tocat { Tokat).!

! Tokat, in the pashalik of Sheas: it lies in lat 40' o* N, Cuaravass grrive

In twanty days from Smyma (Fallacwoo, * Gamteer,’ vil 123, 7730 1t i sbout
50 miles exat of Fefes



CHAPTER IV
OUR DEPARTURE FROM TOCAT

I this town, which lies among mountains, wo remamed eight
days, after which we started again with the whole caravan,
keeping our eyes ever open as wo advanced, by reason of the
robbers who often on these routes attack caravans, This is the
reason why men travel arined, and at night sentinels are sct on
watch on every side, so that no one cun comne near thie encamp-
ment. One day it happened that there was a great alarm, some
horsemen having appeared who wanted to rob us. Twenty-
two of our mounted men went out against them, and preparzsd
to attrck them; but the robbers took to Hight, Still, ane of
them wascaught; his horse, being much out of condition, could
not gallop like the others. He was made prisoner.

The next day the robbers sent a message praying that their
comrade might be released, and 10,000 patagues' must be sent.
If not, they would attack the caravan, and give quarter 1o no
one, This news caunsed some apprehension in the caravan;
but the leader of it, who was a brave man and experienced
in these journeys. showed no fear, but, on the contrary, he sent
word to them in a rage that he would come out in putsuit and
leave not one alive, Thus the negotiations on both sides were
confined to threats and defiance ; and this went on for three
days, during which the robber horseman was always guarded by
two of our mounted men, After three duys, one night, while
the carsvan was asleep, the thief escaped, and the quarrel came
to an end,

¢ Apgarenily meant for the pafass (see Yole and Barnel], second edition, 653},
+a' dollar or pibce of sight.’ Flmwhers {L 113} Manoest ais it was worth twe
rupess (about-four shillings)
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4 OUR DEPARTURE FROM TOCAT

In these journcys onc has to be extremely viglant, taking
care never to go any distance from the caravan, for those who
do 50 run a very great risk of falling [7] into the hands of clever
thieves, and of losing both goods and life, as has happened to
many. If any traveller intends to make this journey, be will do
well to arm himselfl with a great deal of patience, and take good
thought of the hardships and disagreeables which he will have
to encounter on these roads. For it is not as in Europe, where
there are inns in which all the necessities and comforts
requisite for life are to be found. When travelling in Turkey,
you must sleep on the ground on a picce of carpet, or on the
top of some bale of goods, where you suffer from the cold,
Then, in the middle of your sleep, you are roused hurriedly to get
ready and load up the camels and horses, and start on your
way. During the day you are much troubled with the heat of
the stn.  Often it happens that the Turks seek you out and
assail you with much abuse, and subject you to much indignity
and shame. In these encounters it is wise to hang your head
down like & Capuchin, and not open your mouth. At times
it 15 necessary to bear slaps on the face with bumility, and even
endure beating with a stick, for fear of worse happening.
For if a hand is raised by chance agninst & Turk, such person is'
forthwith either forced to become a Mahomedan, or he is
decapitated. The greatest favour accorded to him would be to
let hin go free after cotting off s hand. It is requisite to
inform all who mean to travel in these regions that they must
not wear anything of a green colour, Turks only may wear
clothes of that colour. This remark applies to Turkey, lor
in Persia and in the Mogul Empire Christians can wear any
colour they like. But the Turks are very particular about
green, it having been liked and approved by the false prophet
Mahomed.

No traveller need expect tu find wine on the § journey, for only
water is drunk,  In order never to be without water, it is neces-
sary 10 have a bottle hanging from, or attached to, the heast on
which one rides, and thus be able to have recourse to it in case
of need. The bottles so used are easily procurable, and sre sold
ready for use. The merchunts who go on these journuys also
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carry with them nets, with which they catch fresh fish, Many
buy a kind of bailed sour milk,! called jugwrd® in the language
of the conntry. It is put in a say (7 sieve), so that the water in
it may drain away: and in that way it can be kept several days.
We ale it several times mixed with water, putting in it biscuit
or dry bread, or it was mixed with pelos (7 *pilie’). Tt is very
palatable. When any dwellings are met with you can get eggs,
butter, fowls; goats, and a few kinds of ripe froit. But it is
adwvisable to carry with you some dried fruit, meat fried in butter
and packed in leather vessels ; also sausages and poddings of
salted beef, for it s at times impossible to obtain any food.
And the best advice that I can give is, not to allow your cuﬁmity
to carry you so far as to look into the earthen houses of the
“country, or examine the peasants who dwell in them, for thereby
one runs the risk of a thousand mishaps and evil fortunes [8].

¥ Canlly, milk mrtificially thickennd (Thttrd)
= fughidd, * wour, coagnlnted milk ® (Steligass, " Perusn Dictionary ')



CHAPTER ¥
OER ARRIVAL AT ERZEMOM, ARD OUR JOURNEY TO ERIVAN

ArTER baving passed over this wearisome road in the midst of
dangers und across swamps, we arrived at Erzerim,' where are

to be found many Armenians, for it is a town with a great trade,

lying upon the Turkish frontier. There we remaingd six days.

Good bread nnd plentiful sapplies are found in the town, but the

Turks there are dishonest boors; they examined our baggage

with great ssvenity (a common oceurrence at this town, one of
which all travellers complain). We were able, however, to

conce:l several presents that we were carrying for the King of
Persin. At the end of the six duys we left the town and con-

tinued our journey. After marching for two days, we came to

a fortress built in the rock on the top of high ground ; at'its .
foot was a small town called Hassameala (Hasan-qulath)?

When we had passed that place, and on the same day, the

men of Erzeriim examined our baggage a second time, to ses

if there were no merchandise hidden by us; and although we

had very few things, they insisted on our paying customs dues

a second time, finishing up by cursing us as they bade uvs [are-

well, However, we had made over to an Armenian the swords

that we were taking ns a present for the King of Persin; we had

also confided to him u box in which were the letters of the

embassy. This man hud taken another route, and overtook us

during the night at a place where we were [ree from | the

attemnpts of such-like people.

VErveerim i 0o i 39" sy N kg g0* o B [Fullastod's ' Gamitesr," -
itk =37).

T Himan gqulach, aes ol the sirmpest cstles of Armmnia, on & high mmentain |
it bs thirty miles oot of Erzerfim, oo the left bask ol the Arsh {Fullspton,
*Gazetteor,” il S5},
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ARARAT AND THE ARAXES. 17

Next day we continued our march, and after goiug on for
cight days, we reached a stream called the Aras,' over which
one has to cross several times. In the end, by slow degrees,
we arrived on Persian territory, whore we bad the consolation
of being both freer and more bonoured than in the country
which we had just left. In duc time we came to Erivana
region which once on a time helonged to the Armenians, and
thus there wre still a great many of them living there. Erivan
i situated just in front of a great mountsin called Ararat,
They say that it was on this mountain that the ark of Noah
rested. At a distance of some ten leagues from the town the
mountain looked as if entirely covered with ice on its
summit, and when the sun shone on it, its appearance was
splendid.  There are [g] many brooks st the foot of this
mountain, and the ground is covered throughout the year with
sweet-smelling flowers. The town is enclosed by very thick and
strong walls of earth, so that cannon would not be able to do
a5 much damage as they would on a wall of stone, the reason
beibg that the stones fracture while the carth does not. The
country round is fresh, fertile, delicions, abounding in oil and
fruit. We Imlted for ten days.

1 The Arss, o Aras (Araxes), Sows (nto the Caspian Sea after an casiward
‘coures of G531 miles (Longnmin and Co.'s * Garestesr,” O1p The Armenias law
ol Zulial i% oo (ha Arms, ninuey-sevm ke seuth-east of Erivan, and hore there
yean formerly a bridie mentloped (n the bistory of Talmar's invasiom. L7 now
a mnre v illsge with 630 inhahitnta {Loungman's *Greetreer,” &31)  Seo Chandin,
i Travels It Terain’ (folio; 1601}, 347, 345 From S [messge a little riber an
{Part 1, falio 23}, we find that the party most have passed Zuliah on August 12,
105y (N.5),

# Erivan, dbuut 160 or 170 milew eas of Hrzerim. RPN T P
lung. 44 37" E. and since vy bas boen & part of Russian Armesiy {Fuallsrion,
T Gnagthier,’ Hil 784), Ammral s abauil thirty-five miles south-west of Erivan

“Gpe glie Clisrdin, * Travels,’ (1691]), 34344, whemn there in 2 plite yiviog a good
Cplew of Erivan.

V- I -



CHAFPTER VI

AlY LORD BELLOMONT DECLAKES HIMSELF TO HE AN
AMBASEALON

We drew up at a spot near Erivan, whence the Armenians
who were with us went on to inform the Cam (Khaw), or
governor of the place, that an ambassador had come from the
King of England, Charles 1L, son of King Charles 1., and was
on his way to the King of Persia. On receiving this informa-
tion, the Khaw sent at once to compliment him on his armval,
and invited him to enter the town. On the following day,
according to the usage in regard to all ambassadors who come
to the King of Persfa, we were well received in the greatest
pomp by the governor, who gave a banquet, and presented to
the ambassador four horses and severnl pieces of silk. Then
he issued orders that every day our wants were to be carefully
attended to; we and our animals were to be fed plentifully.
We remained in this place ten days, receiving numerous visits
and passing our time agresably, the pleasure being enhanced
by secing ourselyes in a land of plenty, and in the midst of a
people more polite than those we had just left behind. When
we were ready to make a start, the governor sent a horseman
and several armed men on foot to accompany us, as it is the
habit to do for all ambassadors. These men go on ahead and
get ready whatever is required for food and repose n the
villages, Thus we were relieved of all trouble and exertion.

18



CHAPTER VII

OUR ARRIVAL AT THE TYOWN OF TAURIS

AT the end of five days we arrived with our followers at [10]
the town of Tauris (Tabriz)! This town is the same as the
ancient Echatapn, built by Arfaxad, King of the Medes, as may
be read in the Book of Judith, chapter i. At present it is in-
babited by people of various nationafities: thete are many
Armenimn merchants; many carpets are mannfactured, and
also picces of silk, velvat, and brocade,  Although the gavernor
was not-actunlly present in the town, having gone to one of the
provinces, my lord was acknowledged as an ambassador, und
treated as is the custom for such. We dwelt for same thirty
days in this pluce, where we equipped ourselveés and got ready
new clothes to be worn on our arrival at the court of the King
of Persin, He was then at Casbin (Qaewin)® We were forced
to have new clothes, those we had being of Turkish pattern.
Before entering the town, | noticed an open place where
stood two pillars which marked the distance that o stick had
been thrown by Sultan Morad (Murdd),* the Grand Signor,
when e came Lo take Tabriz, DBut it seems almost impossible
that a man thould bo able to throw & stick so far, 1 noticed
also that the town is faicly Inrge, surrounded by gardens which

¥ Tuuris, now known as Tabrie Tt j8 deseribed by Chandin, rTravids '
{=titiim of 189t} ppe 352370, and there I o plate giving a very fine view of the
powps *1t-the days of Arphased which mipned over the Meiles in Echainne*
(Judith L 1. Modern scholari do pot Keniily Tabriz with Echatane o
G, Hawiinwon, * Herodofun,” i. 237)

¥ Quewin, about 23¢ mils suth-cet of Tabrie 1t & described by Chandin,
Travels * (adition of 1631), pp, 578183

¥ Probahily the fourth Solian of the nume, who reigned t6a3-t650. Ths paine
b the * Ammrath ' of Shakespoare’s “ Not Amurmil st Amumih succesds.’
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contain fine trees yielding good fruit. There are many
milberry - trees, 8o that they have much silk, of which they
make various kinds of stuff,

At the end of thirty days we started again, accompanied
as before, and with the same retinue. As we went along,
I saw that the land did not produce so many trees, por
was water so plentiful as in Turkey; for in Persin they are
forced in many places to heing water from a great distance
through underground channels. They mike big holes to see if
there is running water beneath, and whether it is sufficient. In
the open country there are certain dry plants on which the
sheep subsist and grow fat. They have very long and bread
tails, from which much fat is obtaived, and their wool is excel-
lent. The skins of these sheep are very soft, and the wool
gutly ; it is usual to make for coats from them, and also hats.
| have also noticed in Persia thut there is no firewood, and in
place of it they bumn cow-dung, also the droppings of camels,
horses, asses, and sheop [11].



CHAPTER VIII!

AMMIVAL N THIL CITY OF CASBIN (QAZWIN), AKD HOW WE
WERE SENT FOlt TWICE TO THE ROYVAL PALACE

AT the end of thirteen days we atrived at the city of Qazwin,
where the king, Xaabas [Shilh ‘Abbis], was.! We were con-
ducted to a house made ready for the purpose; and after three
days n captain came, accompanied by several cavalry soldiers,
to-visit the ambassador on behall of the chicl minister of the
ling. He presented congratulutions on our arrival, with many
compliments and offers of service, Subsequently the ambas-
sador paid o visit to the chiel minister, called Etmadolat
["Asarnat-ud-daalah]® which means * Modesty of Wealth,' by
whom he was well received with many polite speeches and
compliments, in which the Persians are never wanting.
Between them there was much conversalion in the Torkish
Innguage, the chiel object of which was directed to finding out
what presents we had brought for the King of Pessia; secondly,
to know the ambuassudor's mank, so that the proper honours
might be paid to his person. Heanng from the Armenians
that he (Bellomont) was of & great family, *‘Azamat-ud.daulah
sent to Smyrna to obtain information whether or not he wore

b AL thin palei the ariplnal cemses 1o be i Franch, and s cominnsd in
Portuguese.

£ Shih *Abbis 1L, succoedad 3043, died 1867 The pressnce of the courr m
Qaawin s confirmed by the revws in s letier from Aleppo, dited March 16, 1651,
printed in ths Merowriar Palitinn, Noo 26y, july 510 12, 1668 pu 5400, 5307, The
Shili grrivan] there on the soth Ragab, iy TL [Moy a7, 1654) Qiio-sl-Fagan of
Wall (ubi, Shamin, Brithh Miseam, Addltians) M5, 7,646, fol. 1k

¥ The true pesiing b Uoop of the Sute  Zohsher, » sl 4 la Perse,' 42
(Paria 1800), tranaliierates it o * 1 Enidd-uddanlali * (Tristed One of the Singe)
which may be the rrue readmg,
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of the great family that be claimed to be. Meanwhile; after
eight days from our arrival, we were sent for to the royal
palace, into which we went through numerous gates, ending in
a large courtyard, in the midst of which stood two beantifil
trees full of shade. Beneath them were two lions fastened
with heavy golden chains; before each lion was a large golden
basin full of water. Alse belaw each tree stood a well-
dressad man with long monstachios reaching to his shoulders,
in his hand a short spear all of gold, with his face turned
towards the royal seat. We went on our way, and next came
to an open hdll which had twenty beauntiful gilt pillars, orna-
mented with many kinds of Horal designs and many-coloured
ennmels, Here we seated ourselves in the expectation that the
King would come out.

An hour afterwards the King nrrived in great state; where-
upon 4ll rose to their feet, and crossed their bands on their
breasts, and made a bow with lowered heads. This, too, was
done by the ambassador, secing that this was the vustam of
that court. ‘Then, approaching the king, e delivered to him
the letter, which the king took with his own hand and pliced
i that of the chiel minister, who stood at his side.

The king seated himsell in his place, and the master of
ceremonies, who was close to the ambassador, pointed out to
him hie place, which was the fifth on the right hand [12]. He
was to sit there. On taking his seat, he presented a breast-
plate, a head-piece (morion), and sword-mountings, all of hink
work made ot Paris.  All these were accepted by the king;
who looked at the ambassador with a pleased face, saying to
him that he was delighted at his coming. All this was spokan
through an interpreter, an Armenian, who was in our employ.
Then be asked after the health of the King of England,
inquiring if he had any brothers, if he were murried, how old
he was, and whether he was loved by his people.  Ta all these
questions the ambassador replied, and after the lapse of one
hour the king rose, saying to the ambassador that he should
take rest and recover from his fatipues. Meanwhile he for-
warded to Espahad (Isfahin) the lotter brought by the ambas-
sador m order to have it translated by a Capochim friar named
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Frey Raphael Dumans,! well acquainted with the Turkish and
Persian langunges, a priest of great virtaes, loved by the king
and all the court.

The letter having been translated, the king sent to the
ambassador an invitation to come to court, where he gave him
a banquet at his own table. It was given in the hall already
described, which was decorated with rich carpets, and seats
covered with rich brocade, and handsome cushions. In the
assembly was the king seated in the midst of ten persons.
That is to say, on his right hand ‘Agmat-ud-daulah, then thres
of the great officials, and in the ffth place the ambassador,
and on his left hand other five men, who were the chief
generals then nctually present at court, Of all these, the first
was *Azamat-ud-daulah, which means Great Minister of State;
the second was Sepagalar (Sipali-salar), who is the commander-
in-chief; the third Corchy-Bassi (Qdrchi-basht), the general of
infantry; the fourth Couléer Agussi (Qular-agasi), who com-
mands the king's slaves.  All these are noblemen. The ffth
was Nazer (Nasir), who is the major-domo of the royal house-
hold: the sixth Divan Begui (Diwdn-begh), who is chief justice
over the nobles of the kingdom ; the seventh was Topchy Bassi
(Fopechi-bashi), who is the commander of the artillery; the
eighth Cachiq Agasi Bassi (Qushig-agdsi-baski),” who is captain
of the royal guard and master of the ceremonies; the ninth
Cedar (Sadr), who is the judge in all cases of the law; the
tenth, Vaquia-navis ( Wag'ah-nasi), who is the Chief Secretary
of Stats, Below the royal seat, which was raised the height of
a foot, there svere on each side thirty persons, all men of rank
and position, '

They placed in front of the king twelve large basins of gold
filled with polas (pulde) of various kinds, and four dishes of
different roast meats, six porcelain vessels holding varicus other
meats, and several boxes having their covers ornamented with
all sorts of precious stones. Each of those who were on the

¥ Thio ¥erm Raphant du Mana (Jacgees Duierim), Capochin, born in 1613, weal
to Persia §n Thgy, and diod at lfab3a an Aprll 4, 1695 He i the antbor of
s Batat de o Pess on 1600, efited by Cli. Sohpinr (Furis, 1894),

= Ouery meant lor + Ighng-agisl {ord chumberlain) (sce * Estar da la Perse,!
B 30)-
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two sides of the king bad the hall of what the king himself
had placed before him; and the sixty who were further down,
away from the king’s side, had each of them four basins af
pulao. At this banquet wine was absent [13], and although
the king knew how to drink a drop or two, on this occasion
he refrained as a matter of dignity. When the first course
was finished, the second was brouglt, consisting of much fruit
and numerous sweet dishes.

“The reader will be pleased to learn what piddo means.  Pulae
iz rice cooked with many spices, cloves; cinnamon, macek,
pimento, cardamoms, ginger, saffron, raisins, and almonds, to
which is added the fesh of sheep, or fowls; or goats, and the
whole dressed with plenty of butter. They make these pulitos
of many sorts and of different flavours,

When the feast had ended, the king rose and said to the
ambassador that he might start for the city of Isfalin,! for
which he himself would set out in a few days. This sending
off of milord was because they were waiting for the answer
from Smyrna, whether it was true that he had been sent as an
ambassador by the King of Englind; Charles 11., and whether
he was of the rank that he claimed. At the end of six months
the answer came, as 1 shall mention presently. Meanwhile we
had spent fifty days in this city of Oazwin, and évery day there
came to us food in abundance for every one of our people, with
sufficient wine, and whatever was necessary for our animals,

The city of Qazwin standsin the midst of several mountains;
it has sufficient water, many gardens, and much frait, a fitting
plice for the holiday resort of a king, however great he may be,
where he can go out after game, with which the country is well
supplied.

! This retegatiom of the ambassador » business to Tefahin W borme ot by tha -
butter kn the Moversas Polltces direndy referrsd to



CHAPTERMX
WE QUIT QAZWIN AND AREIVE AT ISFAHAN

Wi came out of Qazwin to start for Isfahidn, and neither at the
time of leaving nor during the journey were the accustomed
supplies delivered to us.  None the less, we managed to make
our journey in sufficient comfort, and in twelve duys we reached
Isfahan, where there was made over to us as & dwelling a large
house with @ lovely garden. It was the property of the general
of the king's artillery, who was then in Qazwin. There we
fed ourselves ot our owh exXpense,

Finally, at the end of three months, when winter had passed.
the king arrived at Isfahin,' and we were abliged to lesve that
house where the general lived, and they made over to us
another, After # few days the ambassador sent a message o
‘Agamat-ud-danlah that he desired to pay him 2 visit, but the
answer retamed was that in these diys, the king being newly
arrived, he was very much occupied, and he (the ambassador)
must have a little patience, and that notice [14] would be given
of the time when they eould meet.

Thus matters were kipt in suspense till the answer from
Smyrna should arrive. Finally, they learnt that, without any
doubt, the Belmont (Lord Bellomont) had been sent as
ambassador, and that he was of the rank he asserted, Three
months after the king's armival at Tsfahan ‘Azamat. id-danlah
sent for the ambassador, and held with him a long conversation.
1 was present the whole time, quite close to the ambassadar,
who puot me forward as his son.

' The Shili passed the Newree, or Vernal Festival (March 21, 1655), at i,

il ruched the capinl on the oth Rajab, 1055 H. (May 15, phasl.  See Qtanal
Medgin of Wall (Jull;, Shamla, British Museam, Addlthens] M5 6af, fol. 1534,
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26 WE QUIT QAZWIN AND ARRIVE AT ISFAHAN

In the speech he made he (the ambassador) told how the
king, Charles 1., was unjustly beheaded by his subjects, who
into his place had mised a man of low origin, banishing King
Charles Il. and his brother [ames from the kingdom and
persecating them. He had, therefore, come to His Majesty of
Persia to ask for help, in accordance with the friendship which
had always existed between the crowns of England and of
Persia. _

‘Azamat-ud-danlah asked in what way could his king give
aid such as he required. Then the ambassador replied that he
should eall to mind the word given long ago by the King of
Persia to afford help to the King of Great Britain, should
occusion arise, That also he still owed for the expenses
incurred by the King of England when he sent a fleet to take
the fortress of Orumus (Ormug) from the hands of the Portu-
guese, and made it over to Persia. 1t was also most desicable
that he should assist King Charles [1. at this conjuncture, by
expelling from his dominions all the English who were partisans
of the rebellion, and compel them to abandon their trade. By
thus doing the praise of the generous acts of the flamouys Persian
king would go through all the world. ‘Apamat-ud-danlah,
having listened to this reasoning with a solemn counténance,
replied with a smile that he would report to the king all that
had been said, and would give an answer afterwnrds. With this
ended the interview.



CHAPTER X
HOW WE WENT A THIRD TIME TO COURT

Wiex eight days had elapsed from the visit to the wazir, the
ambassador was invited to a gmnd banquet in a beautiful
palace that the King had recently completed. At its gate-
way stood the large and handsome canion which were captured
at Ormuz. They were near o large reservoir of nice appear-
ance and very pleasant. At this second feast [15] which the
Ting gave him, the ambassador was treated with great hononts
in deference to his embassy, ‘Azamat-ud-danlah and a number
of ‘officers proceeding to the gates of the palace to meet him,
and continuing in his snite until he arrived before the king.
The latter caused his guest to be seated in the second place—
that is to say, ‘Azamat-ud-daulith came first, then the ambas-
sador, then three of the king's officers; there being on the
left hand five other persons; the greatest of the generals, The
seat was larger than in Qazwin, with greater richness, and the
room more beautiful,  In it were sundry officials and captains;
who stood.

There was not much conversation, The king only asked
the ambassador whether the climate of Persin suited himy g
to which the ambassador replied that after all the climate of
Persia had much resemblance to that of England, by reason of
the frosts and snow that it had. I was standing behind the
ambassador, and the king asked who 1 was, The ambassadar
answered that he looked upon me as his son. The king said
to him that if he chose to make me aver to him he would treat
me very well, and thos there would be a memorial of him
left at the court, The ambassador said that if T were in
reality his son he would make me over to his mujesty; but

7
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as my parents had placed me in his care;, he could not part
with me. .

This was the conversation that we had until, after one honr
had passed, the table was laid; it was much more Imposing
and more highly adorned than the one at Qazwin. The place
where the king was seated was larger, and the carpets of
greater value and more beautiful, The king’s whole table
vessels were of gold with covers, having handles ornamented
with precions stones. 1In the lower seats were on each side-
fifty men, all nobles, including a few men of learning, Among
these the king ordered me to taks my seat. Each person lind
four plates full of puiao, also various dishes of roast and fried meat,
and some of pickles: T noticed that all these men were of large
frame, tall, and well made, with huge moustachios, which some
of them had twisted round their ears, so that they might not
fall on their shoulders, All were well elad in rich stuffs, and
wore enormaus turbans.  Many of them ate vorneiously.

The first course being finished, they set before us the sicond,
consisting of a great quantity of fruit, which in Igfahin is very
plentiful. This course lasted two hours, snd at the end of
it the king rose and entered the fomale apartments. ‘Agamat-
td-danlah conducted the ambassador to the end of the room,
holding him by the hand, saying that nothing should be want-
ing on his purt to do him service, with many amicable speeches,
in which this kind of people are never deficient.



CHAPTER XI

[16] OF THE PRESENT THAT THE KING SEXT 10 THE AMBAS-
SADOR, AXD OF THE FOURTH TIME OF DUR BEING AT COURT

SoMe days elapsed after the above invitation, when ‘Azamat-
nd-daslah sent to the ambassador from the king fifty pleces
of gold and silver brocade, velvet, and varions-coloured silk,
four pairs of handsame carpets, and 2,000 pafacas,' the which
arrivesd just at the right time; for the ambassador had run into
debt with certain Armenian merchants, and with this money
he paid his debr. After a very few days the ambassador went
to the hoose of ‘Azamat-ud.daulal, where he remnined a long
time in consultation, the subject being the following.

The ambassdor demanded @ favourable reply, saying that it
was necessary for him to leave. ‘Azamat-ud-daulah made use
of many friendly expressions, but was not desirous of answering
the proposition Taid before him. By putting questions he feigned
un eagerness to know whether England was a large kingdom,
how many men it could place in the feld, i there were a route
to it by land. He appeared to be much amazed that all the
Kings of Europe, being themselves Christian, did oot afford
succour to the King of Englund.

The ambassador replied to all this, but chiefly to this last
question, He said if the King of Persia would pay the money
that he owed, the King of England could then, without othier
assistance, pbtain possession of his kingdom, and seize his
enemies. Seeing the stiff answer of the ambassador, ‘Agamut-
nid-daulah succeeded in sending him awey with pleasant words.

During the time the ambassador was in Iyfahdn, the king

¥ ¥ule 633 the dollar or plece of eigh!  Eléwlione Mamnedd mmikes this equal
e vwor ripess 10 Inidla, or aboar daure shiblhugs,
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decided to have a parade of his armed force, and make a display
of his power. For this affair he sent an invitation to the
ambassador,  We repaired to the very large royal hall, con-
taining forty pillars, which has an outlook on the great square.
In this hall the king takes his seat but rarely, and only when
he has 4 review of his cavalry, These reviews are held twice o
year ; each time they last three days.

We went one day only. We saw the cavalry enter at one
side of the plain and march out at the other. The soldiers,
forty thonsand in number, were mostly clothed in mail, and
bore maces; some squadrons had Jances, others bows and
arrows, others matchlocks. All were mounted on good and
swift horses, and they carried standards bearing devices. At
the end of the review we saw two Persians bound each on a
camel, with their bowels protruding. Their offence was causing
a disturbanee after they had drunk too much wine. These men
were conducted thus through the city until they died.



CHAPTER XII

REPLY OF 'AZAMAT-UD-DAULAH TO THE AMBASSADOR ON THE
PART OF THE KING

Tug ambassador, aithough somewhat doubtful of obtaining an
answer such as he desived, never desisted from importuning
‘Agamat-ud-daulah, reminding him that it was close upon a
year that he had been in Tsfahin without making the smallest
advance in the negotintions, for which he had come so [ar.
*Azamat-ud-daulah put him off from day to day, At length,
lired out by so many remonstrances, he made up his mind to
give an answer, With this view he sent a message to the
ambassador, requesting him to be good enough to come to his
house, as he wanted to spesk to him.

We repaired to the house of ‘Agamat-ud-daulah, who received
the ambassador with many gracious words and much polite-
ness, Seating themselves, they began a long conversation to
the following effect = *Azamat-ud-dauiah began a very long way
off by remarking that the King of Persia was o great friend of
the Ring of England, and cherished for him the same amity
that he had felt towards the former kings, his ancestors ; he
greatly desired to assist that king, chiefly owing to the great
necessity of the case. This was the reason that he had post-
poned his reply, while he searched for and considered ways in
which he could give ussistance. [iut he could find no manner
of so doing. The Persian cavalry and the rest of their troaps
could not be sent, by reason of the great distance, by the land
route. On the road were many kingdoms through which they
must pass Thus it was impossible to be of any use by send-
ing an armed force. Then he lad songht for some means of
helping him by way of the sea; bui to send a great feet he saw
wis extremely difficult. In Persia they had no ships, and,

L3
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should they attempt to construct them, they had not sufficient
materials for the purpose.

Another reason for the long delay in giving an answet was
this : They had vsed the interyal to find out from the nations of
Europe—the Portuguese, the Dutch, and even the English
themselves—whether they could purchase any ships in which
to send reinforcements to the king. But, in spite of all the
affers they had made, they could not obtain what they wanted.
The ambassador knew well that this was all & protence, but he
kept his temper, although showing signs of impatience al all
this long-winded and superfluous talk.

When ‘Azamat-ud-danlah had finished this long speech, the
ambassador began as follows : First of all, he expressed his
thanks for the great efforts that the King of Persia and ‘Agamat-
st-daulah had taken to assist the King of England. Then,
kalf making fun of *Azamat-ud-daulah’s many wards, he said to
hir that be himsell had a [18] much easier method of remedy-
ing all this, without giving trouble Lo the Persian monarch, and
without fatiguing the Persian soldiers, so famous throughout
Europe, His plan was that the Kiog of Persia should pay, cash
down, the money due on the bill owing to the King of England.
He had not come all that long journey in search of cavalry, ner
a fleet, nor ships, but of a debt in arrears. If he would excuse
him. he would say 3 word or two frankly, To this *‘Agamat-
ud-daulaly replied that he might speak as freely as he liked.

Upon this the ambassador continued that all that had been
said by him showed that his king had no intention of paying
the debt. ‘Agamat-ud-dsulnh, in a deceptive manner and
smiiling; said that his king wished to pay, but, soeing that the
amount demanded was very large, it would require a great
umber of beasts of burden, that it would be necessary to pass
through ather kingdoms, that possibly he: might be robbed ou
his way. Nor was the difficulty met by saying that he could
carry the amount by ses, for all the world knew what risks
were run ot sea, both of being attacked and of being wrecked,
wheriby the whole amount would be lost. '

The ambassador's answer was that, if they gave him the
money, he knew quite well how to take care of it und remove
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it in safety. If they peid over to him a sufficient sum, the
King of England, his master, would have no other demand to
make. He would hold himself satisfied, according to the orders
he had received, as set forth in the letters that he had presented.
This he said with # certain show of emotion, for by this time
he saw that their object was to pay him in words.

*Azamat-ud-daulah hung his head down and affected a mild
exptession of countenance, then said in a low voice: * Necessity
is not the most perfect of judges.! He added that, as to
banishing from the Porsian realm the English traders, that
could wot be. For the king had allowed them willingly to
enter his territory—the land of Persia was free to all—and the
king declined to turn out anyone unless he had been guilty af
an offence. All the same, they would grant him (Bellomont)
leave to eject them from the kingdom himself by his own forces.
The king would back up neither one side nor the other.

“inally, being wearied out, the smbassador said, with a
certain amount of passion, that he had not looked for such an
_answer from s king of such fame in the world, especially after
the Persian kinzdom had received aid from the King of England,
ut great cost to the latter. *Azamat-ud-daclab did not change
countenance, but endeavoured to pacify the ambassador, saving
that such events were sent from above, that never was all that
we asked of God granted us, that in due time God would bring
to mind his king. Encouraging him and consoling him with
kind and soft words, he added thut if he were in any difficulty
for expenses, he could send to his interpreter [1g], who would
help him.

Hearing this, the ambassador said not a single word, but
rose hastily, came forth, and returned home. When he had
arrived there, he by-and-by gave an order for the sale of some
pieces of cloth and some carpets which still remained to pro-
vide for our road expenses. The above conversation was in
Turkish, which 1 coold already speak and understand sufficiently.
Listening to everything with the greatest attention, I admired
the way in which ‘Azamat-ud-daulah was able to evade the
aggressive answers of the ambassador without betraying any
gign of ili-humour.
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CHAPTER XIII

HOW THE KING OF PERSIA MADE OVER TO THE AMBASSADOHR
A LETTER FOR THE KING OF ENGLAND

Tut firm words of the ambassador were the cause of their
giving him his leave to depart after a bijef delay. With this
intent, eight days after the above-mentioned conversation, he
was sent for to court on behall of the king, when we wele
given another feast like the one which 1 have described, and in
the same place. At the end of the banquet, *Azamat-ud-daulah
took the ambassador by the hand and led him in front of the
royal seal at a distance of two or three paces, and with his face
towards the king. The ambassador was on the left side of
‘Ammat-ud-doulah. The latter put his band into his pocket
and drew forth a bag of gold brocade, in which was a Jetter.
Lifting this bay with both hands, he placed it on his head,
making a profound reverence to the king, bowing his head most
deeply., Then he hunded the said bag to the ambassador,
saying that his king sent that letter to the King of England.
He was directed to make obeisance as he had seen the other
do. During this short speech *Agamat-ud-danlah held half of
the bag in his hand, while the other hulf was in that of the
ambassador.  As soun as the brief speech was ended, the
ambassador drew the bag from the hands of 'Azamat-ud-duunlah;
and quickly tummed his back, and without any sort of bow,
held it out contemptuously to the interpreter. This man at
once hastened np Lo réceive the letter with both hands; for
the motion made by the ambassador showed that il he did not
hurry near, the ambassador would throw the bag at him.

Then, without any civility, or any sort of bow, he left
‘Azamat-ud-daulab standing where he wos and went out, his
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head high, while the king sat with cast-down eyes as if [20]
he saw nothing of what was pussing. All those present re-
mained in silent wonder at such boldness. I was quite close
to the ambassador, and came out; natwithstanding, with some
amount of dread, anticipating that the king would send out
some order to have us killed. But we were not interfered with.

On arriving home, we took measures to prepare ourselves
without delay for continning our journey. In fact, we did so
at the end of nine days, and the ambassador not being pro-
vided with sufficient funds for our expenses, he applied to the
head of the English factory at Isfuhin, who was called Mestre
Jhon (Mr. Young),' a very short mun, but most generous and
yvery liberal, as | made note of from the feasts and offerings
which sevetal times he had given to the szid ambassador.

4o Moston  Jhou * s (dentified by Mr, W, Fouter as Henry Young, who was at

Fefibidn 1 155y, He lell 1t on September 56 for Gombroom (Bandar *Abbis),
anil safled for Shrat on November 2o in the Dismond,
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CHAPTER XIV

OF THH CITY OF [BFAHAX, ARD OF CERTAIN EVEXTS
WHICH HAPFERED THEHRE

Tux city of Tsfuhiin is very large, situated in & great plain at
the foot of some low hills It has four canals of water,
which flow through the midst of it, and thees serve for irri-
gating the gardens, These canals issue from a river which
flows between Julpha (Zulfah) and Isfahin; its name is
Senderuth (Zindah-riid) ; over it are four bndges somewhat
distant from each other. Of the lour, two ure especinlly hand-
some—namely, the one on the road from Isfahidn to Julphs
(Zulfah). You approach it by a long and wide raised way,
adorned on both sides with the great and besutifal walled
gardens of the king, and with high trees, called in Persin
chenar (chandr), and in European languages, planes, In the
midst thereaf flows ane of the aforesaid canals of water, which
fills various reservoirs for the use of the said gardens, and goes
on its course until it reaches again the river from which it wus
taken. Horses are ridden oo the raised way. There are
many s=ats where the Persians imbibe tobacco from crystal
*guriguris,” called by them "caliad® (gakiyan), which are long
and nartow-necked circiilar flagks filled with water, having 8
vessel of tinned copper or of silver in the shape of an open
flower of the water-lily* stuck into its (the Hask'sh mouth, and
filled with tobacco. With this they sit, telling stories until
late, sometimes, without exagperation, as many as five or six
21] thousand of them. '

1 Probabily foom gurger, s whisper, 1o allnsion (o the sewml moade by (hs watne-
pipe.  The Indian form & genimp.

¥ The text bas malifon abmiy, which | take 1o be'the - Persian. wond siligfer, &
wiater-lily.
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The second beidgs, which is the finest of them all, is called
the bridge of Xiras (Shirgz), thus named because when going
from Isfahiin to Shiraz you cross over it. This bridge consists
of three stories, besides the chief one, which is in the middle.
The king goes there sometimes with his harem, and he cad
descend to the water without being scen. By all these stories
you can cross from one side of the river to the other. The
water runs over dressed stones, mude artificially high or low,
50 a5 to produce waves pleasing to behold.!

1 noticed that the houses of Isfahin and those throughout
Persia, seen from the front, are not pleasing, being all made
of clay; but they are lovely inside, and highly decorated.
They have both lnrge and small gardens, with good fruit-trees—
that is to say, pears, apples, peaches, apricots, mulberries,
‘sweet and sour quinces, like the apples of Europe, vines of
Boas Vuoas, and vineyards of Vuas® grapes without stounes,
which are called * quiximis " (kishmssh), many kinds of plums—
and all the varieties of flowers that grow in Europe; for the
Armenians are very fond of growing Enropean tlowers, and
present them to the Persian nobles, The Persians, as also
the Moguls, are fond of flowers and perfumes.

In front of the royal palace is a large plain, where throughout
the year stand fruit-sellers’ booths, and a large quantity of
exquisite melons.  Here they drink coffee and smoke tobacco;
the place is always full of people going and coming. Here
are 1o be seen dancers, wrestlers, and other performers.  In
ont¢ comer of this open square is a palace where musical
instruments are played; and there stands the clock found by
them in the fortress of Ormuz, which they preserve as a
memonal of their victory over the Portuguese. The city was
always clean, due to the energy of the gardeners, because with
what was removed from the streets they manured their gardens.
They collect most industrionsly the sewage from the houses
for the same purpose. This is o great help to keeping the

! Thery i3 2 good (description mnd two views of these bridges in Chardin's
*Voyages on Porse ' (Amuterdam,, 1711, ten volomes, tzmo.), vol viil, p. 230,

amd Plates XLVIL, XLVIIL
2 el Vin," s kind of graps ?
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air pure, by not allowing dirt to accumulate in the city. There
are also many baths where the body may be washed. The
soul also profits (as they believe), for when they wash them-
selves they imagine themeelves to be absolved from their sins,
Ablution serves among the Mahomedans—and speaking always
with due reverence—like confession and absolution among us
Catholics.

During the time we were at Isfahiin rumours were current
to the effect that the Great Mogul meant to come againgt the
fortress of Candar (Qandahar), which is held by the King of
Persia in defiance of the Mogul. For this reason they began
to prepate to march out to encounter him; then the spies
brought them the news that this year the Great Mogul would
not come,

It happened in thase days that the san of an officer, being
twenty-two [22] years of age, was in attendance on the court,
He fell in love with a Jady in the palace and sent her several
presents. When the king was told of this, he ordersd the
man to be beheaded, As the young man was actually at
court, he got word of the king's order, and returned home
with all the haste he could. There, with his own hands, he
totally castrated himself, and without delay sent the severed
member in a covered golden vessel to the King, with a request
that he would chastise that which had committed the offence,
The king, with regard to this deliberate act of his, pardoned
his life, and gave him the title of the ** Valiant Eunuch.”

In the city are two factories, one of the English, the other
of the Dutch. There are alsa four churches, one of the
Portuguese Augustinians, which the present king caused to
be entirely gilded at his own expense, and he went there
severil times o see our ceremonial,  Another church belongs
to the barefooted Carmelites, another to the Jesuits, another
ta the Capuchins.

There are also in the city many mosques, among them 2
dome with two tombs, which are much venerated. The door
of this dome is opened only once a year, on the accasion of &
great festival, to which flock people from different provinces on
the appointed day. One tomb they assert to be that of ‘Ali,
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the other they state to be that of his sons Assen (Hasan) and
Ossen (Husain), who are revered as martyrs, Othors declare
they are tombs of the companions of Mubammad, although he
had no Conrt o courtiers,

Once during the night, when the king, Shih ‘Abbiis, was
lying -aslesp, he woke all of a sudden, having dreamt that he
had seen a vision. Calling to the captain of his guard, he gave
him an order to open at once the door of the dome and both
the tombs; and after looking with great care at what was in
them, make @ detailed report of his inspection. The captain
of the guard caused both the tombs to be opened, and foond
in them two dead Capuchin priests, with their clothes and
their bodies equally intact. The captain stood in amazement,
and ordered the tombs and the dome to be closed up as before.
He reported at once to the king what he lad seen. Listening
attentively to the story, the king pronounced these worpds:
* None can know the secrets of God, unless He Himself.' This
event remained a secred, and the same veneration was continoed
as before.

At the distance of o league or a little less from Isfahin is an
inhabited place called Julpha (Zulfah), where great numbers
of Armenians live, pll merchants, with their churches. These
people dwelt long ago in ancient Zalfaly, upon the banks of the
Tiver Arms, three days' journey before you come to Tabriz,
1t was there that I saw an eclipse of the sun in the middle of
the day [23], beholding the stars as in a dark night.)! They
left that place with the permission of Shih “Abbis, coming
with their families and all their belongings to found thia new
Zulfah on the farther bank of the river Zindah-mid, and thers
they dwell in complete liberty, having sufficient facilities in the
way of houses, gardens full of fruit, and water with which to
urigate them.  This water flows in canals through the middle of
the strests, which are adorned on both sides with great trees,

T oam incdebaed wo e, A X W, Downing, of the Naotiesl Almmnse Oifice,
far the laformaton that & el eclipss of the sun comirred in 1854, Augoet ©9
(New Styla).  The central line crossed Uie exst share of ihe Black Ses wi aboul
sk, 44" il thio west shore of the Caspian Sea at sboui lati¢c". Tt would,

therefors, hiwn besn vidlhle a3 & comiderable partisl echipss tn tha region
indicased (e, Zuliah s Armesnis)



CHAPTER XV

OF THE COVERNMENT OF THE PERSIAN KINGDOM, AND OF
SOME STRANGE BVENTS

Tue kingdom of Persia was very well governed, having no
rebellions or treasons, neither robbers nor highwaymen on the
roads, as there are in some kingdoms, chiefly those of -the
Turks. For Shih ‘Abbis took the greatest care that the land
was well governed, and allowed no wrong to be done. This
king wias much loved and esteemed by his people; not only
did they love him, they adored him ps a saint. The reason was
that his family was descended from *Ali, who was marvied to the
daughter of Mubammad. The Persians say (though the Turks
and the Moguls decline to concede this) thar ‘Al succeeded
Muhammad as prophet. But this was not the sole cause that
he was esteemed and venerated as a holy man; it was also his
singular qualities which made him venerable.

The king was a man of good stature, well nourished, brond
in the shoulders, slender in the waist, a fine horseman, of &
bright countenance, strong in his resolves, and a lover of wine.
With reference to this, I may reconnt how he employed &
golden vessel called Azarpexn (Hazir-peshah), which means
*a thousand kinds.' It would hold two canadas® and 2 half of
wine.. When the king wanted to have a joke with anyone, or
impose on him u slight punishment, he would force him to
drink in his presence the messure of wine contained in the
suid vessel,

This he did tn several occasions to the French goldsmiths

! Conada i n mmmsure of fguid holding three Eoglish jints  The funntity
was thus seven mnd & bald finm, wearly u gallon, Taveitilor o mentions

Hazly peshak.
e
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who were in his service, when they did not make the enamel
work, rings, jewels, and clocks to pleasa him. He would
threaten them that if they did not execute the work as perfectly
as he wanted it, he would have to double their punishment.
For this reason the goldsmiths, before finishing off the work
made over to them, carried it many times into the king's
presence to see if it met with his approval or not.  For it is no
joke to drink at once 20 much wine,

In my time there were six French goldsmiths, and the king
showed to them great love and affection, giving [24] to each
of them 150 patacas' every year in addition to food, of which
they had abundance, and also presents, which he gave them
when be was pleased with the work that they did. Many a
time when he was happy he would send for them and make
them sit in his presenes, and, drinking wine himself, by made
them drink too, though pot out of the “thousand kinds,' Con-
versing with them, be would ask as to the state of things
among the kings of Euwrope—how they fought battles, and
many different questions;. He 1ock delight in hearing the
doings of the King of Frunce, and the mode in which he
carried on wir; he alao liked to hear from the mouths of these
goldsmiths witty sayings, and showed singular affection to
Europeans,

For this reason it is, 1 believe, that in Persin there is liberty,
if you so choose, to put and reply to questions on matters of
the Christian religion between Christians and Persians, withoit
fear of being interfered with on that account, The reades
should understand that among the laws of the Mahomedans is
ope, that to all questions about religion put to them by Christians
they should answer by the sword. This rule is followed most
rigorously in Turkey, Arabia, in the realm of the Mogul, also in
Balg (Balkh), Bocari (Buklird), among the Osbeques (Ughaks)
and Patanis (Pathins). Thus it is impossible for anyone to
utter @ word there against the Mahomedan superstition without
the chance of losing his head. But in Persia you may nse argu-
ments, make inquiry, and give answer in matters of religion
without the least danger.

! This would bo about £30,
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The men of Persia are big, very strong, and fairly good-
looking, most sibtle in mind, and lovers: of music, scents, and
flowers. They are of a generous disposition and quick-witted,
nor do they fail in becoming good soldiers, intrepid and erafty.
With all this;, they hold their king in such great esteem that
no one makes so bold as to speak against him, or to ewade
obeying his orders. When he sends an order to behead any
grandee, no one raises the least opposition or utters the least
contradiction, The orders of the king are considered to be the
orders of God ; and thus, when a report arrives that the king
has sent for the head of any govemor or other official, the
culprit issues forth to meet the executioner of the royal orders,
and offering himsalf for the stroke, requests him to carry his
head into the presence of his king, which he gives as a sacrifice
to the royal commands. _

It happened about this time, when he was in Isfahin, that
Shah *Abhiis received a report that Xaabascan (Shibish Khin),
governor of Tabriz; & man of great stature and much strength;
commanding twelve thousand horsemen, had been guilty of an
omission of some consequence. The king issued an order that
a soldier should be sent to cut off his bead, When the emissary
arrived the governor was giving public audience ; the man laid
hold of his sword, and called ount that the king demanded his
head, Shabish Klian, without any remonstrance, presented his
body, and putting down his head, told the soldier to cut it off.
The man struck [25] a blow, but Shibash Khan, béing of a
large build, it did not go very far, and only wounded him. Ina
mge, the governor rised his-hand and gave the man o heavy
backstroke, by which several of his teeth were knocked out, ex-
claiming that the king had ordeged him to cut off his head, but
not to torture him. Holding down his head anew, he directed
the man to deliver a proper cut, and then with two more blows
his head was severed. It was carried to the king’s presence,
wherz orders issved, as was the custom, that it should be shown
for three days in the public square as an example and warning
for others: Now 1 will recount some other events, which will
give to the reader same idea of the strict justice done by Shah
*Abbiis, and the quickness of his mind in unmusking impostors.
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There happened during the time that 1 was in Isfahin
another remarkable instance by which you can gauge the atten.
tion which Shih ‘Abbas devoted to deciding justly. There
were two rich men, one of whoin had, during many months,
run up an account with the other, there having been no oppor-
tunity of a settlement between them.  One of them was called
Mahomed Raza (Muhammad Rizgi), and he owed a large sum
of money to the other, who passed as an upright man, and his
name was Miza Esmail (Mirzi Ismifil). Seeing that they
eould not come to an ugreement, they decided that each shoald
write down his argument and his vetsion of the account.
Folding up the papers, cach man was to write his name on his
awn documents ; then thoy were to be enclosed together in a bag
soated with each mun's seal and those of soveral witnesses. So
said, 5o done. The good Mirzd lsmii'il, not suspecting the
deceit of his debtor, Mebammad Riga, left the bag in his hands,
with the understanding that when Shiah *Abbas returned from
the chase, the said bag should be mude over to the king,
praying him to give orders for judging the cavse, The agree-
ment was that after the judge nominated by the king had given
hiz finding, not another word should be said,

Mubammad Rizd had time, before the king retumned from
hunting, to eat open the bag; and withdrawing the: papers of
Mirzh [sma‘ll, in which were weighty and convincing reasons,
he substituted for those writings and accounts other papers
‘bearing his creditor's name,  Then, sending for & workman, the
bag was resewn with such neatness that no one could belisve it
had been cut.

The king returned from his hunting, when both men appeared
in his presence and delivered to him the bag, with the prayer
thut he would graciously order a speedy decision to be given.
The king, being eager that justice should be done, as will be
seen forther from o case that I will mention later on, sent at
once for one of his ministers [26] named Fazel Beg (Fapl Beg)
—that is to say, ' Learned Person,” of whom he bad a high
apinion s being a disinterested and very truthful man. To him
the bag was delivered.

Coming forth in company of the two petitioners, Fxil Beg
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repaired to his house. Then, showing the bag to the two
litigants, and to the witnesses calléd in for the purposs, he asked
them if it was exactly the same as when they saw it before.
All of them answered that there was no difference; that itwis
the same, with the same seals and the same armangement. He
then sent them away, and they returned to their homes,

Mirzi Tsma‘il expected that Fasl Beg would send for him
and decide in his favour, therefore he took ne further steps; but
the cunning Mubammad Rigg did not allow a day to pass
without importuning the judge to end the history and the suit;
because, as he asserted, the case was very clear that, so far from
his being the debtor of Mirzd Isma'll, the latter owed him
(M. Rizi) u large sum of money. Thus he went on every day,
until at last Fazil Beg, having well studied the papers, arnived
at the finding that Mirzd Isma‘il was the debtor, He therefore
sent for him.

On his arrival, he (Fazl Beg) told him he was much
astomshed that a man held to be truthful and just could huve
made an unjust demand, and, being himsell the debtor, should
have claimed to be the ereditor of Mubammad Rizd foca large
sum. Mirza Isma'il stood astonished at thess words of the
judge, and requested, as all he desired, that he would refer to
his papers, which would clearly demonstrate that Mubammuad
Rigi was in his-debt, The judpe satisfied him by giving him a
sight of the papers, Hardly had Mirza Ism&il glanced at them
than he said, surprised and confused, that these were not his
papers nor his accounts. As they were forged, a decision

-should not be given, and he hoped time would be allowed.

Fiizil Beg replied that he had the king's orders to decide

according to the papers enclosed in the bag, and according

to them there was nothing else for it but 1o decide in favour of
Mubammsd Riga, Mirsa Isma‘ll, seeing that there was no hope
of getting anything out of him, had recourse secretly to the
king, and falling at his feet, assured him that in the transaction
there was some deception, done either by Fagil Beg or through
some trick played with the bag,

The King had no suspicions about the judge, for he had already
tested him several times, and still less would ¥azil Beg nsk such
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g thing, for it would be sure to cost him his life, Nor conld
he suspect Mirzi 1smit‘il of any imposition, he being known as
an upright and truthful man, against whom none could make
any accusation, for he was a just man with 4 good conscience.
For theee reasons the king said to Mirza [smasl that he must
be patient for a little while until he could get at the truth,

Among other things, the king reflected that the bag had
been in [27] the hands of Muhammad Rizd, that he could have
ent it open and then closed it.  Therefore lie decided to put his
suspicions to the test. Thus do princes act who desire to huye
justice done in their realms! He resolved to burn a piece of
the carpet on which he sut, a piece of rich stuff excellently
woven, and somuch prized that he seldom used it to sit upon.
Secretly he burnt a hole in the said carpet, and said pothing
abott it. The employe who had charge of it, discovering the
burn, was in great fear lest the king might order hus hand to
be cut off, or otherwise punish him for taking so little care of
such a precious article, Taking possession of the carpet, he
removed it in secret to his own house, and diligently searched
for a workman who could darn it so perfectly that no one
could see that it had boen repaired. Through God's will it
50 happened that he got hold of the workman who had sewn
up the bag.

After some days the king usked where his favourite carpet
was. When they had brought it and spread it out, the king
took his seat upon it, and, without attracting attention, searched
for anything in the nature of a darn. In spite of its baving
been repaired, he could not bGnd the place. Therenpon the
king ordered the employé to produce in his presence the
workman who had darned the burnt plice. The man, being
frightened by this sudden question, could not deny, and went
off to bring the workman. Both retorned to the king's
presence, when he asked with a serious look, as if he already
knew, * How much did you get for mending this bag ¥ showing
him the one that he had sewn up, The workman replied that
they had given him a goodish sum; for the suid bag had a
hole, which (as they said) had been gnawed by the mts. It
was of great importance {0 his good name, the owner said, that
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it should be darned at once and with skill. The king asked if
he knew the man who gave him the job, and he answered * Yes.'
At once orders were given that a number of officials and
servants should attend in the presence, with Mirza Ismii‘l and
Mubammad Rizd in their midst. When they had all arrived,
the king asked the workman which was the man that had
given him the bag to be darned. Then the workman pointed
out Muhammad Rizs, adding that he had done the work in his
house and in his presence, stating the day, the hour, the house,
and the place in the hougs where he had carried out the work.
These statements having been verified, the king ordained that
Muhammad Rizd should be cut into four pieces, which, being
attached to the tails of four camels, should be dragged through
the city, preceded by a drummet and & man shouting; * This
is the justice that the king has ordered to be done.’ The hoase
of this Mubammad Rizi was cleared of its contents, and the
whale given to Mirza Isma'il. Thus was justice done, and
impostors. were kept inorder; thus should act all princes if
they would not be instruments of oppressian, if they are desirous
of cutting short the career of knavery [28].

The story 1 am now to tell will prove that Shih ‘Abbis Ioved
to do justice. He who related it to me told me how the king
allowed no Christian to be ill-treated. Nevertheless, the
Armeniuns are not held in much esteem in Persin, this very
king having several times taken from them their wives and
daughters, picking from among them the best-looking. All the
same, he would not permit them to be oppressed by anyone
else,
It happened that a Persian soldier, considered brave but very
arrogant, a tall man with huge moustachios, went daily and
seated himsell at the shop of an Armenian truder who sold all
sorts of drugs.  This trader had a daughter eighteen years of
age who looked after the shop.  The soldier passed his davin
conversation with this girl, whence it came to pass that the
Armenian was unable to sell his goods, The customers wert
frightened at the terrible appearance of the soldier, and would
not ventare to approach the shop,

Thus the frightened trader was obliged, after much hesitation,
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to say to the soldier most humbly that he would feel obliged by
his doing him the favour of not coming so aften to his shop,
seeing that no one dared while he was seated there fo come up
to it to buy anything; that thos he suffered greatly in his busi-
ness. He must beg to be excused for making this petition, but
it wis necessity alone that compelled him to make the request ;
for if things went on as they were, he would be unable to exist
himself or maintain his family. Hardly had the Armenian
finished his' humble speech than the soldier seized his sword,
and with one blow severed the man’s head from hizs body, and,
jumping on his horse, rode off to hide in a place set aside by
the king is a sanctuary for offenders, whence not even the law
itself could withdraw him.

The Armenians were informed of this deed. Assembling
themselves, they procesded to lay their compluint before Mirza
Cuchuc (Mirzd Knchak), which means ¢ Little Noble,” wha was
the chief justice. ‘Thid man was so inimical to the Christians,
that when he had succeeded in catehing the murderer, the
sentence le passed was that o small wound should be inflicted
on the little tinger of the man's left hand, from which only
three drops of hlood flowed, and that he should pay in cash a
fine of ten patacas,! This senténce showed that he valued the
Armenians as worthless and people of no account. The
Armenians, upon the issue of this unjust sentence, made all
possible haste to inform the king of the circumstances. He
admitted them to an audience;, and verified their account of
what had happened. He told them to be patient, that he
would not forget the case, and justice should be done to them,
After the lapse of some days, Mirz8 Kiichak appeared before the
King to 'report to him on various matters, but made no mention
of the Armenian's death.  The king dissembled.  After o little
conyersation, he asked what would be the necessary sentence
on u Christian who had slain a Mahomedan [2g]). Mirzi
Kiichak replied that first of all be must be forced to pay three

U Pabawt, ¥iile aod Burpedl, secomd editlon, 683, ‘s dollar or pleos of eiphy
From Abd-plpei, Arbic, ' Father of she Wiadaw," & cois with & soaebeot an
the reverse, tikex by the Arabs (or & wisdow, N M, L i13, makes oos pafeci
oqual i two rupees
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thousand pataces, and after many tortures his head must be cut
off, as punizshment for his great audacity in raising his hand
upon one of the faithful friends of God and a follower of *All,
All this he delivered in a loud voice, as if he were pronouncing
an admirable decision. The king pretended he approved the
answer, but this was o mere subterfuge ; and he went on toask
him, If by chance & Mahomedan wrongfully killed » Christian,
what would have to be-done 7 Mirzd Kachak, who supposed
that his first reply had been pleasing to the king, and glorying
so much the more in exalting Mahomedans as he depressed
Christians, answered that the Mahomedan murderer mmst
receive a smadl wound in the little finger of the left hand, fromn
which three drops of bloed could fiow, and not more, pay-
ing, in addition, ten pasacas to the relations of the deceased.
Thereapon the king said: "Why make such a difference
between Mahomedans and Christians? [t does not appeir far
to favour the Mahomedans so greatly and show such harshness
to the Christians.'

Mirza Kichak began to give the rein to his eloquence, exalt-
ing the Mahomedans and depreciating the Christions.  Among
other arguments, he said that the Mahomedans of Persia were
faithial to God, that they adored the great ‘All, that there was
a great difference betwesn Mahomedans and Christians, both
in this world and in the next, for Christians conld never get to
heaven, being infidels. To preach sound doctrine und afford 3
good example in this world, it was necessary to decide cases
as he had stated, nor were Christians worthy of anything
better.

Shah *Abbiis changed colour, and with an angry voice told
him to be silent, He declined to hear such arguments; ho
had anly to look into the books of Moses and see the rightful
verdict : * Who slays shall himself be slain® 1f he (the chief
justice) had not been a descendant of Muhammad, he should
have been forced to order him to be torn in pieces by lions, an
account of the unjust sentence that he had given in tho case
where a soldier slew an Armenian, The king ordered him

1 v Whimo eiediloth inan’s blood, by man shall Bis blodd be dbod”® (Gen
i 5L
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never to appear in his presence again, and the falss accusers
were expelled from the court.

The king ordered the soldiers of his guand to go and claim
the soldier who had committed the murder, bring him out from
wherever he was hiding, and cut him to pieces. They tald the
king that the place wes a sanctuary, a place of safety that the
king had granted to misdoers. The king answered : * He who
granted the sanctoary can withdraw it.' Thus in this king's
time there is no longer any place of refuge. The soldier was
quartared and the pieces dragged through the city of Isfahin,
and Mirzad Kichak quitted Persin, Sobsequently I oncountered
him in the empire of the Great Mogul, in the city of Laor
(Lihor), and in the proper place (Part 11, 198) I will recount
what happened to him [30].

The events of which 1 have spoken caused the subjects of
Shih ‘Abbas to talk much about his many virtues. Hearing
all thig, an English gentleman lately arrived in Persin con-
ceived a great desire of seeing so renowned a monarch.! He
therefore hastened on to Isfahiin, and during a stay there of
some days he became familiar and friendly with the king's
goldsmiths, particularly with one of them called Clodio.® This
man was specially favoured by Shah *Abbés, he being somewhat
of a jester, and the king frequently delighted in listéning to him.

The gentleman, learning the inclinaticn that the king had to
the said Clodio, begged and entreated him to arrange some way
in which he could have an audience. He said that it was for
this that he had come so fur, and that he would go back to
Europe satisfied if able to declare that he had seen and spoken
to the King of Persia. Clodio inquired of him whether he had
any business about which he could speak. The gentleman re-

| Thia siory Is alsd told by ] B. Tavérnier [Fronch' edition' ol 1pn), L =,
chap. = (Flith Voyage, leaving Parls February, vi37), pp. =57, =68 272. He
makes the hiero ons De Haville, 8 Norman gentlemaa, whom e met 8t Smyma.
Do Revill waa put op by the Eaglish in thete facoery ot Tfahln and ihey sent
their interproter with im when be saw the king, Tavernier, who says ho wan
there; tiniroduces the nome of the ¥recchman Claads | bt the details anil date
ila not szoonl with Manueel  Petween thens, wihe shall deside 3

3 ¢ Clande Munsin, armourer,’ according to Tavernier (1 26}, editinn 16ga); oF,
s i vol. i, purol, . Muzin, nrquebmsier du ol
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plied that he had none; it was solely for his own satisfaction
and out of curiosity that he desired to see and speak to the king,
To this Clodio said that, as to seeing him, that was very easy;
but in regard to speaking to him, it was against mle when there
was no special business.  The gentleman persisted that he had
an ardent desite to speak to the king, and for that reason
begged him to do this favour, which he would never forget as-
long as he lived; thus he must continue to search for some
mode of accomplishing his desire.

As Clodio was quite willing to do this kindness to a gentle-
mun of good family, he told him he must wait for some days,
and then without fail he would carry him into the presence of
the king. It so happened that a few days afterwards the king
sent for Clodio. After a little conversation the latter reported
to the king hiow there had come an English gentleman with
many European recommendations, a great soldier, and of hagh
family, This gentleman greatly desired to have the honour of
being allowed to appear before the royal presence.  He did not
want to quit Persia fur Europe without having accomplished
this his purpose.

The king asked if the gentleman had come on any business.
Clodio replied that he had none; his only business was ta be
able to boast of having spoken to the most renowned King in
the world. The merits of his majesty were apparent to all,
but chiefly to those of Evrope.  The king asked if the gentle-
man was of as high rank as the ambassador (Bellomont) who
had already left. He was told that there was little difference:
Upon this the king gave him permission to bring the gentlemait
the next day.

Clodio left the court and went straight to see the gentleman,
who was waiting for him with great and impatient longing.
Hardly had he appeared when the gentleman asked him if he
brought good news. Clodio answered *Yes’; next day le
would have to go to the paluce, and thecefore [31] he must
make ready for the anxiously desired visit. The gentleman
was very pleased, and in high delight embraced Clodio, declaring
that his whole life long he would be ready to serve his interest
in any way bhe wished. Clodio bade him good-bye, The
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gentleman was busy all the night, without onee stopping, in

arranging his hair and attaching various ribbons to his clothes.
His hat bore curled feathers of various kinds; his shirt and
clathes he rubbed with different kinds of scent.  When all this
was completed, he passed the rest of the night composing
suntences and searching for the choicest Turkish words to
use, Next, he begin to picture to himself how he must present
himself before the king, the arguments and answers that he
would have to give to the royal questions, which last he invented
himsell. From one thing to ancther, he finished by staring out
of the window for the approach of dawn. Day had hardly
broken when he issued forth hurriedly in search of Clodio, who
pointed out to him that it was not yet time; when the hour
arrved, he would fetch him. This he did, bringing with him
Mestre Pit (7 Mr. Pitt),! who had also quitted Europe to see
the world, and for the time being was to pass as the gentleman’s
servant..

They arrived at the palace, the gentleman highly delighted
at being so near the satisfying of his curiosity. He was as
ong very weary and very thirsty who reaches a crystal spring,
not knowing how dear his curiosity would cost him. Announce-
ment of their arrival was made to the king, he boing at the time
in his garden taking awalk. Permission having been accorded,
all three went in—that is to say, Clodio and the gentleman and
Mestre Pit (Mr. Pitt), who pmssed us 4 servant.  Arriving within
sight of the king, the gentleman raised his hat and made his
bow in the European manner with great politeness. Drawing
still nearer, lie dropped on his knee, as Clodio had instructed
him, and began to speak thus: “ The greatness and the renown
of your majesty’s royal person are spread throughout the world,
and the name of such a dread soversign stands higher than
that of the greatest monarchs, The whole of Eurcpe is lost
in-admiration on learning that in Persia is a sun illuminating
with its rays the whole of the Arctic and Antarctic regions.
Thus have | come this immense distance to acquire the honour
of beholding and of speaking to such a grneat king.'

L Me W, Fester was good snough o make a peaich for thiy *Me, Pl Inithe
ledia (ifice Heconls, Lut whlaoiut aueenss

34877 o
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All this he said in the Turkish lanpuage. Shih *Abbis
motioned with his hand for him to rise, and with a pleased
expression requested him to come nearer.  Then he asked his
name, of what country he was, through what lands he had
passed, and many other questions.  After this be inquired how
he supported himself in his own country, The gentleman
rE|1huil that he owned land which yielded him a sufficient
income [32], adding that he was a captain in the King of
England's cavalry.

Shih *Abbds replied: *Can you tell me how it happened
that his own ll.ll.lji.':l:i$ cume to behead him, u thing I am unable
to believe, seeing that it would be the greatest piece of dis-
loyalty and andacity that conld ever enter the heads of yreason-
ing beings? | trust yon will tell me the trath without sny
concealment.” The gentleman said : 1 wail tell your majesty
the truth: it took place with great barbarity, in public, upon a
staging, a great crowd being assembled to look on at this event;
among them | mysell was quite close, and out of the desp
affection which T had to my king, I have managed to preserve
a handkerchief dipped in his blood.” Hearing these words, the
king, Shah *Abbis, pluced both hands on his sides, and,
changing colour, exclaimed in an angry voice: *Oh, traitor!
you were in his service and his snbject ; how could you be such
a coward as to allow your king to be behended, being present
yourself at this barbarous deed, without forthwith giving up
your life for him #*

At these words, which issued from the king's mouth with
the sound of a lion’s roar, the gentleman stood dismayed,
specchless, giving hime=ll up as lost.  The king, turning 1o
his suite, said, in the same severe tone: *Take away this
coward and traitor, unworthy to remain in the world, and shut
him up in' a prison-house apart, and thus let the world know
that Shih ‘Abbds cannot suffer in his presence a man who,
calling himsell n gentleman and a valorous captain, could be
present st the beheadal of his king without attempting the
alightest effort in defence of his liege lord.!

Hardly had the king ended this speech when the men who
were on guard [ell upon the English gentleman, disarranging
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his feathers, hair, and garments, which had cost him a whole
night's lnbour, and binding him, they dragged him off to a dark
dungeon, where the poor gentleman expected every moment to
be put to death, lamenting that his own curiosity had been the
canse of this great peril. Meanwhile Clodio und Mestre Pit
(Mr. Pitt) returned sadly to their homes, in shame, with hang-
ing heads, Shiih ‘Abbis’ object was to give a lesson to his own
nobles as to the manner in which thoy should serve their king
and the fidelity they ought 1o display, when the occasion arose,
in defence of their monarch.

After a few days Clodio went to the king and petitioned for
the gentleman’s pardan, and that his release might be gracionsly
ardered. But the king still showed severity, and replied that
such a fellow had no right to live. However, Clodio did not
lose heart, knowing the favour in which he stood. He uttered
some witty remiark which chanced to take the king's fincy,
and, laughing, he said he would grant the man’s liberty if be
(Clodio) wonld give his dog its liberty to remain all its life
with the monarch of Persia. This dog was very clever [33],
and several times the king hod asked Clodio for it but had
always met with a refusal for one reason or another. Now,
finding himself under an obligation to get the gentlemnn re
leased, Clodio was forced to present to the king the dog he
loved so well. Then the gentleman was set free, who that
same day, in the greatest haste, left Isfahfin, apprebending
some further misadventure. When seeing him off, Clodio said
to him that when he had reached Europe he should tmpart to
his friends the honour that had been done him, and Lell them
that the kings of Asin were not devoid of sense.



CHAPTER XVI

OF OUR DEPARTURE FROM ISFAHAN AND ARRIVAL AT THE
PORT OF BANDARABASS! (BAKDAR ‘ARBAS)

WE were now to continue our journey, wherefore we begged
the help of Mestre Jonh (Henry Young), who gave to the
ambassador the assistance he required, We wished to leave
Isfahlin in company of the said Mestre Jonh (Henry Young),
but we could not conclude our business in time. He left
several days before we did, and we left at the end of September
of ong thousand six hundred and ffty-two (1652)2

During onr journey to the town of Xirns (Shiriz) we obtaired
good supplies of food, but the road is somewhat difficult, owing
to the mountain ranges which must be crossed, where horses
are fatigued not a little in trying to keep their fect, But 1 must
allow there is also some fine open cotintry, notwithstanding
there are some very difficult swamps. The mountains are like
all those in Persia—that is to suy, genemlly bare of trees,
though not wanting in fodder for sheep and goats, which in
some places produce the stone called bazar (bezoar).®  Of these
stones 1 will speak when I come to write of the kingdom' of
Gulkhandsh (I11. 59), where there is an abundance of them.

The sheep of Persia are very prolific ; they bring forth young
twice & year, by the help of a grain called chichares,? an which
' The corroct year I c65n’ Henry Young left lLifahkn on Septettber 26,
1]

FFYHM and Burmell, po go, keosr, from Pardan padsshr, * poison sone,! &
w conereiion found ln the siemeih of & wil] gout (s the Perslan provinke ol

* Evidently the Claw avictimes or Pati shicke, n Persion subiiul (Schitimmer,

"Terminologle,' p t38, Trbirdn, tizg). er the Iodian shauss, which Angli-Tndinns
eall ® fram © (from Portugoess grad, * graln '),

EL ]
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they are fed at o cestain time of the year; and their wool is of
the sort already described (1. ).

Finally, at the end of fifteen duys’ travel, we arrived at the
town of Xjras (Shiriz), where we stayed for thirty days, the
ambassader having fallen ill. He received many visits from a
barefoated Carmelite frinr, 8 missionary to the Armenians who
dwell here. The air of this town is very fresh; there are many:
gardens with good fruit, and the country round produces a
quantity of grapes; consequently they make a great deal of
wine, which is exported to all parts of India. Although the
law of the Mahomedans forbids the drinking of wine, still the
King of Persia permits the English to make it {34]; but they
anly produce enough for the company, and not to sell to others.
In this region there is no deficiency of food produced, of
oranges, of lemons, nor, above all, of roses, which they distil,
and the rose-water is forwarded in boxes to all parts.

One of the wonderful things round Shirdz is a famous build-
ing standing ut o distance approximately of two leagues, where
dwelt, ns they declare, the great Darius; King of Persia, who
was defeated in battle by Alexander the Great. There is also a
mountain in which is a cave where drips a liquid called by the
Persians mumihay (mimiyan),t This liguid belongs to the king
exclusively, and thus the cave is closed by doors and guarded
by vigilant sentinels. [t is the business of these men to collect
the liquid (which drips in minute quantities) and then forward
it to the king. When he wishes to make a gift to anyone, he
gives them a little of this liquid. This is on account of the
admirable results it produces—that is, for all bruises, fractures
al bones, ond sores.

1f what they say is true, though I have not made the experi-
ment, should the leg of a cock or other animal be broken and
ot take of the above liquid ten to fifteen drops and give it to

U Aty b Minmen, or Jow's pitchu 1t exudes from cravices in this mouotaine
ol tha Fars provinoe, in which Shirde fiee, ]| L. Schlimmur, “ Torminoioghe « « .
francnise-persane’ (Tubrdn, %74k p. 69, =@y e Pemslans attrilute Lo
miracnlots powsrs. but, ks Masoeel, be never yaw any of the miracie.
ate. A G izilis talls mo the woed ja a tramifoe from *mammy,” the lowerclass

tumamies boing pressrved m phich  Momer's ¢ Hajl Jmaba" descants un the
wirues wf * momad,”
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the animal to drink, at the same time ancinting the wounded
place with it, then, if it is a true story, in twenty-foor honrs
the banes will unite. 1 possessed a little, given me by one of
the king's cunuchs. He hud effected wonderful cores with it.
The principal case was the recovery of @ stonemason who fell
from a great height and lay with his bones broken, blood potr-
ing from his mouth, nostrils, and ears, the man having entirely
lost his senses and being without hope of life. In two days he
was perfectly well.  There is dlso a pond (pemso) whers on the
top of the water floats & ready-made gum which is sold by the
natives as the royal liquid, thus cheating a few simpletons. 1t
is not devoid of virtues, but they are nothing like so great a8
those of the royal liguid.

When the ambassador began to recover his health, we
quitted Shirdz, and in nine days we were at the fort of Lis,
which they say was formerly much larger, with a great enclosed
space. But in the Middle Ages it wias quite small, inhabited
by many Hindus, who bought there the goods brought by
traders from Isfahin and other places, and then exported
them to many countries, principally from the ports of Congo'
and Bandur *Abbis.

During our journey from Shirdz as far as Lar, we were in
excellent health, but were in some concern lest we should not
find water for drinking : for on the roads the water which is:
used is that collected during the rainy season in great cisterns,
The earth being salt, the water which flows over it acijuires
the same property, and thetofore is not potable. For this
reason they preserve water in cisterns, in which there are all
kinds of filth, and it is only out of absolute necessity that one
fecls inciined to drink.

In spite of this defect of water the country was sufficiently
humid, and many places had their gardens of oranges [35), of
palm-trees, and date-trees, bearing dates. In Lar we obtained
sufficient food-supplies, but water only of the quulity already
described.  There was water below ground in channels, us is
the custom over almost the whole of Persin. The fort of Lir

' Yule and Barnell, 246, & part formerly of soms trade, abotit 7oo miles west
of Gombroon {Handar *Allda),
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is placed npon a small hill standing in the midst of four ather
hills of the same size. Thus the fort in time of war Is in want
of protection from good walls and dependent edifices, for any
enemy who occupied the aforesaid hills conld easily attack the
fart.

After & day's rest we left Lir and journeyed through open
and agreeahle country, coming to different ‘sarays' (Jardes),
where we obtained grapes and melons for our consumption.
We moved between hills of salt; we crossed several stroams,
whoss crystal clearness invited us to drink, but their waters
wers 0 salt that no one could even pass them over his tongue,
Ameang the rest is a stream called Eyo Salgado (the river of
salt), over which was & great bridge of more than thirty arches.
In nine days, after sufferings enough, we arrived at Gomomm
(Gombroon), of which the other name is Bandarabissi
{Bandar *Abbasi), meaning * Harbour of Shiah ‘Abbis’; for,
being a port on the sea, it is called * Bander® (bandar), and
having been established by the Great Shih ‘Abbis,! they have
added *abussi,’ and have come to call it Bundambassi, This
harbour was made by Shah ‘Abbs, after having recovered
from the hands of the Partuguese, with the aid of the English,
the famous slandand fort of Oromus (Hormuz).

Horumuz Isiasi,

This iland was formerly the greatest and most frequented
port an the ocean, where dwelt traders to every region in India
—men of great wealth—so that a merchant possessing more
than a million of patacas [about £100,000] was not & man of
very great account. Shith *Abbas considered that by making
himself master of Hormuz, and transferring the port to the
mainland, lying not over a league fram the island, he would be
able to draw all this wealth into Persia, Buot he was frustrated
in his object because the traders were nfraid of his interference.
The island has many hills of salt, and the climate is therefore
prejudicial to life. Notwithstanding this, the Persians are so
jealous about the island that they do not wish a single Euro-
pean to set foot in it.

| Shilli ‘Abbss L reigned 1587 1fin).
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After we had been in Bandar ‘Abbés three days the ambas-
sador ordered me to go to the English factory to speak to the
chief, requesting him to send [36] a trustworthy. person to
discuss certain negotiations of great importance, The chief
sent to him Mestre Pit (Mr, Pitt), who had acted as page to
the English gentleman desirous of speaking to Shih ‘Abbis,
With him there was a full hour's discussion. Next-day the
chief himself came with the officials of the factory to visit the
ambassador. Offers were made to him to serve him in every
way they could. At the time there was an English vessel
belonging to a private owner, about to sail for the port of
Surrati (Sirat). They asked the ambassador to embark in hes,
as she would be the last vessel to leave Bandar *Abbas in that
monsoon, Then we ate mutton which came from Hormuz,
also good and cheap fish caught jn the harbour.

The water at Bandar ‘Abbas is either rain~water or brackish,
and of such bad quality that it disarders the bodily humaours,
and generates worms as lang as vour arm, which appear on the
hands, jaws, and legs. When they begin to show themsalves,
you must lay hold of them by the head, and pull at them diily,
winding them round a bide (3 twig)' or cloth very slowly. For
if thoy break they turn inwards, causing great pain; and
becoming very difficult to cure. For this reason everybody
who can do it sends to fetch water by camels from inland,
three leagues off, atn place called Hixin, The climute of this
port is most noxions by reasan of the sult ridges, and of certain
hot winds, and the noise of the sev. 1 noted that many of the
inhabitants had defective sight and tecth, and I was informed
that on this const, as far as Arabia and Mecca, they suffered
from these ailments by reason of the many dates that they eat;

far the larger number of the inhabitants live upan that frait in
addition to fish.

! Vhave failod 1o troce thils s b fer, s in Part TIL, 157, yie], but =twig !
will saialy the moaning in both pasmges.  Mr, 1 Ferguson writes: 458 Sinhulew
fraffa In the centead Glire of thiy eeonnus or palinyra-eaf, snd broanss are poude
of these. Deshups bile or 3de represents g Malayntam word with above meating,’



CHAPTER XVII

OF OUR ARRIVAL IN THE PORT OF SINDY AND
DEPARTURE FOR SURRATI

Two days after the visit that the Englishmen had paid to the
ambassudor—that isto say, on the fifteenth of December of one
thousand six hundred and fifty-two (1652) [should be 1655]—we
went on bourd the said wvessel. Dunng the whole of our
voyage the captain treated us with great politeness and civility.
Setting sail, we arrived in twelve days, having favourable winds,
at @ part in the Great Mogul's teeritory culled Sindi' Thero
‘the vessel anchored, and we travelled upstream by the river
for & whole night to an inhabited place, which' stood twelve
‘hours’ journey from the ses. This river is a very large one, it
‘being formed of seven rivers which flow down from the interior
of the country, as I will relute hereafier (1. 222). Here we
‘saw miny Ambian and Persian vessels which [37] import great
quantitiis of dates, horses, sed-pearls,® pearl‘.. incense, guims
mastic, senna-leaves, and Jew's stones® which come from
Mecea.  In return they load np with white and black sugar,
butter, olive oil, and cocow, which medical men call nos Tmdsen
(Indian out).* Of this product and its virtues [ will make
mention farther on (111. 232), They alse export many kinds

} Probably idendcal with Lirsbandar in Sind (s Yule, 330, 07, 837).

E Algofres, Yule aml Burnell, 12, 203 Alpfer, tsead penly” sald to be from
Arabrinn olfndar,

¥ The fyn Judeicns, o fapr-of-rafiel, in comidered by the Persians 1o be
ditratic, wod o dimclomt of mones in the bladilr (e §. L. Schilmmer,
*Termimlogle ' (1F7a), 339

¥ For *Indlan nut' (Cotod Wacifira), seo Yule, 2:8. and the guolations fhere
given for 345, 1303, 1358, 3340, T35, 1398, 1610, 1600 A

1)
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of white linen [P cotton cloth] and printed goods, which are
manufactured in the same region.

In the town were three small factories, one English, another
Dutch, and another Portuguese. A barefooted Carmelite
father also dwelt there in his little hermitage? but nowadays
[1698:1640] there are none of these Europeans thers, The
principal city of the country of Sind was at a distance of
twelve leagues from this town, further in the interior; it is
called Tata (Taftah), and is the residence of a governor or
viceroy, who rules over this country, When the business was
finished that our captain had to do at this place, we Jeft it, and
returned to the vessel. Setting sail, we arrived in'a few days at
the port of Siirat on the twelith of January of one thousand six
hundred and fifty-three (1653) [correctly 165F].

As soon as we had anchored milord went ashore secretly,
following the advice given to him by our captain and by &
private trader to seek a refuge in the town. For the Englich
were going to seize him and put him by force on board one or
other of the English vessels, then in harbour and about to sail
for England.* It produced great astonishment in me to ses
how milord landed without breathing a word to me. But 1
heard the reason afterwards when I reached Sirat, bringing all
the baggage which was in my charge. There we found Mestre
Jonh (Henry Young), who had left Persin a short time before
us ; and my master announced that he had come a& an ambass
sadot from the king to the Great Mogul, _

When the governor of Sirat heard of the ambassador's
arrival, he ordered his secretary to pay him & vimt. Tha
message thus brought was that rumour said he had come &s
ambassador, therefore he was requested to state whether this
Was true or not. It was necessary for him (the governor) to

! The Carmelite Mission in Sind was Esinded in 1655 by Péra Johannes 3 fau
Maria, who sent thera Mire Lalovicus Fransiseus & Matre Det, The mimlon was
abandansd a4 some (lats previous 1o Erra, when the Portugumse wern njestid and
irade lad decayed — Mallbayer, * Geschichis,' p 344

¥ See Note A on Lard Bellomont, whers it will bs sean that ilie diroctomy of the
East India Company bad given orders of this description  Henry Young sl
for Somt on Nevember g, 54 in jhn . Diamowd.  Tha Seabirry, with Lond
Bellomont ot board, rmached Swally January 5 {ra), 16).
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send n report to the emperor Xazizhan (Shahjahdn), then
ruling over the empire of the Great Mogul,  The ambussador
replied that it was correct, that he eould write in all canfidence
«nd unnounce his artval, Before 1 say anything of our stay,
I will state something about this port [38}

SURAT-

Three times have 1 visited the port of Strat. It hes on the
lanks of a large river at a distance of nine leagues from the
sea. The first time | was there Siirat was very populous, but
not encircled by walls, its only defence being then a fort on the
batk of the river. On the second and third occasions that 1
visited the port the town had a good wall, made by Omangzeb
(Aurangaeb) on the oecasion of the war with Xevagi (Shiva Jil,
as I shall state in its proper place.!

On my first arrival 1 was much pleased to see such a large
river of sweet water full of ships. These latter were not very
large, for such only as were of moderate size could come up it
unless uhloaded: therefore, they send the cargo in boats as far
as the sed and load there, and from the sea they also send the
cargo inland by boats. It isa great delight 1o take a seat on
the bank of the viver and behold the numerous boats which
shoot to and fro like arrows. It is the largest port in India
and the best river. Thus, it is resorted to by a great number
aof ships from different parts of Europe, Persia, Ambia, Mecca,
Bassora, the consts of Malabar and Choramandal, Massula.
patad(Masulipatam or Machhlipatanam), Bengal, Siam, Acheen,
Oueddah, the Maldives, Malacca, Batavia, Manilla, China, and
marny other parts of the wotld.

Whenever a loaded vessel arives, the Hindu traders go
aboard, and ask if the captain wishes to sell the whole cargo
of the <hip. [If 8o, they pay for it in money, or furnish goods
for the return cargo, whichever is preferred. This is all done
without delays, and merchants can thus nequire whatever mer-

¥ 1 4. 5 the building of wails round Asrangihid and Parhaapor is mentioned.
T cannot find the extry about the Strat wall, Grant Duff {3g, note), relerring 10
thi Trdka Fitane Hecords mnd Thevenot, says the werk was in Sclive progress
sy o 1065,
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chandise they are in search of, and for which they have left
home. On this river are built very fine lofty ships in a very
shart time, everything necessary being found, principally excel.
lent timber; for which reason these ships last much longer
than those made in Europe. '

On my first visit to the port 1 found there 0o mote than two
factories, one English and one Dutch, and & little church
belonging to the French Capuichin fathers, whose superior
was the famous priest Brother Ambrozio. Afterwards the
French came and built o handsanie factory. Thus Siirat,
which was inhabited by rich traders, Mahomedan, Hindi,
English, Dutch, became still more populons by the arrival of
the French. Upon the sea-shore, on the other siille of the
tiver, the Europeans have their gardens, to which they can
retire [30] sbould at any time the Mahomedans attempt to
attuck them. For there, with the assistance of the ships, they
would be able to defond themselves,

I was much amused when 1 landed to see the greater number
of the inhabitants dressed in white clothes, also the many
different kinds of people, as well men as women, The latter,
mostly Hindis, do not conceal the fice as in Persia and Turkey,
where women go nbout with their faces hidden. [t is true that
the Mahomedan women do not allow their faces to be seen by
anyoue, it being contrary to their law. to allow themselyes to be
seen with an wncovered face. '

But among other things T was much surprised to see that
almost everybody was spitting something red as blood. 1
mmagined it must be die 1o some complaint of the country, or
that their teeth had become broken. T asked an English lady
what was the matter, and whether it was the practice in this
cotintry for the inhabitants to have their testh extracted. When
she understood my question, she answened that it was not any
disense, but [due to]a certain aromatic leaf called in the lunguage
of the country pan, or in Portuguese betele.  She ordered some
leaves to be brought, ate some herself, and guve me some to
cat. Having taken thom, my head swam to such AN extont
that T feared 1 was dying. It cavsed me to fall down; I lost
my eolour, and endured agonies: but she poured into my
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mouth a little salt, and brought me to my senses. The lady
assured me that everyone who ate it for the first time feit the
same: effects,

Betel, or pan, iz a leaf similar to the ivy-leaf, but the betel
leaf is longer; it is very medicinal, and eaten by everybody
in India. They chew it along with *arrecas ' fareca), which
physicians: call Avelans Indicas (Indisn filberts), and a little
cadto (kath or kaitha),! which is the dried juice of a certain plant
that grows in Indin. Smearing the befel leaf with a little of
the kafh, they chew them together, which makes the lips
scarlet and gives & pleasant scent. It happens with the
euters of betel, as to those accustomed to take tobaces, that
they are wnable to refrain from taking it many times o day.
Thus the women of India, whose principal bosiness it is to
tell stories and eat befe, are unable to remain many minutes
without having it in their mouths,

It is an exceadingly common practice in India to offer betel
Jeal by way of politeness, chicfly among the great men, wha,
when anyone pays them a visit, offer defel at the time of leaving
as a mark of goodwill, and of the estimation in which they
hold the person who ls visiting them. It would be a great
piece of rodeness to refuse it

T Pinsis AT SURAT.

In Siirat there is a class of men called Phrsis, worshippers of
fire, who in former days were inhabitants of Persia. But when
first the Mahomedan religion got into Persia, the king tried to
force them to become Muhomedans.  For this reason they sent
an embassy to the HindG prince of Siirat, asking him to grant
them permission to emigrate into that country with their
families, where they would become his permanent subjects.
The Hindd prince received the embassy and allowed them to
come, on condition that they should neither slaughter cows nor
eat cows' flesh. He promised them the same rights as his
other subjects. They came to Surat, where unto this duy
there are numbers of them, as also in different villages, and in
the Portuguese territory adjacent to Dapmd (Damiuo).

I The julee of Mimoa mbicks, o0 Uie Matr tree,
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Their religioas belief is such that,if through misadventure
anyone's house takes fire, on no account will he allow the fire
to be interfered with or extinguished, it being, according to
them, the greatest good luck and cause of rejoicing that he
eould have, he believing that his gods have conferred on him
an especial gift and fayour, in return for the adorations he has
paid to them. And if ever, through negligence, the fire goes
out in any of their houses, a fire that all of them maintain
with especial care, there is great lamentation; much more than
they would make if their nearest relation had died. After
such a mushap the owner has recourse to his priest, begging
his: pardon for the crime he has committed in allowing the
extinguishment of his household fire. The wsual penance im-
posed is that the culprit must invite a number of familiss
of the highest position among them. When these have all
collected, well-washed and well-clad, they go off to the priest's
house, and he, in their presence, makes a speech to the house-
holder, and at the end of it delivers fire from his own house.
This they carry, with a gmnd armay of trumpets snd drums,
and wrriving at the sinner's house, he is obliged to give them
all a feast. These people have made a vow never to go upon
the sexu, in order not to defile it, since the sea unfailingly
induces vomiting ; and in gratitude for the benefits it has done
to them they hold it in this great respect.

It happened at the time when I was in Strat that Shih-
jahin, King of the Great Mogul, sent a severe reprimand to
the governor because he had not acquired 2 lovely pearl of
great value and forwarded it to the conrt. The reader shonld
know that the governors sent by the king to Strat are persons
of mnk, men highly thought of and favoured by the king.
These men have orders [47] to buy all things that are most
beantiful, precious, and rare, and send them to the king.
Yet this pearl passed through without the knowledge of the
governor, and reached the king, who bought it at a fair price.
Then he issued the aforesaid reprimand once more, enjoining
on the governor to tuke special care to buy all the best things
that came to that port, more especially pearls and horses,
which come from Arabis and Persia. For all these things are



BELLONONT LEAVES SCRAT 3

uséd by the king as gifts to the princes and the court officials.
Therefore he searches with great exactness through all
merchandise to find out if there is anything rare ar valuable,

We remained for seventy-five days in that port—i.c., Sirat—
the revenues of which had been given by Shah Jahidn to his
daughter, Begom Saeb (Begam Sahib), to meeét her expenditure
on befel.  During this time we were making our preparations
for going on to the court of the Great Mogul. [ was much
grutified at seeing such plenty in this place, for T had never
had such a satisfaction since [T left] my Venice, and felt prond
at staying some days in this port, especially after the arrival
of the French. During the time we remained the English
never ceased to offer a thousand civilities to milord, the
ambassador., But his troe friends told him not to trust them,
for all they did was in order 1o get hold of him and carry
him off to England. They did their very best once to persuade
the ambassador to go on hoard of an English vessel, then
abaut to depart for England, under the pretext of offering him
a banquet with all the state befitting his dignity. But the
truth’ was that they wanted to confine him in the ship, and
be most politely made excuses. Then we began to get together
our baggage, for which purpose the ambassador was in want
of funds. Mestre Jonh (Henry Young) secretly offered to
supply all that was required, whether in money or in different
sorts of goods, among the latter some fing broadcloth, a
handsome clock, an Arab horse for a present to the king,
with swords, pistols, matchlocks, and numerons European
playthings. We started from Sarat, bearing a passport given
us by the governor, and in ffteen days we reached the town
of Brampur (Burhi&npur), where was the court of the prince
Aurungzb, with whom we had much to discuss: We did
not meet with him, by reason of his being at that time in
Orangabad (Aurangdbad) | 42].

YOr.. L. 5
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OF THE TOWN OF BERAMPUR (BURHANPUR), AND OF AUR
ARRIVAL IN AGRA (AGRAH), AND DEATIT OF THE AMBAS.
SADOR

We found Brampur (Burhinpur) a town of medium size, and
without & wall. Aurangzeb, in the year one thousand six
hundred and seventy-six, being then absolute king, cavsed it
to be enclosed by a bulwark and wall along the bank of the river
which flows beneath it. This river is not very large, but its
walers are very clear and good. The town is much frequented
by Persinn and Armenian traders, on account of the many
kinds of excellent cloth manufactured there, chiefly vartous sorts
of women's headdresses (fowca) and cloth for veils (beatdlha),
scarlet and white, of exceeding fineness ;' also for the quantity
of iron to be procured there, _

In this town there is plenty of fruit, such as amb (ambak) or
mingas (mango)—the best fruit to be found in India—oranges;
limes, citrons,® and prapes in abundance. There is also in this
town, as throughout the kingdom of the Mogul, a large supply
of vegetables of various sorts. On the road to this town we
found every day different streams and brooks with good water,
also villages, shady and pleasant woods, peopled with many
varieties of animals of the chase, such as harts, stags, guzelles,
wild oxen (ores), peacocks, cooing doves, partridges, quail {eor
dernizes), blackbirds (lorde), geese (fatto), ducks (ades), widgeon

1 As t0 these poodd, se= Tavemier (Ball's sdition), L &1

¥ The text his soras, which Me, D, Feryuson proposes (o peil sidess = sdims =
‘eitrons,”  Ho bos many inuances be can adduce whire In Pottugtisse wozks
Hmsons (limes ur lemoms) and advas {cirrons) fallow mach other wn wuch lists of
tropical friite. 1 Bave adopied bis emandation,
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(marecas), and many sorts of hirds. I would warn the reader
never to stray far from his companions, because he might come
across robbers in these woods, When they find any person
apart from his company they rob him. I was very near falling
into their hunds, for, having gone some distance from the rest
of the caravan, 1 had got off my horse. I was about to shoot
at a peacock with my matchlock, when ull of & sudden there
came out towards me two men with bows and arrows, wheo
with signs and calls invited me to approach them. But L
apprehending what they wanted, went on my way in the
direction the rest of the company had gone, never ceasing to
have an eye upon those men. These, seeing me choose a
different direction, placed arrows in their bows, and, hastening
their pace, eame after me, tryving to overtake me. Seeing that
otherwise 1 could never escape them, 1 stopped und put my
matchlock to my cheek as if I meant to fire. Frightened at
my firmness, they pliced their hands on their heads as a sign
of politeness, and, turning their backs, fled with even more
agility than they had followed me. T continued on my way in
dread of a sunilar [43] encounter, and thus | learnt never more
to lenve the rest of the travellerss, and I put off my longing to
go out shooting until we should reach some place or village.
Then I went out to shoot, and without hindrance killed what-
ever I wished, there being no scarcity of things to kill

We delayed cight days in Burhinpur, then, resuming our
journey, we came in six days to a river called the Narbada,
where there was a town called Andiik (Handiyah) : there was
also on the bank of the above-named river a little fort situated
at the crossing-place. This river is of great breadth, and full
of large stones. [Its waters divide the lands of the Dacan
{Dakhin) from thoss of Industun (HindisiZn), which word
means ' Hinddam ' (gentilidade, place of the heathen).

We crossed the river, and after going eight days. through
jungle, we arrived at a large town called Seronge (Sironj),
which in old days was founded by a Hindd prince, but at
present the overlord thereof is the Grand Mogul. This town
lies in the midst of the territories of several Hindii princes of
the Rajput tribe.  Of these the nearest and the most powerful

5—z2
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is the Rajah Champet Bondela (Champat Rae, Bundelah),
whose country extends to twenty leagues from Agra (Agrah),
and he has command over fifteen thousand horsemen and three
hundred thousand infantry.

In this town is made much cloth, both white and printed ;
Armenian traders dwell there, who buy the cloth and send it
to various parts. Sometimes European traders come there to
do bosiness in this cloth,

1t happened that more than once the said Champet Bondela
(Champat Rae, Bundelah) came to plunder this town, oo
aceount of certain dissensions between him and the Mogul
king. For this reason it was always garrisoned by a con-
siderable force of Mogul cavalry under a general. In spite of this
the fighting was not put an end to; there were many battles, in
which on many occasions the Moguls had the worst of it. By
reason of these Hindi princes, these routes are very dangerous
for travellers, For the use of wayfarers there are throughout
the realms of the Mogul on every routs many * sarais * (sarde).!
They are like fortified places with their bastions and strong
gates; most of them are built of stone or of brick., In every
one is an official whose duty it is to close the gates at the going
down of the sun.  After he has shut the gates, he calls out that
everyone must look after his belongings, picket his horses by
their fore and hind legs ; above all, that he must look out for
dogs, for the dogs of Hindustin are very cunning and great
thioves. 1 may find a good opportunity [44] to speak of the
cunning of these dogs (111, 152).

At six o'clock in the morning, before opening the gates, the
watchman gives three warnings to the travellers, erying in a
loud voice that everyone must look after his own things. After
these warnings, if anyone suspocts that any of his property is
missing, the doors are not opened until the Jost thing is found.
By this means they make sure of having the thief, and he is
strung up opposite the sede. Thus the thieves, when they
hear a complaint made, drop the goods somewhere, so as not
to be discovered.

These sardes are only intended for travellers (soldiers do not

| See wlao | 51 for s acoount of i
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go into them), Each one of them might hold, more or less,
from Ho0 to 1,000 persons, with their horses, camels, carriages ;
and some of them are even larger. They contain different
rooms, halls, and verandas, with trees inside the courtyard, and
many provision shops ; alsa separate abodes for the women and
men who armange the rooms and the beds for travellers. 1 will
speak hereafter of the deceits of all these, when 1 come [L., 71]
to talk of the sultan Amayum (Huméytin).

We halted four days in Sironj, and then went on gor way
acrgss maccessible mountains; with numerous beautiful trees,
and traversed by crystal streams whose waters are most wholi-
some, doing no harm to those who drink them fasting; rather
are they beneficial and most palatable.  In six days we reached
the town of Narvar (Narwar),' which lies at the foot of a great
range of hills six leagues in circumference,  On the very highest
point of these hills is a fortress, which occupies all the level
ground on the summit, with a circumference of two miles—a
little more or lss—with many houses and rooms, & work made
long ago by the Hindds, But in the conrse of years, and by
the inclemency of the weather, the walls are crumbling away,
through the negligence of the Mogul king. His object s to
destroy all the strong places of the Hindis of which he can get
possession, so that their conquered princes may not rebel against
him. His only anxiety is to fortify und supply the [orts that
are on the frontiers of his kingdom.

We did not halt ut this place (Narwar), but pressed onwards.
In five dayvs we arrived at the well-known fortress of Gualior
(Gwiliyir), where it is'usual for the Mogul to keep as prisoners
princes end men of rank,  This fortress is on the top of @ great
mountain having a cireuit of three leagues. It is in the middle
of a fertile plain, and thus there is no other high ground from
which it could be attacked. There is only a single road to
asceénd it, walled in on both sides, and having many gates to
bar the way, each having its guard and sentinels. The rest of
the [45] hill is of rock, perpendicular as a wall, though made by

1 Bes Tiaflznthaler's description of Narsar (whese be lived many years) In

Baraouilli's * Beachieibung,® vol, &, p 116, and the plan No, 4 In ihe appendis
thereto.
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Nature. All around this mountain are to be seen many bal-
canies, lanterns (7 kiosks), rooms, and verandas, in different.
styles of architecture, with Hinda scalptures, all of this making
the view most agreeable and pleasant to the wsitor.

On the crest of the mountain is a great plain, on which are
sumptuous palaces with many balconies and windows of various:
kinds of stone, and delightful gardens irrigated from many
crystal springs, where cypress and other lovely trees raise their
heads aloft, so as to be wvisible from a distance. Within this
fortress 15 manufactured much oil of jasmine, the best to be
found in the kingdom, the whale of the level ground on the
summit being covered with that shrub, There are also in this
district many iron-mines, of which numerous articles are made
and sent to the principal cities in the Mogul country.

In the town, which lies at the foot of the hill, there dwell
many musicians; who gdin a livelibood with their instruments;
and muny persons maintain that it was on this mountain that
the god Apaollo first started Hindi music

Continuing our route, we came in three days to the miver
called the Chambal, at which 5 the town named Dolpur
(Dholpur), where Aurangzeh zave battle against his brother
Dard (Dara Shukoh), in the year one thousand six bundred and
fifty-six [correctly, 1658), at which 1 was present, and to which,
further on, 1 shall refer [1. 182-184). Thence, in four duys, we
arrived at the city of Agrah, having ended by doing foar hundred
and sixty leagues, for such is the number reckoned from Strat
as far as Agrah. Al this place the governor assigned to us a
handsome house to stay in. _

We remained in this city, of which 1 will speak on a future
occasion (1. 83), and, a few days after our arrival, the English-
men who at that time were present st their fictory came to
visit the ambaseador, showing themselves desirpus of being
useful to him, making him frequent and handsome offers. But
these the ambassador would in no way accept.  After severul
visits they invited him to their house, where they gave him a
splendid feast, with dressed meats and beverages after their
style. The ambassador compluined very miich of the great
heat that has to be endured in that country, and the English
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offered him a powder, declaring that if he mixed it pod drank
it he would experignce great reliel and coolness,

Whet a few days hid passed we resumed [46] our route for
Dely (Dihl), where at that moment the king, Shihjahin, was
Eving. Then, after three days from our leaving Agral, towards
the evening, when in-sight of the place where we meant to halt
for that night, the ambassador called out to me in great pain,
atking me for water. Then he expired without allowing me
thie to give it to him, those being the last words that he
uttered. He died on the twentieth of June of one thonsand six
hundred and ffty-three [cormectly, 1656], at five o'clock in the
evening. We carried the body at once to a sarde called Orel
(Hodal), between Agrah and Dihli, and, it being already late,
we did not bury him that night. The official at the sarde sent
notice to the local judicial officer, who hastened to the spot,
and, putting his seal on all the baggage, laid an embargo upon
it. 1 usked him why he seized and sealed up those goods. He
answered me that it was the custom of that realin, and that he
could not release the things until an order came from court,
they being the property of an ambassador.

After soven haurs of the night had passed, we removed the

body of the defunct from the palanquin in order to enshroud it,
and, as day began to dawn, we proceeded to Iny him in the
grave. Taking him by the arms, [ tried to lift him, but, while
in my hands; a blister burst from which exhaled such a fetid
odour that all those standing by nearly fainted and fell down.
We were foreed to cease ta lift him, and await the day. When
day arose we somehow or other pat him into a coffin, with all
‘the haste that the odour compelled, and interred him on the
bank of a reservoir which adjoined the town, marking the spot
so that his bones might be transported elsewhere, as accorded
with the rank of suchw person.. And as a fact they removed
the remains after fifteen months to the city of Agra (Agrah).

Having interred the ambassadar, the seevants all disappeared,
and 1 was left alone, sad upd anxions, having nothing to console
me, nor anywhore to turn in order to recover my things, which
had been sealed up by the official along with the ambissador's,
ulthough all the keys were in my possession [47].



73 LORD BELLGMONT

HENRY BARD, VISCOUNT BELLOMONT

Manueci's Lond Bellomont 35 an historical personnge, o Cavalier whiost
biography will be found wnder his name (Heory Bard) in the * Dictionary of
Mational ‘Biography,' wol ik, por7s-  Thar accounty, in spite of i giving
much interesting information, cannot be: called satisfactory, being 10 many
places not only deficient, but incorrect.  The most fmportant polots are :
(1) Erraneous year of birth ; (2) emission of Bard's doings in Persia asd
India ; (3) emoneous place and year of death

First, then, as to the year of Bard's birth.

He was born ar Swmines, Middlesex; where his futher, the Rm'Gm:E
Bard, was Vicar (died 1616) ; but | am informed by the present Vicar, 1k
Rev. $. Theodore Wood, that the earlisst panish records date from 16441
noe is thete any register at Eton College of a dute early enough to show
whin H. Bard entered nnd left that school.  Fartunately, through the king:
ness of Mr. W. H. Macaulay, M.A,, of King's College, Cambridge, I Kave
obiained a valuable note deawn up by Mr. ] €. Clirke, the barsar’s ¢lerlo
From this it appesrs that Board was admitted & scholar on August 23, 1632,
at the spe of sixteen ; thus the vear of binh must hove been 1615 or 1616,
and not 1oy, as in the * Dictionary of National Biography,! On Angust g,
1635, he wus almitted u Fellow, took his degres of BA. in 1636, and censed
to be u Fellow ut Michaelmas, 1645 (oo doubl owing te his marrhige)
There i3 no record of his proceeding M.A. :

In a M5. Cawmlogue of the Provouts, Fellows: etc.. by Jolin Hall {wha
came to King's College in 1645}, is the following : * Henry Bard travelled on
foot (what possibly might be so passed) in France, Germany, Laly, Turkey,
Palestine, Arabia, Egypt, etc.  When he came hume he gave to the college
A fir Alcornn in Ambic, which he had 1o that end purchased in Egype.
He came home 4 little before the time that King Charles set wup his standsed
at Notungham [1643] He went into the King's nrmy, whare for his worth
he was soon made 4 Colonel, He wasa man of very personable body, auid
of & stoul and undaunted courage.  He was made prisoner at Ailsford hght,
in Haupshire, near Winchester, being very much wounded : he there lost
the use of ano of his arms.  But he was soon releused, and at his coming to
Oxdord, the King's hendquarters, lie had the command of lirgade com-
mitted to him, and was made Knight Baronet, October 1ty 4, il sodn
after Viscount Bellomont,! sill continuing Fellow of this coullege unil he
married. He was sent by His Majesty the King of Scots from Briges in

lunders Ambassdors (o the Grest Mogul, in which embassy he died { 1&56}.' :

! Created, on July 9, 1844, Rason Bard of Dromboy, Co. Meath, and Visount
Bellnmont of Ca. Dubiin,

* John Hall, born at Windsor; M.A. in 1653, appoinesd o a enllege liv
in HEEI!IHII. siebn; died ahoot 1h73 (ses British Misesm MB, M ﬂ;,‘
w.tuhum:mlhmﬁmnummhcmhidgu.'vﬂm;nlsn} N
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The Qurin iz still preserved in the college fihmry, and the following
description i taken from Ur M. R. Jamies's * Catalogue of King's College
MES." (18981 : “No. 30, A Koman of cent. xvi, svil. On paper 74 +4, with
two illaminated pages st the beginning, and the following inserption :

4 Henricus Bard, Eques Auratis of Baronettus [postea Vicomes
Hellomontanus], Collegli Regulis Socius, postquam Coflegiali com-
meaty impetrato Eropam Aslam et Africam maxima ex parte perhias
trassit, hunc librum JEgypte allatom amoris simal et peregrinationi
monumentum Collegio Regali dedicavit, May 28, 1644

In the life of Chares Mason (1816-1677), * Dictionary of Natianal Bio-
graphy, meevl., 416, and in Thomas Hurwood's ' Alummis Etonensis,
233 (under date AD. 1653, Car. L, 8, it Is said that H. Bard entrusted
Mison with the manuseript account of his early ravels. 1 havenot been able
to trace this manuscript ; it 13 not a1 King's College.

Next. as to the embassy to Persia and Indin. Miss Eva Scott, in her
receni work, *‘The King in Exile' (1905), p. 285, speaks of Bard’s appoint-
ment as Ambassador 1o Persta and Moroceo ; beyond that fact she has no
information. A rough draft of bis instructions, unduted, 1 to be found ut
the Bodleiun, in the Carte M55, vol. cxxx, fol. 144, and Miss Scott assignm
this document to 1650, The terms of this draft are as follows ;

* IRSTRUCTIONS Foi ouk RiGHT TRUSTY AND WELLRELOVED VISCOUNT
BELLAMONT NOW WY U3 EMPLOYED AS OUR EXTRAORINARY
ANDASEADOUR 10 riie Espreiouns oF FERSIA AND MoROCCTSE.

* 1. You shall beginne your journey with what speed you may, and <hall
repaire firsi 10 eyther of those rinces s shall e most cammadiows for yol

% When yon come to the Emperour of Persia you shall at your first
atdience deliver our letters to lim, und shall as you have oecusion acguaint
him jarticularly with the circumstances of the King our late royal father's
murther, und with the procesding of the rebells since, and that the grounds
upon which they proceede are such as ure destructive to all Monarchy, and
ayme only 1o set up the power of the peaple, thut sccordingly they entdeavour
w0 exclude us from the right of our syccession, have seised out revenew,
palaces, jowells, plate, and royal omaments, together with our flecte, custles,
fomis, and forces within our Kingdome of England, of all whichthey now
snkee wae 1o invade and disturbe our right in oor ether Kingdomes, and that
though we Bave considerable forces under our present command. yet the
Kingdome of England bemyg by much the greatesy, richest, and hest
populos of our dominions, we are much distressed for want of money to pay
our armies and supply our other important occasions,

* 5 You shall therefore propose 10 the Emperour to fournish v with Sonie
comsiderable summe of present mouey for vur assistance in this great exigence
‘of our affalres, and (o pay it unto you for our vae 10 be returned or conveyed
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i wa, and we leare it o you to particularise the stimie acconding to y*
hopes yuu shall lave of obieyning the sume when yout are vpon the place

*2. You shall engage our rayall wonde for the repayaient of this sune
Chrmint or ebewhere within the Emperours dominions asd sootie s we ahall
b sertiled in jost sights of our kingdom of England. [

"5 We authorise you in like monmmer to negotinte with the Emperor of
Maroceas (1) and to procure what money ot cnn from him for our assistanca
{the lke with the Prince of Georgin),

"6 You shall advise with Mr. John Webster? of Anisterdium how matey
may be returned from eyther of those places to Amstenlam or other pait for
our survice, or bow you may dispose of any commodities you shall receyve to-
DLy fibe _

'7 You shall not pay any of the money you shall receyye tmt by spetiall
atdor from ourselfe under our hands except i be for your owne charges and
far necessary dishursements in the service, and you shall kespe very sseret
from the knowledge of all persons except those that are trsted with this
regacation what money you shall procue for vs in this athployment.

*2. You shull keepe constant correspondence with our ‘secretary. Roben
Long, exq.* and thall fromi tyme to tyme signify your proceedings and
success to o who will give va an account thereof when FOu cannot imme-
dintely send to ourselfe

¢ The like mstructions you are to ohserve in the rest 6f the kingdomes you
goe mto,'

Endorsement.  * Instructions for Lord Baed.  Mr. Mason drew the othier.:
whereof 1 huve noe copy!

| Infer that these instructions were drawn up in 1631, and not in 1650, for the.
following reusons.  In the same volume of the Carte MSS., fol. 238, there is
another draft better of # similar charscter, adidressed 1o ' Mulsy Mahornen Clies,
Kinge of Maroccos, Fer, Sus,and Ginie?s [ hak no day or month afigel,
but professey to bave been prepared in the * thied yeare of our Reigne,' and'
ta be given ‘At the bead of our Army in our Kingdome of Scotland’  Now,:
the third year begay in January, 1651, and Charles crossed the Horder 1m0,
England early in Auguat, 16511E., Scott, ¢ King in Exil,' pp- 301, 303) | there-
fore the drafi was written between lanunry and August, 1651, and | presumne
# s the * other’ referred 10 10 the endotsement to the Persis instractinn,
and thus both would be of about the same date- 1t i pansible that thise

' This juhn Webeter appesrs in £ Scott's ' Ring in Exlie,' p, 3go, being ssked
(v033} 10 try and tevictaal Dinotier Casle  Fn 1s abso mantionsd i conneetinn
with Amutendam in €. [, Lyoo's * Porsonal History," p, 26 Jenn, 1640)

¥ See “ Dletlonary ol National Hiography.” saxiv. do7. Maids s Barsmet

Septesiber 1, 1660, dind in 1673; ) it of tavonr sarly in 16527 divminsed: in
1643, restored vo favour in 164,

* Mubammad [0, of the Elnasn

¥ Shaeif Tine, who relgnad 1635104y (S, 1o
Poole, * Mabumedun Dynastiss,’ 61) T
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lotters were in existence i about June, 1951, for, as Mr, W. Foster has
Kindly informed me, a3 court held oy june 2o, 1651, ibe coftimittes ol
the then East Indip Company resolved @ * The Court having intelligence that
thirs wiis & designe of sending some person by the King of Semland or the
late Quoens of England to Persta to obstruct the Company’s tmde, and they
conmidering how prejudicial it might prove unto them, il effected, They
‘ondered Mr. Sambimoke to wiite a letter to their President and Councell at
Suratt requiring them in case any Englishman or other shall asrive there
with any letter or commiasion either from the King of Scolts or his mother
with a purpose ta interrupt the Company’s trude, thay they should seize upon
him as a prisoner and retirn him for England with the first opportumity.
‘The germ of this nsane attempt to obtin money from Persia is pobably
to be tmoid to & letter in French (endated) from one Hogin Pedrd
(Klwijah Petrils), suon of Sefer {Safar), u Versian Cheistinn (Carte MSS5.,
vol, exsx., fol. 145) It was probably nddressed to the Queen Mother,
Henrietta, and Is & proposal to intercept the Customs dues of Hormus, balf
of which bid besn roceived since the Treaty of 1623 by the East India
Company s ageats, who are held ap as rebels and embezders.  Petrus offers
‘1o collect the dims on the King's behialf, and remit two-thirds of the proceeds
to Amsterdium or Paris [ on, in the aliztmative, proposes that somentie be
seut to Persin with him to receive therp two-thirds of the proceeds an His
Majesty's behall
We have no record of the reasons for abandoning the projectod visits to
Moroceo and to Georgia, nor hmve we any orace of Band's appoisment o
Ambassador to the Great Mogul,  Ovigmally, 53 it would appeas, that em-
ployment was assigned to Sir Andrew Cogan (who died 1660), the founder of
Madms.,  Atths Louves, on April 11, 1652, Churles 11, appainted Sir Charles
(i showld be *Andrew *) Cogun, Enight and Buaronet, as * Ambassador Extra-
ordituiry to Chinn, the Mogul, Japan, the Kings of Golcondes, Pegu, nnd
Siam, nnd the Privces and Poientates of the East Indies.! The authority
guored i Uirake's ' Hundred of Blackheath,' . 7% note 3 {n work | cannot
find), This eniry was commumiimted by Sir CGentge Musgrave, Barone, of
Edenhall, Cambesiand (s descendunt of A Cogan), to Mr. J. Livingstone Jay,
tremaarer of Giresnwich Hoapital, by him to Mt. W. Duncombe Pink, of
Lowtan, Newton-le-Willows, atid by Mr. Tink wome.  The year 1634 in the
*Complete Haronetage’ of Mr. G E. Cokayne, vol. i, p- 304, which restsom the.
same authorities; should be 1652, In any case, Amlrew Usgan ever relurned
to the East; he was at Venice on Febmary 7, 1653 (Calender of Clarendon
Stie Papers, vol. (i, po 170, No. 979, (5); and Hyde, writing to Nichalls
an April 11, 1655 (4af, vol. B, p 193, No. 1068) days: ' Sir A. Cogan is not
an excellent gmbassadior,  Presumably, this is an allusion to hus selection as
Ambassudar to [ndia and the Farther Enst, and probably fed 10 the subit.
tution of Henry Bard, Viscount Bellomant.
i Bellomont's Letters of Appolntment wete drawn tp in Jung, 1651, how
came it to pasé that no start was made 4] late in 16557 | guess that the
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cause was want of funds, [ have not met with any direet evidence of the
date on which Bard sailed § it ean only be inferred spproximately from oither
dates.  Several statemients sre found that Charles [1, was Bruges when
Bellomont was despatched.  Now, is fiir as I can make out from 1. Lyeu,,
*Personal  History of King Charles the Second! {1851), and OO Aft_'}"l
"Charles 11! (1904), Charles fanded m France on Cctaber 16, 1651 (Airy,
p- 1o6), and did not leave it again until Jaly 8, 1654 (it poind. Hedid
not-settle at' Bruges until April 23, 1650 (i, P 150), and this is oo late 1o
allow of that place being his reshdence when he yave suthority to Bellomaont.
It is naticeable thar Manacei says Charles I, was “in, Frange! when,
Bellomont started from Venice,

We leam from the Aleppo letter quoted below that Bellomont earried wiili
him recommendutory letters from the States General of Holland 10 their
agents at Idahin. The Commonwealth was then at war with Holluml,
hostilities beginuing in Apiil, 1652, and peace being made in May, 1654
(#ee 5 R Gardiner’s * History of Commonwealth, val. ii., pp. 316, 370, 1 have
not been able to procure any confirmation from the Dutch archives that any
such letiers were issued ; but, pssuming the fuct, they must hiave been
anterior o the peace of May, 1654 Professor C. H. Firth has been Eini
enough to ‘furnish me witly 2 eapy tf a letter written from Aleppo on
March 10, 1654-53  (Mercorius Yolitlens, No. 2t, Joly 5 o 13, 1655,
PP 5466, 5467).  Nine duys before its date the East india Company's agent ot
Aleppo hud recetved letters from Persin bt which it was stated that *s pre-
tended ambassador from the fate King of Scots at Cullen is come to the
Persian Court with purpose to desturb the Campanics wilaiis (here, and
Lo obtain the rights of Qrmus Chstoms. from them, huving recoin ¢
Jetters (which if troe were dithiless obitained m the time of the war] from
the States of Holland to the Duteh in thess parts i xesist him theremn; unto.
whum lie hath written to Spaian {Isfahn) from Khaslien (Caowinl—whiese thie
Enperor thim kept his Court—to that purposm. . o '

Munveei's date in the text, 1651, s hopelossly wrong, und the same
chronological error recurs in his * Storia ! for many. yeani up to ahout 1680,
But by caleulating backwands from several imimpeachable dates, it it possible
to amive approcimately ol the petind when the jonrmey from Venice com-
menced, viz'. late in 16353, :

lu 2 yeneral letter from tyfubian (Indis Office, 0,C. 2420), dated Chctober
'4: 1653, we find that they hud just heard there of Bellomont's arrival ot
Tabrix. Mamvecls test (i, 35) fives sepiember as the month of wrvival
ar Qarwin, and elsewhere (L. 23) he states thar on the Joirney he saw gy
eclipse of the sun wt Zulfah iy Armenls, Dr, Downing, of the Nantieal
Almasac Office, has been kind enough 1o verify this, and fives f1. 0% an
eclipse of August 12, visg, which would have been visible at that place
Assuming that they reached Qaswin on September by 1654, | calcutate from
Manucci's entries of halts s joumeys thay 20b days were occupied (say six
months and twenty duys) from their linding a1 Smyrna until (heir aerival
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al Quewin, Deducting this number of days, we yet Fehirnary 11, 1654,
as the date of arrivid at Smyron, and sinee the voyage w Smyrna lad occupied
fout tonths, we obiain October 15, 1633, as:the npproximate date of seting
sill from Venice. This corresponds fauly well, as o the month; with
Manpcci, who says it was November. | hine not been ably to secure dny
verifrcatiom an this subject fron the Venetian archives.

As to Bellamont's procesdings in Persin, Manucel's text nuist be refierred
10 as the only full account which has come down to us. Some additional
facts are disclosed in the East Indin Company's records; now ar the India
Otfice, and these suficienily confirm Manueci's story.  An extract from John
Spiller's und Hepry Young's lotter from lgfabin of Ocioler 14, 1634, is a8
forllow 4

o » The premendoned were no soongr sealed, but by advises from
Tabreers & we wern Informed that there was an English embassador artived
i those parts by way of Turkey, huveing 3 English men more in his comp!
and was roe® by all the Kings Governo® w'* greate respect ; o also o leter
to y* cheife of y* Carmelite Order heere in this place confirmes and sayes the
Enlmssailor goes by the name of my Lol Helamont, and so muck does
spe frenchimens Lefs avery that were sent from Khorhion where thin King
il kiesprs His Cotires bt ab those advises date e had oot spoken 'w™ the
King, whoe for some reasons defered awhile 1o admin him unto his presents,
one we are jold is (o inquire out exactly the gualiitie of the person, and
import of his message, that he may recelve respect acconlingly for when
wee henrd of him fissts W' was fno Alerwan (Enivan), we were informed
thiat hee wits nne of the Palsgraves hrothers, and so wout for currant awhile;
byt ffterwards (o be gs above menfoned, but there are so inany reports mised
of him it wie cainot now say what e i85 though we have wrytten and
made muche inguine 1o finde it out 3 nor beleive shall not wustly, wntill our
Linguiss wrytes us, whoo & gong to Court about our Custirtes and somi
other businesses, of which the embmssador is none of the leaw, though in o'
petition 1o the Ammaam Dowlatt, we have not In y* least made mention
of Himi.

$The 24 ladt month [September 1634] we rec” by the Pashaw of Pusrornhs
#erv™ advises from thut place dated the 18 Apgust and w® them letters from
the Conaull of Alleppo of the 2 Jme n w*™* we were given to mmderstand
that tha begimning of Apcill last a pescs sas conclinded betwist us and the
Hullznilers | so we cannot thinke les but that the Eagle or such Shipps ae
yot intend forth for these pars, will bring out the Anticles thergof, and that
we Ghall have shipps in Band' suddaisely. Wherefore Mr. Young is now
fourying thither, w™ what estale wee have of yo© ready in cash ; and John
Spiller intends 1o follow as soone as he recerves some newes fram Court, of
the aforomencomed Embassadars procesdings.

4 O thimy by all the informalon that we have yet rec is thar he seekes
for v right of Custbenes of Gumbroon | and for his dssistance thevein, Lath
brotghil recofenditory letters from the States of Holland, w™ we are per-
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swaded 1o give credence to ; being (o our knowledg hee hath wrytten to the
Cheife of the Doich heere : thersftre wie imny easily fdi that he is not on
our sithe, bmt against us; but we hape ¥ he will doe yo' affaires litle hu §
espetially now the prementoned peace w* the Dhuich s concluded ; w*™ by
aur severall letters to Court the next day after we rec? the newes, we have
spread shroad W' divers other particulars, as we rec? them ifrom Alleppa. .. =
[0.C. 2420 ' )

Search in the Dutch Archives st the Hague has produred o trace of the
supgested recommendatory letters from the States Ceniers] : but these Is fn
record a Dutch tremslation of an lallan Jdetter frem Bellomont to Philips
Angel, the Dutch company’s chief merchant and agent in lyfab@n Tt lndaged
Quiwin, September 23, 1654, N.5. The onginal was received in Tytalin
i Uvtober 22, and the translation was sent from Gomliroon 1o Amsterdam
on November 16 165c: it is tn the lollowing effect -

*Claziln,
*Thee 23vd Septembor, Nrw ST, 1054
'Sk AND FRIEND,

‘Lam sending you the accompanying [leweer] from Mr. Edward
Wijdenberck, alony with these two or three lines by way of salutation, and
theretn | add thas you must met nccerd credit to what is said here, thar pentn
bas bioen made: with the wnnaturil monsters,  The Devil is enpahile of much;
and il 1his peace was made by him it cannit enidure, ne will sson be dis-
overed.

* Moreover, baving heard of your gominess of heart combined with much
prudence, [ greatly rejoice 10 have found & person of such wreat considers-
tion in these regions with whom 1 ean take founsel; and assuredly, as soon
as possible, 1 shall transfer myself {0, lsfalidn in order to- procure thay high
bonuut.  Here we luve entered & little into business, bt have been able to
conclude pothing, tntil 1 know things better, and in this, by God's ETACG,
Your Hononr's advice will be of great benefit to the king.

“In his (the king's) detter | am stylod “eousin,® and be states, for bl
Fersian Majesty's information, all my titles.  As ane reason of Bt NUCCess
is tha fact that { present trysell here with & 10 16 followers mly, while not
many days ago the Mostych (7) etivoy left this attended by two 1o 1liree
hundred metic  The secrmd reason i that in regard money, when giving
A morsel to ope, the other is npening his mouth. [The passage is obacare.]
But this diffculty cin be smberdood by those coming theolgh Tiakey. |
carefully soaght oppartunity 10 make it known that for many yeard we have
wuffered, and our muans are exhausted. Where can we find [money] o
uphold our position?  Finally, they have been satisfied here with this
esplanarion.

' Whenever anything is pald to me T shall try not to give to the Wikgi'ah-
navis [tredsurer 2] 3 “casbegi™ () of the coin I am soliciting for ary
king, bmt the same «hall be placed in your hands in order to be transferred
to those of the king. Then, | shoald retirm again: by way of Aleppe, after
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. ¥ leave-tildog. Here they are ry good frientls did treat me dght moylly,
Hut as-soon us 1am thiough with » purge that | have taken for & cold which
bive troubiled me comtinuoasly fur eight months: | shall sam from here
[tsawin)  Finally 1 beg of you to keep the English in igonorance. 1

am &,
[V nderigned]
*Your Honour's affectionate Servant,
"Haruico ng BEtreMoNTE

[Poasencripn]

"Will you kindly ger your servunt in find a house for e for & month or
& weeks.”

To THE CHTEd MERCHANT AND AGENT,
Fuitars ANkl
AT lavanixn,

The Dintchagents at Gombrixm wmote on. the 15t Jammry, 1655, thay the
Englivth eavey was in favodr at Court, and his negociations were so secrit
that peither they nor the English had heard anything.  The latter wernmuoch
concemed, ny it was presimedd that the affair was meant * to stick 3 nesdle
mto their Company hiere.” The English had sent their interpreter (o Qnanin
to find gut, The lust potice 1o be traced 150 a lentar, also from Gombroon,
of the =3nd October, 1655, where the Dutch say that, aftera year's stay m
Isfahin, Henrioo Nellemnonte bad left it a month before; having reccived from
the king on his leave-taking & sim of 100 fuwie, equivalent to 4,000 gnidor,
Thie result of his negociations had remained secret, but they would enquire
further.

The swory 18 carded on [0.C. 2426] in the wanscript of a letter from
J: Spaller and Anthony Dhaniell to the President and Council in St dated
from l3flisn Novemnber 2, 1654 ¢

S By coppie-of o lagt lstter sinito y* Compr ya* may plessie to percaive Lhe
reasans (hae John Spiller went pot o Wind® when M* Young sirnbed
thither ; being about some Court business from whence latdly we love pecd
 detter from o Lingnise jo-w he advises; that a3 yet he Hath not delivered
o' Petition to the Atsmaam Dowlatt by reason of s being abroad w® y
king a hunting ; from which sport retuming both king & nobles kept their
linis=s for 3 0 4 dayes ; and for y* English Embassailore his cheife businesse
16 sbch as we nlwayes heand it 1o bee, to witte, for yo! right of Gumbma
Customes; but what successe he bath had therin we have not yet heard, he
Bavemy ben but ance w'™ the king when our Secvant wrote his lotiar; otlye
advises we dayly & howerly expect ; w™ 30 svon as rec® we intend to ke
our repaire to Bander | as we shall w*%out them, if they be long scomeing,
that 23 nlgh as possible we nay comply w™ your comimands, . . .

Next there is w Srat letter in O.C. 2455, dated Swally Maryne, March 15,
$654-55, andd signed by Edward Pearce, Joha Spiller, snd Henry Gary. 1t
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@y . -, Mr. Spiller from Piin hath not failed yo© in bis Advices Overland,
wherein wee finde hee hath not been wanting to give you' the best infor-
mafon lee could concerting o Affiires in those parts, vou will pesile that
my Lord Bella-mouny, the preiended Embassadore from wee know tiot
whome, and supposed Biother to one M" Bard Silkman in Paternoster Row!
was lodged § dufes before he left Spahnun, sitce w*= time wee rende from
oat Broker that hee hath shit up his doores and takes physick, we are per:
suwaded hee will never prejudice yo! Affaires now wee have Peace w'™ the
Dutch, but had the Warrs continu' by theire Assistance bee might have
troubled you much in your Custemes mt Gombroone, which as wee hear is v
only thing hee wymes at.’

On December 3, 1653 (with a postsenpt of the ¢ih), Willlam Weale, Danied
Otgher, and Amth® Daniell wrote from Gombroon to the President ani
Contnieil in Strat a8 follows

[O.C. 2508]:*. .. The joth (bemg Sunday at snight) y* pretesded
English Embassador, whoe goeth under y* stile of v* Lord Bellamonnt,
arrived heere from Asphabanne ; whee pretendeth he is hound: for India
after a moneth or toos stay heere | but his Linguiss who was formerly a
Jessuint mith, he hath u Phimuan from y* King of Persia for y* Comp*
Customes | and that hee stuyeth here in expectadon of 10 Sayle uf Shipps,
that showld come from we cannot imagine whence @ also ¥* kings
hieers say thar y* kings commaond ' is-on' thein, that in case hewill sicept of
¥ Customes they should tum us our; and setile them on him; if not
comtinue them as they are to vs§ bot there are soe many reports in towne
and soe litle appearance of his acting anything therein, thar we reanot
believe aoything thereol ; however thought it good o acijuaint yo* what we
Heare =l

Posticrip!,

Yoo 0 In & former cluse we acquaimted yo* of y* Lord Bellumoont's
armvil here | whoe 1o shew that he hath noe intent to injure the Comp* or
trouble thier Servants hoere, hath desired his passage on y* Seaerse for
Surmatt 3 w'™ we v willinger granted thiit his presents heers might net rajse
any more ramours, for of a catayoe y* Atamaam Dowlatt woold faine have
him nccepted of ¥ customes a while; thereby to have an ocenalon to tume
wh ont 3 as he woild wlsoe him i 4 very short 1ime afterwards | s00 v we
bupe yo* will not take it i1l that we gave him his passage ; Mr. Young ean
arquaint o more filly how much hes protested never to tnileavour to injure
3- nidnmpnnr I8 Spahaune or any place, to whose relafon please to be re-

o nd e

The Seakorre reached Swalley on Junuary 6, 1655-56 [0.C, 2528, Swally
Marine, [anuary 19, 16535-36) and we have one more nutice | 0 lepter
from Samt, dated January 29, 1655-1656, and signed by John Spiller, Henry

VThiy i, of course, Masimilian Pand, the sljer brother, afterwards of
Cavensfield, Docks,
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Gary, Thamas Reynardson, and Ant* Smith, *. . , The L. Bellamont is in
Siirat where he hath taken & house, so it shoild seem v hee intenids 1o
remain there for some time, wee wish y' his remove from Persia may be a
meanes i free yo* from all trouble aboutt ¥ Customes and allso cavse of a
greater annvall inlargest. . . ¢ [0 2534.] At this pomt the Company's
recoids become defective, s that we bave no further official evidence of Lond
Bellomont's procesdings ln Indin,  But Manucei's aceount of their stay in
Strat and Journey vil Burhinpur and Agrah towards DA may be accepted
with some confidence.

Samething is to be founds however, in the Dutch archives. On Februmry 6,
1656, H. van Gent (unil others) wrote to. Jean Masuuyckes {Mantmiker),
Governue-Geneml and Uouncil at Batavia, that the envoy fraan the young
King of England, named Henrico de Bellemonte, hail arsived, He hal
‘been to the Persian Count about i shiaré in the Customs, bot Usd falled, He
had fallen 1 (in Stear), and had asked for aid from the Hohorable | Duteh)
Campany’s sargeon. He hal 8 cancerous sore 10 his chieek, but he conld
not trist himself o (he English there fornoy help,  The request was willingly
arcepted, hitt they feared it would bea difficilt business to heal him, as the
cheekbone was exposed.  * The said lord seenn avery well:nformed, modest,
and courteous man, who is very aiflicted over this accident that bas happened
to him!  Maatuiker was Governor-General froim 1653 to 1678,

Nor are there any reasons for declining 1 pecept Manucci's staiement
that his Lovdship died at Hodal on June 201656}, 1 have tried, but without
surcess through my frieml, Mr. M. W. W. Hevnolds, Comminsioner of -
Agrali, to obtain fram the Reman Cathalic Bishop there & copy of any eniry
i the burial registers. As Bellomont had tumed Catholle several years
before his death, he must have been buned in their cemmetery, whiclt was,
indeed, the ouly one ar thar period. Possibly there may be duplicate
registers somewhere in Home, but | have not besn able to institute a search,
A carious mention of Bellomaont, which must refer to his stay in Agmb, is to
be found o fol 26 of DM, Slean M5, No, 811, John Campbell, speaking
of placing the King of Englund’s arms on sume cannon be cust, says ' § had
one of his Ma™ greas seales from my L' Bellmount by w™ | enst his armes"

The * ictionary of Navenal Biography * places Bellomont's death in 1660,
and Manuced in 1653 For these years | would substitute 1656, confirmed us it
i by John Hall's memorandism at King's College, Cambridge, and the Indin
Office records.  Where the writer in the * Dictionary of Natioml Biography '
got *Arabia® as the plice of death | khow nol ; his own authorithes say
"Persin’ Tut both statemcnn st be wrong in the fce of the official
evidence that Bellomont left Persia and Linded salely in lodia, from which
he never returned,

His arms are delineited in W. Colex’ ‘Cambridge Collections,” vol. xv,,
p- 137 (British Moseum Maauscripl, No, §816).  As to his children, there is
some differeoce in various guthorities, The ‘ Complete Baronetage, by Mr.
G K. Cokayne, ii., p. 228, gives him three daughters, but dentes (in vote 4) that

VOL. 1; b
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he left a son who survived ondl 1986 Cn this point | think the author must be
wrong. Dellomont's widow in her petitions to the King in 1650 (Calendar of
State Papers, Domestic, Chatles 11,, vol. xvil, No. 68, p. 300), when speaking
of her children, says, * one your Mujesty's godsonne”; and in her ssoonil
petition (ibad., vol. xx, No. & p. 331) is the expression, "having 4 children.'
Mz W. Duncombe Pink (on the suthority of Maddison's * Lincoltshire
Pedigrees,' i 78 ; Harlelun Sgoety, vols. 5o, 51, 1993), gave me particulars
whith, il acceped, overrule M Cokaynes suggestion of n confusion with
Charles, Earl of Bellommnt, 4. 1685, of & totally different family {Van des
Kirkhove). Tha year of Charles Rard's desth wad i66s, and ot 1685
The resolt is a3 follows

GEanog Baxt,

Vicar of Staines,
& 1648
- — |
Muximitian, Hetiry,
of Caversfinld, Pucks, b, 1616, d. 16563
d. Feh,, 18501, e Anne Ganduer, 1645
aged 2. (wbe d: 15668},
I | — l
| [ | i .

Nathanin! Charles, Anie, F )

Lqthi ko), and Viscount, m mﬂ. m, her cousin
doearly b d7igs B a1, 16yl Prince Palating; Natiuniel,
m. his couuin slain nt St d Awg. g, 198, ol Caversield,
Porsiana, and Christophers ugod gu Backs;

l=dt fssn, 16635, 4., | i ITE

Duilley Bard, leaving
killed a1 the :
whiege of B,
July-Aag. 1686
Sk

Anne was a spinster in 1665, whey she took the oath as heir and adminis-
'alnx to her mother's estate (Probate Office, Administrations, July 13,
1668, p 103), The year of Frances' death iy given i) an juscription’
qQuoted by Miss E, Scott in her article in the Ewg, A, Review, vol xv,
P 760 {Uctober, 1g00), thomgh | have not been abls to veridy it myself
from the authority she quotes, viz, ' L'Histoire du Peuple de Diea.! This is-
o work by L], Berruyer, 5.). (1681-175%), the first cdition being of 1738
(Paris), 1t is a history of the peaple of Israel, in many volumes, und seems
to have no possible connection with an inscription on Frances Bard's tomb,
There is some ervor somewhere 17 thn Lidy wih Gifty-twi in 1708, she was
bom n 1038, moce than two years after her Bxther left Ewope ; and If ber
SO0 WAb twenty in J6E by must hove been bos in 1666 Therafore, shie
had a son when she was ten years of agoy, nod thie marruge centificate being
dated July 30, 1664, she was anly eight when married. Ewverything points
1 an understavement of her wge at deuth : mare probahly she was sixty
mstead of fiftytwo,  Mr. [ F. Chance thsinks sl moxt have been the eidest
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child, and born some tme in 1646 The exact dite of her death, which ook
place in the Elector of Hanover's camp a1 Mithiburg, ciose to Karsrube In
Hades, is obtained from * Briefa dies Hermogs Ernst Atigust Hirannschweig
Lineburg an Johann Frame Diedrich von Wendt,' edited by Erich, Graf
Kielmansegg (Hannover, 1902), p. 163

The date of Peralana's husband's death is from Mr. J, F. Chance's papet
in the Emg. Jiil, Revies, vol. xi (1896), p. 527. There is no evidence it
Riog's College, Cambridge, that Anne, Lady Bellomont, apphed there for
pecuniary relief, or was ever gnmted any, as stated by some writers.

Maximilian Bard seems to have been about seven years his hrother's
senior; he s said t0 have liclped Henry with money, and had & great
mimiration for him. Maximillan must have made money by lis trade of
silkman or mercer, foron June 20, 1053 the mandr of Caversficld, in Buek-
mghamshire, wan conveyed 1o him and moother. At his deith it pussed to
Nathaninl as son and heir, who was followed by his won Thomas. He, with
his twe snns, Thomas and George, conveyed the estate on Fehiroary 3 1704,
to William Vauy, an attorney, who held it il 1735, snd 0 on (Lipscombe,
*History ‘of Buckinghamshire,' | vols, g1, 1847, vol. i, pp. 504, 305
There is same discrepancy between Lipscombe’s date for Nathaniel's deatly
and that given (n the wble ; the Janer is takeén from Mr. J. F. Chance’s
article already quoted,

G—z



CHAPTER XIX

TWOENGLISHMEN SEIZE THE AMBASSADOR'S PROPERTY,
L APPEAR IN THE KING'S PRESENCE, AND THE ENGLISHMESN
ARE MADE FRISONERS

AFTER we had buried the ambassador 1 wrote to the English
factory at Agrah informing them of his death and the embirgo
imposed by the local official on his property as well as mine,
wherefore 1 prayed them to send me the necessary recom-
mendatory letters. 1 received no answer ; buot eipht days
afterwards two Englishmen appeared, one called Thomas
Roch (¢ T. Roach)! and the other Raben Simitt (7 Reuben
Smith), dressed after the fashion and in the costume of the
country, men in the service of the king Shihjahin, and
captains of the bombardiers in the royal artillery,

They came to visit me, and when I saw them 1 asked what
they had come about. They informed me that they had come
under the king's orders to carry away the property of the
ambassador, which lapsed to the crown. To that I retorted
by usking if they bore any order, whereupon they laughed, and

! Thaoks to Mr. W. Foster, of the lodin Office, | have bemy abile i refes to
Slaane MS., Ko. 811, tn the British Museum, * Teavels of Richard Bell, Gun-
founder to Shah Jahan aml Awrangzeb, 16540668 The Indinn portion [fuli 323}
sceria 10 be & murrative by || Cambell (Camplell), takun down by K. Ball Uiiea
wild romance, utierly unchronological, at tha side of which Manucel'swililee flght
reads like sense and wobernens  Siill, there ars some grains of {abt. Oulol's
Thormas Reack, Robert Smith, aml John White are numesd s being with Sorang=
20b. while Camphell was with Dara (3} lor Murad Baghub 7} Thomas Roach,
chlel gitirer to (he Mogol, appears it the Sgem Fecords In 1067 mmd s673.
and in 1704 Lis pun, Thomas, they sixty years of age, rocelved chariinble aid
there. *Sitrut Pactory Reeords,” Miscsllansoms. vol. ii. {May-=0, 2007}, - Fasory
Records,! vol. ev. (Touch's lotter from Agrak, May 8, 1671), vol. i, Miscallineous
(Wevember 20, 1675}, and vol. xiii, (Beptomber 3, 1704},

4y
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asked who T might be. 1 told them I 'was the servant of the
ambassador, that the property in question had been made
over to me, that | did pot mean to let it go without their
delivering to me my belongings—that is, two muskets, fonr
pistols, clothes, and other trinkets, which had been set apart.
Their answer was that the whole belonged to the king; and
without ‘another word they went to find those who had pnt
on the seils, and obtaining their consent, made themselves
masters of everything, arranging to remove the whole to the
the city of Dihlr.

I did not mean to abandon the property, and resolved to
set out in their company. On the road they showed me not
the least little sign of civility, snch as Euaropeans, even of
different nations, are accustomed to display in all parts of
Asla when they come across each other. Many a time did
I entreat them for God's sake to make over to me what was
mine; but as they saw I was only a youth, they scoffed at
me, and said: *Shat your mouth; if you say a ward we will
ke your horse und your arms away.' Seeing there was no
ather way out of it, T dissembled for the time being, but never
disspaired of getting back what belonged to me.

After three days’ journey we arrived at Dihli, where the
Englishmen deposited the property in a sarde, put seals on
the room doors, and told me to go about my business, Then
I began to make request that they would be so good as to
separate my property from that of the ambassador and make
it over to me, for it did not belong to the king. They burst
ont laughing and mocked at me, giving me the customary
answer: As 1 took my leave T prayed them to do me the
favour of telling me their names, so that if any one called
me to account about that property I should be able to defend
myself by pointing out the persons who had taken possession
of it. I expressed my astonishment that they should lock up
m & sarde yoom property that they said belonged to the king,
I'asked them angrily whether the king had no other place
m which to store (48] the goods that he owned; but they
knew quite well that the property did not belong to them, and
thut they were taking the king's name in vain; solely in order
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that they might get hold of other people’s goods. They replied
that there was no need to know their names. As for my

second remark, they only st to langhing, and thius went away in
apparent trinmph, not foreseeing what was to happen to them,

I retired to a4 room in the same sarde, not far from the one
where the property was. Then I found out the names of
those two Englishmen, so as to be able to take my own:
measures,  Being anxious to know what was going on, thore
turned up on a visit to me a Frenchman called Clodio Malier,!
a founder employed in the artillery of Dird, first-born son of
Shaljahin. With him 1 talked over what had happened to
me with those two Englishmen; and said again that it did
not seem to me possible that so great a monarch as the Mogul
king should possess mo other place to store the goods that
belonged to him than a mere sarde, where travellers took bp
their quarters. The Frenchman nssured me that the English-
men had not seized the goods by order of the king, but that
Thomas Roach, leamning of the ambassador’s death, had sent
in & petition to the prince Dirdl, by whom he was favoured,
in the following terms: ‘A man of my country, n relation of
mine, came from Europe, his purpose being to obtain the
honour of serving under your highness, but his good fortune
wiis of such little duration and so scanty that he was unable:
to attain his desire, being overtaken by death on reaching
the sarde of Hodal, whereupon those who gavern in that place
Inid an embargo upon his goods.  Therefore | pray as a favour
that your highness be pleased 1o issue orders for their delivery
to me.'

The prince dealt with this petition ns Thomas Roach hoped i
but Raben Semitt (Renben Smith), getting word of what
Thomas Roach was about, held it not to be right that he should
acquire the whole of the ambassador's property, that it must
be divided between the two of them. Thus he (R. Smith)

! This Clodio Malier ks prabably idsmtical with Claude Maillé, of Lourges, in
Tavernier's * Travels,” {, 116; t17 [ December, s, surgeon at Allababad), =88,
5y (Seplesbes, 1052, gunoer in the Knrnatlk).  in part i, § =3 Manecch
rpeaks of moeting Cladio Menilhas, & Fronch murchung, ot Gob o 1666.07, and,
a3 he calls him an ofd friend, It e predabily the wmes mun,
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accompanied him (T. Roach) as far ns Hodal, Should he
not consent to u division, he (R. Smith) threatened to el
the whele story to the king, Thomus Roich accepted the
situation, so as not to lose the whole. Thiz was the story
told me by Clodio Malier, who bade me adien with much
civility and many offers of service. Bemg thus informed of
what was going on, and confiding in my knowledge of the
Turkish, but more especially of the Pessian language, which
is that chiefly used and the most current at the court of the
Mogul, 1 resolved to go to the secretary of the king, whose
name was Vizircan (Wazir Ehin)! to lodge a complaint. For
this porpose [ went to s hoose, and obtaining permission to
enter, 1 reported to him what was going on. He directed me
1o sit down opposite to him, alongside one of his sous, who
was of my age [49].

The secretary asked me whether 1 knew the accustomed
mode of making obeisance before the king by those whe enter
his presence. I answered that | did. As he displayed n desire
ta see me do this, | arose, stocd quite erect, and bending my
body very low until my head was juite close to the ground,
[ placed my right hand with its back to the ground, then
rasing it, put it on my head, and swod wvp straight. This
ceremanial T repeated three tumes, and this is done to the
king only. The secretary was delighted to see a [foreigner,
young in years and newly arrived in the city, make his
obdigances so confidently, 1 was dressed like a Turk, with
a torban of red velvet bound with @ blue ribbon, and dressed
in satin of the same colour, also a waist-cloth of a gold-flowered
pattern with a red ground. He was amuosed to see me got
up like this, and asked the reason for adopting such a costume,
and why 1 did not adopt the Mogul fashions, wheréupon 1
scquainted him of the journey that | had made and the
countries throogh which 1 bad passed.

1 Manucel musl mean here nol the King's swslr, bal Wazlr Khiln, the e
official gr [iiwln to Prioce Ddrd Shekob! This man, Mubammad SAIE [Wirir
BEhfn), was Filled ai the Batilo of Sambgarh in June, 1658, Tarikhf-0wfaommadi
{105 M.},  The enly other Wazir EhAn (hen allye was serving fn Mllwab, and

the affice Juites of Shakjahlin's el weére thio carrisd on by Kis Raghlialith,
Saduliah Khih having beon dead two or thees monthe,
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During this time a notice reached him that the king had
decided to hold an audience that moming. Then, rising at
once, he took me with him to the palace, telling me that it
was requisite for me to go with him before the king, He
wirned me that, when I came into the king's presence, I
must perform the same obeisances that | had practised before
lim. ‘When we got to the palace the king had already taken
his seat on the throne: The secretary directed two men to
present me to the king, while he (the secretary) shodld be
talking to him, Accordingly they did present me, ordering
me to appear in front of the king at a distance of fifty paces,
waiting until he should take notice of me before 1 made my
obeisances.

[ had noticed that when the secretary reached the place
where is the railing, he made one bow, such as I had done
in his house, then, when close to the throne, he made three
bows, and approaching still nearer, he began to speak to the
king. After a few words he raised his hand towards where
I was, as if pointing me out. The king raised his eyes towards
me, then the courtiers with me told me to make my obeizances,
which T did. The secretary went on with his conversation,
which T could not overhear by reason of the distance at which
I was. All those who were present before the king were
standing; only one man was seated ut the side of the throne,
but his seat was lower, and thiz was the prince Dird, the
king's son.

[ noted that the throne on which the king, Shahjahdn,
was seated stood in front of and near to the palace of the
women, 6 that as soon as he came out of its door he reached
the throne. It is like a table, adorned with all sorts of
precions stones and flowers in enamel and gold. There are
three cushions, a large one, five [50] spans in diameter, and
circulur, which servis as o support o the back, and two other
Mjuare ones, one on each side, also a most lovely mattress,
Far in Turkey, and throughout the whole of Hindastit, they
do not sit upon chairs, bug upon carpets or mattresses, with
theirlegs crossed.  Around the throne, at the distance of one
pace, are milings of gold of the height of one cubit, within



SHAHFAHAN AND RIS AUDIENCE-RALL g

which no one enters except the king’s sons. Defore they
enter they come and, faeing the king, go through their
obeisance, then enter the palice and come ont by the same
door frim which the king issued. Arriving thete, they again
make obwisunce, and wpon an sign from the king they take
their seat in the same enclosure, bot at the foot of and on
one side of the throne. Thereupon the pages appear with the
umbrella, parasol, betel, spittoon, sword, and (ly-brusher.

Below the throne, several feet lower than it, a space is left,
sufficiont for the secretary (? wastr) and the greatest officials
of the court. This spuce is surrounded by a silver railing.
Near it stand * grusberdares’ (gurs-bardir)—that is to say, the
bearers of golden maces, whose duty it is to carry orders from
the court to princes of the blood royal. After a descent of a
fesw more steps there is another space of greater size, where
are the captains and other officials, alsa the * grusberdares’
tgnrz-bardars) with silver maces, who convey the orders of
the court to rthe governors, generals, and other princes.
These are placed with their backs to a railing of woed painted
vermilion, which surrounds the space.

The hall in which stood the royal seat i adorned with
twenty highly-decorated pillars, which support the rtoof.
This roof stretches far enocugh to cover the spaces enclosed
within the silver railing, and is hidden hall-way by an awning
of brocade. Further, a canopy over the king's throne is
upheld by four golden pillars.

Outside the wooden railing is a great square, where, close
to the mailing; stand nine horses on one side and nine on the
other; all saddled and equipped. Near to the pillars are
brought certain elephants on every day that the king gives
andience, and’' there they make their obeisance, as 1 shall:
describe when [ spesk of the elephants (it 5). Behind the
horses  already spoken of were four handsomely - adorned
elephants; and in the square a considerable number of soldiers
stand on guard. At the end was o great hall, where were
stationed the players on instruments, and these, upon the
king's appearing to give andience, played very loudly, to give
notice that the king was already in the audience hall,
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The silence preserved was astonishing, and the order devoid
of confusion. For this purpose there are officials, whose
business it is to see that the people are placed in proper
order. Some of these officials held pold sticks in their hand,
and these came within the silver railing. The others carried
silver sticks, and they took great heed that throughout the
court nothing was done which could displease the king [51].

After | had received my permission to go, 1 left iin the
campany of the two courtiers, and returned to the sarde.
There 1 showed them where T had put up. and the room in
which was the property. Thereupon they broke the seals and
brought out all the things and carried them away,

The next day, about nine o'clock in the morning, there
came two servants of the secrotary (wasiv) to fetch me. Thay
took me to his palacs, where I found him seated in the same
hall where I had spoken to him the day before. As I came
in 1 observed that the ambassador’s property was lying there.
I made the usual obeisances to the secretary (wasfr). Then,
with a pleasant look on his face, he asked me if 1 identified
the two thieves, pointing with his hand to one corner of the
hall. Noticing this, I turned my face that way and saw the
two English impostors, loaded with iron, fetters on their feet
and shackles on their necks, and very much ashamed, being
afraid they would be decapitated.

Turning again to the secretary, | craved leave to speak to
them, and geing near to them, T said: * It would have been
more honest to let me have the little that was mine, but then
you wanted to acquire more than was yours; you suffer
through your excess of greed, and in your desire to embrace
all, you are left with nothing. You laughed, you scoffed, snd
had no tenderness for me, and now 1 sorrow for love of you,
and feel compassion for the misarable eondition in which 1
see you. You may muke certain that 1 shall not fail to deal
towards you with more charity and consideration than you
showed to me on the road from Hodal.’

Returning 1o the secretary (wasir), he told me to lock at the
things and inform him whether any article was missing, for
the prisoners would have to pay for anything deficient. I
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examined the property in his presence, and ascertained that it
was complete.  Sinee my things had been separated and were
kept apart, 1 prayed him as a favoor to issue orders that they
should be returtied to me.  In addition, most of the ambas-
sador's goods belonged to an English trader, named Mestre
Jonh (Mr. Young), dwelling in Stirat, from whom the ambas.
sudor had obtained them, promising to repay him afterwards,

The secretary (wasir) told me to sit down heside his son who
was in front of him; he sid he wounld give me many things,
and making me great promises, said to me, that if T consented
to remain in his house he would treat me like a son. In case
I did not agree, he did not mean to give me anything, My
answer was that | could not live in his bouse, that I cared very
little about the loss of my own things, but should grieve a very
great deal if he did oot give to Mestre Jonh (Mr, Young)
those that wiere his.

Upon this the secretary (waszir) asked me minutely which
were the ambassador's and which Mestre Jonh's (Mr. Young's)
things. 1 pointed them all out in detail, one of the secretary’s
clerks taking the whole down in writing. I told him that
besides these goods Mestre Jonh (Mr. Young) had lent the
ambuassador the sum of four thousand patacas [about £Boo]
and an Armb horse (already in the secretary’s (wasir'y)
possession).  Finally, 1 begged [52] leave to return to my abode,
and be,in sending me off, directed me o return in two days
to speak to him in the same place.

Accordingly this 1 did, and he said to me then that he bad
spoken to the king, who ordered thut the property should be
gent 1o the Governor of Sarat for the purpose of being made
over to Mestre Jonh (Mr, Young), with the exception of the
Arab horse, which the king kept for himself, giving an order
to pay to the seid Jonh (Young) one thousand patacas, the price
ot which it had been valued. He took nothing else but the litter
which was destined for him,

After this [ made a fresh application lo the secretary (wazty)
that he woald order my property to be given to me; but his
answer was that the whole must go to Simt and be made over
to Mestre Jonh (Mr. Young), who, if he liked, might give them
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to me. Thus he was unable to dispose in any way of this
property.  Butif T consented to live with him, he would give
me a great deal more, and repeated that he would cherish me
as his son, and many other promises. For all these words and
the kindness he had displayed 1 gave him thanks ever and
over againg but as for living with him, that could never be. 1t
was not right for me to do so, being a Christian. The secretary
(wazir) cut short my speech, and, losing his temper, said
angrily: ‘ You do not know that you are the king's sluve,”

Hearing these words, T rose to my feet, and answered that
Europeans were not, and never would be, slaves of anyone; and
in great haste I left the ball, resalved to give my life rather than
live in his house, Coming out at the door, I vanlted lightly
on to my horse, and took my way somewhat hurriedly, dreading
lest the secretary (wasir) might send some one after toe. to
attack me. Then my groom warned me that two foot soldiers
were hurrying after us, trying to overtuke ue. Then I turned
my horse round, and, putting my hand on my cutlass, set off
to face them. 1 asked what they wanted. They made me
a bow, and answered that the secretary (wasir] sent me tén
gold rupees for the purchase of betel. 1 toak them and went
on my way. 1 was determined to return to Strat that I might
find myself among Europeans.

At this time | met Clodio Malier, who carried me off to his
house, and there T told him of my resolve.  He did not approve.
Then by his arguments he succeedad in persunding me.  Having
got as far as the court, what was the good of leaving it again
without first seeing what there was there, 5o that 1 might report
on the riches and greatness of the kings of the Mogul, excesding
the riches of other kings, as may be seen in the course of this
my book ? /

As I was a youth, carried away by curiosity, but still more
by the friendship shown to me by Cladio, and reflecting that 1
had already in him one friend who could do me some good in

this kingdom, and be of help to me in some affair, T determined
to remain where T was[s3),



CHAPTER XX

OF THE WAY I WAS SENT FOR TO THE COURT OF
PRINCE DARA

ArTER three days had elapsed, Clodio Malier was sent for to
the palsce of Prince Dara, who inquired if he knew of the
arrival of a European youth who had come with the ambas-
zadior of England, and a few days before had appeared in the
king's presence to make a complaint of injuries done by a
captuin of artillery and other Englishmen. Clodio answered
that he kaew me well, that, seeing me unprotected, be had taken
me into lus house, adding that | was a youth of quality. He
wished that, before allowing me to leave the Mogul kingdom,
I sheuld see something of the king's and the princes’ riches,
so that on my return to Europe I might declare the wealth and
grandear of the Moguls,

Thereupon the prince said to him that be wanted to speak to
me, and thus he must not fail to find & way to bring me to his
presence. When Clodio Malier came home, he said to me at
once, with a joyous countenance, that I had already captured
good fortune, for the eldest prince,a generous man and friendly
to Eutopeans, had shown himsell interested about me and
wanted to speak to me. I rejoiced at this good news, knowing
that the: Europeans who served this prince had a good life of
it, and reccived adequate pay. Thus I, too, was desirous of
obitaining some employment at his court. [ made up my
mind, for that reason, not to put off my visit, and | asked
Clodio if we shonld have to wait lang before complying with
the prince’s desire. My friendly shelterer replied to me that it
was not wise to delay, otherwise we might lose the favourable
opportunity, For the resolves of the great were like birds: if

93
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the bird-lime stuck to them, they were easily caught; but if
they once flew away, it was very hard to lay hold of them a
second time.

For these reasons we started the very same day, and repaired
to the court of the above-named prince. As soon as he was
informed of our arrival, he gave the order to allow us to enter,
When I reached his presence, and had made the usual obeisances,
he asked me if 1 could speak Persian, and put some other
questions with a pleased and friendly expression on his face.
He was delighted at seeing a youth of not more than eighteen
years and a foreigner, with such quick-wittedness that lie had
leammed to make the proper obeisance withont any shyness.
Then I answered the questions, showing myself acquainted
with Turkey and Persia and other important matters, The
whole of my replies were in Persian, by which | proved to the
prince that I could [54] speak sufficiently well the language
about which he hud asked me.

At the conclusion of the above talk he directed that the
ambassador's letter be given to me, It had already been
opened ; and 1 was directed to translate it into Persian, The
letter was in Latin, written in letters of gold, and it differed
but little from the letter presented to the King of Persia.
Being thus already acquainted with the business, 1 had little
dificulty in translating it. Next the prince asked what the
letter was written on, for it seemed to him like a skin, and not
paper. I answered that it was of vellum skin, and it was the
usage for European kings, when forwarding letters to far-off
kingdoms, to have the mare important matters writien on
vellum skin, in order that they might be better protected
against the inclemencies of the weather and of the journey
than they would be if they were on paper,

At the end of this conversation Dara asked me if 1 wished
to remain for & time in the Mogul country, to which 1 replied
affirmatively.  He said to me, with @ smile on his face: * Waould
you like to enter my service #*  As this was the very (uestion, and
nons other, that 1 was hoping for, | replied that | should: have
put to very good use the wearinesses and fatigaes of my joarney
W1 bad the good fortune to serve under so famous a prince.
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He then directed that every month they should give me
cighty rupees of pay, a sum equal to forty pafacas.' He ordered
them to deliver to me at once, in his presence, a sérpao (sardpa)®
and thirty rupess and a good horse. He put me in the charge
of one of his trusted eunuchs called Coja Mosquis (Khwijah
Miskin), with instructions to look after the little European and
see that he was well trained and educated. I returned thanks
to the prince, and seeing how well Dard was inclined towards
me, I prayed for leave to entreat another fvour—that is to say,
the liberty of the two English prisoness; and through the
mediation of the prince, they were released in & few days by
‘order of the king.

1 came out from the prince's presence. Although Dara
desired that Khwijah Miskin should teach me the court
ceremonial in order to turn me into a1 courtier, 1 took means
to prevent my being made into a Mahomedan, So 1 did not
go to seek out the said Khwijah Miskin, but kept in the com-

pany of the Europeans. Some of these were surgeons, but the >

greatet number artillerymen in the Mogul service, an bonour-
able employment, For European artillerymen who took service
in that branch had only to take aim; as for all the rest—the
fatigue of raising, lowering, loading, and firing—this was the
business of artificers [55] or labourers kept for the purpose.
However, when Aurangzeb came to the throne, he, seeing the
insalent behaviouwr and the dronkenness of such-like men; de-
prived them of all their privileges, except that of distilling
spirits, and forced them to do sentry duty like other soldiers,
thus leaving them with no estimation or reputation in the army.
But the old plan continued in force up to the evacuation of the

-

fortress of Bacar {Bhakkar) and the beheadal of Prince Darg, %

as further on I shall relate (1., 254, 258).

For some time 1 dwell in the house of Clodio, and when 1
had acquired the means, | hired a separate house.  Then came
& man to me and said that he would put me in the way of gain-
ing money. 1 inquired from him what it was he wanted. He
told 'me that e wanted nothing beyond permission to distil

| This passage proves that the patas fr to bo takon us worth two rupoes;
¥ [\ sacitpis (Hierally, - bead 1o foot ') s 0 complate set of vesiments,
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spirits under my protection-and close to my house, He would
give me ten rupees every day; thus 1 should be put to no
expense: all 1 had to do was to assert that he was my servant.
I agreed to the bargain, and out of regard for me no one said &
word to him, for the Europeans in the service of Dara had this
privilege of distilling spirits and selling them without hindrance.

Finding myself with sufficient pay, and in good condition,
I wrote to Mestre Jonh (Henry Young) at Siirat, giving him
notice of the king's orders—bow he had ordered all the
ambassador’s property to be placed in the hands of the
governor of Sarat with directions to make it over to him.
After some months be replied that he had then meceived
delivery of everything,

When 1 left Venice I already knew sufficiently how to speak
the Italian language, and in addition a little Fronch. During
this journey 1 learnt the Turkish and Persian languages.
Finding myself estublished i India, I now set to work to learn
the Indian tongue, Furthermore, as | was desirous of know-
ing about matters in the Mogul kingdom, 1 found an aged man
of letters, who offered to read to me the * Royal Chronicles
of the Mogul kings und princes.”! Thetefore, I am of opinion
that the reader will be glad to listen to me, seeing that 1 have
special information. I will speak of all the Mogul kings in
my Second Book, which will elose with the death of Aurangzeb's
brothers, and therein will be seen what happened to me? o

! Mamacal's aged man of letters proved cnly & broken reed, for, until the relgn
ol Shikjahln b feschied, his * Royal Chroaicles® yisld nothing more thea &
Burrage of the wildest und mont improbabils legend.

E In the =z folio 56 5 blank



[57] BOOK 11

OF THE MOGUL KINGS UP TO THE REIGNING
SOVEREIGN, AURANGZEB!

1 wisneD to divide this book into chapters to make easier to
the reader the succession of the events 1 write about; but since
the authors of the Chronicles, and the historians of the wars,
do not divide their books into chapters, it would be impossible
to arrange under special headings a history so full of varied
occurrences.  Therefore the reader must be satisfied if 1 con-
form to their practice, simply dividing the work under headings
for each particular king.

OF TEMURLANG (TAIMUR-I-LANG) THE GREAT

Much might be written about this great conqueror. But as
so many have described the exploits of Taimar-i-lang, T will
content myself with giving a simple mention of this great
king, His father [? grandfather] was of the Tartar race, of
the Chagatd (Chaghatd) family, and a Mahomedan. He was
the lord over several villayges, owner of many Hocks, camels

! The fallowing shows the trie names and erder of succession in justaposition
with our suthor's stutement -

Mangoei'n LT 5. Laxe Foour's [Lasx,

t. . Tuimir, i, Talmilr, diod 8oy H.

2. Mirn Shah, . Miriin Shiih (thind sonj, died S
3. Abn Sajd & (Mubammad |

4- Sheld ‘Llgar, 4 A0 Sagd, dhed B2y,

5. Mialunfd. % "Umar Shekh (Afth son), died 394
0, Bibar. ruler of Farghinal,

6. Bilbar, died o375
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and horses, and a man of great authority in that provinee,
He had an only daughter of great beauty, who was sought in.
marrigge by many potentates, including even the King of
Tartury himself. But ber father would not accord her to any
of them.

It came to pass one day when she had reached u sufficient
age that she became with child, whereby her father was much
enraged, and sought to slay her. Questioning her, he asked
why she had thus dishonoured her family. Her answer was
that it was no dishonour, because if he wished to know the
father of the child she bore, he need only go into her room at
carly morn, and he would know all that had happened.
Without fail the father went the next morning to his daughter’s
room, and saw that a ray of the sun came throvgh a chink in
the window and played upon her, then, turning into an animal,
went out by the same window with a cry. The father, fully *
satisfied, declared that she was pregoant by the sun.  Thus is
it written in the Chronicle of Taimir-i-lang.t T also was told
that if this were so, then Taimiir-ilang must have besn
engendered by some evil spinit.  All the samé, he called himself
Child of the Sun, and for such he i accounted. Thus all the
Mogul ‘kings and princes bear & sin as the device [58] apon
their standards, and nobody else may use it. As bie was harn
with a erown of hair longer than wsual in the eentre of hisd
scilp, the astrologers prognosticated thist be would be & great
man, lord of many crowns. On this account he waore the
whole of his hair, and his descendants, as they are not born
thus equipped, shave their heads,

Taimbr-i-lang was slightly lume in one leg, which s indi-
cated by his nume, for femur signifies "separated,’* and lang
means *lame.'  This cripple devoted himself from his youth up
to arms, and early showed that he had come inta the world to
govern it. Thes many 3 time he would play with his boy

¥ This siory of mireculons conception ie translerred, appareatly, from the
danghter of Juisk Rahdyr, Qlydt, Barllls, who gave birth al aoe tiine 1o thres
s, onm Of whimn was the ancesior, in the fourtresih digrew, ol Tamur.jlang
s dBbbndual, lranalited by B, Beveridge, L 1ob1m),

¥ According w ihe dictionsries, fsomiy in Turkish for "o
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companions at government, always making himself the king.
When he had grown up a little, he said to his playmates that
he wanted to start & new game. This was the appointment of
the boys to different posts of authority ; be divided the neigh-
bouring villages among them, and constitoted himself king
and judge. They came and reported how a camel bad fallen
into # pond: would he decide what was to be done? His
decision wits that if the pond was unprotected, the owner of it
must take out the came! alive, or would have to pay; if there
were & hedge, he was not under that obligation, They came
with another complaint—that a wolf bad carried off a lamb;
his answer was that this was due to the shepherd's neglect,
and he deserved a beating. Finally, they came to say they
had captured a thief. He ordered him to be hanged, which
was done accordingly. In carrying out the jest the boy died
in sober truth, the terrified lads taking flight each to his own
hame,

The relations of the boy who had been hanged, who belonged
to another village, took up arms against Taimir-i-lang. The
latter, helped by his servants and shepherds, defended himself
and routed his enemies, Thus little by little war extended,
Taimir-klang always coming out the conqueror, o that he
soon acquired the adjoining villages. Seeing his strength so
much incrensed, he resolved to obtain the territories of a
powerful prince called Sultan Mahamud (Sultin Mohammad),
Suddenly he entered the land and took the largest village that
the other had, which was situated in the middle of his provinee:
Still, things did not happen to Taimir's liking; in the end he
was totally defeited, and forced to disguise himself as a poor
traveller m order to get back to his country, begging alms as
he went.

Arriving at a certain village, he prayed an old woman to
give him something to eat. The old woman gave him a dish
filled quite full, and he, being very hungry, thrust his hand into
the very middle of the platter, thercby burning himselfl
Blowing on his hand [59], and shaking it about, he said the
dish was very hot. The old woman laughed heartily, and ut
the same thne tavght him a good lesson, saying ; * You are like

7—2



oo OF TAIMGRLANG THE GREAT

Taimiir-i-lang, who did not know how to take this country, for
he came right into the middle of it, and had to ga out again
défeated. 1f he had begun by attacking the confines, e could
in time have made himself master of the whale. 1t is the same
with you, who have just tried to begin in the middle, while if
you had travelled round the edge, you could have eaten the
whole without once burning yourself.'

Listening to her, Taimar-i-lang profited by the good lesson,
and when he reached his own country, he gathered together
4 new force and renewed the war. He followed the old
woman's advice and became master of all his adversary's
country, but he could pot capture the king himself ; therefore
he issued a proclamation that whoever caught him should
receive a reward. When he heard this, the prince disguised
himself and fled, hiding himself in « tower. It happened that
4 herdsman, searching for a cow he had lost, entered the tower.
Heé was a man whom the prince recognised ; supposing that he
had come to search for him, he drew forth some jewels and
gave them to the herdsman, praying him not to say a word
to anyone. The herdsman went off with the jewels to the
abode of Taimiir-i-lang in the hope of selling them and then
buying another cow, On his arrival he was brought before
Taimfr-i-lang, who asked where he had got these jewels. The
herdsman answered : * You take the jewels and give me o cows’
They bound him until he confessed where he had oblained the
jewsls. He admitted that a man in & tower not far off had
given them to him, They presented the herdsman with two
cows, and by Taimor-i-lang’s orders started for the said tower,
where they laid hold of the fugitive prince and threw um
down from the wall. Taimar-i-lang remained the master, and
began to increase in strength.

Desirons of continuing his successes, he attacked the King
of Kabul, After many adventures and struggles, and the
murder of the Kabual king, he became ruler of that rich country.
Issning thence, he crossed the river Indo (Indus), and rushing
from ome place to another, began to interfere with the Patani
(Pathiin) princes, more especially he of Dihli, so that the said
prifces might submit to him and pay lum tribute ; for Taimtr-
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i-lang, having been victorious from his earliest youth, had
formed the design of becoming n still greater congueror, not
resting content with one principality or one kingdom. With
this idea he proceeded to claim tribute and homage.

Following up his victories, he next wished to compel the
Ranga, a Hindu king dwelling in the middle of Hindastin,!
to pay him tribute and obey his orders {60]. The Hindd king
refused to comply. As soon as he heard that Taimar-i-lang
had with him a large army, he took the field agminst him st
the head of one hundred thousand horsemen; all of them
Rajputs. These are the most warlike people in all Hindastin,
When the Rand saw that Taimir-i-lang had no more than twelve
thousand horse; he decided that it was not expedient to lead
the attack in person; and it would suffice to send his gencrals
to annihilate the invader.

Tamir-i-lang on his side was afraid at seeing come against
him so great an army of such valiant warriors; he therefore
held a conncil of war. His generals were of opinion that he
should give up the undertaking. When this decision became
known to one of Tuimar<i-lang’s mule-drivers, he sought at
once to speak with him; but the guards would: not allow him
to enter, so he took his turban and threw it into the tent of
Taimfr-i-lang, crying aloud that he had urgent need of speaking
to his lord.

On hearing the voice, Taimir-i-lang called him in and gave
him leave to speak. The man spoke thus: ‘You, my lord,
have been victorious unto this day, and all the princes against
whom you have made war have been subdued and rendered
stibmissive to your orders.  But now a rumouar is heard that
you mean to retveat for fear of the Rajput soldiers. 1f that
18 true, it will lead 10 the rebellion aguinst you of all those you
have conquered. Thus, both you and us, we shall lose our
lives ingloriously. Better were it to die sword in hand like
herves than like cowards to retreat, even a single step.’

This speech of the muleteer was the cause of Taimir-i-lang’s

V This cempaign agains the Rink ia, of course, quite mythicl, Talmdr never
hivving ponetratid as far &s thal teeritory, 14 miay be & garblee version of Balas's
conteet with Find Sanga In 1327 (Elphisstene, 373), |
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deciding not to retreat. On learning that the Hindd king
did not mean to command in person, he gave orders that
twa thousand horsemen shoold march by another route to a
place where they could attack the tent vccupied by the King.
When a force had been detached from that buge Hindfi army
with the intention of sweeping away the Mabomedans, ap-
parently 20 few in number, he would give the agreed-on signal.

The two thousand men started, and at dawn the Rajpuots
came out into the feld of battle againgt Taim0r-i-lang, The
latter, pretending to take to flight, allowed the enemy to pursue
him. Meanwhile the two thousand Mahomedans attacked the
Ring's tents, which became the scene of a great uproar,
and it was with preat difficulty that the Rind escaped with
his life, When this news came to the ears of the Rajputs
pursting Taimar-i-lang, they twmed ronnd at once to aid their
king. Taimir-i-lang’s soldiers, recovering heart and courage,
pursued their pursvers and won the battle. Thus Taimir-i-
lang forced the Rind, or Hindo king, to make a peace and
concede greal advantages. In eonsequence of this deleat,
the Rini made a vow never to attack the Moguls, but to be
content with defending himself; and this vow he transmmﬁ_d
as an ordinance to lis descendants, who abserve it to this
day,

After this victory Taimiir-i-lang returmed to Kabul, Finding
himself |61 master of great wealth, with great experience in
warfare, he made up his mind to march against the great
Baynzet {Bayizid) the Second.! Passing through Persia he
appeared preoccupied. His generals asked the reason, assuming
that he was in doubt of succeeding well, They said to him
that there was no occasion for depression; he wis already
uccustomed to conquet, and had with him valiant and veterin
galdiers under invincible commanders.  Taimtr-i-lang replied
with the greatest calmness that he had never had any anxiety
about victory over the Persians, but what he was in search
of was o suitable governor to place over Turkey instead of

U Sheiild be Bayssid 1. tbirtgon Bayurid 1L relgned 14301813, whercas

Taimbr died I igos. Bayazhl |, sas mads prisonse in 3 e 5, L. Potle,
* Molummadun Dynasiies, roy, 368} s 2L
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Bayazil. He assumed that he had already got the latter m
the cage,

| shall not write here the doings of Taimir-ilung aguinst
Biyasid, many authors having writtén about them, All I
will say is that after so many and such great victoties, he
became desirons of invading Hindistin, and taking possession
of all these realms: he marched through his kingdoms, and
4 little time after his arrival died at Kabul.

The cavse of his death was his own son, Sultan Miraxa
{Sultin Mirin Shih), the sole heir of so famous a father,
There was a fixed order that the soldiers must see that their
horses did not fight with each other, and if such fighting
oceurred, Tamar-i-lang at once ordered the owner of the horse
ta be decapitated. It so happened that his son's horses fought,
and thus it became necessary that the universally promulgated
sentence should be executed upon Sultin Mir Shih, and deardy
as he loved his son, he did not like to give a bad example.
But at the thought of losing him he fell into such grief and
became so cast down, that in'a few hours he died himself.

No one could recount properly the courage or the vigour or
the wealth of this conqueror, who paid his soldiers and generals
at one time for eight years in advance, relying on the hdelity of
his vassals. Then, after baving reigned twenty and four years,
nine months and two days, his courage and his enterpnses came
to an end in the year one thousand four hundred and one, and
he was buried at the city of Kibul.

OF THE KING SULTAN MIRAN SHAH, THE
SECOND [KING] OF THIS FAMILY

Sultin Miriin Shiah wislied to bhe heir of the copquests and
valonr of his father as he was of his wealth, but Fortune did
not deign to accord to him the favour she displayed to Taimar
ifang. This king, like his father, made rruptions into Hindd-
stiin, plundering it in one direction or another, but nsually he
was compelled to flee defeated into his own territories. His
chief efforts were directed against the King of Cascar (K&sh.
ghar), his neighbour, but he could never secure the victory
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over this king [62]; nay, he was seven times defeated and a
prisoner of that same king. But that king was so generous
that each time he captured him (Miran Shih) he released him
after a few days. Scoffing at him, he would tell him to go
back once more to his own country : he should go there and
make ready a new army and more valiant warriors. He would
then take the field in the hope of meeting him, and capture
him once more. For it was a delight to fight against him, and
to see the persistence in warfare which he had inherited from
his father.

Fortune never long favours the same persons, and she allowed
this king during one battle to fall into the hands of Sulfin
Mirdn Shiah. This latter took advantage of this picee of good
luck, never ance remembering the favours received from this
very king, Farthwith he ordered his eyes to be remowved, and
placed him in very harsh confinement. Thus did he repay the
liberty given to him seven times by this king. But neither in
this way did Mirin Shih increase his fortunes, and he met his
death from those same hunds that so many times had freed him.,

The interested reader should know that most of the
Mahomedan great men pride themselves much upon their
good shooting with bow and arrow, For this reason they
practise many times day in shooting at the target. One day
Mirin Shah was at this exercise, when his nobles said to him
that the king, then his prisoner, could shoot so well with the
bow that, even in his then condition, devoid of sight, and with-
out aiming at the target, he conld make no mistake in his shot.
It sufficed to strike the mark with your foot, and on hearing
the sound, he would shoot straight at it. Mirin Shah, being
anxious to see such a feat, gave an order to place in his hands o
bow and arrow, causing him to be told that he should draw
when he beard the sound. He excused himself, saving that no
one could direct him to shoot when the king was present but
the king himself. ‘This message was brought to Mirin Shah,
who assented, not knowing the trick that the prisoner meant
to play him. When he said * Shoot,* the prisoner, having be-
forebiand his arrow in readiness in his bow, let it off straight
at the place whence came the king's voice, and with such
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dexterity that it penetrated his chest and killed him on the

spot.  This king, Sultin Miran Shih, reigned nineteen years,
three months, and five days, and came to the end of his mis-
fortuties, leaving in his place his firstborn son, Abuxaid (Abg
Sa‘td) [63)*

OF THE THIRD KING OF TAIMUR-I-LANG'S
FAMILY, SULTAN ABUXAID (ABD sA‘ID)

This king did not yield to his paople the love and affection
that his two predecessors had done.  On the contrary, he was
a great tyrant, and did much injory to his vassals, chastising
theny most rigorously and unjustly, This was the reasan that,
seeing themselves so oppressed, they resolved upon slaying their
king and delivering themselves from such an encumbrance.
Abt SaTd learnt that not only the peaple, but also the nobles
of the court, were resolved to kill him, He therefore decided to
ubsent himsell. Disguising himself in the garb of a mendi-
cant, and taking with him two servants; he would beg alms in
foreign lands, and thus escape with his life,

He tled, and the nohles placed upon the throne his brother,
expecting to secure better treatment from the second son of
Mirin Shih than they had obtained from the elder brother,
But they were treated according to the proverb, * Whoever flecs

from the lesser evil often finishes with falling into greater.’ *

For this second som, without right or reason, ordered the
beheadal of high and low, rich and poor, lords und Serving-
men, making no distinctions. Not content with robbing them
of wealth and honour, he wanted in addition to drink the blood
of the innocent.

Therefore they decided to go in search of Aba Sa%d, and
request him to be good enongh once more to take an himself
the care of governing the kingdom. After much exertion they
found him, and raised him to the throne. In place of giving
thanks to his brother for the vengeance he had taken upon the
rebels, and for the life which he had conceded to him, e {Aba

* Really, Mirsn $hah only survived his father three years : Abl Sa'id was sop

fls wom, bus by grasicdwon,
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Sa‘fd) was a cruel fratricide.  For, forgetting the favours that he
had received from God, he sent a tymnnical order to have his
brother beheaded. Thus began the evil custom still followed
in the Mogul realm, that on the death of their father one
brother seeks the means of killing all his brethren, never
failing in this if he finds a chance, as can be seen further on in
my story.

The two servants who had accompanied Abi Safid in his
misfortunes, seeing him once more king, locked forward to
great rewards for the fidelity they had displayed. But the
king overlooked their great love and affection. At length,
receiving nothing at all, they decided to go in person to the
king, praying him to be so good as to give them some office as
a recompense for the fatigues, hardships, and pains that they
had endured on his account. On hearing the request of these
faithful servants, in which they set forth the burdens that they
had bome on his account, and prayed for some reward, Abd
Said frowned, and in u harsh and menacing voice told them to
go away and never come again into his presence.. They were
astonished at this kind of talk, and made petition most humbly
that they desired to know the offences for which he was angry
with them. For they were as faithful in his misfortunes as in
his greatness [64], while others tarmed him ont and persecuted
him to the death. He answered that from this very canse he
detested the sight of them, for beholding them brought o
mind his sufferings, whereby he was made sad. Therefore
they must depart.  He did them a great favour in not ordering
their heads to be cut off.  But he warned them not to remain
in his territories, for it wonld not be very long before he executed
that design, which had been in his mind for a long time.

Besides hearing it from the chronicles, this story was fre-
quently reluted to me by Mirza Ad,’ who was manager of the
estate of the queen, wife of Aurangzeb and mother of Shak
‘Alam, when I complained that Shah ‘Alam did not carry out
the promises he had made to me on the oceasions when 1 was
indispensable to him for the treatment of his women, I was

! Perliaps meant for Mir Hadl, There was such & person. but I have #o
cevidenes that e held] the olfice refermed 10,
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then, as will be seen in my second part, physician to his house-
hold, This man (Mirza Ad), who was a very great friend of
mine, and a person without private interests to serve {a thing
to be remarked o, as being so rare among Mahomedans), said
to me that the Mogul kings were the descendants of the above
king (Abn Sa'id).. They bestow gifts on anyone when they
require him, but the gifts and the memory of the benefits
received cease directly the time of necessity has passed. This
puts me in mind of the Italian proverb: Passato il ponto, gabato
il fato (* The bridge crossed, Fate is moeked 7).

This king in his time did nothing of any value. He loved to
be always at peace, and take his eise at home amidst the
sndearments of his women. Thus, after a reign of eight years,
one month, and twelve days, he died, leaving behind him two
evil precedents for the Moguls, The hrst was the nssassination
of brothers: and the second one, shured by almost all their
great men, the speaking of fair words, and backing them by
oaths upon the Alcorad (the Curin, when they are pressed
by necessity, and declining to be bound by those promises when
the necessity no longer exists.

OF SULTAN SECOMOR (SHEKH ‘UMAR), FOURTH
KING OF THE FAMILY OF TAIMOR-1-LANG

When Suliin Abi Sa'id died, he left his eldest son, named
Sultin Secomor (Shekh *Umar), heir to his kingdom, but not
to his great wickedness, Thus the son was much esteemed
and loved by his peaple, feared and respected by all the neigh-
bouring kings. These latter, recollecting the conquests of
Taimr-i-lang, dreaded that he (Shekh 'Umar) might be inhesitor
and imitator of kis great-grandfather—he who had conguered
many kingdoms witl such ease. But be was satisfied with
what he had inherited and acquired, and desired to live in
peace, having found that everyone respected him,

The Mahomedans are very keen on breeding pigeons in large
mimbers ; they make them fiy all together, calling out, whistling,
and waving with 2 cloth fastened at the end of [65] 2 stick, run-
ning atd making signals from the terraced roofs, with a view of

—r
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encouraging the pigeons to attack the flock of someone else.
In this way the flocks are so trained that they fight in the air,
Then, when the owners whistle and make the signs above
described, the pigeons assemble and fiy away to their homes,
except n few, who, losing their way in the confusion, allow
themselves in their innocence to be carried off along with their
adversaries. It is for this end that they fly these Hocks, and
over and over again they send them out and win more pigeons.
Every owner is overjoyed at secing his own' pigeons the most
dexterous in misleading their opponents. _

Sultan Shekh ‘Umar was much enamoured of this game. At
last. on one occasion, he was running from one end to the othor
of his roof with the stick in his hand, making sigas and
whistling, when he fell by aceident to the foot of the palace
wall, and was dashied to picces, leaving an example to his
descendants to be more careful, and to erect a defence on their
roofs to prevent such a fall.  For this reason they make fences
of large ornamented pillars, This king reigned twenty and five
years, two months; and seven days, leaving his eldest son as
heir to the kingdom.

OF THE FIFTH KING, SULTAN MAHAMED
(MAHMUD)

He was a strict observer of the Mahomedan faith, an enemy
of idols, and consequemtly of the Hindds. He made war
against them many times, and defeated many petty Hindid
kings, rendering them tributaries of his crown. This king nover
failed to read the Qurdn many times a day, and thus covered
his iniquity, for ‘he was very ambitious and covetous. He
never failed to deaw profit from any opening for the aequisition
of territory or the defeat of o neighbouring prince,

Omnce it happened that he gained a great victory over a Patani
(Pathiin] king in the open ficld, not far from the mountains-of
those Pathans, After the battle he rode out, towards the

! The peraon intended s, | supipee, Suliin Mahmpd, died goo H., second son
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evening, puffed up with the spectacle of the numerous deaths
that his army had caused among the enemy. He was full of
vain-glory at seeing so many dead bodies, and, unable to con-
tain himself for joy, made various demonstrations, and made
up his mind to continue this career of victory. Buta Pathin—
I know not whether out of fright or for some other cause—had
hidden among the corpses. Seeing the king unprotected and
an horseback, he let fly an arrow, with which he ended the
vain-glary, the victories, and the projects of Sultin Mahmod,
After a reign of eight years, ane month, and fourteen days, he
left his immense treasures to his firstborn son, Sultin Bibar [06].

SULTAN BABAR, THE SIXTH KING

Although Sultan Babar had inherited so much wealth from
his father, Sultin Mabmild, he was not thereby induced to be
conitant with the countries conquered by his predecessors.  But
instignted by their victories, lie, too, was anxious to give like
proof of his valour. For this reason he warred against divers
petty princes of Hindostan, until at Jength he came against the
King of Dihlf, of Pathiin rice, Sulthn Amavisa! A sanguinary
battle ensued, and after the war had taken various turns, he
(Babar) succeeded in killing the said Sulisn Ibeihim Shal,
Thus the victorious Babar took the city of Dihli, and there set
:upn the throne, which is still oceupied by the kings, his descen-

ts

This city was founded by & powerful Hindo king called
Biguer Magid (Bikramajit), by whom the name of Dihli was
given toit.  The meaning is * steadfast.'* It was here that he
established his court : furthermore, he believed that no one
could ever capturg the city, But the Sultin Alandin (*Ald-ud-
din), a Pathiin king, came down and conquered the Hindg king,
and began to reign at the selfsume capitil in the year one
thousand and ninoty:five or thereubouts, The Puthins con-
tinued o govern Hindustin for four hundred and twenty-lour

P Amnvi Xa s, 1 presie intmided for 1r8him Shah (ss19°1520),
i l-‘l.u_h \Uppesds, oo othe contrary. that e game b from & word dekal
ttrembling, ababing.* the sl taiing wo locee thut 5 test-peg woald nat bold - “‘r
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years, a little less or more, until Sultin Babar of the Magul

race conquered Sultin Ibrahim Shak

five hundred and nineteen,!

with the name of each and the number of years he reigned.

]

NAMES OF THE PATHAN KINGS.

in the year one thousand

After this mention of the Pathin kings I give their number,

+ Sulian Alnudin (Fire of the Faith), Al-gdliz ... ..

Sultan Xabodin (Crown of the Faith), Shahibud-din

4 Saltan Magnidin gors (Soldier of the Faith), Mu‘tzz-nid-
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din, Ghor .,

«dn default of & male hair, the daighier of Soltan

Maxudin, Gorl, socceeded, called Tiki Raga [Bitd
Rigiyah)—ihat bs, * Presperous Cveen “ 167] ... o

- Sultn Nassuridin, ber son (Viciodows i (he Faiilly),

Nugtraddm . I -
Sulian fugodin (Veice in the Faith), Ghivayud-din ..,

. Sultan Geluludin (Linpassioned in the Fuith), Jalal-od-din

Sultan Cotsbdin Assea {Northin iha Falth), Quthud din
Sultut Teelpe (Standard of the Faith}, Muhammad
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Sdltan Mahamed Adel {Thatks (o Gend), Muhammad
‘Al . Sa I :
Sultss Furnsss (Of Lucky Day), Firag Shith .
Sultan Pecoxs (Hoyal Salng), #ir2 Shal
Saltan Fatera (Vicrarious King), Fath Shih
Sultan Bibar (The Lion), Baber ... ..
Sullan Amaneicag [ The Esntrnated), Aminn Khsin
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Sultan Mobares {May it be lucky), Mabirie .,
Selun Malizmed | Pratie 1o Cod), Mulimmmad .,

. Sultan Jacodin Lodi (Voice it the Faith), Glsisds od-dind
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BABAR'S RULE AND CHARACTER i

Lemdrn or Remis,

Vwara Months, Duys
24 Sultan Ebrabm [Admimtion), lbeihim . § S a 3

15 Salian Babar Calandar (The I'oar Lion), Bibar, Kallatar ! 4 9
oh, Sulen Amayin Gon (Regal Grandeur), Hmym;,

G!:u:rl — 21 P ]

27. Sultan Xumxa (The Sun), Sber Shab? |, L B & 3

:‘fl Saltan Salemza (Wellare of the Laws), Salim Shl.!'l. i 5 10 g

1, ‘Sultan Festesa (Brave Warrior), Frme Shah? .., a o 15
do. Sultan Mabmmed Adil (Doer of Justics), !rinh:lﬂtmm‘i

‘Adil = 1 3 t

it. Sultan Amimiza tLlulltul l-'um‘r lhnlhl:u !:hth‘ 2 L] o

This was the lost of the kings of Pathian race [68]. I will
not note what 1 have seen in the chronicles, a task for which
I shonld require many vears, It is impossible to describe all
the different events of their rule—the conquests that they made,
or their political acts. All 1 shall say is that they were bar-
barous, avaricious, and harsh. They were the first Mahomedans
to descend from the western frontier into Hindistin, their
abode being up to the present day between the river Indus and
Kabul.

Bibar waz much loved by his people, who saw he possessed
good qualities, was a conqueror full of liberality and generosity,
and fond of making large presents. Above all, they found that
he observed the greatest care in seeing that strict justice was
done.  When a people is well ruled, the king must be very
energetic.  Still, the chief cause of the realm béing in such
good order was a highly-placed official at the court called
Ranguildas (? Rangl Das).! He was so wise that hia mere
word was as an oracle to the government, and of such good
Judgment that his counsels were éver most accurate. But as
courts are usually productive of envy, there were never wanting
those who were envious of this great man. These backbiters
told 20 many idle tales about him that the king made up his
mind to seize him and take his life. This principal official did

U Thin nmme amd the story contiected whth the man are. quite inguemible,
Mr, L Boveridye (he geastest Uving muhority on the pediod, cas caly sugeest
B distant resembildnce to Bagl Cliaghiaiint's wivice (o Babar (ses the * Halib- e
siyar,” Bomimy edition, 1 318 ; Bdbars * Memoing” {Pavot de Couralio], & 274 ;
W. Urakine's * History.of Inadia.' L 200, sod LA KhRe ' & 54)
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not foreses that as the reward of his faithfal service he should
andergo snch misfortunes, in order to satisly the ill- will of his
ivals. He was taken, and while the king was still besitating
whether he should be executed or not, he managed to escape
from prison. Disguising himself, he took refuge in a little
yillage, where, being content to pass his life in puwrty, he was
unlikely to be discovered.

It happened that after the removal of this g'mat munﬁale'
the people began to find that things did not continue as before,
nor was the accustomed justice done. They began to speak
against their king; they plotted treason, and he became very
unpopular. Babar was astonished at this change; for he did
pot know the reason why such a quiet and submtmve'pnp?-
lation should begin to plot a rebellion. Inquiring into the
matter, he found out that the administration was nat in good
order, for his ministers were not acting with the justice that
had been customary, He thus became anxions o find once
more his faithful Ranguildas. He made every possible effort,
put could not discover where he had gone. Bung aware that
the fogitive was a man of judgment, Babar came to the resalve
1> fesue an order throughout his empire that all inhabitants of
the villages should repair to Dihli.  In this way he expected fo.
discover the whereabouts of that great administratorof Hindas
stan, for the villagers would without fil search out the cleversst
men to put forward objections against an impossibility. - ~Thus
through their excuses he might be able to attain lis desire.

Thue it came to pass that the inhabitants of the villuge
where dwelt Ranguildas, by reason of theif experience [bg] of
the clever and approptiate advice he had already given them,
laid before bim the commund and will of the  King. .Ti:l::,"
could not think of what excuse to bring forward at court, for
how could the whole population go? Ranguildas answered
that they should go at anee to court, and say to the king that
his people bad already decided to come to Dihll, but not
knowing their way there, the inhabitamts of that city nust
come forth to be their guides. When the king heard this,
excuse, he asked who was the inventor of such an answer.
As they did not know the man's name, the king ordered them

112 HABAR
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RANGUILDAS, BABAR'S MINISTER 113

to produce him at conrt, and thus he recovered his counsellot,
who in a brief space restored the kingdom to order. I only
kings could know how all-important it iz to find good
counsellors, they would be more careful in the selection of
their ministers, and more suspicious about crediting the slander
which abounds in royal palaces.

This king, with the help of such a minister, continued to
look after his people, and finding himself in Hindostin, and the
possessor of great wealth and of an extensive empire, he paid
little heed to his ancient country, from which Taimtr-i-lang
had sprung. Thus he left an opening for the descendants of
the King of Cascar (Kashghar) to revolt, and crowning them-
selves kings of the territories they had lost, they soon made
themselves masters of the villages originally owned by Taimar-
ilang. Nor up to this day do the Mogul kings take the
trouble of acquiring again the lands referred to, which are very
remote, and yield little revenune. This king, Bibar, after
governing for nineteen years, three months, and twelve days,
came to the end of his life, leaving behind him to his de-
scendants in Hindostin great renown as a conqueror and a
just ruler, above all to his aldest-born son the Sultan Amayum
(HumayQn).

OF SULTAN HUMAYON, SEVENTH KING OF THE
FAMILY OF TAIMOR-I-LANG

As is taught by experience, and is recounted by historians,
the strength derived from the power to tame tigers and lions
serves oftentimes to muke men lose their human qualities and
change into wild beasts, Thus it huppened to Xira (Sherd),
of Pathin mce—that is to say, * Lion's Cub." This man was
transformed into a great lion, for such was the name he took
when he became o king—that is, Xirxa (Sher Shah), which
means * Royal Lion,' This man, from being one of his retinne,
was made by Sultin Humiyin a general; yet, after 5o many
and so great benefits, the king having raised him above all
others, he revolted and turned his weapons against his lord,
The latter was forced to order ont against him a powerfn

voL. L. 4



14 OF SULTAN HUMAYON

army. But the evil fortune of Humiyiin decided that Xira
{Sherd) [7o] should come out victorious over and over again.
At length the king found it necessary to take the field in person.
But as the course of war is uncertain, it came to pass that
Humiyiin too was defeated, and was obliged to take to fight
in disguise in order to save his life. After he had reigned
eleven years he fled and took refuge in Persia, obtaining the
armed assistance of the king of that country, and then returned
to tempt Fortune.

What happened to this king during his flight was a very
curious thing. It was on this wise: Once at noon he had
dismounted for a rest. An eagle with outspread wings hovered
in the air over his face until Humdyin awoke. It thus pre-
vented the rays of the sun from interrupting the sleep of the
fugitive king. The few people who had [ollowed the king in
his flight were amazed at this ocourrence. When the king
awoke, his courtiers told him with great delight not to be cast
down, that he was destined to be once more King of Hindfstan,
thus foretelling what was actually to happen.

After arrival in Persia, the first meeting with the king took
place in a garden. There the Persian king received him, being
seated on a stool of small size, whereon two persons could not tiuke
their place. One of the followers of Humaytin saw at once that
the object of the King of Persia was to behold a King of Hindn-
stiin either standing on foot in his presence, or seated on the
bare ground. Forthwith the man cut open the covering of his
quiver and spread it out in front of the royal seat. On this
cloth Humiyun at once sat down.!

The King of Persia was lost in admiration at the readiness
with which this official, 2 companion of Humiyin's mis-
fortunes, extricated his master from the embarrassment in
which he found himself, being obliged, although King of
Hindistin, cither to sit down on the ground or to remain
standing in the presence of another king. The Persian king
asked King Humayiin how he could lose his kingdom when

' This incident in historical; it ocourred In 1444, and the hero of 1t wax HAJI

Mybarmmad, Koshkaly (ses W, Erskine s ¢ Himory of India,’ il 204, and Stowsrt's
! Jouher," p: 73).
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FLIGHT T0 PERSIA 15

he had snch attentive and wellaffected servants. Humdyin
answered that he lost his kingdom because he raised to great-
pess men who were ungrateful.. After o little talk the sixth
successor of the famoues Taimiir-i-lang tock his leave and went
to a palice, where the King of Persia sent the necessary
supplies until the opportunity arose of aiding him to recover
his kingdam.

Sherd was such a just man, that after he had made himself
master of the kingdom, he had compassion opon Humiyiin
and =ent him his wife, who had been left behind in Hindiistan:
At that time she was with child, Sher Shih sent him (Humi-
yon) & letter, in which he swore by the Quriin that her honour
had in no way suffered, for she had done her husband no injury
during their quarrel, not even in thought, adding that he was
wrang to conceive such a shameful idea of his wife, a woman
respected, well-behaved, and virtuous. When this letter reached
Huomiyon, he decided to take back bis wife and live with her;
after this he quitted Persia, as | shall tell hereafter.

[71] 1 know that some authors, notably the author Faria,
the Portugnese,! write otherwise ahout the way that the queen
was obtained. But he was not well informed, and wrote what
the common people told him. He did not know that the
inhabitants of India are very loquacious, taking no care, either
grandees or poor people, whether they are speaking truth or
falsehood, Many authors write down what they hear without
making the ingniries they ought to make, It woitld be much
batter if, before they wrote, they dwelt for some time in the
Mogul realm and learnt the languayge of the country, and con-
sarted with the officials of the court: in that way they could
casily get hold of the truth. I am one who has bad time
enough ; 1 lived with the men best informed of any; 1 had
long converse with themn, and they told me the wtuth. In
addition to what | have seen in the chronicles, it was no little
profit to me in writing these pages that [ dwelt within the
Mogul realm for thirty and four years,and that I was physician
‘to Xaalum (Shah *Alam), the eldest son of Aurungzeb,

! Tlte oaly pasugs | can finil i Paris ¢ Soven's Lsigry, wlition of 1606, B in
| ngs, st I sozmis to sgese, and not conflict, with what Masuced haw said,
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é 0OF SULTAN HUMAYON

Sherd, when he became lord over the kingdom, changed his
name, and to impose fear upon his enemies called himself Sher
Shih. When he became undisputed king, he never forgot
to treat his subjects with great equity and kindness. For this
end, he sent out orders through all the land to build; at &
distance of twelve leagues from each other, serdss where
travellers could take shelter. To provide attendants at these
sardes, he bought a number of married slaves, and appointed
them and their wives to look after travellers—to prepare their
food, to provide cool water for them to drink, and warm water
for washing their bodies, 1 bedstead to rest upon furnished with
mattresses and sheets; and they were to wait on travellers just
as if they were their own private servants, and provide food for
wayfurers on foot at the cost of the king. Of these sarda 1
spoke before in the eighteenth chapter (1. 43).

Since the time of Humiyln many more sardes have been
built upon the royal highways throughout the realm, from one
end of it to the other. Nor are there ever wanting charitable
persons who every day are building new ones, with gardens,
reservoirs, and ponds to perpetuate their own names. In
these sardes travellers are pestered by deualers, who offer for
sale different kinds of cloth, not only white, but coloured;
also by musicians, dancing-boys, women dancers, barbers,
tailors, washermen, farriers with horse-shoes, endless cheating
physicians, and many sellers of grass and steaw for the horses.
All these things are cheap; but there are no longer dainty
marsels for the foot-travellers, to be eaten at the cost of the king,
or any supply of bedsteads with mattresses and sheets. Still
there is never any dearth of women of pleasure.

In the time of this king, Sher Shih, weights and scales were
introduced into Hindiistan, for before then everything was bought
by inspection. 1t was then also that there were first introdoced
yard-measures with the royal seal; previously everything was
measured by spans and cubits, The king was so generous and
liberal that those |72] who wished to go to Mecea were
granted  passuges both ways and the necessary means of
sopport. Finding himself undisputed master of Hindustin,
and loved by his people, he made war agmnst the Rind, a



SHER SHAH, LODI'S, REIGN 1y

Hind king, assuming command of the army in person. But
be was repulsed in such a fashion that if the Hindo king had
pursued he would have become the lord of the whale country.
However, the Rini contented himself with winning the battle
and delivering his kingdom: During the retreat Sher Shih
admitted that it was his own fault, and said to his confidants
that for a few felds of millet e had run the risk of losing his
kingdom. This he said because the territories of the Rand
yield great quantities of millet.!

Sher Shah was much interested in directing the use of
cannon, often discharging them himself; and at the end of his
reign, not far from the territories of Bengal, after he had
governed for twelve years, he fired off a cannon the recail of
which killed him. He was buried in the middle of a great
reservoir, not far from a plice called Samchergad (Saszerdm),
where 1 was several times, bat it is not warth while to speak
of that.*

The king, Sher Shih, being dead, Hindostan fell into con-
fusion, for there were many who tried to become king and
govern it. Thereupon a holy mendicant (fagir) named
Xadaolah (Shah Daolah),* sent off in great haste one of his
faithful disciples with boots snd a whip as a present to the
king, Humiyan, and a message to the effect that Effort was the
Mother of Good Luck. Humiy(n understood what Shih
Dalak meant. With great skill he asked help from the King
of Persia, promising to show him gratitude, and should be win
buck Hindistin, to give him the conntry from the confines of
Candar (Qandahdr) as far ss the town of Serend (Sihrind),
which lies at a distance of cighty-four leagues from the city of
Dihll. The king sent to him twelve thousand selected horse-

| This was iin 1544 (compare Elphinstone, * History,” 390, whete the story Iy
given’, see aluo the Jin.ddblarl, Jorrete, il 2y1).

® 1ni wpite of thia sesrtiom, it s doubeful whether Manuveci could eyer have
been at Sassuram (in Bebir) '

& Shal Dalah, Gujarsil, Pasjibi, s the person fntendmd - Thert s howerer,
& clesr nmichroatim @ for, at the earliest, that holy man wes born cros 13071368,
while Humigfin rocoversd DIkl in 1555 amd died in 1556, The siat's shiring
in in Gujarht town (se Kharteslalaifipek, i, 103, and 5, Mabomed Latif in
Joswewsl uf the Royad Aviutie Socidy, July, 1306, p. $74).
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men, and advised him to make use of the Rajput princes in
attacking and defeating the powerful Pathin tribe.

Thus he (Humiyin) left Persiz with his son who was born
there, and went off to tempt Fortune anew, and try to get back
his throne. He entered his former térritories, and continuously
added to his army from the men of Cabal (Kibul), the Baloche
(Biloch), Gaqueres (Ghakkars), and Rijputs. He was uninter-
ruptedly victarious over the forces of his enemies. Anticipating
that it would be difficult to capture the city of Laor (Liher),
he had recourse before he reached it to the fllowing deception,
He chose live hundred valiant men of high spirit and reckless-
ness, who dressed themsslves like hermits in tattered miment,
and went burefooted with chaplets of beads in their hands.
They represented themselves as specially holy men, and gave
out {73] that they were on thoir way to Mecea. They entered
the city, and assembled below the palace of the governor,
called Aziscan (‘Aziz Khin), of the Pathin tribe, and demanded
alms for themselves, so that they might be able to go on their
road..  *Aziz Khin compassionately sent and called them
within the fortress, in order to give them food and some help
in monoy, thereby hoping for o reward to his own soul. They
came into his presence most devautly, but resalute to carry ont
their trick, On drawing near to the governor, they began to
pray God to grant him great reward for the alins he had given
them,  Then, drawing their swords from beneath their eloaks,
they cut him to pieces, and gaining possession 6f the fortress,
slew all that were found there.) The result of the trick was
notified to Humayin, who, marching on without delay, made
himsell master of Lihor. After a short time he left it, in order
to capture the city of Dihli. He fought several battles;, the
principal one in the neighbourhiood of Pinipat, three days’
Journicy before arriving at Dibli. There be fought a very stiff
battle, and in it the Pathan who called himself king having:
been killed, Humayiin became once more Jord of Hindistan,
and brought the Pathins under subjection,

First of all Humiyfin remembered the holy mendicant Shals

! Thern i§ nothiig about this in the Aftarwimnh, por any mention of &n
*heie Ehln (see H. Boveridge's trandailes |, Gay), J
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Diilah, to whom he gave villages and an jncome sufficient for
him and his descendants, also muny privileges, of which they
have the enjoyment to this day, This faqir is venerated as a
saint, the Mogul kings and princes having much respect for the
village which contains his tomb. This village is not far from
the town of Little Guzurate (Gujarit), forty leagues from
Lihor. His descendants are much favoured and receive many
presents from the Mogul princes, But he (Humiyun) did not
know that he had to die so soon, and his death came to pass in
the following manner:

Humayin knew full well that after the years of our life all
men, great and small, king and subject, are bound to quit this
world, He therefore took steps to prepare a mausoleum where
his body should repose, He issued orders for the preparation
of the materials, and he had already selected the site. This was
at the approach to Dihli, close to a long bridge of twelve
arches! While the building was being erected he was anxions
to inspect it, and mounted to the highest point, not foreseeing
that he was going to his destruction. Leaning his breast upon
hie staff, he admired the beauty and nobility of the structure.
His staff slipped, and he fell to the bottom, breaking his bones.
He was buried in the building, which stands in the midst of &
[74] great garden. 1t is adomed inside with many paintings
and stones of varions kinds, and the roof of the dome is gilded.
At this mausoleum, as well as in those of all the kings, there is
placed an official of position, having a good salary, who looks
after the building and distributes abundant alms to the poor,
for which purpose there is # special income. 1t is his duty to
enter the vault once évery day, to sweep it out, to place over
the tomb a coverlet made of rich brocade, and upon this again a
quantity of flowers—such as roses, jnsming, and other sweet-
smelling blcssoms. At the sides of this covering are placed the
arms of the dead king—that is to say, his quiver full of arrows,
his bow, his sword, dagger ar poignard, lance, musket—all of
them weapons of the greatest price.  Once 1 obtained entrance

b This ia tlie Bimhpalah (twelve-arched) bridie, biidld In 3852, The tomb i
sbout haif » mile 10 1he narth of it (se Carr-Stephen, * Archuology of Dalhi,’
203, 309}
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to this mansoleum through the favour of one of my friends, us [
will relate when speaking of Akbar's tomb (1., ga).

Humidyan died two years, nine months, and fourteen days
after he had recovered his kingdom, leaving an only son called
Akebar (Akbar).

-

OF AKBAR, THIRD KING OF HINDUSTAN AND
EIGHTH OF THE FAMILY OF TAIMUR-I-LANG

If any of the Mogul kings inherited the valour and judgment
of Taimiir-i-lang, it was, without contradiction, the king Akbar,
who was born in Persia® at the time when his father, Humaytin,
wits living there, as | have already stated above (1., 72). This
king, ndopting the advice given to his father by the King ol
Persia, allied himselfl to several Rajput princes, thus bringing
them over 1o his side. With their aid he conguered the greater
pait of Hindistin, routing the remaining Pathins in different
battles and bringing them into subjection to his orders. So
great was the dread in which Akbar was held by the Hindd
princes that they came to offer their services, paying him
tribute and voluntarily giving him their daughters. He re-
ceived them all with open arms; but he forced them to fight
against the other Hindd princes, aiding them with his ‘own
army. In this way he destroyed many of them in thos= days.
Still, in spite of all this, the Hindas are up to this day more
numerous than the Mahomedans. But they can do nothing
against the Moguls, for from of old time it has been the fashion
of the Rijputs to dispute among themselves. If they were only
of one mind they would be able to thrust out every other
tribe and race [75]. Although the conquests of Akbar were
many, I will recount oaly some of the principal ; still, in this
king’s time same special events have happened, and 1 will take
leave to give to my readers some notion theseof, at which they
will rejoice not a little, '

In the first place it is fitting to speak of the conquest that he
made of the kingdom of Gozurate (Gujiarat) from the king
Sultin Bahader (Bahidur), It was from him at the same

' Aa i well knowen, Akbur was bors Jan Siid, mot In Persia.
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Y CAMPAIGNS IN GUFARAT AND THE DAKHIN 121

period that the Portuguese took the fortress of Dio (Din), which
is in the vicinity of Srat and Cambaya (Kambiyat). At his
death he (Bahadur) left his sons captives in the hands of Akbar,
and there they remained nntil the end of their lives. Akbar
well demonstrated on this occasion how impartant it is for
king to be present himself during an enterprise of importance,
for his forces being in battle array opposite those of Sultdn
Bahadur, his captains began to talk of avoiding an action for
fear of being beaten, since Bahadur's army was much the more
powerful, When Akbar learnt this, he hurried in person to the
spot, although at a distance of four days' journey from the army,
and thus 30 completely restored the courage of liis troops that
they gained a victory and routed the foe.

Secondly, it is necessary ta speak of Akbar's conquest of the
Decan (Dakhin), of which the principal places are Brampur
(Burhinipur), Acer (Asirgarh), Amadanagar (Alunadnagar), and
Doltabad (Dauslatabid). The two first named belonged to
Melec Mostafa (Malik Mustafd), o Mahomedan. Amadonagar
(Ahmadnagar) belonged to the princass Chande Bibi (Chiind
Bibl), and Doltabad (Daulatibid) to Meleque Ambar (Malik
*Ambar))!

The events connected with the conquest of Asivgarh are
worthy of notice. At Asir dwelt Malik Mustafil, lord of forty
thousand horsemen. Akbar strictly invested the said foriress,
and & scarcity of water urose. Malik Muspafi resolved on

flight, but while leaving the place he was captured by the sentries,

Concealing that he intended to escape, he asked to be taken
into the presence of Akbar, having something to say to him.
They took him to the king, and as soon as he arrived Akbar
asked: * Who are yoi, and what do you want ' He answered:
*T am the king Malik Mustafd, and come to seck your advice.
Obtaining Jeave to speak, he said: ' 1 have no water i the
fortress, only enough for this one night ; what advice do yon
give me?' Akbar's answer was: * Go your way ; if God means
to leave you the fortress, He will equally give you water.

The following night so much rain fell that much damage

i 1 do mot know who i ol by Malik Blagafy - the other two names are
well known,
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was done In Akbar's camp, Repenting of haying given liherty
to one whom he had already in his hands, Akbar taised the
investment. Some time afterwards he retumned to invest the
fortress and took it, as also Brumpur (Burh@npur), sua

Subsequently he (Akbar) went against the Princess Chande
Biby (Chand Bibi)—that is, * Lady Moon"; she also was a
Mahomedan. She defended herself with great vigour, but was
obliged to surrender the fortress for want of provisions. This
princess was so grieved at secing herself despoiled of her
dignities that she made up her mind not to allow her wealth
to fall into the [76] hands of Akbar, With this idea she gave
orders thal all the gold she had should be melted and made
into cannon-balls. Upon these she had words engrived to
the effect that the ball belonged to anyone who found it, that
no one had the right to take it by force from the finder, adding
other words of malediction against him who acted otherwise.
The cannon were loaded with these balls, and they were
discharged in all directions. After the fortress was taken
King Akbar fell in love with her for her beauty, and transférred
ber to his own palace. In my time it happened that near the
sald fortress a grass-cutter found one of the said balls, which
weighed eight pounds and was of gold, When the peneral Bader
Can (Bahidur Khan) heard this fact, he ordered the ball to be
brought hefore him, and directed that the inscribed letters should
be deciphered. Their meaning was that the ball should be
left with the finder. He (Bahidur Khian) took it for himself,
saying he had complied with the wishes of Chind Bibi, and
that he had not fallen into any sin. After this conquest,
Akbar marched against Malik ‘Ambar, lord of fifty thousand
horse, and overcoming him, took from him Daulatabad. Thus
those who knew not how to aid each other were all defeated,
and Akbar remained master of the whole Decan (Dukhin),

In the third place we must put the conquest of the kingdom
of Caxemir (Kashmir). For this realm was not taken by force
of arme, but solely becsuse the King of Kashmir was greatly
frightensd by Akbur's victones, and made an offer to him of
the kingdom rather than go to war. Akbar saw the fesbloness
of heart of this king, for with a few men he could have defended
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himself, Kashmir being 2 country which cannot be entered by
force owmg to the great height at which it lies—an very high
mountains, with steep paths so few and g0 narrow thmt one
man could stop a whole army. Akbar therefore issued orders
that men of that country should not be recruited as soldiers,
that they were unworthy to carry arms. In effect, he allowed
not one of them to serve as a soldier. They are employed
only as tailors—being good at needlework—as barbers, and they
are excellent cooks, Muny of them are dealers in the very fine
woollen materials made in the said kingdom. The people
of Kashmir are very good-looking, of a light complexion, with
black hair and eyes and high noses. Thus there is little
difference between them and the Jews; either in physiognomy
or character, being deceitful and without stability.

In the fourth place we come to the war be (Akbar) waged
against the Riind, « Hinda king whose lands were twelve
days' journey distant from Dihli. The first thing he (Akbar)
did was to surround the fortress called Chitor, the which I have
seen many i time.  This fortress was on & hill [77] of no very
great hoight, but its sides are quite smooth like walls; it lies
in the midst of & wide, open plain, This plain is a league and
a half long and half a league wide. At the foot [of the hill]
i5 @ stream called Nag—that is to say, ‘Snaike)! In this
fortress are fine springs of sweet water, and during a time of
siegn supplics are collected enough to support the peopls in
it: it cannot be taken by force of arms, as will be seen from
this my narmtive

Before Akbar came to invest this fortress, he despatched
an ambassador to the mjah who was governor, directing him
to forward his wife.  If be did not agree to send her, he would
come himsell to fotch her. For be bad been told that she
was of great beanty, and so perfect that in all the world there

was nene other like ler,  Since, also, there was in the world

ho other king of greater valour or of greater wealth than
himself (Akbar), therefore the most beautiful of women was
his by right. [ she were not delivered to him he would harry
the whale kingdom with fire and sword in order to accomplish
his desire. Therefore it were well if the rajah agreed to send

—
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him the lovely Padmany (Padamawati),! as she was called,
meaning ‘the woman perfect in everything” The Portuguese
wiiter Faria mentions her many times.

The rajah replied to Akbar that he need not trouble himsell
to come, because rather than give up his wife he would lose
a hundred thousand, lives, and in case he resolved to come
he would encounter a veritable Rajput. Akbar was angered
at this answer, believing that there could not be in the world
anyone who would dare to resist his demands or risk himself
against his valonr. He began his march to the fortress.
When he heard of this movement, the rajah, who was called
Jamel (7 Jai Mall), which means * Well-born,' with his brother
called Fata (Fath)—that is to say, * Victory '—came out against
Akbar at the head of his cavalry, all of Hinda race and of the
Rijput tribe. There followed many encounters in the open
plaih. For Akbar was anxious to demonstrate his bravery,
his strength, and the wealth he possessed, and at the same
time to prove that he was able to punish those who resisted
him. He had taken with him a very large army, against
which the brothers were unable to hold their own, They
were therefore forced to take shelter in their fortress, where

they eodured an investment of twelve years.| Akbar was
astonished st such great parsistenr.e.—;n‘d%to understand
that there might be found in the world a fortress which eould
resist his victorious arms. Seeing that he was able to do
nothing against this fortress, he made tp his mind to continte
his conquests [elsewhere], and leave this fortress in the bands
of its owner, or, to speak more currectly, he feigned so to do,
in order to acquire by means of treason what he had not been
able to take by force of arms.

For this end he sent an ambassador to Rajah Jai Mall, in-
forming [78] him of his intention to depart.  Before starting,

! Padmim is the firit and bighest of the foor classes |nfo which woment are
diviind by Hindds. Padamawat, & hecoins of romance, s, 1 (hink, meant. S0
far ue she ls historieal, she Tved abous 3303, and was men Ty *AlR-udadln when
he cooguared Chiter, There ars four poema in which abe figoree.  Mammes'd
talis e coostrugted ont of hree dlmarits - (#) The *Alb-uil-Gtn spory L (4) the
mitack ¢ Chitor by Bahidar Shih of Gujarl in 1313 (E. C. Bayley, * History
of Gujarit,' 70); {3) Aktme's siege of Chitar in 1558,
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liowever, he would like to meet him, and give him a feast by
way of farewell. His reason was that he wished the pleasure
of seeing such a valiant man; should he not wish to quit the
fortress, he (Akbar) would go himself to say farewell, if per-
mission were granted. The rajah, who would not venture to
come out for fear of some treachery, and having no idea of what
Akbar was about to do, replied with the greatest openness that,
chould e (Akbar) wish to come into the fortress, he would be
thoroughly weleome. If the fortress had been closed against
the great hero, it was only because he had tried to enter it asa
conqueror; but when he wanted to enter in a fricndly manner,
its gates would be thrown open. The only condition was that
there shoald not be more than five hundred personsin his suite.
Na offenice ought to be taken at this condition; for,as a faithful
vassdl of the Rand, he was under an obligation to take the
precautions usual in time of war.

Akbar accepted the proposal. He entered the fortress with
his five hundred, where he was well received, and great honours
were paid him, The rajah gave him a great {east, and laid before
Lt many presents of valuable jewels, Akbar received all this
with signs of [riendship, and as a retnrm far this good feeling,
he gave to the rajah several elephants and caparisoned horses,
also a sword accompanied by a shield ornamented with valuable
stones, and other rarities. In the conversation that they had
Akbar praised greatly the mjah’s courage and that of his
sfficars, but above all displayed his admiration of the fortress,
declnring it to be impregnable.

With this talk he succeeded in gaining the uffection of the
rajaly, and taking his leave, said to him that from that day
hencefarth he would always look on him as a friend. With
these demonstrations of friendliness and such-like talk Akbar
took his leave; the rajah escorting him as far as the gate. When
thé false friend and grest conqueror Akbar found himsell there,
he ruised his hand to his neck and took off a string of pearls
of inestimable value, saying to the rajah: 1 offer you this
string of pearls in remembrance of me, and as a mark of how
much 1 Jike yoi.' So saying, he put the necklace round the
rajah's neck.  Then he (Akbar) embraced the rajah with both
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arms in such a manner that all of a sudden he dragged him out
of the fort gateway. The five hundred men in Akbar's retinie
placed their hands on their swords, and began 1o strike out
right and left; und men held ready for the purpose mn up and
carried off the rajah to the army before his soldiers could come
to his assistance,

Great were the astonishment and uproar in the fortress:
with equal expedition they closed the gates and stood to arms.
They suspected that the enemy by treachery had made himself
master of that invincible fortress. Al the commanders hast-
ened to their posts. It was only the chief of them all that
was wanting—the mjah ! Not knowing what to decide upan,
they carried the sad news to lovely Padmini., She bravely
replied that they should not lose [76] their accustomed cournge,
that they must consider the mjah as already dead, and that she
had assumed his place in the defence of the stronghold. Thus
the treacherous Akbar would not be able to triumph through
his deceptions, if they on their side resolved not to falter,
Inspiring the officers with fresh coumge, she forthwith mounted
m horse and seized a lance ; and thus equipped, fallowed by all
the officers, she went the rounds, giving new orders, saying
that not only need they not fear the strenpth of Akbar, but she
Wis certain and assured in her mind that they were able to resist
the armies of the whole world, and she could never Jose the
fortress while backed up by such troaps.

Akbar imagined tht, having taken [ai Mall prisoner, the
fortress was already in his hands, and that he was already
in enjoyment of Padmini's beauty, He therefore wrote u letter
to pretty Padmini requesting her to surrender the stronghald,
adding that if she did not make it over to him, he would cut off
the head of her beloved rajuh, Jai Mall, The courageous Amazon
replied that so far a5 she was concerned Rajuh Jai Mall was
already dead, while to take his pluace there were within the fort
other bruver and stronger warriors. They counted this us the
day on which the siege lad commenced, and were determined
to fight on while life endured.  Never would they yield. )

Akbar, seeing them so resolute, and knowing how stiff-necked
the Rajputs are, raised the sicge. But ho left all the carpets
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spread in his tents as a-sign that he would shortly return, and
had not given up the hope of tking the place. He marched
away and repaired to the town of Fatepur (Fathpur Sike),
which he had founded in remembrance of & great victory won
over the Pathins. Here he placed Rajah Jai Mall in solitary
confinement.  Meanwhile he still solicited the famous Padmind
with a thousand promises, letters, and valuable presents. He
sant & message to her that if she would accede to the desires
of a renowned king and congueror, he pledged his waord to
make of her the greatest queen in his palaces. But Padmini
would not consent, neither through messages, nor presents,
nor soft words of ‘intermediaries. She remained faithful to her
hushand.

Still, in order to deceive the deceiver, she pretended to bave
been won by Akbar’s love. After much carrying of messages
to and fro, she sent word to him that, overcoms by his persist-
ence, she had made up her mind to join im. There was, how-
ever, one condition : before she appeared in his presence she
wished to say [arewell to her husband, in order to be absolved
fram the ocath of fAdelity that she had given him. When that
wis done, she wonld without besitation place herself at the
king's disposal. King Akbar canceded everything that the lovely
Padmini demanded, flattering himsell that his pains of martyr-
dom were on the way to be soon assuaged.

She set to work to make the necessary preparations for her
journey with great [Bo] pomp and majesty, She prepared a
handsome palunquin, well closed up, collected many eunuchs
and foot-ronners to surmound it, giving them orders not to allow
anyone to come close to it. Then, pretending she had relin-
quished the fortress into the hands of Fath, she caused the closed
palinguin to be sent out, sccompanied by three thousand Rajpat
horse, all men of valour; following it weré many other well-
elosed palanquins, as if each held « lady of her suite, The
start was so conducted that everybody understood Padmind
had gone (all except those who had been charged with carrying
out the ‘matter), and Jamentation arcse at the loss of such a
princess,

When this civaleade sel oui, a message was despatched to
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Akbar, saying that the princess was now on her way, full of
longing to take up her abode with him; but she sent a warning
not to forget the promise that he had given her, to-allow her to
take leave of her former husband. If the slightest hesitation
arose about this promise, she was resolved to kill hersulf, having
brought with her for this purpose a large, well-sharpened poig-
nard. The whole of this story was make-believe, for in the
palanquins there was no one, while the horsemen were intended
for the rescue of Rajah Jai Mall from prison.

Akbar, who thought that the princess in her letter was speak-
ing the truth, sent to her many times messages with presents of
froit and fAowers, displaying his anxiety to behold her for whom
he had such ardent longing. On the arrival of the messengers;
the clever cunuchs received the gifts, and, approaching the
palanquin, pretended to deliver the message and receive the
reply, which they invented themselves and sent back to the
king. Once they returned an answer to the king that he must
relieve her from such constant gifts, for was she not already
assured of his affection and goodwill? The only thing yetto be
done was to say goodbye to her husband, when she would be
at his disposal. So great was the anxiety of Akbar to see the
beloved Padmini delivered into his hands that he feared she
might take her life with her own hands, believing that she
spoke the truth, and he was anxious that nothing should be
done to displease her. He sent back word that she might
advance in all confidence, that he gave her the liberty of going
wherever she pleased.

On the day that she was to enter the town the king sent out
a lovely litter for her to ride in after she had said goodbye to
her husband, also & number of palanquins and earringes full of
ladies, a great many eunuchs, and all the state retinue of a
gueen. But the men on guard over the princess, huving well
learnt their lesson, allowed no one to draw near to the palan.
quin. They made straight for the prison where Rajah Jai Mall
vas kept, taking with them the palanquin, into which they put
two men to cut off the fetters of the prisoner. On reaching the
place he was freed at once.  In a very little time thres men came
aut of the prison, one being the rmjah, who mounted & good
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harse, kept ready at hand for the purpose. He placed himself
in the midst of his Rajputs, who were waiting for him and gave
him hearty salutations ; then, without delay, spurring [81] their
horses, they rode off, leaving behind the empty palanquins and
the astonished eunnchs and ludies who had come out to escort
the princess to Akbar.

Akbar was waiting in a garden, where he intended to receive
the princess. A messenger arrived in the greatest haste to
acquaint him with what bad happened. On sescing him, the
king with a cheerful face asked him if the long-desired Pad-
minf had arrived, The messenger hesitated, not liking to speak
for fear the king might in a passion order his head to be
cut off on hearing a report of the deception practised and the
flight of the rajah. But upon Akbar repeating the question, he
answered that the rajah had fled, and recounted the events.
Akbar stood amazed at such a report, and pressing his head
with both hands, said in a loud, heart-rending voice: '1 am
deceived by those 1 had deceived!" Then he gave orders that
the rajah should be pursued and seized. But before the order
could be carried out the rajah had gone a long way, there being
on the road many changes of horses. Ina short space of time
hie arvived at the fortress of Chitor, where he was received with
great rejoicing by all, mote especially by the Rithful Padmini,
to whom was accorded the praise of being a clever, prudent,
and experienced woman, who had known how with such finesse
to regain her husband and deceive the man who imagined him-
self the astutest person inall the world.

When the rajah found himself again within his fortress, he
sent a letter to Akbar, wherein he at one and the same time
denounced his treachery, and intimated that, since women could
do so well against him, he hid no fear in challenging him to
come once more to attack the fortress.. He ordered the erection
at the highest point in the Chitor fort of a pillar, on which
were inscribed words 1o the effect that no faith should ever be
placed in the treacherous Moguls. Angeéred and aggrieved,
Akbar marched a second time against the fortress of Chitor,
resalved either to Jose his life or to take the place. It was
invested, and at the cost of much bloodshed he mised a wall

VOL: L g
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with a tower (cavaleyro, a cavalier, or tower upon a wall), and
fought on for a long time without doing any harm to the for-
tress, although on both sides many men were killed.

It happened one day that Akbar was npon the tower (or
cavalier), whence he saw a man appear in the fortress near the
walls to make an inspection. He fired with his matchlock and
killed the man. The following day he heard that the man he
had killed was the Rajah Jai Mall, who, following the Rijpat
custom, was burned lying in the arms of the renowned
Padmini.

This custom was introduced by a law of the great king
Biguer-Majid (Bikramajit), founder of the city of Dihli, by
reason. of Rijput wives murdering their husbands by poison.
By this glorions end was taken from the world the most
beantiful woman of Hindastin, about whom thers had been
so many and such prolonged wars [82). Thus Akbar with all his
tricks could not achieve his designs, und her death put an end
to the vain hopes of the enamoured king. He continued to
invest the fortress, and the Rijputs defended it with the same
valour as before.

The Hindii king, the Rana, seeing that Akbar did not mean
to raise the siege, while on his side he had no intention of
sarrendering the place to him, sent out to sue for peace on the
condition that the fortress should belong to neither him ner to
Akbar, Akbar accepted the offer, and as a memorial of so
many wars a tablet was placed above the gate with an inscrip-
tion to this effect: *Neither yours nor mine for ever,'! 1
have seen this stone several times, and up to this day itisin
the same place ; but the fortress was a mere night-shelter for
herdsmen until Aurangzeb ardered it to be repaired, as I shall
recount hereafter (11., 18g).

Although King Akbar found that his conquering star did not
seem willing to accord him the mastery over Chitor, not in the
least did he on thit account desist from attempting other
enterprises, He took from the hands of the Pathins and of

U Catrond, 42, renders it Ne vom Biz jamais aox Mogals qul vors ant tmabie,*

and sitribates the placing of (hy tablet to the Rint  The text esys e pos, *wan
placed,’ and the words aro * Nem eo e vos pem sompro.’ :
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the Hindias the kingdoms of Bengalla (Bengal), and of Tata
(Tatthah) or Sindi (Sind)., In the latter is the fortress called
Bacar (Bhakkar), of which I shall speak further on, in con-
nection with the war of Prince Aurungzeb against his brother
Dara, the heir-apparent (1., 225, 251).

It happened to Akbar, as it nsually happens to conquerors,
that he saw himsell several times in peril of losing both his
conquests and his freedom. But the fidelity of his soldiers
prevented ill-luck from overwhelming him.  Among other risks
he ran, one of the chief was when some of his captains put it
into the head of his only son Janguir (Jahangir) to rebel.
Jahiingir assigned as reason that he was already of an age that
made him fit to govern, and he did not approve of waiting longer;
he meant to demonstrate his ability as a governor, and adduced
ather reasons equally devoid of validity. Jahingir, then a
youth,! allowed himself, in spite of his natural goodness, to be
led astray by the soft words of traitors, and rose against his
father, oping that Fortune, abandoning Akbar, would transfer
bersell to his side, But it was not so. Akbar was able to
make such efforts that in a short time Jahingic was taken a
prisoner.  The love which Akbar had to this his only son held
him back from the severity with which he ought to have chas-
tised him ; still, he did not omit te give him somewhat of n
lesson.  Some days afterwards, when both were going out
together to the chase, Jahingir saw on the roadside the impaled
bodies of the rebellious captains. Akbar said to him: ‘ Thus
are rebels dealt with; you knew well that | had no other son
than you, and that you must inherit the whole of my conquests,
Therefore, you set a very bad example B3], and historians will not
fail to record you as the first of the great Taimar-i-lang’s race
who rebelled aguinst his father. It may well be that the crime
was not really youars, but that of those men there who gave you
bad advice, for which they have received their reward. It very
nearly happened that, as you had shared in the crime, so likewise -
you should have shared the penalty.  But the love and affeetion
that I bave for you would not permit me to vent on you my
just indignation.’ C

b Thin revolt oocurmed late in 1600, whin Jaluingis was abowt thirty-fwe,
0—2
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Since the killing of these captains induced perturbation in
the army, Akbar decided on taking a rest for a time, to give
opportunity for the remembrance of their impalement to be
effaced. He resolved to found a city as a memorial of his
victories, and gave to it the name of Fateabad (Fathabid)—that
is to say, * Peopled by victory.'? In this city he lived for some
time. Then, for certain reasons, chiefly in order to reduce
some rebellions Rajput villagers, who objected to pay tribote
until they had been overcome by force of arms, he (Akbar)
decided to leave Fathabid and found another city twelve
leagues off, on the bank of the river Jamana (Jamnah). For
this purpose he selected the village called Agrah in the year one
thousand five hundred and sixty-three. After the foundation
of the city, it was renamed Akbaribad—that is to say, * Built
by Akbar! Thus Fathabad became uninhabited, In spite of
this, the rebellious villagers did not desist from their nisings
chiefly round about the town of Matora (Mathurd, Muttea), to
which Aurangzeb gave the title of Essalamabad (Islamibad)—
that is to say, * Peopled by the Faithful.'! Mathurd is twenty
lesgnes from Agrah in the direction of Dihli, and on the same
side of the giver Jamnah., The chief canse of these risings i
their not wishing to pay the customary tribute, ;

When Akbar decided to build the city of Akbaribad, he gave
an order that his palaces should be made of copper (hranse).
But they represented to him that this could not be dane.
Enough métal could not be procured to erect lofty palaces
such as the king desired. Another reason was that they would
not be habitable in the hot season on account of the high
temperature, or in the winter, from the great cold. Thus he
abandoned this project, and built his palace and the fortress of
red hewn stones of great size.

The city i= situated in a great open plain on the bank of the
river Jamnah, which, as it were, divides it into two halves on
the eastern side.  The city is a large one, with a circumference
of twelve leagues, and is surrounded by many gardens. It is
not walled, but nevertheless has great gateways in the prin-
cipal streets. The fortress is placed on the bank of the rivef,

Evidenily Farhpar Sk, sonth of Agrah, & intended.
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with a diteh which can be filled [84] with water from the river.
On both sides the fortress is adorned with beautiful palaces for
the princes of the blood-royal and the grandees, Opposite
these palaces, on the other side of the river, is a large garden
and a village, and many tombs, of which I shall speak
hereafter.

During the time that the said city was being brought to
perfection the king's amusement was to mount on a mad
elephant, simply to maks it combat with another one. This is
a very dangerous affair, for many elephant-drivers (cornacas)
lose their lives in this amusement, and thus their wives, when
drivers monnt their elephants for a combat, break their bracelets
and take off their jewels as a sign that they are widows. I
shall speak of these elephant fights in another place (IT1..20) ;
the only object of what 1 now say is to let you know the
courage of this king (Akbar), of which I now relate the
following instance :

It happened that the villagers, of whom 1 have spoken
before {ante, £ 83), raised such a great rebellion that Akbar
was obliged to go aguinst them in person. He surrounded a
fort into which many of them had retired, a place that it was
impossible to escalide. Therefore orders were given that the
most. courageous of the elephants should be sent to batter
in the gate. He (Akbar) disgwised himself, and at dawn
appeared near the gate, and, mounting upon a very beld
elephant, attacked the gate. In the first assault the animal
was not able to knoek it down; it was diiven to the assault once
more, the gate fell, and the fortress was taken. The driver of
the elephant asked the pretended elephant-driver what his
name wis, as he was anxious to report his bravery to the king
and announce that he was the cause of the victory. Akbar
replied that before giving his name he wanted to know that of
the elephant. The driver said the eléphant was called the
*Active’; thereupon Akbar said that his name was ' Breaker-in
of Gateways.'! The following day, when the elephants were
paraded before him, he gave to * Active' the title of * Active;
Breaker-in of Gateways,” and made him captain of all the
elephants, with an increase of puy. He rewarded the elephant-
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driver by a serpao (savdpd), whereby the man learnt that the
* Breaker-in of Gateways ' was the very king himself,

He had a great deal of trouble with these rebels, and after
returning home victorious he was forced to order his captains
to go against them several times. These officers, on teaching
the rebel villages, catried gut their orders to slay and behead
(the only remedies he applied, and after him the other Mogol
kings did the same). In order to defend themselves these
villagers hid in the thorny scrub or retired behind the slight
walls surrounding their villages, The women stood behind
their husbands with spears and arcows. When the husband
had shot off his matchlock, his wife handed him the lance,
while she reloaded the matchlock. Thus did they defend
themselves antil they were no longer able to continue [B3].
When reduced to extremity, they cut their wives’ and daughters’
throats, then in desperation they threw themselves against the
enemy's ranks, and several times they succesded in gaining
the dity by mere reckless courage.

#  Every time that o general won a victory the heads of the
villagers were sent as booty to the city of Agrah to be displayed
i the royal square before all the people as a proof of their
success, After twenty-four hours the heads were removed to
the imperial highway, where they were hung from the trees or
deposited in holes on pillars buiit for tlis purpose. Each
pillar. could accommodate one hundred heads, Many a time
have T seen in the city piles of these villagers' heads.
Onee 1 saw ten thousand of them ; they could be recognised by
their being shaven, with huge moustaches, mostly reddish in
colour. In the thirty-four years that I dwelt in this Mogol
kingdom 1 travelled often from Agrah to Dihli, and every time
there was a-number of fresh heads on the roddside and many
bodies of thieves hanging from the trees, who were punished
thus for robbing on the highway, Thus passers-by are forced
to hold their noses on account of the odour from the dead, and
hasten their steps out of apprehension of the living. The
villagers were not able to take vengeance on their first enemy,
Akbar, in his lifﬂtimt, bt how ﬂ'm}' amngﬂd th,gmm]m an his

¥ bones after his death I shall tell hereafter (L. gz).
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Some astrologers nssert that the planet Mars dominates this
country (India), for even the animals are bold and resolute,
and men who travel there, through drinking its water, acquire
& great eagerness to fight. Thus it happened to an Armenian
acquaintance of mine called Alaberdy, He had come to this
country to sell some merchandise. After seven days had passed
he felt an itching to quarrel, every moment laying hold of his
sword as if making ready for combat, He beégan to reflect
that he wis a trader, and had come to sell his goods; it was'
not proper for him to risk the loss of his capital. He managed
to suppress this impulse, chiefly from oot being 2 man of much
courage. There was no reason for his being so restless, but in
spite of his reasonings he continued to feel these desires.
Thus it is only fair to assert what 1 did just now as to [the
cause of] this inclination. 1 noted with special interest as 1
travelled about in this country that all the oxen and cows of
these provinces have their horns turned to the front and very
sharp, and it is recognised throughout the Mogul realm that
while only of small stature, and not very bulky, they are very
savage.

On the occasion which was lately spoken of (anfe, I, 84),
when Akbar engaged in the great feat of knocking [85] down
the gates of a fortress, a powerful Hindd prince said to him
that he wished to give him a piece of advice if he would deign
lo listen to him. Akbar replied that he might speak openly.
The prince told him that it was not a good thing to get upon
an clephant by placing one foot upon its tusk, as Akbar and
the grandees usually did in those days, the elephant being
geated, for in that way they ran great danger of the clephant,
when savage, killing the man who was trying to mount, a
thing very easy for it to accomplish. It were better to mount
at the side with the aid of a ladder. The king was pleased
with the prince’s advice, and put it into practice. To show
himse!l{ grateful, he said to the prince that he was desirons
of giving him, too, a piece of good advice; it was that be
should return to his own territory. 1f perchance be (Akbar)
or any of his descendants invited him to wisit the court,
he should send excuses, forn great man never had much
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benefit from a stay in the court of another great man, as the
great never had much love or affection for others of their own
rank.

He said this becauss he was aware of the way in which be
himself treated the princes who attended  his conrt—that is, he
sought some method of giving them with civility some affront.
This he did to another prince, to whom he had promissd many
honours. On arrival at the court the noble found that Akbar
did not carry ont his promises. On this account the prince
was much distressed. To make fun of him, Akbar said to him
that if it were his desire to leave for his own couniry per-
mission would be given to him. This speech allowed the
prince an opening for displaying by his very disgusted face
how he felt the affront of such words, but he spoke not a
syllable in reply. Noticing this silence, Akbar flew into a rage,
and said to him that liberty to go home should never he
accorded him until he bad spoken in his (Akbar's) presence.
The prince persisted in not speaking; he would not say even
a single word. Thercupon the king issued an order that every
time he sat in audience the prince must appear. 1t would be
seen whether he would speak without being asked. Akbar was
anxious that the prince should speak, so that he might give
him leave to go. But he found that after coming for many days
to audience, the prince could not be made to speak. Thien ho
(Akbar} invented this trick to make the man speak without sny
question being put to him. He ordered them to find out what
the prince was most interested in, and they ascertained that he
was very skilful in the chase, and well acquainted with the
points of animals. Orders were given that every day when the
prince was present they should introduce talk about the virtues
and properties of the above-named, but saying always the
contrary to the facts, One day the king asked one of his
intimates a number of questions about the nature and the age
of animals, To these he answered the exact contrary of what
is the case, when His Majesty displayed his admiration, and
seemed perfectly satished with the reply [87], while the Hinda
prince rubbed his hands, bit lis lips, and changed colour,
displaying every sign of wishing to speak and instruct them as
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to the truth. But, on account of his wager, he did not dare to
speak unless spoken to by the king.

Finally Akbar asked how you could distinguish an old lion
from a voung one. They answered that the lion when old
stuck his claws into the ground, and raising himsell on his
paws, gave forth roars that made the hills to tremble. This
time the prince was unable to suppress his desire to speak.
With an agitated countenance he said to the courtiers that
he was much astonished at their temerity in telling so many
faléehoods to such a famons king. He wondered much that,
having no knowledge of such things, they should attempt to
give descriptions as if they were past-masters in the subject.
The other lies be would allow to pass, but must protest that when
the lion sticks his claws into the ground, and lifting himself
on his paws, roars aloud, it is a sign that he is young and is
calling to his lioness, When be walks with the pads of his
feet on the ground and his claws sticking up when he roars,
it shows that he is old and is not in health. Akbar was
very pleased at sesing himself at quits with this prince, who had
refused to speak. He bestowed on him a string of pearls, an
elephant, and a ‘serpao’ (sardpd, a set of robes), and gave
him leave to depart for his own country. But before he left,
Altbur demanded of him his tents, which were of scarlet colour
and embroidered, sending him in their place others of a different
colour. He imposed on the prince the command that he should
never again use scarlet tents, and made it & law that only
the Mogul kings and princes of the blood-royal should be
allowed®kither 1o possess or to use tents of scarlet colour.

Although Akbar took rest severil times forshort periods, ie was
ever possessed with a craving for the conquest of new territory.
Such was his anxiety that even in hissleep he was unable to refrain
from giving hints of his designs. Once upon a time it kappened
that while asleep he rose to a sitting posture in his bed, made
signs with his hand towards the territory of a Hind0 prince,
and Iaid hold of his chin with the other hand, as if defying
him; for he shaved off lis beard as do the Rajputs, with the
iden of thereby winning them over with greater ease. These
mavements were noticed by & water-carrier of the roval house-

*
{
1
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hold, who thereupon disclosed the king’s intentions, saying
the king meant to march against Raja Cam (Karan),) Off
went several officials to tell the king that in the city there
was much talk of his wishing to march against Rajah Karan.
At this the king was much amazed, because he had wished
to carry ont this project without letting anyone know. He
gave orders that they should [B8] search diligently for the first
publisher of this his purpose. On finding ont that the water
carrier was the first spreader of the report, the king asked
him if he had heard this piece of news from anyone. The
water-carrier replied that one day His Majesty had made the
gestures above deseribed, and in this manner he had goessed
his intentions, and in order to be ready for & murch, he had begun
ta mike the necessary preparations.  Therenpon the king said:
*The fault is mine and not yours, for you show yourself rather
; & man of understanding than u culprit, and Rajah Karan is
under great obligation to you.' Thenceforth he eonfided to
the man & more honourable office.

Nevertlieléss he determined to attempt another enterprise,
This was to muke war against the Pathin tribe, which dwells
on the other side of the Indus River, to the west; up to the
boundary of the Kabul kingdom. There are in these regions
several princes, all of whom dwell in the midst of mountains.
Thiey are a very ferocious people, of fair complexion, and all
adherents of the Mahomedan faith, One of these princes alone
can collect three hundred thousand lancemen, all barbarous,
uncouth, and nnruly, for they do not make much use of cavalry.
Against them Akbar sent a force of eighty thousand cavalry,
in order to force them at the least to submit themselves and pay
tribute, imagining that the mere fame of his conquests, which
had subdued many princes and impelled them to offer relinquish-
ment of their territories and payment of tribute, would equally
rmpose on these Pathiins the necessity of submitting.

Thus the eighty thonsand horsemen passed into the hills,
but no one knew what happened to them, séeing that not
one living. creature of them all came ont to convey the news

! Probably Rae Lonkaran, Kuchhwihah, Shekbdwat, of Sambhag, by intended
(se= Ma dyfral-wmari, ii. 116),
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of their fate. The rumour is that the guides conducted the
army by certain difficalt routes, and when they were once
within the passes the inhabitants closed the exits, so that all
died without effecting anything.

During the conquests that this king made in Hindostio,
he acquired much artillery made by the Chinese, who in
atcient times were lords of the whole of Hindastin, as 1 shall
state hereafter under this same heading (L, g8). Although he
had seen artillery fired off many times in battles, he was yet
most anxious to see practice at a target. Bot finding that
his gunners were no use at taking aim, and knowing Europeans
fo be most expert, he forwarded an order to the governor of
the port of Sarat to send him a good gunper,

There was at the time in Sorat a very skilful Englishman
ithey say that the English were the first European merchants
to arrive in the said port). With the permission of the chief
of the English he was sent to the king, who assigoed to him
as pay the sum of five hundred rupees o month. However,
the English mce [8g], like other Europeans, being fond of
drinking wine, a thing they cannot procure in Hindastin owing
ta its prohibition under the Mahomedan law, the gunner, in
spite of all those rupees, was most unhappy. One day Akbar
directed the Englishinan to fire at the target, for which parpose
a great sheet had been erected in front of the palace on the
bank of the river. The gunner intentionally fired the ball into
the air, so that it disappeared. On this account the king was
much put out, thinking that the gunner had no skill in aiming.
He asked the man the reason of such a great error in his aim,
when be had such repute in the art of discharging cannon.
The Englishman replied that the mistuke arose from his not
being able to see; if he had drunk wine he could aim straight
at the target. The king commanded that they should bring
him spirits (of which there was no want in the royal household,
where it is made for giving to the elepbants to increase their
courage),

When he saw the spirits, the Englishman was highly
delighted ; he seized the bottle, putting it to his mouth with
the same eagerness that a thirsting stag rushes to a crystal
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spring. At one go he drank the whole, and then licked his
moustaches. The king was amazed and astounded o see the
great pleasure that the Englishman had in drinking spirits.
Purposely the Englishman made all sorts of gestures to show
hiz satisfaction; then, tuming towards the target, he rubbed
his eyes, and asked them to tuke away the sheet and replace
it by a pot stuck upon a stick. S& said, s done. He dis-
charged the piece and knocked the pot to bits. At this the
king and all the courtiers were lost in amazement at soch o
kood shot. Tt was on account of this fact that Akbar conceded
to Europeans the permission to distil spirits for their own
consumption, and would not allow anyone to interfare with
them. He said that as the European people must have beet
created at the same time as spirits, and if deprived of them
were like fish out of their element, unless they had drink they
could not see plain. Thus it is recorded in the chronicles of
Akbar, and until this day the Farangis retain the privilege
that he granted to them. _

This affair was also the cause of Akbar's fondness for
Europeans, and the reason why he ordered that & great number
should be taken into his service, such as lapidirics, enamellers;
goldsmiths, surgeons, and gunners of various nations, Among
them there being many Cathelics, they petitioned the king that
cither he would allow them to depart for their homes or petmit
the religious orders to settle in Agrah, for the fact was that
without priests they could not exist. Akbar sent envoys to the
city of Goa to obtain priests, wherenpon the Jesuit fathees
came. For them he ordered the construction of a church in
Agrah, and thus first of all Enrupeans became servants of the
Mogul kings.

Finding himself conqueror of almost the whole of Hindistan,
Akbar followed [96] the example of his father, Although he
made little account of his soul, he took care to prepare 4
resting-place for his body with extreme magnificence, For
the site he chose a garden on the road to Dihli, at three leagues’
distance from Agrah on the west, to which e gave the name of
Secandara (Sikandrah)—that is to say, ' Alexandria® |

This mausoleum is a very large dome of great lieight, made
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all of marble adorned with many kinds of precious stones, the
roof all gilded and enamelled in many pleasing colours. The
garden is very large and pleasant, walled in on all sides, with
various seats inside. There were deawings of human figures.
Over these the king Aurangzeb ordered a cont of whitewash to
be applied, so that the drawings might not be seen. He said
such things were prohibited by the Mahomedan religion, 1
obtained entrance to this garden several times to inspect the
mansolenm, being anxions to see the above-named figures
before Aumangzeb should order them 10 be covered over.

The figures in the principal gateway of the garden were a
erucifix, the Virgin Mary, and Saint Ignatius. [ had a great
desire to obtain entrance into the great dome I have spoken of,
and at last one of the officials at the mausoleum, who was a
friend of mine, and also wanted to make use of me, believing 1
was a physician, took me with him. The condition was that 1
should make a bow such as e made, with great reverence and
puanctilionsness; just as if the king were still alive. He opened
the door; and I joined with him in muking a very low bow in
total silence, then barefooted T went round and saw everything.
As | have already said, there was a holy crucifix delineated on
the wall, on the right hand of the crucifix the image of Our
Lady with the infant Jesus in her arms, while on the left was
Saint Ignativs, the whole delineated.'  In the ceiling of the
dome were great angels and chernbim and many other painted
figures. There were also many censers which were lighted
every day. The hall is paved all over with stones of different
colours.

Outside the maunsolenm, in the garden, were many Molas
(Mullay—that is to zay, learned men—reading the Qurin. On
the dome outside, on the very highest point, was a ball, and
upon it a pyramid, the whole gilt. Most curions of all is the
reason for having these paintings; it was only because they
were a novelty in those days; it was not on account of religion.

t Compare all this with Catron, (4, wha eeproduces sapa di cales ab 2 e It
Bresard &or, apdd terns the wallpudntings into a crobific in reliel and two afadiues.
Nor does Manuczi say that ha recoivend nny permission from Anrangob to visis
ther poumin
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During the time that Aumngzeb was actively at war with Shivi
Ji* the villagers, of whom [g1] I spoke before (1., 84), broke
into the mausolenm in the year one thousand six hundred and
ninety-one (16g91),? and after stealing all the stones and all the
gold work to be found, extracted the king’s bones and had the
temerity to throw them on a fire and burn them. Aurangzeb
was much put ont at the boldness and unniliness af thess
villagers, and ordered against them his valiant Bader can
(Bahidor Khan), of which 1 will speak in its proper place
(1L, 252),

Akbar had been anxious for & long time to satisfy two sabjects
of curiosity, which he kept in his heart. The first was to know
what language a child would speak who had not the uss of
speech or any master to teach it.? The second was to find the
source of the famous river Ganges. For the first of these in-
quiries he ordered the erection of a house with many rooms at a
distance of six leagues from the city of Agrah, and directed
them to place in it twelve children, who should be retained
there till the age of twelve years. An injunction was laid on
everyone that, under pain of death, no one should speak & word
to them or allow them to communicate with each other, This
was done, because one set of men asserted that they would
speak the natural language, that which was the language of
our first parents. Others held that they wonld speak the
Hebrew language ; others that they would not speak anything
but Chaldean; while the Hindn philosophers and mathemas
ticians asserted that they must infallibly speak the Samscript
(Sanzkrit) language, which is their Latin, However, the twelve
years having passed, they produced the twelve children before
the king. Interpreters for the various languages were called in

I Xote that here, o ofien slsewhere, Shivl JI s ussd geneclcally lor the
Mabratiahs, :

* Kajah Shivi J1 baving died bn 1683, Anrangzeb sealil'aat bo Bghting bim ia
t6gr. For thia desocration of Akbar's tomb, we il 252, and the nots there
v,
m* For Akbar's own nceonnt, sse I, Bevaridge's * Father jerome Xavles,'
Tomrmal of the dsistie Sotisty (Bengal), vol. Ivik., tESS, Pari T, p 38, Soe also
* Akbarzamah * (iwenty-ssvenih yoar of the roign), * Bibliothics 1odics® sdition,

HL 351; Lakbhnau edition, iii. 244, line 6, and * Muntaghab* {(Thudinm), Lowe'y
wranalstion, vol, i, p. sof.
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to help. Each one put questions to the children, and they
answered just nothing at all. On the contrary, they were
timid, frightened, and fearful, and such they continued to be
for the rest of their lives,

For the second inquiry he selected persons of good judgment
and provided them with everything necessary—servants, con-
_veyances, and sufficient money. They were on their travels
for several months, and at the end of the time they returned
and repaired to the king. He asked them what they had seen
and where they had been. After all, the only thing they could
say was that they had climbed many mountains, keeping always
to the course of the stream, which each day grew smaller. After
much marching, they arrived at monntaing covered with forest,
Here they had hard work to get through, When they had
traversed these woods, they encountered a very high and large
mountain having at its foot a great cow’s head sculptured out
of the very rock, From the mouth in this head issued a stream
of water with such force that no one could keep his feet in front
of it. They exerted themselves to ascend the great mountain,
to see whethir there was any river on beyond., But it was not
possible to reach the top. Therefore they turned back and
reported what they had seen, 1 am unable to affirm whether
this was verily [g2] the river Ganges or not. For it wounld
require one to exhaust one's purse, and perhaps lose one's life,
if another attempt were made.!

There happened to this king several things which will either
be of use as o guide to his descendants or will serve to divert
the reader. ‘The first of these that 1 wish to recount is what
happened to Akbar with a banfund (baniyd).

The reader ought to know that the baniyas, of whom T will
speak after the death of Akbar, under a separate heading

¥ On.this questionaf the sonree of the Ganges and the cow’s maith rarved In
the mck, ssa Barnouilll, * Recherches sar I'Lnds, * 1784, i, 382, whern, in & treatiss
on Ti=Hmthalas's pmap, Anquelll Duperron quotes F, Catrew, * Huogine, L 28,
364 (101, te2 of ylo. editien)  Aaquetll alsa cofern to a atatement by Terr
(E. Torryl, printed in Melchizides Thevenot's * Recuedl,’ L 1o, and to Petis de 1a
Crotx's tramalation of * Sharafoul-Jin," &L 131, 130 (English edition of 7723, il 78],
ot the Perninn Lexd, * Bibliothocs Indica’ Ildll:iﬁl'lru_ 145, 0F Hllhes, lmmn'
Lodia," Bl 4738.
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(L, 100}, are very chary of giving a direct ‘answer. Akbar was
desirous of satisfying his curiosity by an experiment on this
great reluctance to answer. He gave an order that the chief
of the bawmsyds should be sent for. This threw the whole of
them into a great state of mind, and they assembled in much
dread and tribulation beneath the fort to see what was going to
happen. The chief of the baniyds entered the royal palace all
of a tremble, surmising that some misfortune was about to
befall him. On reaching the presence of Akbar, who was
taking o walk in a garden on the banks of a stream; Akbar
asked him where that water went to. The bamiyd, confused
and frightened, shook his head without saying # word. The
king showed himself angry at this delay, and directed him to
reply withont any fear. The baniyd answered tremblingly that,
if His Majesty pleased. would he allow him the space of thirteen
days in which to reflect over such an important piece of busi-
ness? The bamiya left the garden, much puzzled over such o
question, while Akbar smiled to himself. Seeing that the king
knew where the said water ran to, the beniyd argued that the
question must conceal some mystery.

Hardly had the man left the fortress, when all the other
baniyds ran up to find out from their headman the reason of his
being sent for. He replied in great dejection that he invited
the oldest of them to his house, where he wounld disclose the
royal questions. On arriving there he told them the whole
matter, stating that he had not had the temerity to reply, since
the king knew very well which way the said water ran; and as
the king made himself out so simple, they ought to look out for
some mishap. They were all amazed, not knowing what to
think ; they all anticipated ruin, and remained silent. Only
one-man got on his feet and said that if they would agree to
give him something for his trouble, he would offer himsell as
able to satisfy the king without doing harm to anyane,

When the thirteen days had elapsed, men came from the
king to summon the headman. He pretended he was very ill,
and sent back 93] excuses to the king, and said that he would
send some one in his place. When his reply came back; and
along with it the substitute, this fresh baniya was called in, and
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Akbar asked him where the water went to. The wary and
astute baniya pretended to be plunged in thought, as if he had
no anticipation of such a question. Alfter a few moments he
asked for leave to tell a story. The king gave permission. It
was about how he had married, and the sum of money that
his father-in-law had promised him. After the marriage the
promise was not kept. On his demanding payment of the
debt, his father-in<law gave him a box on the ears. As he
talked he moved his hands ubout, and when he said that his
father-in-law hit him on the head, he struck his own hand
on  his torban, causing it to fall into the channel. Turmning
round, he looked on in amazement at seeing his turban moving
along with the corrent of water. Then he turned ta Akbar
and said, us if astonished: * Your Majesty saw whither the
water carried off my turban 2’ In this mode he pointed out
where the water of the channel went. The king laughed
heartily at secing the baniyas so crafty in their affairs, He
gave this baniyd a serpao (sardpd) and made him head of them all,
he being a man of some estimation in his tribe.

If the case of the baniya is a curious one, none the less
curious i that which befell Akbar with the poor man. You
must know first that in the Mogul kingdoin there are different
kinds of poor, otherwise culled faguires (fagir), who ask alms,
The more important among these are the beguedes (be-gard)—
that is to say, ‘liberated *; while others are beters (be-tars) —
that 15 to say, * fearless.

“The first are very rude in manner, using great liberty in
speech, fearing no one and paying no one respect, whatever his
rank, using much abusive language and scandalous words, or
polite sayings, just as it pleases them. These men often enter
boldly into the houses of great men, and if the doorkespers
stop them from going in, they apply to the whole family much
abusive language, sparing neither master nor mistress, nor
sons, nor grandchildren, nor ancestors, coupling their names
with the coarsest abuse. In spite of this the people of the
house show no anger, but sccure their depurture by soft words,
giving them some alms and begging their purdon. 1T the fagirs
are allowed entrunce, they march straight to where the master

yoL. 1. 10
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is and seat themselves close to him, although dirty, their foot
all over mud, and clad in filthy rags. Without any deference
or civility of speech, they take the tobacco-pipe out of the
master’s mouth and place it in their own. With much respect
the master returns thanks for this honour, and secures [94] the
man's departure by some money. They are so contumacions
dand insolent that sometimes thev are not satisfied with what
they get, and it Is necessary to give them all they demand.
Never do they beg you to give for the love of God, imagining
they would anger God by asking alms in His name, alms being
such a petty thing in comparison with the greatness of Godl.
Everyone tries to find a means of satisfying them without
showing any hesitation, for fear of some curse. In addition, the
people of Hindostan are very kindly and compassionate,

The beters (be-tars) are fagis who ask for alms with a sharp
knife in their hand. They place themselves in front of a shop,
and begin to shout for alms to be given them, pointing st whut
they want.  When the shopkeeper refuses to give a man what
he asks for, he wounds himsell on the arms or on the head or
on the legs, and, taking the blood, throws it into the shop asn
sign of his curse. Ordinarily these fagirs ask for alms at the
shops of the bawiyas, who are very timid, and rather than s
such wounds, give them what they ask, uzually some money, .

Akbur having noticed this class of fagirs, who cut their own
bodies, cancluded that such men would be sure to fight with
great spirit and courage. . He selected four thousand as armed
hotsemen with good pay, and he sent them against the villagers
aof Matora (Mathurd), At the very first advance, without wait-
ing for the fighting to begin, all of them turned tuil, and fled
as hard as they could go. On hearing of this cowardly flight,
Akbar ordered them to be summoned, and asked them the
cause ; they had not even waited for the enemy, and yet had
such courage that they inflicted wounds an themselves. Their
reply was in very fow words, and they made Akbar understand
that their making cuts on themselves was not courage but
deceit.  They said ; * When we cut our own flesh, we avoid
veins, nerves, and bones : but sin enemy wounds without mercy,
and it does not suit us to have our bodies cut about by the
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hands of others! The king on hearing these words thrust
them forth, being satisfied at having unveiled the cowardice
and the deceit of this sort of faglr, of whom in the Mogul
cauntry there are to this diy a great pumber.

I will now write of two rases which led to Akbar's Jeaving
behind him regulations for his descendants, The first case was
when at one stroke he raised one of his servants of low mnk to
the position of a great lord. This man, finding himself so
snddenly wealthy, fell into anxiety about his manner of living,
his behaviour to athers, and the regulation of his expenditure.
Thus by the next day he was mad. On hearing what had
happened, Akbar fixed as a rule for his [45] descendants that
they should not make any man a grandee all at once, but only
little by little, and as a fact the royal house observes this rule
to this day.

This ritle was good, but the following one was nothing more
than a piece of diabolical policy. It happened that Akbar had
married his danghter to a noble,  After a time this son-in-law
rose In rebellion with the idea of obtaining the throne, but
fortune did not favour him in this enterprise, for he was cap-
tured through treachery and beheaded. Thus Akbar bequeathed
to his descendants the rule not to give their daughters in
marriage. ‘This tule remmined in force up to the time of
Aurangzeb, who gave his daughters in marriage upon their insist-
ing, as 1 shall recount hereafter (11., 41), However, although
not married, the princesses nevertheless were not without their
hidden pastimes. Recollecting what Sherii—s.e., Sher Shah—
had done to his father, Humaydin—that is, he rebelled becaunse
he found himself very wealthy—Akbar left it as a law to his
descendants that the Pathins should never recelve higher
pay than four hundred thousand rupees a year, that they were
not to be appointed governors; and should only be employed as
soldiers.

The grandeur he had attained and the conquests he had
made rendered Akbar =0 proud that by his ordinance no one
was allowed to sit down before him, except those of the blood
royal. Unto this day this regulation is observed at the coutt
af the Great Mogul. Everybody stands, only ambassadors

10—2



148 OF AKBAR, THIRD KING OF HINDUOSTAN

receiving permission to be seated in the royal presence, Nor
was he content with this, but ever grew in pride, az wo
read in the Holy Seriptures: * The pride of the enemies of God
grows ever more and more ' (Superbia eorum gus & aderunt ascondel
semper). He attempted to found a new sect, o mixture of the
faith of the Jews, the Christians, and the Mahomedans, with
much taken from the Hindis, adding certain matters invented
by himself. His ambition was to display himsell a3 o new
founder of the fuith, and therefore he entitled himsalf * Xa
Gelaludim Akebar® (Shah Jalal-ud-din Akbar), which means
‘King powerful in the sovereign faith.' Buot God did oot
accord him time to accomplish his intention, for, coming to an
end of his ill deeds, he procured his own death when trying to
kill others by poison; as I now recount to you.

Akbar was n great warrior and nlso a great hunter. When
he sought relaxation after any victory, or when awaiting an
enemy, his vswal diversion was to march hither and thither,
enduring great fatigues, in search of something to kill. Since
he was very bold, he went into the woods and wastes and
mountaing without [96] any protection. Onee it happened
that, with the greatest eagerness, he went into the hills to
kill w tiger, having failed in getting a shot at it. Separated
from his men and weary, he sat himself down beneath a shady
tree.. While reflecting on what it was best for him to do, there
came townrds him - a hairy creeping: thing of scarlet colonr:
Akbar took an arrow from his quiver and slew the sarpent
(vermz), the arrow [alling on the ground before him. Hardly
had the serpont died when a deer passed in fromt of him.
Tiking up the same amow with which he had sluin the
serpent, he fixed it in his bow and shot at the deer, which forth-
with fell dead, without having been wounded in & mortal places
Akbar was amazed at seeing the fallen deer lying quite motion=
less. He was atill considering what conld be the reason of
such n sudden death when the huntsmen nrrived, who were
i pursuit of the same deer that the king had killed. On their
appearing, ho gave orders for the deer to be dragged before
him.. The huntsmen laid hold of the deer, when it fell to
pleces, one portion here, another there, the whole being rotten.
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The king was sastonished and amazed, and saspected that
someone had done him @ trick and placed poison on the
arrows. He asked what could be the cause of this thing.
The huntsmen answered that the deer had died of some subtile
poison. Thereupon the king said that before shoating at the
desr, with the same arrow be had killed a snake, to which he
pointed. The huntsmen examined the snake and then begged
the king to leave the spot ar once, for that snake was the
very essence of poleon, (its smell alone was sufficient to
canes death, 1T it had done him no harm it was because he
had sat to the windward, and thus the smell could not reach
his royal person.

The king ordered that the said snake should be kept snd
put in a glass phinl; and he confided to an official the duty
al preserying poisons so that they could be produced when he
gave the order, This practice has been passed on to all the
Mogul kings, it being one of the bad examples that Akbar
bequeathed to his descendants. The official has the care of
various poisons, and when the king desires to take the life
secretly of any grandee, he orders the poison to be applied on
the hood and the eoffs of the cabayds (gaba, Persian, "o long
gown') which are given at his audiences to those present at
court: or to thoes who are not there he 'sends a messenger
with this kind of robe (ssrpao=srapa)! and thus, under the
cloak of honour, abridges their lives I'n this manner Akbar
killed muny princes, who cither, afraid of his power, came
voluntarily to offer their submission and pay him tribute, o,
avercome in battle and wurfare, were forced to submit them-
selves [o7].

The policy of thus getting rid of these great men he
bequeathad to his descendants, who unto this day follow it
with great exactitude. The practice cousists in never showing
any iritation, whatever be the offence committed by these
princes or tajahs. On the contrary, at such janctures he
made n show of being well-inclined towards them, gave them

iots to higher unk, and, if away from court, sent them
friendly lettors. Having thus put them off their guard, be
b Saniph, Mirally * e to foot,’ & complete sel il robes af honoar,
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tovk their life by poison, which was put npon the gowns or
other presents,

He employed another method at court, whereby he finally
met with his own death, The reader should know that the
greatest honour that can be done by a Mogul king to =
favoured person is to give him with his own hands n folded
betel-leaf. Akbar did this honour to warious persons at
different times; but many, having been thus honoured, died
shortly ‘afterwards., This king had a box to hold betel with
three divisions: in the first were the leaves; in the second,
the restorative pills which he ate; in the third, other pills,
poisoned but quite similar to the restorative ones. When the
king was pleased to confer a very great honour, he gave a
betel-leaf and then one of his réstoratives, Batwhen he meant
to kill anvone, after offering the betel, he handed him one of the
imitated pills, whereby without fail the man's life was sacrificed.

It happened one day that the king wished to kill one of the
grandess, and took by oversight one of the poisoned pills and
ate it, taking it for one of the restoratives, with the object of
giving confidence to the other man. After a little time he
recognised the mistake he had made ; tut there was no remady,
and thus, through his own death, was disclosed the way that
he had killed others. Tlis was the well-earned chiastisement
of his crimes, and he received thy measure that he had meted
tut to =0 many others.

Leaving an only son, Janguir (Jahingir), he was buried in
the tomb that he had himself prepared. as 1 have already said
(1., 90, after having governed Hindastin for forty-nine years;
seven months, and three days. There is no doubt that this
king was the first who brought Hindnstin into subjection,
and was the most successfill in war., He transmitted to his
descendants several precepts of policy which, although not
suitable for a mortal man with an immartal soul, who knows
that he must give account before God for all his deeds, and
there obtain their merited reward or punishment, were still in
accordance with the faith of Mubammad, They demonstrated

that Akbar was a man of good judgment, if we are to 511&5'-
of him as & whaole,
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With regard to Akbar's possession of artillery in Hinddstan,
and also in connection with the affair bo had with the besnya,
the opportunity is given me to speuk first of the Chinese,
secondly of the buniyas. 1 judge it appropriate to place hers
what T hive to say on these two points, in order to afford the
reader clearer and more distinet information as to how very
probable it is that the Chinese were once the lords of
Hindastan, and also to paint in accurate colours the astute-
ness of the bamiyds [95).

ProgasiriTy oF THE CHINESE HAVING REEN
v HixpGsTis

I opine that this little account will be of some satisfaction
to the reader, more especially at a time when so many write
about the Chinese, their empire and their conquests.  Althongh
I do not affirm that the Chinese were in ancient times masters
of any other countries besides China, nevertheless it appenrs
to me very probable that, in addition to the lands they now
occupy, they might once have had a much more extensiye
empire. | could adduce many reasons for this assumption of
minie, but as 1 have decided not to write on any other subject
than the Mogul Empire, I leave it to other inquiring minds
to deal with this question. All I will say is that there is a
good foundation for asserting that the Chinese wers once lords
of Hindistin, and that they were ejected by the Pathins,
sceing thatl thoy wete opposed to the entrance of loreigners
into the empire of China, and put to death those whose evil
fortone impelled them to enter the Chinese territory.! On
the whole, it appears to me the strongest reasons for affirming
that the Chinese were once in Hindiistan are the things I have
seen there; of which I will give a brief account to the reader,
Jeaving it to him to decide whether they ever were or nat in
the lands of which we are speaking.

During the time that I dwelt jn Hinddstan 1 saw
varions ancient buildings with many Chinese images and
letters cut on the stones and other such works, all of which

i The second hati of thin venteoce |s obscures; bat it reads w0 in thie bt
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give rise to the idea thut the Chinese had dwelt here. Two
leagues from the city of Dilhi there is an ancient city called
Cojacotobdim (Khwiajah Qutb-ud-din), so named from an
ancient tomb, still existing, whose builders have vanished.
At this place I have seen several times a very ancient hall
built of great stones. In front of the said hall there is a
pillar of bronze' buried in the rock; it is two arms' length
in height and nine palms in circumference. On this pillar
there are some engraved letters, and to this day no one has
been able to recognise what letters they are, although many
inquirers have done their best to find out what they are
meant to denote. The inhabitants say that the letters are
Chinese.

Signs of the presence of the Chiness are not wanting in
Hindostin, These are found chiefly in the country of the
Ducan (Dakhin), where there is a hill ealled Alura® (Harsh,
Ellora), twenty-four leagues distant from Aumngabad, towards
the west. At that place there are several caves dug out by
pickaxes, forming lovely open courts, hulls, rooms, cells, having
corner- stones omamented with various Chinese figures, and
some reservoirs of natural water provided with many steps.
In one of these halls there are thirteen statues, sculptured ont
of the live rock. Each one has its own special form. The
principal statue is one with a wound on the finger and a comical
expression of face; it is breathing on the wound and writhing
its body, The others behold this figure with wonder and
amaze [9o]. One bites his lips, another puts his finger in
his mouth, another holds his head with both hands, another
twists his nostrils; another seems to be weeping ; the eyes of
another are starting from his head with fear; one has his mouth
open, another bites his tongue ; one has his hands folded, another

As 1o this pillar, shick b of fron, see Carr-Siophen, * Archaology of Delhl,’
pp. 16524, and A Haromrt, *Gulde,’ p. 115, The Inscription, in sz anclent
form of Nagari scripr, was fint deciphered by James Prinsep, and, of coume,
has nn eomnection with tha Chiness language or people.

¥ Ellors iy about Glteen miles north.west of Asrangibad (see Willmott sad
Syed Hessain, * Sketch of Nizllm's Dominions,* if. 430, who quote, on pp. 443845
Jean Thevenot's dessription of his visit in 1667). M. Burgess has published n
full nccount in his *Rock Temples of Blork ™ (15770
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is in the act of striking the ground with his foot, one has his
hand placed over his mouth, and another is holding his beard.
These works of art are in an open place. As they are so
cleverly done, and their appearance somewhiat Chiness, many
say that they were executed by the ancient Chinese. Besides
these statues, there is in the same place a fallen building which
seems to have been a tower. At the foot of it are many stone
figures resembling the Chinese,

I also visited the island of Salcete (Salset),! owned by the
Portuguese, and not far from the town of Baszsaim (Bassein).
In the middle of this island there is a mountain baving many
sculptured figures and many dwellings: You go into a very
desp cave which is quite dark. When you have got wiell in
you hear a great noise of waters. An inquiring Portuguese of
some boldness went in with & light until he reached a deep
cavern, whence issued the noise of running water. He threw
in a bundle of straw, which came out in the river six leagnes
from the said cave, near a village called Thani, which is
situated in the same island, near the mainland, The inhabi-
tants of the island, and the most experienced old men, say that
this labyrinth is extremely ancient, made in the time when the
Chinese were lords over India ; that they cut through a tongue
of Iand to allow of the passage of the river, and thus formed
the island. It can be plainly perceived that this is the wark of
man's hand, for if you cross the river at its narrowest part you
can sce {and 1 have seen) the severed rocks.®

On the const of Choramandal, near the sex, there 1s also
a rock called Mavelivaras (Mahabalipuram),® distant four
leagues from a place called Sadmsta patad (Sadrasta-patanam,

¥ Safsrtte (Sdshii} in an kiland to the noeth of Pambiay Istand, with which it js
fuorw conmecipd by & hridgs and canseway. It s sighteen miles long by teu broad,
Tt hill §is Its centre in callod Keneri (Kanhoril ‘Than® bs about three miles sast
of that hill (* Bombay Gazelieer,” xiv,, i Thans.,' pp. 13e-190).

* As v, Codrington poinie vul, this i 8 mete locy. The island of Salsette
ls formed by the Dassain creek juiniog the Thiné croek at Thiand, the jupction
ot being artificinl or through any high or severs] rocks . ithn tidal way of &
not nnusual kind,

% Mah-ball-porsin, or Seven Pagodan, thirty.three miles ponily of Madra

Wity Manual of Admioisration,’ |il S00) Sadeis b= a town &a the consl,
ssven miles south of Seven Pigodas (4., 73k
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or Sadris], where there are many senlptured figures resembling
Chinese.

There is also on that eoast o town called Negapata®d (Nega-
patanam),’ and outside the town on the sea-beach is a large
temple (pagode) known as the China Pagoda, 1In the year one
thousand six hundred ninety and two there was o war betweets
the Dutch and the owner of that territory. Lourengo Piter,!
who at that time was governor of Negapatanam and of all the
Choromandal coast, ordered this pagoda to be destroyed ; and
he converted it into u battery, on which he mounted eight
pieces [100] of artillery. More than half of the pagoda was
knocked down after the greatest exertions. They discovered
in the pagoda, between the walls, many images of a metal
which looked like gold, and up to this day no ene knows of
what kind this metal is, The images were Chinese.

I reserved for this place what 1 have to say about the
artillery that Akbar possessed in Hindistan, because the stite-
ment T am about to make may be held o novelty in Europe—
that is to say, the idea that the first inventors of artillery were
the Chinese. For the most experienced historians of our
Europe write that artillery was invented in the year one
thousand three hundred and eighty by Bertoldo Nigro, &
German, whereas the artillery owned by Akbar was much
older. 1 have seen many large cannon of excellent metal, with
the breach made plain just like a drum. The impetfection of the
work proved that these were the earliest ; nor can the credit
for such work be given to any other nation than the Chinese,
who of all peoples are noted as the most ingenious. Thus it
becomes proved, as the most probable opinion, that the Chinese
were once in ancient times the masters of Hindstan.

P A town on the ses eosst, in the Tanjie district, 160 miles brom Madms, Ap
ancient hrick tawer, o foet Ligh, of suppossd Jain ar Buddhist origin, b koown
4% the China tower {* Madras Manval of Ad..’ Hi s81). '

¥ This |s Lsurens I, the youngor, who was Durch chief or Negapaanam 0
1690, 1ok [=e Dubois, * Vies dei Gouverneiirs gindraux,” pp. 247, #8), He

alao conducted the correspondence with Johunnes Bacherus, an enyoy senl o
the Mogul's Cours in the Dakhin,
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ABoUT THE BANIYAS

Events give rise to the writing by historians of many things
they would not otherwise record.  Although 1 meant to write
eleewhere abont these baniyas, of whom there are many in the
Mogul kingdom, 1 apprehend it to be appropriate fo write
about them here, seizing the ocession of what happened to
Akbar.

The haniyds are a certain class of Hindas who eat neither
flesh nor fish, and only consume grain, vegetables, milk, and
a great deal of butter. They are very desirous of owning a
cow, from the worship that they pay to this animal. They are
80 devoted to the cow, in whom resis their entire hope of
salvation, that in the agony of death they take hold of a cow's
tail and die with it in their hand, By this act they imaging
they are absolved from all their sins; they think that the cow
cirries them aloft into the sky without their tonching those
flames of fire that they have merited for their sinful deeds.
It is amazing to see the foolishuess of this ill-placed devotion
[tor] paid by them ta cows, for when perchance the animal
urinates on the dying man while holding its tail in his hand,
far from trying to keep him out of the way, they say that he
has been made holy, and perform great rejoicings at great
expense in gratitnde for such a favaut.

The reader must understand that it is not only the baniyds
who thus reverence the cow, biit also the whole of the Hindis,
of whatever station in life. But the banipds are the most super-
stitious on this subject. So much is this the case that when
anyane commits a great sin—that is to say, either against the
idals, or by forsaking his religion—il he consents to cleanse
himself of such sin, he goes to the Brahmans, who are their
priests. They give him eow-dung dissolved in its urine, adding
a little butter, some sweet and some sour milk.  On drinking
this he i= ibsolved, and some penance is added. I have seen
ane of these men with o padlock hanging from his lips, and he
went about with it for some days as a penance.

By nature these baniyds are very timid, and object to carry
arms. This is why they do not keep any weapous in their
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houses, neither a knife nor other implement by which injury
can be inflicted, They are very carefal about the answers they
give to questions, as can be seen from the affair which 1
recounted a little time ago (1., 92), and, according to popular
sayings, it is their habit to dissemble even when someone asks
them what day it is (they are, however, much maore ready to
answer il you talk about business). They give a useless
answer; but if the guestioner insists on a reply, they sy first
of all that they do not know. After that, if he still demands
@ direct answer, they say (for example) : * Do you not know
that yesterday it was Thursday ?' If the other returns to the
charge, they say: * Do you not know that to.morrow is Satur-
day?" Andif the inquirer persists, they answer with hesitation :
* Everybody says that to-day is Friday.'

On the contrary, if the talk is of business, they give a ready
answer, and are such strong arithmeticians that in the shortest
time they can make any sort of calculation, never making a
mistake of a single figure. They hold it as a great sin to kil
any snimal. Thercfore, if they find on their bodies any louse,
bug, flea, ant, or other kind of vermin, they lay hold of it gently
with the tips of their fingers, and carry it away to a distance
mto a place of security. In their houses they have different
receptacles full of these animals, whose sustenance is provided
in the following manner: They search for some necessitous
wretch, and paying him money, leave him for the whole night
bound upon the receptacle or the bed, and in this way the
animals referred to are fed ; for these banfyds are of a character
more full of charity for animals than for men. Thus they
mike for animals niches in the walls of their houses, where all
sorts of birds assemble to build their nests. To these they give
food [roz2], and never do them any harm.

In the kingdom of Guzurate (Gujariit) there [s a town near
the sea called Cambays (Khambiyat, Cambay); thers these
baniyas have a hospital for sick birds, and reward s surgeon
for treating them. Once they got an injured falcon, and it
was put among the other hirds, whereupon it began to kill
and devour its fellows. Upon secing this, they turned it ont,
stying that it must be of Farangl race.
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These baniyds have great veneration for the river Ganges.
They say that by bathing your body in it you attain redemp-
tion and become delivered from your sins, The same end
is gained for those whose ashes are thrown into that river.
For this reason, after burning the dead man's body, as is the
custom, the ashes of great nobles are carried from great
distances followed by a great concourse, with much ceremonial
and expenditure, to be thrown into the said river.

The baniyds carry this Ganges water in brass vessels through
the kingdom far and near for delivery to their devotees, from
whom they receive their reward, Many Hindd princes hold
it a religions duty to drink such water. To this intent they
send camals, who daily go and come, even if it be a two of
three months’ journey. There is another piece of foolishness
they have—that is to say, when a man is near death they carry
him to the bank of the said river, and finish off by killing him
by dint of its waters: It happens often that out of devetion
men die on the banks of this river, as I have seen, and the
Hindas who pass by throw the body into it, This will suffice
for an account of 4 people who do not deserve the mame of
man, who are to be found in great pumbers in the Mogul

kingdom.

OF JANGUIR (JAHANGIR), FOURTH KING OF
HINDUSTAN, NINTH OF THE RACE
OF TAIMOR-1-LANG

It is & truth tested by experience that sons dissipate what
their fathers gained in the sweat of their brow; nor do all sons
imitate the good gualities of their ancestors, Thus it was in
Hindostin, for, after having seen one king who was a great
saldier and a great conqueror, such as Akbar was, it had for
king his only son, Jahangir, & man with no desire to undertake
the labour of further conguest, one who contented himself
with enjoying the fruit of his father’s Inbours,

This king was fond of feasts, dancing, and music. Just as
much as he was a friend of and devoted to these amnsements
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was he inimical to the Maohomedan religion. For this reason
he did many [103] things against it, chiefly in not observing
the fast customary among the Mahomedans, in drinking wine,
in eating pig's flesh; and other such things. In these sctions
he sought a means of scoffing at the Mahomedans, which 1
will recount as I procesd.

Once he sent for the Jesnit fathers and asked them what
pork tasted like. They replied that it had a special taste and
# most extrmordinary flavour. He was desirous of eating of
this flesh, and visited the house of the said fathers. There
he ate pork and drank wine, and acquired such a liking for
such food and drink that subsequenmtly he ate it and drank
wine publicly many a time. The learned in the Mahomedan
law gave him to understand repeatedly that wine and pork
were prohibited in the Quriin. Enraged at so many warnings,
A he sent out orders one day to assemble all the learned men.

He inquired from them the religions in which jt was allowable

to drink wine and at the same time eat of pork. They replied

that only the Christians had that liberty. He (Juliingir) then
said publicly that he meant to become a Christinn. To ths
end he forthwith ordered that tailors be summoned to cut out
clothes after the European fashion, and that search should be
made for hats, The learned men were in amazement, and
taking counsel together, said that the king might eat and drink

whatever he liked. I have met persons who were present &t

the time.

Jahiingtr, finding these men so easy to deal with, seized
every occasion to aggravate them. To this end he ordered
the casting of several figures of pigs in solid gold, which he
kept in his palaces; and when he awoke from slesp, on seting
these imsges, he used 1o say he would rather see the hgum
of a pig than the face of a Mahomedan, These figures remained
until his death, when his son Xaaiahan (Shihjahan), who thed
became king, ordered them to be buried in front of the royal
seat in the fortress of Lihor, where Juhiingir osmlly lived.
Many a time I sat there with the governor of the fortress
He used to say to me that if he hod the wealth then beneath
his body he would be a very rich man, This governor's name
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was Amanatcan (Amanat Ehan),' an old man belonging to the
times of that king (]abingir), a great fricnd of mine and of all
Chiristians ; he delighted to listen to talk about the Gospel
It was in this hall that King Jahingir gave audience; it was
three hundred paces long and twe hundred and Gty wide.

Among the other things done by Jahiingir to annoy the
Mahomedans was refusing to fast as they do every year for
a whole month. During the daytime they eat and drink
nothing; it is only at night they eat what is then made ready;
disrinig the day they retire [To4] and go to sleep. At night
they are jovial, taking their meal and conversing with ther
house fully lighted up. This king (Jahingir) did the exact
contrary. Not a day passed without his giving audience, as
he did near the middle of the day for about two hours or
maore, so 45 to incommode the people about his court. He
ate and drank in front of them all, giving portions to those
who seemed to him the most bigoted, with a view to make
them break the fast.  They ate for fear of an order being given
to throw them to the lions. These beasts were kept in his
presence, and were used to put to death whomsoever he
pleased, Besides this, he had a small tray i which there
were some very sharp lancets. When any soldier came into
his presence with a courageous look or with his turban cocked,
he called him pear, and with one of the said lancets pierced
his nose.  1f the soldier showed that it hurt him, be ordered
the man to be ejected from the court with cuffs and buffeting,
saying that a soldier who was afraid of such a little piece af
iron as that would neéver in war-time endure lance-thrusts and
sword-cuts.. On the contraty, if the soldier made believe to
‘meet the lancet without fear, he would double the man's pay,
and his estimation rose at court. The king would say such
men deserved the name of soldiers—they were weritable men
of war.

V Apparently tho mao meant s Mink Moiad-din Abmad of Ehwii;, oode
Aminst Ehdn in the sarly petes of “Aluegte's migh.  His foin sntry inte the
lmperial servics wa in 1050 H. (10640-0041), and heo diad in 1094 H. (1683-168),
He was graodither of Shih Nawis Bhdn, author of the - Maigicul umari” (ke

that work, L. 258259)  In ' Khif Khan," 1, 285, Anmtisat Khds by mamed s &
former Liwds of LAher, He sppesrs agein is Part V,, [ 80,
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It happened that a soldier killed a tiger, and making the
skin into a coat, came to court with great pride, On sesing
him, Jahangir fired his gun at him, and the bullst went through
the man's leg, 2o that he fell where he stood. The king sad:
*1f 1 had not killed that tiger my lion would have got enraged.”

If there was any youth too lively and too fond of women,
he would order him to be shut up with a woman of low caste,
dirty, malodorous, and covered all over with filth. Thus he
would leave the youth for several days, punishing in this
manner the ristousness of youth,

He never forgave his physician, a very religious man, who
came to court once when the king had already several cups
in his head. Jahiingir called for & bow and arrow wherewith
to slay the physician. The queen, who was behind a screen,
humanely ordered them to produce arrows of cane, so that
the king might not kill him. Thus, when the physician arrived,
he shot at him with the said arrows. In spite of this attack
the physician behaved in o very dutiful manner, though the king
never desisted from shooting at him. At length the courtiers,
by order of the queen, made a sign to him that he should fall
to the ground. He fell as one dead, and Jah&ngir said that
he deserved death, having by his pretences taken the life of
many a one. All this he did by reason of the displeasure he
had against Mahomedans.

Some assert that Jahangic was willing to become a Christian,
and this is why [105] he mocked so much at the Mahomedans.
Many times he ordered the learned men to dispute with the
Jesuit fathers over the Faith in his presence, and the fathers
always came ont the victors. Once the learned men, Bot
having any other answer to give, replied: * What can We
reply?  Those with any knowledge are aware that our reasons
are the stronger '—that is to <ay, that the Gospel was falsified.
Of the givers of this answer, among the rest was the {asi.
The father retorted instantly with some animation: *On this
very spot I can prove to your majesty and the whole gourt
that the Gospel whick 1 hold in my hand has not been falsified,
but i the Truth, If you will order a stack of straw to be
brought into your majesty’s presence, 1, with my book in my
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hand, will seat mysell on the struw, and there shall also he
seated with me the Qds7 holding his gurdn. When we have
seated ourselves in this manner, let them set the straw alight,
and thus will be seen which faith i the true ones’)

The Q4a:F was in great fright at this speech; and knowing
that Jahingir was just the man to make the experiment, he
dropped his bead, the colour left his face, and trembling, he
defiled himself, filling the whole court with the odour, but
answering never a word. When the smell reached Jahingir,
he held his nose, as also did the courtiers. Then he spoke
briefly: *1 see that the padre is ready to prove the truth of
his faith, but the Qa1 is already in a fright, and has made one
mistake.! He said to the padre: ‘ Your name shall be from
this day forth *“ Padri Atax"" (Atash)—that is to say, * Father
Fire'! The name of the padre in question was Joseph da
Costa, a Portugnese by race, but after this he was always
called Padre Atash.

Jahdingir, being at his palace within the city of Lihor, which
he hud built upon a river called the Ravy (Ravi), saw a coverad
boat pass with its curtains down. When it arrived near the
royal seat, he saw that in the boat was a beautiful woman.
He fell so violently in love with her that he had no sleep nor
rest ; but the woman replied firmly to all the solicitations made
to heér on behall of the king, that she was the wife of a soldier
of position named Xir Afgam (Sher Afgan)—that is to say,
*Tearer of Tigers "—nor would she hear a word from any other
man so long as her husband remained alive. The king, who
was deeply in love with her, sent an order to the governor of
the city of Patuna (Painah) that as soon ns Sher Afgan should
arrive there with a letter be must be slain, This was done,

1 Catron i, 110) says thin story bn atiriboiesd in Eorope to P Rodolis Aquavirs
in the time of Akbar, Sea E. [0, Maclagun's article on ¢ Jesult Misdons to the
Emperor Akbar,” Josmal of e Axiatic Sociely of Hempal, 1898, Part L, pp. 41, 51,
quating * Buddoal,” il. 299 (* Bibllothesn fidics ) Bemnier hea the story of Pére
* Rtash, ' with- alightly diffesent détnils * Travels,' edition Comsubls, p 2H8),
H. G. Keetie (' Ttk in Indin,* 1879, p. 255) ssys Jowph de Cantro disd st Axrah
In 1646, His tomb s among those in the Pulre Sanio Cometery thore (sen
Father Symphorien's artizle in the Transtivon of the Archaslogical Seciety af
Agrak nbout wemy). Fri

YOL. L. Il
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but the valorous soldier, although taken unawares, killed five
persons in defending himself, Sher Afgan being dead, Jahangir
took the woman [106] into his palace. The condition
made was that she should be principal queen, and her father
be made waszir, with absolute power throunghout the empire,
her brothers and nearest relations to be grandees at the court.
All of these things were conceded by the king; he made a
grand feast which lasted for eight days, and many gifts were
conferred on ull the men at court. The queen thus obtained,
to whom Jahiogir gave the title of Nar Jahain—that is to say,
* Dawn of the World "—governed the kingdom; and did every-
thing that she pleased. She was a woman of great judgment
and, of a verity, worthy to be a queen. They struck coin in
her name, which had for symbol the twelve signs of the zodiac,
and in her time these were corrent money.

Nir Jahin succeeded in making the king drink less than
he had done formerly, and after many entreaties he ‘agreed
that he would not drink more than nine cupfuls. Every titne
he drank it must be offered by her hand. If on any account
he should ask for more, he was to be satisfied to allow her
to put him off by excuses. Many days had not passed when
the king, being engaged in listening to the singing of his
musicians, began to drink joyously. In a short time he had
come to the end of his nine cupfuls. As the music went on
he asked for more, but the queen would not give it, saying
that he had already had his mine cupfuls, and she did not
mean to give him any more. Jahingir went on asking for
just one cup more. When he saw that the queen wounld not
give ear to his words, he fell into a passion, laid hold of the
queen and scratched her, she doing the sume on her side,
grappling with the king, biting and scratching him, and no
one dared to separate them.

The musicians, hearing the noise going on in the room,
began to call out and weep, tearing their garments, and beating
with their hands and feet, as if someone were doing them an
injury, Thereupon out came the king and queen, who had
been struggling together, to find ont the reason of all these
cries.  Seeing that it was a feigned plot of the musicians, they
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fell a-langhing, and the fight ended. The king was highly
delighted with the trick played by the musicians, to whom he
gave 4 handsome reward,

But the queen, after the custom of petted women, showed
herself more angry and offended than before. She would
neither take his gifts, nor listen to the excuses he made to her,
in the end, through a third person, she gave Jahdngir to
understand that the only way of being pardoned for the affront
was to throw himself at her feet. The king, who could not
live without Nar Jahin, was willing to carry out her wishes,
but he feared to be blamed for such an act, which would give
rise to a great deal of talk among his people; therefore he took
counsel with an old woman. At once she got him out of
his difficulty by advising him that, when the queen was walking
in the garden, and the snn was shining on ber, be should place
himselfl befors her in soch a way that the shadow of his
body shiould reach [107] the queen's feet ; then he could beseech
his loved one as if he were at her feet. The old woman got
the queen into the garden by beguilements, and thus the king
approached until his shadow was at the feet of the queen.
Then he said to her, * Behold, my soul is at your feet]l' and
thus peace was made,

The queen, to show that her heart was won by so much love,
invited the king to a sumptoous banquet, lasting eight
days. She ordered all the reservoirs, both in the garden and
in the palice, to be filled with rose-water, prohibiting anyone
from washing his hands in these reservoirs. It happened
that she went to sleep near one of the tanks. At early dawn
she tose, and as she was anxious that no one should foul the
watér in these tanks, she went at once to see if there had been
any defilement. Shenoticed on the top of the water a film of oil.
At this she flew into a passion; suspecting someone had thrown
fut into this tank, She was curious to know what it could be
that had dirtied the water, so she ordered someone to pass a
hand over the cil referred to. Smelling it, she found it had a
viry sweet smell. Two or three times she smelt it, and each
time was aware of the same smell ; hence she concluded that
the said oil had formed from the rose-water like dew. Very

11—2
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much pleased at laving acquired such an excellent perfume;
she quickly rubbed some on her clothes, and went off to em-
brace the king. He was asleep, but on being roused he was
lost in admiration at such a fine perfume, while Nur Jahdin
recounted to him the story. It was thus that the secret of
essence of roses was discovered in Hindistdn; and in those
disys a4 hundred rupees were paid for one rupee’s weight of the
said essence. Nowadays it is to be got for fifteen rupees,
owing to the great quantity of roses grown in the empire,!

1 was anxious to find out the descent of this queen, and 1
came to know for a certainty that she was the daughter of 2
Persian who arrived from Persia as a camel-driver in the
service of some Armenian merchants. He brought with him
his wife, who was enceinte. On the way, near the fortress of
Candar (Qandahir), she was delivered of a child, and one of the
merchants lent him an ass on which to convey the woman in
that state of distress. The child that was bornin this miserable
plight came to be this most famous queen (Nir Jahiin}.
Through her influence the court of the Great Mogul was filled
with great nobles from Persia [108].

This king was very fond of carrying out works for the benefit
of the public and the adornment of his kingdom. To this
intent he issued orders to have trees planted on the royal high-
ways from one end of the country to the other, commencing at
the city of Moltan (Multin), and going as far 4s the city of
Tavas (Allahabad)—that is, for five hundred and thirteen leagues.
At the distance of one league apart are to be seen something
like pyramids, and by these the traveller can reckon the distance
he has traversed. Near to every such pillar there is n village
for the refreshment of those passing by. On these roads arc
{found sardes, reservoirs, gardens, and villages.

The king came out to inspect this work of his, and went
from Lihor us far as Agrah. One night, beiog in his tent
drinking his liquor, he heard the jackals call, These are a
breed of small wolves which exist also in Persia, and in India
there are a great number. The king asked why these animals

\ Thin story of the discovery of esssnce of roses s to Le foned in the Indian
Listories  The place sssigied is the Shilllimir Garden, Jist catalide Libor,



COURTIERS FULSOME FLATTERIES 163

were not quiet.  The courtiers answered that, knowing of the
arrival of His Majesty, they craved some protection against the
cold. Jahangir there and then ordered that they should be
presented with * serpaos’ (sardpd, or complete suits) and shawls
to wear, The order was carried out.  No one failed to approve
this regal generosity.

The night following, once more the king heard the cry of
the jackals. He inquired if his order had been carried out.
On receiving an affirmative reply, he wanted to know why they
repeated their calls, The courtiers answered that this time
they had not come to complain, but to render thanks to His
Majesty for the alms given them by him on the preceding
night. The king was highly pleased at this answer, for the
Moguls are very avid of praise. So much is this the case that
flattery, which to European princes would appear mere mockery,
would by the Mogul king and grandees be accepted as sincere
lnudation. Though they are quite aware of their falseness, they
are pleased nevertheless to hear such words, and swallow them
at their superficial valuation.

I will recount here some ridiculous instances, and 1 am telling
the truth without the least exaggeration. If a Mogul king or
prince sees an elephant or a horse not of very much account,
and should say that it is a fine elephant or & powerful horse,
then the courtiers begin to praise the elephant, saying that{
there is not in the world another as large ot its equal in strength
and staunchness; that once it fonght against five or six ather
elephants clad in srmour while it was unprotected, yet it routed
them all ; that, being present in such and such a war, it threw
the enemy's army into confusion and disarray ; that its trunk
could carry more than would go on the backs of five or six
aother elephants, and other things like this, which, if 1 were to
state, the reader would think me fooling him.

In the case of a horse, they would at once say that it is of
such mettle that it would pass through hills of fice, 1If they
discharged a whole battery of artillery at once in front of it,
it would not, owing to its high courage [109] and temper, stir
more than if it were made of brass; of such cleverness that
you need only move the rein a little to get it to carry out the
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order that the rider had in his head ; and that on the occasion
of a battle it could jump at one leap a river as wide as the
length of a musket-shot.

I beg the reader to believe that it is impossible to set forth
completely the flattéries used by the courtiers; they exaggerte
everything excessively in order to find favour with the great.
On the other hand, if a great man, on seeing a handsome
elephant of great height and well-proportioned body, or & well-
made horse, says something depreciatary as to these animals,
those present begin at once to express all the ill that can be said
of an animal, calling it wretched, miscrable, timid, out of con-
dition, of no use. With all this the great men are delighted,
for two reasons : first, to see others adopt their opinions aut of
mere submissiveness ; secondly, because these flatteries divert
their minds from the cares they have.

What 1 have mentioned about animals may equally be said
about men. For to have the repute of valour, it suffices that a
noble praise a man ; and to be scouted, even if a valiant soldier,
it is enough for a great man to say a little word in dispraise.
It is the same thing also about women. A woman may be
really foul and fetid, but a great man need only say a word in
her favour, and she becomes a Venus descended upon earth;
while a woman may be really lovely, and if a noble for his own
ends runs her down, all who are there make her out to be =
repulsive that never in the world was scen such a coars
creature. This will be enough to put the reader in possession
of the extent to which the Moguls are flatterers, each one
working for his own ends in every matter,

Although this king was of m kind dispoeition, seeking
methods, as 1 will tell hereafter, of doing good to all' except
the Mahomedans, there was, in spite of this, a Rijput prince,
master of twenty-five thousand horse, who considered himself
aggrieved because the king would not give him what he asked.
One day he had the temerity to come with his cavalry to the
city of Lihor, beating his drums, a thing that no one may do
except the king, and posted his army on the bank of the river
at a little distance from the royal palace.

Jahiingir was amazed at such temerity, and wanted to take
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vengeance on him for this afiront. But he did not judge it m
accordance with his own greatness to send ont an army against
such a petty prince. He decided to send for a cavalry soldier
named Mahobet (Mahdbat Khan).! One day Jahingir bad gote
out shooting, and getting separated from the rest of his com-
panions, became tired out and hungry. Mahdbat was the
only man with him. Making some cakes, he got o light by
firing his musket; he then roasted two of them on a little
spit, and sprinkling salt and pepper [110] on them, gave
them to the king to eat. This made Jehiingir anxious to
reward this cavalry soldier; he therefore sent for him and
asked him in secret if he would undertake to kill the Rijput
prince. Mahiabat replied: ' It is for your majesty to order
and me ta obey.' To carry out the project he requested that
he might have a pear! necklace, a jewtl omament for the
breast. and a set of robes of honour (serdpd), and, in addition,
as his companian, ope of the king’s scribes who was his special
friend, also his majesty's boat with energetic rowers. All this
was agreed to by Jehiingir.

Mahiibat with the above-named preparations left the city at
eight o'clock at night. On drawing near to the Rijput camp,
the sentinels challenged and asked who he was. He answered
that hie was an envoy from the king who came to speak to the
rajah, Mahabat instructed his companion to remain with the
door-keepers, and when these men should be heavily asleep wam
him by coughing at intervals.

Mahibat went in and accosted the rajah with & most cheerful
face, and, full of confidence; said that he had come fram the
king to inform him bow much his majesty loved him and
cherished him to a high degree. To show that these were not
mere words or inventions, he had sent as miarks of the favour
he held him in this string of pearls, this jewel, and this nch set
of vestments. He was considered at court to be a brave and
valiant captain, worthy of the most honourable etnployments;
thus the king was anxious to employ him in some extensive
enterprise, and to reward him as far as was in s power.

1 Mahibiat Khin, Khin Khindn, Sipihedlir, Zamioah Beg, son of Ghiyis
Beg, Kibull {see * M-al.17," iii. 384-400). He died in rogy H, (1634-35)
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The rajah; puffed up at this news and proud of the present
the king had sent him, conversed pleasantly with Mahibat,
With delusive words the latter said to the rajab softly that the
course he had followed was excellent, for if they did not act
like that the Réjputs would never be esteemed. With such
talk he kept the rajah up till beyond midnight: The Rijputs
who were in his company, heavy with sleep and full of opium,
of which they are accustomed to take largely, went out a few
at a time, and the mjah was left alone intoxicated with praises
and flatteries.

Seeing that the rajal was now alone, and his companions at
the door coughing at intervals, Mahibut decided that it was
time to make the conp he had designed. Thus continuing the
conversation, he said: * The king is so well inclined towards
you that he enjoined on me to seek every mode of smoothing
away your grievance. He is thereflore very desirons of favour-
ing you, nor does he wish that you should be any mare
offended. Az & mark of this desire he gave me these orders,
whereby you are made viceroy of the kingdom of Bengal."!

Saying this, he drew out a bag of gold brocade, and placing
it on his two hands, presented it with great deference [r1r}.
Then suddenly he struck the rajah through the heari and
down as far as the bowels with a sharpened knife hidden in the
bag. He issued from the hall silently, leaving the unfortunate
prince dead, and passing through the door, took with him his
companion. They got mto the boat and hastened back to
court, where the king was waiting for him impatiently to know
what had happened. He was so much on the gui sive that he
heard the sound of the cars, and with a shout he cried in a loud
voice: * What news, Mahibat ©* The valiant soldier replied
*My lord, the rajuh is already dead.! At this the king was
much contented, and made Mahdbat a great man in his court,
transgressing the rule bequeathed to him by his father that no

§ Mahabar Ehan (Zamanah Bog), while still & boy, wid In Jahkagles =rvice
fram bedore his accession.  The socepted mory of this sssasination iy given (2
CMi dleal Umard,' B 386, and (he vietim was the Uffslngsl Bajall of
lMarganah Bhojpur in Bahlr (represented sow by the Dgmrdon Rojab in fbo

Stubabad dimrict), Jabingir tind ealled for some volutiesr to deliver tim from
this gapiedr (rmatic),
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one should be promoted to great station all at once. He gave
the man the title of Mahobet Can (Mahabat Khin)—that is to
say, ' great affection.” In this manner this man became in
a short time the greatest general at the court of the King
Jahingir. He treated the Rajput princes with great friendli-
ness, and succeeded with great skill in attaching them to his
interests.

Although the kings of this world hold it as part of their glory
to exalt their courtiers, they are not always rejoiced to sce them
powerful, Often the loyalty of a grandee is in their eyes
treason. Thus happened it to Mahabat Khin, Although
faithful to his sovereign and grateful for the benefits conferred,
and seeking every mode of showing his fidelity, he was never-
theless an object of envy, not only to the other courtiers,
whose natire it is to be envious, but to the wasir, Ascef Can
(Asaf Khiin),! the king’s father-in-law, and to the gueen, who
sought for & way to have him assassinated. To this intent they
placed ten thousand armed horsemen on the roads, hoping to
pet him killed. But on learning of this treachery, he (Mahibat
Khin) went to the palace and entered, unheeding the protests
of the door-keepers. Reaching the king's presence, he advanced
closer than allowed by etiquette. The king was amazed at so
much boldness, and dreaded his doing some violence. He
asked Mahabat Khin what he wanted.

The valiant general replied : * 1 desire that your majesty do
mi the honour of coming to my house, for it is most necessary.’
Saying these words, he seized the king’s hand, who, observing
his determined manner, made no resistance, although in great
trepidation. He came out of his palace followed by some
soldiers who had entered with Mahibat Ehan into the royal
pressnce,

" No sooner had they reached the gate of the fortress than
Mahibat Khin gave orders for the king to mount his elephant,
and behind him was placed one of the Eban's Rajput soldiers,

i This isa wrong erymology, the word being from Aadb, * foar,” and it mesny
baagoat, majestic,”  Mehabat, bavirg,' s froma ditfernat root,

£ Limil-ud-daulah Miesd Ghyly Beg, Tahriel, was the father of Noc_ Jalin,
Ho diml o3t H. (16at-33) (e - MaalU." 4, 125),  Asal Kiidn was ber brother,
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blind of one eye, with a drawn sword in his hand. After they
had gone a few yards the king complained that the soldier had
a loxy smell, and wanted him removed.  Mababat Kbin replied:
"It is very obvious that if your majesty [112] had any general
as brave as these soldiers of mine; I should not have ventured to
carry you off to my house, as I am doing.’

They passed through the roads where were posted the armed
horsemen sent to slay Mahibat Khan; but no one attempted
to use force for fear the Rajput might decapitate the king.
Thus the king entered into his general's house. The queen
and the court expected that Mahdibat Khiin, having killed
Jahiingir, would crown himself king, and all the city was in
great confusion. But Mahibat Khin had other intentions.
Therefore on arrival at the house he made his king take a seal
in the best place in his mansion, while he himself stood humbly
and respectfully, waiting on him and offering him various fruits
and perfumes.

The king showed great desire for wine, and wanted the quean.
But Mahibat Kban said wine-drinking was not good, and as
for the queen, she would come, but for the present he should
take repose. The night passed without his getting any wine.
Everyone expected that Mahibat Khin would declare himself
king, but when the moming came this loyal subject had a long
talk with the king. He demonstrated to him that, to deliver
himzelf from death and save his own life, he was forced to make
use of this means and attempt more than he designed. He
had made use of his majesty’s person as a refuge from the
hands of traitors. He complained much abont his mode of
government, telling him that it was indecorous to let a woman
govern the empire. He gave him other reproofs, and declured
himsel{ a loyal vassal; after saying this he drew his swm‘fi;
presented it to the king, and, placing himself on his knees, said
that if the king held him culpable in any degree, or was himﬂﬁ_tf
to the slightest extent offended, he could order his head to be
cut off with the very sword which had been dedicated to the
defence of his royal person. _

Jahingir, finding him sosubmissive, took him to his arms and
said he need not be afraid, no one should harm him ; be gave
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his word and swore on the Qurén to hald him ever as his most
loyal servant. He wonld therefore defend him against every-
body, and declared himsell much obliged for the good advice
he had received.  As further confirmmtion of his love, Jahingir
ordered the queen to come to his place of detention, Mahabat
Khan prepared a magnificent banquet, which lasted for three
days. The queen presented him with many gifts, swearing to
hold him always in favour and acknowledge him for the most
loyal vassal in the whole kingdom. The king increased the
rank of Mahibat Kbin, and until this day this family still exists
at the Mogul Court in considerable dignity. I had a great
friendship with the son of this Mahiibat Khin, who also had
the same title. He was a general much esteemed by the king,
Shahjahiin, but further on I will say something more about
him (L, z12) [£x3]d

Jahiinglr was by nature very generous and grandiose; the
least sum he ever ordered to be given to anyone was one hundred
thousand rupees; nor was it seldom that he made this present ;
he did so many times, just as if it were of no account, while it
is a large amount. The king ordered one hundred thousand
rupees to be luid on the ground so that he might see what
height it had. This was done. The wasir believed that on
sesing its bulk he would be more chary of ordering the giving
of g0 much coin. 1t was the contrary that happened, for he
said he had thought one hundred thousand rupess would tuke
up more space: and thus, from this time, when he made a gift,
be ordered the double to be given of what he had given before,
The wasir repented of having thought be could thereby check
the king's extravagance,

It happened that a Freach truder called Monsieur Bravet
brought from Europe some bric-d-brac, which, although curious,
was of little money value, hoping to sell it to the king.  Jahangir,
who was well inclined to Europeans, directed that the whole of
the things should be bought, and whatever the sum the owner
asked should be paid to him. This was done accordingly, and

1 Mirss Lahrasb, Mabibai Ehfn 1L, Govermor of Kibuml, tdest son of
Zaminah Beg, Mahfilnt Khin 1., died st Amaratdd in the Panjbl in 1oy H,
‘w?"?:lh ‘w] d_-“r[w yeay 'y Maal-U " i w:l. Two somn anrvived bim
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they paid him thirty thousand rupees, which are equal to fifteen
thousand patacas,' Afterwards sll the things were laid before
the king, who was much delighted with such & set of curjosities.
Among the other trinkets was a very tiny padlock, which
Jahingir took in his hands, and admiring it, said such a padlock
was not the work of human hands, but of angels. He added
that no one but the King of Hind0stan could pay the price of
it, and after many exaggerated words he directed them to give
the merchant thirty thousand rupees more; for the padlock alone
was worth the whole of the money. To get presents or re-
wards from this king it sufficed to say some witty thing, where-
upon he would give elephants and a number of rupees.

While Jahiingir was a liberal giver, neither was he reluctant
to allow any and every one to approach his person. It seemed as
tf this king was born to be a contrast to the pride of his fathes,
who never spoke to anyone but the grandees. On the contrary,
this king often walked about alone and in disguise. [t happened
one evening that he went into a tavern, where he: found a man
singing and already memry from the wine he had drunk. The
king was pleased at seeing 8o much mirth, and seating himself
near the man, made himself his friend and drank along with
him. After several drinks the king asked his new friend what
he was called. He answered that his name was Alexandre
(Alexander or Sikandar), the weaver, and gave him directions as
towhere helived. After complimentary speeches on one side and
the other [114] the king demanded food and more wine.
weaver, in gratitude to such an excellent comrade, invited him
to come next day to his house, as he wished to regale him,
Thus they took leave of each other with many civilities.

The following day the king rode out on his elephant to find
the rendezvous. He ordered them to pass throngh the street
where the weaver lived. At the time the royal cavalcade and
the elephants were passing Sikandir was busy attending to
his preparations for the day's work, with a hanmer in his hand,
kuocking into the ground the pegs to which his ropes were to
be fastened. The messengers asked him where Sikandar the

' As bofors (L, £), the paiaca bs bere shiown s worth tws rupess  Yole (653)
says pataca was & nama for a dollsr, or piscs of eight,
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weaver lived ; the king had come in search of him to dine with
him. Recognising that, without a doubt, the man who had
eaten with him the day before must be the king, he fell into
perplexity. He pretended that he had not heard, The king
had now come close, while the messengers insisted on his
answering and telling them where Sikandar lived. Without
lifting his eyes, and as if he did not know what they wanted,
he exclaimed in a loud voice: *Anyone relying on a drunken
man deserves a - severe blow with this hammer." The king
langhed bheartily at this response, and ordered them to give
him a reward, which was so great that he ceazed to work as a
weaver.

A similar case oceurred with a drunkard who, meeting the
king on his elephant, began afar off to shout out, asking whether
he wanted to sell his elephant. Jah@ingir gave an order that
the drunkard be detained and brought the next day into his
presence, When the man was produced, he was asked if he
wanted to buy the elephant. The reply was that *the pur-
chaser was outside ; he was nothing more than the broker.'
The king was pleased with the answer, and rewarded him with
an elephant.

It was not only this once that the king showed himself
capable of making light of regal pomp, for many times he
did similar things, in scorn of the pride and imperturbability of
the great nobles. Sometimes he passed through the city upon
his elephant, followed by many elephants, on which meat was
being cooked, or wine and drinking.cups, bread, a supply of
pickles, and small boxes of fruit, were carried. Others bore
musicians, instruments, and drums, making a great noise.
Jahlingir sat euting and drinking.

One day he came with this army into the royal square, where

was a crowd of mendicants called ! Bequed' (Begaid,
*emancipated ). When they beheld the king, they cried with
loud yoices: *Oh! you eat by yourself and drink without
sharing with us.! On hearing this, the king descended from
his elephant and sat himself down in the midst of them, eating
and drinking, accompanied by music and mirth. The faqirs,
who had already been drinking, began to give every one of
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them his criticism on the manner in which he ought to govern.
Having listened patiently until théy had finighed talking, he
fell a-weeping, and sent them on their way [115].

Weeping came easily to Jabingir; for without any reason at
all he would burst into tears. Tt was enough for the queen to
deny him 'a drink of wine to drive him to tears, and to dry
them you had only to present him a glass well filled with liguor,
Anything and everything made him cry, just as any sort of gift
sufficed to pacify him.

Although of such a soft disposition, he was still very watch-
ful that real justice should be done ; and if he was loved by the
people, he was feared by his officials. These were compelled to
walk in the right way, since, if they went wrong in iny matter
of justice or in any important business, he ordered them to be

_Lthwwn to the lions, which were always present in his hall of
audience.

It happened one day that he was on the banks of the river
and saw u pot carried down by the stream. He ordered that
this pot should be produced before him. It was found to con-
tain & dead body cut into pieces. Orders were given for the
officers of justice to discover the culprit, with the warning that if
they did not find him, all of their heads would be cut off. Among
the other expedients they resorted to, one was to order every
potter to deliver one pot, and by examining the marks on these,
they hoped to trace the vendor of the pot in question. It is
customary in the Mogul country for every potter to put his own
special mark on his pots. It was thus that they caught the
culprt.

Ancthur time, returning from the chase, he saw the officers
of justice carrying away a Rijput to be hung. The king asked
what offence he had been guilty of. They replied that he had
forced a Mahomedan woman, then present and demanding his
execution. The king called the woman before him and asked
her if the Rajput’s body was hairless, like he was in the face.
' Yes," answered the woman. She supposed that as it is the
fushion of the Rijputs to shave their beards, they must also be
aceustomed to remove the hair from all the rest of their body.
The king ordered an examination, It turned out that the
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woman had mised a false complaint ; whercupon he ordered
that the woman should die and the Rajput be released. He
ales fined the officials for their negligence.

Among the other fancies that he had was o particular affec-
tion for the Jesuit fathers. He gave them a house and a church
in Lihor. In that reign Europeans had much freedom in
regard to hearing about Christinnity; and the zaid fathers
instructed the king's sons, one of whom, by reason of some
affront received from the fathers, after he had become king,
sent an order to burn the church and carry off the bell at
Agrah, as I shall state heareafter (1., 137). It is now time to
speak of his sons.

Jahfingir [116] hid no son by his beloved queen Nar Jahin,
but there were two by other mothers. The heir-apparent was
Sultin Bolaqui (Buliqgi),' and the name of the other son was
Sultan Corram (Kborram). Buligl bad two sons, of whom
1 will speak farther on (L, 120} ; Sultin Eburram, besides two
sons, Dara (Diird) and Xaxoja (Shah Shuja’), had a pregnant wife
with the most extravagant fancies and complaints, Jahfingir gave
the order that when this princess was delivered he should be in-
formed in whatever place he might happen to be, and if asleep
they were to awake him.

The princess brought forth a male child, and at once they
went to report to the king, who at that moment happened to
be relieving himself. Jahingir said that if that prince survived
to be king, he was destined to conquer the whaole of Hindistin.
Nor in this did he deceive himself, as we shall see hereafter,
this child being that same Orangzeb (Aurangzeb) who now
reigns,

SuoliEn Kburram, who was the second son, perceiving that
his father ahlingir fayoured the sons of Sultin Bulliqui, and
intended their exaltation, went into rébellion. He took up
arms against his father, but was defeated several times. After

¥ fuligi, & pet name from baldy, an cenmment worn by wermse i bangs fom
the cartilage of the nose. His real name was= THwar Bakhah, and ba was the
gromdsim, oot the son, of Jahangtr. His father, Jabiagir's eldest son, was Khnern,
and a8 he digd in his fahec’s lHetine, o1 H (1622), sgod thirtysh yrars.

Ddwar Baylish, according 1o Mabomedsn Inw, was excioded from inhesitnonen,
and s no eights 1o the throne.
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his last defeat he passed near to Ugolin (Hgli), in the terntory
of Bengalla (Bengal), a village that the king Jahangir had
given to the Portuguese in order that they might frequent the
said port. Some Portuguese sallied forth and seized two
beloved fermale slaves of the princess Taigemahal (T3] Mabal,
a corruption of Mumtdz-madal, ‘chosen one of the harem').
This lady sent word to them that it wounld be better for them
ta help a prince then seeking refuge in flight than to attempt
to rob him. Therefore she urgently prayed them to send her
the two slave girls. But the Portuguese paid no heed to her
request, an-act which cost them dear, as 1 shall explain here-
after (L., 120, 121).

Meanwhile Sultin Corram (Khurram), pursued by the forces
of his father, fimally took refuge in the territories of the King
of Vizapur (Bijpur), He lived in a town called Juner, distant
thirty leagues from the city of Bassaim! (Bassein), which be-
longs to the Portuguese. The King of Bijapur ordered that
one of his own honses should be given to the prince to dwell
in, with a garden full of vine-trees, where 1 have been myself.
Thos was Jahingir delivered from the attacks of one son, who
left behind him nevertheless this bad example to a new genera-
tion of revolt against his fother. He had learnt it from
Jahangir, who rebelled against his father, Akbar.

Jahangir followed his father’s example, and gave orders for
his tomb to be erected opposite the royal palace at the city of
Lihor. In preparing this mausoleum he went to greal expense,
building a dome adorned with many precious stones. These
were removed by orders of King Aurangzeb, only allowing
stones of small value to remain, snch as agate, amethyst,
turquoise, and such-like [117]. These stones were cut into the
shapes of varions flowers,

Some years before the death of Jahiingir it happened that
the secretary (waszir) presented to him a Persian, exaggerating
greatly about him, and saying that he was known to everyone

I Basssin, a town twenty-eight miles north of Bombay: Juner, s towe io the
Pond district, seventy miles sast by north of Bombay., The two towns kre aboul
sevanly miles spart. Ehurram did live for a time st Juner (soe Maagiral-
Umard,' | 163, srtkcls on * Islim Ehkidn °),
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in Persia, and even to the king himself, who ate salt In his
house. As the king heard this about hiny he made him a great
noble, and gave him the title of Cassam Can (Oasim Khin).
Persians are famed for favouring their own nation in the Mogul
Empire, and the lurger number of the nobles are Persinns,
But in addition to this, the wazir was indebted in some small
way to this vendor of salt, and desired to favour him on tlis
occasion, so that he might share his (the wasir's) own good
fortune. Others told the king that this so-called (asim
Klhan had been a seller of salt in Persia, and Jahiingic
asked the wastr why he had uttered such encomiums of a man
who sold salt. The waesir replied: * 1 let your majesty fully
understand that he sold salt in Persia, for I said that even the
king ate the salt of his house, for he held a farm of all the salt
in that kingdom.' For this reason Jahfingir styled him Cassan
Can Namayquin ((Qasim Khan Namakin, from maanak, ‘salt*)—
that is to say, *distgibator of salt,'* and his title of pability
was left with him. {1 dwelt seven years in his house in the city
of Lihor. It had been given me by the governor to live in, he
(Qasim Khin) being then dead. 1t was one of Juhangir's laws
thit the crown was heir to the wealth and houses of his servants
when they died, also to those of his vassals who had no so

Favours often secve for the downfull of those who rective
them, seeing that they do not know how to control themselves
afterwards. Thus it was with the English who dwelt in
Hindistin. Relying on the kindness that Jahingir always
showed to Europeans, when they had a difference at the port
of Siirat with the governor, in arder to take their satisfaction
they laid an embargo on the ships that the king and the wastr
destined for Mecca, and also on those of many merchants,
abstructing them in their voysges. Juhiingir observed what
was going on, and forwarded an order to adjust the dispute
without incensing the English. At various times many different
complaints about them were laid before the king, until, dis-
pleased at hearing S0 many compliints, he ordered the English

b Sea * o, Saboad Umard," i 748, for quite a diffarant and more ressonable
derivation of {he eplthet * Namakin® gives to this Qasics Khin, Compare als
Blochmann, ' Jin,' vol. L pp. 414 (note), 470, No. 1o0.

YOL. 1, 12
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to be seized. As they resisted the execution of the royal
orders, he sentenced them all to be beheaded. Hence was
brought about the death of those who were in the territories
of Agrah and Sdrat. This event happened in the year oiic
thousand six hundred and twenty-two,! two years before his
death [118], which came about as follows :

This king wns, as can be seen by the above account, some-
what over-jovial. Inthe hot season he went away for recreation
to Kashmir, and returning in the cold weather, he came to live
in the city of Lahor., He happened to fall ill while coming
from that country, and before he could reach Lahor he died of
disease, after having reigned twenty-two years seven months
and eleven davs. His corpse was carried to the mausoleum of
which T have spoken (L, 1106),

OF SULTAN BALLAQUI (BULAQI), ELDEST SON
OF JAHANGIR

When Jahiangir died, Soltin Buliqi, his eldest son,* took
possession of the kingdom without opposition. He looked on
himself as absolute sovercign, and believed that no ane could
oppose him except his brother, who had been banished, ns
I have already said (1., 116), to the territories of Bijapur, and
ta him the usurper paid no attention. Thus he followed in the
footsteps of his father, and occupied himself with dances,
music, and other pastimes. Nevertheless, he sent off an envoy
to the King of Bijipur, waming him against according any
favour to his brother, or permitting him to leave his then abode,
IF the king disobeyed this direction, war would be declared,
and his whole kingdom devastated. The King of Bijapur,
frightened by these menaces, kept his eyes open, and meant to

! These erents at Sdmat soem 0 be the same as theso assigned by Moo 10
shay | Hisdory,' il 53),  Jabdnghe ditd ol dia 40l sday,

® Buligl (Dawar Baklal) wis [abingier's grandson (see aniy, note to fol, £38)
He waa put on the throne by Ajaf Kban st Lihor In opposition’ to. Shalryie.
the Bith on, whe was Nir Jahan's candidato (see Eiphinsione, sgzp  Sative
historians stale that, do belegy deposod, Dawar Takbsh was killed, but some

Europeans sy they mw him in Fenia ia 1633 (Elphinstone, quoting Cilaarin,
150 and see forwand; (ol 130, where Manueci shyn muach the same)
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prevent Sultin Khurram leaving, and thus avoid dmwing upon
himself the wrath of Sultin Buliqi.

Sultin Khurram was a prisoner with all his family—that is to
say, his wives, four sons, Dard (Dard), Xaxuja (Shih Shujaf),
Oranazeb (Aurangzeb), and Momdbaex (Muridd Bakhsh), and
three daughters—namely, Begom Saeb (Begam §ahib), Gonor-
ard Begom (Juhandard Begam), and Roxonard Begom (Roshan-
ird Begam). There was alsa u wife who was enceinte, who
longed to eat apples, a thing dificult to procure thereabouts,
nor was it the right sesson for them. He (Eburram) was
vexed at his inability to gratify the princess, and went forth
from his house much cast down.

On his way he met a faqir, who offered him two apples.
Highly delighted, he (Khurram) carried them off at once to
the princess, and told the poor man to wait, as he had some-
thing to say. Going inside, he delivered the apples to the
princess, then came back humbly and reverently to the fagir,
and said to him: * I suspect that you are some holy man,
since you have succoured me in the time of trouble. May it
please you to do me the favour of telling me if that is so.
The man [119] replied that it was, They had a long conver-
sation, and the fagir told him many things.

Amang other things he said that he (Khorram) would fall ill,
but on those occasions he must smell hishands. So long as they
had the scent of apples, his illness would be neither dangerous
not mortal. When they ceased to smell of apples, it would be
a warning that he had reached his term of life.  In the end the
prioce asked him which of his sons would be the destroyer
of his race. The fagir unswered that it would be Aurangzeb,
who in those days was quite a child.) This was the reason
that Sulfin Khurram never had auy love for Aurangzeb. From
this time he (Khurmam) began to scoff at him {Aurangzeb),
calling him the White Snake, he being fairer than all his
brothers. Sometimes he resolved to kill him, but his elder
sister, called Roshanird Begam, always preservied him, and
God reserved him to be the chastisement of his father.

VAltrasgzel was born in 1618, soid if this cotversation was in 1637, ha woold
b about nins

iz—2
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Meanwhile the prince Khurram had abandoned all hope of
ever leaving the territory of Bijapar. There now came to him
a letter from his father-in-law, Acet Can (Asaf Khan), the wasir,
father of Jahiangir's beloved queen and of Sultin Khorram's
wife, but by different mothers.! The contents were that he
(Khurram) must leave his place of refuge by whatever method
he could devise, and procure a secret meeting with Mahabat
Khin, then actually governor at the city of Brampur (Burbiin-
pur). If he (Khurram) would come to court he shounld be
made king, and everything was in readiness.

The prince, finding that the King of Bijapur would neither
consent to assist him nor even grant him his liberty, resorted
to the following trick. He feigned for some time that he was
ill, until the news spreading abroad everywhere, the King of
Bijapur sent his people to see him and find out the truth.
Sultin Bburram was informed of the men's arrival, and sent
secretly to order the slaughter of a goat, the blood of which he
drank. After this he ordered the envoys to be introduced.
When they came in he shammed being overcome with nausei,
and vomited blood, muking himsell out to be at the point of
death.

On coming out, the envoys forthwith reported to their king
how the Mogul prince was at the last gasp, and could not
survive in any case, Finally, Khurram’s household set wp
cries and lamentations, calling out that He was dead. Putting
on mourning, they went to the court of the King to ask per-
mission to qnit his territory, and carry the corpse of the
deceased prince to the sepulchre of his ancestors. The king
gave them leave, and they carried him (Khurram) off, placed in
a bier covered with all the trappings of woe, and followed by
all his people weeping and lamenting a8 they went.

This news reached the court of Suliin Buligl, who was very
pleased, saying : * Now am 1 delivered from a great enemy, and
become shsolute monarch.’ They travelled [r20] through the
city of Burhinpur, and Mahabat Khin came out to follow the

| Tlis b m error. Arjumasd Biny Pegam, Momils Muobal wifo of Shili-
jabun, was the daughier of Asai Ehin, who was the brotkyr, aod pot the fufler,
of Nir |abin, Thus, Mumiss Mabal was her niece, and ot ber hallsister,
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bier until they arrived at the suburbs of Agrah city. When
the bier had arrived so far, Asaf Khin, father-in-law of the
Bctitions defunct, requested leave from Buliqgi to go himself at
the head of a large cavalry force to meet the bier, pleading that
such was the custom. Sultin Buligi, who had no suspicion
of the fraud, but, on the contrary, in his joy regaled himself
with music, dancing, and wine, gave the permission to go and
make whatever preparations he might please. He had no idea
that he had only a few moments more to reign.

Asaf Khin left the city, and coming to the bier, foand the
prince Kburram alive and well, and put him on an elephant
kept ready for the purpose. Thus they entered into the city
with all their cavalry, raising a rebellion against Buliigi, beating
the roval drums, murching with drawn swords in their hands,
and shouting : * Long live King Shahjahin!" It was thus that
he entitled himself from this time forth-—it means * King of the
World.'! Buliqi was amazed at the prince's thus returning to
life, and all of n sudden becoming master of his (Bulaqi's) forces.
Since there remained no other method of saving hia life, he
took to flight, and thus escaped from his brother's wrath. -

OF THE KING SHAHJAHAN, FIFTH KING
OF HINDUSTAN AND TENTH OF THE
RACE OF TAIMUR-I.LANG

The first thing undertaken by Shihjahin was, by the utmost
efforts, to attempt the capture of his fugitive brother, Bulagl.
But, in spite of all he did, he could oot overtake him: he
(Buligi) fled until he entered the kingdom of Persia, where he
ended his life in destitution) This is why he was not included
in the number of the kings, nor was he ever accorded that title.
Finding that he could not seize his brother Bulaqi, Shihjahin
sent out another force to the city of L3hor, where there were
two sons of that prince. Express orders were given that where-
ever they were found they should be walled up forthwith. They

j were in the hall where King Jahingir gave audience, and were

V See ante, niote' to fol. 115, for the cooltary statement of native historinns.
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busy writing. Without showing them any mercy, Shah Jahan's
ernissaries built up the door, leaving them inside, and up to this
day it remains bricked up. 1t i5 a enstom with these kings and
lords that aftér their death the chamber where they die is
walled up and never opened any more.

Finding himself undisputed King of Hindostin, Shihjahian
was compelled to make war against the Portuguese of Hogli,
for this was demanded by Taj Mahal, from whom the Portu-
guese [121] had carried off two slave girls (amte, 1., 116). He
sent aguinst them the general Qdsim Khan,' who, when he
arrived close to Hagli, made an arrangement with the Portu-
guese. These paid a large sum of money, whereupon be
(Qiasim Khin) retived the distance of a day's journey, but
again advanced towards Hagli, with the excuse that the king
had ordered him to take the place

They defended themselves as long as they could, but, unable
to continue longer, they surrendered. Qasim Khin seized by
lot five thousand' souls, among them some Augustinian and
Jesuit fathers. It seemed as if God desired to chustise the
Portuguese of HOgll, seeing that they were unable to escape
with' their ships by way of the river Ganges, on the banks of
which the town referred to stands.

The water in the river had fallen, and the boats Iny stranded,
a thing that had never happened before or since. T have no
desire to record in this place the arrogance displayed by these
same Portuguese, of whom 1 will write somewhat elsewhere
(111, xg2); Qisim Khin carried off the prisoners to court,
and God willed that before they arrived there the queen, T&j

! This Qhsim Ehlin was the son of Mir Murad, Juwsiinl, and died in Rebl" L.
vogd H (the middle of that mopih corresponds 1o Ociober ¥, v63s), This, ad
he died thres days alter the mking of Hoglh, that eveni must have
atert the md of September, 1632 Elphissons (519) assiges the slege tb 1631
Bhanvers (i, 247) sayw It was from June 6 1o September 3g, 1633 : Beale.and. the
‘Maligirel-Umard ' (HL 74) bave 1631 Compare the * Padahibnsmah * ol
‘Abd-ul-hamid [ Bitdiothera Indis '), vel, L, part L, pp. 433-e30 and Ellfest and
Droweson, vii, jo-34, where it & plnced iinder ihe Afih yuar, and the capturs ia
fixed on the 14th Rabl' §, zo4e H. (September 30, 1632, N.5) The best
Entopean account b ln Sehastlan Mandque (Amgmatinfan), * ftdemario da las
Missiones qui higo ‘el padre Fray S M., , ' Roma, 1649, 470 pp.. 4t
{PP - #19-443).  He s panly quoted by H. G. Keeno in * Turks in India,” §. 255
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Mabal should die! Shiahjabian gave orders for the con-
struction of her mausolenm opposite the royal palace at Agrah
with great expenditure. It is in two stories, in the lower being
deposited the body of his beloved wife. No one may see this
sepulchre, for it is in the charge of women and eunuchs.

There cannot be the least doubt that if the Portuguese had
reached the court in the lifetime of Taj Mahal she would have
ordered the whole of them to be cut into pieces after great
tortures, for thus had she sworn when they did her the injury.
All the same they did not escape a sufficient amount of suffer-
ing; some abjured their faith, either from fear of torture and
of death or through the desire of recovering their wives, who
had been distributed by Shihjahin among his officers.  Others,
the most beautiful among them, were kept for the royal palace.
Of some of these 1 shall have something to say further on
(IL., 24).

The fathers were more tenagious in holding to the Christian
faith, saying that they adored a Master who could pressrve them,
nor for anything that Shihjahiin might do would they become
renegades. There were also a few others—laymen—who held
fast to their faith, but were released through the petitions of
some pursons at court, chiefly of an Armenian, who was a great
fayourite, or through the money paid by a Venetian, my com-
patriot, called Hieronomo Veroneo, & man ransomed by the
Portuguese. These released prisoners lived in the city of
Agrah, and until this day there are some of their descendants.

After the death of his beloved queen Ti) Mahal, Shihjahan
selected in Hindistin the eity of Dihll in order to build there a
new city a¢ his capital, and thereby perpetuate his memory, the
climate at that spot being healthy. He used the riins of
ancient Dibli and Toguilabad (Tughlagibad) for building this
new Dibli, to which [122] he gave the name of Shihjahinabad
—that is to say, ¢ Built by Shahjahan.’

He expended large sums in the construction of this city, and
in the foundations he ordered several decapitated criminals to
be placed as a sign of sacrifice. The said city s on the bank of
the river Jamnah, in o large plain of great circumference, and

1 Tuj Mahal died on July 6, 1632, N.5.
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it is in the shape of an imperfect half-moon. It has twelve
gates, and ancient Dihli forms a subuorb, as also do several
other villages. -

T'he walls of the city are built one half of brck and the rest
of stone. At every hundred paces is a strengthening bastion;
but on these there is no artillery, The chief gates are the one
leading to Agrah and the one leading to Lahor. Within the
city are large and well-built bazirs, where are sold things of
every kind. The chief disdrs are those that correspond with
the streets leading to the fortress, and end with the two above-
named gates. There are also in Dihli fine palaces for the nobles ;
a great number of the other houses have thatched roofs, but
are highly decornted and commodious inside. The city on the
eastern side, along which the river Jammah flows, has no wall.
In one corner of the city, on the northern side, is the Toyal
fortress, facing to the east. In front of it, between it and the
river, is left a sufficient space for the elephant fights, The king
sits at a window to look on, as likewise the women, but they
are behind grutings. Thence also the king beholds the
parades held on the same space, of the omarmos (wmard,
grandees), rajahs, and nobles. Bepeath the royal balconies
there is, night and day, a mad elephant kept, out of ostentation.

The fortress is encircled by walls of large red stones, and it
has u bridge of some twelve arches, by which access is obtained
to the fortress of Sellemguer (Salimgarh), situated on an island
made by the river Jamnah, Tt was built by the king Selem
Xa Patany (Salim Shih, Paghiin), The royal fortress has two
gates leading into the city, there being » large open space in the
midst, Shihjahin planted two large gardens, one on the north
side, the other on the south side, and for the reason that the
river Jamnah does not rise high enough to permit of its irrigating
these gardens, Shahjahan, ot great expense and labour, con-
structed a deep canal from a river ndjncent to the city of
Serend (Sihrind), one hundred leagues from Dihli, This canal
flows into the fortress and fills the water-channels, into which
Shihjahin ordored some beautiful fish to be thfown with gold
rings in their beads, cach ring having one ruby and two seed-
pearls. This watercourse circulates through [rz23] all the
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fortress, except the side towards the river Jamnah. Opposite
to the fortress, on the west side, is the royal mosque, where the
king goes once every week to say his prayers

Shahjahan fancied that just as be had easily taken the town
of Hogli from the Portuguess, so in like manner he would be
able to take from them everything they had in Hinddstin.
Therefore he ordered his son Aurangzeb, then fourteen or
fifteon years of age,! to march against Damad (Damin) and
tike it from the Portuguese. But these fought valiantly, and
since the fortress possessed good walls, Aurangzeb could not
reduce it. After an investment of three months he (Aurnngzeb)
was forced to retire after losing a considerable number of
men. Finding that the Portuguese defended themselves
bravely, and that he could do nothing against them, Aurangzeb
sent & message to Luis de Mello de Sampayo, known as ' The
Snorer,! who was then governor of the fortress, that it was
easy for everybody to snore behind walls. Angered by this
message, Luis de Mello sent back word that on the next day
but one, about noon-time, he would come forth into the open
fiold, and as & sign that he was there in person he would lift
his hat. He issued from the fort, and Anmngzeb's men
charged him and killed him. The Portuguese returned to the
fortress to defend it.

Shihjahfin sent this son ayainst Damiy because he knew
him to be brave and fearless. It was for this reason that he
afterwards ordered him to po against the kingdom of Balg
(Balkh). Aurangseb invaded the territories of the said realm
until he encountered the enemy’s army in the field. These being
the stronger gained the battle, and Aurangzeb was very nearly
taken prisoner. Without fail would this have happened had
ot Mir Baba, his foster-brother, come speedily to his assistance
Siill, although this prince (Aurangzeb) was held to be bald
and valiant, he was capable of great dissimulation and

* | This statement as 1o Anrssgeel’s age places the svents In 1633 or 1033, but
{ ca= find no confirmation in Danvers or Elphingtone. Danvers (i 533) speaks
ol one Luks e Mello, Governor of Dipmin, but that was in 156a-6t, in the reign
af Akhur  The man's <n Dicgo is referred 1o by Manuesd {part U, 78)

£ Tlhh campalgn la Ballh belongs 10 tiy7 (Elphinatode, 513)
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hypocrisy ; pretending to be an ascetic, he slept while in the
field on a mat of straw that he had himself woven. He
stitched caps with his own hands and sent them out for
sale, saying that he lived upon what he made by them., He
ate food that cost little, such as radishes, lentils, barley, and
such-like vegetables and cereals; he gave alms publicly, and
also let it be known that he underwent severe penances and
fasting; he allowed himself to be found in prayer or reading
the Quriin ; went out frequently with his chaplet in his hand;
and on anll occasions called on the name of God as if he
made no acount of the things of this world. All the same,
under cover of these pretences, he led in secret a jolly life of
it, and his intercourse was with certain holy men [124] addicted
to sorcery, who instructed him how to dissimulate and to bring
aver to his side as many friends as he could with witcheraft
and soft speeches.

One day Shihjahiin marched on & campaign to recover the
fortress of Candar (Qandabiir), which Alimerda Can (*Ali
Mardin Kkiin), the Persian, had voluntarily surrendered, when
he rebelled against his own king. Xaabas (Shih *‘Abbis) retook
it in the following way: A goat had escaped from its herd,
and the goat-herd pursued in order to catch it. The goat,
by one leap after another, got upon a high hill, and thence,
following a route full of rocks, arrived inside the fortress.
The goat-herd also entered it by the same way, and cams
out again without anyone knowing of his being there. When
he gat back, he went off to make a report at the court of Shih
‘Abbds.  With the goat-herd as guide, a sufficient number of
soldiers started for Qandahir, and taking the hidden path
‘above referred to, they made a secret entrance into the place;
daring the night they decapitated the sentries, and got posses-
sion of the fortress.  Although Shihjuhin made three attempts
to retake this fortress, he was not able to do anything.

One day, on the march already referred to, a mendicant
came pp to him (Shibjahin), and the king intended to give
him something ; but Aurangzeb told him not to do so, because
the mendicant had a considernble sum of money tied round his
waist,and in this Aurangzeb showed himself to bea true prophet.
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The king ordered the mendicant to be searched, and in his
girdle they found forty rupees of gold. FHe (Shahjahin) said
to his son: * If what yoo did and said was not a plot, you
are a saint’ Aurangzeb, seeing that his father had begun to
place faith in his pretences, made believe to intensify his
abstinence, simply to deceive his father, so that his rank
might be increased. It was found out afterwards that the
mendicant had heen tutored by him (Aurangzeb) ; in spite of
this, all the simple-minded people took him for a saint. But
his father, who knew well the nature of this son, and also
racollected the words of the fagir with the apples, gave little
eredit to all this show of boliness. It was for this reason that
he did not increase the low rank that he had first given him.
To his other sons he gave many tokens of paternal affection—
above all, to the eldest son, Dird. Envious of this preference,
Aurangzeb sought means of injuring his brother Dar, to
whom he had a great antipathy.

Shihjahin was anxious to prevent the occurrence of any
trouble at court. He therefore ordered that only one prince
should come each day to his presence, But Aurangzeb,
pricked by envy and the desire of injuring his brother Dard,
rode out on horseback, lance in hand. He waited until Dira
should come out of the fortress. Then he spurred his horse in
such a way that it struck his (Dard’s) palanquin with its hind-
quarters, so that the litter nearly fell to the pround. Dird,
thus insulted, made bitter complaints to his father 125}

The father, seeing this want of harmony among his sons,
and fearing some misfortune, separated them. He knew that
Aurnngzeb was in treaty with his brother Xaxuja (Shil Shuja*)
for the marriage of his son; Suliin Mahamud (Mahmiid), with
the hutter's dunghter when she arrived at n proper age. He

therefore sant the prince Shah Shuji' to be lord over the
kingdom of Bemgalla (Bengal), and Prince Aurangzeb to the
city of Moltan (Multin), and Prince Momdbacx (Murid Bakhsh)
to the kingdom of Gururab (Gujarit); while he kept with
himself the prince Dird, his eldest son, as being the most
esteemed and loved.

Aurangreb knew that his father put no faith in him, and did
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not love him. He therefore wrote to him (Shahjahin) letters
in most humble terms; also making use, with great foresight, of
his brother Darl.  To the latter he wrote many letters, begging

a thousand pardons for the affronts he had committed; he sid

he had done them as one having no sense. He ofered him the
services of his family and of himself, if he would only bave
compassion upon him and his sons: adding that he looked on
him (Dara) as a father. Dara, who was of a genial character
and compassionate nature, sent loving letters in reply. Then
Aurangzeb, seeing matters well arranged, wrote to his eldest
brother & letter in which he entreated him to obtiin from their
father leave to quit the city of Multin, where the climate did
not agree with him and he was always ailing, and' asked that
he might be transferred to the Dacan (Dakhin).

The cunning man made this request because he saw that in
the Dakhin he could establish his fortunes through the can-
tinual activity of the armies there, owing to the existence of
the kingdoms of Vizapur (Bijapur) and Golconda (Gulkhandah),
and because the lands of the Dakhin are very productive;
abounding in supplies of food and various sorts of cloth, and
contain many minetals, The petitions that Dara made to his
father were so insistent that this favour was granted Aumngzeb;
he was withdrawn from Multin and ordered to the Dakhin.
Shiahjahan was unwilling to concede these requests: still, from
Diird's importunities he granted what was asked. Baut he said
to Dird : * You are acting on behalf of & venomous snake, and
you will have to suffer from its potson.’

Aurangzeb went to the Dakhin, where his strength began to
increase.  Near to Doltabod (Daulatabad) he built a city that
he called Aurangibid—that is to say, * Built by Aurangzeb.’
There he began to weave the web of his rebellion, including
the destruction of his futher and his brothers,

Before speaking of the wars waged by Shihjabin and of his
downfall, it is necessary 1o say something of his mspumtm-
Althongh warlike, as he showed [r26] by his rising sgainst his
father, he was at the same time fond of music and dancing to the
same degree, more or less, as his father Jahingir. His ysual
diversion was to listen to various instruments, to verses and
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poetry : and he was very fond of musicians, especially of one
who wiis not only a graceful poet, but also & buffoon.

This musician was worried by the palace gate-keepers, who
are exceedingly rude to anyone who requires entrance to court,
They will not permit anyone's entrance or exit without some
douceur, excepting the officials, to whom they can say nothing
for fear of a beating. Every time that this musician came to
court the gate-keepers made him wait a long time, until he
either gave them or promised them something. Anxious to nd
himself of such hindrances, he composed some verses, and
arrived to recite them in the precence of the king. The gate-
keepers did not fail to display their accustomed insolence,
detaining him until he had promised to give them all that was
bestowed on him this time by the king, He went in and re-
cited i such fine style and with such graceful behaviour that
the king was much delighted, and ordered for him a reward of
one thousand rupees. The singer transmuted his joy into
tears, raising his hands to heaven, weeping and beating his breast
to show his sorrow at such a present. He said to the king
with many bows that he prayed him as a favour to order
him in place of the thousand rupees to receive one thousind
stripes.  Shahjahan smiled, and asked why he made such a
request.

He replied that he had promised to the gate-keepers all that
he should acquire, or his majesty should make a gift of to him
during the day. Thus, since they were rude, not allowing him
to enter or go out without his taking out his purse and giving
something, he was willing to transfer to them the thousand
stripes, o even more if the king so wished, The king laughed
heartily, and to satisfy him sent an order to serve out the
thousand stripes to the twenty-five gate-keepers then on duty.
The gate-keepers complained ; but the poet made his excuses,
saying he had only kept his promise. The gute-keepers got the
thousand blows, while he carried off the thousand rupees, and,
in additicn, a horse of which the king made him a gift.

The horse they gave him was gone in the lons. He tied a
bundle round the neck of this horse, and when the king came
out he mounted it, and showed off its paces before him. The
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king asked him why he had tied on the bundle: it hindered
the horse in his paces. He answered that it was there to
equalize the weights, thus giving a hint that the horse was
gone in the back. Shahjahfin was delighted, and ordered
them [r27] to give him another borse. From that day forth
the: gate-keepers were very respectful to this musician, so that
they might not get any mare beatings.

Another thing happened to one of these pate-keepers,
Shahjahin, who thought highly of the man, ordered him on
a campaign, after having by gifts and favours raised him to
the position of a great noble. This favourite met with great
success, and was sent for to court to receive further rewards.
All the nobles went ont to meet him except the physician, who
would neither go out to greet him nor visit him afterwards,
The officer was aggrieved, and went in person to see the
physician. The latter, making no account of the other’s
person, sent out word that he might come in. The physician
remained seated, and appeared to be writing. The generl
entered, and the physician in o soft vojce said he might take &
seat, but showed him no other mark of civility, and pretended
to go on writing.

The newly-risen great man waited to see whether the
physician would show him any sign of politeness, this being
the only object for which he had paid this visit; but finding
that the physician never stirred, neither paid any heed to him,
he begged leave to depart, The physician, in the same soft
tones, continuing his occupation, gave him permission to go
away withont any token of kindness,

The general went off at once to complain to Shihjuhan,
exaggerating the slight done to him by the physician, and the
latter fell ‘under the king's displeasore through the disrespect
he had shown to the general. The physician replied: * Your
majesty may create many generals of that sort, but you cannot
make any man similar to me, for it has cost me forty years
to acquire the knowledge that I possess, and there is a great
difference between us' The reason of this affront became
known afterwards, 1t was that when the general was a door-
keeper he put many difficulties in the way of the physician.
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Thus was the proverb verified : * What you do you get' [Tit
for tat}.

Not only was Shihjahin fond .of music; he was also eager
to have at his court all sorts of wrestlers. Thess are men of
great strength, who frequently contended in his presence, And
he also ordered boxing matches. But his ordinary amusement
was tiger-hunting, for which he kept ferocious buffaloes with
very long horns. These fought with each other or with tigers;
they ure very [128] brave animals, and skilful in the sport
abave referred to.

When the king desires to go out hunting, the huntsmen are
warned.! These men see to the finding of the tigers, and send
out into the jungle asses, cows, sheep, and goats to prevent
the tigers changing their hamnts. The king goes oot on his
tallest elephant, and the other princes likewise on elephants
acquainted with the requirements of this sort of fight. They
sit in uncovered howdahs, each one with hiz matchlock. Then
they encircle the jungle with high nets, leaving only ane
opening, through which the king and the huntsmen enter.
Around the pet, on the outside; stand a number of soldiers,
who cannot wound the tiger when it comes near the net, nor
can the tiger injure them, lor in no manner can it break the
net and get out.

The order in which the king mowves is as follows: In front
go the buffaloes, sometimes more than one handred in number,
all in a row. On each one is mounted a man with his legs
guarded by leather, and having a broadsword in one hand and
holding with the other the reins, which are passed through the
buffulo’s nostrils, Behind them comes the King on an elephant,
and after the king the princes and the men in highest favour.

When they get into the jungle where the tigers are, the
buffaloes advance slowly in the formation of a half-moon, until
the tigers are in sight.  After locating the tigers by sight and
smell a circle is formed, leaving them in the centre, In this
way the tigers, finding themselves caught, search for an exit.
Unablé to get away, each one makes its spring in the direction
that it sees best. When this spring takes place the man who

} This sbeannt s very Imperfectly reproduced by Catrou (t3g, 1ch,
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is mounted on top jumpsoff withagility, and the buffaloes seize
the tigers an their horns with great dexterity, and, shaking their
heads tedr them to pieces. If any one of the tigers escapes the
horns, or refuses to stiv from its place, the king fires his gun
and kills it, or gives an order to kill it,

Sometimes they go out to these hunts without taking any
buffaloes, but riding on elephants, as | have before said, This
veay of bunting has much more risk for the hunters. Onge it
happened to King Shihjihiin that a badly wounded tiger
hounded up and hung on with its claws fixed in the elephant’s

head. The elephant-driver fell to the ground from fright. The

king, seeing himself in this urgent danger, clubbed his match-
lock and hit the tiger with it on the head. But the tiger did
ot let go, and the elephant, inding he codld not make use of
his trunk, ran furiously till he found a tree, against which he
crushed the tiger. It was on this account that Shajahan gave
orders for the head of the elephants to be protected in future
down to the end of the trunk with a covering of thick leather,
studded with sharp nails.  In addition to the huntsmen, there
is always an official present whose business it is to take pos-
sessiont of the tiger's whiskers; and thetefore, as soon as the
tiger is dead, they put on his head a leather bag, caming down

- us far as the neck. Having tied the bag, the official attaches to

it [12g] his seal. After this the tiger is carried in front of the
entrance to the royal tents, when the official appoars who has
charge of the poisons, and removes the whiskers, which are
employed as & yenom.'

All the world knows that the Mahomedans, following the
example of their master, Muhammad, are very licentious;
wherelore there are men among them, some more angd some
less, chiefly the nobles and the kings, who do not content thems
selyes with a few wives, hut seek for every method of gratifying
themselves in this particular. [t may be asserted that Shih-

1 Bernier alio describes these hunts (pp. 184, 183, 378, 379, edition Constable),
He mentions the nets, bot not the builaloss, and his description 15 mot o presise
» Mammeci's. | find pothitg in the text here |o justify Catrou's * Limes 'epées
assez larges et fori polotuss,’ which bo says wore stiached to the hufisio’s
boerna [p. 189)
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jahin was not superior to others in this respect, for, not con-
tenting himself with the women that he had in his palaces, he
forfeited the respect of the nobles at his court by intrigues with
their wives, whereby he came to his ruin and his death,

The chief of these women, one that he thought a great deal
of, was the wife of Jafarcan (Ja'far Khin),' and from the love
he bare her he wished to take ber husband's life, but she saved
him by praying that he might be sent as governor to Patana
(Pagnah), as was done. In the same way he had an acquaint-
ance with the wife of Calican (KElulil Kbin)® for some time, and
this man took his revenge in the battle fought by Diird ugainst
Aurangzeb, as 1 shall relato further on (1. 1g92),

Here it seems appropriate to state how the spies reported to
Shiahjabiin that the wife of Khalitullah Klin wore shoes worth
three millions of rupess, owing to the numerous precious
stones with which the said shoes were garnished, When
Ehalilullsh Khiin came to audience, the angry king scolded
him, saying that if his wife wore shoes of such great value, it
was & sign that he had great wealth, the greater part of it got
by theft, and therefore the first thing was for him to render an
account of what he had embezzled. He (Khalilullah Khsn)
stood speechless, and could make no answer, But one of his
friends who was present obtained permission from the king to
reply on behalf of Kkalilallah Kbin. Hesaid there was nothing
for his majesty to complain of, for the whole wealth of Khali-
lullah Kbhin was in those shoes, because his wife was in the
habit every day of shoé-beating him on the face, and gave him
thus all the riches that she had. On hearing this Shahjahan
sank his head, and laughing to himself, said: *It is a sufficient
punishment to haye in your house an angry wife.’ All those
who were present ulso began to smile at such an net of friend-

¥ InvEsr BhRo wan son of Ksal Bhin's sister, and was married 1o that noble‘s
daghter, Farssoab Begam (1bi i), Thus, i that wife s alladed e, she was
Shikjabein's dater-in-law, and the stary 1 almost inerediide. Ju'far Ehin bocasma
warir, ind died in ol H. (1870w, (* Mul-t,' £3t)

¥ Elalilulish Ehin was the younger won of 3Fr Mo, Yazdl, snd hiv wife
vms Al Ehdn's grand-danghter.  She was thos Shihjahan's niece by marringe
Khalliullale Klan idled oo the and Rajaby, 207z H, (February ar, 1603 His
older brother was Astlat Elitn, Mir Bakkehl (ilisd sus7 H.

YOL. 1. I3
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ship. Khalflullah Kbdn left the audience in shame, quarrelling
with his friend about the afiront done to him in the king's pre-
sence by giving such un answer. His friend retorted that he
had [130] no room for complaint, rather was he undera heavy
obligation, for if he had not come to his aid the king would
have ordered his exccution. Khalilulinh Khin let the matter
pass, and he lived the rest of his life under thiz disrepute.

Some authors' assert that Khalilullah Ehan was beaten with
shoes in the audience of Dard: 1 know of a certainty that this
is not $0, because never again would Khalilullah Khin have
left his house, nor wonld anyane have had respect for him, nor
would he have been captain-general of the king's cavalry, as he
was. I they weite thus, theyrecond tales got fram the common
people, and not from those at court,

Shihjuhan did not spare the wife of his brother-in-law,
Nashish Can (Shaistih Khan), though it was By a trick, for she
would not consent. The procuress in this affair was Begom
Sash (Begam Sibib), the daughter of Shillijahdn, who, in com-
plaisance to her father, invited the said woman to a feast, at the
end of which Shithjahin viclated her. This lady was 50 much
affected that, going to her house, she would neither eat noc
change her clothes, and in this manner ended her life in grief.
Shaistah Khin dissembled, hoping to bave his revenge in due
time, as will be seen farther on (1. 170).

The intimacy of Shabjohiin with the wives of Ja'far Bbin
and Klalilullah Klifin was so notorions that when they went 10
court the mendicants called out in lond voices to Jatfar Khin's
wife: *O Breakfost of Shahjahin! remember us!' And when
the wife of Ehalilollah Kbin went by they shouted : * O
Luncheon of Shahjahin! succour us!® The women
and, without taking it as an insult, ordered alms to be given,

For the greater satisfaction of his lusts Shihjahiin ordered
the erection of & large hall, twenty cubits long and eight cubits
wids, adorned throughont with geeat mirrors, The gold alane
cost fifteen millions of rupees, not including the enumel work.
and precious stones, af which no account was kept. On the

' This is & hit w2 Boraier (we * Travels,' po 53, edition Constable, sad
My, Constable's seference to Tavernbe, elitioo Fall, L 143)
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ceiling of the said hall, between one mirror and ansther, ware
strips of gold richly ornamented with jewels. At the carners
of the mirrors hung great clusters of pearls, and the walls were
of jasper stane. All this expenditure was made so that he
might obscenely observe himself and his favourite women.

It would seem as if the only thing Shahjahin cared for was
the search for women to serve his pleasures. For this end he
established a fair at his court, which lasted vight days every
year! No one was allowed to enter except women [131] of
all ranks—that i to «ay, great and sniall, rich and poor, but all
handsome. Each ohe brought what merchundise she could.
But the best piece of goods she could produce was her own
body. Their only object was that the king might fall in love
with them ; thus honourable women would not go to the place,
In those eight days the king visited the stalls twice every day,
seated' on o small throne earried by several Tartar wormen,
surrounded by severnl matrons, who walked with their sticks of
enamelled gold in their hands, and many eunuchs, all brokers
for the subsequent bargaining ; there were also 4 sat of women
Musicinns. .

Shihjahin moves past with his attention fixed, and seeing
any seller thitt attracted his fancy, he gées up to the stall, and
making: a palite speech, selects some of the things, and orders
whatever she asks for them to be paid to her. Then the king
gives an agreed-on signal, and having passed on, the matrons,
well versed in these mattars, take care that they pet her; and in
due time she is produced in the royal presence, Many of tham
come out of the palace very rich and satisfied, while others
continne to dwell there with the dignity of concubines. These
€ight days were observed in the palace witly great festivity,
dancing, music; acting, and other amusements. The fortress
remuned shut, with no man inside but the king. Once out ﬂfcl‘
curiosity the women were counted as they eame out, and there
were more than thirty thousand.

It is impossible to explain satisfactorily the passion that
Shihjahin had in this direction. Not satisfied with o many

1 Compars Barnier 1475, olivon Conatable)l These fales wers Istntiniaped by
Akbar | Blochmuns, ' A a1 Akbar,* L =70,

13—2
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inventions for his inordinate desires, he also permitied great
liberty to public women, of whom the greater number were
duncers and singers. All of them paid taxes to the king.

Among them is one caste called Cancheny (Kanchant), who
were undér obligation to attend twice a week at court, for
which they received pay, and to perform at a specinl place which
the king had assigned to them. This class is more esteemed
than others, by reason of their great beauty. When they go to
court, to the number of moare than five hundred, they all ride in
highly embellished vehicles, and are clothed in rich raiment.
All of them appear and dance in the royal presence.

Once the king fell in love with one of them, retained
her in his pilace, and gave her the title of concubine.
Some of the nobles said to the king that a woman of that rink
was unworthy of being placed in the royal palace. Xaaighan
(Shihjahan) replied : * Matei nec her ducan que baxat'—
that is to say, * A good article may be [132] from any shop."
One time when these women (the Kanchanis) were at the
court, Khalftullah Khifin, who was the officer on guard, attempted
to dally with one of them. Upon thisaccount the king flew into
a rage and wanted to issue an order for his execution for having
had the temerity to forget his respect to the royal abods, But
on the petition of Ja'far Kbin's wife; the culprit was pardoned.
Ordinarily the dancing women dance in the principal opeo
places in the city, beginning at six o'clock in the evening and
going on fill ning, lighted by many tarches, and from this
dancing they earn & good deal of money.

Although Shiihjahan delighted in well-made women, he also
required them to have good sense. Therefore, at different
times, by different questions, he tested the understanding of
every one of them. But it was a strange thing that happened
to him with four servant women in his palace, who bore the
names of the four quarters of the world. He rose at midnight
to try the good judgment of these four, and going into the room
of each ane, asked her if dawn were near. The first replied
* No,' giving as her reason that she still had the taste of betelin

' xemmmmumm-smmm.ﬁ;mrmw
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her mouth. The second also gave o negative answer, becanse
the light of the candle in her room was still bright, whereas
when dawn was approaching it no longer burnt so clearly.
The third said that it was still a long time to daybreak, the
reason being that when daylight was coming on the pearls that
she wore felt cold, wherens at that hoor this was not so. The
fourth, a woman from the kingdom of Kashmir, where it is the
habit of the women to speak freely, told Shahjahan that the day
would not be here so very soon, for when it was near she felt
the call to relieve her necessities, and at that moment her
bowels gave her no such warning. With these answers Shih-
jahiin retired, and when the next day arose, he gave to the first
the office of looking after the betel that he ate: to the second
charge of the royal lamps; to the third the care of the pearls
nnck jewels ; to the fourth, the supervision of the cleanliness of
the royal retiring place,

The lasciviousness of Shahjahin did not interfere with his
care to govern his kingdom most perfectly. He upheld the
maxim of hia father [133] that true justice must be enforeed,
tewarding the meritorious and punishing the guilty. He kept
his eye on his officials, punishing them rigorously when they
fell short in their duty. This was the reason that he kept at
his court an official with several baskets full of poisonous snakes.
He would order that in his presence they should be made to
bite any official who had failed to administer Justics, leaving +
the culprit lying in his presence till the breath left him.

Thus he did, as [ saw, to the cofual (Kotwal) called Mahomed
Said (Molammad Sa‘id), who is the magistrate.  This man did
not decide uprightly, and took bribes, Therefore an order was
given that he should be bitten in one hand in his (Shihjahin's)
presence by o cobra capello, the most poisonous snake on earth,
The official in charge of the snakes was asked how long the
man couldlive. The official replied that he could not live more
than un hour. The king remained <cated until the Kotwal
expired. He then ordered that the body should lie two days in
front of his court-house, Others who had deserved death wers
ordered to be thrown to mad elephants, who tore them to &

pieces.
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Thereupon the judge decreed that the woman must marry the
complainant.

The woman petitioned the judge [135] for a delay of several
months, after which she would marry the youth ; and the latter
agreed to this proposal.  The woman knew that no one except
the old woman conld give information of the marks on her body,
for she was a chaste woman, living a tetired life, After the
lapse of a month, more or less, she issued from her hotiss,
followed by two sturdy slave-girls, and made for the dweliing
of the youth, The latter was then ill, Entering the house, she
seized him by the throat and shouted that now she had caught
the thief who had robbed her. Thus saying, she camried him
off by force to the judge and accosed him of thefl. Her stary
was that the night before, when sleeping with her, he had stolen
o valuable bracelet like the one then on her arm. The youth
swore it was not true, never had he known such a woman ; und
it being & total faliehood, he demanded justice for the flse
accusation,

Then the woman asked for justice to be done her in fespect
of the false claim the man had made a month before. At that
time, expressing a desire to marry her, he bad swom that he
tind lived a Jong time in her house, and that she had promised
to marry him.  As a proof of his truthfulness he had called in
eunuchs and women 1o examine her body, and had thus dis.
honoured her. The sunuchs and the women were summ
and they testified that she was the very woman to whom they
had gone to examine the marks on her body. She appeared
before the king and made her complaint.  The youth was asked
by what channel he had learnt the marks on this woman's bod'
He then gave the name of the old woman, who had suggested
to him this method of effecting his purpose. Shihjahiin praised
the astuteness of the woman, and gave orders for the old wonnn
and the youth to be buried in the ground up to the wiist, after
which they were shot to death by arrows, and their dead budies
left lying there for twenty-four hours,

Another case occurred in the kingdom of Kibul, whett
Mahabiit Ebin was governor, It was that of a weman of

"kingdom called Dariacatu (Daryae Khatan), who dwelt in the
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city, and had slave-wamen who solicited the truvelling merchants
of Oabeque (Uzbak) tace. As Mahomedans arc very facile
about patering into murriage, and secing this woman was very
rich and had much goods, they would agree to marry ber.
There were ninetesn man who had thns become her hushands,
After a little time had passed, she used to take the new husband
to her yillages (o colloct the renis, The man, delighted &t the
thooght of scquiring more wealth, left the city with = light
hestl.  She took them all into the lands of the Pathing, where
ahe sold them to her acquaintances. The muscles near the
hpel were severed, so that they could not ron away. She then
roturned to the eity,

When they reported [£36] the matter to the governor, she
was seized. The governor, when folly informed of the facts,
thought the case such an extraordinary ane that he submitted
it to the king, He ordered the woman to be torn to pieces by
the dogs, which in that region are very handsome and savage.
The Pathins keep them to protect their himds from wolves,

Not only did Shahjshin do justice agninst those guilty of
great crimes : he also dealt with the nobles whenever he found
an opportunity, in order to terrorizs the rest.  His object was
to smlie the governing of his kingdom casier, so that he might
prass his fime with his women and be free of vesativns, Thus
it happened that one day, going out 1o hunt, thete came before
him 2 servant complaining that for months his tnaster had not
paid him, and b was in great distress,. On hearing the com-
plaint, the king, withour advanaing a single step, ordered the
man'd master to be bronght, whersupon ho presented himself,
He acknowledgod the wroang dooe to the servanl.  The king
ordered the gentlemmn to dismount, and the servant to get npon
the harse of his muster, while the muster should remain running
in front, in the servant's place, whete he (Shihjshin) conld
see hith. This continued until the master, anable to run any
longer, foll 1o the ground, whereupoa the king said to him:
*1 do not fail to pay you, becanse you serve me; it is equaily
Just that you shonld pay those wha serve you.'

Equilly tereifying was the sentence passed on one of his
slaves, For just as he wos Hberal in giving rewurds, he was
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equally exacting of obedience. Shahjahin bhad among his
slaves one that he was very fond of, called Saadet Can (Sa'idat
Khin)—that is to say, ' Efficacious.’ He had an income of
fifty thousand rupees, and was lord over two thousand horse,
He was in charge of the betel consumed by the king, and to
him was given one of the Portuguese women who had been
taken prisoners at Ugulim (Higl). Theking saw severnl times
that Sa*idat Khin gave away betel to the nobles at court.
Shahjahiin enjoined him not to give betel to anyone, and to
remember this order, Sa‘adat Khan, paying little heed to such
an order, and relying on the love the king bore him, distributed
the betel secretly, One day it so happened, unluckily for him,
that the king saw him give betel to a noble [137] of the court.
But he dissembled. At the end of the audience Shihjahin
went into the garden, and without compunction ordered him to
be beaten to death in his own presence. He saud: *‘ Thisis
what those deserve who do not obey the king's orders;,’ whereat
the nobles trembled, and served him in fear.

The king handed over the whole of Su'idat Khiin's wealth-to
his wife, in spite of the rule made by Akbar that the king should
confiscate all the goods left by anyone in his service. This
Shithjahén did in order not to let it be hinted that he killed his
slave to get possession of his wealth, This wife wasa Chnstian,
though she lived as a Moor (Mahomedan), When I was in
the city of Agrali in the year one thousand six hundred and
seventy-nineg, I was sent for by the ¢d2f, o great friend of ming,
who told me privately that for love of me he did not interfere
with the Jesuit fathers, then actually dwelling in the city. For
he knew of a certainty that the said woman resorted bn secret
to the house of the Jesuits, Such a thing was strictly pro-
hibited. He earnestly entreated me that so long as he was in
power the woman should never go there again, I she did he
might suffer great damage. | gave him my thanks, and advised
the said woman, and the fathers were under an obligation to
me. For Aurangzeb was very inimical to those who interfered
with his religion. This was chiefly because Shihjahin had
given an order to knock down the bell-tower of the fathers'
church, out of the ill-will he bore them; still, for some reason
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or other, he accorded permission for the building of a smaller
chuireh, one without tower or bells,

To make still more clear how Shibjahan wis anxious that
justice should be administered in his realm, there are other
interesting cases to be described. The first is that of a soldier
who took wrongfully the sluve-girl of a Hinda clerk. The
latter brotght a complaint before the courts. The soldier
said the slave-girl was his, and so likewise said the girl her-
self, as she wanted to live with the soldier. The charge was
transferred to the king’s tribunal, and he ordered the slive.girl
to be placed in his palace. When he wanted to write he
directed the girl to pour a little water into the inkstand, and
this she did most dexterously, This proved to the king that
sho was the slave of the seribe, and not of the soldier ; thus he
decreed that the girl should be made over to the scribe, from
whom she had learnt how to pouor water into an inkpot, The
soldier was expelled from the service and hanished the country.

Another very interesting case happened at Dihii' At that
plice dwelt four merchants, who owned equal shares in the
goods stored in @ shop. The agreement was that each of them
should sttend there in turn for one day, and on his day each
should provide the oil [138] required for the lamp and the
food for u cat kept at the shop. He would also have to buy
another cat §f the old one happened 1o die. It came to pass
that the cat broke its leg. The three other partners were called
upon to pay their share of the expenses of the cure incurred by
the oue whose day it was whent the cat's lug was broken, They
refused to pay anything, contending that they were under no
obligation to pay for curing the cat. While the cat was
still under treatment with a rag tied round its leg, it was
scratching itself nexr the lamp when the rag caught fire.
The cat, finding itsell in this danger, ran Dbeneath the goods,
whereby the total contents of the shop were burnt,

The three other merchants threw the blame upon the one
that was doctoring the cat, and asserted that he was under an

I & mere folk's bale [see Stoey Notionpog ol H. B Swinton’s ' An Indinn Tale
or e Blackheath, oo date),  There bs ale o ]apasese vemlon o tle Peil Mall

M iagisias for September, 1oy, p. 395
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obligation to pay them for the whole of the damage caused,
The case was taken into court, and the decree given was that
be who was responsible for curing the cat must pay the losses
of the others. The king was informed of the dispute, and
reversed the decree, deciding that the three merchants should
pay him who was responsible for the cure of the cat, He suid
that the broken leg could not walk, and that the thnée legs
belonging to the three traders wore those that had caussd the
fire ; therefore, they were bound to pay the man who was in
charge of the cat. Reluctance through avarice to-meet & small
expense is many a time the cause of totsl ruin.

If Shihjahin was opposed to injustice, he also followed up
thieves in a particularly rigorous manner, and never pardoned
them. If their offence was a small one, for which they did not
deserve death, he ordered them to be transferred to the other
side of the river Indus, and exchanged for Pathain dogs: If it
chanced that the thieves could not be caught, He forced the
officials to pay. Thus did it happen in the year one thopsand
si¥ hundred and forty-five at the port of Sarat, when thieves
robbed the Duatch factory at night. Although the loss was not
great, the Dutch complained to the governor. He paid no
attention to their complaint. They removed the best of what
they hud in their factory, loaded it on their ships, and blockaded
the entrance to the river, allowing no one access or exit. They
demanded from the governor a heavy penalty for having allowed
them to be robbed within his jurisdiction. Shaljahan got
notice of this affair, and he issued an order that the Dul.t:l:_l
should be indemnified from his treasury, while the governot
should be pestered and worried until he paid.  On this occasion
the Dutch made a profit of a thousand per cent., and up to
this day it is the practice that whoever is in authority has to
pay for loss by robbery,

[139] Although the king was so feared by all, still there were
a few who defied him when they had reason to be angry. -1
have already stated above (1. g3) that Akbar made u ralo that
no one was to sit in the presence of persons of the blood royal.
It happened that & commander had failed in his duty, and
Shahjahin called him into his presunce, and after a severe
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talking to, turned him ont of the service. The officer, regard-
less of his life, sat himself down boldly on the ground in the
king's presence, saying: ‘Now that | am no longer your
vassal nor your servant, 1 can sit down.”" Shihjahan was
astonished at the officer’s resoluteness, and restored him to his
pay and position. Then the captain rose to his feet, as before,
and hewassent to Jagarnate (Jagarnith) to fight certain rebels.

Something similar happencd with the ambussador of the
King of Golconda (Gulkhandah). He appeared to Shahjahin
to be o man of great wisdom, and he resolved to try an expen-
ment upon him at the public andience; He asked him if the
King of Gulkhandah, his master, was the same height as one
of his slaves, then actually present and brushing away the
flies. The ambassador, understanding what was meant, lifted
his eyes and looked at the slave, then spoke boldly to the king ¢
“My king is four fingers taller than your majesty.” The reply
pleased Shihjghan very much, and hie praised the ambassador
a5 4 loyal vassal aud true subject of his king. He remitted
three years' payment of the tribute received from the King of
Gulkhandah. This tribute amounted to nine hundred thousand
rupees. He also gave the ambassador a rich serpad (sarapd)
and a handsome horse, T was actually present in the court
when this conversation took place.

I have already stated that the Mogul kings were the heirs of
the men in their service, taking all the wealth left at their
death, A commander who was assumed to be very rich
because of his lavish expenditure (which was done by him
deliberately, so that he might leave behind him nothing for the
king) was found on his death to have nine great and well-
constricted boxes, with locks and nails of gold, sealed with his
seal, and labelled to the effect that these boxes were to be made
over to the king. At his death they were carried off to court,
everybody supposing that the king had inherited a large amount.
Shihjahiin jovfully ordered the boxes to be opened, and praisad
the loyalty of the commander. The boxes wera found to be
full of horns and old shoes! By this he intended [140] to

T This sty is repeaitnd Io the case of Mubammsd Ehan, Dargash, of
Farrolldbid, in the eigbteenth contury.
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declare that if he (Shahjahan) dishonoured his own officials, he
would in turn be dealt with in the same way, and the wealth
that he gave away to women would lead to his having to wear
old shoes—a fact thit was well verified, as we shall see a little
farther on (II. 54). Seeing this resnlt, the king otdered that
the property left by the said leader should be put into his tomb.
He added that he did not care for any such bequest, for the
general’s father must have been some butcher or other, and his
mother a shotmaker; and thus he left behind him only what
his parents had bequeathed to him.

These goods were not sent by Shahjahan into his treasure-
houses, Of these, in addition to the old ones, he constructed
for himself two—one for gold and another for silver. The one
for gold was called Zauri (? sakhivak)—that is to say, * Teeasure';
and that for silver, Baurd® (bhauprd)—that is to say, * Horn-
beetle,' These receptacles were two square cisterns seventy
feet long and thirty fest high, with two landsome marble
pillars in the middle. The treasuries were closed by trap-
doors; and above these cisterns were large halls, alsp used as
specinl treasuries for the money to be expended. In the
treasury for gold there were corrent coins worth each seven
patacas® There were other coins, which were not eurrent, of
the value of seven hundred, of three thousand five hundred,
and of seven thousand patacas, These were very beautiful, and
the king gave them as presents to his ladics. When I wus
attending as physician on one of these, she made me & present
of one of these coins. While Aurangzeb was king, the whole
of these trensures, and the treasures of Queen Narjahin, were:
expended,® owing to the fulling off in the revenue,

| From his explangiion of fitrdars [Poriugnese e o fylng besdls), N, M
evidently thought the Indian word was bhawrd, a large biack bee. Bw b oo

\he & word spelt  ust the ssme—bhamerd, ‘n vaull,' ‘8 collar® (e Plaity,
*DHetionary,” 197}, Foe sanra, all | can soggesd ls geibineh, * o tressgre

' Therefare worth fourteen rupees each, he having told us eliewhere that the

fatsss was wqual fo twe rupees. The other beamiful large goid colus referred

to'have been severnl times described (s 5. Lane Peale, * Colms of Moghu!
Emperors,” boaxsvil ). Fiveandithinty yeass ago (180g) a Lanker gt Henaros
wwmed one, wiich | have seen; ;

“ ' The slatement is not Hiorally esnct, for both Hahidor Shih in ryoy and the
Sayyid brothers in 1719 dislmerved lasge hoards within Agrab Fori
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Out of policy Shihjehan refrained from disgracing one great
plunderer, making us¢ of an excellent proverb, He often left
the fortress (palace} garly in the moming, and as a recreation
would gather fruit in the garden in company of his favourite
pages. Among these was one called Fedai Can (Fidie
Ehiin), brother of Bader Can (Bahadur Khan),' loster-brother
of Adrangzeb, a man who at one time was a very great friend
of mine. This Fida,e Khiin was an enemy of the Wazir Vizir
Can (Whazir Khiin), and was in wait for an opportanity of
calling the king’s attention to the bribes taken by that official.
Gathering the best of the froit, Shihjahin placed them in the
hands of Fidi,e Ehiin, and when about to enter the door of the
harem, he asked for them [141]. Fidi,e Kbin made excuses,
and said that his majesty had given nothing to him. Shihja-
‘hiin was displeased, and said to him: ‘1 gave you the fruit, and
you have the temerity to deny it? Thereupon Fidie Kbin
produced the fruit, and gave it to the king, saying: *Your
majesty observes the petty theft 1 committed, and overlooks
the large amount of more than thirty thousand rupees that
‘every day is robbed by the wazir?* Shahjahin replied quoietly :
1 know it well, and much do | desire to pupish him, abhorring
as I do all thieves, but sometimes it is necessary to dissemble
in order to be well served.

At the court of Shahjahfin was a great Hinda prince, called
Amarsin {Amar Singh)—that is to say, ‘Lion-minded.! For
severnl weeks he had failed to attend the court. It fis the
practice for the Hindd princes and the commanders to encamp
with their tents for twenty-four hours every week below the
royul fortress. The above rajah after a time came to court
and entered the royal presence, and the wazir (Wazir Khian),
who was very fond of him, went up quietly to him, and asked
him why he had not come to court and performed his duties,

V These twm beothers snee Mir Mugaliar Flesaln, Ehwilh, entitled Fidie Khan,
nnil efterwards Atam Ehbbh, Kokah (disd 1678-70), and Mir Malle [lussit,
Ehywiti, entitled Bahdur Ehdn up o the sixteenth yoor of Aumngzeb, and then
fikan Jahds, Bahadur, Zafer Jang, Kokaltash (died 1697-95) (ves ° Ma dgir-nl-
Umars,' L 247, 75 Waslr Khiln b po doobe, the Wil Khin, Meabammad

Salik, disdn 10 Frince [l Shukol: ba wes bllled st Samogagh in 1058,
Tatrilles- M nbammadi (year 1068 H.)
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Amar Singh, with his face ali aflame, made no answer; there-
upon the wazir said to him some words which are offensive
among the Rajputs—ihat is to say, 'May yon be—, you
villain |"

Hardly had Wazir Bhin pronounced the words, when Amar
Singh, laying hold of his dagger, plunged it into the wasir's
breast, and he fell dead in the royal presence. There stood
Amar Singh, with the dagger still in his hand, l6oking at the
king. All were in consternation at such an act, but Shihjahin
dissembled, and rising, retired into the privacy of his harem
without uttering a word, But he made & sign for them to kill
Amar Singh, as was donr. The officers then presant leapt
upon him, and with his dagger he wounded six of them. The
cavalry and infantry of Amar Singh,’ who were outside the
fortress, on learning the death of their lord, made use of their
weapons, killing and decapitating whomsoever they encountered,
getting away in safety. King Shihjahfin afterwards granted
the dignities of Amar Singh to his younger brother, pamed
Jacont Sing (Jaswant Singh), whom he liked much: and &5
to him, 1 will relate farther on what he did in the days of
Aurmngzeb.

Once Shihjahiin was much incensed against a Pathan ofhicer,
whom he suspected of treachery, and he meant to order the
man’s execution. The officer got word of this and fied, with
the whole of his troops. When the king learnt of this fights
he inquired wrathfully [142] from those present which of them
would undertake to lay before him the head of that rebel. The
son of the fugitive offered to produce it. Shihjshin gaye him
an army, and marching off, he overtook his father near the
fortress of Gualior (Gwaliyar), where a great contest 100K
place. The fugitive was defeated, and, worn quite out, be took
refuge under a trée. There the son came up to him, but
having compassion upon his [ather, offered him horses to cons

¥ Rio Amar Singh, sidesi son of Winh Gaj Siugh, Ra{hor, of Misrwic
(Jobypur), dilled Salthat Knsn, Reshen Zamir, Balibshi in Aedds on the last day
of Jamdd§ L, rogq H (August <, 1644), and was bimeell alain [see * Mo, fgir-cl-
Umar,’ fi. 20, 733) For Jswant Singh (died 6th Zo,) Qu'dab, wéy H—
Decemlemr 15, 1578, N5 ) se= “ Mo-ulh U, 1 5o,
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tinue his flight. He =aid he would mike excuses to the king.
The father would not consent; on the contrary, he requested
that his head might be cut off, whereby the son might obtain
reward at court and continne their race, for he knew well he
conld never escape. Listening to this advice, the son cut off
his futher's head, and carried it into the presence of the king.
Thus he displayed more loyulty 1o Shihjahin than love to his
futher. Their descendants still exist in the Mogul country.

There happened in the reign of Shihjahin an event which
will with difficulty be credited in our Europe, being n thing
that may never have been heard of in that part of the world.
It was this: The governor of Sindi (Sind) wrote a letter to the
king offering congratulations on the prosperity of his kingdom,
which he ruled with such care; nor had it ever been heard that
any other king did so much to keep his realm in peace Every
day he (the governor) ordered proclamation by beat of drum
that if anyone had a complaint he should present his plea in
the royal presence. Months passed without a single complaint
being heard of. Buot the midwives informed him that a gicl
only nine yeuars of age had given birth to a male infant, Shih-
jahiin ordered that the child should be forwarded to court, and
gave him the name of 4 valvast'—that is to say, * Before Time.'
He was theson of an oillman. When he had reached a proper
age he received charge of the lump department at the royal
court. Although it may be a very improbable thing, this [early
child-bearing] was, nevertheless, not impossible, more especially
in Indin, where the climate is so hot.* There even the nobles
are forced to go about with a simple cadaya (gabd, a long loose
shirt), and nothing more ; and they sleep uncovered in the dew,
or on the damp ground upon a simple mat.

A Hindd prince called Champet Boodels (Champat Bun-
delah)® rebelled against Shihjabin, and collecting  sixty
thousand Kajput horsemen, mised a disturbance in the
king's territories, plundering in all directions, committing &

' Tomibly a compound of wwead [Arabic, " Era '), aml et (Hindl, *ihilog,’
! anbntance '),

% Sic Ip bont, but there ls abvionaly samy break in continully Leve or smbsion.

? Champat Pondelal js spikon of again atT: 183 mnid TIL 61,
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thousand insolent acts, and refusing to pay tribute. The
king intended to order ont a large anmy sgainst the rebed,
while he himself remained among his women, But seeing that
his officers were more or less afraid of Champat, Shahjahan
asked [143] his astrologer, a Hindn, whether he ought or
not to march in person to put down this rebellion.

The astrologer replied that, if he wished to have any good
result, he must go in persan, otherwise the Rajputs would
defeat his majesty’s army. Having heard the words of the
astrologer, the king left the capital at the head of a great
army, resolved to attack Champat without delay, But finding
the rajuh showed a bold front, he halted, and had recourse to
the tricks of policy, as counselled by his renowned wazir,
Sadulacan (Sa'dullali Khin),' a man of grear wisdom, ong of
whase retorts 1 will relate a little farther on (1. 144)- This
wazir pledged himself to defeat the rebel without any battle.
With this intent he opened a secrct correspondence with
Champat by friendly letters, sent him some presents, offering
to serve him and to act towards him as a friend.

Champat pluced confidence in him, assyming that things
would be settled in a manner favourable to himselfl. The
wazir wrote to him that the anger of the king against him
being by this time abated, it would suffice if he retreated for
one league. Champat answered that, the king having come
in search of him, he could not retreat unless first of all the
king retreated. Sa'dullah Ehin replied that, as he was a
feudatory of Shahjahin, it did not accord with the king's
dignity to withdraw. But if he would retire, he pledged his
word that the king also would move back and would forgive
him his tribute-money-

Champat drew back his forces, but the king marched
forward. Champat complained of this deception; but the
wazir wrote to him that he must continue his petirement

i Sa'dullah Ehin, & Shelbradal from Jlraswat ls the Pasjib, hicagme WL
fu the seventesnth yoar (1645-a5). Ha dicd agril Jamada 5., 1066 H; (Aprl 19,
16%6), =t Shahjubinsbid, aged sixty-seven, o mok e was 5,000, 5002 hewse,
diupah,  Chronngrams af his death are Sa'dllad Khity sard and famiai-fayd il
(s * Maagtr-ul- Umars,' #, 443, and * TarhdiMehammall " gbdes Tobl),
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leisurely, that the king would retire without fil. If he had
advanced for a time as he had done, it was only that his army
might not murmur against him. Cham pat once more believed
what he was told, and retreated again. This caused his soldiers
to take fright, seeing that the king continued to fallow, without
the rajah ever daring to attack. Thus most of the Hindn army
dispersed, in such & manner that Champat was forced to take
refuge in the jungle. The king's army invaded the territories
of the prince and plundered them, Champat complained to
Sa'dullah Khin about having been misled, but Sa‘dullab Ehin
replied that the king had also broken his word to him. Thus
was the Bundelah left in the extensive forests anid the monntuins
with & considerable force, where the king was unable to get at
him. In the end he was obliged to enter the king's service [r44]
i person with three thousand horse and accept piy from him ;
and until this day there are descendants of his who always
assume the name of Champat Bundelah, and serve, as he did,
under the Mogul flag.

With reference to Sa‘dullah Khin, T beg to inform the
reader that the lord Dom Mathets, of Canaress race, was
Bishop of Bichulim.! He went into the Mogul realm to
carty on a mission, and, desirous of obtaining n permit from
the king, he came to court and prayed an audience, stating
that he wis a man who had come from a very distant country to
make a proposition to the king. When he reached the royal
presence Shihjahin recognised that he was a learned man
of ascetic life. He therefore sent for all the most learned
Mahomedan doctors; and when they had arrived the king
gave permission to the bishop to speak. Thereupon Dom
Matheus announced this proposition: A traveller In foreign
country mét two persons, one of whom was sleeping and the
other was awake. 1 ask your majesty, from which of them
cught he to ask his way 2’ He put forward this propesition
because the Mahoniedins say that the Messiah is alive and

! Bichelim, o Portuguese territory, liss eight miles poarth of Goa ln 1t 24" 35",
lotig, 4o 42" (Thamion, * Garsttees," 11y),  Milllbager Geschichin,' 368) speakn
ofa Matthite, a Christian of St. Thomas, Bishop of Chrysopalia i partiéms, wihio
may be the person iatmded by Manuesi,

14—2



1) | OF THE EING SHARFAHAN

awake, while Mubammad is sleeping until the Day of Judg-
ment. '

They were all perplexed by this question, but Shihjahin
ordered them to answer. Sa‘dullsh Khin, who was the most
learned of all, seeing their silence, and fearing some reply
which would open the field for Lord Dom Matheus to preach
the true faith of Jesus Christ, craved leave from the king to
give the answer. He said: ‘It was necessary to wait until
he who was sleeping should awake, becatise the very man
who was wwake was himself waiting to ask from the slesper
which was the right way.' By this he meant to suggest that
the Messinh had lost his way, and was waiting for Mulammad
ts awake to ask him the road. No delay was allowed for Lord
Dom Matheus to open his mouth, but the king gave him the
signal to take his leave; and Sa'dullah Ehin remained @ proud
victor, receiving the congratulations of all the bystanders.

The astrologer who had adviséd Shiahjahin to maarch in
person (anfe, 1. 143) said one day to the king, as & proof of
acquaintance with the courses of the stars, that it was advisable
for his majesty [145] to quit the fortress, because there was a
planet then dominant which prognosticated the death of the
greatest person dwelling therein. He was of opinion that for
povernor he shonld select the kolwal (chief police officer).
This plun was adopted, and the king went out to hunt, After
the lapse of two months Shahjahin received news that the
kotwdl was dead, He retumed to the fortress, and made 2
great deal of the astrologer, and conferred on him very great
rewards.

But it seems to me that it was the astrologer’s ‘artfulness, for
he had a very great friend in the physician who attended the
koéwdl. 1t may be that they took counsel together, and he
may have had him killed to prove the truth of his reading of
the stars. For I have scen many similar cases, and these
Hindos, without fear of God and devoid of scruple, do many
such-like things out of desire for money. Nevertheless, there
is not a great man who has not in his house an astrologer, if it
be only to know the right hour for leaving his house on any
business, even down to when to put on a new cloak (cabaxa).
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Of this astrologer tribe there are great numbers in the Mogul
kingdom ; even the bdsdrs swarm with these folk, und by this
means they find out all that passes in the houses. Bath
Moguls and Hindas are so credulons thut they put fith in all
that these men choose to tell them,

During the march made by Shihjabin against Champat
Bundelah there died a great captain called Cameana (Ehin
Kbanan).! Ont of carelessness the king difl not appaint anyone
in his place. Thers was then present at the court a general
whose ancestors had fought in the wars of Taimir-i-lang.
The king made tise of his advice, he being & man of excellent
judgment. One day he sppeared in the royal presence anxions
and pensive. Shiahjahin asked him what was the cavse of his
anxictics. Hé answered that a kingdom was like a palace
built upon pillars ;: when one of them was missing, if no remedy
was applied, it was bound to fall. Just as in the cass of that
palace without the pillar there was wanting a good officer in
the kingdom ; and if another were not put in his place, it was
inevitable that the kingdom would go to ruin. The king was
pleased with the advice, and directed him to select someone
at court who was fitted to cccupy that post.  In a shori time
this order was carried out.

The said peneral’'s name was Said can Bahadar (Sa'id Khiin
Bahidur);® he had neither sons nor danghters. The king was
desirous that heshould have [£40] issue. He therefore ardered
his physician to refer to a receipt in the * Chronicles of Taimr-i-
lang,” which was composed of eleven ingredients. 1 have tested
it several times, and always with good results. Sa‘id Khin
Bahidur swallowed the medicine, and at the end of four years
he had a number of sons by varions wives, concubines, and
slave:girls that he possessed. After this interval Shahjahin
asked him how many sons he had, to which he replied that
next day he would give him an answer. He then found that

U1 eannol tell whe b maant, wnless i be *Abd-ur-rabim, Khin Khinin (son of
Halram Klin), who died in the lasd year of Jahingic's g The Bondelah
tronbies began almost imzmediataly after Shahjallin's socsesion,

® 5ol Elin, Bahtidur, Zatar Jang, & Choghatte by rsce [wee tha * Mol
I, 429). Hedied in 1063 H. (1651-53), leaving twenty-two sons
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he had sixty male children, without counting the femmle, He
expressed his gratitude for the gift made to him by his
mujesty, adding that all of those children wete ready to be
offered up a sacrifice to the royal orders. The king gave them
all the epithet of Canaeat (Khanakzad)—that is to say, *Born
in the House," by which they were mostly known, and all drew
good pay.

Not enly was Shahjahin liberal in rewarding and prompt in
chastising the great; he was equally grateful in: every matter,
even the smallest. It happenced that one day on his way to
hunt he became separated from lus men. Worn out and very
thirsty, he went into a village lying on the king's highway
from Agmh to Dihli, and arrived at a hamlet where as &
charity a Brahman was giving water to the wayfarers. The
king came up to him, and requested him to give him watet.
The Brahman, seeing that Shihjahin was drinking greedily
owing to his great thirst, threw into the vessel a little grass,
thereby forcing him 1o drink slowly. The king in anger asked
him why he had put in the gross.  The Brahman, not knowing
to whom he was speaking, said: * It is what I do to my asses
when they are tired, so that they may not get colic pains.
The king took a rest at the edge of the village, beneath a tree.
His retinve arrived, when the Brahman in a fright, recognising
that it was the king, prostrated himself on the spot and
asked for pardon. But Shahjahin rewarded him with & gift
of the said village, which at this day is known as the
* Brahman's villnge."

The same thing that happened to his grandfather Akbar
also happened to Shahjahin, when he had made up his miod
to make war upon the Rand, a Hind@ king. He sent for his
wazir, Sa'dullab Khin, to come to the palace at an unusual
hour, and directed him to prepare the army secretly for a
campaign aguinst the said Rand. Coming out of the fortress,
Sa'dullah Khiin heurd [147] a Ragateira' woman, who eried
out to her husband, calling him a lizy, idle fellow; he must
get up at once and go to buy whatever was required before

VAN T can wmugest for this b cRajput’ Hags (wrlife) ¢ dive, the uaual
Partugunse ending,
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starting against the Rina, whose territarics the king intended
to invade, Heanng this, the wazir returmed to court and
related to Shalijaban all that he had beard, At once the king
sent out spies to discover what was being said. These men
came back and reported that the common people in the city
said openly that the king would march agninst the Rani.
This report caused the king to abandon his intention, and the
Rini made terms with him, ceding some territory and paying
# considerable sum of money. The Ragateira woman arvived
at her opinion because the wasir had been sent for to the
palace during the night, and since the people of Indostan
{Hindilstin}) are great gossips, as 1 have said earlier (1. 87),
they sometimes get hold of the truth.

The purpose that Shiahjahan had of fighting with the Rind
was diverted to a campaign against the Hindd prince of
Serinaguer (Srinagar), which is in the midst of lofty mountaing
in the north, covered all the year with snow. But it did not
hisppen to him as he had hoped. To effect hiz purpose he
despatched a general at the head of thirty thousand horsemen
besides infantry. The prince allowed his enemy to penetrate
into the mountains, retiring as they advanced. When the
soldiers of Shiahjahan had got a certain distance he closed the
toads, so that they could peither advance any farther nor
retreat, and there was no way of deliverance for them. Finding
himself in this danger, the general sent proposals for peace
negotiations, but the Hindd prince returned the answer that
his resolve to treat was too late.  Already the commander had
& deficioncy of supplies; and all his camp was in great con-
fusion. He therefore requested from the prince permission to
withdraw, and although the rajab conld have destroyed them
every one, he did not wish to do so. He snt to say that he
would grant them their lives, bat his soldiers required all their
noses as 4 memorial of having given them a gift of their lives.
Shahjahin's soldiers finding themselves in such dreadful straits,
mither than lose their lives were content to lose their noses,
They abandoned their arms, throwing them down where they
stood, and issued one by one, leaving their noses behind them
on the spot. From this Shahjahin out of shame never again
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attempted to make war agiinst the rajah, and he gave an
order that ever afterwards this prince should be spoken of as
the Nactirany (Nak-kati-riini)—that is to say, * Cut-nose '—and
until this day he is known by this name. The general, who
could not endure coming back with his nose cut off, took
poison, atd put an end to his life before [148] he got back to
the plains. Of this mjah [ shall have to say something in the
reign of Aurangzeb (1. 274).!

It is now time to speak of the sons of Shahjahin; but first
of all it Is requisite to state that Shahjahao enly preserved
four sons and four daughters, and whenever it seemed likely
that the number wonld be exceeded, he did not allow his wives
to come to delivery, but directed medicine to be administered
to cause ahortion. He left behind him this evil practice, of
which Aurangzeb made use, and also his sons.

The first dauzhter whom he had was Begom Sasb {Begam
Szhib), the eldest of all, wham her father loved to an extra-
ordinary degree, as most lovely, discreet, loving, generous,
open-minded, and charitable. She was loved by all, and lived
in state and magnificence. This princess had an annnal
income of three millions of rupees, in addition to the revenues
of the port of Sorat, assigned for her expenditure on betel.
She hid in addition many precious stones and jewels that had
been given to her by her father.  She favoured the interests of
her brother Dard, securing thus that the nobles at the court
adopted the same side, and did not join that of his adversaries.
She exerted herself a great deal to secure the crown to her
brother Dird; this was due to her eagerness to marry, Dark
having promised to give his consent as soon as he was
crowned. With this end in view, she employed all her clever-
ness and energy to satisfy her father; she served him with the

' Srinagar.—This story is probably sn Imperfect version of Mirsa Shuji’,
Najibar Khn, Hadaklshi's cxmpaign in Srinagar (Gaghwal) in Shikjatum's ninth
year, 1048 H. (2835-96). The story in told differently in ' Ma, asir-ul-Umard,'
Hi, pp 82282y  The widow of the roler of Gorhwil wes previously knowe 53
Wak-katl Ranl, from bor bable of cutting off rebellions subjects’ noses  Bad
though Najibat Hhiin escaped alooe to Sambhal, supportiog 1k o the lesves
of trees, nodhing s anid aboot his leafog s nose  He did not die gl Klemgle's
seventh year. togegd H [March =, 100y, bo March 18, 1684),
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greatest love and diligence in order that Shihjahan should
accede to her petitions. It was from this cause that the
common people hinted that she had intercourse with her father,
and this has given occasion to Monsieur Bernier to write many
things abount this princess, founded entirely on the talk of low
people.!  Therelore it is incumbent on me, begging his pardon,
to say that what he writes is untrue.

He says that Shahjshin, learning that this princess had a
lover in her palace, forthwith went to seize him. The princess
had hidden the man in a stove, and the king caused it to be
lighted, and thus secured his death. T leave the reader to judge
if a father, who loved =0 much this princess, would do such an
infamous act to his danghter at such a great court, where there
were o tnany ambassadors.  Although he might know that his
daughter had her hidden diversions, he always dissembled,
holding the princess equal to her mother, of whom it might
be said she governed the kingdom.?

One day. owing ta his love for her, he had complained to
her, saying [149] that his vassals no longer nhc:}'?d him with
the accustomed promptitude, this being a sign that he wus
getting near the end of his reign. The daughter, imagining
that she would be able to remedy this by lengthening the days
of the old man, gave lnrgely in alms and liberated many slaves,
male and female. First of all the latter were made to circum-
ambulate lier father three times, and then sent out of the harem,
as if they carried away with them the royal infirmity outside.
She also distributed many elephants and horses. This custom
is very common in Hinddstan, and this superstition being very
widespread, everyone distributes, according to his ability, alms
of food and other things.

! Cooptable's edition, pp 11, 12, and nota.

= Anand Rim, Mukhlk, in his ' Chamanisin,’ p. 25, gives & short sceount of
Jahindri Begam, known sd Besarm Saldb, He says aho was the dethor of one
or iwo religions treatises. She died in togy H. (1682), and was baried in the
couttyatd of Niggmad-din Aullyd's shrine ar Dihlt, The inscription s given in
*AgirinenndA p. g3, Mo 44, and part Qi p. 747 aldo b Curr-Stephen's
Tiucholagy,' ok On ber jold beddivad wore the Himdl worda: ' Bapom
SUIEh A Pulang vone kil * (gune B, " of gold, or * for sleeping oa *; send (noun), * gold,’
are. "o sleen ')
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Dard wished, and petitioned his futher accordingly, that the
princess should be married to the chief general at the court,
whose pame was Nesmbet Can (Najibat Khin),' a man de-
scended from the royal family of Balg {Balkh). He was brave
and well-proportioned ; but Shaistah Khin, brother-in-law
of Shiabjahian, becoming aware of this proposal, said to
him (Shihjabfin) that it was not advisable to make such
a murriage, becanse when married to the said princess the
husband would necessarily have to be placed in the same mnk
as any other prince. Najabat Khin was related to the King of
Balkh, against whom his majesty must sometime make war.
Furthermore, be ought to bear in remembrance the regulation
of Akbar that danghters should not be given husbands.

This was the reason why Shihjahin did not give his daughter
in miurriage, although from his fondness for her he woald have
liked to find her a husband. All the same, this princess did not
desist from waiting on her father with great affection, content-
ing hersell with the pleasure she had with her lovers. The
principal one was & vigorous youth of goodly presence, the son
of the chief dancer in her employ, who was her mistress of
music. This person was brought to the harem when he was
quite small, and he sang with such charm before the princess
that she gave him the epithet of * Born in the House! Under
cover of this title thest princesses and many great ladies gratify
their desires.

When he began to get a little bigger, she gave him the name
of Duleri—that is to say, * Always a Bridesroom *—and he re-
ceived rank like any other commander, with a number of cavalry
and infantry and gorgeous standsrds; and his name was great in
the city. One day it happened that this man was going to the
court of the princess, her mansion being outside the fortress,
On the way he encountered Mahibat Khan, who was proceed-
mg to the royal andience-hall. When passing each other in

! This Najibai Ebin b ilentical with the general who commantled (n the
cumpalin sgninet Gerhwal (ante, fol. 148) He was the thind sea of Mfred Shih
Rugg, ruler of Hadallsban.  Abo Talib, Stisistah Ehin, Khin Ehinin, Amirul-
umass, wis Shahjalan's brotherdn-low. Ho died at Agmab in 11os H. (end of
16g1) 8l 8 great age.
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the street, their respective retinues had a slight dispute. As
Mahibat Khin recognised the standards as those of Dulerd, he
ordered his own to be furled, and went on to courl without
them, Information of this was given to Shihjahin, and he
asked him for what reason he had come to court without his
usual insignia. Mahabat Khin responded most humbly [150]
that his time had passed by now that musicians had begun to
carry standards. The king investigatéd the matter, and sent
orders for the flags of Dulera the musician to be destroyed.
Mahibat Khiin did this on purpose, not being on good terms
with Prince Dard; snd hoped by what he had done to vex the
princess; knowing that be would at the same time annoy 1Hira.

This princess mmtad herselfl to many entertainments, such as
music, dancing, and other pastimes. It happened one mght
while engaged in such-like dances that the thin rmiment steeped
in perfumed oils of the princess's favourite dancing-woman caught
fire, and from the great love she bore to her, the princess came
to her aid, and thus was burnt herself on the chest. From this
arose great disturbance in the court, but what caused the
gredtest sorrow to the princess was that the dancing-woman
died! [In addition to these amusements the princess was also
fond of drinking wine, which was imported for her from Persia,
Kabul, and Kashmir, But the hest liquor she drank was dis-
tilled in her own house. It was a most delicious spirit, made
from wine and rose-water, flavoured with many costly spices
and mromatic drugs. Many a time she did me the favour of
ordering some bottles of it to be sent to my house, in sign of
her gratitude for my curing people in ber harem. This lignor
profited me-greatly. The lady's drinking wis at night, when
various delightful pranks, mosic, dancing, and acting were
going on around her. Things arrived at such a pass that

! Hiewnrt, ‘ History of Hengal,’ po s4¢, placss {his incident In 1040 [xagh H, ),
cottectiog It with the visit o Agmb of Gabriel Boughton, the Eoglish sirgeo,
Bur Yule, " Disry of 'W. Hodges," Hil. 189, thinks this is aot proved. and pluces
Boughton's vistis in 36ys (iil. 1520 Ehef Ebin (i, s9¥) sssigne tbe Bogam's
mccideny to'the vear 105y H. (1854 5-44), which is certainly sather nor Yale's daje,
Seow aloo the * Madshihnsea ' 1 y61, which gives the et date, 271l Muhsream,
to5¢ B [February 4, 1644, ¥.5). The Court seems to bave been sz Inhl at
the tims, and not (n the Dakbis,
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sometimes she was unable to stand, and they had to carry
her to bed.

I say this because I was admitted on familiar terms to this
house, and 1 was deep in the confidence of the principal ladies
and eunuchs in her service. [ have no wish to state all that
went on. But I am very surprised at what Monsicur Bernier
has written—npamely, that the sdgiv, or chief eunuch, of the
princess would not allow any desired person to enter the palace
of the princess, and for this reason she caused the wisir to
be put to death by poison. On the contrary, the man obeyed
her, and sought every mode of gratifying her, séeing the groat
interest he had not to work against her.

When Begam Sibib leaves her palace to goito court, she
proceeds in great pomp, with much cavalry and infantry and
many eunuche. The last named, who surround her closely,
push on one side everyone they find in frant of them, shouting
out, pushing and assaulting everyone without the least respect
of personis. The same is done by all the princesses of the blood-
royal when they come out. Thus it is that, perceiving the
approach of these princesses; everybody forthwith hastens out
of the way. They proceed very [151] slowly, men in front
sprinkling water on the roadway to lay the dust. They are
placed in a palanquin which has over it a rich cloth or net of
gold, sometimes ornamented with precious stones or pieces of
looking-glass. The eunuchs surround the palanguin, driving
away the flies with peacock-feathers stuck into handles of
enamelled gold-work or adorned with precious stenes. The
men-servants hold sticks of gold or silver in their hands, and
call out, ‘Out of the way! Out of the wayl Near the
palanguin they carry various perfumes, Tho wife of Ja‘far
Ebin, being the mistress of Shahjahiin, moves about with the
same dignity.

If perchance any noble with his retinue is met on the road,
he, being anxious to acquire such protectors at court, persans
through whose hands pass the most impartant affairs, with-
draws from the road by way of respect and reverenice. He dis-
mounts and stands with hiz hands crossed at o distance of two
hundred paces, less or more.  There he waits until the lady has
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come close; when he makes a low bow, showing his expectation
of some honour. When these princesses wish to do honour to
the noble; they send him several pareels of betel in a gold-
brocade bag ornamented with precious stones.  If they do not
accept the civility, they order him to receive a shower of blows,
which makes him ron. Among all of these ladies the most
esteemed and respected was Begam 5ihib, becanse she obtained
from her futher whatever she asked.

This princess, to preserve her memory, gave orders for the
construction of a serde in the square which is between the
forttess and the city.! This is the most beautiful sarde in
Hindfistin, with upper chambers adorned with many paintings,
and it has a lovely garden, in which are ornamental reservoirs.
In this sarde there put up none but great Mogul and Persian
merchants, The king went to view the work that had been
done for his beloved Begom Saeb (Begam S3hib), and he
praised her energy and liberality. Sadulacan (Sa‘dullah Khidn),
whao never allowed an occasion to escape without the customary
flattery, said: * Aguer ferdus berrui zimin as, aminas, aminas’
{Adgar fardaus bar rite zamin asi, Hamin ast, hamin asf}—that
is to say, ‘If the terrestrinl paradise is on earth, it is here, it
is here,'s

The lirst-born son of King Shahjahin was the prince Dard,
a man of dignified manners, of a comely conntenance, joyous
[152] and polite in conversation, ready and gracious of speech,
of meost extraordinary liberality, kindly and compassionate,
but over-confident in his opinion of himself, considering him-
self competent in all things and having no need of advisers,
He despised those who gave him counsel. Thus it was that
his dearest friends never ventured to inform him of the most
essential things, Still, it was very easy to discover his inten-

¥ Bem Bernles, 28, 341, for a deseription of this serile ni Dibil, and’ Carr.
Suphen, " Asvhedlogy,' [ 247, under the namin of *Sarai of Jalso Ars Degum. '
The slie & gow occupled by the Guesn 'w Gardeus (H. C. Fanshawe, * Dalhi” 52}
t:r;‘l}ii‘—“n writers alio atidbete the libes to Sadallah Khan, The cormect

4 Agmr fardaon har re samin ast,
Hamin sst. wa bamin gel, wa hamio xsel’

h‘w.' oA
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tions. He assumed that fortune would invariably favour him,
and mm.gmﬂd that everybody loved him. He was very fond
of music and dancing, and once fell in love with a public
dancing.girl named Ranadel (Ra'ma-dil), His love was so
violent that when his father refosed his consent to a marriage
with her, the prince began to pine to death, Seeing this state
of things, Shahjahiin was obliged to accord permission for the
marnage, and she was granted the same dignities as the other
princesses. This Ra‘ni-dil displayed afterwards her love and
fidelity to Dird, as may be seen further an (I, 261).

Among other pastimes indulged in by Diirdi was that of
listéning to buffoons, who invented many things to amuse
him, At times, well dressed and followed by a number of
servants, they would attend the prince's court., When they
saw anyone come in search of employment as a soldier, they
would seaxt themselves and order him to be called beflore
them. They would ask him what he wanted. Having
ascertained the status of the unhappy man, they would praise
up their prince by all sorts of talk, and thus induce the vietim
to present himsell before Dard on all-fours. They would
aseért that by appearing in this fashion he would be given
double pay. They found some men so foolish as to do this
before the whole court, whereby Dird was much delighted.

But the best joke of these buffoons was the following:
Making the acquamtance of some other soldiers of equally
low intelligence, they began to talk about how they megot
to advance these men’s interests, In this conversation one
of them siid he was physician to the prince, and began to
ask the soldier what he was suffering from:. The soldier
turned pale at such a question, and said that he bad no disesse
of any sort. On this the buffoon became still more emphatic,
and siid he had 4 very severe complaint, and if he did not come
to his aid, he would soon lose his sight. At such an assertion
the soldier trembled, supposing that the case was serious,
Thereupon the buffoon made use of this apening to feign great
afiection for him, asserting that he meant to gure him in:a
few moments [153] with a certain smoke. Thus he cansed the
soldier to be taken by his servants to a room, where he was
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mounted, with sword, shield, and quiver fall of arrows, into
# large pot to be fumigated. Once inside he was shut in,
and they began to apply the smoke, inducing him to stay
where he was: Then, thus shut up, they had him carried
by two culles (gults) into the presence of Dird during
his time of audience. When they took off the cover of the
pot, the poor soldier came out of it fully armed, and was quite
terrified at finding himself in such a magnificent court, grander
than any be had ever seen before. Everybody began to laugh
at_him, whereat he was ashamed, and began to run. The
prince was much amused; but men of judgment were in
consternation at finding a prince who hoped to inherit a
kingdom, and already forty years of age, amuse himself with
stich childishness.

Dari was very fond of Europeans.  Added to this, as every-
ane knew, he held to no religion. When with Mahamedans,
he praised the tenets of Mubammad: when with Jews, the
Jewish religion; in the same way, when with Hindds, he
pinismd Hindgism. This is why Aurangzeb styled him Cafar
(Kajir)—~that is to say, ' The Infidel’ At the same time he
had great delight in talking to the Jesuit fathers on religion,
and making them dispute with his learned Mahomedans, or
with & Hebrew called Cermad {Sarmad), an atheist much
liked by the prince. This man went always naked, except
when he appeared in the presence of the prince, when he
contented himself with a piece of cloth at his waist. He
(Dird) much delighted in hearing the fathers overcome evary-
ong with their arguments: in my time the fathers who were
at the court of the prince Dard were three, The first was
named Father Estanilas Malpica, & Neapolitan ;! the seeond,
Father Pedro Juzarte, a Portuguese; and the third, Futher
Henriques Buzeo, a Flamand.  The last was much loved by the
prinice, and every time he went to court he received fifty rupees
and two shawls® Of this father, who was much cherished and

* Malpica 1 mentioned again on fol. 1. 277, Busde's nams wifl Bppear again
mryoral fimes

* The tooappaarpnce 14 1his enumenation of Helasich Roth's name must bo
acxounied for by his abasoce In Europe when Manseci was &t Agmah, 165688
He bs mammmd by our aathor in abtiz-6a (110 355
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esteemed by all the nobles, 1 shall have to speak again (I. 259,
IT. 117). On some occasions Dird drank with the fathers,
for this prince was fond of wine-drinking, but did it discreetly.

Dird was also possessed with the craze of putting faith
in astrologers, of whom he entertained a considerable nmmber,
The chief of them [154] was called Bavani Das (Bhawiini Dis),
who hiad a great liking and affection for me, because he enjoyed
drinking my wine. This man had placed his head in danger
by r paper, in which he declared that without the slightest
doubt the said prince would become king. I asked him in
familiar conversation how he could have had the andacity to
sign such a paper, and what excuse he had ready to produce
if it did not happen accardingly. The astrologer laughed long
and heartily at my question, and said to me that if the said
prince should eome to be king, he would accord to him the
greatest credit; if not, the prince would be sufficiently busied
in saving his own life, and not likely to have time to seek that
of an astrologer.

This prince (Dar) had two sons, the elder called Sultdn
Suliman Xacfl (Sultdn (prince) Sulaimin Shukoh}—that 18 to
say, ‘ King Solomon'—and the younger called Sultin Super
Xacii (Sipibr Shukoh)—that is to say, ‘ High as the Stars
These were the children of the principal wife, who was of
the bloed-royal.

When Shahjahiin assigned to each prince a separate establish-
ment, he kept Dard by his side, and made him lord of the
kingdoms of Kashmir, of Lahor, and of Kabul. Out of the
great love he bore him he granted him several privileges, such
as to canse elephants to fight together whenever he pleased,
and to display in his presence gold and silver maces, a thing.
otherwise allowed to the king only. To demonstrate still more
his affection, he ordered a small throne to by placed near his
own, and on this the prince was to take his seat. It must
be added that out of the great respect he had for his father
Dara would never consent to sit on this throne. He (Shih-
jahiin) gave an order that all the pobles of his court should
go first to ‘'make their morning bow in the presence of the
heir-apparent, Sultin Dird, and then come to his (Shahjahan’s)
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daily audience, He declared on varlous occasions that this
son. (Dini) was the successor that he desired, and he would
do all in his power to get him made king; but the matter was
according to the will of the Paraverdigar (Purtardagary—that
is to say, of the Creator, fram whom he besought the gift of
such & happy event.

By reason of these things the haughty Dird scorned the
nobles, both in word and deed, making no account of them.
It happened that one of Mahabat Khin's soldiers killed one of
his (Dara’s) men. Fulling into a rage, and without any inguiry
into the matter, he (Dar) ordered his troops to be collected,
with orders to drag [155] Mahabat Kbin before him. On
hearing of this, the noble made ready to defend himself in his
mansion. Shihjahin heard of these preparations, whereupon
he ordered his son Dard to be sent for, and administered
a severe reproof for what he had intended to do, He said
that if soldiers had disputes among themselves, that was no
reason for interfering with their commanders. After this
incident Mahabat Khin bore a grudge against him (Dira),
and failed him at his time of need, as I shall recount further
on {I. 212).

1t was also a rumour that Dard likewise took the life throngh
poison of that able noble Sa‘dullah Khan,' a man esteemed by
the king and the whole court. He was a partisan of Prince
Aurangzeb. Dard also insulted Rajah Jasing (Jai Singh)fa
very powerful Hindi prince, lord of forty thousand horsemen
and one hundred and fifty thousand infantry. He said that
Jai Singh looked like u musician, an occupation much despised
in Hindostin, because all such men act the part of buffoons.
Apparently the mjsh submitted to the insult received from
Dard, but he only dissembled, and postponed the taking: of
vefigeance to the time when Diird would need him. This he
nccomplished, and 1 will relate it hereafter (. t6g).

Not content with having affronted <o many, he must needs

! See b, L, fallo 144, snd the note there, for the date of Sa'dullah Khan's

¥ Jni Singh (AMirza Rijab), Kachiwithab, of Amber, born about 1665, scoeedad
o 167, and diad in 1867,
Voi. 1. i5
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ridicule the great soldier Mirzamula (Mir Jumlah),! when he
arrived nt his father's court. He ordered the noble’s sword,
that he was wearing at his waist, to be stolen as soon as he
entered the royal palace by active fellows, of whom he kept a
number for the execution of such.like tricks: 1In addition, he
ordered his buffoons several times to imitate the gait and the
gestures of the said Mir Jumlah, making mock of him.

Not contenting himself with these affronts to a commander
who, for the benefit of the prince's father, Shiahjahin, revolted
against the King of Goleonda (Gulkhandah), as 1 shall tell here-
after (1. 162), Datd, three days before the said Mir Jumlah left
for the Dacan (Dakhin) to conquer the territories of Gulkbandah,
deprived him by bribery of the eighty European artillerymen
he (Mir Jumlah) had in his service. Mir Jumlah knew of all
these things, and granting that he was capable of some dis-.
simulation, he was not able to ignore this last piece of treachery,
and racking his head, he tried to find some course to take, 50
that the artillerymen might continue under his orders, This
in effect happened, becanse Aurangzeb afterwards made him
(Mir Jumlah) the royal captain-general [156] for the conquest
of Azami (Assam), und thus the artillerymen came under his
command, as 1 shall relate hereafter (I1. 72).

But one of the chief generals of Shihjahin was suspected by
Dird of being unfriendly. This man was found in his bed with
his throat cut, and the populace whispered that he (Dird) had
ordered the assassination. To sum up, he (Dard) depreciated
all the nobles at the court, above all the generals and com-
manders. In order to insult them still more, he gave exaggerated:
praise to Barcandas Can (Bargandiz Ebin)'—that is to say

i Mir Mobammad Sad, & Sayyid from Ardisitn, entitied MIr fomish, sed
afterwards Mi‘agam Ehin, Khio Ehioan, Sipth Silkr, He died in Bengal s
the znd Ramaglin, sozs Ho (Aprl 16, 1663), Ses *H:.,uh.u]-l]mﬂ.' fil, qae

* Parqandle Kbin (nams, Ja'far) was geseral of artillery (o Ditrs Shakoln o
Shikijaliin's twanty-sevenih yemr (1653.54). ho obtained a mesud soid e abirve
tithe. In the first year of Aurangseb he was confirmed in his rask: |n the
sevunih nnd thirtuenth years of the reign he was on duty in the Dakhin, Nothing
furthes b keows of him (Kewa! Rim, * Toghdrstonlamerd)) British Muyspam
Addiitonal MS., 16703, fol, 218). Hs is also named as kaving been at the Batile
?:‘ &m?ﬁh lm ‘MasgirubUmars," L 493 Manncct speaks of lim agiln
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* Grand Thunderer “—who, being a soldier of reputs, was made
by Dird head of his artillery. The appointment was due to
his having killed an owl which had taken up its place upon the
room where the prince was sleeping. He said this man was
the bravest in the whole empire ; that he by himself wouold
suffice for the destruction of any prince who was his (Dira's)
enemy ; that all the commandeérs and generals put together
could not reach the hundredth part of that man’s valour. At
this praise the other commanders showed themselves aggrieved
and disgusted. All these things united were the chief canses of
Diri's ruin and death. He might have been King of Hindiistan
if he had known how to control himself.

The second son of King Shihjahin was called Xaxujo (Shih
Shuji'}—that is to say, * Valiant King' He was arrogant, and
reputed to be courageous, steadfast, and prodent in his under-
takings, He knew how to acquire friends likely to aid him in
his important and seasonable affairs. At the court of his father
he had many agents, especially when he was in Bengal, These
persons were able to seduce from the court of his brother Dari
the best soldiers, artillerymen, and enginesrs by money grants
and promises of doubling their pay. Besides this, he main-
tained a great friendship with Rajah Jasont Sing (Jaswant
‘Singh' Rithor), an ally of Prince Dirk; and in the harem he
had his sister Genarara Begom,' who acted for him, and reported
to him all that went on. I have nothing to write about that
princess, and may be excused from taking that trouble, T will
only state that she was proud, very passionate, fancied herself
clever, was envious, not generous, and, furthermore, not good-
looking.

Shih Shuja' followed the habits of his father, being a lover
of gomgs, dances, and women, among whom he spent days
without giving [157] audience, drinking wine to excess, and
spending a great deal of money on dancing women, to whom
he gave valuable jewels and handsome clothes, conferring on

! T am in doobt as 1o thin name it i meant for the youngen danghier, bt
the pame o=t not corespond, even approximately  ‘The four danghiters were :
(1) Parhes Bino Begam, (1) Jaban Ara Begam (Begam Sikib), (1) Roshan Ars
DBegnemn. [§) Surmiyl Dogum.
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them increased pay, as the fancy took him, without any regard
to merit.  He had such a high idea of himself that he supposid
his valour could conquer everybody. From this enuse he
despised his opponents, and was at times neghigent in important
things. He was the first to revolt against his father, as 1 shall
tell hereafter (1. 166), Some assert that he followed the sect
of Aly (‘All), venerated by the Persians as a prophet ; whereas in
the Mogul realm, Balq (Balkh), Bocara (Bukhird), Badacxam
( Badakhshin), Samarcand {Samarqand}, and Cascar( Kashghar),
they do not recognise ‘Ali as a prophet, but follow the religion
of Turkey and Arabia.

During the time that this prince governed the kingdom of
Bengalla (Bengal), where he held his principal court in thecity
of Ragemal (Rajmabal), there happened, & fow years before the
rebellion in the Mognl kingdom, an extraordinary case, about
which he wrote to King Shahjahin. At eight o'clock in the
day there appeared near the said city, in a plain a league sind a
half broad, a great number of cobra snakes, large and small.
They covered the field and moved from west to east until four
o'clock in the afternoon ; they looked like ripples in the ocean.
In the greatest fright, the inhabitants of the villages climbed
upon the taps of their houses and upon trees, They beheld
moving in the midst of the said cobras one of great size, which
carried on its head another smaller one, entirely white. They
pursued their way withont harming anyone, many remaining
Behind in the suburbs of the city and in the villages, and through
losing their companions they died. Hearing of this event,
Shihjahfin asked his astrologers what it meant. They replied
that the wickedness of the empire was taking its departure, and
that he would survive for muny prosperous years, _

The prince Shil Shuja’ also consulted his astrologers, and
they told him that before much time had passed [138] there
would arise 4 rebellion in the empire, and that he would become
emperor. The little cobr earried upon the head of the large
one was, they said, the king of the cobras, who had come to the
end of his reign, and was thus compelled to leave his old abode,
This event caused considerable fear to all people, and it was
spoken of in many directions. Both Mahomedauns and Christ-
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ians assured me that it was as the astrologers had divined, and
that it must happen as they had said. But in saying that
Shih Shujl’ must become king they went too far. All the
same, this may have been the reason for Shih Shujd’ rising in
rebellion against his father.

The third son of King Shihjahin was the prince Aumangzeb,
the present King of Hindustin, This prince was very different
from the others;, being in character very secretive and serious,
carrying on his affairs in a hidden way, but most energetically,
He was of 2 melincholy temperament, always busy at some-
thing or another, wishing to execute justice and arrive at appro.
priate decisions. He was extremely anxious to be recognised
by the world as-a man of wisdom, clever, and a lover of the
truth. He was moderately liberal, distributing rewards and
conferring gifts wherever suitable. But above all, for a long
time he pretended to be a faquir (fagir), a holy mendicant, by
which he renounced the world, gave up all claim to the crown,
and was content to pass his life in prayers and mortifications.

Still, being then in the Dakhin, he never refrained from
urging his claims at court by the mediation of his sister,
Roxonara Begom (Roshan-iri Begam). All was done in great
secrecy, with much craft, so that his brothers could neither
know nor suspect anything. He was aware that his father was
not fond of him, and being afraid that he might be removed
from charge of the Dakhin, he sought by his pretences to secure
some of his affection. However, Shihjahin recollected every
day the fugir and the apples (1, 118), and thus gave no credit
to the make-believe of Aurangzeb. In addition, Darl said
several times to his father that he wis not afraid of any of his
brothers except the bigot and prayer-monger.

With this cloak of renunciation he deceived many, and
secured intimacy [159] with the poor mendicants, many of
whom were devoted to him, and the greater number of them
were used as spies, to give him news of the many things that
occurred. He wis so subtle as to decaive the quickest-witted
people, nmong whom are these fugirs.! For, having been told

! Captain Symem, *Voyage to Hast India’ {London, 1715), p a4, hus this
atory, which be pioked up at Srat-ls 1yor,
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that many of thes¢ people had considerable sums hidden n
their patched coats, he issued an order at the city of Brampur
(Burhinpur) that all the mendicants should be collected at an
entertainment, where he meant to distribute alms.  In addition
to the banquet, he intended as a sacrifice for his sins to give to
each of them a new coat.

A great number of the mendicants assembled, for none could
refuse this chance of filling his belly and covering his naked-
ness with a new garment, After having dined, the new clothes
were given to them as they left, taking from them the old ones
that they had on their bodies. Finding themselves thus
cornered and knowing the loss they must suffer, they became
anxious, and shouted that they could not give up their clothes
by reason of their great holiness, and many said that they had
yowed they would be buried in those clothes, which they had
carried about on their bodies for so many days. Their objec-
tions were of no avail, and they were sent away, carrying the
new raiment.

Aurangzeb ordered the said clothes to be piled up, and after
they had been searched he acquired a large number of golden
coins. With these he wished to purchase a string of lovely
pearls. He asked his teacher, Secmir (Shekh Mir),' a man of
great wisdom, whether the pearls were worth a bundred
thousand rupees, which the owner demanded. The teacher,
without inspecting them, and keeping his eyes cast on the
ground, said to him : * If your highness does not mean to acquire
greater peatls, you can buy these; but my advice is that with
the said money you raise soldiers, and by them you will become
master of larger pearls and greater riches.’  Aurangzeb followed
this advice, and praised the judgment of Shekh Mir.

Not content with pretending to be a fayir, Aurangzeb went
further, and acted the mola (mulld, man learned in theology)
catechizing this one and the other, When at the city of
Orangabad (Aurangibid), where he held his court, he had in

| Shekly Mir, Ehwsfl, waa killed nt Ajmer in tobg H. (1fisg), In the aitle
against Dird. e was the son of Mir Muhammad Khin, Khwafl, and wis onc
of *Alanighr's grent nobles (eee * Mo dshr-ul-amard,” IL 668, and the * Tkl
Mubammadi ' under 1069 H, )
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his fullowing & Rajput prince, whom he began to catechize in
the hope of making him a Mahomedan, But finding the
prince remained fixed in his religion, he said to him that if the
Hindd faith was the true one, he would be able to lay hold of
a red-het iron with his hand without being injured. If he
remained tninjured, then he (Aurangzeb), too, would follow
the same religion.

The Rijput accepted the offer [160]; the red-hot iron was
put into his hands, but, not able to retain it, he threw it forth-
with on o & tent of Aurangzeb's close by, which took fire
and was burnt., The rajah, who was injured by the fire, said :
' It seems 1o me that we both of us live in error—I becauose 1
burnt mysdlf, and your highness becanse your tent was burnt.’
In spite of this Aurangzeb did not desist [rom his habit of
catechizing both Hindas and Christians, turning some of them
into Mahomedans, and of these some only agreed in order to
acquire promotion, and others in order to obtain employment
in his court, or to earn some rupees [161].

Aurangzel grew very fond of one of the dancing-women in
his harem, aad through the great love he bore to her he neg-
lected for some time his prayers and his austerities, filling up
his days with music and dances; and going even farther, he
enlivened himself with wine, which he drank at the instance of
the said danting-girl. The dancer died, and Aurangzeb made
a vow nevel to drnk wine again nor to listen to music. In
after-days hi was accustomed to say that God bad been very
graciots to bim by putting an end to that dancing-girl's life, by
resson of whom he had committed so many iniquities, and had
run the risk of never reigning through being occupied in vicious
practices,

During the time that Aurangzeb was in the Dakhin a man
called Mirzsmula (Mir Jumiah),* who was a Persian by birth,
was the wasr of the Gulkhandah king and genersl of his army,
Mir Jumlai came to the kingdom of Gulkhandah in the
service of & Persian merchant, and was in charge of some

L Foe Isis bipigraphy, see * Ma Byic-ul-Unars,' @i, 330-355  His name was Miz

Mntammadt Si5d, and_he camn fum Andings (see * Tiokh-bMobammadi " woder
ror H. | alecses sals, note 1o fol. (35
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horses that the trader had brought from Persia for sale to the
King of Gulkhandah. Mir Jumlah went through the sireets
from door to door selling shoes; but fortine resolved to favonr
him, and little by little he rose to be a great meschant of much
fame in the kingdom. Owing to his being very rich, with ships
at ses; also a man of much wisdom and very genefous, he
gained for himself many friends about the court, wha looked
after his interest at the king's audiences, J

Anxious to rise in life, Mir Jumlah made a presest to the
King of Gulkhandah of some fine elephants and varicus cloths
of Europe and of China. In this way he was well received,
and obtained an appointment with good pay. He fillsd various
honourable offices, and in all of them gave & good {ccount of
himself, and the king thought so highly of him that he made
him governor of the Carnatte (K&miitik) province.| There he
was on terms of familiarity with and much esteened by the
great ; and above all, he kept up a great friendshiy with Dom
Phelipe Mascarenha, Viceroy of Goa.! They sent each other
presents. Dom Phelips sent him several kinds of brocade and
porcelain from Ching, accompanied by many curpsities from
Japan. Besides these, he sent him some ¢ armes Hanches'—a
breast-plate, a morion, and a sword.  All of thesewere much
prized by Mir Jumlah, and he made use of them o necessary
occasions in battle. He replied to these gifts by sending &
number of jewels and diamonds, which he extracted from the
mines that are in the said province of Karnitik. During the
time of his government in the Kirnitik, Mir Jumiih gathered
together the great treasures which then existed in thut province
in the ancient temples of the Hindd idols Besddes these,
others were discovered by his exertions in the sail province,
for which (i.e., precious stones) it is very fumous.

He had & separate army of his own, with efficiest artillery,
and many Enropean artillerymen, besides the sol in the
service of the King of Gulkhandah. ‘This wus the feason that

! Dom Fillppe Mascarenhas, nominated Viceroy on April 10, ]t:.': mssumed
chargn at Ceplon Sepiewber 6, 1044 arrived at Toa, and trmeallel
Liecember 30, 1645 handod over the government oo May 3i, I#I {Danvers,



MIR FJUMLAH JOINS AURANGZER 233

many at the court became envious of him, and these men
succeeded in making the king disgrace him. Already the king
had become somewhat suspicious of him, and had thought of
dispossessing him gently, 0 as to obtain possession of his riches.
But, above all, he felt resentment st the report they made to
him that Mir Jumlah had been too familiar with his best-loved
and mast beautiful queen, Although he awaited the return of
Mir Jumlah to court in order to obtain satisfaction, he could
not refrain from expressing himself in strong language and
menaces against him (Mir Jumlah).

Mir Jumlah was informed of the king's intentions by the said
queen, and by his son Mahamedemi Can (Mubammad Amin
Khiin)' and other relations, who held the principal offices at the
cort. He then wrote to his zon that he should seck some way
of escape, so that [162] they might unite forces; but although
Mubammad Amin Khin remained on the alert, he could not
get away, as the king kept him constantly near to him.

Finding that his son was unable to escape, Mir Jumlah
decided to destroy both the life of the king and the kingdom
of Giilkhandah. With this object he wrole to the prince
Aurangzeb, who at that time was at Aurangibid, ifteen days’
journey distant from Galkhandah. He informed the prince
that the King of Gulkhandah was trying to ruin hin and his
whole family, and he claimed the protection of his highness,
g0 that he might avenge himselfl for the injury that the king
wished to inflict on him, forgetful of the servicess he (Mir
Jumlah) had done to the crown, as knows to all the world.
If he (Aurangzeb) would listen to his advice and confide in
him; he would inevitably arrange events in such a way that the
king and realm of Gulkhandah should fall with ease into his
hands, Forty thousand chosdn horsemen from his army would
suffice. But they must advance on Gulkhandah with the
greatest t:xpcditinn by forced marches, On the roud they
should give out that it was an ambassador from King Shih-
jahiin, proceeding for negotiations of great importance with
the King of Gulkhandah and his dabir (secretary), who was his

' See the f Mo-ul-U S B iry Mokammoed Aamin Bhin died gt Ahmadabsd on
the Bth Jammid) L, vogy H. |June 1y, 163z) (bl p. G190k
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chief minister and & relation of Mir Jumlah, on whom he could
rely.

It was sufficient for his highness to armange to come with all
haste, that he (Mir Jumlah) would manage things so that no
one should know of his approach until he arrived at the gates
of the Baganagar (Bhiignagar)® fortress. 'When the king came
out to receive the letter, as was ussal, be could be captured
without any difficulty, and as a consequence the whole of
his family wounld fall into their hunds He (Mir Jumiah)
added that he himself would provide the sum of fifty thousand
Tupees for every day’s march.

Prince Aurangzeb, who sought an occasion for displaying his
fidelity to his father and enlarging his dominions, replied to
Mir Jumlah that without fail he would start at once from
Aurangibad, and would follow in every point the instructions
contained in his letter. Then he began his march.

The King of Gulkhandah, finding that Mir Jumlah did not
mean to obey the repeated orders issued for his return to court,
directed the arrest of Mubammad Amin Kbin. The latter,
when he came to know the royal order, fortified himself in his
mansion, and resolved to defend it. He fonght three days
against the soldiers of the king, when Aurangzeb arrived at
Bhagnayar, without anything being known, except that he was
an ambassador from King Shihjahan.

The arrival of this disgaised prince was announced to the
king, and at once he went forth to meet him and receive the letter
at a garden; as is the custom. While on his way to the
rendervous, a spy told him he had heard there was treachery
afoot, that Prince Aurangzeb himsell had come to seize him.
Oun obtaining the information the king did not continue on his
way, but putting his horse to the gallop, sought safety in the
fortress, which lies at one league from the city.

Monsiear Bernier writes® that the king reached the presence
of Aurangzeb, and it was here that a spy warned him that the
ambassador was none other than Aurangzeb himself. There
upon he fled. But it was not so. 1f he had got as far as that

' Bhignagar the old nasme of Hakilarabad in the Dukhin,
% Constable’s Heriler, p. 2o
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he could not have escaped from the hands of Aurangzeb, for
the relations of Mir Jumlah and the agents of the prince would
have laid hold of him.

Avrangzeb thereupon made himself master of the royal
palace and all the wealth therein, stripping bare the tombs af
the ancient kings of Gulkbandah, whence he derived great
trensures, At the same time ho left at liberty, and did no
injury to the women, who went off in scarch of their sovereign
master, ‘This practice is followed in India.

He {Aurangzeb) then invested the fortress most closely for 3
period [163] of two months, aided by Muhammad Amin Ehin
and his men. During this time Mir Jumlah arrived, burning
to take vengeance upon the king. When Shihjahan heard of
this uprising, he issued orders for the siege to be rused, and
for the retirement of Aurangzeb to the city of Avrangibad.
Thesa orders were obeyed by the prince.  But before he would
raise the siege Prince Aurangzeb obtained payment for all his
expenses, and for much more than he had disbursed. Besides
this, he forced the King of Gulkhandah to give his daughter in
marringe to his (Aurangzel’s) son Sultan Mahamed (Sultin
Mubammad),! handing over with her as dower the revenues
and the district of Ramguir (Ramgir). He also made the
promise that on his death Sultin Mubammad should be his
successor, and he agreed that on one side his coin-should bear
the impress of King Shahjahan. Then he (Aurangzeb) carned
off in his train Mir Jumlah, with all his family and wealth,
making the King of Gulkhandah undertake that no one should
interfere with the palaces or the property of the said family,
and that they should enjoy the same privileges us before,

The reason for raising the siege of the fortress and liberating
the King of Gulkhandah was that Begam Sahib and Diard were
unwilling that the King of Gulkhandah should fall into the
hands of Aurangzeb. By acquiring possession of Gulkhandah

3 Saltan Muhsmmad was tho aldest son ; he was born Dincomber 29, 1fi3g, and
dind ta 778  The campaign occorred 3065 L. (Jannary, 16s6) (Elphinstone,
st3h A o the marriage of ‘Abdullah Quib Shith's daughter 10 the prince, ses
Qﬂig;m, L 748, 749, where thit authoe speaks of (he marriage gilt of * Sarkdr

Himgir, adjoaning the bonders ol Barir and Bilar.” For jis position, ses Con
stable's “ Hand Atlas,' Map 34, Ab, Yelgandal District.
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he would become more powerful than before, thus making it
easier for him to lay claim to the throne of Hindostin,

When Shahjahiin sent his order to Aurangzeb to maise the
siege of the fortress occupied by the King of Gulkhandah, he
also directed that on his way back to Aurangibad he should
visit a place belonging to the King of Vizapur (Bijapur) called
Beder (Bidar), a fortress of some importunce. It was not
sufficient for him that early in his reign be had compelled
without justification the same king to make over to him the
fortresses of Juner, Calliani (Kaliyani), and Beomdi (Bhiwandi),
with their lands.!

Without fail the two generals—that is to say, Aurangzeb
and Mir Jumlah—executed the orders of Shihjahdn, But the
principal object of Aurangzeb was to gain Mir [umlah by soft
words, promises, and offers, recognising that he was & brave
leader and a wealthy man. He was thoroughly convinced that
this noble would be of use to him in carrying out his intention
of seizing the kingdom of Hindnstan, In the eourse of con-
versation Aurangzeb acquired a knowledge of Mir Jumlal's
disposition, and began to complain to him of his father. His
phrase was that Shahjahin was the father of Dard, while be,
on his side, could never find a kinder father than he (Mir
Jumlah), that he built his hopes upon him, and accepted bim
a8 his protector. He prayed him as a favour to have comn-
passion upon him and his family. He pledged his word that
if he ever reigned he would make him {Mir Jumlah) the greatest
man at his court, and his son, Mubammad Amin Khin, the
second, giving them all the privileges of princes. This con-
versation was kept absolutely secret, and he ended it with very
earnestly entreating him not to enter into relations with Diri,
or give him any sign of encouragement. Mir Juminh, seing
how he {Aurangzeb) relied upon him, became very friendly to
that prince, and gave him his word, binding himself to support

! This refeni to the Treaty of 21} Hijfah, 1048 H. (Apeil, 1630), mentioned by
ENaG Ehss, 1 53¢ Bidar, lal 17" 54’ long. 77° 34" b now in the Nisms
territoriss,  Junes bs, spparently, the place in the Poons district, lak 12" 147
lostg. 44" 8%, and Kallyan that in the Thanal dlstdcr, fat 19" 08, bowg, 73° 12l

Deond| is probably Bliwand), a litile to the norbwest of Kaliyin, and alsd in
the Thanab diatrict.
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‘him with his entire strength and his life, when the occasion
arose, From that hour they began to plun the important
undertaking of getting the kingdom into the hands of Aurangzeb,
both men being masters of the requisite prudence and power
of concealment.

When Shahjahin was informed of the valour shown by
Mir Jumlah ut the taking of Beder (Bidar), he wrote him
saveral friendly letters, inviting him to court, where he would
appoint him absolute secretary.! He acted thus because he
wished to make use of [164] him and of his valour to recover
the fortress of Candar (Qandahfir). Mir Jumlah started for
Dihli, and wherever he passed the governors of the places
came out to greet him, doing him great honour and giving
him presents, all by order of the king. Upon his arrival close
to Dihli the greatest commanders were sent out to greet and
escort him. Orders were given that all along his route the
strests and shops should be decorated in the same manner as
done for the king's passing.

At the time I was at Dihli* he was received with great pomp,
and given the highest place in the royal andience. Shihjahin
accorded him the title of Vizir Azam (Wazir-i-a‘zam)—that
is to say, 'Great Secretary,’ and the name of Maramcan
(Mu'ageam Khin)—that is to say, *Greatest of the Great.'!
After a short time he was ordered to muke ready an army for
a march without delay against the King of Persia, from whom
he (Shihjnhin) was pledged to take the fortress of Qandahar.
With this intent he had already made ready his artillery and a
certain number of cavalry.

Mir Jumlgh, or the newly-made Muo'aggam Klin, gave a
present to Shahjahan of a large uncut diamond which weighed
three hundred and sixty carats! He added that if Qandahiic

¥ Syoil Hicmain and C. WHimoit, * Historkzal Skeich,” i, 357, say that BLlar
was iaken by Aumngeeb and Mir Jumish in t0g6,

4 These words possibly wre intended to reprment wadli-omutlsy, or vicegerent,

3 Mie Jumnlsh reached Dibli on the 2sth Kamagin of the thietleth year
1oy Ho (July 8, 1657) (" Maapic-ul Umaed,” bl 5340

b The “M-alU:" il 535, gives the weight of this dinmond sz =16 wrid; or
o (i, anil valuss It at #1000 mpees (wbont f20600) Dall sys Tavernler
(1L 43y) welghiod it after it wad cut by Hortemsls Hroneonl, and i was (hen
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produced such precious stones, his majesty might undertake
the labour of going there, or could despatch some loyal vassal
to take it But to his mind, his majesty had better send some
trusty person to conquer the lands where, of a verity, such
stones were to be found. These were the kingdoms of Bizapur
(Bijapur) and Goleonda (Gulkhandah), and the island of
Ceilat (Ceylon). Having spoken thus, he once more held forth
his hand full of diamonds; already cut, of considemble size,
though not so large as the first one.

He then undertook that he wounld himself deliver to Shih-
jahin after & short time the kingdoms referred to, and make
him lord of all the coust of Choromandal and of Gerzelim
(Ginjili).) Shahjahlin was delighted at this speech, and at
once ordered that the artillery should turn back from its march
to Qandahiir. He made a present to Mu'azsam Khiin of the
splendid mansion of the famous Sa'dullah Khidn,® which stood
opposite the royal palace.

The large diamond was returned to him to have it cut by
an expert, and for this purpose they sent to him a Venetian
lapidary named Ortengio Bronzoni® 1 saw this diamond many
a time; it was as large as a nut. _

After the lapse of same months, King Shihjahin decided to
despatch a powerful army to the Dakhin country, appointing
Mu‘szzam Khan to the command thereof. Dari was much

#3794 Florentine earats (yrg} ratis) The ssph bs =il 10 be the mme db the
Hindi ratey, the red seed of the Abrus Froutories, L, (ues ¢ Lin.3. Albari ' tramsfition
by Blochmann and Jarrett, i, 16, . 354, snd iii. 123); But Tavernier (Ball,
1L 8p) ook the ras as § carat, ar 34 graine (Yale, * Hobson<Jobson, 777). This
dinmond is held by Ball (. 441) to be ideatieal with the ¢ Kahindr,' aow In the
possesaion of the Englith Crown,

! The Choromandal coast began st Negapatam, and extended an far north a8
the mouth of the Godivari, snid the Ginjill cosst began st the Godidwad River,
and ended at the pagoda of Jagarnith on the Orissy consl, See Temiple's
*T. Bowrey * (Hakluyt Society, serien ii., vol. xii.), pp. 2, 3, 10, 131 1 sho Yale,
257, 255 | Choromandal '), and 575 | Giojill Y,

* Sa'dullah Ehin died on Aprll 1g, 1646, new siyle, The pisebon, now de-
miroyed, stood botwesn the end of the Faiy Basir and the Dikli Gato of the For?
lmﬂrl

* Thix man |s called Hortensio Borgio by Tavemier (i, 306),  He reapipesrs ln
Part HL, 256, as the hero of & sory ar Agrads, '
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aggrieved by this resolve of his father, and did his best to
hinder the undertaking. He was afraid that Aumngzeb wonld
"be assisted by-this army. But the extreme eagerness of Shih-
jahdn to possess himsell of the diamond-mines weighed more
than the petitions of Dira and of Begam Sahib. [Io addition
to other famous leaders, there were sent with Mu‘azzam Khiln
Najabat Khiin (ante, L. £47), Mahabat Khin, son of the great
Mahibat Ebin, of whom [ have already spoken (amfe, 1, 112),
and Salabetcan (Salibat Ehiink! The condition was imposed
that Prince Aurangzeb should remain at the city of Avrangibad
as governor, and should not enter the lists of war; while
Mu‘azzam Kbhin was forced to leave at court as hostages his
son Mobammad Amin Khin and the rest of his family.
Marching rapidly for the Dakhin, he passed close to the city
of Aurmangabad, and mvading the territory of Bijipur, bhe
surrounded a place called Caliany (Kaliyan).®
Al court Autangzeb's interests were uttended to by his sister,
called Royonara Begom (Roshanird Begam). She was not
very good-looking, but very clever, capable of dissimulation
[165], bright, mirthful, fond of jokes and amusement, much
more so than her sister Begam Sihib. But she was not of
equal rank with the Intter. She was generous, and drank wine
when she could get it. On the whole she had not the same
liberty, and was not so much confided in as Begam Siabib, nor
had she the same powers, seeing that she lived within her
father’s harem. In spite of her power of concealiment, she
could not hide the fact that she was the declared enemy of
Dirk and of Begam Sihib. As she lived in the palace, she
never was at a loss for finding out matters of importance, and
of these she sent secret intelligence to her brother Aurangzeh,
who thereupon took remedial measures.
The fourth son of King Shihjahin was Morad Bacx (Murad
Bakhsh), the youngest of all the brothers. He wes & man of
little wisdom, who could not plan anything beyond his amuse-

L This Salibat Khan is possiily Khwajah Mir, Khwiii (see * Malgir-ol-Unscd,
Hogga)  That noble died in 1103 or troy H. (1603 or 36g3)

! Evideatly the place already referred to {ostr, L 163} cow in the Thansh
districy,
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ments, drinking, singing, ahd dancing. He was very bold and
valorous, for ever practising himsdlf in the use of arms, and
perfect in the use of bow and arrow. He was a constant and
energetic hunter, risking his life by spearing wolves and boars
with his own hands, a thing none of hiz brothers did. He
delighted in listening to talk about war, and through his over-
confidence he felt contempt for all that was done at courts;
relying solely on his own right hand and on his sword, he
thought other men of no account.

While he was governor of Gujariat, a man who was dis.
affected to his minister told him that this efficial wes a traitor.
Without any further inquiry he gave the minister a spear-
thrust that passed right through him, whereupon he died!
Muoriid Bakhsh was a concealed adherent to the sect of Aly
("AlT).

The lourth danghter of King Shihjahin was called Merniza
Begom (Mihr-un-nissa Begam), She took the side of her
brother, Sultin Murid Baklsh, She was young, and always
occupied with her toys and games, and was rather pretty. |
have nothing to tell about her, for being so young she did not
trouble her head about affairs of State, and during the dis-
turbance in the kingdom lived on in the harem.

At the time when Mu'azgam Kban was investing Kaliyini
Shihjahin fell suddenly ill, It was in the year one thousand
six hundred and fifty-four,® on the 17th November, when the
court was at Dihil. 1 was then in the service of the prince
Dard. Shahjahan brought this illness on himself, for being
alreidy an old man of sixty.one® he wanted still to enjoy
himself like a youth, and with this intent took different stimi-
lating drugs. Thesa brought on & retention of urine for three
days, and he was almost at death's door. This illness pro-
duced great confusion in the city of Dihli and throughout the
empire. When the king saw himszelf in this plight, he ordered

! The person thun killed by Mursd Baklsh was Mir 'Alf Nag, the i of

Gujarsl (see Muksmimad Silib, Kambo's, **Amald-Salib,” thirty.second year af
Shiljahin),

¥ Bornier (Constable’s cdition, 25, noto 1) has Ssptember, 65y, Manacel's
yenr In wrong, as owml, but the monih may be correet.

P As Shihjnhan was born un Junuary ts, 1593, be wia sixty-five in 155y
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all the gates of the fortress (palacel to be closed up, leaving
only two wickets open.  Placing no reliance on the Mahomedan
commanders, he ordered Rajah Juswant Singh (Rathor) to post
himself at one gate with lus men, and the otber he made
over to Rajah Ram Sing Rotella! (Ram Singh). These officers
guarded the fortress on all sides with thirty thousand soldiers,
all of them Rajputs.  Their orders were that only Prince Dard
might enter twice a day with a retinue of ten persons. Bat he
was not allowed to sleep within the fortress, Begam Sahib
decided to stay insids to look after her father's (ood; but both
she und the other persons left in the fortress were made to
swear on the Quriin to be faithful to him. He was afraid of
being given poison.

Imagining that the king, his father, had but a few days to
live, Prince Dard [166] set to work to raise as great a force as
hecould. Orders were sent to enlist men at the cities of Lihar,
Apgrah, snd Dihli, which are the chiel towns in the empire.
His chief reason was his anticipation that when Shihjahin
should full ill, everybody would fly to arms for the defence
of their houses from the robberies and assaults that would take
place.

This confusion lasted in the city for three days and three
nights, the shops remaining shut, and there being a scarcity of
sopplies. Theagents (procuradores =wakils) wrote, each of them,
i huste to the princes about the king’s illness, whereupon every
one of the sons began to plan and prepare his army. The
*sarrafos ' (parvdf, a banker or money-lender), who are the men
wha issue bills of exchange, wrote to their correspondents in
metaphors that they shonld guard themselves, as follows: * Let
it be known to your worship that the vessel of butter was filled
to overflowing, and the butter in it was lost." By this they
wished it to be nnderstond that the king was already dead, and
they wrote a= above, not during to write any plainer, for these

30 man wak R¥m Sinjh, on ol Karmsd, Hathor (see * MoulU.' 10 366).
He by meoitoned [orther on (1. 157, tor, and also in Pert IIL), In thos passges
be cad be fully ilentified, Thos, Robid muot be either a popular form for
Rithor, ar ope of their subdivislons. He was Rajah of Kishogarh, joit sorth
of Ajmer, Pomibly the cotrect etymology ia Rdund plus v,
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men are very cautious in conducting themselves, Many letters
were received in which it was distinctly stated that the king
was already dead. These were founded on the non-appearance
of the king, as is the custom. Shahjahin was very much con-
cerned at being unable to appear, he being in great pain, and
he feared some disturbance.

When the above news reached Prince Shah Shuja’, he arranged
to take the field with a large force and a quantity of treasure,
collected by him in the realm of Bengal, a very productive
country, a treasure to which he had added by plandering several
Hindi princes. He started with forty thousand horsemen and &
great many infantry. Of the latter no count was taken, because
in Hinddstan such troops are not esteemed,  He also placed o
flect on the river Ganges; it was commanded by Portuguese
in his service. Having come to this resolution and ended his
preparations, he mounted his horse, with this exclamation:
“ Hia thech, hia tabut!' (dya fakhé, ya tabhsy—that is to say,
* Either throne or tomb,” & proverh current among princes laying
claim to a crawn. '

This prince marched along with the greatest confidence,
relying on his bravery and on certain favoured captains of his
who were at the court of Shahjahan, of whom the greater
number had left (for the Dakhin) in the suite of Mu‘azsam
Khian. He chose the route past the city of Agrah, giving out
that King Shahjahin was already dead through poison given
by his son Dard. For this reason, s he announced, he wason
his way against Dird, and meant to avenge himsell for the
death of his father.

King Shahjahin was already somewhat recovered, although
still weak, when he heard of the réevolt of this son, He wrote
him & letter telling him not to advance any nearer, and assured
him that his complaint was not vital, and he was already much
better.  He might return to the plice whenee he had come-
Prince Dird to whom it waus of the greatest importance that
the letters should be delivered [167], for he feared no ane except
Shah Shaja’, was most energetic in getting these letters written.
But Prince Shih Shija®s friends at the court wrote him to the
contrary, asserting that his father’s illness was mortal. Shih
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Shuja* received the letter of Shihjahan, but, concealing the
fact, he moved ever on, announcing either that his father was
dead ; or, that if he should be living, on arrival at Agmh he
(Shih Shuja’) would ask his forgiveness, and submit himself to
his authority.

It was reported to Shihjahin that Shah Shwa' had not
obeyed his orders. He was thus forced, ailing and weak as
he was, to leave the city of Dihli, and start for the
city of Agrah, a distance of sixty-six leagues. His object
was that all the people shonld hear, and that word should
run throughout the empire that he was alive. Thus would
he intimidate his sons and any traitors. But all was of no
avail. Shiah Shujd’, now that he had taken the feld, mesnt
to seize the kingdom; and thus he continued his march. By
this conduct; Shithjshan was forced unavoidably to send against
him Suliin Suliman Xacu (Sulaimin Shukoh), eldest son of
Prince Dard, then at the age of twenty-five years! He was
a well-grown young man, generous, of good judgment, loved by
everybody, above all by his grandfather, Shahjabin, who
conferred on him great wealth at the time of his marringe,
which took place one year before the rebellion.

This prince (Sulaimin Shukoh) was appointed general of the
army sent against his uncle, Shih Shuji’. They sent with him
the famous general called Rajah Ja Sing (Jai Singh)," who was
4 partisan of this prince, & man of great power and riches,
renowned throughout Hindistin, and of so great capacity that
there was not his like in the kingdom. They also gave him the
great leader Dalil Can (Dalel, or Duler Ebin)" of the Pathin
tribe, and a force of selected troops. To these leaders the king
(Shihjahin) gave secret orders that on no account were they to

¥ Sulaimin Shokoh wan born in April, 16335, nod thos,in 1658, was twenty-
thres milar or twenty four Innar yeams ol age (Beals, 500) Mo was murried 0
e mlece of Jarlar Klis on the poth Mubarmem, sef; H, (November 7, 1656)
{=*Aminli-5alih, " (heirtioth year), He died in prison at Gwilivir in Shawwal,
rora Ha (May to Juoe, 1662) * Tirtkh4-Mokamondi ‘L

5 Jad Singh, Kachheqbah, of Amber, known as Mirzs Hijab, dlsd 1887 (one
note to lol. rss).

* Jalil Khdn, D, ddeai, entitled Daler Kliin, son of Darys Kiin, the founder
nf Shibjakinpur in Hohilkhand, disd st Awmangilad o 1op6 H. (105283) (see
* M sit-al Usasd, ! |, 4350,
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give battle unless compelled. They were to do all they possibly
could to make Prince Shih Shuja* withdraw to Bengal,

Shah Shuja' heard that this army had started aganst him,
and he made up his mind to fight if he came in contact with
the enemy. Equally Prince Sulaimin Shukoh wanted to earn
a name for valour, and determined to attack Prince Shah
Shuja’, his uncle, if he came up with him. But this was not
the view of Rajah Jai Singh. Therefare, every day duning the
advance he sent off letters to Shiah Shuji’, and did all he could
to prevent the two forces enconntering each other. But, in
spite of all his exertions, he found it impossible to muke Shih
Shuja' agree to give way. When the armies arrived within
sight of each other, Prince Shih Shujd menaced his adyersaries
with his artillery. Rajah Jai Singh, who had the direction of
Sulaimin Shukoh's army, took no notice, and prudently gave
no other answer to the artillery fire than the lollowing letter :

' Mighty Prince—Shih Shuja'l—News was received by the
emperor Shahjabin, your highness's father and my sovercign,
that your highness had come from your province with valiant
soldiers and captains to wreik vengeanee on someone for putting
your father to death, as was asserted. But the report is false,
for Shahjahin still lives and enjoys perfect health, As an
intimate friend of your highness, I can assure you that he con-
tinues alive and well, Thus you can turn back to your province-
As an addition to it, Shahjuhin makes you a grant of the city
of [168] Patand (Patnab), with its territory, in recognition of
the love you have displayed to him at this time, Ii was an
excellent decision, on the recaipt of such news, to take the ficld,
whereby your highness proved yourself & valorous prince and
leader. But it would be a still better resolve if you were now
to retreat, when you fnd that your father lives You will
thereby avoid causing him to suspect you of rebellion, and
forcing him to send against you a still greater army for your
destruction. 1 hope that your highness will listen to my advice,
and withdraw without delay. I make promise of assisting you
when the need orises.’

The prince Shih Shuja’, having received this letter, appeared
Lo be satisfied, and seemed to desire nothing more, giving out
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that he intended to retrace his steps. But he had a cunning
mind, and hud resolved to mislead Rajah Jai Singh, whom he
dreaded, knowing him to be an experienced commander. With
this intent he answered him as follows :

‘ Valorous Captain, Rajah Jai Singh | —The reason of my
coming from the territory of Bengal is notorious throughout
Hindastan, and the news received of the death of my father
construined me to collect what forces 1 had and take the road
for Dihli. But now that you assure me my father is alive and
in good health, T am satisfied to withdraw once more into my
government. But it is imperative that you, being a vassal,
retire the first, ns befits the honour of & royal prince, such as T
am; and | give my word that I will retreat, praying you mean-
while to retain your affection towards me.'

Rajah Jai Singh fathomed the intention of Shah Shuja‘ to
fall upon him during his retirement, and made as if he accepted
the propasal to withdraw first. He issned orders for the next
morning that they should load the elephants, horses, and carts,
and the rest of the baggage ; he also gave the signal fora march,
thus misleading the spies of Shih Shuji‘, But secretly he
directed that when the drums should beat for the march, his
cavalty should remain on the alert. When Shah Shuja* learnt
that the drums were beating for the march i Sulaimin
Shokoh's army, he ordered his men to make ready for a rear
attack on his nephew. Bul he did not find the opportunity,
because Rajah Jai Singh at break of day fell all of & sudden on
the army he had prepared, and muny lives were taken. He did
not dllow Shah Shujd* a chance of rallying his troops, routed
him, and took some of his artillery, some elephants, and a
numher of prisoners. Of the latter, forty were sent to the city
of Agmh for production before the king as an attestation of the
victory. Prinee Diri did pot deal with these prisovers as a
valorous soldier should, but, by a most unjust sentence, ordered
each to have a hand cut offt. He imagined that this victory was
the beginmng of his reign.

Prince Sulaimin Shukoh continued the pursuit [16g], con-
trary to the opinion of Rajah Jai Singh, being anxious to
seize his uncle and complete his destriction. But Rajah Jai
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Singh so controlled matters that he (Shih Shaja") was allowed
to retreat and save himself. He (the rajah) conld have taken
him, but did not wish to do so, for three reasons : the first was
that Shihjahin still lived, and would release him, thus he (the
rajah) would only gain one enemy the more at court; the second
was the orders of the king requiring him to avoid & battle; the
third was his gnievance against Prince Dard, as already spoken
of, when he called him (the rajah) a muosician (L 155). I hs
preferred to rout him (Shah Shuja’) by the exercise of fnesse,
that was for two reasons: the first was that he would Jose
reputation if he attempted an attack on the prince's rear, a
mavement in which there was much risk of his being defeated;
the second was not to leave an opening for Prince Shih
Shuja' to act with still greater boldness, and thereby create
more disorder at court.

Rajah Jai Singh wanted to let Shih Shuja’ get away; he
therefore said to Sulaimin Shukceh that it was better for him
to return to court, since other matters were still pending there,
and thus be on the alert in cuse of any other rising. But the
prince replied to him that his father Daria could in that eveat
gather together a new army, and send the general Barqandiz
Klin against the new rebels. Thus he would not consent to
desist ; but Rajah Jai Singh continued to give Shah Shuja the
epportunity of retreat, and thus they followed him until ke bad
almost arrived at the Bengal bonndary.

The report of his father's illness having reached Aurangzeb
at Aurangibid, he began secretly the necessary preparations
for taking the field. But he conducted himsell more prodently
than did Murid Bakhsh, The litter, asssmbling such small
army as was in his power, took the field, declaring himself a
rebel, and proclaiming that he was on his way to Dihll to
rescue the king [folio 170 is blank].

[171] King Shihjahin and Prince Dard believed that they
were already freed from danger, seeing that Prince Shih Shujd®
had retired in the manner just described, and they attached no
importance to Prince Murid Bakhsh's rising. They supposed
that, through some present or other and letters they would
send him, he would assuredly return to obedience. They did
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not foreses what was gaing to happen. For this reason Shih-
juhan ordered all his baggage to proceed to the city of Dihlr.
He announced that he would leave Agrah shortly, and that
he was already recovered from his illness, In pursuance of
this resolve, the greater part of the army had already reached
the city of Dihli, and the reads were crowded with those who
were still marching there day and night.

Meanwhile, in silence, a greater rebellion was in preparation.
For Aurangzeb, who had for & long time been eager to make
himself king, althongh covering up his ambition by his subter-
fuges, now availed himself of the outbreaks of the other princes.
He wrate a letter to a rebel of Bijipur named Sevagi (Shiva J7)
to gain him to his cause, in case he met, perchance, with any
failure (n the purpose he was aiming at. He sent Shiva Ji
presents, together with & golden tablet, by which he granted
to him the collection of a fourth part of the revenues of some
provinces of the Dakhin province then held by the said
Aurangsel, This grant was to be perpetual; all the same,
the. time eame when he broke his word, sccording to-his habit,
as will be seen hereafter (11. r17).

Being assured of the noutriality of Shivii i, he {Aurangzeh)
declared himself against his father, The latter was on the
point of mounting lis horse and starting on the aforesaid
journey,) when they delivered to him a sad letter, in which
he was told that the Prince Auringzeb had rebelled. This
threw the court into confusion and the Prince Dard into great
anxiety. All the people came back to the city of Agrahi—in
fact, I was already in Dihli, and now returned.

King Shihjahin wrote a letter to Auvrangzel repeating the
protest that he had written to Prince Shah Shuja’, Prince
Dird ulso wrote, but his ety was full of threats. But Prince
Auratigzeb dissembled and gave the same answer as Shih
Shuja'. Finding himself with only a small force, and Murdd

V [z, the retarn jonrnmy from Agrsh o DihiL  Shakjabas quitted Agrals on
the 18th Rajal (April =i, 1044), sl learing on the 2nd Sha'bda (May 3), u
Billoehipar, abant atghty miles north-west of Agprah. of Juswant Singl's dissstroas
tuitile, fnght oo the soth Rajab (Apsil 23). be wroed back and reached Sgrab
awain oo the gth Sha'ba (May 12) (see ‘Alampirdanad,’ g A #2),
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Baldish being also in the field, Auvrangzeb decided to write
this letter to him:

“Be it known to the mighty Prince Morad Bakhsh that
I' bave received word that Prince Diira has killed our father
by poison, and has taken possession of the government,
meaning to assume the title of emperor. From this cause
Prince Shih Shujd* marched with a powerful army, intending
to secure the throne and avenge himself on Prince Darfi.  This
fact has forced me to write this letter; to let you know. that
there is no one, no other prince except you, worthy to be
emperor of the Mogul Empire. Dard is an infidel and idolnter,
a destroyer of the Mahomedan faith; Prince Shah Shuja* is a
heretic, following the sect of ‘Alf, and thus opposed to oor faith;
while my zeal for the (Jurin requires me to devoie all my
strength to making you emperor of the whole empire. For,
as everybody knows, it is a long time since I renounced the
world and made a solemn vow to end my days at Mecea. All
that I ask of you is [172] a sincere statement, supported by an
oath on the Qurin, that after 1 have, relying on the strength
of Allah, seated you on the throne and made you absolute
sovereign, you will be pleased to take compassion on my
family, and cherish them in memaory of me with paternal love,
If you give me your word with an oath on the Quran thus to
act, I promise to ose all my strength, devices, and ingenuity,
and make every possible effort to seat von on the throve of
Dihli. As a puarantee of what 1 say here, 1 send you one
hundred thousand rupees, in order to establish between us a
firm and perpetual union and friendship, being brothers, as weé
are, of one father and of one faith, and both defenders of the
(Jurdn. Therewith I conciude, awaiting your arrival—Your
faithful brother, Avranczen,

Prince Murad Bakhsh, on receipt of this letter, in which he
b?litved. was highly delighted, and showed it to all men in
bis army, in order to raise their spirits and encourage the
adhesion of more leaders.  He also used it to induce the great
merchants to lend with a better grace the motey he wanted from
them, and thus obviate the use of force. His spirits rose, he
looked on himself us already king, and he made great promises
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to everyone, By these means he raised a large force for the
eampaign. He replied as follows to his brother Aurangzeb :

| Most prudent and most faithful brother Aurangzeb, Cham-
pion of the Qurin!—Upon the receipt of your letter 1 was
much gratified at the goodwill you enounce towards me, still
mote to find you so zealous for the (Jorin, and so ready to
save our religion from the destruction that threatens it, should
either of our two brothers become emperor. As I wish to
prove myself gratefol for the many kindnesses you show me,
I accept the proposal that you make to me, and give you my
word, attested by an oath on the Qurin, to maintsin your
family in their rank as princes, and; above all, treating your
own person in conformity with your directions, shall always hold
you in respect and i Joco parentis  As a mark of the great
affection with which I accept your exhibition [of love], 1
employ the hundred thousand rupees on soldiers, whom 1 am
sending to take the castle of Sorat. 1 am making ready for
the junction of our two armies, to carry out what Allah the
Most High shall inspire. Awaiting further news, and believing
that their can be no doubt of what you have promised me,
your faithiul brother, Murip Bagisu,'

Murid Baklish selected three thousand horsemen, and
placed them under his Joyal cunuch called Xaabas (Shahbiz),!
a vety brave man, and sent them to take the castle of Sarat.

During this interval Prince Aurangzeb sent his son Sultin
Mobammad, who was married to a danghter of the King of
Gulkhandah, as I have already stated (anfe, 1. 163),' to bring
back Mir Jumlah, then busy at the fortress of Kaliyini. Mir
Jumlih was to rejoin him (Aurangzeb) at the city of Aurang-
ibid. The prince sent a message that there were affairs of
great importanee oo which he must consult bim.  Mir Jumlah,
though it was all & pretence, made excuses, saying ih a lond
voice that he was the officer of the King Shihjohin, and not
of Aurangzeb, nor was he under the latter’s orders: for the
king was alive, and not dead [173] as was asserted ; thut there
was trustworthy news of the fact: that all his family was at

} The correct name of this ewmch, Shahbis, s got from a passage in the
‘ Blaaginal-Umass,' L =98, He hald the mak of 5,000,
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the court in Agrah in the hands of Prince Dari. In no way
could he accede to the proposals, or adopt the side of Anrangzeb,
In this way Sultin Mubammad went back to the city of Anrang-
abad, and pretended to be very much put out with Mir Jumlah
for not having carried out the business wanted of him.

The second time Prince Aurangzeb sent his second son,
Sultan Mahazan (Sultin Mu‘agzam), to show him (Mir Jumlah)
the letters written by his father (Shihjahfin). These were
forgeries. They were in very cordial terms. They showed
him to be so afféctionate and frnendly that Mir Jumlah declured
it impossible to refuse to go. He then arranged terms with the
gamrison of Kaliyani, and hastened with his army to join that
of Sultdn Muo‘agzam, and they marched togethet for the ity of
Aurangibad. Upon Mi¥ Jumlah's arrival, Prince Aurangeeb
made a false display of affection, using to him phrases of the
greatest possible endearment, styling him *haba® (baba) and
"babagi’ (baba Jrj—that is to say, *father* and *lord father'—
and embracing him repeatedly. He prayed him most earnestly
to come with him to take part in his enterprise and to adopt
his cause. Mir Jumlah appeared to be much incensed,and sid
that he was a most loyal subject of King Shihjubiin. Inpublic
he reprehended him (Aurangzeb) ; all this being n comedy, to
the end that the spies might write to King Shiahjahin and
Prince Diird of his apparent loyalty.

Foreseeing what might happen, and wishing to show his zeal
in the prince's service, Mir Jumlah, in order to be able to
succour Prince Aurangzeb if he failed in his frst attempts,
allowed by consent the fortress of Doltabad (Daulatabid) to be
occupied [by Aurangzeb]. His reflection was that in case
Prince Aomangzeb lost the battle that he bad resolved to ﬁ'ghl
aguinst Prince Dird and was routed, it was probable that King
Shahjuhin would send him (Mir Jumlah) in pursuit to wreak
vengeance for the affront done to him. If so, he could once
more be of some assistunce to Aurangzeb.

The latter took possession of all his (Mir Jumlah’s) treasure,
cavilry, and artillery. Mir Jumlah had given secret onders 1o
the generals and officers of his army to dissemble and make
boastful demonstrations, without injuring anyone. These orders
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were exeouted. Both sides had recourse to their arms; many
matchlocks were discharged, but nobody was hurt. To every
oneof the generals of King Shahjahin, who lay at half & league's
distance from the force of Mir Jumlah, Aurangzeb sent an envoy
siying that King Shahjahin being dead, if they would adopt
his (Aurangzeb's) side, he promised them higher rank than they
already held, As otherwise they would now come into the
service of Dird, they ought to prefes to serve him (Aurangzeb),
who was also & son of King Shihjahin. It was not fitting for
such high-minded captains to serve an infidel prince, an enemy
of the Mahomedan faith, of which he (Aurangzeb) was a true
observer.

Mahibat Khiin would have nothing to do with such argu-
ments, but thereupon beat his drums for a march, and took the
road for Agrah. Aurangzeb used considerable efforts to make
him come back, sending him several messages with presents.
But Mahibat Khin, holding faithfully to the cause of King
Shihjahian, continued his march, and on his arrival at Agrah
the king at ance made him governor of the kingdom of Kibual
(741

The other generals expressed doubts, and said there was no
certain news of the death of King Shahjahdn, and that it was
nat for them to take the prince’s side until they knew the truth.
If the king were dead, they would come over to his side. They
asked for fifty days’ time, so that they might send their spies
and learn what was going on, 1 no answer arrived within that
limit of time, they pledged their word to adopt his cause. To
make sure of their promises, Aurangzeb took from them an
oath 'on the Qurin.

It this interval, knowing well that the king was alive, he
(Aurangzeb) resorted to some of his devices; and sent an order
to a trusty captain called Mirza Abdulha (*Abduliah), who was
in charge of the castle on the Narbadg, the river which divides
the lands of the Dakhin from Hindgstan. This is an obligatory
point for crossing, a place where no one can come ar go without
being examined. The orders were that everybody returning to

 According to the " Armal-i-Salih,’ this appolntiment. was made on the
wuch jamads 1., 1068 H, (Febroary 14, 1648).
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the Dakhin should be searched. If he captured any letters
saying that King Shahjuhin still lived, he must forthwith bum
them, and behead those who carried them.

In this way the generals were prevented from receiving their
answer within the appointed time, and all of them transferred
themselves to the side of Prince Aurangzeb, The latter lost no
time in completing his preparations, writing to his friends what-
ever sufted himself, Having taken the feld with all his troops,
he erdered everyone to kneel on the ground, as he did, and ask
God with great earnestniess to give them the victory. At the
time of his mounting to start he raised his hands to heaven and
suid: ‘Hia ser deem, hia setanem ' (Ayd sar dilam yd sitdnam),
by which he meant : * I will lose my own, or take my adversary’s
head! These are the very words spoken by Alexander the
Great when he marched against King Darius.

After making several marches thers came néws to him how
the castle of Strat had surrendered to Shahbiz, the general of
Prince Murid Baklsh, but, not finding in it the cash that had
been expected, it was sacked. All that was found in it was
carried off to Prince Murdd Bakhsh. The latter was requested
by Prince Aurangzeb to join him with all his forces. He
marched off to find him (Aurangzeb), so that they might unite
and pursue their road to Agrah together, When he mounted
his horse to set out on this journey, he said: *Aguer tallé
daram, ech parua naderam’ (dgar fali® daram, héch parwed ne
davam), that is to say: * If I hold Fortune, | need no one’ The
eunsch Shahbiz, having no faith in the word of Aurangzeb, ad-
vised his master, Murid Bakhsh, on no account to quit the king-
dom of Gujarit, nor even leave the city of Amadabad (Ahmadi-
bid), the chief place of that province, He (Shahbaz) would
make hitn master of all the fortified places, adding greatly to
his treasures; he should place no faith in the soft and mislead-
ing words of Prince Aurangzeb, but should refrain from going
where that prince wished; and time wonld show what they
ought to do.

Aurangzeb continued his march towards Muraid Baldish, Ap-
pful:msiv: that he might send no answer, Anmngzeb redoubiled
his sweetly-worded Jetters, which were most subtle He re-
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affirmed that he wounld make him (Murad Bakhsh) King of
Dihli, as he had already promised; that his purpose was con-
fined to making him king and entrusting to him his sons, whom
lwe (Murad Bakhsh) should deal with as with any other men in
his service, He (Aurangzeb) kept & number of secret agents at
Murid Bakhsh's conrt, and these men persuaded that prince
that these pvertures were made solely to place his (Aurangzeb's)
family and his own person in safety beneath his (Murdd Bakhsh's)
protection. On becoming king he was at liberty to grant
Aurangzeb something by way of alms for his journey to Mecca,
and to provide him a dwelling there, where he wonld pass the
remaining days of his life, as he had vowed to God.

Murad Bakhsh declined to listen to the counsels of the cunich
Shahbiiz, ambition to reign misleading his judgment. Then he
made ready and started, meeting Aurangzeb, who awaited him
near the mountains and woods [175] of Manddo (Manda).
Aurangzeh advanced to greet him, bringing with him his som,
Sultin Mubammad ; he was received with great respect, ad-
dressed as king by Aurangzeb, who stood before him with
crossed hands, All the grand promises were renewed. Aurang-
zob assured him he made not the slightest pretension ta
the erown ; his only object was to help him (Murad Baklish)
against Prince Dard, his enemy, and place him upon the throne.
To this he had pledged himsell solely with a view to retaining
his friendship.

The two armies marched by equal stages. During this time
Aurangzeb repeated continually his promises of friendship. He
showed Murid Bakhsh the greatest respect, and always, in
public and in private, referred to him and spoke to him as king
and soyereign. Aurangzeb let him understand that if he had
had any wish to be a king, the affair at Gulkhandah would
have sufficed ; if be had any esteem for things of this world, he
would be already king of Gulkhandab. Murid Bakhsh believed
that he was his true friend, that he would perform what he
promised, that he sincerely loved him. In return, Muorad
Bakhsh made him the most magnificent promises.

Once, at ten o'clock at night, after Aurangzeb had arrived at
the woods of Mandg, he being in his tent reading the {urin,
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there appeared at his right hand a hideous snake, which ad-
vatced towards him. Without being perturbed or losing his
head, he drew with the greatest calm a little sword that he
always carried about with him. By one sudden blow he
separated the snake's head from its body, and, seated 2s he
was, the blood splashed all over him. Getting to his feet, he
shouted for his servants, and they finished off the snake, for
they struck it all over its body. After it was dead he ordered
it to be weighed. They made out a weight of sixty pounds
(arafes).' He declared that this was a sign that God would
give him the victory, for the Mahomedans are very superstitious,

Some critical persons will ask how there could be a snake of
that size, and being so large, how it could get into the tent of
Prince Aurangzeb, Leaving on one side what other authors
have written, I say that I have seen them of much greater size.
As for its getting into the tent, let the reader recollect that the
said tent was in a wood full of rocks, where the ground coulil
not be levelled. The whole army was scattered about in the
same way, for in default of level ground the greater part of the
army rests beneath trees, or among rocks, as [ huve seen on
several occasions.

These two armies when joined together formed a powerful
force. The court of Shahjahin was now thrown into confusion,
fear, and anxiety, which were shared by the kingand the prince
Dird, for they already perceived the strength their adversaries
possessed, and the persistence with which they were marching
on ; also the ability of Aurangzeb, coupled with the great courage
of Murid Bakhsh. ]

Clearly did they see that a fire had been lighted, which it
would be very difficult to quench. By means of many letters
and protests sent to the two princes, Shihjahin told them to
return each to his own government. He pledged them his
word that in oo way would he take notice of their rebellion:
Nothing he could say was of any avail. But Aurangzeb con-
tinved ever to pretend, and told Murdd Bakhsh that such letters
were forged by Dirdi, that Shihjahin was of a truth dead.

' Bes Yuole, 70, ander *Roitle, for the Arabic rif), mdopted into Poringoess
ma arvarel; pl, arrates, '
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Even if he were not, it was right to-deliver him from the hands
of Dard, by whom he had been seized, for he never appeared in
public, If their father [176] were alive, they would beseech
him to pardon them, disculpating themselves by saying that
they wanted to deliver him from the hands of Dira, and then
go back each to lns own government.

The whole of this was [alsehood, for have T not seen with my
awn eyes that one day he (Shihjahan) gave audience, ailing as
he was, for more than half an hour in his royal apartments,
seated at a window looking towards the river. There were
present @ very great number of men from the army and the
commeon people, all of whom heard and saw. But the greater
part of them said that it was not Shithjahin, but a made-up
figure prepared by Prince Dard for that purpese. That could
not be truly said by those who were presant,

There were many traitors at the court friendly to Aurangzeb.
They wrote to him that he should arrange to reach Agrah
before the arrival of Prince Sultimin Shukch from Bengal.
This prince had been ordered by Dird torejoin at heudquarters.
They also wrote that the illness of Shihjahin was mortal,
Letters of this sort which had been despatched by Xastecan
(Shaistah Khan)' and Mohammad Amin Ehan, son of Mir
Jumlah, were seized by Prince Dara. Thereupon he (Dird)
arrested those two nobles and codfined them in a room of his
palace. The whole court supposed that without a doubt he
witld order them to be beheaded, and the whole of that day I
waited on in the court solely to learn the end of the business.
At seven o'clock at night they were liberated on the prayer of
Roshandrd Begam and other princesses, who persuaded the
king that the captured létters were forgeries.. Dard had after-
wards to repent that he had not then and there ordered their
decapitation.

The unhappy king, Shahjahan, saw that his sons had lost all
respect for him, neither paid they any obedience to his orders.
They marched on by long daily journeys, fully resolved and
determined to give battle to Dird; and even if King Shihjahan

' Shilstati Kitn, brother of (Josen Mumiss Mahal, and therefore maternal
uticle of Shaljahan's childres.
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went out in person to resist them, they were not likely to desist
from an attack, the greater part of the advancing host bemg
traitors and asserting that the king was dead (whereas he was
very much alive, only with little strength left). Shilijahan
told Prince Dard that the best thing was, in any case, for him
{the king) to be present in the battle, even in such fesble con-
dition as he was; by his going forth it might happen that the
traitors would be held in more subjection. With this arrange-
ment Dird seemed satisfied.

Having heard of this plan, the traitors objected to it, chiefly
Callilcarn? (Kbalilullah Kban), who said to Dara: "It is not
right for your highness, whatever happens, to allow the king
to be present and to fight this battle, because 1 give you my
word that the victory will be with your highness, and if, per-
chance, the king take part, the name and the fame thercol must
inevitably be his.”

The pood old man (Shihjahin), believing that his appear-
ance in the field might be of some use, began resolutely his
preparations, ill as he was, to share in the battle. Spurred by
honour and by the advice of the traitors, Dard in the end said
to his father that if he went out to give battle, he (Dird) would
tuke his own life with his dagger in his father's presence, The
disconsolate old man, with tears in his eyes, said; * 1 abandon
to you all my authority, and God aid youl" Dim was very
clated, believing that he would be the victor, owing to his
reliance upon the traitors, and exclaimed: *With my bow-
string will 1 without fail bring in my enemiés bound.” He
(Dard) made ready with all imaginable energy to give [177)
battle and wreak vengeance upon his brothers.

Meanwhile the poor king was in great affliction, finding him-
self thos persecuted and oppressed in the evening of his days,
forced to divest himself of his treéasures and confide them to the
descretion of Dira. Then he sent for Chatarsal (Chhatarsal)!

| For Ehaliinllah Elan, ses oote, wwtt, I, 100 The statement that Shibjshin
wanted bo take the hesd of the army in person will be found alsy in the
* Mairiol- Umand.” lil. 857, line 14, e, Najibat Khin,

t Riip Sauarsal (or Chhawrsil), Hida, grandsen of Rio Hatn ol Boodi {iee
LU L o)



PRINCES ENTER MALWAHR 259

and Ra Ramsing Rotella {Rio Rim Singh Rawatela),' and
placed them over the other generals at court, some of whom
wene not well affected to Darid.  He gave these men orders Lo
fight on his behalf against his own sons, In spite of all this,
the king never ceased to feel the very greatest concern at the
disorder existing in the empire, and the penl be was in of
seeing himself socon destroyed. The larger number of his
descendants woald, he felt sure, be beheaded; and he never
forgot what the fgir had told him, the man with the two
apples (L z18).

Dirh sent off fresh orders in all hasté to Sulaimin Shukoh,
his son, to give up the campaign against Shih Shujd’, end
come promptly with his commanders to join forces with him
(Dard), and deliver battle against Aurangzeb and Murad
Bakhsh; who were then advancing by forced marches. Impera-
tive injunctions were given not to make any delay, seeing how
very important it was for their forces to unite before the battle.
The decision thus arrived at was very good, but it was too
late, and it was impossible (owing to Dard's unlucky star) for
Sultin Solaman Shukoh to arrive in time. If his force could
have joined, it would be almost impossible to conceive Aurang-
zeb and Murdd Bakhsh having the audacity and temerity to
attack as they did, the sides becoming then very unequal,

In this interval of preparation for the army to take the feld,
there arrived news at the court of Agrah that Aurangzeb and
Murdad Bakhsh had crossed the river at Brampur (Burhinpur),
and traversed by n very narrow passage the difficult, hilly, and
wooded country of Miandii® 1 liave passed through these
defiles many times myself. Dard had hoped to block their
exit; now the above news only augmented the confusion at
court.  King Shihjahan thereupon sent for two famous leaders
—the first, Raia Jagont Singh (Rajah Jaswant Singh, Raghor),

! ‘Rém Singh, son of Karm Si, Ratbor. and nophew through fhis mother
, Ul Rind. Jagar Siogh of Udepur (see ' M.-ul-U.' i, 266, also mentioned in
I}hT 1{-;]"'55- 104, 11, snd sgain in Part L)L Reénwida, ol the Riwal branch:

* As w0 the campaign in Malwab, compare Bernier, pp. 3041, The wurding

ol sdtie jassiges nggests thar bere Manncd, more of less, copied from

VOL. 1. 12
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the king’s loyal subject ; the second, Cagamean (Qasim Khan),!
4 man not well affected to Dara, and enjoined them ta proceed
against Aurnngzeb and. Murid Bakhsh. His orders to them
were to take every possible step to induce the two princes to.
retire.  IT they declined to listen, they were to be stopped by
force.

To please Shihjahdn, Qisim Kban joined Rajah Jaswant
Singl, but he had little inclination to undertake the campaign
or withdraw from the king's court. At the farewell andience
Dara gave splendid presents to Jaswant Singh, and nlso to
Qasim Khan. He presented them with several elephants and
horses with their trappings, and some costly arms.  He behaved
in a most frendly manner to them, and thus they were sent off.

During the march they sent many letters to Aarangzeb and
Murid Bakhsh, telling them they onght to withdraw to their
governments, Butall these requests were in vain, for no replies
were sent, nor did the men who ecarried them appear again.
The princes misrched with such expedition that before Shah-
jahiin's generals expected to meet them, they were espied on
some high ground not very far from the river at Ugen (Ujjain).
It was during the time of the great heats at the end of April,
and there was little water in the river. Thus on the instant the
generals of Shabjahin made ready for battle; but Aurangzeb
took no notics of the movement. Neither had his whole force
arrived, nor wiis his army in battle array ; he therefore ordered
some of his pieces of artillery to be discharged to hinder the
enemy from coming [178] too near to the river. The nbject was
to allow time for the remainder of his armiy to arrive, and for his
men to get some rest, they being worn out by the march and de-
pressed by the preat heat.  He also wanted to secute i position
with Better air. Al these things were managed by him, For if
the rajah had atiacked at that very moment, in the condition
he (Aurangzeb) then was he must have been defeated withouot

b Muibemmad Ciaade, wiiiithes] Brally Muctainl Khitn, ther (alm K, son
of Hisbim Khin, sen ol Oasim Ehin, Mir Bibe, was Elled oii the way o
Mathura by his wilo's brotber sowards tho end of the year oo H. [fuly et
Algusd, 26d1) (see * Tarlgh-d Muohammadl,' year roje; the * Ma,str-ul. Umark,'
Lil. pg, lsd copp H. L
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making much resistance. At this time I was at the court in
Agrah, and | was not present in this first battle. All the same
I am able to describe it, becanse I was on very familiar terms
with the higher officers who took a part in it, and in addition
thereto T obtained good information from sume Europeans of
difierent nations who directed the artillery of Aurangzeb, All
of these set forth the facts in oneand the same fashion. But
Rajah Jaswant Singh contented himsell with holding a posttion
on the bank of the river to bar its passage in acccordance with
the orders that he had received.!

After Aurangzeb had given his army a rest and had delayed
the enemy, he made dispositions for crossing the river. He
ordered the whole of his artitlery to be discharged, and directed
that, under cover of this fire, Murid Bakhsh with his whole
force should plunge into the river, the banks of which are very
difficult of descent and ascent, being encumbered with many
stones of all sizes, though the bed is not of any great breadth
{1 have crossed it myself many times), Q#sim Khin, on his
part, likewise ordered his guns to be fired, making a show of
fghting the enemy and disputing the passage with him, But
he had come to a secret understanding with Aurangzeb, and
had already on the previous night hidden away the powder and
shot, leaving only enongh to let off three volleys. At the begin-
ning the Gghting was very fierce and severe, and the crossing
was well defended by the men of Jaswant Singh. But in the
end Murid Bakhsh plunged into the river with such valiant
spirit that the rajah could not resist him, Qasim Khan having
ulready withdrawn, But the majah never ceased to fight most
desperately, until at length he saw himself left with only the
smallest remmant of his foree

When Aurangeeb's troops reached the other side of the
tiver, Rajah Jaswant Singh was advised, owing to his rediced
numbess, to beat a retreat. If he survived, he could gather

' For this siver, me Thomnton, " Casstteer,” 868, under * Seepm,” where the
potition and charactet ol the warions crosdhgs, with the widils snd degith of tha
Siream. are given amd the slespness ol the banks ls describal.  Aumageeb's
Sammp wan mthe illage of Dharmdtpor, seven b fiom Ujjaan, and that of Raish
Joswam Simgh 1mmn1i:miy oppouitn (see “*Alamgimamah,’ p. 95, top ling),

17—
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together many armies and fight many battles. Listewing
to these counsels, he retreated against his will in the best
way he could, followed by five hundred horsemen, and
started for his own country, which was at a distance of
seventy leagues from the scene of the defeat. He did not
wish to retarn to Agrah, owing to the great loss of some ten
thousand Rajputs, who had followed him and were all his
subjects. Aurangzeb gave orders to put up an the site & sarde
and plant a garden, calling it Fatepur (Fathpur)'—that is to
say, * Filled with Victory.! Here he made himself master of
all the artillery and baggage, with which he strengthened his
army, digging up the powder and shot that Qiisim Klhian had
buried.

Rajah Jaswant Singh arrived in his country with only
fifteen horsemen, all the rest from various accidents having
quitted him. His wife, the daughter of the Rind; o Hindd
king, wis named Ranagl (Rani J). She had been informed
of his defeat, of what had passed in the battle—with what
valour he had fought, and how with the few men remaining
he was unable to resist [17g9] the enemy any longer. But in-
stead of sending & message 1o meet him and console him in his
discomfiture, she at once ordered the gates of the fortress to be
closed. This was at Udepor (Udepur),® the chief town. e was
not to be allowed to enter; and she added the contemptuous
words : * From this day he is no longer my hustand,
and I never want to see his face again. As a descendunt of
the great Rina, his soul should not have been thus vile; be
ought to have recollected his connection with our illustrions
house. His business was to gain the battle or die on the spot;
then shonld | have aequired one of two glorious things—the
renown of being a hero's wife, or an honoured widow's death
by burning.’ Her rage and passion were so extreme that she

 Perhaps this may be wieniea) with the Farhibad, twelve milen sonth-west al
Ujfntt (see Thormtan, * Gesetterr,” q13).  Note Manucci's winng etymoligy, peb
{Fersinn), * dull’ iostead of par, pucs (Hindl), "a town.  Fablipar ls * Victorys
e,

* This wtary alw appears in Bamier, 40, 41, tut withotit the |ntredoction ol

Udegrur (the Rink's capiial, and pol Jaswant Stegh's), sihich seemi o be
Manucci's own cogtribation,
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knew not what she was inventing or saying, She had con-
ceived an idea that her husband had been killed in the battle,
and that sl they were telling her was only meant to prevent
her burning hersell [as a saff]. She issued orders for the
preparation of the necessary muterials for her death by fire,
announcing that her husband was dead, for how could it be
atherwise ?

On being assured once again that ber husband was really
alive, she suddenly flew into a greater rage; turning pale, she
had & fit, and fell to the ground. On recovering her senses,
she excluimed passionately : * Better were it that T had not
been borm, or had died before 1 saw this day; or at the
least had not been born into this family, or else married to
a man of honour though of low degree, and not to this coward.'
Worn out by all this grief, she said in the end that all her life
long she would never look on the face of such a white-livered
soldier. She would lead a life of renunciation.

Then came her mother to her, and with every effort sought
a means of consoling her. It was promised to her that in a
few days they would furnish to the rajah another army, with
which to renew the attack on Aurangzeb. Thus in one way
or another his honour could be vindicated by them, they
sparing neither their wealth nor any of their treasures. In
spite of all this she would not allow herself to be comforted.
She would not on any terms permit her husband to enter
the fortress, nor would she receive his messages; she ordered
that no one should mention his name in her presence. Things
remained thus for some years, until Aurangzeb, who had then
becotne king, offered himself as a mediator to restore friendship
between them. He sent several women from his palace and
eunuchs on various occasions. As a mark of respect to the
king's requests, she reluctantly consented. Nevertheless, she
never forebore from showing the rajah a wry face as a token
of her disapproval, which she persisted in with moch rancour,
Once the mjah wanted to eat a melon, and along with it the
serving-maid presented a knife. Thereupon Rani Ji suddenly
fell upon the maid and seized her by the hair, beating and
thumping her, saying: * Knowest thou not the coursge of
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this runaway, that when he sess a bit of iron of any sort he
swoons?'  This was her behavionr for the rest of her life,

When Shihjahin heard of this unfortunate defeat, he raised
his bands and his eves to heaven, sayving, * Ala ham di lillah !
[Al hamdu [Olah I]—that is to say, ‘Praise be to Godl
“Already [ knew that the time of my rule was nearing its
end, but not that there would fall upon me this calamity, so
that, flled with anguish thereby, I cry, " Hia Ala teni mz"
[Ya Alak? teri vazall—that is to say, " O God! thy will be
done "—*it is my sins that chastise me, and T deserve it-all.
“mere AIRI" [mere Allah 1)), “"my God "'

When Dard received the report that the river passage at
Ujjnin had been forced, he was greatly enraged, and in a
passion stamped on the ground, [180] and, wringing his hands,
cursed Ofisim Klan. I he had him there, he would without
fail order him to be cut into pieces, With the same passion
he let himself locse upon and riled against Mir Jumlab, He
suid to his father that hie (Shahjahin) was the chiel canse of
the mishap. If his majesty bad not confided an army to
Mir Jumlah, he could not have transferred it to the rebel
Aurnngzeb. * But this duy our own arms are turned aguinst
ns. If your majesty had only listened to my advice in' the
first instance, we shonld never have amived at this plight.”
He joined in his nccusation the names of Mubammad Amin
Khiin and Shiistah Khan, saying they also were traitors. He
wanted to have them beheaded, and their families sent to a
house of ill fame. And without & doubt he would have done
o, through the great excitement he was in; but Shihjahin,
whose affliction was added to by Dird's disordered condition
and his wild words, employed all his wisdom and mildness
in assuaging the violence of his son. He impressed on him
that all this was merely the wiliness anid plotting of Aurangzeb
to secure Mir Jumlah and seize his goods, having discovered
that Mubammad Amin Ehin and Shiistah Ehin had no
intention of exposing themselves to his severities, Daci
listened to these arguments; and although he disagreed, he
dissembled, and busied himself with the preparation of his
entire srmy.
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Aurangzeb and Murid Bakhsh, finding themselves victors
through the good results attained in this first fight, became
emboldened and thought themselves invincible, and assumed
that no army existed in the world able to oppose them. Thus
all the soldiers in the army boasted that after they were masters
of the empire, they wonld without fail press on into Persia
and Turkey, uttering unending rodomontade. To raise the
spirite of his troops, Aurangzeb announced (very truly, as |
saw when the time came) that in the army of Dird there were
thirty thousand Moguls ready to come under his standards.

The eunuch Shahbiz, seeing clearly that Aurangzeh was
deceiving his master, Murad Bakhsh, and that certainly he
wonld lose his life by such deceits, made wp his mind after
the victary to commit a terrible act. When Aurangzeb came
Lo see his brother Murad Bakhsh, as he often did, accompanied
by his son, Sultin Muhammad, he (Shihbaz) resolved to take
his life ss he was issuing from the tents. When all three
princes were in conversation, the eunuch said meaningly to
his prince that, if he gave permission, he would order some
‘cloth’ to be cut. Murad Bakhsh's star being unpropitious,
he replied that it was not necessary. He was aware of the
intention of the eunuch: thus, if he said * Yes," he knew the
mian to be quite prepared and resolved to kill the two visitors by
violence, and for this purpose he bad placed men m hiding
buforehand. These were the ‘cloth™ that the eunuch asked
permission to ‘cat,’ for ‘to cut out cloth® has two meanings;
ordinarily, it is to cut put cloth for garments. The eunuch
acted the simpleton, trying to get assent for carrying out the
project, as 1 have already said, and after the deed meant to
disculpate himself. Even should he lose his life, he would
die content, having put to death those who meant to kil
his master. He clearly perceived that Aurangzeb would never
leave his master in life, such not being the custom among
the descendants of the Moguls, On hearing the conversation,
i‘l-uranga-:h_ knew at ance that his life was in danger; in his
mind [181] he was disturbed, but externally betrayed oo sign,
and thenceforth never again went to the tents of Murid Bakhsh,
sending his son Sultin Muhammad instead, making the excuse
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that the heavy work he had to get through allowed him no
time to go in person to visit his brother.

Prince Murid Bakhsh was anxious to continue their
victories without allowing time to Sultin Sulaimin Shukah
to join his father Diiri; and the second day after the battle he
wanted to resume the march, without giving the army an
interval of rest. He therefore raised the pay of his soldiers,
and started again in great pomp on the third day. Aurangzeb
neglected no efforts that appeared to him suitable, sending his
spies to his friends with letters containing many promises.
He desired to know from them the arrangements and condi-
tions at the court, 5o as to adopt means to cirry ot his
projects with greater security. The traitors replied unani-
mously that he might advance without the slightest hesita-
tion ; and all of them assured him that other battles would be
won with even greater ease.

Perceiving clearly the boldness and resolution of the two
princes Aurangeeb and Murdd Bakhsh, and recognising finally
that there was now no hope of making them return fo their
governments, Shihjahin was so embarmassed that he was at
a loss what to decide upon, and foresaw great misfortuncs,
He made great efforts to emerge from this position, but the
futes would not permit it to be atherwise. Finding himself
in bodily weakness, and desirous of pleasing Dird, he transferred
[to him] all his powers and dignities, and ordered everyone to
yield him obedience. He wanted to try if, by this means, he
could relieve himself of all the ills from which he suffered,
including the danger in which he stood of being captured by
Aurangzeb and dispossessed of his authority.

Some authors, recording what they have been told, say that
Diird seized his father and divested him of power by force; but
I assert this to be o great untruth, for 1 know, and have tested,
that Dird was quite submissive. He did nothing without com-
municating it to his father. T might produce several proofs of
what I say; but 1 will ask the reader to do me the favour of recol-
lecting what 1 have said as to the letters written by Mubhammad
Amin Khin and Shiistah Klin. On account of these Dird
wanted to have them decapitated, yet they were liberated by
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the order of Shahjahin. 1f Dird had, as others write, taken
possession of his father and of his authority, he woild have
exercised this absolute power to order their heads to be cut off,
us justice required.

Another case 1 will bring forward in proof of what I say. A
few days before we took the field against Aurangzeb the police
seized 3 Genoese youth for having in his possession a bottle of
wine, a thing not prohibited for Europeans. In order to petition
for his release, 1 went off to the magistrate, who at once placed
me alongside the youth. I made a sign to my servant, who
rushed off to tell my friends, artillerymen in Prince Dara’s
service, These men came in a body [182], all of them armed,
and, breaking down the doors of the prison, liberated us. The
soldiers ran from the police-office, leaving the magistrate by
hinself in a state of astonishment at what was going on. Being
aggrieved as 1 was, 1 thereapon went up to the magistrate and
put u pistol to his breast; I did not slay him, but took com-
passion upon him on his humbling of himself, This affair
was brought before Shihjahin, who complained to Dari of
what his artillerymen had done. To satisfy the king, Dird
ordered the captain of the artillery to administer a reproof to
the Genoese. We all went in a body to the captain to lodge
a complaint against the magistrate for the disgrace done to us,
the king having accorded us the right to drink wine, Now, if
Dérd had been as others say, no one would have had the
audacity to displease his employés, nor to complain of them
to Shihjahin.

On finding the king Shihjahan had delivered himself with all
his authority and his army into the hands of Prince Diar,
everybody seized their weapons, there was great uproar, each
man acting on his own inclination. More than one hundred
F"WW horsemen assembled and more than twenty thousand
infantry. There were one hundred pieces of field artillery,
every otie of them carrying shot of from eight to twelve pounds;
in addition there was a twenty-pounder culverin, and over
two hundred European artillerymen. There was no want of
subordinates, of shopkeepers who furnish supplies for the
sustenance of the whole realm and army, a large number of
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sarrifos (parrdf) who provide the cash required by the whole
army, many majestic and well-armoured elephants, and five
hondred camels.  On each of the latter was a man seated atop
with a swivel-gun, carrying a ball of from three to four ounces,
which he loaded and fired without dismonnting. There were
also five hundred elephants with their howdalhs, and in these
sat two men with two guns like those npon the camels.

After all these preparations we issued from the city of Agrah
on the rqth May in one thousand six hundred and fifty-six!
When on the march we covered the ground as far as the
horizon, making a brave and splendid show. What discon-
certed me was that no one would say that Diirli was sure of
gaining the battle with all this grand array. Furthermore, [
remembensd the answer given me by Father Buzeo, & man of
mnch wisdom, when I asked him if he entertained any doubt
of Dard's being emperor; sesing that he had under him that
great army and so much treasure. The father replied to me,
with the great kindness and trust he had ever bestowed on me,
thit he was much afraid that Dard would never become emperor,
pointing out to me that the people of Hindfstin were very
malicious, that soch a race required to be ruled by a more
malignant king, and not by a good-natured man like Diris

The reasons why no one declared that Dard must win in the
struggle appear to me to be the following : Because Shithjshin
meddled a great denl with the wives of the nobles, who awaited
stich a good opening as this to take their revenge for the insults
they had recetved, by handing him over to Aurangzeb, his deadly
enemy ; that if Dird had a failing [183], it was not to con-
cilinte the great nobles and win them over to be his friends.
The chief reason of all for his misfortunes was, however, that
Sulaimin Shukoh would not listen to the advice of Rajsh Jai
Singl, but increased his distance from the court, and was this
unable to rejoin at headquarters in time. Thereby the best
men that Dici had among his troops were lost to him.

The greater number of the goldiers that Dira had newly
enlisted were not very waclike; they were butchers, barbers,
blacksmiths, carpenters, tailors, and snch-like. It is true that

! The correct yaar is 1655 the day of the month ls probably coersch.
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on their horses and with their arms they looked well at a
review: but they had no heart and knew nothing of war, If
only Sulaiman Shukoh had arrived in time, there would have
been no need of men like these, nor of Khalilullah Khin. The
wife of the latter had warned Dird to put no reliance on her
hushand nor trust his soft speeches, for she knew him well, and
aiven the occasion, he would inevitably engineer some treachery.
Nor should he rely upon the thirty thonsand Mogul troopers in
his father’s service.

Shahjahiin earnestly desired that Dard should not offer
buttle until Sulaimin Shukoh had amrived. But Dard's two
brothers and enemies came on with such haste that they left
him no chance of dalaying. [ have been assured that Aurangzeb
professed such determination as to say that if Taimor-i-lang and
all his descendants came ugainst him, on no account would it be
fitting for him to retreat. He was resolved to give battle, putting
his faith in the traitors to be found in Dird’s camp.

When placed in the field our army was so well distributed that
it looked like 2 lovely city adorned with beautiful tents; fying
innumérable flage of all colours and different shapes, each tent
having its own flag and device so that it might be recognised.
The prince Dira went to take leave of the king, his fatber, and
of Begam Sahib, his sister, who at that time were living in the
fort of Agrah. On beholding the son and brother so well
beloved, they melted into floods of tears:. The king began to
speak, and thus addressed Dard : * My loved and cherished son!
I have always been well inclined towards you as being my firsts
born son and full of good qualities, above all of the quality of
obedience, which you have always displayed to me.  Your father
hoped to see you become king peacefully, but none can fathom
the sscrets of the Lord Most High. My desire was to leave
you in this fortress, and go forth myseli against those rebels
Atimngzeb and Murad Balkhsh, anworthy of the name of my
sons or of your brothers. 1 had hoped to chastise the rebels
and traitars who take the side of my enemies; but you have
hiad compassion on my years and infirmity, and mean to expose
your life for the peace of the kingdom, the freedom and the
safety of your father. Not to dishearten you, I consent to your
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doing as you wish; but entreat you, my beloved son, to avoid
a battle until the arrival of Sultin Sulaimin Shukoh your son.
You will thus increase your chance of victory. | beg of you to
curb your ardoor.  Being incapable of doing more, [ pray that
your life may be spared and that you may survive to become
emperor of all Hindistin, and [184] that our enemies may be
glain, 1 place you in the hands of God;in whom we trust to give
us the victory and make us triumph over rebels and tmitors,’

Having bade farewell to his father, Diird soon appeared in
the army; but the march could not be undertaken that day.
Some of the war matériel was still wanting, nor did the astro-
logers judge the hour auspicious for a start.  On the third day'
this huge army began its march. When Dard was about to
mount his magnificent elephant Fatejang (Fath Jang)—that is
to say, * Victor in War'—he said these words: * Guerrib maf,
magrur marg ' (Gharid mu‘df, maghrir marg)—that is to say,
' To the humble, pardon ; to the haughty, death,” The generuls
then present replied simultaneously, * Hixa Alla* (Tushallah) —
that is to say, * By the favour of God.'

We began the march in such great order that it seemed ns
if sea and land were united: Prince Dard amidst his squadron
appeared like a erystal tower, resplendent as u sun shining over
all the land. Around him rode many squadrons of Rijput
cavalty whose armour glittered from ufur, and their lance-heads
with a tremulous motion sent forth rays of light. There were
other squadrons of cavalry armed with lances, in front of whom
went many ferocious elephants ¢lad in shining steel with chains
on their trunks, their tusks encrusted with gold and silver, and
broad cutlasses affixed theceto by rings. In advance was one
with a handsome flag, and the driver, who guided the elephant,
was armed with armes blanches (sword and shield).

A marvellous thing was it to behold the march, which moved
over the heights and through the vales like the waves of a stormy
sea. Thus we held on our way for four days® until we reached

! Pressmably May 17 ia meant, .

¥ Counting from the 71h, four days brings ¢s 1o May 51, Dholpur I thirty-
seven lles south of Agrabl and sitnatsd abont o mils from the Jefi bank of e
Chamtal,
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the hank of the siver Chambal, where was a village called
Dolpur (Dholpur). Our powerful army took up' position on
this ground, and entrenched the crossing, placing its pieces of
artillery to cover the most exposed points.

We awaited the enemy, who was already near; he appeared
afar off after three days! Being fully prepared, and in cvery
way desirous of finding ourselves engaged in battle, we begped
for leave to attack the enemy. But Déard, for two reasons,
would not consent : the first was that he was waiting for Sultan
Sulaimin Shukoh and his force, who could not be very long in
coming; even if they were delayed, he was sure that the enemy
would never risk 4 crossing at this place, which was well occupied
and fortified. The second reason was the inadvisability of
attacking the enemy in a situation full of hollows and rocks,
and altogether a dangerous place.

All this time Aurangzeb persisted in his nsual stratagems
and intrigues. After having encamped his army on the farther
side, not far from the river, he called together his generals.
He said to them that they must be prepared to deliver battle,
und be every one ready with his force of cavalry, In making
haste lay their chance of victory, and full of confidence in their
courage, he hoped [185] in a brief space to be victorious,
They could not postpone the battle, seeing the danger of
Sultan Sulaiman Shikoh’s arrival. A report of the above speech
reached the army of Dird, and was received with pleasure.
Everybody made his prepamtions with the greatest cagerness,
and expected every day that the enemy would come to
attack us,

But Aurangzeb's secret plan was to win over Rajah Champet
(Champat),* to whom he sent valuable presents, proposing for

! Thin would be on May 24

* Here we may compare Mangce! with (he official nasrative in the ' Llamgir-
nimah,' pp. 70, 55 Diirk Shukoh, with his pounjer son Sipilic Sbukoh, left Agrah
on. the zsth Sha'bin (May 28, 1638, now style), havieg previousiy, on the 16eh
Shabda [ May 19), depoed Khalilnllah Ehtn, Ram Siegh, Rathor, amd others,la
seiae (e Dholpur ferry, and watch all losdle of suspected cromings.  Meanwhile,
Anrangseb had nreived at Gwiliyar, and lesmt thers that the ferry as |ioljpur was
dofended, whils ail known crossings had been blocked Ly ihe nmction of batteriss.
Laquithes were made from Jocal samindars, whe lnformed kim of 4 cromdug In
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him high rewards and making him liberal offers, He asked
the rajah to allow him to pass through his territovies in order
to get across the river by another unknown ford, situated
twelve leagues from us. These demands were conceded by
Rajah Champat, hoping to avenge himself on Shahjahin for the
acts | have already told you of (I. 142-144). Gained over by
entreaties, and all unwitting of the misfortune that he had to
undergo, the rajah accompanied Aurangzeb. The ronte was
so difficult, the march so impeded by jungle and uneven
ground, that Aurangzeb was unable to take with him the whole
of hiz forces. He left his tents standing, and some of his men
behind, by way of formality, in order to conceal his design the
more effectually. He crossed the river (as I was told) with
over eight thousand horsemen, and though they were all much
fatigued, he made himsell master of the crossing ‘on the 3oth
of May, 1656 (f.2., 1658).

This day was as full of joy for Aurangzeb as it was full of
sadness for Dar. The latter, receiving a report of the carrying
out of the above design, fell into a great rage with Champat,
who had given his word that in no case wounld he allow
Aurangzeb to cross, and it was for this reason that Dird had
not blocked the ford in qu-;-!.tt-:m When the news came thut

the Bhadauriynh rerriiory, east of Agrah, some focty miles off, the place eiig
forsdable and not goarded] Ehin Jahan and other commandirs wers
by Aurangesb, They reached the place on the Chambal the nexl day {the lai
of Shabdn, June 1), Aurnagreb left Gualiydr the ssme day (May 31), and i
twe marches reachiod the spot, croming the river on the sss Bamagin (June 2)
Mare light is thrown by Bliun Ses, sn aihereni of the Datiys Rajabe, o his
' Nuskhah i-ditkusha,’ British Museum, Orlental, 33, fol. tsh, npon the mode in
which Aurangzeb got his information, After he had renched the Chamiml and
enczmped opposite to Dholpar, Subhkamn Singh, Bandelah, Rajab of Datiph,
prodoced Champay, Bugdelaly, * whe sl hls Tile bad Jernt gathilng but robbery,
amd having oo abode, wandered 1ike & stray pigean throogh every 1Tl and plam,
Gireat promises of reward ware made 1o him ; ke wan amed hy speoions devices,
and made 3 Pasf Hasdrl. He reported that Dilper ferry was strongly defended,
But within an easy distance, ai o place callal Corbhiah, there wa a ford which
could be reached in one day. A oight march was orduered, and by poom Rt
iy the army was | battle army ot Sambgarh,  Dars was moabli to remmve bl
guns from the batteries at the Chambal, while hant and thire killed many of his
mon.  Inthe battle Subkharas was wounded, ind Aurangeeh pederssl a grove @
be plantsd and a wani erceted o the site of the batde (Fathabad 1),
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Aurangzeb had actually crossed, Dird was desiroos of moving
personally in pursoit of him.

He was, however, well advised by the general Hebraim Can
(Ibrihim Khin),! son of Alimerda Can ("Ali Mardin Khin), to
send instead, with the preatest expedition, twelve thousand
horsemen to fall suddenly upon Aurangzeb and his soldiers,
who were much fatigued, very scattered, and lying about on
the river bank. But the traitor Khalilullab Khan, having heard
that [)ard had decided upon making this attempt, came to him
and said that it was inadvisable; it would not add to his credit
of reputation.  For, of a certainty, the naine and fame of any
victory wonld accrue to the commander, and not to his
highness. He ought not to listen to the advice of these boys,
quite inexperienced in war; and it was a mistake to detach
those twelve thousand cavalry from his division, for by so
doing the victory which was now a certainty would become
doubtful. The following day we marched in pursuit of
Aurangzeb, but it was already too late. For during the night,
and very early on the fullowing morning, almost the whole
remuning army of Aurangzeb came up, and quitting the river,
we arrived in an extensive plain.

It was the 1st of June of one thousand six hundred and
fifty-six.* We made use with great labour of the water in the
ponds in the open fields, and the heat was stifling. Between
the two armies there was not more than a league and a halfs
distance. During the time we were taking up ground for our
army the rest of Aurangzeb's force continued to join his ranks,
but the whole of his artillery and baggage had not arrived.
Having detailed information of everything in Aurangzeb’s force,
and kunowing his men were exhauvsted, Diirl wanted to com-
mence [186] the action. But the traitors Intervened on astro-
logical grounds by saying that neither the day nor the hour
was favourable. He must postpone the battle. He was already

"Trabien Khan disd ot the end of Safar or sarly In Ralic 1tz H. (S
Agril 30, 1710, while Governor of Kashmir, aged elghly years  He was the son
of ‘Al Wardin Khin, Aniir.ul-Umard, who died at Machhiwkral [Panjih) in
1067 1., 12 Rajab (April a7, 1857, N.S.) (see * Mubsirad-Umara,' | 395, 5. 18l

Iin 1658 Theahim Khkn must bave been about bwenty sl yesrs of ags.
#0s chual, the daie is wrong by two years | it coght to be 1638
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sure of the victory, becanse he had a good army, with valiant
and high-spirited soldiers quite sufficiently numerous for the
destruction of Aurangzeb, who in comparison with him was an
invisible speck on this earth. All this they did solely that
Aurangzeb might have time to take rest, to refresh his people,
and secure the arrival of his guns.

The traitors had made an agreenient with Aurangzeb that
when he was ready to give battle he ghould warn them by
three discharges of cannon, and thereupon they would make
dispositions for delivering Dara into his hands. Meanwhile
Aurangzeb gave proof of how he understood recompensing those
who helped him in his unjust undertaking. He caused his
friend Champat to be sent for, who was waiting not far from Iis
tents, in expectation of the many favours and presents promised
to him. When he reached the presence, having no anticipation
of what was about to happen to him, Aurangzeh instantly
caused him to be bound and carried to the route along which
he designed to advance next morning to give battle; there he
was to be offered up a sacrificial victim, and beheaded. This
command was exccuted.!

On the znd of June {1658) Dird received a letter from his
father Shahjahdn, directing his retreat to Agmh, there to
entrench himself until the arrival of Sulaimin Shukoh. This
could not be done, because if Dird retreated, the enemy would
without fail resume his advance with still greater spirit, while
our troops would lose all confidence in the valour of their
prince and commander. They would imugine if he retired that
be had not the courage to attack. The greater part of ou
army directly they suw such a movement would inevitably
transfer themselyes to the enemy’s side.

! From = passage in Fart 111, 158, it would appear, ihat this Chiampal’s ko
s Dulpmé Bso, Bindelah (disd June, 1707, at JAjsy),  This is wrong : Dalpal s
father was Subbkaran (died 1683). The difficulty is explaioed by the passgs
already quoted from Bhim Sen. Subhlaran (father of Rio Dalpat) and Chanzpat
tinthar of tha more celabrated Clilatarsdl), both Bandalaba, ware both oumeerried
in the matter, and Manueci confounds them  Neither of them, howéver, Was
wiocuted in 1655 Subbikaran died in 1683, an? Champar Kie was bunted dowit
uod kllled s Octotwer or November, té61 (*Alamgienamb,’ . Ogp, foorth yess
of Aursngzeh).
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So far was Diard from following the advice of his father that
he had, on the contrary; made up his mind to deliver battle.
In reply to his father, he wrote that he ought to take his ease
and keep in good heart. He promised him that within three
days he would drag Aurangzeb and Mutiid Bakhsh bound into
his presence, when he might punish them as he saw fit. The
truth is that he (Dara) wished to fight on the 3rd of June, a
Saturday. But the traitors, taking advantage of a shower of
rain which fell in our camp, said it was not a good time to
attack, for alréady the skies wept over his defeat as soon as
they heard he meant to fight. It wonld be much better to
delay until the next day, which was known to be the first day,
when God created light—a very auspicious day, on which
without any doubt he would be victorious. All this they said,
because if Dard had attacked the enemy on that day he would
have gained a certain victory. For Aurangzeb had oot then his
rariks in proper order, nor had the agreed-on signal been given,

The presumption that 1 discovered in Dard afilicted me,
seeing him give credit to the words of traitors.  But [ consoled
mysell 2 good deal, being so young, with the hope of getting
some experience of war. On the whole T did not feel [187]
satisfied, finding that Dara was not making the exertions
required for the good ordering of such a huge army. He had
no sufficient experience in matters of war, having been brought
up among the dancing-women and buffoons of his father, and
gave undus credit to the words of the traitors.

On the 3ed of June,' at midnight, the enemy fired three pieces
of artillery, the signal agreed upon with the traitors, showing
them that Aurangzeb had now made his dispositions for giving
battle at daybreak. We replied with other three shots. After
one hour had elapsed Dard emerged from the camp through
the midst of our artillery, for which it was necessary to take
down my teént to allow a passage for his exit with the few
cavalry in his retinue.

i For Barnier's uecount of the Batile of Samugarh [Fathabal), see pp. 40-54
(Conmtable's edition). He gives no dawe.  The “Alsmgirmemnh,’ g4, weiges
the batile to the 71 Ramagn (June 8, 1655, N.S.; May 30, 0.5} The dats
silopted by Eiphinstene, p. 532, fourth edition, Is the 8th Ramagin.

YoL. 1, 15
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A short time afterwards I mounted my horse and went forth
ont of curiosity to know what was going on, this being the first
battle that 1 had been able to see. Trusting to my good horse,
I went on, and halted on a height adjoining an uninhabited
village; thence 1 saw, thongh it was still dark, many horsemen
leave our army for that of Aurangzeh, and never retorm.

Almost at daybreak there came forth from the army of
Aurangzeb several camels laden with bombs, escorted by some
horsemen and many men on foot, who halted in the village
and distributed themselves at considerable distances. As the
light grew clearer 1 saw that Aunrangzeb was advancing very
leisurely with his whole army. It was formed into five divisions
of cavalry,

In the first division, placed in the middle, was the strong
and valiant Aurangzeb seated on a large elephant, accompanied
by fifteen thousand horsemen, well armed with lances, bows
and arrows, and matchlocks. At his right hand he had his
son Sultin Muhammad, and Mirbaba (Mir Baba), his foster-
brother, to whom on this occasion he gave the title of Badercan
{Bahidur Khan),' at the head of another fifteen thounsand
horsemen. The third division, on the right hand of Sultin
Mubammad, had also ffteen thousand horse under the com-
mand of Nezebetcan (Najibat Khin}® and other generals. The
fourth division was composed of another fifteen thousand well-
armed cavalry, with whom was Prince Murad Bakhsh, seated
on a lofty elephant, which rose like a tower in the midst of his
squndrons,  With him sat his little son®

The remainder of Aurangzeb’s army consisted of one division
of problematical value, made up of low-class men of nnwarlike
habits, in addition to baggage, carts, camels, and unloaded

I Mir Malik Husain, son of Ahul Modlla, Ehwily; he died i 1109 Hi
{tBay8).  The title of Bahidur Khin was given oo the march from the Dakhin;
be commanded Aurangreb's nght wing. ‘He was afteraanis made Khin Jahis,
Hahtiler, Kokalidsh (e ' Madstr-ul.Umani,’ L 758, 7990

* This Nujibat Khin was probably the Mpres Shuji’ alresdy twics referred to.
He wrvived 10 the seventh year of Aurangzoh, He was soo of the mule of
Hadaghehian, shd s desomilant of Taimdr (ss < Ma,dgle-l Ummrs, ik B2

¥ ' Hin fittle sen.  Other lnstances of this practics of taking listhe children lnto
barile conld be addoced,
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oxen; these had their place on the left of Murdid Bakhsh,
Behind followed all the artillery. As this army continoed its
advance in trangnillity, so 1 in the same manner retired until
1 saw that they had arrived close to the deserted village.
Then the artillery was ordered to the front, behind them the
musketeers, behind them again some camels carrying swivel-
guns (trithoems). In their rear was the army, as | have above
described. T answer for all this with confidence [185].

I awgited the approach of our army, in order to take my
place. But sesing from afar that it did not stir, | went back
close o it, where thore were several scattered horsemen, There
I halted to look at it, and consider our great army and its
disposition. | noticed that while I had been awny to look at
the army of Aurangzeb, Dardi had arrayed his forces in the
following order: The artillery was all in one row, and each
carriage bore two scarlet pennons.  This row of guns servel
as o wall to protect the musketeers behind it, to the number
of twenty-five thousand men. These were supportad by five
hundred camels with swivel-guns (¢rdhoens) ; to their mar stood
the armour-clud elephants, and then the cavalry, twenty-eight
thousand horsemen. Last of all was Dard on his magnificent
elephant, followed by numerous clephants carrying drums,
trumpets, and all manner of musie, forming his retinue.

In the division to the right of Diari was Ramsing Rotella
(Rim Singh, Rithor) with his fifteen thousand Rajputs, all
well-armed men of war. On their right was Khaltlullab Khiin
with' thirty thousand Moguls, whose orders were to encounter
the miscellaneous division of which I spoke, this being his
(Kbalilallah Kbhiin's) own pretext. On the left hand of Dard
was posted the valorous peneral Rustomcan Dacanj (Rustam
Khin, Dakhinh)! with ffteen thousand horse in all; at his left
Raja Chartersilara (Chhatarsdl Rie)® with fifteen thousand
horsemen, the greater part of them Rajputs, All this array

' Rusinm Eian, Dakhin, was by race & Charkes from Northern Persia, He
firey sarvoll the Nigim Shihi kings, and then went over to Shthjahan's side, M
Samligarh bw was in the fght wing commanded by Sipihr Stukad {* Ma, dsir-ul-

*-;?m.' Ik, wp0-270) Hie desth bs mentionsd by N. M, = litle ferther on
(ol agil

¥ Uhhatarsdl, Huda (ven * Ma.sgironl-Unark,” i 360l Ho, oo, was killed,
i—z

&
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made o lovely sight, both by the beauty of the arms and by
the number of standards and pennons of 5o many eolours.

Be it known to the reader that these two armies were not
ordered in the disposition obtaining in Europe. But one
division was close to another as the trees of a pinewood, in
the order that T have described.

I remained where I was in salety, there being no firing from
either side It was already eight o'clock of the day, when
there came an order from our army that all the scattered
horsemen must retire, because they wanted to discharge the
artillery. Thereupon evervone withdrew into the army, and »
poor Mogul cavalier riding behind me, not getting back in
time, fell at the first fire of our artillery, Repeated orders
poured in to keep up a continuous artillery fire, although the
shot did no damage. They fell short of Aurangzeb's men, wha
were at a great distance from us, | was much amazed at their
making vs work thus for nothing. During the time that we
were making this desfening din with our guns, the enemy
saluted us with nothing but a few bombs with tails, after the
style of rockets. .

After the first discharge Aurangzeb ordered one of his pieces
of artillery to be fired in continuation of the signal to the
traitors.  After we had fired again several times he let off two
pieces together. 'When we had fired ten [18¢] times he replied
with three pieces at once. This was the desired signal by
which he was ta let the traitors know that he was prepared to
receive an attack where he was, withoot moving towards Dari.
Then, leaving his divicion, Klalilullah Elifin came in search of
Dird. On reaching his pressnee he greeted him as victor,
speaking thus: * May the victory be auspicious to the invincible
Dira! Without losing any of his men, solely by use of his
artillery, he has destroyed the greater part of the enemy, and
little effort remains to gain 2 complets victory. It is not
desirable to continue artillery fire, but we must now advance
and lay hold of the engmy.'

Orders were given not to discharge the artillery any more,
and the well-reputed geneml, Rustam Ehiin, was sent for in
order to hear what bhe advised. When the latter heard the
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views of Klialilullah Khiin, he replied that it would be better to
await the enemy and leave him to attuck us, for he had come
a great distance to seek us, and, according to usage, he could
not avoid being the attacker. When he came on, we could
receive lim with the fury and valour befitting the advantage
that we bhad over him.

This advice was most prudent, but the cunning Kbalilullah
Khan turned it into disparagement of Rustam Khin, saying :
‘1 am greatly amazed that a captain so famous shodld tell ug
at such & juncture to show ourselves such cowards and of s
little courape, that after we have almost destroyed the enemy,
we should yet be afraid to take the offinsive.” Dara, without
listening to other arguments, adopted the counsels of Khali-
lullah Khan, and set his elephant in motion in order to attack
the enemy with his heavy divisions. Orders were given to
Rustam Klidn to return to his division, and give evidence af
bis well-known valour. The artillery was ordered to be un-
chained to allow the troops to pass through the line.!

Khaiilullah Kbiin, pleased st having accomplished his purpose
of exposing Dira to the risk of death, went with him halfway,
and then returned to his own command, the enemy being still
al some distance, On this side, when Dara started with his
division against the enemy, everythiog fell into confusion.
The barbers, butchers, and the rest, turned right-about face,
abandoning the artillerymen and the guns. Many made for
the baggage-train to plunder it, which they did, breaking open
the chests of gold and silver, and carrying off what they could
lay hands on. This resilted in many men being murdercd
while trying to rob their companions.

Dira pursued his route courngeously, making signs with his
hands from the top of his clephant that all should hasten to
take a part in the victory. To this intent he ordered his drums
to beat. 1 adtnired Dara’s high spirit, and I noticed that the
enemy did not etir, contenting himself with a discharge of
shells until Dira had come quite close.  Then, all of a sudden,

' By the rules of [ndiay fighting, the cannon wers bound together by chaind

{sanjir-bents) 1o prevent the epemy's horse from siding betwees them amd
taughtesing the gunners.
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the enemy discharged his cannon, musketry, and swivel-pioces,
which struck us and frightened numbers of our men, who
scattered this way and that. Finding himself in imminent
peril, Dird ordered the guns to be dragged forward und the
musket-men to advance; the franguis [190] (Eurtpeans) were
also to join in the movement. But it was no longer time, for
all his men were in disarray, and everyone had taken his own
road.
In spite of all this he (Dirg) did not loze heart, but waving
his hands, made signs to continue the advance. Then Rustam
Khin and Chhatar Sal Rae, althongh they had suffered by the
first discharge from the enemy, came up and collected as many
fresh men as they could. Dard did the same, Then with
such vigour, courage, wrath, and violence did he attack his
opponents that he broke through the guns and penetrated to
their camp, putting to the rout camels, infantry, and every-
thing that was to be found in that direction.

Seeing the boldness of Dard, the enemy then sent as. fe-
inforcement a large division led by Secmir (Shekh Mir),! teacher
of Aurangzeb, and other famons captains. This body made all
haste, and at this point arose the hottest of the fighting on
both sides. At length, coming to closer quarters, they took (o
their awords with the greatest vigour. Dara continued to hold
his ground, seated on his elephant, shouting and making signs.
with his hands. He advanced always with the greatest com-
posure, until, unable to bear up sgainst this stont resistance,
the enemy was forced to retire,

I saw in this action, as in 50 many others where 1 was nfter-
wards present, that the only soldiers who fought were those
well to the front,  OF those more to the rear, although holding
their bared swords in their hands, the Moguls did nothing
bat shout * Boquox, boquox!' (Ra-Bush! ba-kushl), and the
Indians * Mar! mar!" (Mar) mar [)—that is to say, *Killl
kill 1" If those in the front advanced. those behind followed
the example, and if the former retired the others fled, a custom
of Hindtstin quite contrary to that of Eorope; and if they

" Shekh Mir. u KNWALL was kitlnd in 1lse Batile of Ajmar on the zgth Jamit 1L
babg H, (March 13, 1690, .8, [see Beale, ' Otlestal Blography, Ergd e
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begin to take to flight, by no method is it possible to stop
them,

Owing to the great disorder of his people, caused by the
valour of Dard, Aurangzeb, who was not very far away, ran
great risk of being taken. But he disregarded the danger, and
ordered a large division of his best cavalry, which was close at
hand, to take up the resistance to Dird’s advance, He tried
to raise the courage of the few soldiers left to him by calling to
the principal men, each by his name, saying, * Mardaney dela-
varam bahader vactas' (Mardani, dilmwaran-i-bahddur ! wagd
ast)—that is to say, ‘ Men of power, valoor, and courage | now
is the time{' ‘Then, raising his hands to heaven, he exclaimed :
*Hia Coda, hia Coda!" (Ya Khuda! Ya Ehuda )—0 Ged !
0 God! In you is my trust! I will sooner die on this spot
than give way., Placing his hands upon his morion, he ordered
them to attach iron chains to the feet of his elephant as an
attestation of his resolve. He pricked his elephant a little
onward to reanimate the Jeaders who had gathered round him,
all pledging him their word that they would yield their lives in
his sight, rather than recede one single step [191].

Dird's design was to continue his advance until he had closed
with Aurangzeb, and could attack him in person. But owing
to the: difficulties of the ground, and to the fatigue that over.
came him, he made a short halt. This hindered his winning
the day; for if he had kept his original rate of progress and
maintained the vigour of his onslanght, the victory was his
Anrangzeb could have made no resistance with the small force
left round him, for with a fow men it was not possible to repel
his enemy's victorious fighters, full of bravery and strength,

But Aurangzeb's lucky star worked in his favour, for while
Dara was still halted, news came to him that Chhatar Sil
Riie had been routed and killed by Najibat Kbdn's force.
Subsequently another still more unhappy report reached him
{Dard). Rustam Khin, who fought against Sultin Muhammad
and Bahidur Khan, wes also dead, and his division in disorder.
These leaders were killed by the traitors in their ranks, it being
the more easy to kill them that they were riding on high
elephants.
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Learning that the treops of the two deceased generals were
still fighting valorously, he (Dari) turned off to reinforce those
diyisions, doing his work so effectually that he routed Saltan
Mohammad and Najibat Khiin, and failed not at all in that
which is expected of a valiant general. IT that coward traitor
Khalilullah Khin had made the slightest effort in support of
his Prince Dard, there can be no doubt that this day wonld
have seen the destruction of the rebels, and have become a
consolation to Shahjahin, a glory to Dirdt, and a day of peace
for all Hindastan. For Shih Shuja’; although a valiant soldier,
had not a large urmy, nor had he much sense, and it would
have been possible to defeat him quickly, of which we will
speak hereafter (1. 226).

But it secems as if God meant to punish the sins and
lasciviousness of Shahjahin and the overweening pride of
Hinddstin, For there came once more to Dty . piece of
news still mare overwhelming—that is, the death of Ram
Singh, Kathor. This mjah attacked with such energy the
prince Murdad Bakhsh that he penetrated the enemy's ranks,
and gave them much to do. He dispersed their vanguard,
captured their artillery, und coming close up to Murad Bakhsh
with his brave Rijputs, stuck his elephant and its howdah
full of arrows, and killed the cornae, or man who guides the
elephant. Finally they plinted three arrows in the face of
Murid Bakhsh, He had as much as he could do to defend his
life, to guide his elophant, and look after his restless infant
son.  The boy was so anxious to see what was going vn that
his father was forced to cover him with his shield and place
one foot over his head.

Thero was no one else on Anrangreb's side who fought so
well as this prince. Raging at this resistance, and finding it

impossible to slay him, Ram Singh, Rithor, and same of his

Kajputs dismounted, and, like ravening dogs, leapt [1g2] on
the elephunt, hoping to sever the girths by sword-puts and
lance-thrusts, and thus bring Murid Bakbsh to the ground.
The latter, seizing the occasion, saw that he could make a
good hot, and planted un arrow in the breast of Ram Singh,
Rithor, who forthwith fall to the ground.  The elephant turned
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and seized him with its trunk, and, throwing him beneath its feet,
finished him off. Therenpon the Rijputs, seeing their beloved
captain was dead, increased in rage and fury, and battled muore
violently than ever.

Already a victor in three encounters, Dird, when he heard
this report, hastened with preater courage than ever to the re-
inforcement of the Rijputs against Murid Bakhsh. He felt
certain that if this brother wers put to death, he could easily
gain his;purpose. But his evil fate would not concede to him
the effecting of this, however great and glorious he held him-
self to be. There now cume to pass & treason that had never
besn looked for, such as none had ever seen, none could ever
have imagined. 1t was the cause of Dard's total loss and ruin,
although this did not appear at the time.

What happened was that the astute traitor Khalilullah Ehin,
nsing the pretext of a good chance of seizing Aurangzel, came
to Dard and acclaimed him as victor, and spoke to hum thus:
* 1 know well that 1 have been in many battles and campaigns,
and beheld the mighty deeds of renowned warriors, yet never
have I heard of & prince like your highness, who, appearing
for the first time in the batilefeld, accomplished such valiant
acts, One thing alone remains to display to the world your
qimlities—that is, the capture of Aurangzeb, 1 feel compussion
for the fatignes your highness has already undergone, but it
would be wrong to lose such a good opportunity. Yonder
stands Aurangzeb with a scanty following ; let us go at once
and seize him, us can be done without any difficulty. Let
your highness be pleased to descend from your elephant and
mount your horse, and ride ut the head of your own cavalry
and the squadrons committed to my charge. We will go
together to the attack. It was for this alone that 1 saved my
division, seeing that up to now there was no necessity for my
I:ngﬂging_'

Poor Dark! without fully considering what he was doing,
and what would follow when he wis no longer to be seen on
his elephant, townrds which all turned their gaze; but relying
on the soft words of the traitor Khalitullah Kliin, by which he
allowed himsell to be persuaded and deceived, he took the
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advice, as it appeared to him that what had been said was very
trug. He alighted from his elephant, and this was as if he
had quitted victory; for the soldiers and commanders, who
in the midst of the battle kept an eye on Dari, not seeing him
on his elephant, assumed that he must be already dead. For
this reason they were thrown into great confusion.

1 myself was in astomshment and in great dismay, not know-
ing what to imagine, finding all in confusion and Dira no longer
visible on his elephant ; meanwhile the whole army was flecing
to the rear, like dark clouds blown by a high wind, seeking
safety for their lives in the belief [153] that Aurangzeb, although
still at a good distance, was already upon us. Dark; on behold-
ing this great confusion and flight, fell into deep thought and
saw now the mistake he had made and the plot laid for him by
Ehalllullah Khin. He repented him of the fault, but it was too
late. Full of wrath and raging, he asked where was the traitor
Khalilullah Kbin. Let him be songht for and brought, for he
meant to slay him. But the traitor was already far ot His
lord having dismounted from his elephant and mounted his
horse, he (Ehsalllullah Khan) rejoined his division, with the
object of transferring himself and his soldiers to the side of
Aurangzeb. The soldiers who followed him did not exceed five
thousand horsemen ; the rest of those under his command werns
soldiers of King Shahjahin. But these latter fell into disorder
like the others, finding themselves without a leader to direct
them, owing to the treachery that had occurred.

These é¢vents of the battle which I have related mcuplﬂl
some three hours. The affair beginning st nine o'clock in the
morning, it was pear midday the rout took place. A great
many men and a still greater number of horses and other
ammals were killed. The reason of this was that our horses
were much out of condition, and not used to the heavy work of
a battle ; while, on the contrary, Aumngzeb’s horses were not
overfed and were nsed to work. Other causes were the great
heat prevailing, the want of water, and the excessive dost. It
seamed to me more died in this way than by injury from
weapons:

Leaving, then, the flight of Dard and my retirement from the
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field to be spoken of afterwards, let us tell now how Aurangzeb,
sesing that Dard's army was in flight, took possession of the
tents and baggage of that army. Already we have menticned
how Khalilullah Eldn deserted to Aurangzeb’s side with his
five thousand horsemen. But great was the finesse with which
he was received by Aurangzeb, now that he found his victory
was assured. When this traitor appeared, Aurangzeb struck
up bis drums in sign of victory. All the soldiers collected and
placed themselves under the orders of Aurangzeb, including
Murad Bakhsh and his troops. A few words of congratulation
were exchanged between them. Aurangzeb praised the valonr
of Murid Bakhsh, attributing to him the victory. He then
presented to him that traitor Kbalilullah Khan, and said he
was the king’s most faithful friend. It was as ‘king ' that he
addressed Murid Bakhsh whenever he had to speak to him.
Khalilollah Khan, he said, was the most loyal subject to be
found in his realm ; that he could be employed in the most
difficult matters; that he knew well the high qualities and
generasity of his king, Murid Bakhsh, and the fealty with
which he must be served.  He added words of praise for both
Muriid Bakhsh and Khalilullah Khan.

After all this, they set themselves in array and marched for
the tents and camp of Dari. Aurangzeb and Murid Bakhsh
advanced tranquilly, and when they were near, they ordered
out same horsemen and infantry to reconnoitre the tents and
dig up the ground round them to see if there were no powder-
mines laid. They feared there might be treachery.

Assured [1g4] that there was no treachery, they both ad-
vanced to the tents of Dird, and, alighting from their elephants,
entered. Aurangzeb remarked to Murid Bakhsh that it was
the first day of his reign, renewed his congratulations on the
victory, and behaved to him as to his sovereign and master.
He offered him exaggerated respect in the presence of Khali-
lullah Khin and others then present. He went through a
thousand bows and submissive gestures, just as if he were any
insignificant servint. Here once more Murad Bakhsh received
thie traitor Khalilullah Khiin with soft words and many promises.
Leaving Murid Bakhsh at Dard’s tents, everybody slse withdrew.
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Most people fathomed (he purpose of Aurangzeb, While
profeszing himself adverse to reigning and anxious to follow for
ever the observances of & holy mendicant, all he did was out of
refined policy, and only to arrive at being emperor.. When the
opportunity arose;, Murid Bakhsh would certainly be destroyed.
For this end he worked hard, writing day and night, and send-
ing letters in all directions to every viceroy and governor in the
cmpire. He took counsel with his maternal uncle, Shaistih
Khain, & man of great sense, the grentest omarao (umard, noble)
that there was in the country, This man was related to the
greater number of the nobles, and was the oldest, best known,
and best liked of them all. Aurangzeb asked him to write to
all his friends in his (Aurangzeb's) favour, and to pursue Dird
as persistently as he could. He (Aurangzeb) knew that Shiistah
Kbin would not fail to aid him, for he hated Shihjahan; and
did not love Dard, but acted in every way as Aurangzeb
desired.

Among other letters one was written by Aurangzeb to Rajab
Jai Singh, also one to Daler Khiin; these were the chief com-
manders under Sulifn Sulaimiin Shukoh and servants of Shih-
jahdn. They were given to understand that henceforth thire
was nothing to be looked for in the way of benefits from Diara.
He had already lost the battle, the last hope and only chance
he bad of reigning. The whole army of Dard had submitted to
him (Aurangzeb), and was now at his orders; D&rd was in
salitary flight, but could never escape. He must fall mto his
(Aurangzeb’s) hands, orders having issved throughout the
empire to send him back a captive. They need not refer to
Shahjahin, who was already very ill, and there was not the
slightest hope of his surviving. They could plainly see, as men
of good judgment, what course they had to adopt. If they
desired to be well treated and be among his friends, they should
listen to his advice and should bind Sultin Salaiman Shukoh
and produce him before him,

On getting this letter, Rajah Jai Singh found himself much
embarrassed, and it troubled him greatly to decide what to do
in the circumstances, He feared for the lives of Shiahjahin
and of Dird, end still more he disliked laving hands npon one
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of foyal blood. He dreaded that, sooner or later; there might
happen to him some great discomfiture, either from the old king,
from Prince Dird, or from Aurangzeb himself, The latter, as
I have seen, took the life of everyone who laid hands on on of
the blood-rayal, as 1 will tell you farther on. In addition to all
thiz, Rajub Jui Singh well foresaw that Sultan Sulaimin Shukoh
had too great courage to allow of his being taken quietly; that
he would sooner die defending himself than fall into his enemies’
hands.

He (Jai Singh) took counsel with his great [195] friend, Dler
Khiin, as to what should be done. They resolved that Rajah
Jai Singh ghould go at once to the tents of Sulaimin Shukol,
where he was swaited with great impatience. The prince bad
already heard the news of the defeat of his fther, Dard. At
the interview Jai Singh disclosed to him clearly all that was
going on, and showed him the letter received from Aurangzeb.
He veiled under this letter and the orders of Aurangzeb the
revenge he wanted to obtain on Dird for having called him a
“musician, He (Jai Singh) pointed out the danger Sulaimin
Shukols was in; that there was no remedy; that he could not
raly on the larger number of his officers, for nearly all were
traitors, He (Jai Singh) gave the advice that, with all ex-
pedition, he should flee into the mountains of Sirinagar
(Srinagar), of which I have spoken earlier (L. 147). This
was the best and safest pluce for him to slect, being a very
secure refuge. There the rajah would receive him willingly,
and thence he could watch the course of events without fear of
Aurangzel,

After this speech, Sulaimin Shukoh saw that he could rely
neither on the rajah nor on Daler Khin, the rajah's friend.
He then consulted his general, Dautean (D, 0d Khin), as to
what could be done in this extremity. This man proposed
that, on the pretext of bidding them farewell and imparting to
them some secret, they should be sent for together, As soon as
they arrived in the tent, they shonld be then and there slain, and
their troops taken over. With their united force they might
then march resolutely against Aumngzeb, and wreak vengeance
on Mim for ‘what he had done to Sulsimin Shukoh's (ather,
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Dird, If this were done, Aurangzeb could not so easily carry
out his purpose.

The advice was sagacious, but it was not kept sufficiently
secret.  The rajah learnt of it through the prince’s surgeon,
an Armenian by race, called Sikandar Beg, all of which I was
told by this very rajuh himself (Jai Singh). To carry out the
above intent Sulaimin Shukoh, his mind made up and all things
ready, ordered the rajah and Daler Khiin to be sent for with the
accustomed ceremony. But having been warned, they sent
him a private and straightforward message that their first
unswer and the advice then given were enough. Tt were well
that, with all haste, he took the road the rajah had told him of.
He must not wait for them, for their coming would be of no use
to him.

With this reply Sulaimin Shukoh lost all hope. Fearing
they might arrest him, he issued orders to load up the hest of
what he had. He took the road to the mountains, accompanied
by some men who loved him, such as eunuchs, slaves, and a
few real soldiers. With them went the Armenian who had
betrayed the secret. He stuck to the prince by reason of the
great profits he made and in the hope of increasing them. I
encountered this fellow at the court two years afterwards, and
by him 1 was tald in detail the excessive hardships which the
prince endured, as | will acquaint you later (1. 276)

The remainder of the soldiers and ofiicers either took the
road to their homes or enlisted under the rajah and Daler
Ehin. Although these men were such great captains, pawerful
and well reputed, they committed at this juncture a signal act
of baseness—they sent men to fall upon the baggage of the
fugitive prince. They robbed him of one elephant loaded [166]
with precious stones and ane loaded with golden rupees, also of
several camels bearing the greater part of the wealth that the
poor prince possessed to meet his necessities, This act cansed
great confusion among and inconvenience to the small body
that had adhered to Sulaimin Shukoh. From this moment
many abandoned him. Wherever he passed, on every route,
the villogers assassinated or stripped his people. One of two
at-a time, his followers continued to disappear, and when he
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reached the hills there remained with him under forty persons
besides his family. There the Rajah of Srinagar received him
with all possible honour and civility, assuring him of succour to
the full extent of his strength, saying that he would be as safe
there as if himself ruler of the country.

The miserable and unfortunate Dird, by a hurried flighe,
reached the gates of the Agrah fortress at nine o’clock at night,
and sought some repose.  But he did not want to enter, fearing
that Aurangzeb might invest it and thus prevent his exit, when
he would fall o prisoner and be abandoned by everyone. At the
same time he was greatly ashamed at appearing before his father.
He remeémbered that Shihjahdn had wished to be present in
the battle, but he had withheld consent, whereat he was now
exceeding sorry.  So far had he lost his wits that he knew not
what he said or did.

He sent this message to Shihjahin; his father, and his well-
beloved sister, Begam Sihib ; * What has now happened to me
is what you foretold,” He gricved them much, but as they
loved him, in place of repining at his evil fate and in spite of all
differences, the good old man, his father, sent to him a faithfal
etmuch called Faim (Fahim), to console him (Dard) and assure
him that he still cherished for him, and would for ever cherish,
the same love and strong friendship that he had always had for
him; he felt deeply the misfortune that had befallen him. But
he must not despair. There was still the other great army
under Sulaimin Shukoh; with it he could renew the attack
on the rebels, and routing them, inflict vengeance on them for
their temerity,

At the same time, Shahjahin ordered to be sent to Dird
mules laden with gold coin. He suggested his proceeding to
the city of INhii, and taking all the horses and elephants in the
toyal stables. Orders were sent to the governor of Dihli to
open the gates to Dird, and to deliver to him the fortress, with
all the treasures and otber things within it. He was to be
received with the same ceremonial and deference as if it were
e (Shahjahan) i proprid persond.  For the execution of these
orders trusty and well-known persons were sent in his suite,
carrying lettors to the above effect;  He was advised to remain
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in Dihli, and not proceed farther. He (Shahjahin) gave his
word of honour that he would do nll he could to seize and
chastise Aurangzeh. He would keep him (Dard) informed of
everything thut happened.

The eunuch delivered this speech, but INird was to such an
extent confused, enfeebled, and cast down, with his thoughts
wandering and his mind full of tribalation, that he was unable
to utter a word, and lay writhing on the ground. The eunach
tried all he could to console him, on seting him in this deep
affiiction, but he could not extract a single sensible word.

His sister, Begam Sihib, sent another faithinl eunuch to
him with same valuable jewels. She expressed her deep gref,
telling him that she was even more discomfited than he [197];
but she had not lost all hope of some day seeing him reign
peacefully—that ever would she petition God in her prayers to
look favourably on him: After this talk Dari repaired hurriedly
to his mansion, and ordered ths removal of all the precious
stones that could be curried off. At midnight be made a start,
taking with him his three wives, his daughter Jani Begom
(Jiini Begam), his little son Super Xacu (Sipihr Shukoh), and
some chosen slave-girls. On his departure for the city of Dihli
he was followed by some five hundred soidiers, for the most
part slaves of his housshold. 1t was a great affliction to see
such a down-come.

On arriving at the city of Dihli he sent at once the orders of
his father to the governor, requiring him to make over the
fortress. But the governor, already averted by the letters of
Aurangzeb, to whomn be was well affected, declined to comply
with Shahjuhin’s orders. Thus the unhappy Died was forced,
after seizing what horses there were in the royal stables, 10
resume his march and make for Lahor. _

Seeing our total defeat, 1 made in haste for the city of ign!l-
where [ arrived at ten o'clock at night. The whole city was it
an uproar, for a Portuguese called Antonio de Azevedo, who
early in the battle had witnessed the plunder of the baggage.
rode off at full speed.  On arriving at the city of Agrah at two
a'clock in the afternoan, his horse foll dead at his door.  Thus
the news began to spread that Dird had lost the battle, and the
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confusion was increased by Diird's own arrival. The curiosity
of everyone was aroused to know how the defeat had happened,
and men asked each passer-by about the safety of his master.
This happened to me. An old woman asked me what had
become of Khalilullah Khin, Owing to the rage 1 was in at
his treachery, I replied at once that 1 was present when he was
torn to pieces. The old woman was very dizconsclate, and
hastening her steps, went off to give this news at his house.
Much weeping and lamenting was caused thereby, they sup-
posing it to be the truth, for I had entered into some details on
purpose.

On learning that Diard was resuming his journey and making
for Dihli, 1 decided that very instant upon rejoining him. But
my steed wits so worn out that he could hardly stand, just as
were those of everyone who reached the city that night, [
decided to take a rest for twenty-four hours; and after that to
start and go in search of Dird.

Aurangzeb showed no want of promptitude in carrying out
his designs. Within twenty-four hours he despatched Bahidur
Ehin with several troops of cavalry 1o occupy the road to and
from Agrab on the west. This was to hinder anyone following
Darda. Asa result, the first men to take to the road before the
day dawned, among them several Europeans, found free pas-
spge; but the rest, not knowing that Bahidor Khin was
already in position, started on the journey, only to be plundered
of all they carried and sent away with a good beating, coming
back to the city.

Without knowing these facts, at nine o'clock in the moming
I made a start, riding my horse, followed by a loaded camel
and some servants. Issaing from the city, 1 saw several
squadrons dispersed in the plain.  As I imagined these to be
otir men, I decided to join them. Then [ saw that a body of
some five hundred horsemen with its communder was bearing
down upon me. On its drawing near, the leader advanced
from it, attended by two horsemen. When quite close [198]
he asked me lovingly where I was going. 1 replied without
subterfuge that | was on my way to find my master, Diri.
He took compassion on my youth and innocence, and said to

VOL. L 19



%0 OF THE KING SHAHFAHAN

me that if T followed his adviee, 1 should return home, for if
I proceeded farther 1 ran great risk of losing my life This
captain was so generous that, to protect me, he escorted me
safely to my honse.

If he had not done this, there can be little doubt 1 sheuld
have been plundered by others posted on the road, or even by
his own soldiers, who betrayed every desire to plunder me had
he not prevented them. Seceing me into my house unharmed,
he advised me oot to leave it again, The government had
already changed hands, and Aurangzeb was victor, For that
time 1 had escaped, and 1 looked out for a safer oppartunity to
start in gearch of Dird, for whom I had a great affection. 1f
Aurangzeh had not barred the way, all Dird’s people would
have gone on to rejoin him.  But they could not then do it a5
I have told you, for they came in tired out by their flight, end
their horses quite exhausted.

I remained in the city of Agmh, and observed the way in
which Auvrangzeb forwarded his designs. For on the eighth af
the month of June, one thousand six hundred and fifty-six
(correctly, 1658), four days after the battle, Aurangzeb and
Murid Bakhsh arrived at Agrah. They posted their army close
to a garden called Zafaribad (Ja'faribad or Zafardbad) near the
city, at a distance of two miles. Thence Aurnngzeb sent his
ennuch, called Fahim, an able, astute, and loyal person, to
visit his father, carrying a thousand beautiful protestations of
love and submission. He professed to be much affected by
what had passed, his éxcuse being that the ambitions and evil
theughts of Dard had forced him into resorting to all these
extremities.  As for the rest, he was highly elated at the good
news of his (Shahjahian's) better health. He was now at the
capital, ready to receive and obey his orders.

The eunuch Fahim made no stint, either of obeisances or of
soft and humble spesches. He dwelt on the goodwill and
exctllent intentions of Aurangzeb. Nor, on the other h‘-'-":d'
was Shihjshin wanting in a plentiful display of loving sates-
faction. Desirous of kesping on the throne, he resarted to wiles,

! The ' ‘Alamgimimab,’ page 112, line 3.55ys the camp was a1 the pardan
{Migh) hriows as Nitr Manzil. The site of Il in incioded in the prosmt cantpament.
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for he knew the character and hidden malice of Aurangzeb.
He never forget the words said to him by the fagir, that he
must not put trust in Aurangzeb, nor in his soft words.

Therefore he devoted himself to searching for & plan to
remedy his present evil case. He thought first of coming out
and passing through the city; to find out whether his generals
maant to succour him.  But he saw perfectly that it was already
too late: all of them bad gone over to Aurangzeb. Even if the
city residents were willing to join him, he saw clearly that
nothing could be effected through them, If the citizens were
like those of Europe, there can be not the least doubt that they
could have at that time given Aurangzeb plenty of occupation.

Finally, Shahjahin came to the determination to play a
‘wame of finesse with Aurangzeb, o supreme master in that line.
To this end he =ent & eunuch called Almes (Almas) with a
stntement that he knew well enongh the evil condition and
small capacity of Dari. He was delighted at the arrival of his
son Aurangzeb, and cut of the special love he bare to him, he:
liad granted him the vast territories of the Dakhin. He had &
gredt longing to converse with him in person, and communicate
10 him several plans that must be carried out to repress the
disorders in the empire [1gg], and he was awaiting his appear-
ance, having the greatest longing to emhrace him.

All this was said to draw Aurangzeb into the fortress; and
without & shadow of doubt he meant to murder him if he went
there, He had previously made all preparations in secret.
There were many strong-limbed Tartara (Tétar), Calmaca
(Qalmiqg), and Osbeca (T zbak) women in his guard, all skilled
it the use of arms. These would have slain Aumngzeb with
their matchlocks, arrows, and swords.  But the wily Aurangzeb,
the very quintessence of deceit, quite foresaw that he ought not
to trust in the words of Shihjahin, and knew thoroughly that
Begam 5abib, very fond of Dir, and always present with her
father, would never cease exerting herself in every possible way
for his (Dara's) cause as against him (Avrangzeb). He had no
need of listening to words; what he had to do was to obtain
mastery over the realm withont delay, Thus he declined 1o
risk himself,

1g—2
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All the same, he never ceased to spread the rumour, one day
after another, that he was going to see Shahjahiin, When the
appointed day arrived, there arose some excuse to put it off to
another date. In this way he went on from day to day pest-
poning the date of the visit. Meanwhile, he continued in secret
to seduce by soft words the greater nobles at the court. In the
end, having everything thoroughly ready in secret; he wasina
position to carry oot what he had planned. When everybody
was looking for the visit to be paid, Aurangzeb ordered his son
Sultin Mubammad to assume command in his (Aurungzeb’s)
name at the office of the cotual (kofwal), who is the chiel
magistrate ruling over the whole city. Under cover of this
movement, he was to rush on and encircle the fortress, and
allow no one to enter.

Shahjahin was thrown into dismay at finding himself all ofa
sudden invested—above all, when he found that Aurangzeb
and all his men were posted opposite the fortress, near the tomb
of Taia-mahal (Taj Mabal or Mumtiz Mahal), the wife of
Shihjahan, of which place 1 have already spoken (L. ra2zk
When Aurangzel had arrived here, Shaistah Khin and Muham-
mad Amin Khin, son of Mir Jumlah, with many others then in
the city, went forth to receive him. They offered him costly
presents, and congratulated him on his great success, all of
them in high spirits at seeing what they bad so keenly desired:

I do not know that among the men of any standing there were

more than two not included in the ranks of the traitors, These
were Danijbad can (Danishmand Kbn)! the greatest scholar
in the empire, and Mecoromean (Mukarram Khin), physician

* Mulla Shafta, Yaedi, Danshmand Kidn, came 1 Indis ro practiss mdicine,
and! was taken |nto Shabjabin's service in the twenty.lourth year (e 1080
Io the thirtyfrst yenr he bl rises 10 be Mir Bubbuhi, with ibe muk of 3,000
(Beo horse), Ha died oo the 1oth Rabi' 'L, 108: H [July a8, 1650) [*Hl-illi{“'_":
Umats,’ i, 308 -Ho wan Bamior's patson (e Travds, gl For “lgkanum
freleered to agaibe in Past 11, ful. 441, we dieuld probaldy pead * Tagarmb" Eh2a
([lakim DAad)  Ho wea physician to Shilhjahin &t Agrah, and died sarly in
1o75 H., wlich began gn Aogusi 55, 3082 {* Ma Sgic-al-1imark;" L 490) ‘Thet
are alio detalls of [fakim 14,004's career | Kewnl Ram's * Tagkisat-ul-Umari’
Biritish Massum Addithonsl MS., 16,903, fol b, 18 bs thero sald that ho rld‘lll
hin uffices im the G year of Autsngeeb: he had come from lrsn ln the
sevente=nih yemr of Shilijubin (e 1610
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of Shihjahin, natives of Persia, who both stopped at home and
declared their nentrality.

Poor Shihjshan found himsell in the fort with no one except
Assetean (Asad Khan), of whom 1 will say more presently (1. z01).
He came forth from his paluce and went the rounds in the fort,
and gave orders to equip such fighting men as there were, and
got ready his artillery.  On noticing that Aurangzeb's men were
closing in, he ordered them to be fired on ; he had by this time
given up all hope of the interview for which he had been waiting.
But Anrangzeb paid no heed to these shots, and want on with
his advance, taking possession of the whole city. He posted his
forces beneath the walls of the fort, inder cover of the raws of
houses that surrounded it.

Althoogh  already caught as in & cage, Shahjshin never
desisted from firing his guns and his musketry to hold back the
investing force from nearer approach. But no dumage was
‘dane, the enemy being safely under cover, and without need to
return the fire.  The guns were loaded and discharged for three
days and three nights, making & great noise. At theend of that
time the artillerymen, at whose head was the man called Rabin
Simitt (? Reuben Smith) [200], an Englishman, commenced to
escape, descending the walls by ropes.  They had been bribed
by Atrangzeb, who communicated with them by letting fly an
arrow into the fort.  The remainder of the garrison, when they
saw the departure of the artillerymen, lost heart, and began ulso
to plan the means of fight.

At this time Agrangzeb sent in a petition to Shihjihan,
making excuses for the delny there had been in coming to pay
his visit. He made use of the protext that he had been ill, that
he was unable to come, and that meanwhile, against his will, his
restless soldiers had taken the initiative. Now he begged leave
to send his son Soltin Muhammad to visit him, and pay to him
his miost humble respects. Then, restored to health, as would
soon be the case, he would be able to perform this duty in
person.

Shahjahin agreed to this proposal, in the hope of still
executing his project. To this intent he made ready many
lengths of valuable cloth to be presented to Suliin Mubammad,
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who was to be received with great pomp. He wanted to see if
by this method he could draw Aorangzeb. But that Machia.
velli was very far [rom having that sort of fecling. His orders
to Sulidn Mubammad were, on the contrary, that on reaching
the gate of the fort, he should enter promptly, and securs the
entrance. Then he should bring in all his men, killing anyone
that resisted. These instructions were carried out by his son,
without omitting a single point.

Shahjahin was greatly amazed at this treachery, being then
in his palace amid his women, over two thousand in number,
all resolved to die in defence of thair lord. From this canse
Aurangzeb did not push matters farther, fearing that there
might happen to him some misfortune in carrying to the end
his design. He knew the proverb: * Quem todo quer, todo lo
perde* [ He who wants everything loses everything '—or the
French : * Qui trop embrasse, mal entrain.'] He sent word to
his father that he should take his ease in his harem, that he was
no longer in a state to tule, that he should enjoy himself with
his ladieés and abandon all anxisty. For he (Aurangseb) took
the whols weight of the empire on himself, When Aurangzeb
effected this project Sh&hjahiin was sixty-one years of age, and
had reigned thirty-two years and three months.!

Finding that by this time it was no longer in his power to do-
anything likely to secure his liberty, Shahjahin invented 2 plot
which, if successful, would have been the overthrow of Aurang-
zeb. Thus was necessity a subtle counsellor. His device was
to send for Sultin Mubammad to his presence, on the pretest
that, finding him so able, he intended to make him king. The
prince would never fail with such a bait to come to the palace
without an hour's delay, and would never neglect this excellent
chatice of getting the crown from the hands of his grandfather,
coupling with it a deed pleasing to God and the whole world by
setting free one unjustly oppressed.  But Sultin Mubammad,

! Shihjahin was born on the 13t Rabv 11, tooo H. January 16, 1593, N3,
and succeaded his fatber on the Sth Janmda 1., ioyy H. (Februaary 14, 16a8, X5
He was deposed, according to Eiphinstous, o the pgth Ramassin, 1068 H
(June 15, 1658, N.S.). Thos, be was sixty.eight and o bl lonse, and sixtyss
and & hall salar, yeurs of ygo, and bad reigoed thinyone yeary thres m‘h
pine days (or thinty rulnlnufmlhﬂ‘wd:yq, at the time of his deposition.
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& man of sense, was not carried away by the words of his grand-
father. He knew certainly that all his own leaders and the
majarity of men in the city were well affected to Aurangzeb, his
father, since they had invited [zo1] him to come. If he ut-
tempted what his grandfather proposed, he would fall into the
same condition as the old man. Thus he declined to listen to
or accept the proposal, nor did he set foot within the palace.
He sent instead o rough answer that he had no orders from his
father sither to visit or to listen to him. He had injunctions
not Lo return without liringing the keys of all the gates of the
furtress,

Shahjahan did not lose his wits, but replied that his grandson
could come freely and in all security into the palace. He
longed to embrace him, and into his hands he would deliver
the keys, not only of the fortress but of all the empire, making
over the erown to him. But Sultan Mubammad persisted in
his resolve, and replied that those words were mere vanity; it
was no longer the time to talk thus, Let him send the keys,
unless he wanted to be reduced to a worse state.  Finding him
thus resolute, Shihjahin made op his mind to send the keys.
For he observed the great activity of Sultan Muhammad and
the people under him. They allowed no food-supplies to pass.
The people inside suffered hunger and thirst, and little by little
they were forced to abandon the post they occupied near the
private apartments, which is called the *Am chai® (7 *Am-Khas),
where Shihjahiin gave andience.

Finding himself in this plight and without any security. for
his person, be sent the keys. His determination was that if the
enemy advanced farther, he would elect to die by force, with
the women, eunuchs, and Asad Khdn. The latter declined to
leave his king, and kept the doar to the harem, just as if he
were 1 humble servitor. This he did out of the great affection
and loyalty that he had for Shihjahin.

When he sent the keys, Shihjahin forwarded -a message for
Aurangzeb that he must come to see him at once: he had business
of very great importance to consult him upon. He hoped thus
to get him into the harem and assassinate him. But Aurangzeb,
sugucious, able, and quick-witted, only laughed at such words,
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He sent instead & trusty eunuch that Shahjahan had given him
long before, called Atharcan (Itibir Kbdn). This man now
succeeded in shutting up Shahjahin in his harem with Begam
Sahib and the rest of the women, remoeving Roshan-ir3 Begam,
the beloved sister of Aursngzeb, who was despatched with grest
pomp.

Then I'tibir Kb@in caused many gates and wickets to be built
up, posting here and there harsh women guardians in such a
way that Shihjahin could neither speak nor write to any
stranger, nor come oul from the door of his harem to enjoy
a stroll in his garden without the eunuch’s leave. Even here
Aurangzeb’s astuteness did not end. As justification for his
#cts, and to turn away the people from Shahjuhan, he prepared
a forged letter in his (Shahjahin's) name. It was addressed to
Dira, and advised him not to go very far away from Agrah; for
already the time was near when he would see his rebellious and
inimical brothers slain by the very hunds of him whose misfortune
it was to be their father, those monsters filled with the basest
barbarities. Soon Aurangzeb and Murid Bakhsh would come
to visit him ; they would enter alive, but never come out on
their own feet. They would be carried out by the hands of
others bearing them to burial. ‘Then if he (Dara), his faithfil
and only son, would come to Agrah, he could enjoy and rule
over the empire.

This forged letter was brought to Auranpzeb when he was
giving audience, and many people were present at court. It was
opened [202] by Shiistah Khfin, On hearing its contents,
Aurangzeb feigned comsternation, and his face blanched; he
began striking the ground with his feet and beating his pillows
with his open hand ; he made display of the greatest térror, asat
some most displeasing news, and betrayed all the signs of having
learnt of some preat treachery. He held his head down in
thought, and then dirceted the lotter to be read aloud; and after
that tald them to give it to anyone who wanted to read it for
himself. By these actions everybedy was greatly terrified.
Then, resuming his wiles, Aurangzel expressed his desire to see
his father, and =3id the letter might be a forgery., Thereapon
the great men in attendance urged that his highness should not
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run any such risk. But he, multiplying his devices, would not
be appeased.

He (Aurangzeb) directed the votes of all at court to be taken
whether it was advisable or not for him to pay this visit. All
with one eonsent replied that it was undesirable, nor would they
ever cansent to it. At this answer he pretended to be very hurt
and aggrieved, though inwardly rejoicing.  He decided to write
a note to his father, which he caused to be read out to the whale
court before he sealed it. Among other arguments this note
stated that he knew of a certainty that, in spite of all the
great protestations of esteem made to him, and the displeasure
declared against Dard, and all the warm affection said to be
retained for him (Aumngzeb), he (Shibjahiin) had nevertheless
made over to Dard on his leave-taking mule-loads of gold coin,
simply to pay a new force to oppose him (Aurangzeb). But,all
the same, he (Aurangzeb) would never desist until he had
captured Diri, the cause of all these troubles. After this
design was achieved, on that very same day, he would un-
doubtedly visit Shihjahin, and submit to him like an obedient
son.  Furthermore, he besought him to pardon him, and not to
persist in his anger. When he had crushed the power and
overeome the ill designs of Dird, he would himself throw open
the doors and make him lord and master, as before.

At ane time [ knew some women left to serve Shihjahan and
Begam Sdhib, whose business it was to receive and reply to
letters and notes arriving from outside. They assured me that
such a letter never reached the court of Shiahjshan. Anrangzeb
startad these stories solely to the end of conciliating the people
and excusing his deceptions. He wanted to place the culpa-
bility upon Shihjahiin and Dard, and to prove that all the
tyranny employed against his father was amply justifiable.

At this time there happened a ridiculous occurrence, known
to everybody., Begam Sibib's musician, calied Dulerdi, secing
that Shahjahin and Begam Sahib were prisoners, and there was
no hope of getting the accustomed presents, planned the acquisi-
tion of new friends. He went to see several of Murad Bakhsh's
commanders, and was well received, for he could sing to perfec-
tion. Being in merry mood, the wine began to go round.
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Dulesd, already heated, ran down the wine they gave him. He
ordered his servants to fetch some more exquisite wine, such as
he always drank.

The officers noticed the grand ways of the musician; and
when the wine arrived, they found it was in bottles of gold and
enamel, adorned [203] with precious stones, such as the officers
themselves did not possess. Dulerdi exalted himself a good deal
in his talk, assuming to be the equal of the officers.  Secing so
much impudence and assumption, and also moved by the envy
and resentment they felt towards Hepam Sibib, they had him
bound, and stripping him of his trousers, forced a lighted night-
lamp into his anus, leaving it to burn until the musician begged
pardon for his transgressions. They sent him off with blows
and kicks. This ocourrence made him lower the lofty ideas that
he had, and retiring to his house he stayed there until his deuth,
and never appeared again.

Finding himself already practically with control over all the
nobles at court, and Shihjahin securely lodged in prisom,
Aurangzeb appointed his maternal uncle, Shiistah Ehin,
governar of the city of Agrah, Taking out of the treasury
whatever money he wanted, he and Murad Bakhsh started m
pursuit of Dard., The latter was already in Lahor rdising
a new army, having lost all hope of aid from Sulaimas
Shukaoh. '

On the day that the two armies quitted Agrah, which was in
the beginning of June, 1 disguised myself as a holy mendicant
and joined their tmin, meaning to stick to the service of Dard.
The eunuch Shahbaz and the more intimate friends of Murad
Bakhsh: advised him to allow Aurangzeb to go after Dard
by himzelf, while he should conduct an investment of Agrah and
1hli with hic army, which was already far larger than before.
But, not perceiving the finessing and wiliness of Aurangzeb, he
relied on the promises and oaths of fidelity which had been
made to him upon the Alcorad (the Quran). He neglected 10
listen to these faithful men, and allowed himself to be played
with by that fabricator and decelver.

The two armies took the route for Dihli, the one at a distance
from the other of & short mile or s0.  They marched along the
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bank of the river Jamnah until they wens near to an ancient
Hindd town called Matord (Mathur), distant eighteen leagnes
from Agrah, where there is an imposing temple. During the
march a great number of Dird’s men came in, and several of
the defeated officers.  These sought service with Muarid Bakhsh,
and he granted them high pay. Daler Khan also arrived, he
who had deserted Sulaimin Shukoh. He visited Aurangzeb,
whopaid him a thousand civilities, and gave him many presents
with an increase of pay. Jai Singh departed for his own
territories.

On the way Aurangzeh omitted nothing in pretended: defer-
ence and consideration for Murdd Bakhsh. He sent him
several times during the day men with quantities of fruit and
choice flowers, repeating that he must prepare himself; for, in
u few days' time, he meant to crown him (Murad Bakhsh) king.
To this intent he ordered to be made ready a number of new
tents, mmiment, jewels, caparisoned elephants and horses. He
also ostentationsly began to collect food to be cooked in his
kitchen, sweetmeats, several kinds of scent, and flowers, Orders
were given to all the dancing-women and musicians to prepare
and hold themselves in readiness.

I noticed that in Aurangzeb’s srmy there was a great deal of
secret confabulation with nods and metaphors (a2 habit very
common in Hindistin), such as * The tiger big with young
will soon bring forth, or, as others said, ‘ The sick man can
nevet recover.’ Thus the intention of Aurangzeb was suffici-
ently obvious to his people. But in the army of Murad Hakheh
there was nothing but music, dancing, wine-bibbing, and
revelry,  Still, many friends of Murid Bakhsh, and, above all,
the eunuch Shahbaz, pressed on him that Aurangzeb had evil
designs ¢ that without a doubt there would be some trickery ;
they had information from several sources that Aurangzeb
was setting some trap for him. Bot he (Murid Bakhsh), in-
futuated [204] with the lying words of his brother, and intoxi-
cuted with power, paid no heed to such advice, holding the
erronedus opinion that his brother's oaths were sincere, and his
soft words the duughters of truth.

Before reaching Muthurd, Aurangzeb selected a place called
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Coliquigat (Koli-ki-ghat)! It was spacious, open, and every
way suited for such a joyful day as a corunation; both by the
loveliness of the country and the charms of the river. The
latter seemed by the murmurs of its waters either to réjoice at
the good luck of Aurangzeb, now almest arrived at the accom-
plishment of his purpose, or to weep over the disenchantment
of Murid Bakhsh, When he was looking forward to being
crowned, surrounded by the nobles and generals in his service
and subjection, Murdd Bakhsh found himself instsad in the hands
of the soldiers of retributory justice, and was made to pay the
penalty of his obstinacy. For he would not listen to his faith-
ful advisers, who said they were certain of Aummngzeb's ewl
designe

On the 15th of June, after a halt of four days at the above
place,* Aurangzeh sent his son Sultin Mubammad and all the
great captains to invite Murdd Bakhsh to visit his camp, where
his desire would be fulfilled, and the pledge given him redesmed
by his being crowned as king. The said day was prononneed
by the astrologers to be propitions. Then Murad Bakhsh
armanged to start, never imagining that a prison awaited him.
But the faithful Shahbaz and other officers entreated him to
send an excuse for that day, informing Aurangzeb that he hail
a slight ailment, and that another day must be fixed. In
the interval he could make more certain of what Aurangzeb
was working for. Several of Aurangzeb’s officers continued
their visits, and through them he could find out the truth.
But he would not listen to them any more, and the advice was
thrown away, for Prince Murad Bakhsh had no distrust of

' Through the indness of Mr. H. C Ferard, collestor of Mathors, o
obtzined a mant Intereting kentification of this place by S, M, Abslil Haill, th
sonior Government pleader iliere. The Kolf gh3, ve crossing, les stk miles
suth of Mathnrs, and a littlo over a mile fram the moderm Aurstgibad vt tho
Agralt road, where the stables erscted by Aurangzeh will esisr.  The inhabitints
=y that Aorungibid was the sits of the camp, and that the Empercr arcctad 4
momue, and gave the villags it present name,

* Bernier gives oo day, but the ““Aamyirnimah,” p, 138, top [ine] has the
ith Shawwil. 1068 H. (July 3, 16s5). The ' Tarikl b Mobnmmadi,* year 1075 H.,
@yt on besmsay asthority that Mirid Sudhah was killed sl Guwallyar by
Aurzngzeb’s order, on Wednesday, the 21t Rahi* 1L, tbyy H. (Degembes 33
166a).  He wan thirty-eighs,
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Aurangzeh. More fixed than ever in his purpose, and relying
on the cath of his bmother, he mounted his horse, and set out
for the tents of Aurangzel, attended by Shahbaz and other
officers.

At a short distance from his tents he was met by an officer,
Ibrdhim Khin! This was the man who advised Dird, after
the river passage had been forced, to send off twelve thousand
cavalry against Aurangzeb, as 1 have related (L. 18s). After a
salutation he approached, and laying hold of the prince's reins,
asked in & low voice, with a perturbed face, where he was
going. Murdd Bakhsh replied very quietly that he was on his
way to declare himsell absolute monarch. The officer replied :
*1 rejoice greatly ; but what is the necessity for your highness
to go to another’s house, when with greater security you can
carry it out in your own?' Saying this, he gently turned
Murad Bakhsh's horse round. But he in a rage resumed his
course, and the officer, seeing the deliberate resolve and deter-
mination of the prince, said aloud: * Your majesty is on your
way to prison.! Hearing this, Shahbaz would not lose this
oceasion, and drawing up to his master, prayed him for the
love of God and the great Muhammad to be pleased to accept
the advice of the officer. But Murid Bakhsh laid his hand
on his sword, and exclaimed: * Asman que si bahader nis’
(Az man kase bahadur nist)—that is to say, ‘ None is braver than
[am'

He went on until he reached the entrance to the tent of
Aurangzeb. At this moment the gizi came out, and while
making a lowly reverence, whispered: * With your feet you
have come,’ meaning thereby that when he came out it would
b against his will. But He, bewitched by the friendliness of
Aurangzeb, did not pause to reflect, but wont within, Aurangzeb
now multiplied his wiles, and came out to greet him, along
with Sec Mir (Shekh Mir)? and his brother, Amircan (Amir
Ehin), and other officers, his intimates and devoted followers,
handsamely attired, and with beaming faces. Embracing him,
he (Aurangzeb) expressed the abundant love he bad for him,

! Ibemlilen Khfa, an of *All Mardin Khin, as the passago on fol. 135 shows
% For Shegl Mir. see footnowe 10 1, fol. 4
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cajoling him [205] with obsequious bows and many expressions
of civility. Leading him to a great and handsome seat, he
prayed him to be seated, and drove away the flies by agitating
a handkerchief gently before his face, wiping away the sweat
and the dust, and treating him throughout as king and lord.

Then there appeared men and women musicians, and during
their singing flowers were scattered and rose-water sprinkled
everywhere | also many scents and perfumes were employed.
Outside the tents different instruments struck up, and within
were the dances of the ballet girls. At all this Murid Bakhsh
was elated and pleased, as if already in enjoyment of the first-
fruits of his glory. Three hours after his arrival, when it may
have been two o'clock in the afternoon, they began the feast.
Aurangzeb had beforehund ordered his officers to invite those
of Murad Bakhsh to their tents, and the whole night was spent
in mirth. Word of all this passed through the camp, and
Murad Bakhsh's soldiers, seeing that their officers had settled
down to a night of festivity, on their side made plans to go ont
in search of supplies and forage for their horses.

Muriid Bakhsh was left with no one but his eunuch, Shahbiz,
who all the time he was dining stood ut his back fully armed.
Then they began to eat and drink. All Aumngzeb’s officers
stood serving and pouring oot wine for Murid Balkhsh, while
Aurangzeb offered him different dishes and acted as his table
servant.  All this was done with much dissimulation and great
efforts to please. The meal lasted for two hours. At the end
of it Aurangzeb said to his brother that he must take a rest,
while he (Aurangzeb) made ready the throne, and ascertained
from the mathematicians (astrologers) the exact moment for
taking his seat thercon, when he would come in person (o
awake him.

The hapless prince retired to another room to take some
repose, and found there a beautiful waman, with whom be
wanted to toy; but the eunuch, Shahbiz, forbade him, and
turnied the woman out. Sleep soon fell upon him, for_he was
heavy with wine, and Shahbaz, seating himself, kneaded his
master’s feet, and kept an eye fixed on the door. In a short
time he saw Aurangzeb come omt ulone from another door
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opposite, in white shirt and drawers and a plain eap. With
head bent and smiling, he advanced very deliberately, pulling
at his beard, just as if he wanted to ask Shahbliz something.
When at a little distance from the door, he halted, and raising
his head, made a sign with his hand to the eunuch for him to
approach, as if he wanted to get his opinion on some point.
Poor Shahbdz hastened to obey, hut bardly had he pat his
head outside the door, when four men seized him by the
shoulders and lifted him off his feet, 50 that he could neither
shout nor use his weapons. Then forthwith strangling him,
they buried him without a sound.

Oppressed by wine, Murad Bakhsh went on sleeping. But
Aurangzeb was wide awake. His brother having been deprived
of his faithful eunuch, he felt sure of his plan socceeding.
Still, to make assurance doubly sure, he sent for his son, Sulifin
A'zam, then six or seven years of age! and living in the harem.
Whenthe boyappeared, he showed him quietly a lovely ornament,
and told him if he would carry off his sleeping uncle's aword
without rousing him, he should receive the jewel. This was
done so that if Murdd Baklish should wake, he wounld see that
he who had roused him was an innocent child, and would
suspect no evil.

The boy, to gain the reward, went cantionsly into his uncle's
room and silently drew away the sword from his [206] side,
and made it over to his father. Again he showed the boy
another jewel, and said he should get it if be went once more
and took away the dagger also. Highly delighted, the child
went in as he had done before, and carried off the dagger also.
Poor Murdd Bakhsh was now unarmed, and without a defender.
Pleased at finding himself master of the arms, of the army, and
of the person of Murad Bakhsh, Aurangzeb drew a deep breath
of joy and relief ut the finish of his lubours, cunning plots, and
anxieties,

Then be called in the men hidden for the purpose, and
ordered them to bring in the fetters already lying ready for

¥ Mukamtiad A% was bors on the teth Sha'bln, ofy H. (Dotober 15,
165y, N.8.), and thereforo his age was fouwr years seven monthe sl fwaeniy-
mighl dayy on June 13, 1653
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use, Some, on the other hand, want o make out that these
fetters were of silver, intended by Aurangzeb to terrify his
son Suoltin Mubammad if he were disobedient. Six men went
into the room where Murid Bakhsh was, and, laying hold of
hia feet forcibly and disrespectfully, began to place on them
the fetters. This was very different from what the eunuch
Shahbiz nsed to do : he used to waken him by gentle pressure
on the feet. Torning his body hastily, and not seeing his
eunuch, but unknown men with fetters in their hands and
angry faces, Murad Bakhsh reached out hastily to the place
where his weapons had been. But, finding himsell deprived
of all resource, he lost heart, and, becoming aware from that
moment of his treacherous hetrayal, he allowed his feet to be
held, and made no movement while they put on the fettess.
Then with bent head he muttered: *This is the word and
cath sworn to me on the Qurin.' Some men have asserted
to me that, if Aurangzeb had failed in this plan, he had
resolved and determined to take his brother's life by violence
that very day.

The project had been kept so secret that no one had an idea
of what was passing. To mislead everyone still further,
Aurangzeb ordered the instruments to strike up anew, both
within and without. The whole army, hearing once more
those strains of gladness, supposed that the festivities had
been renewed and would Jast all night, as is commonly the
practice in Hinddstin. Thus the soldiers took upon them-
selves to seek such diversions as they pleased, und dispersed
in all directions. All this was done by Aumngzeb with the
object that, having scattered and sought repose, the soldiers
should be prevented from suspecting what he bad on hand.
He was a little afraid that Murid Balhsh's soldiers, on heanng
of the treachery, might not break out into mutiny, He also,
for the same reason, strengthened the guards round his owp
tent.

When it was six o'clock in the evening, there appeared sll
of o sudden two elephants with covered howdahs, such 85
nre used for harem ‘women, with an escort of four thousand
cavalry armed with sword and lance, under the command of



MURAD BAKHSH IMPRISONED 24

Daler Khan, who had lately joined. There were other four
thousand horsemen, armed in the same way, under the com-
mand of Bahidur Khiin, foster-brother of Aurangzeb. Enter-
ing the tent enclosures, one body from the east and the other
from the west, Murdd Bakhsh was fastened upon the elephant
brought in on the cast nnder the orders of Daler Khin. After
a brief defay there issued from the enclosure [207] the closed
howdahs, one towards Dihli and the other towards Agrah.
Each was escorted by one of the squadrons already alluded
to, and they travelled with celerity.

This invention was to leave everyone in doubt, so that they
conld not decide upon which elephant Muorad Bakhsh was
mounted, should they intend any outbreak. The whole business
was carried out with the greatest secrecy. The hour of might
was alzo chosen, in order that if anyone attempted a rising it
could not easily be carried out; the time of feasting was
chosen because Murid Bakhsh's officers were at the tents of
others, separated from their soldiers. Therefore, if any officer
well affected to Muorid Bakhsh should attempt anything in
defence of his master, be would be stopped by his (Aurang-
zeb’s) adherents, to whom he had pronnsed many and valuable
presents if they allowed no one to issue from their tents

On the departare of those two elephants from the camp, the
soldiers suspected some treachery, and there arose . great con-
fusion, as they knew not what mystery lay hidden under the
sending-off of those two clephants escorted by the troops of
cavalry., Then there came out several horsemen and some
men on foot, shotting loudly : * Long live King Aurangzeb !'
adding that all those in the service of Shahjaliin, of Dard, and
of Murad Bakhsh who were willing to enlist under King
Aurangzeh would abtain double pay. Murdd Bakhsh's officers,
who were feasting, were disturbed in mind and tried to get
away, but Aurangzeb’s officers laid hold of their bands and
advized them not to expose themselves to any risk, but to
accept the pay promised by Aurangzeb, They should not, they
told them, go in search of death for a cause already beyond
thaie help, for so had Murad Bakhsh decreed.

The officers and soldiers spent that night in great anxiety,

voL, L. 20
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knowing not what course to pursue. By the time moming
dawned they accepted the proposals of Aurangzeb. The latter
took possession of all the wealth and forces of Murdd Bakhsh,
All his wives, sons, and daughters, and all his dependents were
sont to the fortress of Dihli. The orders given to Daler Khin,
who went in charge of Murad Bakhsh, were that, on getting
near to Dihli, he should uncover the howdah, and in that con-
dition enter into the city. The prince was to be cartied to the
stronghold of Selimguer (Salimgarh), built long ago by King
Selim Xa (Salim Shith) of the Pathén race. This place isin the
middle of the river Jaumnah, close to the Royal Fortress newly
reconstructed by Shithjahin, and ealled Xaaianabet (Shihjabin-
abad). You cross to it (Salimgarh) by a great bridge, which
stands between the one fortress and the other.

It was very pitiful to see poor Murid Bakhsh make this
miserable entry into Dibli visible to all, his face dejected,
wearing a blue turban ill put on; behind him an executioner
with a naked sword in his hand, ready upon any attempt at
rescue to cut off his head. Daler Ehin followed at the rear
of Murdd Bakhsh upon another elephant, an arrow ready in
his bow. Thus, too, rode the troopers of his squadrons, and
it seemed as if some criminal were being borne to the scafiold.
Thus was this unfortunate prince taken into the fortress afore-
saidl with great precautions, and it was ordered that poppy-
witer be given him to drink to deprive him of his seases.

At this juncture Aurangzeb disclosed his motive for usserting
himself to be and pretending to be a poor mendicant [208]:
it was only to secure an easier nccess to the emperor’s sealy
and mislead everyone. For, hardly had Murad Bakhsh fallen
into his hands, Dira and Solaiman Shukoh been defeated, and
his father imprisoned, than he proclaimed himself emperor.
He conferred many distinctions and gifts-on the men of Shib-
juh@in, Dira, Murdd Bakhsh, and Sulaimén Shukch who came
over to his side, thereby the more easily to gain their adherence
and attach them more strongly to his interests. Thus he
became at once master of 4 great army. :

Beholding all this, and hearing that Dara had decided to
raise u fresh army in the province of Lahor, T started as &
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humble mendicant for the city of Dihli. There I remained
some fifteen days, awaiting the sssembling of more travellers.
For the villagers and thieves were plundering on the highways,
and created a good deal of tribulation to travellers, robbing
and slaying them. They were forcad to do their stages with
arms ready in their hands, while pursuing their way. Each
night we took shelter in the sardes, where we were able to
take rest in some security. [Every day we halted at noon to
feed and rest the animals; and at two in the afternoon we
resumed oiir march, until we reached another sarde somewhere
before sunset.. Once on this journey we were resting at mid-
day near a town called Panipat (Panipat), distant from Dihli
four days' journey. When the time came to start again,
my cart-man could not be found, and the convoy set out. T
knew not what to do, for after a good deal of effort [ was
unable to get hold of my cart-driver. By this trouble 1 was
much put out, for I found the oxen would not obey me; nor
could T travel on foot, for fear of being attacked. The men of
the plice surrounded me and wanted to rob me, which they
did not do, only because 1 had nothing. I was much per-
plexed. They advised me to continue my route, lor during
the night (as they assumed) someone would be able to kill
me [209].

Meanwhile my cart-driver turned up; he came running in
great haste from the halting-place. As soon as he got near
me I fell upon him in o great rage and gave him a sound
beating. 1 knew not the favour that had been accorded me
by Divine Providence, which *in sui dispositione non falitur,”
and even does us the most benefit when it seams the most
against us: [ started on my road, and the cart-man wanted
to hurry, fancying that he could catch up the rest of the party,
who were two hours ahead of us; and thereby enter into my
good praces again. But | assured him we could never over-
take them, anyhow, could not reach the sarde. He had better
drive on at a moderate pace. Still displeased with the cart-
man, I inguired why he had been so heedless, knowing the
perils existing on the road. He replied that, overcome by his
necessities, he had gone some distance from the town, and

20—2
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then there had come an him heavy sléep, so thut he had been
unable to wake sooner; this was the cause of his delay,

During this. conversation we had entered into a wood,
through which we had to pass. When within it, T boheld
with terror the greater number of our party heaped together,
either decapitated or wounded, and all plundered and ruined;
the few who survived were stripped naked. The cart-man,
frightened to death at the spectacle, wanted to drive off with
his cart across the jungle without attending the dexd and
wounded lying on the road. 1 told him to go slowly, that
there was nothing to be afraid of, for the danger had passed
(although 1 was a good deal frightened myself). I found
one poor creature lying in the middle of the road with a
spear thrust through him, who, raising his hands to heaven,
prayed me to belp him, Taking compassion on him, I
stretched forth my hand to lift him into my cart, whereupon
the driver pricked up his bullocks, and did not give me the
chance of doing this deed of charity.

We went on our way, and coming forth from the woud,
I noticed that the inhabitants of the village where we were
to put up appeared before us. Aware of the great miship
that had occurred, when, in spite of all that, they saw a cart
appear quictly from such a perilous spot, they were in the
greatest amazement, and questioned me as to how 1 had
saved my life:  Then I replied that God knew bow to' defiver
poor men from the hands of scoundrels. | coutinved my
journey, always in fear of thieves, until 1 reached the river
called Bear (Biyas or Biah), where I found an officer, Dautcan
(D&, 0d Khan),' who, quitting Sulaimin Shukoh; had gome 1o
join Dard through jungle and disert by a very difficult ronte
where he had been in fear of his life. This he did for ij
love e bore him (Dara). The latter had entrusted him with
sufficient artillery, cuvalry, and infantry to bar the passage ol
the niver to Aurangzeb,

! Da.0d Khin, Cureshi, Shedlsadah of Hisr Firdzah, lefi Dara at Tiiakkar, antd
returned to his bome vl Jasutmer. He was afterwards Governor of Paprab
(1639i63) un beball uf Auramgeed. 1In tobr B {i670.71) he wan Govesnor o
Allahaliad (s * Madgisul-Umar, UL g0),
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I presented myself to him (D&,0d Kbin), and as he
recognised me, he treated me with much hooour and granted
me a passport for my onward journey. Without such no
one could go on to the city of Lihor./ There 1 arrived at
four o'clock in the afternoon, when Prince Dird was actually
seated piving audience. Quitting the cart, I threw my small
wallet across my shoulder, and taking in my hands my bow
and seven arrows, 1 entered the palace. When my commander
Barcandas Can (Bargandiz Khin) saw me, he advanced to
greet me, and after embracing me with great affection, he
Jed me jovfully to the presence [210] of the prince, just as
1 was. There | performed the usual obeisances, and le
(Diird) with exceeding gladness exclaimed in & loud yoice
' Xahas| xabas!' (Shabash! shabash i—that is to say,* Bravo!
bravo!' His eyes brimming over with tears, he tumned to
his officers and said in a troubled tone: *See, you others; the
fidelity of this European Farungi lad, who, although neither
of my religion nor of my race, nor for long an eater of my
salt, having only entered my service when these wars began,
came after me with such loyalty throngh the midst of such
dungers ; while those muintained by me for so long, and getting
immense payments, with base ingeatitude and utter disloyalty
abandoned me when I had need of them, just as you others
have seen:” J

After this speech Dard asked if other European Farmangis
accompanied me, To this 1 apswered that the hardships of
the rond hindered many from coming, but as thoy found a
chance they would come, Dird ordered a horse to be given
to me, which was at once brought. Not liking the look of
it, he directed them to give me another and better one. He
increased my pay, making it in place of eighty rupees one
hundred and fifty rupees every month. An order issued for
u present to me of five hundred rupees with a * serpao” (sardpa).
I put up at i house where several of my European friends were
staying; they had got away from Agrah before it was invested,
and with them [ dwelt.

Prince Dard wasted no time, but with extréeme energy
enlisted fresh men to form a good army amd resist Aurangzeb,
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whose acts he knew of. He had already some thirty thousand
horsemen of various races, Mogolis (Mughals), Saheides
(Sayyids), and Patanis (Paghins). While thess preparations
were going on there came Rain Sarupsing (Rijah Sariip Singh)
—that is to suy, ' Beauty of the Lion "—who had been sent for
by Dari. He brought four thousand horse and ten thousand
infantry. The territory of this rajah adjeins the mountains
in the kingdom of Kashmir, and he has an army of fifteen
thousand cavalry and three hundred thousand infantry, all
of them Rajputs. Dars with great entreaty had begged him
to be 50 good as to do him the favour of coming at this time
to join him with all his men. He would never forget it, when
the time cume to reward and recomipense him. To gain him
more securely to his side, he (Dard) allowed his wife to send
for the rajah to her harem, where with soft words the princess
once more begged for his aid and gave him many presents,
the chief being a string of [211] pearls of great value that
she threw over his neck. She addressed him as her son, and
said she looked on him as in the place of her son Sulaimin
Shukoh, Then she did a thing never done before in the
Mogul's empire—that is say, she offered him water to drink
with which she had washed her breasts, not having milk in
them, as & confirmation of her words. He drank with the
greatest acceptance and swore he would be ever true, and
never fail in the duties of a son, But he needed some money
for expenses, so as to enlist all the men he could, in addition
to those he had already brought.

Dard believed in him, and at once ordered them to give
him a million of rupees (r,000,000=ten lakhsl), He left for
his own country, promising to return very soon, equipped in
every way. When Aurangzeb learnt what the rajah had
done, he wrote him a letter, which sufficed to make him
disappoint Dird. The latter, being informed that Aurmngzeb

In Part [1L this oman i called Rop Shigh, The correct nama seems to be
Hajrtp: he was the son of Rajah Jagat Singh, son of Rajsh Biwo, of Mas sad
Fathin in the Bart D0 kbl (e= " Massir-al Dones, (L sr7).  Pathinlbs | fasgy,
ihe same ms Tathanko, bireen miley et of Nurpur, oir (e rasd fnjo Kashindr,
Ik 4= o5 Jong 75" 43"
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wis marching onwards, wrote lotter after letter to Rajep
Singh urging him to come and make no more delay, for the 2,

time when his aid was wanted was now drawing near. Hut
he never answered, and remained in his own country with
the money he had received, and the poor prince beheld the
hopes he had in this man disappesr. Aonrangzeb was aware
that Dk did not want for loyal officers, among them the
great DE0d Khin being the most faithful of all. Seeking a
method for taking this man away from the prince his brother,
and attracting him into his own service, he sent messengers
to the crossing upon the river, where this officer was posted,
to inquire of his intentions. Would he ngree 1o become one
of his (Aurangzeb's) officers? But pa,0d Khin, ever firm,
fived, and faithful to Dard's interests, replied that he had
already given as a sacrifice his life and goods for the serviee
of Darg, and he would accept no ather’s proposals.

“IT'his matter gave an opening for Aurangzeb to sharpen his
wits, never being at a loss for some trick., In order to throw
Da.6d Khin out of favour with Dird, he cansed » forged letter
to, be written as in the name of Da.id Khian, making him say
as-follows: * Your majesty may. rest agsured that at the fitst
opportunity I will do what 1 promised, and never be false
to my word. Aurangzeb so managed that this letter fell
into the bands of Dari. Thercby Dir began to suspect
not only Da,ad Khan, but all his officers, a5 it appeared they
had already [zrz] fallen under the influence of Anmangzeb,

He ceased to treat D&,0d Ehin on the same fumiliar terms.

as formerly. Dé,od Ehan felt that the prince entertained
some suspicion of him., He therefore decided to fall on his

knees in Dard's presence (as he did); then taking off his

sword, he laid it on the ground and said: *If your majesty
has any doubt of my Bdelity, order me to go and loyally
offer my life in the defence of your person and family,’ On
hearing this speech, Dird took compassion on him and began
to have an idea that the letter was forged,

But many days had not passed beforz Aurangzeb wrote
another lettee to DEod Khan in which he asked why he
delayed so long in fulfilling his promise to lay before him
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in & short time the head of Dari. Ho could not fathom the
reason of such delay. This letter fell, as was intended by
Aurangzeb, into the hands of Dark. The sight of it totally
destroyed his confidence in Da,ad Khan. Word was sent
to him not to appear again at court; his appointment was
taken from him, and everybody fell under suspicion.

Finding himself in this great extremity, and Aurangzeb
still continuing his. march by forced stages, Dird made up
his mind to remove to the kingdom of Kabul, and thence
implore succour from the King of Persia. He therefore
despatched an envoy to Mahabat Khin, who was governor
of the Kabul kingdom, and to the Pathiins of the hill-country,
requesting them to give him free passsge on his way to
Persia. But his object was not to pass through, it was to
obtain possession of, that kingdom, and thereby increase his
strength. Mahibat Khin ramembered their former disputes, of
which T have spoken (I. 155), and sent him the reply that
it would be better to choose another road, becanse no reliance
could be placed upon the Pathans in the hills, thus throwing
upon others the blame for his own disinclination.

Dird penetrated sufficiently the object of Mahdbat Khin,
and, adopting a new idea, now gave orders that all the artillery
and munitions of war got ready by Shihjahin for taking the
fortress of Qandahir should be embarked on boats. To thess
wire added all the treasures that he had carried with him, and
at that time present in Lahor. Other appliances for strengthen-
ing the fortress of Bacar (Bhakkar) were added, Aware that
Aurangzeb was drawing nearer and nearer, and distrusting his
officers, having a force insufficient [213] for resistance, Dird sent
an order to withdraw the few men and guns posted at the river
crossing.  He directed his powder-magazine to be blown up,
which was speedily done. He then left Lihor in the end of
October one thousand six hundred and fifty-six (correctly 1658)
He took with him the whole of his family, and at the head
of eight thousand horsemen started for the city of Moltan
(Multan), which lies on the bank of the river Ravi, the same

' Aceieiing to the *‘Alamgiraamah,” 186, rop fine, Dass feit 1ibor on the
39tk Z1 Qavllah, 1o HL (August 38, 1638},
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river as at Lihor. The distance of that city (Multan) from
Lahor is ten days' journey.

I made up my mind not to march along with Dird, owing
to same business, but to leave on the third day. Daring the
second day 1 passed before the door of the officer second in
command of the artillery, & Turk by race, called Rumican
(Rami Khan), who was busy in preparations and the enlist-
ment of men: he had also some field-pieces, which he meant
to take with him. As soon ns he saw me he called me, and
as I got near, ordersd me to dismount at once. He ashed
me where 1 was off to, and 1 answered that 1 was on my way
to make preparations to start for the army. He told me to
sit down, and said he also was starting that day; he wouold
send to fetch my baggage, and 1 could go with him. [ was
suspicious, believing that he distrusted me, and I concluded
that it wonld not suit me to march with him ; for then it
could be said that he had brought me by force, which would be
to my discredit. So 1 answered him by praying his leave to
go to my house to collect some cash and pay my debts, and
to put together my things: after that | would come back and
join him. But the obatinate Turk would not listen to me nor
give me leave, 50 it came to my deciding absolutely to kill him,
f he wonld not allow me to go, For it was not right for me to
be made to march by force. I was in Dird's service, had n good
reputation, and wished to rejoin without the slightest delay.
Thus I told him plainly that the favours I had received from
Dica leh me under such obligation that 1 would sooner lose
my life than miss an occasion to prove my gratitude to my
king. For Dar I would sacrifice my person; and if he did
not helieve me, let him send twenty horsemen with me to
my house, which was close by [214]. 1 would then come
back with them. Thus 1 spoke to him, having sbsalutely
the intention of killing him, although 1 should lose my own
life, if he refosed. But God was good to mel For the Turk
accepted this my ultimatum, and sent with me twenty horse-
men with express orders to bring me back to his presence.

1 got on my horse highly delighted, and went on faster and
faster, paying no beed to their telling me to go slowly, They
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urged on their horses to overtake me, This irritated me, = [
turned in my seat with an angry face, and, laying hold of my
sword, so threatened them that they were afraid and drew
back, They contented themselves by following me at a
distance until I went in with a rush into the house of a friend,
leaving the escort at the door. Directly I had got inside, 1
saized a musket that was standing in a corner, and then went
for them, discharging the piece to frighten them. Nest, laying
hold of my sward, [ shouted, * Strike, strike !’ though withom
much hope of success.  But they, supposing there were a
number of us, scattered in all directions.

After the flight of these horsemen, I told my friend to get
upon his horse and come along with me. For, when the news
should reach that officer, lie would send a great many more
soldiers and capture us if we stayed. He would not listen,
and, leaving him in his house, I mounted on horseback, and
went outside the city until night came on, Then I came home
peacefidly. My poor friend had been carried off against his
will, as 1 had prophesicd. Next moming I removed such
chattels as I could not carry with me to the house of another
friend. When I was about to bind my bundle on my horse's
back, meaning to start on my journey to rejoin the army-and
Prince Dara, there appeared one of the officers set over the
kotwals pivens (policemen), who was very drunk. This man
had complete control over that officer of justice (the Aafudl).
He began to ubuse me, and with harsh words ran down Dird’s
followers. I dissembled and made use of all my patience,
which conquers everything, chiefly because 1 saw there woild
soan be a change in the government of the city throngh the
departure of Dar.

Rendered still more impertinent by my apparent quietude
And patience; the officer went on with his insolence. In time
he exhausted niy patience, and in a rage 1 pilﬁied up a stone,
and, hurling it with the greatest force, hit him in the mouth,
cutting his lips and sending two teeth down his throat, He
fell to the ground and spoke no more; I resumed the tying on
of my bundle, and before T mounted T gave the fallow several
kicks, owing to the rage 1 was in, Taking to my horse, 1 set
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out on my way, unaware that the man's servant had gone to
tell his [215] men, Having gone only a few paces, 1 perceived
some thirty foot-soldiers, all armed, coming hastily in search of
me to take vengeance for the affront done to their officer. 1
wanted to turn back, simply that I might rid myself of them.
Then I reflected that 1 should only light upon others lying in
wuit for me, Fixng my turban more firmly, angry and
resoliite, sword in hand, 1 spurred my horse, on which 1
relied a good deal. I flung myself into their midst, and they,
seeing my anger and resolve, were not bald enough to attack
me, only having enough presence of mind to salute me and
leave me a free passage. They followed me afar off, relying
upon others who had been sent in my pursait, To these it
happened as to the first lot, and they all followed me up to my
jssning from the city. 1 then got rid of them and went on
my way.

After three days 1 arrived in the srmy of Dard, where 1 found
the officer who had tried to carry me off by force from Lihor,
I told him 1 had come to lay & complaint against him before
Dirs. He had besn the cause of other Europeans not accom-
panying me, who subsequently had decided to remain where
they were owing to the bad way he had treated me. The
Turk, on hearing this, embraced me with the greatest sub-
missiveness, and begged me to suppress my grievance for the
sake of his good name.

We continued our marches till the early days of November,
when we arrived at Multin, an ancient city where in old days,
before the Portuguese were masters of the Eastern seas, there
came many cafillas (gafilak) of merchandise and spices and
drugs of India. With us marched the great Dii,0d Ehiin who,
spurred by the loyalty and affection that he had to Diird, wounld
not abandon him, offering through others to serve him futh-
fully, s he had done for many years. But Dird did not trust
him, led asteay by the forged letters that Aurangzeb continued
1o ' write,

To impose on thie people of Multin, Dird made believe that
he intended to stop in that city and enlist troops. He began to
repair the bouses in which [216] {ormerly Aurangzeb lived when
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he governed that territory. He ordered them to send for the
relations of a false prophet, then deceased, called Coin Bahaudim
(Ehwajah Bahi-ud-din)'—that is to say, * Price of the Law'—
one greatly venerated by the Mahomedans, who is buried in
the middle of the city in a great dome covered with blue tiles,
an ancient building. He earnestly entreated them to intercede
for him with Muhammad that he might favour him and give
him the victory over Aurangzeb. They gave him their word
that without fail they would supplicate Muhammnad; he
might rest assured that his petitions would be considered,
being as they were so just. During the following night they
would so arrange that they should precede everyone and be the
lirst to receive audience from Muhammad, and thus comply
with his highness's desire,

The following day very early Dari took care to have them
called, so as to know the result of their prayers. They
appeared, as this'sort of knave knows so well how to do, with
downcast faces, and told him that all night long they had been
in the presence of Mubammad, but were unable to speak 1o
him, becanse Anmngzeb was in conversation with him. But
without fail they would the following night find an opening for
his petitions. Tn order to gratify them, and bind them stil
more to his interests, Dard made them a present of twenty-five
thousand rupees and a covering of costly stuff to be spread on
the tomb of the false prophet (d.e., of Bahi-ud-din), But on
their being sent for again the next morning, they came with
the same answer, and it was the same on the third day.

When Dard was informed that Aurangzeb had left Lihor in
parsuit, he lost faith in his prophets, and held it best o with-
dmw from Multin. For this purpose he gave orders. that all
the boats, five hundred and seven in number, should be made
ready for a voyage towards the fortress of Bhakkar. They
were loaded with supplies of food requisite for a beleaguered
citadel; they also put on board eight cannon carrying shot of
from sixty to one hundred and twenty pounds' weight, besides

! This mest be Shekh Hahtnddin Zekarlys, son of Quib-ud-din, son of
Kambl-ad.din, o saint of Mulian, born vi9o an, died 1266, His pon Sodeeddis
died in y3og (Beals, * Orientu! Biogmpiby,” o)
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light artillery, ammunition, and the necessary malériel of war.
Izach boat carried, more or less, n umdred tons of cargo,

While Diri was thus preparing to resume his march,
Auranpgzeb was coming after him by long marches, moving
on day and night without halting st the head of the fnest
part of his army [217]. These were enough to avercoms the
small force still attached to DArd. Aurangzeb had left behind
the rest of his army with orders to follow. Finding that he
was pursned, Dari was compelled to move. He ordered the
lbioats to be started down the river; putting in command of
them & valiant ennnch, Cois Vacent (Ehwijuh Basant)—that
is to sty, * Springtime.’*  The prince left by the land route at
the head of five thousand horsemen and five thousand infantry,
Diri's favoured general, Barqandis Khiin, went with him§ most
of the others dessrted, as did those that he had taken on at
Multan, carrying off the large sums of pay that he had dis-
bursed to them,

Much to be marvelled at was the obstinate fdelity of Digd
Kbin. Keeping at a little distance from our troops, he con-
tinued to follow. He sent a clear message to Diird that he
might tiust in him; he wanted to accompany him whenever
the oceasion arose, and with his blood would seal the testimony
of his loyalty. The prince shoukl accept his advice, and not
helieve in ‘the forged letters that had fullen into his bands,
Bat Diri, more and more suspicious, sent-word to him that if
I were true to him, lot him'cease to follow him and go his own
way, By this time Dg,ad Kban saw that it was of no use to
try and remain with his well- beloved prince, and sent an
answer that he would obey orders on the condition that his
dismissal was by writing.

It was not long before Dard made over to him a paper in
which it was stated: *1, Dird, discharge Di,id Ehin, and
command him to withdraw from my army, and accord him

1 THe gunoch Tasnt & pamed in the ' Alamumimah,' p. 374 Inthe rest
of bin oasrative, Mammel styles this man - Primavers’ According o ihe
*Masgiv-i- Alrmgin,' |, 16, Diea left Bhakkar on the last of Muohirram,
ibfig M. (Ochober 34, a6ish), The pyrmers, under Shekl Mir and Sulehikan
Elin, srrived ai Salkar and Bhaklar respectively o ihe 5th and Ot Safar
(Movember = and 3
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liberty to serve whom be pleases’ What things may not be
worked by a falsehood when accepted as true by n prince!
Without reflecting on the evil that might accrue to him, the
prince persisted in the unjust impression made upon hin.
Da.id Khin received this writing at the city of Vehu (or Ochn,
perhaps Uchh) Weeping like a child, so that it was pitiful
to see him, he exclaimed: *It seems to me as if evil fortone
dogged the steps of Dard,’ and therewith he departed,

Learning the news, Aumangzeb, when he amived at the dily
of Mualtin, detached a foree in pursuit of Dira, with orders to
capture him if they could; they were to pursue him wherever
he went. Then he sent off an affectionate letter to Di,id
Klhan, tempting him with very high pay, an offer which was
accepted on condition that he should not be ordered to tuke
up [218] arms against Dard, This Aurangzeb accorded, and
treated him with great consideration, and in that reign he held
high appointments.

We continued our marches, suffering somewhat from failure
of supplies, and several times from want of water. We passd
through several rough woods, and arrived opposite the fortress
of Bhakkar in the middle of the treacherous river of Sind, thus
called after the union at this place, distant one hundred and
thirty leagues from Multin city, of seven lirge rivers, which
further on T will tell you about (I, 232). There we found the
valiant eunuch, Primavers, occupied in the disembarkation of
the big guns and the other munitions for the suid fortress. At
this time Dard received word that Aurangzel's troops, com-
manded by Bahidur Khin, sent in pursuit of vs, had already
arrived quite near. He saw that he could pot resist such o
strong force; he therefore ordered with all possible haste two
thousand selected men—Pathins, Sayyids, Mughals, Rajputs—
twenty-two Europeans of different nationalities, and other
servants to occopy the said fortress. Thie command was given
to the eunuch Primavers. The remainder of the army was
nrdered to cross with the same haste to the other side of the

' Dars wia st Uebli for (hree dags abiout the &b Mubarram, tofig H
(Cctober 4, 1836), and the departure of Dy nd Elin ls mentioned (see ' Alant
girngmah ' 372 ory)
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river and seize all the boats to be found there, in order to
hinder the enemy's crossing at that point.

When 1 knew of this order 1 presented myself before Diard
and urgently besought him to take me along with him. With
words of exceeding love und tenderness, be replied that he
longed to take every one of ns with him. But it was of the
greatest importance to him to make sure of the said strong-
hold, and for this reason he left us in it, having such great
reliance upon our valour-and fidelity, 1 renewed my applica-
tian, with protestations and entreaties added to tears, indica-
tions of the grief I felt at our separation, asking him to leave
all the rest behind, but take me along with him. Dard, with
a pléased face, repeated that it was desirable that we should all
remain in the fortress, seeing that the place was of the greatest
use to him against his enemies, that in it were goods which he
beld as dear as his own person [219]; and, using other words
of much affection, he sent me off,

1 was overcome with tears and sighs at this parting; and
seeing the downcast state in which [ was quitting the prescoce,
he had me called back. He thon made me captain of the
Europeans, and ordered them to give me five thousand rupees
to divide among my men, and doubled my pay. It had been
one hundred and fifty, and he made it three hundred rupees.
He gave me his word that if God made him king he would
create me a noble of his court, and reward my men, in whose
loyalty he had much confidence. He added the present of 4
*serpan ' {sarapa), and directed that I should receive s boat-lord
of Persian and Kabul wine. He recommended me earnestly
to Primavera, the eunuch, and told him to look well after mo
and my men. After shedding more tears, 1 left and went into
the fortress with the eunuch, while Dird departed thence,
taking all the boats. Hardly had he gone when we heard
the drums of the enemy, and the report came in how Aurang-
zeb had left Multin for the Agrah direction in the greatest
haste, in the fear that Sulaimin Shokob might come down
from the mountains of Srinagar.

This alone was not the cause of Aurangzeb's leaving
Multin ; it was due still more to his having received advices
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that Prince Shih Shuja' with s great army was marching from
Bengal against the city of Agrah. So great-was the terror of
Aurangzeb lest Shah Shuja' might arrive first at Agral city
with his army, that he went on in advance of his army two
or three leagues, followed by very féew men, sometimes quite
alone. His object was to make his men follow with greater
quickness. He rested beneath some trees, hiz head supported
on his shield, until [220] some men overtook him and formed
a retinue. [In this way Aurangzeb moved on with extreme
haste, and passing by Lihor, he left there as viceroy the
traitor Khalilollah Kban, and, without delaying, continued
his route to Agrah, taking the whole of his army.

Going on one day in advance, with only five horsemen, he
was passing through 4 grove of trees in & wood, when all of 2
sudden there appeared from the opposite direction Rajuh Jal
Singh, who had come to seek him through the wilds of the
Laqui Janguel (Lakhi Jungle).! With him were three thousand
well-armed horsemen, all R&jputs,

Be it known to the reader that, as I have already said,
Aurangzeb pever Jost an opening for getting officials, officers,
and soldiers to desert their masters and transfer themselves
to him. He acted on this principle with Rajah |ai Singh,
managing so that he left Prince Sulaiman Shukoh, as we have
related, When it was known that Jai Singh had uhandoned
the said prince, he wrote him a friendly letter, declaring his
anxiety to see him, as he had important business to eom
municate to him. But he fixed no place for a meeting, aml
after the evil deed he had been induced to do the rajah came
in search of Aurangzeb, and met him at the above-pamed place
at a time when he had left his army behind.

Aurangzeb was much alarmed when he saw the ﬂjﬂhr_h"
himself having only an escort of five harsemen, for he kuew
the rajah had great affection for King Shahjabin, and wis
much troubled, as one can imagine, at the danger of losing
his life. And, as a fact, the officers round the rajah, when

4 The Lakhi Jangle was & nuwme for the reglon south of the Satla), having s

emstern limity &t Lodbidnali ol Suniim ; fo ihe south of it Ly the Bliatl desest
{m= tlic map in Francklin's * Shah Aubum * 1po8)
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they saw Aurangzeb in this unprotected state, advised him to
kill himn, or allow them to do so. They said his pame would
bhe renowned in the world through the release and liberation
of Shihjahin, But the rajah would not listen to such advice,
althoogh the occasion was excellent and the accomplishment
easy. As it seems to me, he refrained from acting because he
was on bad terms with Dird, and while succeeding in doing
good to Shihjahin, he could not have helped favouring [221]
Dark. But to the latter he wished all possible evil, for the
reasons stated by me eaclier,

Suppressing all agitation and keeping on his way, Aurangzeb
went straight to meet the rajal, and, while still at a distance,
signed with his hand that he should approach, calling out,
* Raiagi! Raiagi|' (Rajah Ji! Rafak Ji!)—that is to say, * Mr.
Rajah ! Mr. Rajuh!' When the rajah was close to him, Aurang-
26l spoke to him thus: ' I am waiting with great anxiety to
see you, as 1 have already stated in my letter to you. 1 have
great regard for your person, because I can find no other friend
with senss and judgment like you, so full of experience and
natural ability, who can help me in the great enterprise which
it Hae pleased God to luy upon me. Already is Dard lost and
without an army, and 1 have sent after the fugitive Bahiidur
Khiin, who cannot fail in a briel space to bring him before me
in chains. Thus, belped by your wisdom and prudence, 1 shall
gasily be able to complete what God has purposed.”

Diring this specch Aurangzeb took from his neck a valunable
necklace of pearls and placed it in the mjah's hands, and said :
i This is & token of the love and affection [ bearyou, and of the
obligation imposed on me by what you did in quitting Suluimén
Shukoh and coming to find me. 1 make you governor of
Dihli ¢ity, and grant you the province of Sambar (Simbhar).
Proceed thete without delay, for it 1s of importance to me.'
He got rid of the rajah with high delight; becanse he dreaded
that be, out of his love and gratitude to Shihjahin, might play
some trick upon him, as he could casily have done, owing to his
(Aurangzeb's) small retinue. The prince continued his journey
for Agrah city with all haste, in order to attack Shih Shuja'.
The province of Sambhar, of which Aurangzeb made 2 gift 1o
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the rajah, brought in to the Crown a million and more of
rupees, the price of the salt that comes out of the lake, which
is [ 222] adjucent to the province of Asmiar (Ajiner).

It is now time to speak of the defeat that befell Dird, but
before we talk of that I will give the reader an account of the
country, so that afterwards we may the more clearly continue
our story. It should be known that close to Bhakkar seven
nvers unite—namely, five issuing from the kingdom of Lahor.
which have their sources in the mountaing of Srinagar and
Kashmir, and reach the province of Lahor by five openings.
This is why the kingdom of Lihor is called Panjab—that is
to say, * Five Waters.! The names of the rivers are, Brstly,
Satleg (Sutlaj), on which there is a lasge town called Lodiand
(Ludhianah). From it to the second river, called Biat (Bivis),
15 & distance of thirty-five leagues, and on this second river
is a large town called Gonduval (Govindwil). From the
second to the third river it is also thirfy-five leagues; this
niver is called the Ravi, which flows below Lihor. The fourth
river, called the Chenau (Chinab), is distant twenty-five
leagnes from Lihor. This river also has on it « large aud
fine town called Vizirabad (Wasiribid). From this place it
is twenty-eight leagues to the fifth river, called the Biat
(Behat), which, too, has its town called Jelem (Jililam).

These five rivers, which are all navigable by lurge boats,
and the towns named, which serve as harbours, belong to
the province of Lahor. The sixth river and the chief one 18
called Atcke (Atak), or otherwise Indo (Indus), because it
separates the lands of India from the lands of the Pathins, from
Persia and the province of Kabul. On the western bank of
this river Afak is u town named Zafaribid,' and on the eastem

! #infarsbid mnm be, 1 think, ancther pame for Atak, although that place
an the #asl bank of the lndve There in & castle, Hhniragorh, on ihe opperite
[western) bunk  Mr. M, L Diumes I8 inclined to the same opinion.  fadwibad
might be Talibigh, with Min opposdis: ot this could never have been &

“ermning-place for ki, like Atak war. There is noe evidence that Ak wes
over manwmed Zaferabad | beit there bs 20 obscure, fusuficionily ilentified més
town of that name, which fs nsually placed at Zafarsbad in the Jaunpur disteicl.
thagh T suggesied long ago Zafzribad Pidir lp the Daklsin,  Me. Dames sy8
the shupe ul the letters oo the coing suggests rthor a northern than a Dakbinl



RIVERS OF THE PANFAB 373

o castle called by the same name, where all the caravans halt
from Persin, Tartary, Balque (Balkh), Samargand, BDukhara,
Cascar (Kashghar), Kabal, and many other kingdoms, Thence
come every year one hundred and fifty thousand horses, more
or less, besides many camels. Most of these are loaded with
various kinds of fruit—melons, pears, apples, pomegranates,
quinces, grapes, and other dried fruil ; three kinds of raisin,
ulmonds, flberts (evelans), and nuts, [223] and pine-puts
(fimhosns). All these are brought across the river to be sold
in Hindastan, from which the Mogul king derives a great
revenue.

Across this swift and treacherous tiver, on the further side,
there are the lofty mountains of the Pathans, thirty leagues off,
with a walled city at their foot, named Pexor (Peshiwar).
People from Indin who pass the river (Indus) lose the rights
and privileges which they imagine they enjoy in their own land.
This niver is at a distance of one hundred and fifty leagues
fram the river Biat ( Behat), and eight leagues from the seventh,
éalled Nilab, whose waters are blue in colour. Close to the
fortress of Bhakkar these seven rivers join to form the wide
and famous river Sindi (Sind, or Indus), and thence it fAows
with great force until it falls into the sea, on the shore of the
Sind provinee, thus called from the river running through it.

After he had sent us away, i set out for the port of Sindi
by land,! grdiring all the boats to assemble at that place for s
departure.  Having reached the vicinity of that port, le used
all the boats found there to cross the river to the town of Sindi.
When he had got aver, he ordered all the boats that could be
found to be collected, so that by this means he might hinder
the passage of the enemy then in his purspit. Next he and his
army began to march for the city of Tata (Tattah), twelve

arigin, IF Atk was ale mlled Fafarabid a gap iv Blled ! for Afak, as & mim
trws, dlanppeirs botusen Akbar's reign (1gsf-ifos) and thar of Muhammad
Shah (ryrg-1754), while Zadurdlad sppears in the mrereal (coms of Shab Jehan,
pizp-chst | Avcangeeb, hs8-1797 . and Bahidnr Shib, s7o7-1713).

L Dok reached Bhalher op the ggth, med ledy jt ayafm of the last ey o
Muharmam, 108) H. [Ociober =3 and =5, 16s8) At Grsl bo sel oot foe
gandahar: then, trning off, he reached Tapmh upon the Iodus on the s6ih Safar
{Sovember 23, 1688) (" Alamglradmali,” 275 275 #54).
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leagues off, as I related in my journey from Persia. Entering
that city, he rested a few days, and enlisted as many more mén
as he could find, offering very high pay. During the time of
his stay in this city, he inqguired if there were any Farangi
European priest to be found. There happened to be there s
barefooted Carmelite monk, Frei Petro de Santa Terza (Teress)
by name, Flemish by race, whom I had met in the city of
Espad (Isfahan) He wasa man of much virtue and learning,
well acquainted with the Arablic, Persian, and Indian lingunges.
Hearing about this man, Dird sent for him, and had divers
conversations with him on the Gospel and the articles of our
faith. After listening to his arguments, he became for a time
thoughtful, then, raising his hands to heaven, he said: ‘I
[224] there is any true faith i the world, 1 believe it to be
that of the Catholics, for many a time I have talked about it
to different Roman padres from different countries. and it always
came out the same without the slightest difference. This s
not so with other religions, such as those of the Hebrews,
Hindus, and Mahomedans, in which I have found many
variations." _

Turning towards the frinr, he said to him: * Father, I pruy
Jesus, who is the Messiah, to make me king, and 1 give you
my word, I will issue orders for the erection in Agrah city of
temple (church) to Her Majesty (Hazral) Bibi Mariam '—that
is 1o say, the Holy Lady Mary—*and, furthermore, 1 will
permit the fathers to build churches and preach the Gospel
freely throughout my empire.'

After a few days had elapsed Dird resumed his routs,
followed by some six thousand horsemen, ewrrying with him
sufficient gold und silver and his family, He passed through
the country of the Rajah of Cachanagara® with great energy

! The Carmefite mission at Tagah was founded from Persia o 1613 (see p. 364’
of B ¥ Barthiold Ignace de Sainte Anne's * Mission do Perse,” Tenxailes, 1545
Milltmuer {347) givew the year ps 1673, and the firsd misdonsry as Lalovicn
Franciscus a Matrs Del, I cannot trace Frel Petro

* This must be inteuded for Kuchh (Cuteh), plus magars, ‘s town.!  According
te the ' Alamgimimah,' p. =¥y, Dirk roached the Chil Dessrr, or Raan ol
Catch, on the gith Habi® |, rofg H. (Decembar ¢, 1655), He weat o to Kachh
{id, . B sndl.
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on his way to the provinee of Guzurate (Gojarit). When
Aumngzeb was told of this, and found that Dard, leaving the
road to Persia, had come into the Gujariit province to misea
new army, he tried to mislead him by the following stratagem

He sent a letter to his second son Sultin Mu‘azzam, nowa-
ditys known as Xaalam (Shah 'Alam), then living at the city of
Aurangibid. He ordered him to feign rebellion, enlist new
troops, and announce that he meant to protect and deliver his
grandfather, Shihjahin. To this intent he should write to
Dard, inviting him to rally to his side against Anrangzeb.
When Dara should appear, he (Mu‘azzgam) must make every
effort 1o seize him, dead or alive. But Dird, who after all was
not devoid of sense and judgment, being now guided by experi-
ence, detected thie plots and wiles of Aurangzeb, and made a
joke of the offer [225] from Sultin Muo‘agam.

He (Dard) entered the province of Gujarit, and took pos-
session of the chief city, called Amadabad (Abmadibid), which
had been wrested from its king, Sultan Babader (Sultin
Bah&dur), by King ;h.bnr as I' have already stated (1. 75)
The governar of the city it this time was Xanevascan (Shih
Nawiiz Ehin),' fathes-in-law of Aurangzeb. Without making
the least resistance sgainst the small force led by Dard, he
handed over the town to his opponent, not from want of courage,
Lt because it was not correct that he, a vassal, while his king
was still alive, should oppose a royal prince, heir to the empire.

Shih Nawiz Khan was u descendant of the ancient princes
of Maxad (Mashhad) in Persia, and was satisfied with passing
his life in feasting and pleasure. He issued from the fortress to
meet and receive Diri with all possibie honours, promising to
serve him faithfully. As I shall recount farther on, he did, as
# fact, lose his life for love of Dird in the province of Asmir
-lﬁjmer}, although some author® says he was un enemy of that
prince.

While Diéri was rencwing his strength in the province of

| Mt Badi*us-saman, Safzwl, entiled Shih Nawes Khie  His doughier
was nrrriod to Aurangreh in the tenth vear of Shibjuban (1037-39). He wa
killed fn the Battle of Ajmer on the agth Jamids [L,, sofg H. (March 24, y65))

(" Ma,dgir-ul-Umnnrd,” i Oa)
b The glinslon s, 1 suppose, to Ternier {see p. 87 of Constabie’s edition)
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Gujariit, the enemy begin 4 most rigorous investment of Bhakkar
fort, where we were shut up along with the loyal and valiant
eunuch Primavera. No one could get ont, no one could enter.
This fortress' is in the middle of the mighty river Sindf (Indus),
founded upon the live rock, stones from which could be nsed
as flints for muskets. The fortress was nine hundred and
seventy-five paces long and five hundred and ffty-three broad.
In the middle was a * cavalier’ (tower) overlooking both banke
of the river. On the east was a large town called Xaquer
(Sakkar), and on the west another called Rori; at a short
distance from the fort towards the north was a little island
known as Coia Quitan (Ehwijah Khidr), where isa tomb held
in great veneration by the Moors (i.e,, Mahomedans).

We were very well fortified, provided with plenty of artillery
and munitions of war, and had & considerable store of gold
and silver, precious stones, and a great deal of baggnge. In
addition to this, Dird left some ladies who had accompanied
him, one wife of Sulaimin Shukoh, and two young sons
much cherished by Dard as being his grandsons: His plan
was that if he did not succeed in the province of Gujarit and
suffered defeat, this fortress of Bhakkar would serve as o base
to help him again?

After a few days of investment, the enemy [226] prepared
two batteries mounted with large cannon, left behind by Dars
in the foundry at Lihor, be vot being able to move them
owing to the hurry with which we started, and the enemy

! Bhakkar is an laland 8o yards long and yoo yards wide, and tho fory, slmos
eatirely covers it Sakdar bs 2 town on (he west or right bank, asd Ror (=
Lolari) is on the opposite or left bunk At Rori thern sre (our mocky ludandi.
the largess of which in Bhakkar (Thornton, * Gueeltser,' 1o, guk S35, a3,
Manuce! reversss the truo positlonn of Sakkar and Reori  dr M, __
Dantes informs me * that Burmes, In his * Bokhara," iil. 72, edition 1434, Siys:
" There ure saveral other lilets nesr it on ase of which dands fhe shrine of
Ehwijal Hhig, a holy Mahomedan, under & dotne which contritintes to iln
bestity of the mene " Ehwhjah Khiyr, or Ehwilsh Khidr, the ancisat T
of the Indus, now ideniified with ihe Mahomedan saint Ebidr or Hiljal, He
plays & greal part in local legeods, and Is represested w an old man with a long
bearel, clothed In green. M o fact, the (nitos persmifiod, & sort of Pathet
Tiber, Owe of my Baloch! ballads spaakn of the river aa the = Khwijah." "

* For the siege of Hhikkae, ses Bernier, g3-ady,  Munneel was, no doubi, one
of the Earopeans from whom lie got liks infotmanion
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feaving us no chance of putting them on the boats. With
these they did us a good deal of damage. Be it known to the
reader that those seven rivers of whose junction 1 spoke did
not touch the sides of the fortress for more than a pistol-shot
on the west and two musket-shots on the cast, because they
flowed between rocks and hills. Thus the enemy gave us
trouble enough; nor did we desist from doing our duty with
our guns, dismounting his artillery, damaging the towns, and
killing a number of men Several times we made sallies
under cover of our artillery, swarming into their trenches,
killing and destroying all we found there, Once we captured
four field-picces and a quantity of baggage lying close by them.
Thus the traitor Kbalilullah Ehin, at whose cost the invest-
ment was conducted, was forced to send more men against ns.
Regardless of thess reinforcements, the commandant, Prima-
vers, sent off before daybreak some boats with musketeers, who
delivered sttacks at various points and alarmed the enemy.
They went on increasing the investing force until the place
was evacuated, as further on [ shall relate.

When Aurangzeb received the news that Dard was busy
raising & new army in the province of Gujarit, he did not turn
aside to attack him. It was more urgent to hinder Shih Shuji’
from reaching Agrah. But he was much concemed on learning
that Sulaimin Shukoh, by favour of the Rajah of Srinagar, was
making ready to descend from the mountains; and aided by the
said Rajah, at the head of a considerable force, hoped to
avenge himself for what had happened to his father (Dird) and
himself. Aurangzeb, therefore, wrote o letter, giving many
promises to the said Rajah, and also caused others to be written
by different rajahs, chiel among them being Rajah Jai Singh
[227], asking the Srinagar rajah to dissembls, and suggesting
that by the use of certain arguments he should force the poor
prince to remain quist in those mountains,

Meanwhile Aurangzel drew nearer to Shith Shuji’, who was
in strength at & little village called Coiva (Kajwah),' which is

b Kajwah is in the Fashpor district, Jad- 36" 3, long. 6" 38 (Tharninn, $31)
See alao Hernier, 75, and Constabie's nots there and on p. 77, The pamage from
Tieflemthaler is on §1, 167 of the * Beschreibeng von Hindusian,” vol. &
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pleasingly situated near a number of palm-frees, as I have
more than once seen. He had taken possession of a large
artificial lake (%awgue) in a great plain, having crossed the river
Ganges. The place is one hundred leagues from Agrah.
Aurangzeb came up, leaving his baggage on the other side of
a little stream, and delivered his attack on Prince Shih Shuji’.
The latter was well entrenched, and had eficient and wells
posted artillery, commanded by Mirzaiany (Mirza Jani), many
of the gunners being Europeans. They resisted valorously the
fierce attack of Aurangzeb, and in spite of his superiot strength
in men he was unable to win the day; he could not even make
the other side quit their ground, as he had hoped. He was
forced to retive several times in disorder. He was so much
perplexed that he could not hit upon any course to take, the
more so that Shih Shuji' declined to come out and venturs
himself in the open: nor would he evacuate hie position. Al
he attempted was to defend himself. Aurangzeb was awans
that he could not make any long delay by reason of the great
hieat then prevailing,! and he knew that of a certainty he wonld
be forced to retire and seek shelter in Agrah to:save his army
from severe hardships. Then Shah Shuji® would certainly
pursue.

Aurangzeb saw his evil case very clearly, and thus was more
urgent than ever, giving Shah Shujd’ not a moment's tesh
Propitious Fate decreed that at this time the long-looked-for
Mir Jumlah should arrive from the fortress of Doltabad (Daulat:
abad), whereby he greatly sarved him on this most critical
occasion of which 1 speak., One day Aurangzeb came forth
from his tent seated in his sedan-chair, and took his way to the
bisttle-field to renew the attack on Shah-Shuja’. Then came
Rajah Jaswant Singh from his tent and mot him, and after the
nsual obeisances, came elose and took hold of the chair [228]
with one hand, and with a disturbed face walked ulongside
Aurangzeb for some steps, making inquiries about the post
appointed for him to oceupy on that day.

Aurangzeb, who was delighted to remove the rajah to some

' Heee Matiicol's memory fails him. The Gighting was it Janussy, when the
heat a not greal [ses Elphinstans, 530,
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distance, not liking the action he had adopted, and suspecting
him of some treachery, ordered him to take charge of the rear-
puard. Thereupon the rajah mounted his horse and went off
energetically, Aurangzeb remarked: ‘ Great are the courage
and boldness of this rajah ; I like him not.” Then came trust-
worthy reports of how the rajah was colluding with Shih
Shuja’, and, having attacked the rear-guard, was plundering
the baggage and all the treasure kept there. This report
caused great dismay to Aurangzeb, and furthermore he feared
that the army, suspecting that letters had passed [between
Shih Shuja* and Jai Singhl, should lose heart and disband.
A= a fact, many did take to flight, and scattered in all direc-
tions. Aumngzeb continued to conceal his opinion, hoping to
find out the exact intentions of the mjah, and whether he would
content himsell with the plunder.

Thiy they eame to tell him that the rajah had taken to
fiight towards Agrah, carrying with him all the treasure and
anything elss he could seize.  Mir Jumlah, who that same day
had arrived, comnselled Aurangzeb at this juncture to reanimite
his men by ordering them to slay and plunder all the Hindls
to be found. This was carried out. The slanghter lasted for
an hour or more, and it put his men into heart, not a soul
having resisted them, Mir Jumlah also advised the wnting
forthwith of & short letter to Aluberdican iAllnhwirdl Ehin),!
then the chief adviser of Shih Shuja’, in which it was written:
¢ Allahwirdi Kban!—If this day you wish to make me King of
Hindnstin, it suffices to induce Shith Shuja’ to get down from his
elephant during the battle, and I pledge you my word to reward
you and all your family, who are on my side. I have the
strongest hope that you will not fail me.—Avraxczes.’ [229]

Noticing the disorder in the ranks of Aurangzeb when the
rajab fell upon his rear-guard, Shith Shuja’, without giving a
chanee for re-forming or collecting the scattered people, although

1 Aflshwird] Khin, a descéndant of the Saljogs, ross to favour mnder Jahingir.
He anil one son, Saifullah Xhan, were kifled af Akbamagar (FRajtsabal), by
Stah Stuji''s ardirs, da the middle of Rajab, b Ao (s April 8, 10 (s
« M sabrogd Upmark.’ | so7, * Mabérd Mamgie,” p, o5, * TErid-i-Mohagrmud],
yoar jotg H | anid Bernier. 77)
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it was getting late for an onset, felt that he wis master of the
situation, and moved oot sguinst Aurangzeb in order to seizm
this favourable moment. Displaying great energy and valour,
he speedily routed the vanguard, which he threw into a state
of terror, and advancing, attacked Aurangzeb himself, who
stood fast seated on his elephant. The elephant-driver was
killed by an arrow, thus forcing Aurangzeb to assmme himself
the control of the elephant. The arrows fell like rain upon the
clephant, which, finding itself encircled and in pain, beat a
retreat.  Aurangzeb was all this time a target for Shah Shujs®s
arrows,  Owing to this great extremity, it came to the point of
his putting one foot out of the howdah, as if he wished to get
down, and vet was unable to decide what was best to do in the
midst of all that confusion and uproar. He hardly seemed to
know where he was. Mir Jumlah, who was quite near, doing
his duty as a good leader (and from him nothing else could be
expected), when he noticed Aurangzeh’s movement, shouted in
a lond voice: *Kaem | kasm!' (Qa,m ! ga,em/[)*—that is to say,
*Stand fast! stand fast!' Dacd lost the empire by getting off
his elephant.  He called out : *Kaem ! kaem I (Qa,im ] gdym [) 1n
relisnce on the note sent to Allahwirdi Khin.

Already Aurangzeb was in the last extremity, abandoned by
all, fearful of eapture, and Fortune seemed to have deserted
lim. He thonght he could never escape from his enemy’s
hands. But such was his lucky star, that he mppeﬂ mpor
his elephant and endured the severe assault. He remembened
the battle he had fought against Dira at Samiigarh, and
believed thut by sitting patiently on his elephant he would
conquer.

Allshwirdf Klian, when he received the note from Aurangzeb,
went off to Shih Shojs* [230] and resorted to the same tactics
as Khalilullah Khin used with Dard, calling out to him: * Con-
gratulations to my sovereign on the victory the Most High has
given your majesty!  All that is [eft to do is to take the
Aurngzeb before he con escape. Why do we delay thus?
Let us advance with more speed; and to do this, let your

' This appears ln Bonier, 56, as * Decankon,’ which Copatable reads 38
"Trakhin kahin " " Whare i the Docean?')
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majesty descend from your elephant and mount on horseback,
and in a single charge we can seize our prey.’ Here we can
see how eagerly Fortune favoured Aurangzeb. For by this
time the prince Shah Shuja’ had won the day, and Aurangzeb
was withoot hope and utterly lost. She changed the hands
they held, so that Aurangzeb came out the winner, and Shih
Shuja* the loser.

All this came to pass, notwithstanding Shih Shujd' knew
wiat had bappened to his brother Dira, who by quitting his
élephant became a lost man. In spite of this, he followed the
advicerof Allahwirdi Khign, left his elephant, got upon his horse,
and started for an attack on Aurangzeb. But the evil-minded
traitor, Allahwirdi Khdn, in place of going on with his prince,
turned back, and, displaying great terror, began to ask every-
body anxiously what had become of Shah Shuja‘; he could
not be seen on his elephant. All the army looked in that
direction, eand not perceiving him, fell into confusion and
dismay, They imagined that he must be dead, and they began
totake to fight—aboveall, the division of Shih Shuji'; thiswas.
just as it had happened to Dara. Thus Shih Shuja', finding that
there was no longer any hope, was forced hurriedly to join the
fugitives. Meanwhile Aurangzeb sat unmoyed on his elephant,
with 1o more than fve hundred horsemen round him. Per-
ceiving that Sultan Shah Shuja’ was no longer on [231] his
elephant, he advanced with vigour to the attack, beating his
drums to make it appear as if the victory was already his.
By this manceuvre he increased the hesitation of Shih Shuja's
army, which, losing hope entirely, took to flight.

Shib Shuja‘ retreated upon the city of Iavas (Allahabad),
On the day that he arrived at his quarters, he took measures
agninst Allahwirdi Eliin. The latter with the greatest assir-
ance, as if he had done some great deed or benefit on his prince's
beliall, stayed with the defeated army. He was put in chains
and brought into the presence of Shih Shujd'. Recognising
too late the tresson committed, in great anger and without
putting @ single question, Shih Shuja* deprived him of life
by a spear-thrust fram his own hand (i chastisement well
earned by this ungrateful traitor). God purposed, by taking
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the life of this clever traitor, to give to vassals u lesson of
fidelity.

Jrswant Singh had assumed that Shih Shujd* would come
out the victor; he therefore made for Agrah, where he halted
for some days. Then came the unexpected news that Shih
Shuja’ had lost, to the great relief of Shiiistah Kluin, at that
time governor of Agrah city; and the rajah started for his
own country. For previously a rumour had been current that
Aurangzeb had lost the battle and had been taken prisoner
along with Mir Jumlah, and that Shah Shuji had carried them
off in chains. Thus, Shiistah Khiin, aware of the treachery be
had committed, already held his life 25 lost, and had resolved to
swallow poison and kill himsalf, He had the goblet ready
before him, and, commending himself to Mubammad, expected
#s 3 certainty that Jaswant Singh would come into the city
to seize him. If Jaswant Singh had only entered the city,
he could without a doubt, by the slightest pressure or threat,
have caused the commandant of the fortress, called Mortuzagan
{Murtazd Kban),! & very old man who had ander him the
fighting men, to open the gates, and Shihjahian would have
been delivered from prison; for, secing the agitation [232]
into which his men were thrown by the news brought il_!_h}'
the men of Aurangzeb’s army who had fled at the beginning
of the battle, the said commandant was already in @ tremar.
But as Fortune favoured Aurangzeb, she hindered Jaswant Singh
from even this small effort. For twenty-four hotrs the city
of Agrulh was transported at the news of Aurangzeb's defeat,
and evéryone hoped that the mjah would enter and deliver Shih-
jahan, But the majab having exact knowledge of what had
passed, it was inconvenient for him to make any such effort.
While we admit that he was not wanting in & wish to release
Shahjakidn, he judged that in existing circumstances it was
impossible, there being no one to take his side. By himsell
he could not appose the army of the victorious Aurangzel.

! Possibly Murined Kbin, Sayyld Shih Mubammad (bee * Ma feioul Umard,
HE, 30710 bul there s oo mention of hin being put in charge of Agmb fort
Moreaver. s this man sarvved for twanty yoars, he could not have ben #0
ey old ih 26y
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For these reasons he arranged for a speedy retirement to his
home country.

Fearing that Jaswant Singh might undertake something
in favour of Shihjahin, Aurangzeb turned and hastened in
person to Agrah. He thought it sufficed to leave Mir Jumlah
with a large force to pursue Shah Shuja’. He was nominated
generalissimo of the army and perpetoal viceroy of the whole
province of Bengal, the appointment to pass on his death to
his son. But from reasons of State he left behind in his
(Mir Jumlah's) company his own first:-born son, Sulfin
Mubammad, who was to make the campaign under the orders
of Mir Jumlah, but without o command. At this arrangement
Sultin Muhammad was much put out, but he kept this grievance
withitt his breast, waiting until an occasion arose to wreak ven-
geance,

At this time Shah Shuji’' had fortified himself in the city
and fortress of Allahibad, without much redoction of his
numbers [233]. He made use of the Hindii princes who live
on the right and left banks of the river Ganges, and gathered
together in w short time a huge force, through the reputation
he had with everybody of being wealthy and liberal. In this
way he became extremely strong at that important and famousd
fortress, which forms the first gate into Bengal. Recognising
the valour and strength of Shib Shujd’, Mir Jumiah did not
venture to attack him by force of arms. It sufficed to send
him valuable presents and many lettors with misleading
promises: In another direction he set to work to raise against
Shah Shuji' certain Hindd princes living about Benares and
Patnah. They had an old quarcel with the prince, und now
ross gainst him; they hindered his supplies, while thoy gave
Mir Jumlah free passage. The latter lost po time in seading his
troops and clasing the routes. On receiving this melancholy
news Shih Shuja' bent a retreat, before they could totally
block his road. to the ancient city called Bandras (Benares),
lying an the river Ganges, on the left bank,

Mir Jumlah followed in pursuit, and left him no time to
fortify himself there, Thus Skih Shuja' was forced to retreat
again, passing by the great city of Patnab, not feeling sufficiently
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secure there owing to the great open plains of those regions.
He took shelter in a little town called Muguer (Munger) that
had been founded on the right bank of the river Ganges. It
is' called by the inhabitants the ' Key of the Kingdom of
Bengal,' because it is at the foot of hills, and near it are
extensive jungles, called by the dwellers there Buorianguel
(7 Bar Jangalj—that is to say, * Terrifying Woods," because
in_ them are many wild beasts, tigers, rhinoceroses, wild
buffaloes, and other animals.

At this place (Munger), the best that could be found in
those regions, Shah Shuja' fortified himself. For greater
security he made [234] a great wall of earth; beginning st
the foot of the hill and ending on the bank of the Ganges, &
distance, more or lese, of half a leagne. It was made at 2
distance of twelve leagues from the city of Munger, and its objest
was to bar the passage to Mir Jumlah. Recognising the
great difficulty of making an attack on Shibh Shujd’, Mir
Jumlah began a correspondence with some rajahs dwelling
in the wilds referred to, men who also at one time or another
had been injured by Shiah Shuji’. Valunble presents were
forwarded, and they permitted the passage of the army.
Thus Mir Jumlah and Sultin Mubammad marched on with the
best of their troops, directing their course towards Raiamuhal
(Rajmahal), the principal residence of Shih Shuji‘, with the
stle abject of cutting off his retreat.

Shih Shuja', alarmed at this intelligence, abandoned all
his entrenchments, and moving with great rapidity, reached
Rajmahal before the arrival of Mir Jumlah, and there be
entrenched himsell as well as he could. Mir Jumlah failed
to get there first, not from want of energy or effort, but by
reason of the great forests and many streams on his route.
As soon as his men and baggage had come up, Mic Jumlah
made an attack upon Shih Shnja', who continued a valisnt
defence for the space of six days, But finding that the heavy
artillery of Mir Jumlah did great danmge to the entrenchmeots,
which had been made of earth, gabions (arca=boxes), snd
fascines, he decided to retreat, having no hope of being able to
continue his resistance, not only from wang of men, but from e
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near approach of the rainy season.! Taking advantage of the
darkness of night, he marched away on the road to the city
of Daca (Dhakkah), leaving some artillery behind him which
he was umihble to remove.

He was not pursued by Mir Jumluh, who feared an ambush
and suspected the retirement to be a mere stratagem of war,
He halted where he was, meaning to begin pursuit the
next day; but Shiah Shuja“'s lucky star favoured him, since
during three days there was such heavy min that Mir Jumlah
could not move his army, nor attempt to eatch up the Mgitive.
Shah Shuja' had time [235] to get close to Dhikkah city, and
thers he entrenched himself on a broad river, and Mir Jumlah
was obliged to go into quarters for the rainy season at Rijmahal,
for, owing to the rain, the mire, and the full streams, there
was no possibility of marching. He occupied the city, and
was there four months, from June to September (¥ 1650).
These are the months in which heavy rain fulls throughout
India, above all in the megion of Bengal, and armies cannot
march, Thus Shih Shuja' had time to entrench himsell anew,
making use of the Portuguese, who live in Bengal since they
lost their strong places in different parts of Indm, taken from
them by the Dutch, such as the lsland of Celad (Ceylon]
and the Istand of Japhonapatat (Jdfnapatnam),® on the coast
of Choramandal, He offered high pay to theése men und
promised to make them all wealthy, to give full liberty for
their milgmns arders to raise up churches throughout his
realin, It is certain that if fortune had favoured Shih Shuja’
e would pet have broken his promises, for he was muturally
liberal and generous. There were at that period in the whole
province of Bengal sbout eight thousand families of Portuguese,
European and Asiatic, the latter popularly called Mestipo

(mongrel, or hall-castes).
Meanwhile Shih Shujd’ entrenched himself near Dhikkah,

1 Jeishornn, literally, *winter™: i i the wood N M. always uees for the min

Brg o,

¥ (Solombo it Ceylus was taden from the Porfuguess on Moy ra, 1884, and
filoppatmin op June z= 1638 [Dubwis, ¢ Vies des Gouverneirs . Géndran '
Py
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Saltan Mubammad, his nephew, was angry at his father
(Aurangzeb) having placed supreme command in the bands
of Mir Jumlah, leaving him to work under his orders without
any command. He wanted to have uncontrolled direction
of the army, while Mir Jumlah should act under him. To
this effect he wrote several times to his father that it did
not befit the dignity of a prince, His Majesty’s firstborn son,
for a subject to command an army while he, though not
deficient in military traming or power of leading, remained
without # command, There were no grounds for His Majesty
believing more in Mir Jumlsh than in his son. [n nothing
was he undeserving the post of generalissimo, either by his
blood or his known valour. But Aurangzeb paid not the leist
attention to the request of his son. He was afrid that, should
he get hold of an army, [236] he might rebel against him, as is
usually the case in this empire of the Moguls, and an ancient
habit of theirs.

Finding himself repeatedly rebuffed by his father, Sultin
Muhammad gave utterance more thun once o words full
of wrath and menace depreciatory of Mir Jumlah. He wished
to make the troops believe that he (Mir Jumlah) aspired 10
the crown. All this was known to Mir Jumlah. He dissem
sagacionsly, and took no notice of Sulfan Muhammad's wards-
The latter then recollected that his uncle, Shih Shujd’, hud
promised him his daughter in marriage, and he now resoly
to rebel against his father and adopt the side of Shah Shuga's
He therefore loft the army of Mir Jumlsh by boat, accompaniad
by twenty-five men, without being noticed. Reaching the
spot where Shih Shujd* was entrenched, as soon as he saw
him he disclosed his purpose and declared his distrust of bi*
father. He ofiered to serve him and defend him with Bdelity,
swearing oaths upon the Qurin. The only reward he sought
was the hand of his danghter, Mahacanom (Mih Ehinum), chat
being the name of Shah Shuja¥s daughter. That prince
received Sultdn Mabammad with the honours due 10 b
but did not give him many troops. He dreaded s0%E
treachery. He assigned him & lady of the harem as a spous
deceiving him by the assertion that it was his daughter
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When the rains were over, Mir Jumlah moved in search
of Shih Shuji’, and then the contests were renewed.  Sultiin
Mubammad at the bead of his small force proved his courage,
destroving many of the enemy and causing great trouble to
Mir Jumlsh. When informed of what hud happened Aurangzeb
ordered Daler Khan, whom he highly esteemed, to proceed
against Shah Shuojd' with reinforcements. Meanwhile Mir
Jumlah employed a stratagem.. He prepared a letter to Sultin
Mubammad in which he desired him to continue as he was
doing, until occasion arose to fulfil his promise to his father,
As intended by Mir Jumlah, this letter fell into the hands of
Shah Shuja’; and it confirmed him in the distrust he had
of Sultin Mubammad. He tosk sway the small body aof
troops he had assigued him, and forbad him to enter the

When Sultan Mubammad heard [237] of this letter he sent to
Shil Shuja’ to say that he must not give any heed to Mir
Jumlah, The letter was a forgery, meant for nothing but to sow
disunion between the two of them; and he ratified nfresh the
cath to serve him faithfully. But these arguments were not
sufficient to secure Shih Shujia'’s confidence. Unhappy Sultin
Mulzmmad, fnding himself out of favour everywhere, and
having by this time discovered the deception about his
marriage, resolved upon having recourse to his opponent,
Mir Jumlah. Abandoning Shah Shuja‘, he transferred him-
sell to Mir Jumlah's camp, where he was received with due
dignity, and a promise was given to write in his favour to
Aurangzeb. Mir Jumlah would do all he could to get his
father to overlook the past. There are not wanting those who
declare that the flight of Sultin Muhammad to Shih Shujs
was planned by Aurangzeb. This ts due to what they have

senced of his wiles; but it was not so, because if Shah
Shuji* had put faith in Gulgan Muhammad, Mir Jumish and
Daler Khin would not have had such an easy victory.

Learning that his son was reconciled with Mir Jumlah,
Aurangzeb wrote him 2 letter full of demonstrations of afiee-
tion, with an order of recall. Mir Jumlah’s orders were to
cend him back under a good and trostworthy guard, fearing

VL. L 2
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that on the way he might attempt some escapade similar to
the last. Far this reason he was carried in & palanquin care-
fully watched. Reflecting on what he had done; and afraid of
his father, whose deceitful and vengeful nature he knew, Sultan
Muhammad became very anxious, and began to contemplate
renewed flight to the mountains of Srinagar. In order to in-
timidate the guard over him, he jumped frequently out of the
palanquin, in the supposition that, either out of fear or respect,
he would be allowed to take to flight. But naught availed him,
for those in charge of him had received very strict orders.
Hearing what was going on during the jonrney, Aurangzeh
sent off the eunuch Danis (Dinish), at the head of two thousand
cavalry, with the ferters used for Murad Bakhsh. These were
[238] at once to be put on him, and he was to be placed on an
elephant in a closed howdah. They were to cross the river
Ganges, and carry him to the fortress of Gualier (Gwiliyar,
Gwaliorh, There he was detained, and orders were given to
ply him continually with the water of posto (pest, opium] until
his mind was destroyed.

In that condition the wretched Sultin Muhammad was left,
being treated not as a prince, but as a vile slave. By his
father's orders all human communication was prohibited =0
great was the rigour used that no one counld speak in his
presence nor answer any question, Such was Aurangzeh's
distrust of his son that he did not allow him to have a barber,
or a knife to use at his méals, As a trial of his son's resigaa-
tion, Aurangzeb sent to ask him whether he wounld like his
wife sent to him, the daughter of the King of Gulkhandah:
In a great rage he replied that he begged to be excused from
diversions whilst being treated o tyrannically. The rest of
what happened in prison to Soltdn Mubammad 1 will refer to
farther an, in its proper pluce (I1. 150). .

Mir Jumlah continued vigarously his campaign against Shiih
Shuji’, who on his side responded with such dimished force
as he had left.  He retreated to the banks of the Ganges niver
for defence and recovery. But as the results of battles are un-
certain, Aurangzeb stood fast with his army on the boundaries
of Agrah in order to reinforce Mir Jumish, if need for help
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‘arose. At this time he ordered Muriid Bakhsh to be removed
from the fortress of Salimgarh, where he was a prisoner, and
shut up in close prison at Gwiliyir fortress. His orders were
to give him poppy-water to drink, as in the case of Sultdn
Mubammad ; both were treated with the same harshness, nor
wis the slightest conversition allowed between the two prisoners:
Then; in the meanwhile, news came to Aurangzeb that Shah
Shuja* could still resist for & long time. When assured of
this, Aurangzeb retired upon the city of Dihli, and began to
issue absolute orders as king ; and he caused coin to be struck
in his own name, an which [239] were shown these words:
o Gaea gl der jahun chum badre mumr
Xan Orangzeb Alamguer’
{Sikkiih sad dar jabin chin badr--munir
Shih Aurangeeb-1-*Alamgir)
—that is to say, * Struck coin in the world as clear as the sun
and moon, I, King Aurangzeb, conqueror of the world.'

While Aurangzeb was at Ditli, Dira marched from Gujarit
towards the city of Agrah, at the head of thirty thousand
horsemen, relyivg on the word given him by Rajah Jaswant
Singh that he would bring his entire army and Incorporate it,
o as to make one irresistible army for the destruction of
Aurangeeh, The latter, when the report was received, left
Dihll to attack Diara wherever encountered, Aware that Jas
want Singh meant to give help to Dirf, he directed Rajph Jai
Singh to endeavour by letters to persuade the said Jaswant
Singh to desist from this purpese, Aurangzeb promised him
pirdon for his previous rebellion, offered to receive him into
favour, make him viceroy of Gujarit, and allow him to retain
the treasure plundered during the battle against Shih Shuja’,
If he did not refrain from joining Dard there must be much
destruction and many deaths on bath sides, for he (Jai Singh)
would have ta seek him (Jaswant Singh) out in the battle-field.
As they were both Rajputs, of one nation and religion, the
Mahomedans would trizmph at seeing them destroyed.!

 Aurmngreb arrived b Aoy from Ajmer og the 261b Jamady 1L, 1060 L

[March 16, (6eg),  Jai Singh writes th JEswant. who retiras to Jodbpue; Sipihr
Sheileali went o Lin there, ot withon: effect.  [hard was them entrunched at the

22—3
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Jaswant Singh was influenced by the lstter and promises of
Rijah Jai Singh, and decided to break his word, and not move
to Dird's assistance according to promise. The latter nrrived
close to the city of Ajmer, near the territories of the said
Rajah Jaswant Singh. Finding after a time that hé did not
come in with his force, Dird wrote to him that it was already
time to carry out the word that he had given him, that he was
on the spot awaiting him, and he recommended haste; for on
him depended whether he succeeded or not. Since Jaswant
Singh sent no answer, the afflicted Dira repeated his letter,
already dreading that [aswant Singh would play him false.
Ta compel him to come, he decided to send [240] to him his
own son, Super Xaca (Sipihr Shukoh), entreating the rajah
not to desert him on this occasion, for on him depended the
victory and a decision about the crown. If God willed that
he should reach the throne, he would ever recognise the
benefit conferred and support given; as would all his de-
scendants. They would be under a porpetual obligation, and
would never be backward in due ncknowledgments, Let him
weigh this; he (Dari) had left the city of Ahmadibad with
a small force, because he relied on the promise made to him
by the rajah of accompanying him with all his warriors. If
the rajah should now fail him, his person and life would be io
manifest danger of falling into the hands of Aurangzeb,

All these efforts of DArd were fruitless,  For when the rajah
heard that the son of Dard was coming to see him, he sont out
ment upon the road to foree him to turn back, proffering a
thousand excuses for his non-ahility to join, or on this occasion
to render aid to, DA, 1 leave it to the reader to imagine the
affliction of the unfortunate Dard at this dissppointment ; his
hopes were frustruted, and he knew not what course to adopt
after this desertion. For to return to Ahmadibfid was im-
possible. The distance was too great, the road lay through

village Dooriie; Hilshim holds op the dead body of Shokd, Mir; the battls of iwa
ags ended on the last day but gne of Jamady T5 (March 23, 16sg), O the
pext day Bajab Jul Singh and Bahadur KhSa were sent in prereait, Aurnigzels
recentoresd] palace at Dihill on the last of Sha'bde (May 35, 165y (Mo teir§
']I.lmm.n.'pp: 5 BT
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sterile country, and it was the commencement of the hot
season: Again, if the soldiers found that Dard was in retreat,
the greater part would most certainly dessrt. Thus he held
it best to entrench himself among some low hills, the tops of
‘which he occupied with his army, and dug trenches in the
valleys, disposing his artillery in the most effective way, under
the command of Xanevascan (Shah Nawdz Eban) and Bar-
candasecan (Bargandiz Khin).

Aurangzeh advanced by double marches with Daler Khin,
whom he had sent for at this juncture. On arriving within view
of DAcd’s force, he saw that it wounld be difficult to win a
victory, owing to the strength of the position. He forbore a
resort to arms, and sought the help of his usual crmftiness,
He ordered Daler Khin to opena correspondence with Dard,
displaying o desire to take his part, seeing that Jaswant Singh
had broken his promise. The proposal was that on the day
of battle he (Daler El@n) should be allowed access to his
(DArfi's) army, when, incorporating himself with it, they would
jointly put Aurangzeb to the rout. He pledged his word with
an path [241] on the Qurdn to be faithful to him. Dird, in
hiz simplicity, gave easy credit to the false vows of Daler
Kh&n, and ordered his officers on the day of Battle not to fight
against that peneral’s division: When Aumngzed learnt of
this knavery, he felt already assured of Daler Kbiin's entry
into the army of Dird, and made ready to give battle on the
following day.

The day before the battle, which was on the fiftcenth of May
of one thousand six hundred and Afty-seven (correctly, 1630),
an astrologer named Cubatbeg (2 Qutb Beg), » Mahomedan of
Oshec (O zbak) race, who had studied mathematics nnder Padre
Buzeo, said privately to Aurangzeb that, according to the in-
fluences of the stars dominating the next day, there existed
danger to the life of him who occupied the chief place in the
army. Therefors he besought His Majesty not to occupy the
place assigned toa king—that is, upon an elephant and covered
by an umbrells, as is the usage in this kingdom of the Mogul.
Since this mathematician had a greal name, and was revered
by everybody as a great astrologer, Aurangzeb took counsel
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with the leaders of his army. Among them was one called
Secmir (Shekh Mir),! his tutor, who offered to take the seal
on the royal elephant and represent His Majesty’s person.  He
held it to be an honour to give his life to save that of his royal
master. Since he had given him his first instruction; he
desired now, as a final sacrifice; to lose his life in his service,
like a loyal subject. But it was absolutely necessary to keep
the matter secret; and it were well that no one within or
without the camp got any inkling of it.

Aurangzeb accepted the offer of his tutor, and then directed
arders to be issued throughout the camp that on the next duy
at dawn they must be ready to attack the enemy. When the
time to'move had come, Shekl Mir rode the king’s elephant,
clad in full regal armay, everybody supposing that it was the
very Aurangzeb, a deception that was easily believed, as day-
light had not yet appeared. The trenches of Dira were
attacked with great fury, and he repelled the assullants with
still greater vigour, doing great execution with his artillery and
musketry, In this first conflict the tutor of Aurangzeb, Shekh
Mir, was shot down by a musket-ball, thus gloriously [242]
yielding up his life an offering for the safety of his disciple.
But the attendant seated behind bim on the elephant performed
a feat highly thought of at the time. To prevent the army
losing heart by supposing that Aurangzeb, whom Shekh Mir
represented, hud been shin, this man held the body up, and
holding its arms, moved them about, encouraging his own side
to come on.  He ordered the clephant-driver to used his goad
to the clephant. His exertions were quite as important as
Shelh Mir's resolve, whereby he offered up his life for
Aurangzeb. This attendant’s name was Mirtaque (Mir Taqi),
who gained for Aurangzeb the victory, and as the winner
thereol he was rewarded for his great conrage and exertions.
Anrangzeb at ance changed his name of Mir Tagi into that of
Futenuma (Fath-tuma)—that is to say, * Displayer of Victory.'
Although T was not in this battle, 1 have special knowledge of

! Shekh Mir, Kiwh, a Sayyid by lineage ( MaAsiral-Usae,” i 068)

According lo that work, the man in the Uawdy, nr back seat, way Mir Haakis,
Ehwih, not Mir Tagl,
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it: for 1 was intimate for a time with the said Fath-num3 and
other principal men who were present, and the above facts are
notorious throughout the Mogul realm.

Daler Khin, to whom was made over the right attack, sig-
nalled to Dara to have the trenches vacated for bis passage
with his division of twelve thousund horsemen, all Pathiins,
in order that he might join Dird’s army in conformity with
the letter he had written, DArd, ignorant of the intended
treachery, ordered him to be allowed a passage through the
entrenchments without any opposition.  In spite. of this, a
great many of Dird’s men declined to let him through, but
Daler Khan made his way past them. At that time Dard's
army was busy in repulsing the enemy. Daler Eldn and his
men begun st once to fall upon those in advance, putting them
to the edge of the sword, and continued to do all the harm
they could. Dard's army fell into the greatest confusion, and
without making any stand or resistance the whole of them
took to flight. Thus within less thun three hours, the time for
which the fighting an both sides lasted, the defeat of Dard was
accomplished.

1f Dara had foreseen the treachery of Daler Khiin, and had
ot allowed himself to be deceived by his pretences, thera
cannot be the slightest doubt that he would have [243] given 2
great deal of trouble to Aurangzeb, For, although his numbers
were fewer, he hiad o great advantage from the position he liad
solected. Thus, during the short time that the contest lasted,
the army of Aurangzeb had suffered considerable Joss; and,
judging from the happy beginning of his defence, Dard could
promise himself the victory. In that case he would have had
rencwed hope of Jaswant Singh's ndherence and that of the
other rajahs. But just as Fortune inclined benignantly towards
Aurangzeb, she equally withdrew from the unlucky Ddri.
Finding his army defeated and hurriedly taking to flight, he
himself also devoid of forther hope, he resolved to fleg, and
tetire upon the city of Abmadibad, whence he had come.
This he did with such precipitation that it was impossible to
save his baggage, for Daler Kbin and his men were already
going sbout the camp destroying everything, and the fallen
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prince had barely time to carry off his family and the chisf
valuables lying in his tents. Aurangzeb then ordered Rajah
Jai Singh and Bahadur Khiin to pursue Dard: their orders
were to seize him, dead or alive.

After the flight of Dara, Shih Nawaz Kbiln was left under
the shade of some trees somewhat distant from the battle-field,
believing that no one would interfere with him in such a place,
where he was quite passive. For he neither wanted to fight
nor to defend himself, nor to fly along with Dard, His great
reliance was on his being Aurangreb’s father-in-daw. For all
these reasans he held that he would not be interfored with
But one who did not blush at tyrannizing over his-own father,
his brothers, and his sons, would hardly forgive his futher-in-
law for having allowed Diicd into Gujerit and having followed
him into the feld of battle. For this ressan Aurangeeb had
given express ordirs to Daler Khiin that, wherever he might
find the old mun, Shih Nawae Elhitn, he should take his life
without sny compunction, Daler Khin learnt that the old
man was at the spot mentioned. and went al onee with his
soldiers, to whom he gave orders not to harm any of these in
Shih Nawdz Khiin's suite. On beholding the unhappy old
man seated upon A carpet spread on the ground, [244]; he
hastened his elephunt’s pace, and when near enough killed him
impiously and cruelly by repeated arrow:-shots,

It happened at this time that the victorious soldiers who
were pursuing Dard lighted upon a carriage in which was the
Dutch factor whis had come in Dard's train, hoping that if he
took the ficld be wonld be rewarded for this extra devotion.
He was now. retreating on his way to the city of Almadibal.
The soldiers attacked the carriage on all sides, ordering him to
give up his arms and all he had with him, The factor in-
prudently attempted resistance, and putting hands on lis two
pistols, made as if he intended to fire, imagining that thereby
he would frighten those surrounding him. But ut that moment
these let fly at him a shower of arrows, and thus he came to

lose his life and the goods that he had meant to protect.!

P 1 the Ivstch Anitives lna letter Irom Leanand Winnines 10 tlie Sevuntven,
Gated from Shrat, October §, 463y, which canfiray Mantieel *Willam Verstegen
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Duiring DArd's retreat to Alymaddbad, the fugitives who had
caused the ront rejoined him on the road. When he reached
the confines of the city he had already a small force. But the
hardships suffered by DArd en route due to the heated air were
inereased when, on trying to enter the city, the gates were
closed against him by order of the afficer in charge. This man
had already been gained over by letters written to him by
Aurangzeb and by the great promises made to him therein. The
soldiers in the poor prince’s truin, seeing him persecuted on all
sides and dessrted, resolved to abandon him and thus escape
uttsr ruin, Dard felt acotely being forsaken so ungratefully by
even his closest and most familiar friends, such as Bargandiz
Kb#in and the eunuch, Coia Mosqui (Ehojah Mushkin). The
former plundered him of the few horses of any value [245] be
had remuining after the retreat. They were carried off for
presentation to Aurangzeb, Barqandiz Klidin offering himself to
the victor as a follower and servant, The second (Mushkin);
of whom Dark thought & great deal, and to whom he had con.
fided his treasure, robbed him of two mules loaded with gold
coins, and with these he made off, intending to offer himsell to
Aurangzeb. At the outset both were received with = feigned
display of Fayour, but afterwards they received only modemte
pay.  As a sign of contempt Barqandiz Khdn was made super-
intendent of the scavengers and of the dogs, one of the lowest
offices in the kingdom. This was to show the Jow esteem
Aurangzeb had for one whom Dard had prized so highly,
Khojah Mushkin! was informed that he would receive & bare
daily subsistence, such alms being granted, not because of any
pergonal merit, but in return for the two mules loaded with
gold coin.  Finding himself despised by the king, from whom
he had hoped equal favour, if not greater thun DirE had
accorded, affronted by everyone, injurious words being con-
tinually aid to his very face, he planned a disappearance into

4l gene 1o seek bis fortune with the wandering prioce, Dira Shokoh At the
roceni great battin, oot far from Ajmer, lim waa shamefully mrdaral, o best his
jife in m phocking way, . , . Coe of Tambergen's sone also served the royil
princs Difes Shakoh, and equally without bonmdit."

| *Flus andive bisicrtars call the eunnch Magal, mou Mushiin,
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far-off lands, whence never more was he heard of, These
instances, and many more written in our story, may serve to
teach favourites with what loyalty they ocught to serve their
prince equally in prosperity as in adversity.

The unlucky Dardl had barely more than two thousand men
left in his company, and with these he resumed his flight for
the land of Sind, whers he was before, traversing once ngain
all thase desert lands and plains, in want of water and of food,
and suffering from the extreme heat. These hurdships made
still less beurable the haste with which, day snd night, he
pressed oowurds in his flight before Rajah Jai Singh snd
Bahidur Khin, who were trying to overtake him, Thus many
of the prince’s followers, worn out by such continuous murch:
ing, fell to the rear in the hope of getting some rest. But they
were set upon by robbers, who plundered everyone and kiiled
many,

However much the men of [246] Aurangzeb might follow
and press upon Dird, Rajah Jai Singh still so arranged the
day's march that there wad ever room for the unfortunate
and dishonoured prince to escape. Granted that he {Jai Singh)
was not well-affected to him, still, he did not intend him to lose
his life. It contented him to see DA expelled into foreign
territory, without his falling into the hands of Aurungzeb, when
infallibly he would be put an end to, as finally came to pass.
Through the scope given him by Jai Singh, Prince D, after
much exertion, reached the country of the rajuh Cachanagano'
who received him kindly, furnished him with supplies, many
camels, and some horses, thesé being very plentiful in that
country.

Dicd would have liked to allow his men s longer rest, but
this was impossible, owing to the near approach of the encmy.
Nor had the rajah the requisite foree to resist the harassiog
pursuit of Jai Singh and Bahddur Kbdin, Thuos 1M wis

' Dird, refised entry into Ahmadibid, applied to Kanj), Keli, of Pargacal
Kari, eight bus distant  Kinji conducted him to tha boundaey of Kachly, whees
the rajah recolved him badly, o grest contrast to lis former treatment (see the
“Alsmgimtmah,’ p, 411}, Thus, Kackh in part of the name, and, following th=
text on L 22y, the rest of it abould resd sugara, * & lown,"
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forced to resume his flight to the river country of Sind, where
the inhabitants, directly they heard of his approach, took to
flight with their boats, fearing that Dfird, after he had used
them for crossing, would burn them, as he had done during his
carlier flight. Great were the trouble and the danger in which
the prince was, being on the one hand pursued by the enemy
trying bard to overtake him, and on the other, hindered by the
treacherous streams, to puss which there were not enough boats,
Thetefore he decided to cross the river on rafts, making use of
the trees and all the wood from buildings, breaking up the
houses for this purpose. Not without great efforts did he
succeed in teaching the farther bank of the river, whero he
found himself with no more than five hundred men ; for of the
two thousand with which he had left Ahmadibid, the rest bad
desorted or had been killed.

Having now overcome the obstacle presented by the river,
Dird had decided to turn off towards his well-garrisoned
fortress of Bhakkar. DBut he became aware now that the said
fortress was invested by Khalilullah Kbiin with a strong force,
and the place was out of his direct roud [247]. By this ex-
pedient, therefore, he could not escape from the hands ol his
enemies, seeing that Rajah Jai Singh and Bahdur Bhin were
Lt Kis heels. His next project was to take the road to Persia,
which was not far off ; also on that road there dwelt Given Can
(Jiwan Khin), lord of some territories on the boundaries of the
Mogul kingdom and Persia! Formerly Dird had three times
rescuid this man from death, when Shihjahin had decreed
that for certain offences he should be thrown under the feet of
an elephant. He conceived that under compulsion of these
repeated favours the mun could never refuse at this juncture
to make due recognition.

Thus he made up his mind to go to the place where Jiwan
Khfin dwelt. But among the barbarous and unbelieving
Mahomedans, chiefly the Pathin tribes, there is neither former
benefit nor obligation that holds good. The ungrateful Jiwan
Khan, when Dird arrived in his country fying from his pur-

 Malis Jiwan, chief of Didss, plterwands ereated Hakbiyir Khilln (ves
i a0 aabrode' Aluesngiel,' P 28),
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suers, resolved on seizing him, in the hope that Auvrangzeh
would reward him for such a trick, although he thereby com.
mitted the greatest treachery and ingratitude that could be
done by the whaole uncivilized world united. He received Diri
in’'a deceptive manner, with great demonstrations of uffection
and gratitude. In the interval he collected all his men, with
whom he suddenly encircled the wretched prince and all his
family, keeping so many men on strict watch that the servants
of Dird could find neither opening nor freedom to carry him
food and water, To make his deed more nssured, Jiwan Klin
began with the aforesaid demonstrations, and gave orders that
the soldiers of DErd shoold be invited to varipus separile
places. When this was carried out, he set to work to trvat
them with cruelty. [

The princess, Nomahal Begomn (Narmahal Begam)! the first
wife of Dard, finding herself in such a difficulty, along with
her son, Sipihr Shukeb, and her daughter, Jani Begom (Jani
Begam), resolved to take her life with her own hands, so that
she might pot live to seé her sons' and her husband’s tragic
and lamentable end. Beholding the angnish endured by the
afflicted Begam, her favourite house-slave prevented the princess
taking [248] the poison, which to this intent she carried in &
ring concealed under a precions stone; He said to her that
since he owed all he was to the prince, he onght in this grest
peril to show the fine quality of his attachment by offering his
life and person for the ransoming of his Jord, Let her wait o
little, for he had resolved to take the life of the ungratefnl
Jiwan Kb#n, althongh well aware that he could not carry out
this design without losing his nwn. For the execution of the
enterprise he begged a pistol from the prince, one given him by
the Duteh factor at Ahmadibiid as a weapon of valoe, all
inlaid with mother-of-pearl—one that had never been known 10
miss fire,

! Nadlah Buno Begum was the daughier of Suliln Parwes, son of the
Emperor Jabangir. Hes mother was Jalin Biso Begam, daughter of Prnce
Mursd Bakht. son of the Emperor Akbar. She died in the cosntry of Sind, It

the manth of Ramagdo, jobo M, [May s, thso) (wee the *Tarh W“'}’m‘m"
foanded on the * ‘Alumyirnimnb® | alee ¢ My geird. Llmmpl ! pp4; lios g)
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Armed with this single weapon hidden in u bag of brocade, he
went to the place where Jiwan Ehin was sitting, As soon as he
got within sight of him the guards stopped the eunuch, and asked
why he had come. The courageous Fandum (Faridfin)—this
heing the name of the skilful plotter—replied that he had been
sent by his prince to present to Jiwan Khin a jewel contained
in the brocade bag. The aonouncement was made to Jiwan
Kbin, who, urged by self-interest, ordered the man to be
Lrought forthwith to his presence.  Faridtn, making with great
respect the accustomed bows, came plose with the bag Inid
ipon his two hands as if about to present it. On Jiwan Khin
extending his hands to take the present, Faridan let off the
pistol, which he carried ready cocked, It missed fire! When
Fortune tikes arms against a man in misfortune, neither
apparatus nor plans, however excellent, are anything but mis-
takes and failures! And of a truth, had this plot of Faridin’s
taken effect, then, during the confusion that would unfuilingly
have arisen among Jiwan Kbin's men, Prince Did would have
bien free to make off into Persian territory as he had intended,
The high-minded but unfortunate Faridon was then seized,
but they did not slay him, for it was not fair that such a stout
and [244] courageous heart should end so inauspiciously.

Finding that Dird had ordered an attempt on his life, Jiwan
Khiin continued his severities more strictly thin ever, He put
into prison dll the people with Dard, leaving him with none
but his family. The afficted princess, learning that Faridin
‘was taken without effecting his purpose; and already conyinced
there was mot the slightest hope of delivering her beloved
prince from the difficulties in which he stood, and aware of the
final and crowning disgmce that must inevitubly ensue, fell into
the deepest desperation. Taking into ber hand the polsin
kept ready for these final and fatal throes, she exclaimed,
while sad sighs and torrents of tears interrupted her words ;
‘O beloved prince! O beloved sons! Now are your misfor-
tunes at their height | Now has the hour come for your lives
to end. With your blood the crielty of Aurangzeb will be
assuaged. Would to God that my life could suffice to quench
he thirst of this ferret. or that with it 1 could restore yours,
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then would not Aurangzeb be so oppressive to you, nor 50
cruel to me! What could become of me after such a loss?
Could 1 survive without sons, without a husband? Could I
endire the deeper disgmer of becoming @ concubine to
Aurangzeb? God does not delight in this my evil state. But
since there is now no other remedy, by taking my life 1 put an
end to all my pains, and this tyrant gathers in by my death
portion of the spoils intended to grace his triumph.!

Speaking thus, she took the poison, which was so potent that
as soon as she swallowed it she fell dead. Then her women
attendants ran to her, and, seeing their mistress in the fast
throes of life, they cried aloud. At this outery everyone ran
to see what was the matter. Finding the princess alrsady un-
conscious, her brilliant colour gome, her eyes suffused with
chilly tears, her son and her daughter fell upon her with loud
lamentation. At thess sounds the unhappy prince Dard arrived
and found his princess, Nor Mabal Begam, already cold and
quite [250] dead. He was so dejected that he was entisely
unable to speak, and quite stunned. He was driven forth by
the heartrending weeping of his son and daughter, the despair
of the women, and the wailing of the relations.

I wish my readers just to think of the confusion prevailing
then in the house of Jiwan Kban. He could not avoid feeling
compassion at such an event. For the qualities of Niir Mahul
Begam, o princess of the blood royal, were quite exceptiondl
both in body and in mind. If time had allowed, it is possible
that he might have taken pity on Dard, and granted him bis
liberty. But at this time arrived the hurrying Bahidur Ehdn
eager for Diri's blood, and with a great uproar he and his
soldiers entered in search of Dard's person:  The latter, hearing
all the noise, knew it to be the enemy, and tried to get hold 1_:[
his weapons to end his life fighting, hoping to fall where his
cherished companion had expired. But the attempt was frus-
trated. In a loud voice Bahidur Khiin cried: * Seize the
prisoner I' and his luck was such that he could do nothing.

Thus the soldiers rushed ut the prince, took him, and
separated him from his wives and sons. They behaved with
extreme harshness, paying no heed to royal immunities,
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prince’s privileges, or a master’s rights. ' Without any remorse,
chains were put upon his legs and manacles upon his wrists.
Then four elephants appeared with howdahs on, and in SECTECY
they placed the prince on one of them. Each elephant was
escorted by three thousand horsemen, armed with swords and
spears. There were thus four divisions, and among them were
distributed the prince, the sons, and the women, with such
secrecy that not a soul knew in what division, or on which
elephant, ot in which howdah, Dird was.  In each howdsh
was a soldier with drawn sword seated at the back: This was
done so that if any outbreak occurred, or any attempt was made
to rescus the prince, the assailants should not know in which
division he was, and the soldier seated at his back would haye
time enough to despatch him according to orders, The march
began, Rajah Jai Singh at the head of the vanguard and
‘Bahddur Khan with the rear-guard. They set out [251] for
the fortress of Bhakkar,

In that fortress we remained, under continual assaults, de-
{ending ourselves boldly. [In spite of all their efforts, the enemy
were unable by force of arms to overcome us. Therefore they
planned a means of getting the Enropean artillerymen to with-
draw from the fortress, and to this end they shot arrows, to
which Ietters were attached, These invited us to abandon the
s=rvice of Diird and evacuate the place. One of these arrows
hit me on the shoulder when | was sitting in my bastion at
vight o'clock nt night. Withdrawing the arrow, 1 went with
it at once, wounded as I was, to the conuch. He gave me a
robe (sardpd) and some bottles of rose-water in recognition of
my fidelity,

Since Aurangzeb had strongly enjoined on Khalitollah Khin
that he must reduce the place in one way or the other, and he
saw that he could not do so by force of arms, he had recourse
to many letters containing promises o our eanuch Primaovern
{Bazant), that if he gave over the fortress his demands would be
gratified. Enraged at length by the receipt of so many letters,
the eunuch wrote to Khalilullah Ehkin that if he would come in
‘person he wonld enter into the desired agreement. He meant
to surrender the place, as he perceived that Dird's affairs were
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in a very bad way, Khalilullah Bhin received this letter with
great delight, fancying he was about to accomplish great things
for Aarangzeb, who was so keen on acquiring the place. He
started from Lahor with the remainder of his army to bring to
4 conclusion the anxiously desired surrender. On his arrival
4 truce was made between the two sides, Khalilullah Khfn
wrote to the ennuch a letter full of civilities, displaying the
great results to be gained by making over the stronghold,
whereby he would be taken into favour by Aunrmngzeb ; in fact,
in so delivering it, he would find the only wiy to fortune,

Primavers the eanuch was quite rejoiced at the arrival of
Khatitullah Khan, and decided on giving him a reply. With
this idea he sent for me, and ordered me to [252] load the
cannon nearest to the garden where Kbalilullah Khiin hod
encamped with horns and old shoes, 1t was charged thus up
to the very muzzle, The answer was after this wise: *1 hold
few words with you, for I am greatly amazed at you, and |
hope to supply your want, having been all your life a pimp and
used toshoe-beatings from women. Herewith what you deserve;
I offer you a present proportioned to your merits'  The letter
went on with more abuse, which | will not insert, Closing Hi,_
he ordered it to be handed to Klalilullah Khin. The eunuch
watched for the arrival of the boat at the garden, which was
not far from the fortress ; and when it seemed that Khalilallih
Klan must be perusing the letter, he ordered us to fire off the
cannon, and we covered Khaliluliah Khan's tent with the charge
it contained.

The traitor was thereby much shamed and discomfited, not
knowing how to hide the afiront. The following night, when
we were off our guard, he suddenly ordered a discharge of all
his artillery and musketry, which was a complete surprise to
us, and the shot fell all over the fortress. 1 assert without
exaggeration thut s pole on which we had a small flag was
pierced by three halls. But our eunuch would not pass over
such-like bravado, and the next night he suddenly ordered vs
to fire all our guns and musketry, and discharge a number of iron
bombe, to show that we had ample arms and munitions of war-
This took place at eight v'clock, To prove to him still better
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that we were not afraid, e ordered & number of vessels of
artificial fire to be set light to, so that it was clear as day,
Thereupon Ehalilollah Khiin, finding that he could not succeed,
turned his face, discomfited, towards Lahor, and left us invested
as before.

Forty days after the departure of [253] Khalilullah Ehin,
we saw one morning a numerous force pass over the river from
west to east at some distance from the fortress. Our artillery
began to pound them as hard as it could. At this moment &
horsemun appeared on the river bank with a small white flag
displayed. At once the eunuch gave an order for a small boat
to fetch the horseman. On his entering the fortress he de-
livered a letter to the eunuch, and proclaimed loudly thus: *1
demand on behalf of Aurangzeb that you surrender this strong-
hold, sinee we are carrying with us in this army the Prince
Dird, whom we have a prisoner,’ Hearing this sad and un-
expected news, we were all cast down and dropped our anns.
The eunuch told the borseman he could not make over the
place without the order of his prince, the Lord Dira, from
whom he had received charge, The messenger went away
with this answer.

Before he had reached the farther bank, we saw coming seven
boats full of wrmed men carrying a number of flags. Their
officer was culled Chegatean (2 Chaghatie Kbin), an Uzbak by
race ; he was highly elated, as if eotering in triumph into his own
house. 1 gave an order to my men to get their guns ready,
and some pieces with grupe (varrer, literally, " to sweep with a
broom'). When they had already got near, we gave them a
round from the artillery, which did & good deal of damage, both
to the boats and to the men. After that they retreated, while
pur artillery went on firing.

Sewing how resolute we wers, Bahidur Khiin repaired to
Prince Dird, and requested him to order the eunuch to sur-
render the stronghold, since, the garrison being firm in their
resistance, in all probability the whole of them would come to
a miserable end within the foriress. On hearing this D&
had compassion upon his eunuch and upon us, and wrote a
note with his own hand, stating: * Unfortunate in the one for

VoL 1. 23
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whom you fought, I now request and require you to deliver up
the place ' [254].

When the eunuch Primavera (Basant) saw the letter, he
recognised the writing, and began to weep bitterly. He wrote
to Bahidur Kh@n that we demanded (o come out with oir
baggage, and if he did not consent we would fling the cannan
and the treasure into the river, and fight to the death with all
desperation.  Bah3dur Kbn sent back an assurance that we
could leave with our baggage, but must make over the treasure,
the princes, and all the matériel appertaining to the fortress.
One condition was imposad : we must cross over to the west of
the river, then eight days after he had marched we could take
the road for Dihll. He made this condition because he feared
we might enter his camp, and do our utmost to rescue Dari.
After three days we issued from the fort in which we had
endured sa much. For, two days before the evacuation [
bought two calves for six hundred mpees, and paid one ripes
for every ounce of butter. Without exaggerating, 1 booght
one chicken for thirteen rupees, ]

The army of Bahidur Khiin passed out of sight of Bhakkar
with their prineely prisones. Then came the order of Aurang-
zeb, nlready back in Dihli after the battle of Ajmer, to bring
the prince to the presence by forced: marches without the loast
delay. Great caution was enjoined. Bahadur Khin, not to
fail in any particular, during every night of the mareh placed
the tent where Dard slept closs to his own, and guarded it well
by alert sentries. In the very tent was a man shouldering #
drawn sword, with orders that if he heard any disturbance or
rising in the camp, he should at once cut off Dard's head.

In the spuce of forty days they arrived near the city of
Dihli. When Aurangzeb was informed, he sent off 3 number ol
Squadrons to meet Bahadur Khin, as an additional preciution.
His orders were that D should be brought in on an ﬂlEP.h'"’f'
in anuncovered howdah [255], with his son, Sipihr Shukoh, at his
side; behind them a man with a dewvwn swond, In Lhis 'J!-'.ﬂf
they brought the unbappy Dard within the city. Ruun&h:_m
were several bodies of horse, ull clad in shining steel, with dmwno
swonds in theirhands, Bahadur Khin sat aloneon his elephant
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alongside the prince’s; while all his cavalry rode with arrows
ready in their bows. Thus the afficted prince rode through
the main streets on the twenty-second of October, one thousand
six hundred and fifty-seven (correctly, 1650), his feet bound
but his hands free, with a dejected face, ns if he alrcady saw
drawing near his last day of life. When within sight of the
fortress a poor fagir shouted to him: ‘O Dird! when you
were master you always gave me alms ; to-day I know well thou
hast nmught to give me.' The prince at once raised his hand
to his shoulder, drew off the dark, dingy-coloured shawl that
served him as a cloak and threw it to the fagir. But Bahadur
Ehin, who was close by, ordered it to be taken away, saying
that a prisoner had no right to bestow anything. Then the
itate fagir uttered a thousand abusive words against Jiwan Khidn,
who was present. In this way they arrived opposite the royal
palace, where the prince was forced to halt for two hours, made
a mark for the eyes of everybody, sitting on n httle elephant
badly equipped, subject to the heat of the midday sun, and ill.clad
—a meluncholy spectacle, creating compassion in all those who
saw him. For in such brief space was this prines, so mighty,
so rich, so famous, so powerful, reduced 1o the last stages of
misery.

There stood the poor prince awaiting the sentence to be
passed upon him ; and Aurangzeb, to still further affront him,
wanted to zend an order for him lo descend from his elephant
snd come into the presence on foot, just as he was, in chains.
But Shiistah Khiin counselled him that it was not wise to aet
thus, for many reasons. He was carnied outside the city toa
garden called Gecederabad ( Khprabdd), which lies on the bank
of the Jamnalh. It had been planted by Shihjahin for his
repose when he went out to the chase.!

A lying order was given that after n few days | 256] it was
intended to forward him (Dird) to the fortress of Gwiliyvir,
This was said solely in deference to the grief of the common
people. Aurangzeb had recourse to a pretext to discover the
wishes of those futhful to Prince Dird. This was by taking

¥ Digrd Shokoh was impmsoned In Ehandeporah ar ghlgribad (ree Khall Ehin,
ii. 5, and **Alomgemamah,” f 431
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the opinions of the principal men. He asked from all af them
advice as to what was the best thing, whether to kill Dam or
send him to the fortress of Gwiliy@ir. In his own mind he had
firmly resolved to have his prisoner's life taken. As the nobles
knew this damnable wish of Aurangzeb, the proposition made
being only a feigned deference to them, all of them were of
opinion that the unfortunute prince must die, alleging as reason
that if he did not die the people would be ever looking for his
release. Thus would his majesty never be well served; and,
further, his death was required by reason of his being an
idolater, without any religion, and an enemy of the Mahomedan
faith. Danisbandean (Danishmand Khin)® alone did not share
this opinion, although in no way attached to Disd. Those who
most insisted that the prince should be put to death were
Shaistah Khin, Muhammad Amin Khin, Bahidur Khin, and
the physician, Daut (D3,0d).! The last named in a short time-
saw himself in disgrace with Aurangzeb, und died miserably:
God's just chestisement being that he who sa actively procured
another’s death to please his master, should by means of the
same master come speedily and miserably to his own end. She
who more than all the rest clamoured for the death of Dard was
Roshan’ Ard Begam, his sister but his mortal enemy. She
died, as 1 shall relate, by poison administered to her by het
well-beloved brother—i.e., Aurangzeb. Aurangzeb, who desired
nothing more srdently than the death of Dérd, was delighted
at the opinion of thenobles, Onthe twenty-sixthof October (1539)
he gave orders to Quelis can (? Khilis Khifin)® to remove the prince
Sipihr Shukoh from his father, DAr's, compuny, and cacry him
off to the fortress of Gwilliyir, conceding as a fayour thit he
should not be given opium-water to drink.

Prince Dard, finding his son was sent to Gwiliyir fortress
without any mention of himself, recognised that he had only 8
few days to live. He therefore planned to seek [257] the only

¥ This b Dernler's patren aod * Aghs ' (e *Travels,' p too)

* [akim 14,084, or Tagarrub Khia [se Beriivr. * Travels,' 100, and pote &
Ho died 1073 H, (1653-63) {s2e the * Mi-ul-th," | 4op, and * Tarikh-i-Muhammadi,”
relying oo * Ma dalr- o Alamgin ),

" This may e meani for Qiich Khin or Mullily Kian, bot the ' Alsmgir
namah,” gh 433, states (hat Saif Khin execuied the order.
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true eonsolation for his soul. To this intent, over and over
again, he entreated with urgence and insistence that the door-
keepars should somehow or other seck out and bring to him
Father Buzeo, 2 man well enough known. But on the guards
paving no heed to his words, he still more urgently besought
them to do him that favour. from which, neither to them nor
to Aurangzeb, could any harm urise. Supposing they were
unnble to bring Father Buzeo, he begged them to produce
some Européan priest or anuther. Finding himself unable to
obtain his wish, he began in lond and heart-rending tones to
say these words ; * Mahamed maril micuxet, ebenalla mare ian
mi bacxet * (Mudammad mard wi-kushad, ibn-ullah meari jan mi-
bulhvhad)—that is to say, * Muhammad kills me, and the Son of
God gives me life’ From these words and those he spoke to
Father Frei Pedro at the city of Tattah—namely, that if any
faith i the world was true, it was that tanght by the European
priests—and from the puin he endured through not being alile
to get any pricst; forther, from information given me by the
self-same door-keepers, from whom 1 made inquiries with great
engerness and minuteness, it is to be inferred that he (D)
had a great desire to become a Christian.

Before issuing sentence of death aguinst Prince Dard, Aurang-
zeh sent to ask him, if Fortune had been as favourable to him
as it had been adverse, and he had held him (Aurangzeb) n
prisoner, what wonld he have done 7 Knowing that in no way
whatever would Aurangzeb spare his life, and that the question
was meant as mere scoffing, Dird replied boldly and resolotely,
like a prince and high-hearted leader, that if such bad been the
case the four principal gates of Dihll would have yielded the
answer to his question, where would have been exposed the four
quarters of his body.

This answer was conveyeid to Aurangzeb, who, furious at
such contumacy and license of speech, sent ot [258] his sentence
of death against the prince, his eldest brother. When he asked
who would be =9 bald a5 to behead him, the eruel Nasar (Nazar
Beg, Chelah) offered himself to do this barbarous harshoess and
exceedingly hazardous execution. Nagar Beg was one of Ring
Shahjahin's slaves, brought up by him fram childhood. When
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Aurangzeb made his father a prisoner, all the slaves submitted
to him (Aurangzeb), who made this man their captain. Nagar
Beg had not forgotten how once Dargt had abused him for some
careless insolence, and to get his revenge offered himself gladly.
He took with him the official next in rank to him, one Machuld
(Magbald), and other six of the same sort—namely, Maharam
(Mahram), Massura (Mashhir), Asaram (Asdrun), Farad
(? Furiid), Morad (Murdd), and Faccibahader (Fath Bahadur).
These all set out from the court. After this, to mislead the
popuiace, Aurangzeb ordered oot Sefecan (Saif Khin) at the
head of four thousand horsemen and some camels laden with
kitchen utensils and the other necessaries for a journey, it
being announced that he was about to escort Dira to the fortress
of Gwiliyir?

Those executioners of tyranny and barbarity arrived at the
garden of Khizribid at seven o'clock at night. They entered
the room where the afflicted prince was walking up and down
repeating the words referred to: Mubammad mara mi-hshad,
ibn-utlah mara jan wi-bakhshad. They laid hands upon him,
and, showing neither compassion nor respect, flung him to the
ground and cut off his head, Leaving the body to welter in'its
bloced, they carried the head with all haste to Aurnngzeb's pre-
sence. It was then eight o'clock at night, and he was in the
garden of the palace. Such was the tragic and lamentable fate
meted out to the unhnppy prince Dird, first-born and heir to
the Mogul empire, loved and cherished by his father, Shih-
juhain, and respected by the people.  Neither his good qualities
nor his rank sufficed to deliver him from the evil designs of
Aurangzeb, nor from the ill-effects of his own bad qualities.

! Salf Elin is named on p. ¢33 of the ' Xlamgtrnimab,” O his metes: from
Gusliyir he want to Agrmh a2 Governor.  He was the son of Tarbiyai Khan.
one of Shahjnhin's kaphakes  He dind togs H. (16835-8¢) ( Mouk UL L 479)
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Muhammad Ma'stm in his * Parthsed Alamgtel * [Eehi, * Cambogue of Indid
Qffice Libmry, e, col 130), chap, (i, s+ wansdsted I Elliot- Dows,
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When Aurangzeb learnt that the head of Dird had arrived,
he ordered it to be brought to him in the garden on a dish, with
the face cleaned of the blood on the surface and a turban on
the head [250]. He called for lights to be brought so that be
might see the mark horne by the prince on his forehead, and
might make sare that it was the head of Drd, and not that of
unother person. After he had satisfied himself, he told them
to put it on the ground, and gave it three thrusts in the face
with the sword he carried by way of staff, saying, * Behold the
faee of a would-be king and emperor of all the Mogul realms.
Thke him out of my sight.”

He gave secret orders to place it in & box, to be sent by
mnners to the eunuch Atbar can (I'tibir Ehin), who had charge
of Shahjahin's prison, with orders to deliver it to him (Shithjahan)
when seated at table Tt was to be offered in his nameasa
Ait.  This was planned by Aurangzeh with great glee, to avenge
himself for the love lavished on Dard and the little account
made of himself. It was as if he said: * Now has your Jove
come to an end; he that was despised is lord of the empire,
and the favourite gone down into death.’ After the hoad had
been sent off, Aurangzeb ordered the interment of Prince Dard's
body in the sepulchre of the Emperor Humdyin. On that
night Reshan Ard Begam gave a great feast.

On receipt of Aurangzeh's orders, I'tibiir Kban, to comply
with them, waited until the hoor when Shahjahlin had sat down
to dinner. When he had begun to eat, Itibdr Khin entered
with the hox and laid it before the unhappy father, saying:
‘ King Aurangzeb, your son, sends this plif to your majesty, to
let him see thut he does not forget him,' The old emperor
said : * Blessed be God that my son still remembers me.”  The
box having been placed upon the table, he ordered it with great
eagerness to be opened. Suddeniy, on withdrawing the hid, he
discavered the fuce of Prince Diri.  Horrified, he uttered one
cry nnd fell on his hands and face upon the table, and, striking
against the golden yessels, broke some of his testh and lay there

§ In Gloans MS, Noo bz, fol rga, 1t b sl thse, om Dieet's besd belag

browght to Lim, Asrpegeeh stomped on the face, when *the bhesd lafl & long
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apparently lifeless. Begam S3hib and the other women present
began to wail, beat their breasts, tear their hair, break their
ornaments, and rend their garments,

Then I'tibdr Khdn removed the head. ‘When the old man
recovered consciousness he began to pluck out his beard till it
wis @all hleeding, and to beat his face ; then, dissolving into &
flood of tears, he mised both hands to heaven and said these
words [260]: ‘Coda teri rasa” (Khuda ! terd riza)—that is to say,
* My God, Thy will be done,” At this time there came in varions
women and carried off Begam Sabib, who had swooned. Thef
also removed the aged emperot. I leave out any consideration
of the affliction of the father, who loved Dird so tenderly,
and of Begam 35&hib, who thus saw the lifeless head of the
brother she doated vpon, for I profess only to write of cutward
events and not to explain inner feelings.

Following the orders of Aurangzeb, I‘tibir Ehdin then sent
the head of Dara to be buried in the sepulchre of Taj Mabal,
his mather, which is opposite the palace, as I have said. This
(the queen’s death) was one of the greatest sorrows endured by
the emperar Shihjahin in all his life, as many a time he had
declared to the nobles. This is why he built this mansolenm
opposite to his palace, thinking by a sight of the tomb to
dissipate the pain he felt at the death of his beloved wife, Tij
Mahbal. But after the head of his buloved son was buried in
the same place his sorrows were redoubled, und became so
poignant that in a short space his life came to an end. The
cunuch I'tibkir Khiin made a report to King Aurangzeb of
what had passed, with all the details, whereby he and Roshan
Ard Begam received great delight.

Aurangzeb ordered his men to bring into the palace the
lovely Jani Begam, daughter of Dirk and of Nar Mahal
Begam (who with her own hands took poison, as T have
described). When the unfortunate young lady saw the throne
of his murderer placed in the palaces where her father had sat,
she began to distil from her eyes the tokens of her griel with
such deep feeling that her life began to waste away. She was
badly treated by Roshan Ari Begam, who incessantly recalled
to her the memories of the dead,  When Aurangzeb found that
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the girl was wasting away, he forwarded her to the fortress of
Rgmh to be made over to King Shihjahin ind Begam Sahib.
By beholding her the old emperor’s sorrows were in part
alleviated; Begam Shib was pleased with J3ni Begam's
heauty, a reproduction of lost originals; and she herself was
delighted at finding herself free from the sight of him who had
killed her father, and out of the hands of a cruel enemy, Roshan
Ardi Begam,

Aurangzeb also sent for the two second wives of Dird—that
is to say, the inconstant Udepur, 2 Georgian by race, and the
faithfol Ranadel (Ra‘nd-dil), s Hinda by birth, Udepurf obeyed
and appeared [261] in the presence of Anrangzeb, who made
her his wife, and by her be had the prince Kim Bakhsh.!
But Ra'ni-dil—that iz to say, * Clear-heart'—sent to ask the
king why he wanted to see her. They answered her that the
king wizhed to take her to wife, since the law thus directed that
the wives of & dead elder brother belonged to the living younger
brother. On hearing this reply, she sent to inquire with what
in her was he enamoured. The king sent word that he had an
affection for her lovely hair.  Owing to this answer, she cut off
her hair and sent it to Aumngzeb, saying that here was the
beauty that be longed for, while she wished to live in solitude.
But Aurangzeb, who wanted to marry her, sent once more to
say that her beguty wus great, that he would count her as one
of his wives. She ought to assume that he was that same
Dari. Not one point should be omitted in the pre-eminence
due to a queen, nor in her rights as sovereign lady, being, as she
was, wife of his brother.

But the brave Ra'nd-dil went into her apartments, and taking
u knife, slnshed her face all over, and collecting the blood in a

‘cloth, eent it to Aurangzeb, saying that if he sought the beauty
of her face it was now undone, and if her blood gratified him
he was welcome. Encountering such resolution, Aurangzeb
ceased his solicitations, yielding high esteem to her, and
treating her with the courtesy deserved by her constancy.

! Kim Bakhab, the 8fih anil youngeat som of Adrangeeli wan bori on’ the

roth Hamagan, ross H. (March 6. 1667). Hin mother wi Bie Udepurt [* Ma Gair-
i Alamgirt, p.- 538}
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This Ra‘nd-dil was of humble birth, a public dancing-girl
belonging to King Shahjahfin, with whom Prince Diard fell in
love through her exceeding beauty, and wanted to take her to
wife. The emperor, his father, was opposed to this, not wishing
to give offence to Nir Mahal, the principal wife of Dark. The
prince took the matter so much to heart that he began to fade
away from this passion, and at last reached almost the last
gasp, When Shahjabfin saw the extremity of the prince, his
son, he consented to his taking her as wife. By this she felt
she had been so honoured, that on the death of her prince she
would accept of no other husband., For the little time after-
wards that she lived no one ever saw her in lively spirits or
giving any sign of pleasure.

After the death of Prince Dird, the common pecple com-
posed & song about Fortune and the little dorability of its
glories, it having placed Aurangzeb on the throne, made Shah-
juhdn a prisonur, and decapitated Prince Dard [262] It said:
“In turn it chunged the fagir's (Aurangzel's) cowl, and beheaded
the prince in passing. When Aurangzel heard about this
ballad, be ordered an announcement to be made that no one
should sing it under penalty of losing his tongue. But the
song was so pitiful that almost everybody sang it in con-
cealment.

Now 1 deal with our departure from Bhakkar. After sur-
rendering the fortress, we made over the treasure and the
unhappy princes, the little sons of Sulaimin Shukoh, of whom
nothing more was ever heard, and it seems as if by order of
Aurmngzeb they were got rid of within the fortress. After
fifteen days the eunnch and all the people in the fort embarked
in some boats, and we voyaged by the river to Multin against
the stream, bui with a favourable wind. In four-and-twenty
days we reached the said city, then governed by Lascar Can
(Lashkar Khin).! He sent an invitation to our eunuch to

' Lashknr Hhin (Jin Niir Khin) wes the won of Zabardast Evin  ‘Towanls
thn aml of Shibjabin's mvign o was Governor ol Hashintr, and 'Alamgir, /in
o84 H,, tmanferred him 1o Muliin,  He was successivoly, Croversor of Tattab,

Pablle, Maltfn agsin, ending as Mir Hakheht, Ho died In 1ol H, (16071
" M Rair-ul-Umnrk," 1L 108 :
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honour him by dining at his house. But the eunuch replied
that he would have liked it much, but the haste he was in did
not allow of his accepting. He suspected some treachery, and
it ssetne a5 if his heart gave him a presage of what was to befull
him, &s 1 shall relate.

At this city of Multdn we provisioned ourselves for a start
by land to the city of Dihli; distant five-and-twenty days’
journey, One day a Portuguese, by name Agostinho Diss,
begged me to abandon the company of the eunuch, because he
knew of @ certainty that there existed an order of Aurangzeb
for his seizore and execution. We quitted Multdn, and in ten
days reached the city of Lahor, then governed by Khalilullah
Kiidin. Our eunuch settled himself in a house of his own,
which was on the river bank. His men scattered in varmious
directions, there not being enovgh room in the above house.
We Europeans were at a distance of half g mile from Primavera
{Basant).

Cn the third day after pur arrival he (Basant) sent for me,
but I did not go, as it was already evening. By another
messenger he told me to come to him very early in the
morning. At daybreak 1 mounted my horse, and on the road
1 met a former servant of mine called Deluvar (Dildwar), who
asked me where 1 was going. [ replied that I was going to
the eunuch’s house. At this he fell into a fright, and said that
for God’s sake I must not go. For everybody [263] said that
the eunuch would most certainly be killed oo that day, and 1
could easily notice the changes in the city, the soldiers and
troopers being posted at so many places. He demanded with
mueh insistence that 1 should turn back, and reflecting a little, T
remembered the advice of Agostinho Dias. In spite of this,
the love and the gratitide T felt to the eunuch impelled me to
go on to his hotse without considering the danger.

Pricking on my steed, 1 shortly reached the house Going
within, T sat down by Khojeh Basant, finding him somewhat
pertiitbed, and a few only in his company. He said to me
saftly that he had something to say to me. At this moment
there appeared in the distance several bodies of horse with
banners displayed. All of o sudden there came a horseman to
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the eunuch, and, addressing him politely, said: *Khalilollah
Khfin sends many compliments to your excellency, and inti-
mates that he has received the king's order for your excellency
to come forthwith into the city, to a house already prepared for
you where you may remain in perfect safety,’

With equal civility the eunuch replied: *I am only a passer-
by 1 go to the royal presence, nor have I anything to do with-
the city; T return many thanks for Khalilullah Khin's kindness.'
The messenger started off with the reply, and the eunuch, seeing
that troops were appearing, became a little bit frightened.  He
asked me if I could produce my men without delay. 1 replied
that there must be some delay, and that they could not arrive
in time, owing to their being so far awsy. At this point the
soldiers present in the room, after whispering into each other’s
ears, ros¢ one by one and went out. I remained seated along
with ten persons, who were house-servants, and, foresseing the
danger, I was anxious to leave, but the pride of a vouth devoid
of experience hindered me, and 1 wanted to see the end of it
and what would happen.

Then came another message like the first, but more urgent,
with this detail ; that if he did not give heed to it he ran in dunger
of his life. But the ennuch gave the same answer, and the
infantry and cavalry continued to draw in [264] nearer. During
this time the eunuch was looking on calmly at all that was
taking place outside, for the place where we were was a little
elevated, with a view of the river sands. It had the shade of
some great trees, and was enclosed wll round with a low wall.
On the bank of the river; near the wall and balow our position,
stood a relation of the gonuch Primavers (Basant) on horse-
back, lance in rest, waiting to give up his life if need arose.

When the third message came with great urgency, begging
the eunuch for God's suke to come into the fort in obedience
to the king's order, adding the intimation that it was his list
warning, he anewered not at all.  We saw the messenger start
off at & run, and it was no joking matter, for the cavaley con-
tinued to advance, and drawing their swords shouted to the
messenger, who hieard not, through the uproar that had already
arisen. The house was encircled by a number of infantry, while
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on the river sands several squadrons rode from different direc-
tions; discharging arrows that fell like rain in the place where
we were, The cavalier related to the eunuch, finding that the
thing was serious, began to skirmich, pushing his horse at those
squadrons, with his lance at the charge, until he got-stuck in
a marshy place full of mire, where, unable to move, he was
killed by the arrows.

The infantry tried to scale the wall, but we defended our-
selves and prevented them from elimbing over.  Among others,
we killed the kotwil’s son, whereat being enraged they set
upon us with still greater fury, and one resolute man leapt over
behind the eunuch, and at once cut off hus head. Primavera
{ Basant) had been resisting vigorously on the other side.  Many
more scrambled over and began to cut down the few of ns
found here and there. The man that cut off the eunuch's head
and some others came asgainst me with great rage, and secing
that our defence was overcome, I went stmight to them, and,
throwing my sword on the ground, stepped two paces to the
frant. Placing myself humbly before them, I lowered my head
and said ; ' Slay me, slay me " and, shutting my eyes, I awaited
the blow. But finding it came not, I lifted my bead, and saw
a soldier of the same troop of the enemy standing between us
two. With hands extended, he was begging on behall of God
that they should not kill me [265]. But the other most angrily,
his raised sword dripping with blood, ordered him to get out of
the way. He who was pleading for me said: * First kill me,
and spare this other” My nssailant, secing the determination
of his fellow-soldier, went off to find someone else, and lelt me
alone. He who saved me took me by the hand and led me
away, saying: ‘Come with me; I want to deliver you and
place you in safety.” But I, knowing the instability of the
Maliomedans, said to him that as he wanted to kill me, he veed
practise no deception on me, na | was ready for my fate; there
was no need to remove me from that place ; but if he wanted to
kill me, he could do it where we were, Seeing what was in my
mind, he sheathed his sword, and gave me his word not to
hurt me, but at the cost of his life would prevent others doing
80, and take me to a place of safety,
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We came forth by a postern-gate, when we saw some thirty
men with swords in their hands, who came at me, saying; ' Let
us kill him : he, too, is of the ennuch’s force’ The man with
me then lasid one arm upon me, and, waving the other hand,
demanded in the king's name that they should not kill me nor
lay hands on me. But they were keen to plunder me, and told
him he had become my advocate simply to strip me himself;
but, grieve him as it might, they meant to kill me and appto-
priate my clothes. Recogmising their purpose and seeing them
approach, I took off my turban there and then, and the rest of
my vestments, being left with nothing but my under-drawers
and my shirt. 1 threw the clothes to them, and my defender
conducted me a little farther; then he said T might go onin
secarity, as | was now out of danger,  But just as I imagined |
was free there came towards me a soldier, a Hind@ rustic,
holding a drawn sword, who, with many abusive terms and
threats, requested me to make over my shirt to him, Enmged
at finding myself amidst so much persecution and so many
affronts, I said he might kill me if he liked, but 1 would never
give lum the shirt. Overwhelming him with abuse, I provided
him with cause for despatching me; but he did not want to
damage the shirt, so he allowed me to live. In the end 1
decided to give up the shint, so 1 took it off in a rage, rather
than lose my life, With my head sunk, I went on my way,
ronning considernble dunger, slthough stripped naked and’ fall
of grief and shame. I songht [266] the house of one of my
friends, a professing Mahomedan, whose nume was Daulah
{(? Dulh&), a man of léarning, from whom 1 had received much
kindness. 'Onmy way . woman met me and offered me a sheet
with which to cover myself, saying that when I got home I
could send it back to her., But, not willing 1o be indebted to
her, T declined, and went on my way in the same pitiahle states
When T was only a little distance ffom my friend's house 1 saw
coming towards me the captain of infantry, whose teeth 1 had
broken with a stone. He recognised me, but took compassion
on my plight, and lowering his head, made no attempt to do me
harm. Thence in a few more steps T got into the house of my
friend Duiha, to whom I recounted all that had happened to me.
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He welcomed me with great warmth, accorded me fall rights of
hospitality, and gave me clothes and food. 1 did not forget
to render thanks to God for all His mercies, and for deliverance
fram so many perils.

This affair happened at eight o'clock in the day, and my
servants removed my horse to where my men were, and gave
them the melancholy news of my death.  All my friends were
much afflicted ; and they sent off one of their namber, called
Ignacio Gomens, the one best liked by and the most intimate
with me, to the site of the affray to make a search for my
bady. They instructed him to bring it back, so that they all
jointly might inter me in some convenient spot and commend
my soul to God, seeing that there was no priest.  Thus we were
used to do when any of our {dends died. All of them said, and
were quite certain, that | must be dead. On arriving at the
place of death, Ignacio Gomens found eleven dead bodies, with
the eunuch's headless trunk., The head had been carried away
to lay before Khalilullah Ehan, who wus eager to satisfy his
wrath and avenge himself for the indignity that had been done
him. lgnacio Gomens came back and reported what he had
seen, and that my body was not forthcoming. My friends
supposed that after my death the Mahomedans had, without
a doubt, thrown me, & Christian, into the river., So they
decided they would all go the next day in search of my body, and
give it bunial.  But 1, through God's favour, was still alive.

At six in the evening 1 left the house of my friead Dulha, and
took my road to the pluce where my followers were with much
quietness, rendering thanks to our Lord.  On areiving [267]
cloge to them, I knew them all, but they did not recognise me,
although they looked at me. Then, all of a sudden, | gave a
shout, whereupon they knew my voice and came running with
open arms towards me, unable to utier a word by reason of
exceeding joy. They all began to weep with content, and after
a re=t, | related in detail all that had happened to me on that
duy, and how God, out of His infinite compassion, had been my
deliverer,

The following day we received a message from Khalilullah
Ehin directing us to proceed to court to the king's presence,
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where we should be well received. By this we were made very
contented. With us he sent a captain and thirty troopers;
and in their train we reached in eight days the town of Cerend
(Sihrind), which means *Head of India,' as it divides the
provinee of Lahor from Hindiistdn, Before our entry into the
town we saw, in a field a [ittle apart from the gate, some fifteen
corpses. Asking whose they were, they replied that they were
those of Jiwan Khin, and lis relations and servants. After
making over to Aurangzeb at Dihli the prince Dici, they had
received this' reward. That same king gave orders to the
governor of the fortress of Sihirind that when [iwan Kbfin and
his men should arrive on their way to their home, he should
have them stoned in this feld by all the populace, and thus be
both rewarded and slain (a most fitting chastisement for his
ingratitude). This gave us all great pleasure, and the Mahome-
dans themselves uttered a thousand curses over the corpse of
Jiwan Khén.

From this town (Sihrind) we went on towards the court, and
arrived at Dibll in seven days, where we learnt that the king
was much affected by the death of our eunuch, Primavera
(Basant), his orders having been to seize, but not to kil him.
Bot Ehalilullah Kbin excused this excess, writing to the king
that his death was necessary, because it was known that he
meant to go into Srinagar territory, where Prince Sulaimin
Shukoh was; taking with him two thousand fighting men, hardy
troops, and the best of the Europeans that Disd had Jeft in the
fortress of Bhakkar. Without o doubt, if the eunuch had
obtained free passage, we should all have gone to find Prince
Sulaiman Shukoh.

After three days [268] we were presented to Aurangreb. He
was yery anxious for us to enter his service, recognising the
fidelity and valour with which we had served Din, and that
among his own peaple he could not meet with such fidelity and
stubbornness. Therefore, he now fixed fonr rupees a day for
every European, and for me five. My companions accepted his
service, but T did not wish to do so, through the antipathy [ had
to him, and the point of honour 1 cherished of not serving
under the murderer of my master, | communicated to the king
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my non.acceptance of employment.  He camsed me ta be sent
for once more, and asked why I did not accept service with
him ; did 1 want higher pay than he offered? 1 replied to him
that 1 would willingly enter into his employ, but T longed to
return to my native land, years having elapsed in abssnce from
it and thus he allowed me to leave,

Learning that Prince Shah Shujd* had entrenched himself in
the provinee of Bengal, and that to overcome him was most
difficalt, Aorangzeb, a little time after our arrival in Dihli,
ordered Daler Kbin to proceed with some fresh troops and
cannon, manned by my companions, as # reinforcement to Mir
Jumlah in his contest with the above-named prince. At the
same time he wrote to the mjahs, or petty kings, and the great
governors that all must lend their aid—in men, arms, and money
in short, evesything that was necessary to Mir Jumiah. They
must so continue to ald him antil the prince was taken or
expelled from the kingdom. With the reinforcements sent by
Aurangzeb, and the assistance given by the petty rajahs and the
governors, Mir Juminh attacked Shih Shujid’ with such violence
that he was reduced to the last stage of desperation. For poor
Shih Shuja’, baving written letters to many quarters, received
no answer to please him. Everyone feared Aurangzeb, Shah
Shuja* himsell reflected on what his brother had done to their
father, Shihjahdn, and their two brothers, Dard and Murid
Bakhsh, and the victorics he had won; and prognosticated
similar ill-luck for himself, and saw that, were he to fall into the
hands of the * poor fuagir," now become a king, he might count
his days as numbered.

He therefore resolved to send hiz son, Sulidn Bang,! to the
King of Arracaé (Arakan) [26g], a heathen, otherwise known as
Mogo (Magh), beseeching him most earnestly to afford aid in
his distress; if he did not sgres to that, would he; at the least,
consent to receive him and his men within his territory until
the season cama for a voyaze to Persia or to Monca (7 Makkah,
Meccah)?  When fortune shouald again be kind to him, he would

! Bay. Canthis e his second son, Sulits Haland Aklitsr | The Durch, in

"'Dagh Registor, oo 1661," p. 113, nse the form * Dos Solten, ! ad call him tha
ellesi son
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hereafter recompense him for this favour. The King of Arakan
received the prince Sultin Bang with much courtesy and
kindness, and after a few doys sent him back to his father with
o number of boats called jalias,) which are small galleys com-

manded by Portugnese subjects of the said King of Arakan,

inhabitants of Chatigad (Chitgauw) on the frontier of that
kingdom, where its boundary runs with that of the Moguls.

Prince Shiah Shuji' was highly satisfied at acquiring so bold

a friend, one so powerful as not to be afraid of Aurangzch, the
reason of which we will recount hereafier (1. 270). Finding by
this time that he was no longer able to resist Mir Jumlaly, and
that on every side be wias hemmed in, he resolved to quit
Bengal, be and his family, with sll his treasures.,

He took ship at the city of Daca (Dhikah), which is on the
boundary of Bengal, on the bunk of a very large river. But
there was much confusion and great hurry, cansed by the
necessity under which be lay. For Mir Jumlsh did all that
was possible to seize him, In these strails the women, who,
according to the custom, ought not to allow themselves to be
seen in public, 50 as not to seem immodest or be considered
polluted, sat there in the view of everybody, Being a new thing
this raised great compassion in the beholders, and caused much
sartow to the prince. In one boat were two hundred and fifty
Indies, the most lovely in his harem, mingled with soldiers and
boatmen.  In desperation he ordered the boat to be sunk, as
was done, without reflecting on the people in it; or the treasure
loaded in it, or the rich jewsls the ludies were wearing,

Another mishap overtook the prince. This was that the
boat commanded by Manoe!l Coelho, containing the larger part
and the most exquisite of his treasures, went ashore on the
coast of Arakan and became a total loss. Old Manoel Coellio
did this on purpose, and thieved everything. After all these
afflictions, &nd various others encountered by this unfortunate

prince in his flight, they arrived in the kingdom of Arakan,

where they were well received by the Magh king, with maay
demonatrations of afiection. Here Shah Shujd' remained, in
expectation of the season for getting to Persia or to Meccah,

} Wow paiia, woe Yule. second elition, 363, 5 kind of galley of war-bost
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The kingdom of Arakan adjoins that of Bengal to the east,
and on its border has, a5 its maritime frontier, Chiiganw
(Chittagong)., Once on & time many Ecropeans lived there,
men of various nations, principally Portuguese [270], and
many indigenous to the country, who were all Christians.
These inhabitants inflicted great damage on the lands of
Bengal, and;, penctrating with their boats into all parts of that
province, carried off men, women, and children, gold and
silver : and when they could get them, they did not hesitate to
carry off babes at the breast along with their mothers, When
these cried st night, they would, with unheard of cruelty, snatch
them from their mothers’ arms and throw them into the sea,
They hved with such lawlessness that it would take much space
il 1 attempted to record their misdeeds. [ say in one word
all thut need be said ; they were unworthy not merely of the
name of Christians, but of men. The King of Arakan relied
much ou this cluss, and made little account of the Kings
his neighbotirs, both from the bravery of the aforesaid men,
also from the pature of his country. No one can enter
this territory with an army, the ground being marshy, with
impenetrabls jungles and mighty rivers full of alligators. 1If
this had not been so, the Mogul would have conquered this
kingdom and that of Pegh equally with that of Siad (Siam),
the which are conterminous with one another on his (the
Mogul's) frontiers. Amkan @ between them and the Mogul
territory.  In the kingdoms of Amkan and Pegl there are
maeoreos,! thus called, which-are sodden floods that at certain
saasons overflow the country with great velocity, so that a
horse galloping its hardest cannot escape. In less than half
an hour more than twenty lewroes of ground are flooded. The
soil is fertile, yielding abundantly and luxuriemly; but the in-
habitants are as bacbarous as the tigers, elephants, rhinocereses,
and buffaloes which dwell in its jungles.

! Baweries [iee Yule's ' Glosary,” second efition. 547). a word ol doabifol
wrigin, applied 1o what n oow called o bow, or tidal wave.|
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Prct.

There remains a little for me to say about the kingdom of
Pegdh. This kingdom was independent, without any king, ull
there arose & kind of people called Biramis (Burmans), who
go about with half the body painted. These men made them-
selves masters of the kingdom and of many other petty princi-
palities, subduing and conquering so many territorics that they
placed one frontier over against China, another at Siam, and
another at Arakan. This kingdom is very rich in rubies,
emeralds, gold, fatad (7 tin), copper, lead, iron, lac, honey, wax,
sulphur, oil from trees and the earth, and has quantities of ivory.
The Burman king takes no tribute from his vassals, and trades
by sea with all the natiins of Evrope. He receives presents,
bat returns the double of what he receives, which isthe object
sought by the giver.

In this kingdom the priestly class, like that of Siam, call
themselves Tulapoes,! who make profession of three virtues—
that is to say, chastity, humility, and poverty. They wear 3
yellow alb with a stole of the same colour, a scarlet mantle and
cap. They are much venerated by everybody, and all that
they have they give to the necessitous. The women of the
Burmans go almost naked, for [271] they wear no more than a
veil of cloth all open in front, and walk with an immodest gaif.
At marriage the men buy their wives, and can eject the woman
from their house whenever they like, and marry another. The
wife can do the same. They venerate their king as God.
When the nobles have any application to make to hiny, they
speak lying flat with their fsce on the ground. Should per-
chance the king order any princs or governor to be slain, &
soldier is sent from the royal dwelling, snd at a time when the
other is seated in audience the soldier appears with 4 banner
ahd reads the sentence.  On beholding the king's signature the
condemned man receives the congratulations of his relations
and friends; seeing that his sovereign bas done him this signal

U Talapesy (nes Vale's  Glossary,' wecond edition, 840, under * Talapoin’), 8
ward need by Poriuguess wid otlier Eropesns for Beddhiat monks.
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favour of recollecting him. Coming close up to the soldier, he
himself bares his throat for the blow.

It 1s & kingdom governed by the pen, for not a single person
can go from one village into another without a paper or writing,
whereby the government is made most easy. This Burman
king adorns himsell with many titles, namely: "Emperor of
Emperors in the East, King of Kings in the West, Perfection
of all Justice, First in Glory, Gteatness, and Majesty, Noble
in Grandeur, Crystalline in Simplicity, Firmament of all the
Virtues, a Saturn in elevation, a Jupiter in good fortune, a
Mars in yalour, a Sun in intelligence, 1 Mereory in knowledge,
a Venus In beauty, a Moon in abundance, Possessor of all
others' possessions, Conqueror of all whom he beholds,
Dominator of ebb and flood, he who cut off the head of the
mvincible Viravalamo, Lord of the Golden Haoll and of the
White Elephant.’

Among all the races of India there i= none which has books
of laws Bul these Burmans kesp books of the ordinances,
applications, arguments, sentences, and appeals before the
king's tribunal. It happened once to o Portuguese that he had
bought 2 ruby of great value. He meant to sell 1t to the King
of Seilad (Ceylon) at a profit.  The lapidary on close examing-
tion found it had been joined, and with the consent of the
Portuguess separated the one piece from the other and then
joined them again as before. The Portuguese went off to lodge
a complaint before the King of Pegl, without having recourse
to the nsual tribunal. The king, who was ignorant of the law,
asked the Portuguese whether he would take the sentence lie
should give, without appealing of complaining elsewhere. The
Partuguese, assuming the king to be educated and intelligent,
said he was content with any finding the king should announce.
His order was that he who had sold the stone shoold be
deprived of both eyes as a cheat, and the Portuguese who
bought it should lose ane eye for being an mefficient trader [272],
Angered at such a judgment, the Portuguese threw down the
stone, and coming out, said: ' A barbarous king, a barbarous
sentence.’  There is mucl: that might be said of this kingdom,
but as | am getting very far from my history, 1 cannot dilate
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further on it, having, as it is, quite enough to say of the Mogul
empire, which is my text.

Some days after the arrival of Prince Shah Shujf in the
kingdom of Arakan, where he had been conducted with much
honour, in conformity with the customs of those kings, to a
palace outside the city, he wns invited by the king to sit with
him. But the prince, although a fugitive and in necessity,
would not forsake his' dignity, holding himself to be a much
greater man than the King of Arakan. The [atter could not
compare in dignity, refinement, or pleasant habits with even
a simple captain among the Moguls. Not liking to go and sit
with him, Shih Shuj' sent his son, Soliin Bang, with the
excuse that he himsell was unwell. The Magh was delighted
at the coming of Sultin Bang, expecting that he would offer
him many jewels, stones of price, and costly pieces of cloth,

When they had taken their seats, there appeared many dishes
of food, among them a long basin of raw buffalo blood, a great
delicacy with them. At this the prince was much revolted,
and held his nostrils.  The king had it placed in front of him-
self, and collected with his hands what was in the basin and
ate it with great relish, licking his lips, _

The temerity of this king arrived at such a pitch that he
asked for a daughter of Shih Shuojd' as wife for his own somn.
The prince Shah Shuja' awaited nothing but the monsoon
season to make a start for Persia or Mecca. [Its arrival was
delayed, and e began to be irritated at the coarseness of the
Arakan king, and his overweening conceit in asking for his
(Shith Shuja®'s) daugher as wife to his son. ' He was afmid
of some act of violence ot insolence. His force of armed men
was very small, but he found many dwellers in Arakan, Moguls
and Pathins, who showed themselves well inclined towards
him. He therefore planned an outbreak, intending to slay the
king and take the kingdom, and then advance once more to test
hie fortune in Bengal, having thus previously made sure of a
refuge in case of failure,

He confided this design to some of his people, by whom it
was approved. But they were not able to curry out the project
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with the called-for secrecy, and through the deiay they made
there was time for the King of Amkan to hear of the plat.  He
planned the assassination of Shdh Shujé‘ and all his adherents,
and to this intent called to him his four principal captains, each
of whom had three thousand srmed men, On these fonr men
he placed great relisnce.  Each captain with his three thousand
men gusrded the king for eight consecutive days, and when
each had fulfilled his task, it came round to the first one again.
To these he issued orders that one moming at daybreak [273]
they should all with one accord shout : * Long live the King
of Arskan! Death to Shih Shuj& and all traitors!" Under
cover of this they were to kill everyone. The captains carried
out the order of their king, killing everybody they encountered.
Upon this news reaching the unfortunite prince Shah Shujd’,
he tried to save hisg life by getting on his elephant, hoping that
lie might thereby impose some respect for his persot. But
it was grievous to see the fury with which the Maghs came om,
throwing everything into disorder, with blows and shouts and
cries, some saying, ' Death to Prince Shah Shuja*!" others,
* Death to his son, Prince Bang !' others, * Slay those trRitorous
Moguls who fled here from Bengal!' Prince Bang was taken
prisoner, while Shah Shuja’ with a few men fled into the jungle.
He made liberal use of his bags of jewels:and pearls, which
he scattered among these savages, attempting by use of these
valuables to mitigate the rage of the soldiers and gain a free
passage for his flight. But the Maghs paid no heed to his
profiered wealth ; they purssed the poor prince like famishing
wolves, cutting his body into pieces, stripping it bare, and plun-
dering all his valuables. Such was the lamentable end befall-
ing Prince Shih Shujd’, the first who rose against his father,
Shiahjahlin, the first canse of these wars in the Mogul Empire,
the occasioner of so many ills, the raiser-up of so many mis
fortunes. Enamoured of his own opinion and & slave of his
owil ideas, we see lim end thus miserably, his held of battle
the swamps of Arikan, and his only sepulchre the bellies of
walves and tigers.

Prince Bang temained for some time a prisoner, but after-
wards he regained his liberty. Owing, however, to his attempting
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ance more some treachery, the Magh ordered his head to be
cut off with a hatcher. The women and daughtess of Shih
“Shuja’ were carried off {o the palace of the king. But owing to
the distrust aroused there among the other women of the king,
he was abliged to expel them, and they moved as castaways from
house to house until their miserable lives came to an end.
Rumours of the misfortune and disgrace of these princes
reached the Magul country through the Dutch factors. By
this much-desired intelligence Aurnngzeb was made very happy,
but there being no certain news nor incontestable evidence of the
said prince’s death, and aware that the populace in Hindostin
are incredulous, he did ail he could think of to ascertain the
truth. For he suspected that under cover of this news there
was some plot for a repewed rising in Bengal. On this account
he ordered all the fctors then in the city of Agrah to be sent
for—namely, the English and the Dutch—also several others,
private merchants and the priests. Al were examined in
much detail as to the case [274], and the circumstances of
Prince Shah Shujd', They all replied that Shah Shujd* and
his son were dead, For the Dutch fuctor, called Jantdc (Jan
Tak)' produced a letter from the Dutch factor in Arakan,
wherein were minutely set forth the acts, disasters, and attempts
of Prince Shith Shuja’ up to his lamentable death. This letter

! *Dagh Reglater, Canteal Patavia, anms 16681 ° (edithom Ji A. van dar Chijs,
the Hague, r830). pp. 104, 106: * Meanwhile, the director, an Doacember 31,
t650, mmt your letters 1o the king and the aforsaid Misrazab (2 Mir ‘Arab) i
Dibll, and sulsequemly, thirough lottors fom the merchant, Jan Tak, m Rgralhy;
b learnt that the Mog sad bis slasesilor Harogenaet (Hie Raghanith) had for
& mopth been awny on & kunting expodition.’

¥ There are sevarn! notices of Shih Shuja- in the 1661 volums of the Duich
‘ Dugh Hegister'. They Sesr bt has fled Into Amacan {p, 5, Janmury 5, 1661}
Mir Jumlih replaces him In Bengal {p. 6). The Qatw of fight was June 5, ani
ol arrival in Arrucan Augrst 26, 1600 (P! 86} Thoy record that on Pabwiary 7,
21061, alier the Prince's bonss bl bos surrounded, e sot fire to |3 and escapmd
with his lamily and oo Glowers, but Bis olidest amd) Wik yimitipesd #ond were
Captured. Wirth bis miildle sou lin made for Tipperah (. 113, May 16). The
naws of Skal Shufit's fight waa sent to Mir Jumiab, aad he foreasded it to
Avrangzeh {p gio. October 18) O Nevembar 29 PP 348, 390 they recond
Hiar tha reported deatli wis Aald by the Duteh at Diiskal o the Governne, whi
sent on the oows to the Cours, Finally, o pp. §20, §2i (Decembier g2, 1661, W
Bave the buut atcouny thad thoy recond : * As 1o the Prince Shih Shuja’, of wham



AURANGZEB REJOICES 377

was translated into the Perssiun tongue, for the greater assur-
ance of King Aumangzeb. When he had finished its perusal,
he raised his hands to heaven and recited this verse:

"Tacabar chunanas que aker care pexeimnanas
Tavasey clisis que demr niiss’

(Takahbar chundn ast, kih Aihirkdre pashimin ast;
Tawhm' chislsr, Iah dar ‘wsh ‘aaifst)

—that isto say, ‘Pride is in the end chastised, Humility is prized
even in heaven!' He then ordered grand funeral obsequies,
and gave alms, principally to those learned in the faith, praying
them to supplicate God for that prince dying in the realm of
Arakan, within & heathen and idolatrous land.  Similar obsequies
were ordered to be performed in all the prnincipal cities of the
empire. The cunning fellow made these demonstrations of
plety, not for his love to the deceased prince, but to muke
koown. to all the people that Shih Shujd‘ was dead. Thus they
would, he hoped, accept him (Auringeeb) as absolute lord of the
Mogul Empire. In spite of all these precautions, there sub-
sisted for a long time in the Mogul kingdom grave doubts
about the sud prince's death, some affirming that he survived
and had reached Persia in mendicant’s disguise ; others assert-
ing they had seen him in the Mogul tervitory itself; and they
named this, that, and the other detail, making the matter so
certain that over a great part of the kingdom be was held to
bt nlive, and they looked for his yet becoming king. Norwas

it waa suared inthe feemer Aracan advices of the zand Fab, last thas he bad akey
to Hight, i was not known i be were alive or deml,  The fact b, bowever,
although thers can be #o certalny, thai be was kifled in the frooutbeek, bay
hin corpee wall rendered. anrecognisable by the nolie, in order essior to taks
their own measores with the valnable jewels he possssed. His thres pons,
tgether with his womes and daughters, bave besp captued | tha women and
daughicrs aro placed in tho king's palace, while his sons, afier o period of
imprmonment, bave been traaslered to g small house, Thily {a the gold and
silier that the Arracutess have selees] bedug melia! down end defivermd Into
thi King's srefsuretoose.” K8k Khingn (Mir Jumlah) had seni letlers to (ke
Armian King and Voorborng, the Dotch. resident, asking for the delivery of the
three wma,  The latter had been tramilated ont of Persan iote Magh: buooo
aulliemee hu) boesi seeaniod, and the result was not then knows, The envoy
hiadd brought 12000 17/a (7 ropees) 1o brilie the noblen.
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there wanting a scribe who disguised himself as the prince
Shih Shujd‘, and went off to the Path@ins, where he gained
over many people, as T shall relate (I1. 148), But these uo-
certainties and expectations came to an end in time through
the evidence of many persons coming from Arakan, who had
been present at the unhappy prince's death.

The death of two brothers and of so many other people was
not enough to assuage Aurangzeb's thirst for the blood of his
relations. Learning that Sulaim@n Shukoh, son of Dard, was-
in safety within the lands, and under the protection of the
Rajah of Srinagar, he set to wark to have him seized in some
way or other. But being quite sure that the Rajah would pay
no heed either to his promises and presents or to his threats
[275); he planned with Rajah Jai Singh that he should be
the intermedinry for getting the Rajab of Srinagar to abandon
Sulaimdn Shukoh.

With this purpose in view, Rajah Jai Singh wrote the
Srinagar tajah a letter, smying how advisable it was for him to
make over Sulaiméin Shukoh to Aurangzeb. Thereby he would
secure a friend in Aurangzeb, whom he would find of use
sooner or later. From Sulaimin Shokoh nothing was to be
hoped, & poor prince, whose father had already lost his head,
one who had no means of ever prevailing. On the contrary,
Aurangzeb was an absolute menarch, victorious and powerfal,
who was able to confer favours. If he declined to hear the
words of a friend, let him not forget that Avringzeb had
seneruls, soldiers, and treasure wherewith to attain his Just
demands. He who protected his enemies was alsy against
him. He (Jai Singh) wrote thus with no other object or desire
than to secure peace in the rajah’s territory, owing to his love
for him and his family, they both being of the same religion,

The Rajah of Seinagar replied to Rajah Jai Singh that ‘on
no account could he do this harm to his reputation by making
over to his enemy anyone who had sought his protection. He
was thankful for Jai Singh's friendship: as for Aurangzeb, he
heeded neither his promises nor his menaces. He might in-
form the Mogul that he had no respect for either his power or
his victories. He felt no need for his amity. Let him call to
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mind the occasion when his father, Shihjahan, sent the small
army of thirty thousand horse and one hundred thousand oot
into the conntry of Srinagar! Most of these issued from
the said mountains without mnoses, the rest losing their
lives. Further, let him know that he who could cut off
noses could equally cut off hedds. In this matter Aurangzeb
might come to any decision he liked, but he would neither
muke aver, nor permit the making over, to him of the fugitive
prince.

On being informed of the rajuh's decision, Aurangzeb re-
solved to make use of the rajahs adjoining Srinagar to create
a war against it, sesing he was not capable himself of doing it
any harm. With this in view, he sent an order to Rajah Jai
Singh [276] that by gorgeous presents and large promises,
added to persuasive words, he should act on the minds of the
said rajahs, so that they might wage war on the Rajah of
Srinagar. He (Aurangzeb) said he would give him (Jai Singh)
more territory if only he could compel the Rajah of Srinagar’
to surrender Prince Sulaimin Shukoh,

The Rajah ol Srinagar was an old man with ¢ youthful son.
The latter, looking forward to a speedy succession, hoped for
favoursfrom Aurangzeb, and opened negotiations for the delivery
of Sulaim@n Shukoh, in opposition to the wish and opinion of
his father. His plan was to make his delivery scoretly into the
hands of Aurangreb’s men, then actually present at the fool of
the hills; Prince Sulimin Shukoh heard of this plot of the
rajah's son, and resolved to absent himself from Srinagar.
He seized an occasion of going out shooting, as he ordinarily
did, with the intention of making off into Tibet, a large pro-
yince belonging to Great China. He went away with this
intention.

When his departure was reported to the rajah's son, he
started after him with a sufficient number of men, giving no
information of this projeéct to the rajah his father. Overtaking
Sulaimiin Shokoh, he seized him, put irons on his [eet and
handeuffs on: his wrists, then transferred his captive to the
men of Aurangzeb. He sent by them a message that he had
done this act of friendship to the Emperor of the Moguls
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against the wish of his father. [f some day he had need
himself of aid and favour, he hoped assistance would not be
refused.

The poor fugitive was removed a prizoner to Delhi, where
they arrived with him at night. Upon receipt of the report,
Aarangzeb ordered him to be locked up in the fortress of
Salimgarh. The next day he ordered the fetters to be taken
off his legs, and had him brought into his presence, leaving
the brass manacles on his wrists, which many imagined to be
of gold. His object was to make sure that it was the real son
of Dard, also because he had been told that this prince was
endowed in every part with the good gifts of Nature. The
tyrant gloated over the sight; this being the last thom that
could prick him; all the rest were either already -dead or
languishing in prison. The unfortunate Solaimin Shukoh
began to weep, besesching that his life might be spared. Lot
the king not forget that he was of his blood. But the heatt of
Aurangzeb was not-so compassionate as to be moved by tears,
He inquired from the nobles if of a truth this was Sulaimin
Shukoh, and all replied that there was not the least doubt.
Then he ordered him to be removed to the fortress of Gwi-
liydr, there to be given opium-water to drink, as had been
done to Morad Bakhsh and Sultin Mubammad. One month
after his arrival an order was sent to kill him by poison, and
he was buoried within the said fortress. This poor prince was
the eldest son of Prince Dard [277), and endowed with all the
gifis of Nature. He was the person who obtained the first
victory over Prince Shiih Shujd'. But adverse Fate, joined to
the plottings and devices of Aurangzeb, forced him to retive
into the hills. There he suffered much in wandering amongst
those rough, stony, and impassable mountains, travelling on
foot or sometimes upon gouts (cabras),” as is the custom there.
Many a time he had to traverse dangerous ravines from one
hill to another at the risk of his lifi, in baskets pulled across by
ropes.  For several days he had to support himself, on wild
roots and fruits in default of other food Then when he
believed he was in surety, he was uselessly piven over to the

! Prosurably the yed by intendnd.
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tecth of that insatiable beast of prey, for such Aurangzeb may
be called, which spared neither great nor small,

The aged Rajal of Srinagar felt greatly the vileness of the
deed carvied out by his only son, and sa great was his SOrrOW
that in a short space he ended his days under the disgrace, say-
ing he would sooner have lost his territory-and all his wealth
than that his son should be guilty of such an act of infamy.
This rajah was a great friend of the Jesuit fathers, and had
accorded them leave to build churches, and allowed everyone
who chose to profess the religion of Christ, 1 koew two Italian
priests, great friends of this rajah, Father Etanilao Malpique,
and Father Chesco'

Aurangzeb was still in need of confirmation by the chief
gz, who is their supreme pontiff, before he could become
absolute monarch and judge in all eriminal matters, with power
of condemning to death or pardoning whomsoever he pleased.
The reason was that the chief gdsi, and the inferior gasis
objected to his confirmation during the lifetime of the Emperor
Shahjahdn, and their sorrow still was fresh for the blood of his
brothers that he had shed. He, therefore, created another
gz numed Abdulbahab (*Abd-ul-wahhib),* & man of humble
origin, who, being under ohligation ta him for the dignity thus
eonfarred, confirmed his right to the throne. Reasons for con.
secruting 4 king can never be wanting to an unjust judge who
eeeks only his own interests,

Aumngzeb was weighed down by the thought that, however
hard he had worked to establish himself in the realm, there
was still one difficulty left. Murdd Bakhsh yet lived. Many

I Abont thg® Tather Stanialass Malpiges, ee Malpics, & Jeouit. roceived per.
misdon b bl & churel from the Rajah of Scinsgar (Gurhwal) (Militanes,
¥ Gemchichne, 28g, quoting the Annmal Leuer of B33l Malpiqoe was at Agrah
in itigh when Maspce! srmwved: thers {1 153) Fallir Clssce o prolably the
Fire Antholon (Cesefilmi, + thirty years 4 misloanry in the Mogor,” In Kirchar's
v (e Tiliabrmin. oo quoted on g 964 of the French edition ol Abraham Roger,
* L Porte ODoverte” (Amstendam, 6o, qumsto)

* $oo slao 11, 145 and 101, st *Abdulaahhib, o Gujarail behzah, wns chiof
gisl belore cora B (065349 (' Mo tglr-i-* AMamgtrl,” p. 9612 bar ihie duio of his

firal sppointmedt I nol noted  Ha died in 1086 H. (1h73-76) There s a loog
bivgraphy of him in the * Ma dpir-al-Umard L 333 His portrail b one of these

we give from QL g5 réemres, B el B [ischimi's Lint.
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nobles had friendship and affection for him, and wanted him
“for king, owing to his renown as good soldier and liberal master.
Therefore [278] every month he (Aurangzeb) caused the prince's
portrait to be token, to see if the opinm-juice produced any
change in his natural complexion; and his face gave any sign of
approaching death. But finding Murid Bakhsh's natural robust-
ness overcame the poisonous juice, he made a plan to take his
life under the forms of justice. By his death the nobles would
be deprived of any idea of, or hope for, another king, and he
then made sure of his own permanent dominance. _

I have already told you (I. 165) how, when Murdd Bakhsh
was governor of Gujarlt province, he took the life of his
secretary by a stratagem. Aurangzeb thought this homicide
gave a good opening for launching his plot without anyone
being able to convict him of imjustice or croelty to a prince o
valiant in war, so faithful to his word and oath, so ready in
counsel, Privily he sent for the relations of the said secretary,
inducing them through a third person to require the Iife of the
prisoner in return for that of their dead relation. They were
told that without fail justice would be done, and they would be
recompensed in money. Their answer was that since the prince
was already ruined they had no desire to stir in past matters.
This answer did not please Aurangzeb, for it was one not
accordant with his designs, but frustrated his intent. Hitting
npon another road, he found out that a covsin of the secretary
was still alive, 2 man ambitious but poor. This man was_?,gn'l
for and the same proposal made, coupled with many promises.
This miserable creature accepted the scheme, and went off to
lodge a complaint for the death of the secretary, his cousin, at
the highest tribonal. The gisf had already been instructed by
Aurangzeb. The petitioner asked for open justice in the sight
of all the people, and required the head of Prince Murdd Bukhsh
in compensation for the death of his cousin,  The deceased was
a descendant of Mubammad, 4 Sayyid by birth, against whom
Murd Bakhsh's princely privilege could not be pleaded. _

The gizi passed sentence according to the instructions re-
ceived, and to executs it the king sent a company of soldiers
from his guard with some of his slaves, When they had arrived
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at Gwiliyir fortress, they cut off Murdd Rakhsh’s head in the
presence of the complainant and other witiesses, He was
interred there and then.  Thus came to an end the royal blood
of the Mogul, leaving none but Sipihr Shukoh, son of D&,
and the son of Murid Bakhsh, of whom I will speak farther
on (' Ezad Bakhsh,” I1,, 144). Aurangzeb remained absolite
master of the whole empire. Thuos with the blood of his
competitors were assuaged the fears which perturbed the
Mogul.

Now it remains to state how this king wreaked vengeance on
those who laid hands upon those of royal blood. First of all,
he who had claimed the head of Murid Bakhsh jssued from the
furtress to abtuin the promised reward, but pever mgain was he
heard of, The slaves who first of all cut off Dird's head, and
now that of Murdd Bakhsh, never left the fortress but met their
fate within it that very day, Then there remained Nagar Beg
and Maqbold, captains of the slaves, but they did not long
survive. One day Auraogzeb sent for Maqbol, the second
eaptain, und in secret said to him: * What can 1 do for you,
and what do you expect 2 The command of the slaves belongs
to you, and | had meant to give it to you; but this brute of a°
Nugar Beg, without tact and overbold, leaves me no peace ¢ und
for several reasons { cannot take the office from him. If it is
your wish, it lies in your hands to become captain by killing
him who unjustly holds the plice to your detriment. To-
morrow in my presence, while I am giving audience, kill him,
and I forthwith declare you captain,’

The ambition [279] of Muqbil® induced him to rely on the
king's word, never anticipating what was to happen to himself,
Going off home he communicated to his wike, in high delight,
what the king had said to him. To effect his design, he pro-
vided him=elf with a dagger, and next day at the andience,
when in the king's presence, he stabbed Nagar Beg in the braast
with such quictness that he fell dead on the spot Aurangzeb,
feigning ignorance in a matter which he had himself directed,
gave a signal to the bystanders, who, with their swords, slashed
Magbald into pieces before he could utter & word in his defence,
He did this to conceal his tyranny on the pretext that he
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(Maqbnii) had failed in respect by daring to kill his own officer
in his king's presence.

After the death of his brother Dard, Aurangzeb ordered them to
bring to his presence Acermaad (Sarmad), the atheist, to whom
Dir3 had been devoted (ante, 1. 153), and asked him where
was his devoted prince.  He replied that he was then present,
* but you cannot see him, for you tyrannize over those of your
own blood ; and in order to usurp the kingdom, you took away
the life of your brothers, and did other barbarities.' On hearing
these words, Aurangzeb ordered his head to be cut off.

Finding there was now nothing ¢lse to be seen to, he ordered
his chroniclers to write all his battles, and make recital of his
glories—how he vanquished such and such powerful adversaries,
with all the events, disasters, and encounters p to liis ascending
the imperial throne. The chroniclers asked how they should
record the causes of his father, Shahjahin, being m prison; of
the banishment and death of Shah Shuja’, and the deceptions
practised on the princes Dird and Murad Baklish. The king
smiled, and displayed his amazement, and said to them: * Are
you so ignorant as not to know the causes of such obvious and.
well.known events 7 Cannot you see that the Mogul Empire
was in complete anarchy through the bad government of King
Shihjahin, my father, and his desire to make over the stats to
Prince D#rd, an enemy of the Mahomedan faith? Tt was a
just punishment for the son to lose his life, he being an idolater,
while the king was dispossessed of the kingdom and placed in
confinement for being incapable of rule. As for the prince
Shih Shuja’, he was deprived of the kingdam because by his
ambition he laid claim to the throne which did not belong to
him. Then, having sought refuge in the realm of another, he
tried ungratefully to rise against his benefactor, and by losing
his life received the merited pinishment for his revolt. In

i Barmad |s the suthar of & collection of quatmins which has boan Hiha-
graphed twice; he was put to death in 1o7: H. {1650.6it]) (e Risar, * Pegulan

Catnlogue,’ 379, 557, ofg)  An accemit of him appesss n * Mn Aslr-dl- Lnaard,
L 38, whder * I'timad Khbin, *Abd-ul-qavel' An anéedote aboot him. is given
by Anond Rim, Mukblly, in & faghisab [seo Tadien Magzzine, May, tgeg) Mis
tomb s closs to the Jimi* Maxid at kil (Carr-Stephest, *Archyology,’ pu 2351
woe o Bernier, edition Costable, 317, and Bels, * Oriental Biography.” 353)-
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regard to Prince Murfd Baklsh, & man of good qualities and
an excellent soldier, 1 am innocent of his death. It was due to
the demands of justice. Nor was he fil to reign, for be was a
heretic, ag 1 have ascertuined since hisdeath., If God made me
emperor, it was from no other cause than that.1 had been ever
“a fpithful defender of the (Jurin. Against my design and my
will, which was to live as & poor fogir, I was exalted sbove
other men, because that just Lord, who raises the meek and
ahases the haughty, had 5o determined.’

1 know squite well that some instructed reader will censure
this history as not true, if [ say to him that Aurangzeb killed
the eunuch Shahbiz. 1 do not condemn the wisdom of a
reader who so judges; for there are some historinns who assert
that the said eunuch continued alive and went to Bengul.. Nar
can T much blame those writers, for it was the opinion of many
that =o it wiz, as they will se¢ in this my short narrative
which I insert bere, a3 it has little concern with what follows.

To accomplish his wrongful acts Aurangzeb [280] had re-
pourss to ortifice. After be had become absolute, and Shih
Shuji* was ruined, he gave certain orders to ane of his eunuchs
called Faim (Fahim), This man pretended to be Shahbiz, the
eunuch of Murdd Bakhsh, and went to live in the province of
Bengnl. Lauands were assigned to him which yielded him a suffi-
cient income to support himself in comfort. He ate and drank
and amused himself with pastimes. He was fond of the chase
and of conversations with Europeans and other foreigners.  He
ulways praised the valour of Murid Bakhsh, and claimed to
have been faithful to his prince.

Aurangzeb acted thus solely that foreign nations should not
speak against him, and say he had killed a eunuch so-prudem
and s0 loyal to his'master. Be it known to the reader that if
the said ennuch was sent to Bengul it was by reason of its being
frequented by many traders of yvarious nations. He was not
sent to Gujariit or to the Diakhin for fear that he might be re-
cognised, and then no one wounld give credit to his assertions.
He might certainly have been sent to Kibul or Kashmir; but
since in those places there were no traders from larsign nations,
like there are in Bengal, he was therefore sent to that region,
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where to this day he lives, and thus gives further support to his
words. y

The contests botween the brothers which disturbed the Mogul
Empire began in the year 1655 (correctly 1658), and [asted till
the beginning of 1659, By that time Aurangzeb had become
nndisputed master of the empire, at the cost of $0 many of his
subjects’ lives and of the blood of his brothers. Although the
empire is one of the most widespread in the world, still he was
not satisfied, as 1 shall relate in the Second Part. For the
proverb is true that * Plus sunt pote, plus sittiontur,’ or, * The
more one drinks, the more one wants to drink’; for the things
of this world can never satisfy human appétites. What happened
to Aurangzeb will be shown along with the history of the Mogul

kingdom,

END} UF PART 1.
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